
Document Number: 2193575 V1 

AGENDA FOR THE REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL HELD IN 
THE COUNCIL CHAMBER AND ELECTRONICALLY (HYBRID) FROM 
CITY HALL, 141 WEST 14TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC, 
ON MONDAY, JUNE 27, 2022 AT 6:00 PM 

 
 

“Live” Broadcast via City Website www.cnv.org/LiveStreaming 
Complete Agenda Package available at www.cnv.org/CouncilMeetings 

 
The City of North Vancouver acknowledges that this Council meeting is held on the 

traditional territories of the Squamish and Tsleil-Waututh Nations. 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
1. Regular Council Meeting Agenda, June 27, 2022 
 
ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
2. Regular Council Meeting Minutes, June 20, 2022 
 
PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Items *3, *4, *5, *6, *7, *8, *9, *10, *11, *12 and *13 are listed in the Consent Agenda 
and may be considered separately or in one motion. 
 
BYLAWS – ADOPTION 
 
*3. “North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, 

No. 8920” (Fee Schedule and Memorial Regulations) 
 
*4. “Development Cost Charge (Parks) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8941” 

(2022 Capital Plan Funding) 
 
*5. “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8942” 

(2022 Capital Plan Funding) 
 
*6. “General Local Election Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943” 
 
*7. “Election Sign Bylaw, 2018, No. 8643, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8944” 

(Schedule A) 
 
*8. “Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and Procedure Bylaw, 2022, 

No. 8946” 
 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 27, 2022 Page 2 
 
CONSENT AGENDA – Continued 
 
REPORTS 
 
*9. 2021 Statement of Financial Information 
 
*10. Report Required Under the Local Government (Green Communities) Statutes 

Amendment Act, 2008 
 
*11. 2022 Appropriations #2 – Amendment 
 
*12. Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement 
 
*13. Appointment to Federation of Canadian Municipalities Committees and Forums 
 
PUBLIC HEARING – 124 West 20th Street  
 
BYLAWS – THIRD READING 
 
14. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8898” 

(124 20th Street Holdings Ltd. Inc. No. BC1081725 / RLA Architects, 124 West 
20th Street, CD-746) 

 
15. “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2022, No. 8899” (124 20th Street Holdings Ltd. Inc. 

No. BC1081725 / RLA Architects, 124 West 20th Street, CD-746, Rental Housing 
Commitments) 

 
BYLAWS – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
16. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8934” 

(Mehrdad Rahbar / Vernacular Design Corp., 646 East 4th Street, RS-2) 
 

Application considered by Council on June 13, 2022; notice published on June 
15 and June 22, 2022. 
 
No Public Hearing held. 

 
17. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8905” (Cascadia 

Green Development Company / WA Architects, 800 Marine Drive, CD-755) 
 

Application considered by Council on June 13, 2022; notice published on June 
15 and June 22, 2022. 
 
No Public Hearing held. 

 
Information Report, June 22, 2022 – “Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 800 Marine 
Drive (Cascadia Green Development)” 

 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 27, 2022 Page 3 
 
PRESENTATION 
 

Living City Award Recipients 2022 – Planning Assistant 
 
 Information Report, June 22, 2022 – “2022 Living City Award Recipients” 
 

Cool It! 2022 Recipients – Planning Assistant 
 
 Information Report, June 22, 2022 – “2022 Cool It! Challenge Winners” 
 
PRESENTATION 
 

North Shore Emergency Management – Council Update – Director, North Shore 
Emergency Management 

 
REPORTS 
 
18. North Shore Emergency Management Annual Report and Extreme Heat Strategy 
 
19. 2022 Living City Grants 
 
20. 2023 Permissive Tax Exemptions 
 
BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
21. “Taxation Exemption Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938” 
 
REPORTS 
 
22. Development Variance Permit Applications: 253 East 28th Street (Bill Curtis / Bill 

Curtis & Associates Design Ltd.) 
 
23. Rezoning Application and Heritage Designation – 245 East 10th Street (James 

Stobie / Synthesis Design Inc.) 
 
BYLAWS – FIRST AND SECOND READINGS 
 
24. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8936” 

(James Stobie / Synthesis Design, 245 East 10th Street, CD-757) 
 
25. “Heritage Designation Bylaw, 2022, No. 8937” (James Stobie / Synthesis Design 

Inc., 245 East 10th Street) 
 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 27, 2022 Page 4 
 
REPORT 
 
26. Development Procedures Bylaw Amendment – Streamlining of Development 

Variance Permit Requests 
 
BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
27. “Development Procedures Bylaw, 2001, No. 7343, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, 

No. 8916” (Bill 26 Update for Minor Development Variance Permits) 
 
NOTICE OF MOTION 
 
28. Homes that Meet Today’s Climate Context 
 
PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD  
 
COUNCIL INQUIRIES / REPORTS 
 
NEW ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION 
 
REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE (CLOSED SESSION) 
 
ADJOURN 
 
 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 27, 2022 Page 5 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
1. Regular Council Meeting Agenda, June 27, 2022 
 
ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
2. Regular Council Meeting Minutes, June 20, 2022 
 
PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 
The Public Input Period is addressed in sections 12.20 to 12.28 of “Council Procedure Bylaw, 2015, 
No. 8500.”  The time allotted for each speaker addressing Council during the Public Input Period is 
2 minutes, with the number of speakers set at 5 persons.  Speakers’ comments will be audio 
recorded, as well as live-streamed on the City’s website, and will form part of the public record. 
 
Speakers during the Public Input Period are permitted to join the meeting electronically via Webex 
or in person in the Council Chamber.  
 
There are 2 ways to sign up to speak during the Public Input Period. 

1) Speakers who choose to participate electronically must pre-register by 12:00 noon on the day 
of the Council meeting by completing the online form at cnv.org/PublicInputPeriod, or by 
phoning 604-990-4230 to provide contact information.  Pre-registrants will receive instructions 
via email or phone on the afternoon of the Council meeting, including a request to connect to 
the meeting 15-30 minutes before the meeting start time. 

2) Speakers who choose to participate in person must sign the speaker list located outside the 
Council Chamber between 5:30 and 5:55 pm on the day of the Council meeting. 

 
If a speaker has written material to accompany their comments, the material must be sent to the 
Corporate Officer at clerks@cnv.org no later than 12:00 noon on the day of the Council Meeting. 
 
The Public Input Period offers an opportunity to express comments only; Council is there to listen 
only and questions will not be responded to.  Speakers must comply with the General Rules of 
Conduct set out in section 5.1 of “Council Procedure Bylaw, 2015, No. 8500” and may not speak 
with respect to items listed in section 12.25(2). 
 
Speakers are not to address matters that refer to items from a concluded Public Hearing or Public 
Meeting.  When a Public Hearing or Public Meeting is scheduled on the same evening’s agenda, 
speakers are asked to only provide input when that matter comes forward for discussion on the 
agenda in order for the comments to be considered as part of the particular Public Hearing or Public 
Meeting.  Otherwise the input cannot be considered or form part of the official record. 
 
Please address the Mayor as “Your Worship” or “Mayor, followed by his/her surname”.   
Councillors should be addressed as “Councillor, followed by their surname”.  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 27, 2022 Page 6 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Items *3, *4, *5, *6, *7, *8, *9, *10, *11, *12 and *13 are listed in the Consent Agenda 
and may be considered separately or in one motion. 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT the recommendations listed within the “Consent Agenda” be approved. 
 
START OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
BYLAWS – ADOPTION 
 
*3. “North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, 

No. 8920” (Fee Schedule and Memorial Regulations) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, Amendment Bylaw, 
2022, No. 8920” (Fee Schedule and Memorial Regulations) be adopted, signed 
by the Mayor and Corporate Officer and affixed with the corporate seal. 

 
*4. “Development Cost Charge (Parks) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8941” 

(2022 Capital Plan Funding) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Development Cost Charge (Parks) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8941” 
(2022 Capital Plan Funding) be adopted, signed by the Mayor and Corporate 
Officer and affixed with the corporate seal. 

 
*5. “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8942” 

(2022 Capital Plan Funding) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, 
No. 8942” (2022 Capital Plan Funding) be adopted, signed by the Mayor and 
Corporate Officer and affixed with the corporate seal. 

 
*6. “General Local Election Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943” 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “General Local Election Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943” be adopted, signed by the 
Mayor and Corporate Officer and affixed with the corporate seal. 

  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 27, 2022 Page 7 
 
CONSENT AGENDA – Continued 
 
BYLAWS – ADOPTION – Continued  
 
*7. “Election Sign Bylaw, 2018, No. 8643, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8944” 

(Schedule A) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Election Sign Bylaw, 2018, No. 8643, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8944” 
(Schedule A) be adopted, signed by the Mayor and Corporate Officer and affixed 
with the corporate seal. 

 
*8. “Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and Procedure Bylaw, 2022, 

No. 8946” 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and Procedure Bylaw, 
2022, No. 8946” be adopted, signed by the Mayor and Corporate Officer and 
affixed with the corporate seal. 

 
REPORTS 
 
*9. 2021 Statement of Financial Information – File: 05-1880-20-0008/2021 
 

Report: Chief Financial Officer, June 15, 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated June 15, 2022, 
entitled “2021 Statement of Financial Information”: 
 
THAT the Statement of Financial Information for the year ended December 31, 
2021 be approved and forwarded to the Ministry of Municipal Affairs. 

 
*10. Report Required Under the Local Government (Green Communities) Statutes 

Amendment Act, 2008 – File: 05-1610-01-0001/2022 
 

Report: Chief Financial Officer, June 15, 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated June 15, 2022, 
entitled “Report Required Under the Local Government (Green Communities) 
Statutes Amendment Act, 2008”: 
 
THAT the report be received and filed. 

  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 27, 2022 Page 8 
 
CONSENT AGENDA – Continued 
 
REPORTS – Continued  
 
*11. 2022 Appropriations #2 – Amendment – File: 16-8350-20-0039/1 
 

Report: Chief Financial Officer, June 21, 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated June 21, 2022, 
entitled “2022 Appropriations #2 – Amendment”: 
 
THAT (Funding Appropriation #2215), an amount of $2,396,000, from the Carbon 
Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan, be amended to be 
from the Affordable Housing Reserve. 

 
*12. Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement – File: 11-5240-01-0001/2022 
 

Report: Acting Director, Engineering, Parks and Environment, June 15, 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Acting Director, Engineering, Parks and 
Environment, dated June 15, 2022, entitled “Regional Public Works Mutual Aid 
Agreement”: 
 
THAT the City of North Vancouver enter into a new Regional Public Works 
Mutual Aid Agreement (2022) that supersedes similar previous agreements from 
1988 and 2000; 
 
THAT the role of “Authorized Representative” in the new agreement be 
delegated to the Director, Engineering, Parks and Environment; 
 
THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign the new agreement; 
 
AND THAT, once the new agreement is in place, the City terminate its 
participation in the Public Works – Mutual Aid Agreement for Emergencies (1988) 
and the GVRD Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement (2000). 

 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 27, 2022 Page 9 
 
CONSENT AGENDA – Continued 
 
REPORTS – Continued  
 
*13. Appointment to Federation of Canadian Municipalities Committees and Forums 

– File: 01-0530-01-0001/2022 
 

Report: Corporate Officer, June 21, 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Corporate Officer, dated June 21, 2022, entitled 
“Appointment to Federation of Canadian Municipalities Committees and Forums”: 
 
THAT Councillor McIlroy be appointed as the City of North Vancouver 
representative to the Federation of Canadian Municipalities Committees and 
Forums, for the term ending on May 31, 2023; 
 
THAT, on approval of appointment, expenses be paid in accordance with 
“Council Expense Bylaw, 2003, No. 7487”; 
 
AND THAT funds be allocated in the annual budget for future travel 
expenditures. 

 
END OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
PUBLIC HEARING – 124 West 20th Street – 6:00 pm 
 
“Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8898” (124 20th Street 
Holdings Ltd. Inc., No. BC1081725 / RLA Architects, 124 West 20th Street, CD-746) and 
“Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2022, No. 8899” (124 20th Street Holdings Ltd., Inc. No. 
BC1081725 / RLA Architects, 124 West 20th Street, CD-746, Rental Housing 
Commitments) would rezone the subject property from a Medium Density Apartment 
Residential (RM-1) Zone to a Comprehensive Development 746 (CD-746) Zone to 
permit the development of a 6-storey, 57-unit, market rental apartment building, over 1.5 
levels of underground parking for 47 vehicles and 6 surface parking stalls, accessed 
from the lane, for visitors. The proposed density is 2.59 times the lot area. 
 
Bylaw Nos. 8898 and 8899 to be considered under Items 14 and 15. 
 

AGENDA 
 
Staff presentation 
Applicant presentation 
Representations from the public 
Questions of Council 
Motion to conclude the Public Hearing 

 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 27, 2022 Page 10 
 
BYLAWS – THIRD READING 
 
14. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8898” 

(124 20th Street Holdings Ltd., Inc. No. BC1081725 / RLA Architects, 124 West 
20th Street, CD-746) 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 

 
THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8898” 
(124 20th Street Holdings Ltd., Inc. No. BC1081725 / RLA Architects, 124 West 
20th Street, CD-746) be given third reading. 

 
15. “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2022, No. 8899” (124 20th Street Holdings Ltd. Inc. 

No. BC1081725 / RLA Architects, 124 West 20th Street, CD-746, Rental Housing 
Commitments) 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 

 
THAT “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2022, No. 8899” (124 20th Street Holdings 
Ltd. Inc. No. BC1081725 / RLA Architects, 124 West 20th Street, CD-746, Rental 
Housing Commitments) be given third reading. 

 
BYLAWS – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
16. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8934” 

(Mehrdad Rahbar / Vernacular Design Corp., 646 East 4th Street, RS-2) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8934” 
(Mehrdad Rahbar / Vernacular Design Corp., 646 East 4th Street, RS-2) be given 
first, second and third readings. 

 
Application considered by Council on June 13, 2022; notice published on June 
15 and June 22, 2022. 
 
No Public Hearing held. 

 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 27, 2022 Page 11 
 
BYLAWS – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS – Continued  
 
17. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8905” (Cascadia 

Green Development Company / WA Architects, 800 Marine Drive, CD-755) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8905” 
(Cascadia Green Development Company / WA Architects, 800 Marine Drive, 
CD-755) be given first, second and third readings. 

 
Application considered by Council on June 13, 2022; notice published on June 
15 and June 22, 2022. 
 
No Public Hearing held. 

 
Information Report, June 22, 2022 – “Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 800 Marine 
Drive (Cascadia Green Development)” 

 
PRESENTATION 
 

Living City Award Recipients 2022 – Planning Assistant 
 
 Information Report, June 22, 2022 – “2022 Living City Award Recipients” 
 

Cool It! 2022 Recipients – Planning Assistant 
 
 Information Report, June 22, 2022 – “2022 Cool It! Challenge Winners” 
 
PRESENTATION 
 

North Shore Emergency Management – Council Update – Director, North Shore 
Emergency Management 

 
 Item 18 refers. 
 
REPORTS 
 
18. North Shore Emergency Management Annual Report and Extreme Heat Strategy 

– File: 14-7130-01/0001/2022 
 

Report: Director, North Shore Emergency Management, June 15, 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Director, North Shore Emergency Management, 
dated June 15, 2022, entitled “North Shore Emergency Management Annual 
Report and Extreme Heat Strategy”: 
 
THAT the report be received for information. 

  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 27, 2022 Page 12 
 
REPORTS – Continued  
 
19. 2022 Living City Grants – File: 05-1850-20-0008/2022 
 

Report: Planning Assistant, June 15, 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planning Assistant, dated June 15, 2022, entitled 
“2022 Living City Grants”: 
 
THAT 2022 Living City grants totaling $15,000 be awarded as follows: 

 

Name of Applicant Amount 
Recommended 

North Shore Neighbourhood House and the Edible 
Garden Project  $3,500.00 

Jump Buddies Fellowship $2,500.00 
North Shore Streamkeepers $1,000.00 
Greater Vancouver Orienteering Club $1,250.00 
Access2Innovate Foundation $2,000.00 
Urban Repurpose $2,500.00 
The Craft Pod $1,000.00 
St. Andrew’s United Church $1,250.00 
TOTAL $15,000.00 

 
AND THAT the following organization be notified that their application for a 2022 
Living City Grant will not be funded: 

 
Name of Applicant 
Force of Nature – North Shore Alliance  

 
20. 2023 Permissive Tax Exemptions – File: 05-1970-07-0001/2022 
 

Report: Chief Financial Officer, June 15, 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated June 15, 2022, 
entitled “2023 Permissive Tax Exemptions”: 
 
THAT “Taxation Exemption Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938” be considered. 
 
Item 21 refers. 

 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 27, 2022 Page 13 
 
BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
21. “Taxation Exemption Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938” 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Taxation Exemption Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938” be given first, second and 
third readings. 

 
REPORTS 
 
22. Development Variance Permit Applications: 253 East 28th Street (Bill Curtis / Bill 

Curtis & Associates Design Ltd.) – File: 08-3060-20-0247/1 
 

Report: Planner 1, June 15, 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 1, dated June 15, 2022, entitled 
“Development Variance Permit Applications – 253 East 28th Street (Bill Curtis / 
Bill Curtis & Associates Design Ltd.)”: 
 
THAT Development Variance Permit Nos. PLN2022-00011 and PLN2022-00017 
be considered for issuance under Section 498 of the Local Government Act and 
referred to the same Public Meeting; 

 
THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign the necessary 
documentation to give effect to this motion. 
 

23. Rezoning Application and Heritage Designation – 245 East 10th Street (James 
Stobie / Synthesis Design Inc.) – File: 08-3400-20-0068/1 

 
Report: Planner 1, June 15, 2022 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 

 
PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 1, dated June 15, 2022, entitled 
“Rezoning Application and Heritage Designation – 245 East 10th Street (James 
Stobie / Synthesis Design Inc.)”: 
 
THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8936” 
(James Stobie / Synthesis Design Inc., 245 East 10th Street, CD-757) be 
considered and referred to a Public Hearing; 

Continued… 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 27, 2022 Page 14 
 
REPORTS – Continued  

 
23. Rezoning Application and Heritage Designation – 245 East 10th Street (James 

Stobie / Synthesis Design Inc.) – File: 08-3400-20-0068/1 – Continued  
 
THAT “Heritage Designation Bylaw, 2022, No. 8937” (James Stobie / Synthesis 
Design Inc., 245 East 10th Street) be considered and referred to the same Public 
Hearing;  

 
THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 
 
AND THAT the community benefits listed in the report section “Density Bonus 
and Community Benefits” be secured, through agreements at the applicant's 
expense and to the satisfaction of staff. 
 
Items 24 and 25 refer. 

 
BYLAWS – FIRST AND SECOND READINGS 
 
24. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8936” 

(James Stobie / Synthesis Design, 245 East 10th Street, CD-757) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8936” 
(James Stobie / Synthesis Design, 245 East 10th Street, CD-757) be given first 
and second readings. 

 
25. “Heritage Designation Bylaw, 2022, No. 8937” (James Stobie / Synthesis Design 

Inc., 245 East 10th Street) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Heritage Designation Bylaw, 2022, No. 8937” (James Stobie / Synthesis 
Design Inc., 245 East 10th Street) be given first and second readings. 

 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 27, 2022 Page 15 
 
REPORT 
 
26. Development Procedures Bylaw Amendment – Streamlining of Development 

Variance Permit Requests – File: 01-0125-01-0001/2022 
 

Report: Director, Planning and Development, June 15, 2022 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 

 
PURSUANT to the report of the Director, Planning and Development, dated June 
15, 2022, entitled “Development Procedures Bylaw Amendment – Streamlining of 
Development Variance Permit Requests”: 
 
THAT “Development Procedures Bylaw, 2001, No. 7343, Amendment Bylaw, 
2022, No. 8916” (Bill 26 Update for Minor Development Variance Permits) be 
considered. 
 
Item 27 refers. 

 
BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
27. “Development Procedures Bylaw, 2001, No. 7343, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, 

No. 8916” (Bill 26 Update for Minor Development Variance Permits) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Development Procedures Bylaw, 2001, No. 7343, Amendment Bylaw, 
2022, No. 8916” (Bill 26 Update for Minor Development Variance Permits) be 
given first, second and third readings. 

 
NOTICE OF MOTION 
 
28. Homes that Meet Today’s Climate Context – File: 08-3400-01-0001/2022 
 
 Submitted by Mayor Buchanan 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver Council vision is to be the healthiest 
small city with five key priorities, including a City for People; 
 
WHEREAS a Liveable City leads the way in climate action and acts as a 
steward of the environment for future generations; 
 
WHEREAS we all have the right to be safe and healthy in our own home, and 
extreme heat threatens that right; 

Continued… 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 27, 2022 Page 16 
 
NOTICE OF MOTION – Continued  
 
28. Homes that Meet Today’s Climate Context – File: 08-3400-01-0001/2022 – Continued 

 
WHEREAS climate change is a reality we cannot ignore and more extreme 
weather events are predicted to impact communities everywhere; 
 
WHEREAS approximately 80% of City residents live in multi-family buildings, 
many built long before today’s climate context; 
 
AND WHEREAS in June 2022, the BC Coroners Service’s Review of Heat-
Related Deaths in BC in Summer 2021 report found that 619 lives were lost 
during the 2021 heat dome and that greater support for at-risk populations is 
needed during extreme heat emergencies; 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT staff be directed to report to Council on 
the tools available to work with applicants early in the redevelopment process to 
ensure the homes being delivered will meet today’s climate context, including 
enhanced cooling systems that respond to extreme heat; 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT staff be directed to report back on paths of 
advocacy and action to ensure multi-family homes are properly retrofitted to 
keep cool; 
 
AND BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED THAT Mayor Buchanan, on behalf of Council, 
write to the federal and provincial Ministers responsible for housing, public 
safety, and the environment, stressing the threat extreme heat is to our 
individual health and the need for further investments in retrofitting BC. 

 
PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD 
 
The Public Clarification Period is limited to 10 minutes in total and is an opportunity for 
the public to ask a question regarding process or clarification on an item on the Regular 
Council Agenda. The Public Clarification Period concludes after 10 minutes and the 
Regular Council Meeting reconvenes. 
 
COUNCIL INQUIRIES / REPORTS 
 
NEW ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION 
 

THAT Council recess to the Committee of the Whole, Closed Session, pursuant 
to the Community Charter, Sections 90(1)(g) [legal matter] and 90(1)(i) [legal 
advice]. 

 
REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE (CLOSED SESSION) 
 
ADJOURN 



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 
 
 

Document Number: 1914910 v3 

PUBLIC HEARING / PUBLIC MEETING GUIDELINES 
 
The purpose of Public Hearings is to provide members of the public an opportunity to 
make representations to Council regarding proposed changes to zoning bylaws, 
heritage designations or the Official Community Plan.  Public Hearings are included as 
part of a Regular Council agenda and governed by the provisions of the Local 
Government Act.   
 
The purpose of Public Meetings is to provide members of the public an opportunity to 
make representations to Council regarding various issues and/or proposed changes 
that do not require a Public Hearing, such as a Development Variance Permit or 
Temporary Use Permit. North Vancouver residents can participate in the civic process 
of a Public Meeting that may affect their community, property and interests. 
 
All persons who believe their interest in property is affected by a proposed bylaw or 
permit are afforded a reasonable opportunity to be heard, voice concerns or present 
written submissions regarding matters contained within the bylaw/permit. 
 
All written submissions and representations made at a Public Hearing or Public Meeting 
will form part of the official public record.  Minutes of the Public Hearing/Public Meeting 
and a video recording of the proceedings will be posted on the City’s website at cnv.org. 
 
To provide written input:  All written submissions must include your name and address.  
If this information is not provided, it cannot be included as part of the public record.  
Email submissions sent to the Corporate Officer at input@cnv.org are preferred, and 
hand-delivered or mailed submissions will also be accepted.  The deadline to submit 
written submissions is 12:00 noon on the day of the Public Hearing/Public 
Meeting. 
 
To speak at a Public Hearing or Public Meeting: 
 
In person at City Hall: On the day of the meeting, a sign-up sheet will be available in the 
lobby, outside the Council Chamber, from 5:30pm.  Enter City Hall through the doors at 
the southwest corner of the building (off 13th Street) after 5:30pm. 
 
Via Webex/phone: Pre-register by completing the online form at cnv.org/PublicHearings, 
or by phoning 604-990-4230 to provide contact details, so call-in instructions can be 
forwarded to you. All Webex/phone pre-registration must be submitted no later 
than 12:00 noon on the day of the Public Hearing/Public Meeting. 
 
Non-registered speakers: Speakers who have not pre-registered will also have an 
opportunity to provide input. Once all registered speakers have spoken, the Mayor will 
call for a recess to allow time for additional speakers to phone in or speak in person.  
Call-in details will be displayed on-screen during the livestream at cnv.org/ 
LiveStreaming. 

Continued… 

mailto:input@cnv.org


 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 
 
 

Document Number: 1914910 v3 

PUBLIC HEARING / PUBLIC MEETING GUIDELINES – Continued 
 
Comments from the public must specifically relate to the proposed bylaw/permit or 
subject of the Public Hearing/Public Meeting.  Speakers are asked to avoid repetitive 
comments and not to divert to other matters. 
 
Speakers will be asked to confirm their name and address for the record and will be 
provided one 5-minute opportunity to present their comments.  Everyone will be given a 
reasonable opportunity to be heard and no one should feel discouraged or prevented 
from making their views known. 
 
Procedural rules for the conduct of a Public Hearing/Public Meeting are set at the call of 
the Chair.  Council’s main function is to listen to the views of the public regarding the 
change of land use in the proposed bylaw/permit.  It is not the function of Council to 
debate the merits of an application with speakers.  Questions from members of the 
public and Council must be addressed through the Chair. 
 
Once the Public Hearing/Public Meeting concludes, no further information or 
submissions can be considered by Council. 
 
Following adjournment of the Public Hearing/Public Meeting, the Regular meeting 
reconvenes and the bylaw/permit is discussed and debated by members of Council, 
followed by consideration of third reading of the bylaw or approval of the permit. 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 20, 2022 

 MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL HELD IN THE 
COUNCIL CHAMBER AND ELECTRONICALLY (HYBRID) FROM CITY HALL, 
141 WEST 14TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC, ON MONDAY, JUNE 
20, 2022 

 
 

PRESENT 
 

COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

 
 

STAFF MEMBERS 
 

Mayor L. Buchanan 
Councillor H. Back* 
  (joined at 6:03 pm) 
Councillor D. Bell 
Councillor A. Girard* 
Councillor T. Hu* 
Councillor J. McIlroy 
Councillor T. Valente 
 
*participated electronically 
 
 
 

L. McCarthy, CAO 
K. Graham, Corporate Officer 
C. Baird, Deputy Corporate Officer 
J. Peters, Assistant City Clerk 
B. Pearce, Deputy CAO / Director, Strategic and Corporate 

Services 
H. Granger, City Solicitor 
D. Foldi, Senior Manager, Strategic Initiatives 
M. Friesen, Manager, Strategic Initiatives 
L. Sawrenko, Chief Financial Officer 
D. Van Heerden, Manager, Financial Planning 
M. Epp, Director, Planning and Development 
J. Draper, Deputy Director, Planning and Development  
R. Basi, Manager, Development Planning 
D. Johnson, Development Planner 
E. Chow, Planner 
H. Dang, Planner 
B. van der Heijden, Planner 
K. Magnusson, Acting Director, Engineering, Parks and 

Environment 
M. Hunter, Deputy Director, Engineering, Parks and 

Environment  
D. Priestley, Section Manager, Park Operations 
M. Shipley, Parks Planner 
R. Skene, Director, Community and Partner Engagement 
G. Schalk, Public Safety Director and Fire Chief 
D. Hutchison Koep, Chief Librarian  
K. Veng, CEO, LEC 
S. Wood, Accountant, LEC 
 
GUEST 
 
Dr. R. Ledger, Animal Behaviour and Welfare Consultant 

 
The meeting was called to order at 6:02 pm. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 
1. Regular Council Meeting Agenda, June 20, 2022 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 20, 2022 

ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 
2. Special Regular Council Meeting Minutes, June 8, 2022 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 
3. Regular Council Meeting Minutes, June 13, 2022 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

PROCLAMATION 
 
Mayor Buchanan declared the following proclamation: 
 

National Indigenous Peoples Day – June 21, 2022 
 
PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 

• Kala Solway, 322 East 12th Street, North Vancouver, spoke regarding Item 32 – 
Culturally Accessible Cemeteries. 

• Bernard Pinksy, 6046 Cypress Street, Vancouver, spoke regarding Item 20 – North 
Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw Update. 

• Neil Loomer, 305-1721 St. Georges Avenue, North Vancouver, spoke regarding Item 32 
– Culturally Accessible Cemeteries. 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

THAT the recommendations listed within the “Consent Agenda” be approved. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
START OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
BYLAWS – ADOPTION 
 
*4. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2021, No. 8873” (Farid Sayari / 

Royal Palace Construction and Design, 322 West 14th Street, CD-739) 
 
Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2021, No. 8873” (Farid Sayari 
/ Royal Palace Construction and Design, 322 West 14th Street, CD-739) be adopted, 
signed by the Mayor and Corporate Officer and affixed with the corporate seal. 
 

(CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY) 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 20, 2022 

CONSENT AGENDA – Continued 
 
BYLAWS – ADOPTION – Continued 
 
*5. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8928” (Update to 

Development Permit Guidelines to harmonize language with “Tree Bylaw, 2022, No. 
8888”) 

 
Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8928” (Update to 
Development Permit Guidelines to harmonize language with “Tree Bylaw, 2022, No. 
8888”) be adopted, signed by the Mayor and Corporate Officer and affixed with the 
corporate seal. 

(CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY) 
 
*6. “Security Alarm Systems Bylaw, 2022, No. 8931” 
 
Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

THAT “Security Alarm Systems Bylaw, 2022, No. 8931” be adopted, signed by the Mayor 
and Corporate Officer and affixed with the corporate seal. 

(CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY) 
 
*7. “Fees and Charges Bylaw, 1993, No. 6383, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8933” 

(Security Alarm Systems) 
 
Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

THAT “Fees and Charges Bylaw, 1993, No. 6383, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8933” 
(Security Alarm Systems) be adopted, signed by the Mayor and Corporate Officer and 
affixed with the corporate seal. 

(CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY) 
 
END OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
PUBLIC HEARING / PUBLIC MEETING – 319-333 East 14th Street, 318-332 East 13th Street, 
313 East 14th Street, 1304-1324 St. Andrews Avenue, 231 East 15th Street and 1337 St. 
Andrews Avenue 
Recessed from June 13, 2022 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

THAT the meeting recess to the Public Hearing regarding “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 
6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8930” (Vancouver Coastal Health / PCL 
Constructors Westcoast Inc., 319-333 East 14th Street, 318-332 East 13th Street, 313 
East 14th Street, 1304-1324 St. Andrews Avenue, Amendment to CD-551) and the Public 
Meeting regarding Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00016 (231 East 15th 
Street and 1337 St. Andrews Avenue). 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
The meeting recessed to the Public Hearing / Public Meeting at 6:15 pm and reconvened at 
6:43 pm.  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 20, 2022 

BYLAW – THIRD READING 
 
8. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8930” (Vancouver Coastal 

Health / PCL Constructors Westcoast Inc., 319-333 East 14th Street, 318-332 East 13th 
Street, 313 East 14th Street, 1304-1324 St. Andrews Avenue, Amendment to CD-551) 

 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8930” (Vancouver 
Coastal Health / PCL Constructors Westcoast Inc., 319-333 East 14th Street, 318-332 
East 13th Street, 313 East 14th Street, 1304-1324 St. Andrews Avenue, Amendment to 
CD-551) be abandoned. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

MOTION 
 
9. Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00016 (231 East 15th Street and 1337 St. 

Andrews Avenue) – File: 08-3400-20-0061/1 
 

Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 
THAT Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00016 (231 East 15th Street and 
1337 St. Andrews Avenue) be issued to Vancouver Coastal Health Authority, in 
accordance with Section 490 of the Local Government Act, with the addition of the 
following amendment: 
 

“Part 2.C. – “Section 908, Figure 9-3, such that the required number of parking 
spaces is reduced by 61.”; 

 
AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign Development 
Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00016. 

CARRIED 
 

Councillor Valente is recorded as voting in opposition to the motion. 
 
BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
10. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8912” (Mehrdad Rahbar / 

Vernacular Studio Inc., 1357 Jones Avenue, RS-2) 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8912” (Mehrdad 
Rahbar / Vernacular Studio Inc., 1357 Jones Avenue, RS-2) be given first and second 
readings. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8912” (Mehrdad 
Rahbar / Vernacular Studio Inc., 1357 Jones Avenue, RS-2) be given third reading. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 5 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 20, 2022 

MOTION 
 
11. Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00005 (1357 Jones Avenue) 

– File: 08-3400-20-0049/1 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Valente 

 
THAT Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00005 (1357 Jones Avenue) be 
issued to 2376495 Alberta Inc., Inc. No. 2023764950, in accordance with Section 490 of 
the Local Government Act; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign Development 
Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00005, following adoption of “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 
6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8912” (Mehrdad Rahbar / Vernacular Studio Inc., 
1357 Jones Avenue, RS-2). 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

BYLAW – ADOPTION 
 
12. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2021, No. 8884” (Ardeshir Behmerdi / 

2357 Western Holdings Ltd., 2357 Western Avenue, CD-742) 
 
Moved by Councillor Valente, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2021, No. 8884” (Ardeshir 
Behmerdi / 2357 Western Holdings Ltd., 2357 Western Avenue, CD-742) be adopted, 
signed by the Mayor and Corporate Officer and affixed with the corporate seal. 
 

CARRIED  
 

Councillor Back and Councillor Bell are recorded as voting in opposition to the motion. 
 

PRESENTATION 
 

Dog Friendly City: Phase 1 Actions – Parks Planner 1 
 

The Parks Planner 1, provided a PowerPoint presentation regarding the “Dog Friendly City: 
Phase 1 Actions” and responded to questions of Council. 
 
REPORTS 
 
13. Dog Friendly City: Phase 1 Actions – File: 12-6120-01-0001/2022 
 

Report: Parks Planner 1, June 8, 2022 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Parks Planner 1, dated June 8, 2022, entitled “Dog 
Friendly City: Phase 1 Actions”: 
 
THAT the Dog Friendly City: Phase 1 Actions be endorsed;  
 
AND THAT a scope of work and funding request for Phase 2 be included for 
consideration as part of the 2023-2032 Capital Plan. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 6 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 20, 2022 

PUBLIC MEETING – 2021 Annual Municipal Report 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

THAT the meeting recess to the Public Meeting regarding the 2021 Annual Municipal 
Report. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
The meeting recessed to the Public Meeting at 8:16 pm and reconvened at 8:26 pm. 
 
Councillor Back left the meeting at 8:17 pm. 
 
REPORTS 
 
14. 2021 Annual Municipal Report – File: 01-0640-20-0001/2021 
 

Report: Chief Financial Officer, June 8, 2022 
 
Moved by Councillor Valente, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated June 8, 2022, entitled 
“2021 Annual Municipal Report”: 
 
THAT the 2021 Annual Municipal Report be approved.  

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
15. 2022 Appropriations #2 – File: 05-1705-30-0019/2022 
 

Report: Chief Financial Officer, June 10, 2022 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated June 8, 2022, entitled 
“2022 Appropriations #2”: 
 
THAT (Funding Appropriation #2213) an amount of $3,584,453 be appropriated from the 
General Capital Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan; 
 
THAT (Funding Appropriation #2214) an amount of $1,361,600 be appropriated from the 
Civic Amenity Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan; 
 
THAT (Funding Appropriation #2215) an amount of $2,396,000 be appropriated from the 
Carbon Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan;  
 
THAT (Funding Appropriation #2216) an amount of $135,507 be appropriated from the 
Sustainable Transportation Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan; 
 
THAT (Funding Appropriation #2217) an amount of $85,000 be appropriated from the 
Public Art Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan; 

Continued… 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 7 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 20, 2022 

REPORTS – Continued  
 
15. 2022 Appropriations #2 – File: 05-1705-30-0019/2022 – Continued  
 

THAT (Funding Appropriation #2218) an amount of $507,915 be appropriated from the 
Parking Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan; 
 
THAT (Funding Appropriation #2219) an amount of $150,163,125 be appropriated from 
the Civic Amenity Reserve-HJ for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan; 
 
THAT (Funding Appropriation #2220) an amount of $300,000 be appropriated from the 
Cemetery Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan; 

  
THAT “Development Cost Charge (Parks) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8941” (2022 
Capital Plan Funding), a bylaw to appropriate an amount of $123,750 from DCC (Parks) 
Reserve Fund to fund the 2022 Capital Plan, be considered; 
 
THAT “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 
8942” (2022 Capital Plan Funding), a bylaw to appropriate an amount of $34,650 from 
DCC (Transportation) Reserve Fund to fund the 2022 Capital Plan, be considered; 
 
AND THAT should any of the amounts remain unexpended as at December 31, 2025, 
the unexpended balances shall be returned to the credit of the respective fund. 

 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 

BYLAWS – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
16. “Development Cost Charge (Parks) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8941” (2022 Capital 

Plan Funding) 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

THAT “Development Cost Charge (Parks) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8941” (2022 
Capital Plan Funding) be given first and second readings. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

THAT “Development Cost Charge (Parks) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8941” (2022 
Capital Plan Funding) be given third reading. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

17. “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8942” 
 (2022 Capital Plan Funding) 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

THAT “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 
8942” (2022 Capital Plan Funding) be given first and second readings. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 8 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 20, 2022 

BYLAWS – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS – Continued 
 
17. “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8942” 
 (2022 Capital Plan Funding) – Continued  
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

THAT “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 
8942” (2022 Capital Plan Funding) be given third reading. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
REPORTS 
 
18. 2022-2031 Capital Plan – Projects Over $500,000: Funding Appropriation and Contract 

Award for Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre and Silver Harbour Seniors’ 
Activity Centre – File: 02-0800-30-0028/1 

 
Report: Senior Project Manager, Strategic Initiatives, June 3, 2022 

 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Senior Project Manager, Strategic Initiatives, dated June 
3, 2022, entitled “2022-2031 Capital Plan – Projects Over $500,000: Funding 
Appropriation and Contract Award for Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre and 
Silver Harbour Seniors’ Activity Centre”: 
 
THAT the necessary contracts be awarded to proceed with the Harry Jerome Community 
Recreation Centre construction within the $205M approved budget. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
19. Lonsdale Energy Corp. – 2022 Annual General Meeting – File: 11-5500-06-0001/1 
 

Report: Chief Executive Officer, Lonsdale Energy Corp., May 25, 2022 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Executive Officer, Lonsdale Energy Corp., dated 
May 25, 2022, entitled “2022 Annual General Meeting”: 
 
THAT the 2021 Financial Statements be received and filed; 
 
THAT the proposed Unanimous Consent Resolutions of the Shareholder of Lonsdale 
Energy Corp. be endorsed; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to execute the necessary 
documentation to give effect to the motion. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 9 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 20, 2022 

REPORTS – Continued  
 
20. North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw Update – File: 09-4100-01-0001/2022 
 

Report: Section Manager, Park Operations, June 8, 2022 
 
Moved by Councillor Girard, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Section Manager, Park Operations, dated June 8, 2022, 
entitled “North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw Update”: 
 
THAT “North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, 
No. 8920” (Fee Schedule and Memorial Regulations) be considered. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
21. “North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8920” 

(Fee Schedule and Memorial Regulations) 
 
Moved by Councillor Girard, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

THAT “North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, 
No. 8920” (Fee Schedule and Memorial Regulations) be given first and second readings. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

Moved by Councillor Girard, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

THAT “North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, 
No. 8920” (Fee Schedule and Memorial Regulations) be given third reading. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

REPORT 
 
22. General Local Election 2022 – Bylaw Amendments – File: 09-4200-20-0065/1 
 

Report: Deputy Corporate Officer / Deputy Chief Election Officer, June 8, 2022 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Deputy Corporate Officer / Deputy Chief Election Officer, 
dated June 8, 2022, entitled “General Local Election 2022 – Bylaw Amendments”: 
 
THAT the following bylaws be considered: 

 
• “General Local Election Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943”;  
• “Election Sign Bylaw, 2018, No. 8643, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8944” 

(Schedule A); and 
• “Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and Procedure Bylaw, 2022, No. 

8946”. 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 10 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 20, 2022 

BYLAWS – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
23. “General Local Election Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943” 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

THAT “General Local Election Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943” be given first and second 
readings. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

THAT “General Local Election Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943” be given third reading. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
24. “Election Sign Bylaw, 2018, No. 8643, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8944” (Schedule A) 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

THAT “Election Sign Bylaw, 2018, No. 8643, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8944” 
(Schedule A) be given first and second readings. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

THAT “Election Sign Bylaw, 2018, No. 8643, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8944” 
(Schedule A) be given third reading. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
25. “Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and Procedure Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946” 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

THAT “Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and Procedure Bylaw, 2022, No. 
8946” be given first and second readings. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

THAT “Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and Procedure Bylaw, 2022, No. 
8946” be given third reading. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 11 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 20, 2022 

REPORTS 
 
26. Development Variance Permit Application: 520 East 1st Street (Wall North Vancouver 

Townhome Ltd.) – File: 08-3400-20-0085/1 
 

Report: Planner 1, June 8, 2022 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 1, dated June 8, 2022, entitled “Development 
Variance Permit Application: 520 East 1st Street (Wall North Vancouver Townhome 
Ltd.)”: 
 
THAT Development Variance Permit No. PLN2022-00013 (Wall North Vancouver 
Townhome Ltd., Inc. No. BC1138119)  be considered for issuance under Section 498 of 
the Local Government Act and referred to a Public Meeting; 
 
THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign the necessary 
documentation to give effect to this motion. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
27. Rezoning and Heritage Designation Application – 328 West 14th Street (Scott Mitchell / 

METRIC Architecture) – File: 08-3400-20-0067/1 
 

Report: Planner 1, June 8, 2022 
 
Moved by Councillor Valente, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 1, dated June 8, 2022, entitled “Rezoning and 
Heritage Designation Application – 328 West 14th Street (Scott Mitchell / METRIC 
Architecture)”: 
 
THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8935” (Scott 
Mitchell / METRIC Architecture, 328 West 14th Street, CD-756) be considered and 
referred to a Public Hearing; 
 
THAT “Heritage Designation Bylaw, 2022, No. 8932” (Scott Mitchell / METRIC 
Architecture, 328 West 14th Street) be considered and referred to the same Public 
Hearing; 
 
THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 
 
AND THAT the community benefits listed in the report section “Density Bonus and 
Community Benefits” be secured through agreements at the applicant’s expense and to 
the satisfaction of staff. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 12 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 20, 2022 

BYLAWS – FIRST AND SECOND READINGS 
 
28. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8935” (Scott Mitchell / 

METRIC Architecture, 328 West 14th Street, CD-756) 
 
Moved by Councillor Valente, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8935” (Scott 
Mitchell / METRIC Architecture, 328 West 14th Street, CD-756) be given first and second 
readings. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
29. “Heritage Designation Bylaw, 2022, No. 8932” (Scott Mitchell / METRIC Architecture, 328 

West 14th Street) 
 
Moved by Councillor Valente, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 

THAT “Heritage Designation Bylaw, 2022, No. 8932” (Scott Mitchell / METRIC 
Architecture, 328 West 14th Street) be given first and second readings. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

REPORT 
 
30. Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 144 West 21st Street (Confide Enterprises / Ankenman 

Marchand Architects) – File: 08-3400-20-0079/1 
 

Report: Planner 2, June 8, 2022 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 2, dated June 8, 2022, entitled “Zoning Bylaw 
Amendment for 144 West 21st Street (Confide Enterprises / Ankenman Marchand 
Architects)”: 
 
THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8939” (Confide 
Enterprises Inc. / Ankenman Marchand Architects, 144 West 21st  Street, CD-758) be 
considered and referred to a Public Hearing; 
 
THAT “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2022, No. 8940” (Confide Enterprises Inc. / 
Ankenman Marchand Architects, 144 West 21st Street, CD-758, Rental Housing 
Commitments) be considered and referred to the same Public Hearing; 
 
THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 
 
AND THAT the community benefits outlined in the report be secured through agreements 
at the applicant’s expense and to the satisfaction of staff. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 13 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 20, 2022 

BYLAWS – FIRST AND SECOND READINGS 
 
31. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8939” (Confide 
 Enterprises Inc. / Ankenman Marchand Architects, 144 West 21st  Street, CD-758) 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8939” (Confide 
Enterprises Inc. / Ankenman Marchand Architects, 144 West 21st  Street, CD-758) be 
given first and second readings. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

32. “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2022, No. 8940” (Confide Enterprises Inc. / Ankenman 
 Marchand Architects, 144 West 21st Street, CD-758, Rental Housing Commitments) 

 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Valente 

 
THAT “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2022, No. 8940” (Confide Enterprises Inc. / 
Ankenman Marchand Architects, 144 West 21st Street, CD-758, Rental Housing 
Commitments) be given first and second readings. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
33. Pet-friendly Communities and Homes – File: 08-3400-01-0001/2022 
 
 Submitted by Mayor Buchanan 
 
Moved by Mayor Buchanan, seconded by Councillor Girard 

 
WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver Council vision is to be the healthiest small city 
with five key priorities, including a City for People; 
 
WHEREAS a City for People is welcoming and inclusive of all families; 
 
WHEREAS pets are considered family by their owners, and provide great 
companionship to people of all ages, abilities and backgrounds; 
 
WHEREAS engagement on the City’s forthcoming Dog Friendly City: Phase 1 Actions 
has received record-breaking levels of feedback from the community; 
 
WHEREAS, over the course of the pandemic, pet ownership has spiked dramatically; 
 
AND WHEREAS approximately 80% of City residents live in multi-family buildings and 
about 50% of residents are renters; 

 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT staff be directed to report to Council on the 
tools available to work with applicants early in the redevelopment process to ensure the 
homes being delivered will be pet-friendly; 

Continued… 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 14 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 20, 2022 

NOTICES OF MOTION – Continued  
 

33. Pet-friendly Communities and Homes – File: 08-3400-01-0001/2022 – Continued 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT staff be directed to consult with community-based 
pet advocacy groups, such as the BC SPCA, on how cities can adopt more pet-friendly 
housing policies; 
 
AND BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED THAT Mayor Buchanan, on behalf of Council, write 
to the Honourable David Eby, BC Government Minister of Housing, advocating for 
changes to the Residential Tenancy Act to end pet restriction in purpose-built rental 
buildings. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
34. Culturally Accessible Cemeteries in the City of North Vancouver 

– File: 09-4100-01-0001/2022 
 
 Submitted by Mayor Buchanan 
 
Moved by Mayor Buchanan, seconded by Councillor Hu 

 
WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver is committed to being a people-oriented 
community that is safe, welcoming, accessible, inclusive and equitable; 
 
WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver is an ethnically diverse community and home 
to people from many faiths and cultures; 
 
WHEREAS many faiths and cultures adhere to specific burial practices upon the 
passing of a loved one; 
 
WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver maintains a public cemetery; 
 
AND WHEREAS the BC Human Rights Code protects against discrimination in access 
to services, facilities and accommodations in BC; 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT staff be directed to report to Council on the 
feasibility for faith-based communities to have a dedicated section within the City 
cemetery based on religious and cultural practice, so that this public space be more 
accessible to the people within our community. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD 
 
Nil. 
 
COUNCIL INQUIRIES / REPORTS 
 
Nil. 
 
 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 15 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 20, 2022 

NEW ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
Nil. 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
Nil. 
 
RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

THAT Council recess to the Committee of the Whole, Closed Session, pursuant to the 
Community Charter, Sections 90(1)(e) [land matter], 90(1)(i) [legal advice] and 90(1)(k) 
[contract negotiations]. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
The meeting recessed to the Committee of the Whole, Closed Session, at 9:35 pm and 
reconvened at 9:51 pm. 
 
REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE (CLOSED SESSION) 
 
35. Land/Legal/Contract Negotiations – File: 02-0800-30-0030/1 
 

Report: Manager, Strategic Initiatives, June 7, 2022 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Manager, Strategic Initiatives, dated June 7, 2022, 
regarding a land/legal/contract negotiations matter: 
 
THAT the action taken by the Committee of the Whole (Closed Session) be ratified; 
 
AND THAT the wording of the recommendation and the report of the Manager, Strategic 
Initiatives, dated June 7, 2022, remain in the Closed session. 

 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
ADJOURN 
 
Moved by Councillor Valente, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 
 THAT the meeting adjourn. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
The meeting adjourned at 9:52 pm. 
 
 
“Certified Correct by the Corporate Officer” 
____________________________________ 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8920 Document: 2157680-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8920 

A Bylaw to amend “North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “North Vancouver Cemetery 

Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8920” (Fee Schedule and 
Memorial Regulations). 

 
2. “North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109” is amended as follows: 
 

A. By deleting Part 10.2 Grave Gardens – Family Care and City Care in its entirety. 
 
B. In Schedule A, by deleting the In-ground Interments Resident Fees table in its entirety 

and replacing with the following: 
 

In-ground Interments 
Resident Fees 

Lot Care
Fund 

Right of
Interment 

Preparation 
/ Placement 

Liner Total

Adult Casket-Single Depth ($3,600 + $2,000) = $5,600 $1,700 $950 $8,250 
Adult Casket-Single Depth Crypt ($4,650 + $2,000) = $6,650 $1,700  $8,350 
Adult Casket-Double Depth Crypt 
♦ 1st Casket at Lower Level ($6,100 + $2,500) = $8,600 $1,700  $10,300 

Adult Casket-Double Depth Crypt 
♦ 2nd Casket at Upper Level   $800   $1,700  $2,500 

Infant/Child Casket (0-12 years) ($1,040 + $1,000) = $2,040 $860  $2,900 
Cremation Lot with 1st Interment ($2,000 + $950) = $2,950 $350  $3,300 
Cremated Remains in Occupied Lot   $500   $350  $850 

 
C. In Schedule A, by deleting the In-ground Interments Non-Resident Fees table in its 

entirety and replacing with the following: 
 
In-ground Interments 
Non-resident Fees 

Lot Care
Fund 

Right of
Interment 

Preparation 
/ Placement 

Liner Total

Adult Casket-Single Depth ($6,900 + $4,000) = $10,900 $1,700 $950 $13,550 
Adult Casket-Single Depth Crypt ($8,050 + $4,000) = $12,050 $1,700  $13,750 
Adult Casket-Double Depth Crypt 
♦ 1st Casket at Lower Level ($13,300 + $5,000) = $18,300 $1,700  $20,000 

Adult Casket-Double Depth Crypt 
♦ 2nd Casket at Upper Level   $800   $1,700  $2,500 

Infant/Child Casket (0-12 years) ($2,550 + $2,000) = $4,550 $900  $5,450 
Cremation Lot with 1st Interment ($3,750 + $1,800) = $5,550 $350  $5,900 
Cremated Remains in Occupied Lot   $500   $350  $850 
 

  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8920 Document: 2157680-v1 

D. In Schedule A, by deleting the Columbarium Niche Non-Resident Fees table in its 
entirety and replacing with the following: 

 

 
 
E. In Schedule A, by deleting the Memorial Fees table in its entirety and replacing with 

the following: 
 

 
 
F.  In Schedule A, by deleting the Lot Adornment Fees table in its entirety and replacing 

with the following: 
 

 
 

G. In Schedule A, by deleting the Disinterment & Exhumation Fees table in its entirety 
and replacing with the following: 

 

 
 
H.  In Schedule A, by deleting the Additional Fees table in its entirety and replacing with 

the following: 
 

 

Memorial Fees
Care 
Fund

Permit Total

Memorial Permit $100 $120 $220
Memorial Resetting $120 $120
City Concrete Foundation $1,200
Memorial Tablet Levelling $150

Lot Adornment Fees Total
In-ground Vase (includes installation) $90

Disinterment & Exhumation Fees Total
Adult Casket-Single Depth Lot $2,140

$2,600
Infant/Child Casket $1,200
Cremated Remains (in-ground) $450

$620
Cremated Remains (niche) $220

Adult Casket-Lower Level of Double Depth Lot

Cremated Remains (in-ground) with re-interment

Additional Fees

$1,630
$520
$300
$200
$100
$80

After Hours Surcharge for In-ground Cremation Interment

After Hours Surcharge for Niche Interment

Cremation Urn Vault – Single

Administration Fee

TotalA surcharge is applicable for interments on weekends and after regular interment hours on weekdays.
See 6.2 of this Bylaw.

After Hours Surcharge for Adult Casket Burial

After Hours Surcharge for Infant/child Casket Burial



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8920 Document: 2157680-v1 

I. In Schedule B, by deleting the title “Memorials for Adult Size Lots in Blocks 643 to 
647 and Blocks 730 to 743” and replacing with “Memorials for Adult Size Lots in 
Blocks 643 to 647 and Blocks 730 to 747”. 

 
 

READ a first time on the 20th day of June, 2022. 

READ a second time on the 20th day of June, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the 20th day of June, 
2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8941 Document: 2186990-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8941 

A Bylaw to authorize the expenditure of monies from the 
Development Cost Charge (Parks) Reserve Fund 

for the 2022 Capital Plan Appropriations. 

WHEREAS the entire City is listed in “Development Cost Charges Bylaw, 2016, No. 8471” as an 
area where development cost charges for parks will be levied; 
 
AND WHEREAS the development of park land is a capital cost permitted to be paid using 
Development Cost Charge funds under Section 566 of the Local Government Act; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open 
meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Development Cost Charge 

(Parks) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8941” (2022 Capital Plan Funding). 
 
2. The following amount is hereby appropriated from the Development Cost Charge (Parks) 

Reserve Fund for the purpose of funding: 
  

A. $123,750 for the “Upper Levels Greenways” project. 
 
 

READ a first time on the 20th day of June, 2022. 

READ a second time on the 20th day of June, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the 20th day of June, 
2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8942 Document: 2186988-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8942 

A Bylaw to authorize the expenditure of monies from the 
Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund 

for the 2022 Capital Plan Appropriations. 

WHEREAS the entire City is listed in “Development Cost Charges Bylaw, 2016, No. 8471” as an 
area where development cost charges for transportation will be levied; 
 
AND WHEREAS the development of highway facilities, other than off street parking, is a capital 
cost permitted to be paid using Development Cost Charge funds under Section 566 of the Local 
Government Act; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open 
meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Development Cost Charge 

(Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8942” (2022 Capital Plan Funding). 
 
2. The following amount is hereby appropriated from the Development Cost Charge 

(Transportation) Reserve Fund for the purpose of funding: 
 

A. $34,650 for the “Priority Mobility Network Improvements” project. 
 
 

READ a first time on the 20th day of June, 2022. 

READ a second time on the 20th day of June, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the 20th day of June, 
2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943 Document: 2186809-v5 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 

BYLAW NO. 8943 
 

A bylaw to provide for the determination of various procedures 
for the conduct of local government elections and other voting 

 
Under the Local Government Act, the Council may, by bylaw, determine various procedures 
and requirements to be applied in the conduct of local government elections and other voting. 
 
Council wishes to establish various procedures and requirements under that authority. 
 
The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
CITATION 
 
1. This bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “General Local Election Bylaw, 

2022, No. 8943”. 
 
DEFINITIONS 
 
2. In this bylaw: 
 

“Elector” means a resident elector or property elector of the jurisdiction as defined under 
the Local Government Act; 

 
“Election” means an election for the number of persons required to fill a local 
government office; 

 
“Endorsement documents” means documents required under Section 93 of the Local 
Government Act;  

 
“General local election” means the elections held for the Mayor, all Councillors and 
School Trustees, if applicable, of the jurisdiction, which must be held every four years; 

 
“General voting day” means:  

 
(a) for a General Local Election, the 3rd Saturday of October in the year of the election; 

 
(b) for a by-election, the date set under Section 54 of the Local Government Act; and 

 
(c) for other voting, the date set under Section 170 of the Local Government Act; 

 
“Jurisdiction” means, in relation to an election, the boundaries of the City of North 
Vancouver; 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943 Document: 2186809-v5 

“Local Government” means, in relation to an election: 
 

(a) The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver; or 
 

(b) the municipal Council of the City of North Vancouver. 
 

“Nomination documents” means the documents required under Section 87 of the Local 
Government Act; 

 
“Other voting” means voting on a matter referred to under Section 170 of the Local 
Government Act and includes voting on a referendum under Sections 83 or 85 of the 
Community Charter. 

 
USE OF PROVINCIAL LIST OF VOTERS AS THE REGISTER OF RESIDENT ELECTORS 
 
3. As authorized under Section 76 of the Local Government Act, the most current available 

Provincial list of voters prepared under the Election Act, is deemed to be the register of 
resident electors for the Jurisdiction. 

 
4. The Provincial list of voters becomes the register of resident electors no later than 52 

days before General Voting Day for each Election or Other Voting for the Jurisdiction. 
 
REQUIRED ADVANCE VOTING OPPORTUNITIES 
 
5. As provided under Section 107 of the Local Government Act, required advance voting 

opportunities will be held for each Election, or Other Voting, as follows: 
 

(a) on the 10th day before General Voting Day; and 
 

(b) on the 3rd day before General Voting Day. 
 
6. Voting hours for these advance voting opportunities must be from 8:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m. 
 
ADDITIONAL ADVANCE VOTING OPPORTUNITIES 
 
7. As authorized under Section 108 of the Local Government Act, Council authorizes the 

Chief Election Officer to establish additional advance voting opportunities for each 
Election to be held in advance of General Voting Day and to designate the voting places, 
establish the date and the voting hours for these voting opportunities. 

 
SPECIAL VOTING OPPORTUNITIES 
 
8. As authorized under Section 109 of the Local Government Act, Council authorizes the 

Chief Election Officer to establish special voting opportunities for each Election in any or 
all of the hospitals in the Jurisdiction and to designate the location, the date and the voting 
hours, within the limits set out in  the Local Government Act for a special voting 
opportunity. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943 Document: 2186809-v5 

9. The following restrictions apply to persons who may vote at the special voting opportunity: 
 

(a) the only Electors who may vote are Electors who have been admitted to and are 
patients of a hospital on the date and during the voting hours for which the special 
voting opportunity is held. 

 
10. The following procedures for voting and for conducting the voting proceedings apply to the 

special voting opportunity: 
 

(a) where a special voting opportunity is established in a hospital, and a patient of the 
hospital who is a qualified voter is bedridden or unable to walk, the Presiding 
Election Officer may, in the presence of another election official, attend with the 
ballot box to a patient for the purpose of providing a ballot for voting. The voter will 
be instructed to mark the ballot at a far enough distance from the election officials so 
that privacy of the vote can be reasonably made. 

 
11. Council authorizes the Chief Election Officer to limit the number of candidate 

representatives who may be present at the special voting opportunity. 
 
RESOLUTION OF TIE VOTES AFTER JUDICIAL RECOUNT 
 
12. In the event of a tie vote after a judicial recount, the tie vote will be determined by lot in 

accordance with Section 151 of the Local Government Act. 
 
MAIL BALLOT VOTING 
 
13. As authorized under Section 110 of the Local Government Act, voting may be done by 

mail ballot and registration of Election may be done by mail in conjunction with mail ballot 
voting.  

 
14. The Chief Election Officer may establish the time limits in relation to voting by mail. 
 
15. The Chief Election Officer will establish procedures for voting and registration, and must 

ensure that sufficient records are kept. 
16. A mail ballot must be received by the Chief Election Officer before the close of voting on 

General Voting Day in order to be counted for an Election. 
 
ACCESS TO NOMINATION DOCUMENTS 
 
17. As authorized under Sections 89 and 93 of the Local Government Act, public access to 

nomination and endorsement documents will be provided by making copies available to 
any person at City Hall during regular business hours, on request, and by posting on the 
City’s website from the time of the delivery of documents to the Chief Election Officer until 
30 days after the declaration of the Election results. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943 Document: 2186809-v5 

REPEAL 
 
18. “General Local Election Bylaw, 1993, No. 6442” and all amendments are repealed on 

adoption of this bylaw. 
 
 

READ a first time on the 20th day of June, 2022. 

READ a second time on the 20th day of June, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the 20th day of June, 
2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8944 Document: 2187946-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8944 

A Bylaw to amend “Election Sign Bylaw, 2018, No. 8643” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Election Sign Bylaw, 2018, No. 

8643, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8944” (Schedule A). 
 
2. “Election Sign Bylaw, 2018, No. 8643” is hereby amended by deleting “Schedule A” and 

replacing it with the updated “Schedule A” attached to this bylaw. 
 
 

READ a first time on the 20th day of June, 2022. 

READ a second time on the 20th day of June, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the 20th day of June, 
2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



Trans Canada Hwy

Trans Canada Hwy

Trans Canada Hwy

Ha
m

ilto
n A

ve

St
. G

eo
rg

es
 A

ve
St

. A
nd

re
ws

 A
ve

Mah
on

 A
ve

St
. P

at
ric

ks
 A

ve Q
ue

en
sb

ur
y 

Av
e

St
. G

eo
rg

es
 A

ve

M
ah

on
 A

ve

R
uf

us
 A

ve

St
. A

nd
re

w
s 

Av
e

Jo
ne

s 
Av

e

G
ra

nd
 B

lv
d 

W

M
oo

dy
 A

ve

Be
w

ic
ke

 A
ve

G
ra

nd
 B

lv
d 

E

Su
th

er
la

nd
 A

ve

Lo
ns

da
le

 A
ve

R
id

ge
w

ay
 A

ve

Fo
rb

es
 A

ve

St
. D

av
id

s A
ve

W 1st St

La
rso

n Rd

E 4th St

W 19th St

W 20th St

W 21st St

Alden Lane

E 3rd St

W 19th St

W 20th St

Do
na

gh
y A

ve

M
ac

ka
y 

R
d W 3rd St

W 1st St

W 2nd St

W 3rd St

W 2nd St

W 21st St

N
ei

ls
on

 A
ve

C
he

st
er

fie
ld

 A
ve

W
es

tv
ie

w
D

r

Rufus Dr

Harbourside Dr

E Keith
Rd

Heywood St

Tem pe
Cres

Br
oo

k s
ba

n k
Av

e

Ea
st

er
n 

Av
e

H
a n

es
Av

e

M
ackay Ave

G
rand

Blvd

Brand St

Wolfe
St

Cas
ano Dr

W

8th St

Marine Dr

E 28th St

E 7th St

Lyon Pl

E 24th St

E 10th St

E 9th St

E 27th St

E 21st St

W 26th St

W 22nd St

W 27th St

W 14th St

W 24th St

E 13th St

W 18th St

E 26th St

E 22nd St

W 15th St

W 13th St

E 19th St

E 20th St

E 12th St

E 23rd St

E 11th St

Fe
ll A

ve

G
os

tic
k 

Pl

Ad derley St

26
th Cres

E 8th St

Cotton Rd

W 23rd St

W 28th St

W Keith Rd

E Esplanade

E 2nd St

E 6th St
W 4th St

W 5th St

W 6th St

E 5th St

E 18th St

Cloverley S
t

M unda y
Pl

E 17th St
W 17th St

E 15th St

E 14th St

E 16th St

Alder St

E 29th St

Tobruck Ave

Cumberland C
re

s

W 16th St

E 1st St

Shavin
gton St

Te
mpe Kn

oll
Dr

AutomallDr

Low Level Rd

Keith Creek
Miss

ion
 C

re
ek

M
os

qu
ito

Cr
ee

k

W
ag

g
Cr

ee
k

Th
ai

n
C

re
ek

Lynn
Creek

M
ac

ka
y

C
re

ek

M
ou

nt
ai

n 
H

w
y

Lyn
n Valley R

d

City of North Vancouver

Schedule A
Election Sign Bylaw 

2018 No. 8643, 
Amendment Byaw 

2022 No. 8944 

PUB LISHED: M ay 0 2, 2 018  

PATH:  H: \CNV_ Ma ps\C le rks\
COORDINATE SYS TE M: NAD 8 3, UTM Zo ne 1 0

GIS Division, Information Technology, 
City of North Vancouver

This map was produced on the City of North 
Vancouver's Geographic Information System. 
Data provided herein is derived from sources 
with varying levels of accuracy and detail. 
The City of North Vancouver disclaims all 
responsibility for the accuracy or completeness 
of information contained herein.

DISCLAIMER

0 100 200
Meters

FIL E: 2 018 _Ele ct io n_S ig n_B yla w_ 864 3_1 1x17

Squamish
Nation

Legend

Permitted Election 
Signage

Document: 2187962



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v4 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 

BYLAW NO. 8946 
 

Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and Procedure Bylaw 
 
Under the  Local Government Act, the Council may, by bylaw, provide for the use of automated 
voting machines, voting recorders or other devices for voting in an election;  
 
The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
CITATION 
 
1. This bylaw may be cited as “Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and 

Procedure Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946”. 
 
DEFINITIONS 
 
2. In this bylaw, all definitions shall be in accordance with Part 3 of the Local Government Act, 

except for the following: 
 

“Acceptable Mark” means a filled oval or oval marked with an “x” that the vote counting 
unit is able to identify, and that has been made by an elector in the space provided on the 
ballot opposite the name of any candidate or opposite either “yes” or “no” on any referendum 
question, if applicable. 

 
“Automated Vote Counting System” means a system that counts and records votes and 
processes and stores election results which comprises: 

 
(a) a number of ballot scan vote counting units, each of which rests on a two compartment 

ballot box, one compartment of which is for: 
 

i. voted ballots; and 
ii. Returned Ballots which have been reinserted using the Ballot Return Over ride 

Procedure; 
 

and the other for the temporary storing of voted ballots during such time as the vote 
counting unit is not functioning; and 

 
(b) a Portable Ballot Box into which voted mail ballots are deposited, to be counted after 

the close of voting on general voting day. 
 

“Ballot” means a single ballot card designed for use in an automated vote counting system, 
which shows: 

 
(a) the names of all of the candidates for each of the offices of Mayor, Councillor and 

School Trustee; and 
 

(b) all of the choices on all of the referendum questions on which the opinion of, or consent 
from, the electors is sought. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v4 

“Ballot Return Over-ride Procedure” means the use, by an election official, of a device 
on a vote counting unit, which causes the unit to accept a Returned Ballot. 

 
“Election Headquarters” means North Vancouver City Hall, 141 West 14th Street, North 
Vancouver, B.C. 

 
“Emergency Ballot Compartment” means a designated compartment in the ballot box 
under each vote counting unit into which voted ballots are temporarily deposited in the event 
that the unit ceases to function. 

 
“Memory Card” means a flash memory card that inserts into the vote counting unit and into 
which is programmed: 

 
(a) the names of all the candidates for each of the offices of Mayor, Councillor, and School 

Trustee, as applicable, and with written consent of the candidate, an elector 
organization endorsement for the candidate; and  

 
(b) the alternatives of “yes” and “no” for all of the choices on all of the referendum 

questions on which the opinion of, or consent from, the electors is sought, 
 

and a mechanism to record and retain information on the number of Acceptable Marks made 
for each.  

 
“Portable Ballot Box” means a ballot box which is used in the election where a vote 
counting unit is not being used at the time of voting. 

 
“Results Tape” means the printed record generated from a vote counting unit at the close 
of voting on general voting day, which shows the number of votes for each candidate for 
each of the offices of Mayor, Councillor, and School Trustee, and the number of votes for 
and against each referendum question, if applicable. 

 
“Returned Ballot” means a voted ballot which was inserted into the vote counting unit but 
which was not accepted, and which was returned with an explanation of the ballot marking 
error which caused the ballot not to be accepted. 

 
“Vote Counting Unit” means the device into which voted ballots are inserted and which 
scans each ballot and counts and records the number of votes for each candidate and for 
and against each referendum question. 

 
AUTHORIZATION 
 
3. Authorization is hereby given for the conducting of the General Local and School Board 

Election, using an Automated Vote Counting System. 
 
AUTOMATED VOTING PROCEDURES 
 
4.1 The presiding election official for each voting place and at each advance and special voting 

opportunity, may offer, or if requested, must ensure that a demonstration of how to vote 
using an Automated Vote Counting System is provided to an elector, as soon as such elector 
enters the voting place and before a Ballot is issued. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v4 

4.2 Upon completion of any voting demonstration, the elector shall proceed as instructed to the 
election official responsible for issuing ballots, who: 

 
(a) shall ensure that the elector; 

 
i. is qualified to vote in the election; 
ii. completes the voting book as required by the Local Government Act; and 

 
(b) upon fulfillment of the requirements of sub-section (a), shall then provide a Ballot to the 

elector the Ballot marking pen, and any further instructions the elector requests. 
 
4.3 Upon being provided a Ballot, the elector shall immediately proceed to a voting compartment 

to vote. 
 
4.4 The elector may vote only by making an Acceptable Mark on the Ballot: 
 

(a) beside the name of each candidate of choice, up to the maximum number of 
candidates to be elected for each of the offices of Mayor, Councillor and School 
Trustee, if applicable; and 

 
(b) beside either “yes” or “no” in the case of each referendum question, if applicable. 

 
4.5 Once the elector has finished marking the Ballot, the elector must either: 
 

(a) place the Ballot into the secrecy sleeve, in the case of a two-sided Ballot or if one is 
otherwise provided; or 

 
(b) turn the Ballot upside down in the case of a single-sided Ballot, and proceed to the vote 

counting unit, and under the supervision of the election official in attendance, insert 
the Ballot directly into the vote counting unit without the Acceptable Marks on the Ballot 
being exposed. 

 
4.6 If the elector declines the opportunity to obtain a replacement Ballot and has not damaged 

the Ballot to the extent that it cannot be reinserted into the vote counting unit, the election 
official shall, using the Ballot Return Over ride Procedure, reinsert the Returned Ballot into 
the vote counting unit to count any Acceptable Marks. 

 
4.7 If a Ballot is returned by the vote counting unit, the election official shall state the reason for 

the rejection as shown on the vote counting unit and give the elector the option of: 
 

(a) completing a replacement Ballot; or 
 

(b) reinserting the Returned Ballot into the vote counting unit using the Ballot return 
override procedure to count any marks that have been made correctly; 

 
and the election official shall proceed in accordance with the elector’s choice. 

 
4.8 Any Ballot accepted by the vote counting unit is valid and any Acceptable Marks contained 

on such Ballots will be counted in the election, subject to any determination made under a 
judicial recount. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v4 

4.9 Once the Ballot has been inserted into the vote counting unit and the unit indicates that the 
Ballot has been accepted, the elector must immediately leave the voting place. 

 
4.10 During any period that a vote counting unit is not functioning, the election official supervising 

the unit shall direct electors to insert their Ballots into the Emergency Ballot Compartment, 
on the understanding that if the vote counting unit: 

 
(a) becomes operational; or 

 
(b) is replaced with another vote counting unit, 

 
the Ballots in the Emergency Ballot Compartment shall, as soon as reasonably possible, be 
removed by an election official and, under the supervision of the presiding election official, 
shall be inserted into the vote counting unit to be counted. 

 
4.11 Any Ballots that were temporarily stored in the Emergency Ballot Compartment during a 

period when the vote counting unit was not functioning, which are returned by the vote 
counting unit when being counted, shall, through the use of the Ballot Return Over ride 
Procedure, and under the supervision of the presiding election official, be reinserted into the 
vote counting unit to ensure that any Acceptable Marks are counted. 

 
4.12 A sample Ballot that may be used in an election conducted under an Automated Vote 

Counting System is attached as Schedule “A” to this bylaw. 
 
ADVANCE AND SPECIAL VOTING OPPORTUNITY PROCEDURES 
 
5.1 Vote counting units shall be used at all advance and special  voting opportunities, and voting 

procedures at the advance and special voting opportunities shall follow as closely as 
possible, those described in section 4. 

 
5.2 At the close of voting at each advance and special voting opportunity, the presiding election 

official in each case shall ensure: 
 

(a) that any remaining Ballots in the Emergency Ballot Compartment are inserted into the 
vote counting unit; 

 
(b) that no additional Ballots are inserted into or withdrawn from either the vote counting 

unit or into or from the Emergency Ballot Compartment; 
 

(c) that the Results Tapes in the vote counting units are not generated; and 
 

(d) that the Memory Cards in the vote counting unit are secured and remain sealed in 
such a manner that they cannot be accessed without breaking the seal. 

 
5.3 During any period that a vote counting unit being used at an advance or special voting 

opportunity is not functioning, the provisions of sub-sections 4.12 and 4.13, so far as 
applicable, shall apply. 

 
5.4 The presiding election official shall, at the close of voting at both the final advance voting 

opportunity and the special voting opportunity: 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 5 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v4 

(a) ensure that any remaining Ballots in the Emergency Ballot Compartment are inserted 
into the vote counting unit; 

 
(b) secure the vote counting unit so that no more Ballots can be inserted or withdrawn; 

and 
 

(c) deliver the vote counting unit, together with the memory cards and all other election 
materials, to the Chief Election Officer at Election Headquarters. 

 
MAIL BALLOT VOTING OPPORTUNITY PROCEDURES 
 
6.1 Voting by mail Ballot and elector registration by mail in conjunction with mail Ballot voting 

are authorized under the Local Government Act. 
 

(a) The Chief Election Officer is authorized to establish the application form, time limits in 
relation to mail Ballot voting, determine options for distributing the mail Ballot 
packages, request identification from electors as applicable, and designate the 
locations for the receipt of completed mail Ballot packages from electors. 

 
(b) An elector who wishes to vote by mail Ballot must submit a request to the Chief 

Election Officer using the application form and within the time limits established by the 
Chief Election Officer. 

 
(c) Upon receipt of a completed application form and commencing as soon as practical 

after the final printed Ballots are available, the Chief Election Officer must make 
available to the elector a mail Ballot package that complies with sections 110(7) and 
(8) of the Local Government Act, immediately record, and upon request in person by 
a candidate, representative or elector, make available for inspection by any such 
person, the name and address of the person to whom the Chief Election Officer issued 
the mail Ballot package. 

 
(d) In order to vote using a mail Ballot, the elector must mark the Ballot in accordance with 

this bylaw and all instructions contained in the mail Ballot package provided by the 
Chief Election Officer. 

 
(e) It is the elector’s responsibility to mail or deliver the completed mail Ballot package to 

a location designated by the Chief Election Officer such that the Chief Election Officer 
receives it no later than the close of voting on general voting day. 

 
(f) If an elector unintentionally spoils a mail Ballot before returning it to the Chief Election 

Officer, the elector may request a replacement mail Ballot package in accordance with 
section 6.1(b) of the bylaw, and the election official must make available replacement 
mail Ballot package as soon as practical in accordance with section 6.1 (c) of the 
bylaw. The first mail Ballot received by the Chief Election Officer will be counted, and 
any other mail Ballots issued to the same elector will be marked as “rejected”, the 
reason for rejection will be noted, and those Ballots will not be counted. 

 
(g) The Chief Election Officer, or designate, must process all mail Ballot packages 

returned by the close of voting on general voting day. 
 

(h) Upon receipt of a returned mail Ballot envelope, the Chief Election Officer, or 
designate, must immediately record the date of such receipt, open the return envelope 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 6 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v4 

and remove and examine the certification envelope and completed elector registration 
application, if applicable, and if satisfied as to the identity and entitlement to vote of 
the elector named in the certification, the completeness of the certification, and if the 
person is registering as a new elector, fulfilment of the requirements of section 65 or 
66 of the Local Government Act, mark the certification envelope as "accepted" and 
place it with other certification envelopes. 

 
(i) If the Chief Election Officer, or designate, is not satisfied as to the identity and 

entitlement to vote of the elector named in the certification, or the completeness of the 
certification; or is not satisfied that a person registering as a new elector has fulfilled 
the requirements of section 65 or 66 of the Local Government Act; or receives the 
return mail Ballot envelope after the close of voting on general voting day, the Chief 
Election Officer, or designate, must not open the certification envelope and must mark 
the certification envelope as "rejected", note the reason for rejection, and not count 
the mail Ballot contained in the certification envelope in the election. 

 
(j) Each certification envelope returned with a mail Ballot package must be securely 

stored by the Chief Election Officer in the event of any challenge made in accordance 
with section 126 of the Local Government Act. 

 
6.2 Vote counting units shall be used at the mail Ballot voting opportunity and voting procedures 

shall follow as closely as possible, those described in section 4. 
 
6.3 During any period that a vote counting unit being used at a mail Ballot voting opportunity is 

not functioning, the provisions of sub-sections 4.12 and 4.13, so far as applicable, shall 
apply. 

 
6.4 The Chief Election Officer is authorized to designate one or more locations, days and times 

for the counting of mail Ballots before general voting day. 
 
6.5 For the counting of mail Ballots at locations, days and times designated by the Chief Election 

Officer, the Chief Election Officer, or designate, in the presence of another election official, 
shall: 

 
(a) open certification envelopes accepted and maintained to date by the Chief Election 

Officer; 
 

(b) insert the secrecy Ballot from each certification envelope into a vote counting unit 
designated for counting mail Ballots; 

 
(c) after the insertion of all mail Ballots, ensure that no additional Ballots are inserted into 

or withdrawn from either the vote counting unit or the Emergency Ballot Compartment; 
 

(d) ensure the Results Tapes in the vote counting unit are not generated; and 
 

(e) ensure the Memory Cards in the vote counting unit are secured and remain sealed in 
such a manner that they cannot be accessed without breaking the seal. 

 
6.6 The Chief Election Officer shall designate a location and an election official for the counting 

of mail Ballots on general voting day and the procedures in section 6.5 of this bylaw shall 
apply to the counting of such mail Ballots. After the close of voting on general voting day, 
the designated election official shall: 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 7 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v4 

(a) generate two copies of the Results Tape from the vote counting unit designated for 
counting of mail Ballots; and 

 
(b) deliver one copy of the Results Tape, along with the Memory Card from vote counting 

unit used for counting mail Ballots, to the Chief Election Officer. 
 
PROCEDURES AFTER THE CLOSE OF VOTING ON GENERAL VOTING DAY 
 
7.1 After the close of voting on general voting day, each presiding election official, except those 

responsible for advance, special and mail Ballot voting opportunities, shall undertake all of 
the following, generally in the order stipulated: 

 
(a) ensure that any remaining Ballots in the Emergency Ballot Compartment are inserted 

into the vote counting unit; 
 

(b) secure the vote counting unit so that no more Ballots can be inserted or withdrawn; 
 

(c) generate two copies of the Results Tape from the vote counting unit; 
 

(d) remove the memory card from the vote counting unit and deliver it, along with one 
copy of the Results Tape, to the Chief Election Officer at Election Headquarters; 

 
(e) account for the unused, spoiled and voted Ballots, and place them, packaged and 

sealed separately, into the election materials transfer box; 
 

(f) complete the Ballot account and place the duplicate copy in the election materials 
transfer box; 

 
(g) seal the election materials transfer box; 

 
(h) place the voting books/list of electors, the original copy of the Ballot account, one copy 

of the Results Tape, completed registration cards, keys and all completed 
administrative forms into the Chief Election Officer portfolio; and 

 
(i) deliver the sealed election materials transfer box, vote counting unit and the Chief 

Election Officer portfolio to the Chief Election Officer at Election Headquarters. 
 
7.2 After the close of voting on general voting day, the Chief Election Officer shall direct an 

election official to proceed in accordance with clauses (c) to (i) inclusive of sub-section 5.1, 
for the advance and special Ballot voting opportunities, so far as applicable. 

 
7.3 Upon the fulfillment of the provisions of sub-sections 5.1 and 5.2 inclusive, the Chief Election 

Officer shall, to obtain the election results, direct an election official to place the results in a 
spreadsheet, which may be used for display in the City Council Chamber, indicating the total 
election results. 

 
RECOUNT PROCEDURE 
 
8. If a recount is required, it shall be conducted using the Automated Vote Counting System, 

and generally in accordance with the provisions of Sections 148, 149 and 150 of the Local 
Government Act: 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 8 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v4 

REPEAL 
 
9. “Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and Procedure Bylaw, 1996, No. 6815” 

and all amendments are repealed on adoption of this bylaw. 
 
 

READ a first time on the 20th day of June, 2022. 

READ a second time on the 20th day of June, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the 20th day of June, 
2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 

  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 9 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v4 

Schedule “A” 
Sample Ballot 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



4-
Department Director CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

REPORT 

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

From: Larry Sawrenko, Chief Financial Officer 

SUBJECT: 2021 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Date: June 15th, 2022 File No: 05-1880-20-0008/2021 

The following is a suggested recommendation only.Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated June 15th, 2022, 
entitled, "2021 Statement of Financial Information": 

THAT the Statement of Financial Information for the year ended December 31, 
2021 be approved and forwarded to the Ministry of Municipal Affairs. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Statement of Financial 
Information for the year ended December 31, 2021 (Doc# 2184553) 

BACKGROUND: 

The Financial Information Act ("FIA") and Regulation requires municipalities to prepare 
a Statement of Financial Information ("SOFI") approved by Council and the 
municipality's Financial Officer and make it publically available. The Ministry of 
Municipal Affairs also annually requests a copy as permitted by the FIA. The FIA 
requires that the SOFI be completed and made available as per above no later than 
June 30th each year. The SOFI must include the following: 

1. A Management report that explains the roles and responsibilities of Council (ie 
providing financial oversight), of management (ie preparing the financial 

Document Number: 2182754 Vl 



REPORT: 2021 Statement of Financial Information ("SOFI") 
Date: June 15, 2022 

information in the report), and the City's auditors (ie expressing an opinion on 
whether or not the City's financial statements are fairly presented) 

2. Information on the City's assets, liabilities, operations, debts, guarantees, and 
indemnity agreements 

3. Council remuneration and expenses 
4. Employee remuneration and expenses over $75,000 during the year 
5. Payments to suppliers over $25,000 during the year 

Section 168 of the Community Charter also specifies that, at least once a year, 
Council's remuneration, expenses, benefits, and any outside services contracts with a 
member of Council must be disclosed. The City's SOFI report is prepared to meet this 
requirement. 

DISCUSSION: 

A SOFI report for 2021 is has been prepared for Council consideration (Attachment 1 ). 
In this report, the Management report and financial information sections (ie as identified 
in bullets 1 and 2 in the Background section above) are consistent with the Statement of 
Management Responsibility, financial schedules, and notes included in the City's 2021 
Consolidated Financial Statements accepted by Council at its regular meeting on May 
2, 2022. Further explanation behind the information identified in bullets 3, 4, and 5 
above is provided below. 

Remuneration and Expenses 

This section includes the remuneration paid to each employee where payments were 
greater than $75,000. The consolidated total of remuneration paid to employees whose 
annual remuneration is $75,000 or less is also provided. Under this section, there is 
also a separate schedule that lists the total amount of remuneration and expenses paid 
to or on behalf of each elected official. 

The definition of remuneration is broad and includes any form of salary, wages, 
bonuses, gratuities, and taxable benefits paid during the fiscal year being reported on. 
However, anything payable under a severance agreement and the employer's portion of 
contributions to registered pension and superannuation plans, extended health plans 
and dental plans are excluded. 

One time payments to employees are also disclosed and primarily relate to prior year 
vacation payouts for non-union employees. 

Expenses include travel expenses, memberships, tuition, relocation, vehicle leases, and 
similar amounts paid to or on behalf of employees and which has not been included in 
'remuneration'. Benefits of a general nature applicable to all employees pursuant to an 
agreement such as medical, dental, counselling, insurance and similar plans are 
excluded. 

The Financial Information Act and Regulations require disclosure of summary 
information on severance agreements with non-union employees for which payment 

Page 2 of 3 



REPORT: 2021 Statement of Financial Information ("SOFI") 
Date: June 15, 2022 

commenced during the fiscal year. Information that must be disclosed is limited to the 
range of the number of months of compensation being paid, which protects the 
confidential nature of these types of agreements. 

Suppliers of Goods and Services 

This section lists the names of suppliers paid by the City during the fiscal year for the 
supplies of goods or services with an aggregate amount over $25,000 and the 
consolidated total paid to suppliers with an aggregate amount equal to $25,000 or less. 
This section also includes a separate schedule of grants and contributions. Finally, this 
section reconciles the amounts reported in the SOFI (which are reported on a cash 
basis) to the amounts reported in the City's audited financial statements (recorded as 
per Public Sector Accounting Standards on an accruals basis) to provide readers with 
additional confidence in the SOFI report. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

The SOFI is prepared by City staff, so there are no other operating or capital costs 
incurred in its preparation. 

INTERDEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS: 

Mayor and Council, as well as Directors and Managers with compensation greater than 
$75,000, and employees with Compensation greater than $75,000 and expenses 
greater than $3,000 reviewed their expense amounts before the draft report was 
completed. 

STRATEGIC PLAN, ORP OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 

The City's SOFI supports the 2022 Corporate Business Plan Corporate Outcome to be 
"An Open & Engaged Organization". 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 
Larry Sawrenko 
Chief Financial Officer 

Page 3 of 3 



2021 Statement of Financial Information  

JUNE 2022   

2184553 V2

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 1�



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver 
Management Report and Statement of Financial Information Approval 

2021 

The Financial Statements contained in this Statement of Financial Information under the 
Financial Information Act have been prepared by management in accordance with 
Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards, and the integrity and objectivity of these 
statements are management’s responsibility. 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the Statement of Financial 
Information and ensuring this information is consistent with the financial statements. 
Management is also responsible for implementing and maintaining a system of internal 
controls to provide reasonable assurance that reliable financial information is produced. 

The Mayor and Council are responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its 
responsibilities for financial reporting and internal controls. Council annually reviews 
and approves the consolidated financial statements and the statement of financial 
information. 

The City’s external auditors, BDO Canada LLP, conduct an independent examination, in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, and express their 
opinion on the financial statements. Their examination does not relate to the other 
schedules and statements required by the Act. Their examination includes a review and 
evaluation of the City’s system of internal control and appropriate tests and procedures 
to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements are presently fairly. 

As authorized by the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, subsection 9(2), I 
approve all the statements and schedules included in this Statement of Financial 
Information, produced under the Financial Information Act. 

_____________________________ 
Larry Sawrenko 
Chief Financial Officer 
June 15, 2022 



Page No.

1 - 26

27 - 37

38 - 46

Appendix 1

Appendix 2

City of North Vancouver
2021 Statement of Financial Information

Table of Contents

Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Employee Remuneration and Expenses

Suppliers of Goods and Services

Council Approval of the Statement of Financial Information

Financial Information Regulation - Schedule 1 (Checklist)



The Corporation of the City of
North Vancouver
Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2021

1



Statement of Management Responsibility 

The Council of the Corporation of the City of North Vancouver (“City”) has delegated the responsibility 
for the integrity and objectivity of the financial information contained in the consolidated financial 
statements to the management of the City. The consolidated financial statements which, in part, are 
based on informed judgments and estimates, have been prepared by management in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards, which have been applied on a basis consistent with that of 
the preceding year. 

To assist in carrying out their responsibility, management maintains an accounting system and internal 
controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are executed and recorded in accordance with 
authorization, and that financial records are reliable for preparation of financial statements. 

The Mayor and Council oversee management's responsibilities for the financial reporting and internal 
control systems. Council annually reviews and approves the consolidated financial statements. 

The City’s independent auditors, BDO Canada LLP, are engaged to express an opinion as to whether the 
City's consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial position of 
the City as at December 31, 2021, and the results of operations, changes in net financial assets and cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 

The consolidated financial statements have, in management's opinion, been properly prepared within 
reasonable limits of materiality and in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Chief Financial Officer

Larry Sawrenko

May 3, 2022

2



Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Mayor and Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Corporation of the City of North Vancouver 
and its controlled entities (the “City”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at December 31, 2021 and the consolidated statement of operations, the consolidated statement of 
changes in net financial assets and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the City as at December 31, 2021, and its consolidated 
results of operations, its changes in consolidated net financial assets, its consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the City in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.  

Unaudited Information 

We have not audited, reviewed, or otherwise attempted to verify the accuracy or completeness of the 
Schedule A of the City's consolidated financial statements. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the City’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the City or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the City’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the 
international BDO network of independent member firms. 

Tel: (604) 688-5421 
Fax: (604) 688-5132 
www.bdo.ca 

BDO Canada LLP 
Unit 1100 Royal Centre 
1055 West Georgia Street, P.O. Box 11101 
Vancouver, British Columbia 
V6E 3P3 

3



As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the City’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the City’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the City to cease
to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the City to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the City audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.  

Chartered Professional Accountants 

Vancouver, British Columbia 
May 3, 2022 

4



2021 2020

FINANCIAL ASSETS
  Cash 74,571$   116,691$    
  Temporary investments (note 3(a)) 103,526 55,589 
  Portfolio investments (note 3(b)) 83,466 102,501 
  Investment in Lonsdale Energy Corp. (note 4) 4,613 3,947 
  Due from other governments 3,962 3,872 
  Accounts receivable 11,471 11,053 
  Loan to Lonsdale Energy Corp. (note 5) 27,043 26,518 
  Interest receivable 8,720 12,418 

317,372 332,589 

LIABILITIES
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 22,680 39,355 
  Deferred revenue 34,258 32,132 
  Deferred lease revenue (note 13) 49,930 51,925 
  Deferred development cost charges 22,072 21,963 
  Debt (note 6) 237 465 
  Employee future benefits (note 7) 8,386 8,229 
  Advances and other liabilities 10,077 10,351 

147,640 164,420 

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 169,732 168,169 

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
  Tangible capital assets (note 8) 461,087 445,625 
  Inventories 746 703 
  Prepaid expenses 1,544 1,828 

463,377 448,156 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (note 9) 633,109$    616,325$    

Commitments and contingencies (note 10)

Chief Financial Officer
Larry Sawrenko

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at December 31, 2021 with comparative figures for 2020
(in thousands of dollars)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

5



2021 
Budget 2021 2020

(notes 2(i) and 14)

REVENUE
Property value tax (Note 10 (a)) 68,974$   69,056$   65,928$   
Parcel taxes 3,746 3,814 3,571 
Licences and permits 4,203 6,441 4,949 
Fines and fees 4,748 4,678 4,799 
Rent 2,544 3,368 1,874 
Interest, dividends and penalties 2,148 5,589 6,059 
Sale of services 30,331 29,672 26,331 
Rebate and recoveries 85 185 638 
Grants and other 7,591 12,729 19,430 
Developer contributions and other transfers 314 8,200 25,063 
Loss on disposition of assets - (714) (823) 
Lonsdale Energy Corp. income (note 4) - 666 1,238 

124,684 143,684 159,057 

EXPENSES
General government 21,625 23,211 22,078 
Transportation and transit 7,194 8,866 8,317 
Health, social services and housing 2,749 2,724 2,764 
Development services 7,127 7,494 5,406 
Protective services 28,781 28,139 27,229 
Parks, recreation and culture 33,051 30,665 28,084 
Water utilities 10,795 10,871 9,719 
Sewer utilities 11,090 11,767 10,538 
Solid waste 3,535 3,163 3,951 

Total expenses (note 12) 125,947 126,900 118,086 

Annual surplus (1,263) 16,784 40,971 

Accumulated surplus beginning of year 616,325 616,325 575,354 

Accumulated surplus end of year 615,062$   633,109$   616,325$   

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Consolidated Statement of Operations 
Year ended December 31, 2021 with comparative figures for 2020
(in thousands of dollars)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

6



2021
Budget 2021 2020

(notes 2(i) and 14)

  Annual surplus (1,263)$ 16,784$ 40,971$

  Acquisition of tangible capital assets (69,827) (32,751) (34,303)
  Non-cash developer contributed assets - (737) (14,499)
  Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets - 213 34
  Depreciation of tangible capital assets 16,800 17,099 16,413
  Loss on disposition of tangible capital assets - 714 823

(53,027) (15,462) (31,532)

  Acquisition of inventories (1,182) (1,156)
  Acquisition of prepaid expenses - (1,591) (1,807)
  Use of inventories - 1,140 1,083
  Use of prepaid expenses - 1,874 1,725

- 241 (155)

  Increase (decrease) in net financial assets (54,290) 1,563 9,284

  Net financial assets, beginning of year 168,169 168,169 158,885

  Net financial assets, end of year 113,879$ 169,732$ 168,169$

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
Year ended December 31, 2021 with comparative figures for 2020
(in thousands of dollars)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

7



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver

2021 2020

Cash provided by (used for):

Operating Transactions
 Annual surplus 16,784$ 40,971$

     Items not involving cash:
  Depreciation expense 17,099 16,413

Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets 714 823
  Non-cash developer contributed assets (737) (14,499)
  Lonsdale Energy Corp. income (666) (1,238)

 Changes in non-cash operating items:
  (Increase) decrease in due from other governments (90) 689

Increase in accounts receivable (418) (2,688)
  Increase in loan to Lonsdale Energy Corp. (525) (895)
  Decrease in interest receivable 3,698 727
  (Decrease) increase  in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (16,675) 14,467

Increase in deferred revenue 2,126 1,914
  (Decrease) increase in deferred lease revenue (1,995) 51,925
  Increase (decrease) in deferred development cost charges 109 (1,360)
  Increase in accrued employee future benefits 157 79
  Decrease in advances and other liabilities (274) (96)

Increase in inventories (43) (72)
  Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses 284 (83)

19,548 107,077
Capital Transactions

  Cash used to acquire tangible capital assets (32,751) (34,303)
  Proceeds from sale of tangible capital assets 213 34

(32,538) (34,269)
Investing Transactions

Increase in temporary investments (47,937) (2,595)
  Decrease in portfolio investments 19,035 36,768

(28,902) 34,173

Financing Transactions
Repayment of long-term debt (228) (219)

(Decrease) increase in cash (42,120) 106,762

Cash, beginning of year 116,691 9,929

Cash, end of year 74,571$ 116,691$

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31, 2021 with comparative figures for 2020
(in thousands of dollars)

8



1. OPERATIONS

The City of North Vancouver (the “City”) was incorporated in 1907 and operates under the provisions of the Community Charter 
and the Local Government Act of British Columbia.  The City’s principal activity is the provision of local government services to 
residents of the incorporated area.  These include administrative, protective, transportation, environmental, recreational, water 
and sanitary services. 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements of the City have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards, as prescribed by the Public Sector Accounting Board (“PSAB”). The significant accounting policies are summarized 
below:  

(a) Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all the funds of the City, the accounts of the North Vancouver City 
Library, which is controlled by the City, the City’s 33.94% proportionate share of the operations of the North Vancouver 
Recreation Commission, and the City’s 50% proportionate share of the operations of the North Vancouver Museum and Archives 
Commission. The City’s investment in Lonsdale Energy Corporation (“LEC”), a wholly owned government business enterprise, 
is accounted for using the modified equity method.  

The City has an agreement with the District of North Vancouver in the operation and management of the North Vancouver 
Recreation Commission, and the City includes its proportionate share in the City’s consolidated financial statements. The current 
agreement specifies that the operating costs shall be paid 33.94% (2020 – 33.94%) by the City and 66.06% (2020 – 66.06%) 
by the District of North Vancouver.  Each municipality is responsible for its own facilities and pays 100% of all capital costs 
relating to improvement, expansion and replacement of buildings or facility equipment. 

The City also has an agreement with the District of North Vancouver in the operation and management of the North Vancouver 
Museum and Archives Commission, and the City includes its proportionate share in the City’s consolidated financial statements. 
The current agreement specifies that the operating costs shall be paid 50% (2020 – 50%) by the City and 50% (2020 – 50%) by 
the District of North Vancouver. Each municipality is responsible for its own facilities and pays 100% of all capital costs relating 
to improvement, expansion and replacement of buildings or facility equipment.  

(b) Basis of Accounting

Revenue is recorded on an accrual basis and recognized when earned.  Expenses are recognized as they are incurred and 
measurable as a result of the receipt of goods and services. 

9



2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (con’t)

(c) Revenue Recognition

Taxes are recognized as revenue in the year that the taxes are authorized, the taxable event occurs and they are considered 
collectible. Through the British Columbia Assessments appeal process, taxes may be adjusted by way of supplementary roll 
adjustments. The effects of these adjustments on taxes are recognized at the time they are awarded.  Levies imposed for 
Regional District services and other taxing authorities are not included. Lease revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease. 

Charges for sewer, water and solid waste usage are recorded as user fees. Connection fees revenues are recognized when the 
connection has been established. 

Sale of service and other revenue are recognized on an accrual basis. 

(d) Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue consists of prepaid property taxes, prepaid business licenses, and fees paid in advance for services yet to be 
provided.  

(e) Deferred Lease Revenue

Deferred lease revenue consists of funds collected in advance of rental periods for Long-Term Prepaid Leases, which will be 
recognized as revenue, on a straight line basis, over the term of the lease.  

(f) Deferred Development Cost Charges

Deferred development cost charges collected to pay for future capital projects are deferred upon receipt and recognized as 
revenue when the capital costs for which they were collected are incurred. 

(g) Temporary Investments

Temporary investments include bank issued notes and bonds and provincial bonds and debentures maturing in the subsequent 
year and are valued at the lower of cost or market value. 

(h) Portfolio Investments

Portfolio investments include bank issued notes and bonds and provincial bonds and debentures maturing after the subsequent 
year end. Securities are recorded at their cost and written down to reflect losses in value that are other than temporary. 

(i) Budget Figures

The budget figures are based on the ten year financial plan adopted on April 12th, 2021. 

10



2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (con’t)

(j) Government Transfers

Unrestricted government transfers are recognized as revenue in the year that the transfer is authorized by the issuing 
government and any eligibility criteria have been met.  Restricted government transfers, in the way of grants or other transfers, 
are recognized as revenue in the year in which any stipulations that create liabilities are met. 

(k) Employee Future Benefits

The City and its employees make contributions to the Municipal Pension Plan.  As this plan is a multi-employer plan, contributions 
are expensed as incurred. 

Sick leave and post-employment benefits also accrue to the City’s employees.  The liabilities related to these benefits are 
actuarially determined based on services and best estimates of retirement ages and expected future salary and wage increases.  
The liabilities under these benefits plans are accrued based on projected benefits as the employees render services necessary 
to earn the future benefits. 

(l) Long-term Debt

Long-term debt is recorded in the consolidated financial statements net of sinking fund payments and adjustments. 

(m) Non-Financial Assets

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the provision of services.  They may 
have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are not intended for sale in the ordinary course of business. 

(i) Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly attributable to acquisition, 
construction, development or betterment of the asset.  The cost less residual value of the tangible capital assets, 
excluding land, is amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

Land improvements Straight line over useful life of each asset unit 10 – 100 years 
Parks  Straight line over useful life of each asset unit 10 – 75 years 
Buildings Straight line over useful life of each asset unit 10 – 100 years 
Machinery & equipment Straight line over useful life of each asset unit 3 – 25 years 
Vehicles Straight line over useful life of each asset unit 6 – 25 years 
Infrastructure Straight line over useful life of each asset unit 7 – 100 years 
Library materials Straight line over useful life of each asset unit 2 – 5 years 
Work in progress Not depreciated until put into use 

11



(m) Non-Financial Assets (cont’d)

(ii) Contributions of Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets received as contributions or transfers from developers are recorded at their estimated fair value 
at the date of receipt and also are recorded as revenue. 

(iii) Works of Art and Historic Assets

The City and the Museum and Archives Commission manages and controls various works of art and non-operational 
historic assets including buildings, artifacts, paintings and sculptures located at City sites and public display areas. 

Works of art and historic assets are not recorded as assets in these consolidated financial statements. 

(iv) Natural Resources

Horticultural assets such as treed areas, grassy areas and gardens are not recognized as assets in the consolidated 
financial statements. 

(v) Interest Capitalization

The City does not capitalize interest costs associated with the construction of a tangible capital asset. 

(vi) Leased Tangible Capital Assets

Leases that transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks incidental to ownership of property are accounted for as 
leased tangible capital assets.  All other leases are accounted for as operating leases and the payments are charged 
to expenses as incurred. 

(vii) Inventories

Inventories held for consumption are recorded at the lower of weighted average cost and replacement cost. 

(n) Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Areas requiring 
significant estimation are post-employment benefits, compensated absences and termination benefits and estimated useful life 
of tangible capital assets. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

(o) Segment Disclosure

A segment is defined as a distinguishable activity or group of activities of a government for which it is appropriate to separately 
report financial information related to expenses. See note 12. 

12



2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (con’t)

(p) Contaminated Sites

A liability for contaminated sites is recognized when a site is not in productive use or an unexpected event has occurred and the 
following criteria are met: 

i) An environmental standard exists;
ii) Contamination exceeds the environmental standard;
iii) The City is directly responsible or accepts responsibility;
iv) It is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and
v) A reasonable estimate of the amount can be made

The liability is recognized as management’s estimate of the cost of post-remediation including operation, maintenance and 
monitoring that are an integral part of the remediation strategy for a contaminated site. 

13



3. INVESTMENTS

(a) Temporary Investments

The fair value of temporary investments at December 31, 2021 was $106,252,156 (2020 - $60,316,506). Financial instruments 
included in temporary investments range in maturity date from January 7, 2022 to December 30, 2022, and range in yield from 
0.50% to 5.35%. Included in temporary investments is $50,351,077 in High Interest Savings Accounts. 

(b)  Portfolio Investments

The fair value of portfolio investments at December 31, 2021 was $91,472,860 (2020 - $116,309,955). These investments range 
in maturity from January 31, 2023 to May 15, 2031, and range in yield from 1.30% to 7.52%. 

4. INVESTMENT IN LONSDALE ENERGY CORPORATION (“LEC”)

The City owns all the issued and outstanding shares of LEC, which was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act 
(British Columbia) on July 7, 2003. LEC operates a district energy system providing hydronic energy to residential, institutional 
and commercial buildings in the City of North Vancouver. 

Summarized financial information relating to LEC is as follows: 
2021 2020 

Cash and accounts receivable $    2,956 $    3,316 
Plant and equipment   37,381   36,179 
Other assets  711  653 
Total assets $  41,048 $    40,148 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $    2,173 $    1,878 
Deferred contributions     7,322     7,340 
Debt   26,940   26,983 
Total Liabilities $    36,435 $    36,201 

Shareholder’s equity $    4,613 $    3,947 

Total revenue $    8,277 $    7,282 
Total expenses     7,611     6,044 
Net income $   666 $    1,238 

14



4. INVESTMENT IN LONSDALE ENERGY CORPORATION (“LEC”) (con’t)

Included in the City’s consolidated statement of financial position is “Investment in Lonsdale Energy Corp.” in the amount of 
$4,613,000 (2020 - $3,947,000) and a loan receivable in the amount of $27,043,000 (note 5) (2020 – 26,518,000). Also, included 
in accounts receivable in the City’s consolidated statement of financial position are receivables from LEC in the amount of 
$668,000 (2020 - $524,000). 

5. LOAN TO LONSDALE ENERGY CORPORATION (“LEC”)

The loan receivable balance of $27,043,000 (2020 - $26,518,000) consists of the following interest bearing promissory notes: 

On August 1, 2018, the City converted amounts due from LEC whereby LEC issued a 5 year promissory note to the City in the 
amount of $33,661,966. The loan matures on August 1, 2023 and bears interest at 2.65% per annum. On July 15, 2019 and 
November 17, 2021, the City’s Council authorized LEC to borrow an additional $1,681,000 and $290,000 respectively. These 
Promissory notes carry the same terms. The promissory notes to the City have been partially drawn upon with a balance owing 
at December 31, 2021 of $27,043,000 (2020 - $26,518,000). 

All loans are due with a 12 month notice period and bear interest at 2.65% (2020 – 2.65%).  Interest revenue of $709,000 (2020 
- $693,000) and Dividend revenue of $33,000 (2020 - $34,000) has been included in the consolidated statement of operations.

At the maturity date of the loan to LEC, the City may, at its discretion, extend the terms of the loan in whole or in part or LEC 
may repay the loan in whole or in part using either internal or external financing. 

6. DEBT

The City has financed the expansion of LEC by assuming debt on behalf of LEC through the Municipal Finance Authority in 
accordance with the Community Charter.  Debt principal is reported net of repayments and actuarial adjustments. The City 
carries no other long-term debt. The total debt issued, including future principal re-payments and actuarial adjustments on the 
net outstanding debt outstanding as at December 31, 2021 was $237,098 (2020 - $465,077). 

Interest expense of $6,000 (2020 - $6,000) has been included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. The interest rate 
on long-term debt is 0.3% per annum. 

(a) The City has a revenue anticipation borrowing bylaw, 2020, No 8749 authorized to borrow up to $35M to ensure the City is
able to continue providing essential services to its citizens. There has been no drawdown on the facility (2020 - $nil) 

15



7. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

(a) Sick and Severance

Employees of the City are entitled to payments related to unused sick leave and severance upon retirement or resignation after 
ten years of service. The amount recorded for these benefits is based on an actuarial valuation done by an independent firm of 
actuaries using a projected benefit actuarial valuation method pro-rated on services. The most recent actuarial valuation of the 
City’s future benefits was completed as at December 31, 2021. 

Information regarding the City’s obligations for these benefits, including 100% of the North Vancouver City Library and its 
proportionate share of the North Vancouver Recreation Commission, and North Vancouver Museum and Archives Commission, 
is as follows: 

2021 2020 

Benefit obligation - beginning of the year $    8,505 $   7,815 
Add:    Current service costs 789 793 

   Interest on accrued benefit obligation 186 222 
Less:   Actuarial (gain) loss (778) 598 

   Benefits paid (796) (923) 

Benefit obligation - end of the year $    7,906 $   8,505 
Add:    Unamortized actuarial gain 480 (276) 

Accrued benefit liability - end of the year $    8,386 $   8,229 

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the City’s accrued benefit liability are as follows: 

2021  2020 

Discount rates 2.50% 2.10% 

Expected future inflation rates 2.00% 2.50% 

Expected wage and salary increases 2.58% to 4.63% 2.58% to 4.63% 

The unamortized actuarial gain is amortized over a period equal to the employees’ average remaining service lifetime of eleven 
years for the City. 

(b) Council Retirement Stipend

Starting 2005, Council Members are entitled to a retirement stipend based on 9.98% of the individual’s total indemnity received 
subsequent to 2002. These amounts are accrued as earned and recorded in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 

16



8. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

(a) Work in Progress

Work in progress having a cost of $71,357,000 (2020 - $57,677,000) has not been amortized.  Amortization of these assets will 
commence when the asset is in service. 

(b) Developer Contributed Tangible Capital Assets and Other Transfers

Developer contributed tangible capital assets and other transfers of $737,000 (2020 - $14,499,000) have been recognized during 
the year.   

2021 Land Land 
Improvements Parks Buildings Machinery & 

 Equipment Vehicles Infrastructure Library 
Materials

Work
 in Progress Total

Cost
Balance as at December 31, 2020 43,909$    82,357$     55,508$    141,793$     23,382$     11,867$     244,320$     929$    57,677$     661,742$     

Additions 1,000         11 149 7,897            1,134 1,391          7,990 236 71,357 91,165           
Disposals - - - - 498 673 1,548 223 57,677 60,619           

Balance as at December 31, 2021 44,909$    82,368$     55,657$    149,690$    24,018$     12,585$     250,762$     942$    71,357$     692,288$     

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as at December 31, 2020 -$    16,655$    17,365$    66,996$     17,091$     6,491$    91,042$     477$    -$   216,117$    

Depreciation expense - 2,428 1,916         5,479 1,541 692 4,830 213 - 17,099 
Disposals - - - - 498 572 722 223 - 2,015 

Balance as at December 31, 2021 -$    19,083$    19,281$    72,475$     18,134$     6,611$    95,150$     467$    -$   231,201$    

Net Book Value
December 31, 2021 44,909$    63,285$     36,376$    77,215$     5,884$     5,974$    155,612$     475$    71,357$     461,087$     

2020 Land Land 
Improvements Parks Buildings Machinery & 

 Equipment Vehicles Infrastructure Library 
Materials

Work
 in Progress Total

Cost
Balance as at December 31, 2019 38,909$    76,101$     50,357$    126,685$     21,584$     11,327$     239,874$     952$    49,339$     615,128$     

Additions 5,000         6,256 5,469         15,108          2,007 810 5,634 180 57,677 98,141           
Disposals - - 318 - 209 270 1,188 203 49,339 51,527           

Balance as at December 31, 2020 43,909$    82,357$     55,508$    141,793$     23,382$     11,867$     244,320$     929$    57,677$     661,742$     

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as at December 31, 2019 -$    14,322$    15,829$    61,812$     15,771$     6,088$    86,748$     465$    -$   201,035 

Depreciation expense - 2,333 1,786         5,184 1,529 620 4,746 215 - 16,413 
Disposals - - 250 - 209 217 452 203 - 1,331 

Balance as at December 31, 2020 -$    16,655$    17,365$    66,996$     17,091$     6,491$    91,042$     477$    -$   216,117$    

Net Book Value
December 31, 2020 43,909$    65,702$     38,143$    74,797$     6,291$     5,376$    153,278$     452$    57,677$     445,625$     

17



9. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
2021 2020 

Current Funds – general, water and sewer $    51,719  $    46,081  
Reserve fund   100,376   107,826 
Capital fund   481,014   462,418 
Accumulated surplus, end of year $    633,109  $    616,325  

(a) Current Funds – general, water and sewer

2021 2020 
Appropriated: 
  General funds $    17,408 $    14,247 
  General funds – COVID-19 Grant 4,118 5,359 
  Water fund 2,547 1,975 
  Sewer fund 11,508 9,825 
Unappropriated: 
  General funds 14,002 13,270 
  Water funds 1,446 715 
  Sewer fund       690       690 

$   51,719 $     46,081 

18



9. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (con’t)

(b) Reserve Funds

(c) Capital Fund

2021 2020 

Capital fund 

Invested in tangible capital assets $   461,087 $   445,625 

Appropriated Capital funds   19,927   16,793 

$   481,014 $   462,418 

Balance Contributions Earnings  Less Balance
December 31, 2020 & Transfers Expenditures December 31, 2021

Machinery and Equipment
  Engineering 3,550$     477$     266$     998$     3,295$     
  Fire 730 2,137 9 2,608 268 
  General 63 - 8 6 65 
  Computer 117 38 2 50 107 

Building 277 - 5 46 236 
Local Improvements 794 3 19 36 780 
Affordable Housing 6,305 670 117 108 6,984 
Tax Sale Lands 35,636 - 649 1,709 34,576 
Waterworks 4,691 - 83 - 4,774 
Parking - 219 130 8 341 
Civic Amenity 51,701 5,281 2,834 14,855 44,961 
Justice Administration Accommodation 126 - 2 48 80 
Streets DCC - 1,173 - 1,173 - 
Parks DCC - 1,569 - 1,569 - 
Lower Lonsdale Amenity 70 - - 62 8 
Lower Lonsdale Legacy 2,662 - 47 78 2,631 
Infrastructure 166 - 755 652 269 
Public Art 504 85 10 - 599 
Marine Drive Community Amenity - - - - - 
Sustainable Transportation 187 88 3 114 164 
Carbon Fund 247 90 4 103 238 
Water DCC - - - - - 
Sanitary DCC - - - - - 
Drainage DCC - - - - - 
Total 107,826$     11,830$     4,943$     24,223$     100,376$     

19



10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) Property Taxes

The City is obliged to levy, collect and remit property taxes on behalf of, and to finance the arrears of property taxes of, other 
bodies as follows: 

2021 2020 

Total tax collected   $    125,024 $   107,308 

Less Collections for and remittances to other bodies 
Provincial Government - Schools $   41,917 $   28,135 
Greater Vancouver Regional District 1,935 1,719 
Greater Vancouver Transportation Authority 10,033 9,499 
British Columbia Assessment Authority 1,565 1,525 
Municipal Finance Authority 7 7 
BIA Lower Lonsdale Society 511 495 

$   55,968 $   41,380 

Property Value Tax $   69,056 $   65,928 

(b) Pension Liability

The City and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed pension plan). The board of trustees, 

representing plan members and employers, is responsible for administering the plan, including investment of assets and 

administration of benefits. The plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. Basic pension benefits are based on a 

formula. As at December 31, 2020, the plan has about 220,000 active members and approximately 112,000 retired members. 

Active members include approximately 42,000 contributors from local governments.  

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan and adequacy of plan funding. 

The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and member contribution rate to fund the plan. The actuary’s 

calculated contribution rate is based on the entry- age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and 

employer contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plan. This rate may be adjusted for the 

amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and will be adjusted for the amortization of any unfunded actuarial liability.   

The most recent actuarial valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2018, indicated a $2,866 million funding 

surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.   

The City paid $4,521,000 (2020 - $4,385,000) for employer contributions to the plan in fiscal 2021. 

20



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2021, with results available in 2022. 

(b) Pension Liability (con’t)

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer contributions made during the fiscal 

year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is because the plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for 

the plan in aggregate, resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to individual 

employers participating in the plan.   

(c) Contingent Liabilities

The City is currently engaged in or party to certain legal actions, assessment appeals and other existing conditions involving 
uncertainty which may result in material loss. A reasonable estimate of these future liabilities has been made where possible 
and is recorded in the financial statements as a liability. Where the outcomes or amounts or losses are uncertain management 
has determined that there are no potential material amounts involved. 

(d) E-Comm

The City is a member of Emergency Communications for British Columbia, Incorporated (“E-Comm”), an organization comprised 
predominately of member municipalities, for the purpose of providing emergency dispatch services.  The City is represented on 
the board and as a class “A” shareholder has voting rights should the organization want to incur additional debt. 

The E-Comm facility was constructed using debt as a financing mechanism and members are liable for a proportionate share of 
that debt. This debt is repaid by members through annual fees charged by E-Comm.  Should E-Comm dissolve, the members 
would be liable for a proportionate share of any residual debt.  Alternatively, should members choose to opt out of E-Comm they 
would be liable for a proportionate share of debt at the time of withdrawal.   

The City holds 2 class “A” shares and one class “B” share. 

(e) Contractual Obligations

As at December 31, 2021 the City had entered into various construction contracts for a total outstanding value of $10.7M. 

(f) Construction Loan Guarantee

On February 14, 2017 the City entered an agreement as a loan guarantor for the British Columbia Photography and Media 
Society for a demand construction bridge loan to a maximum of $5M not to exceed five years.  

21



11. TRUST FUNDS

Certain assets have been conveyed or assigned to the City to be administered as directed by an agreement or statute. The City 
holds the assets for the benefit of, and stands in a fiduciary relationship to, the beneficiary. The Cemetery Trust Fund, totaling 
$3,437,000 (2020 - $3,201,000), which is administered by the City, has not been included with the City’s accounts. 

12. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

The City is a diversified municipal government entity in the Province of British Columbia that provides a wide range of services 
to its citizens.  Certain functional areas have been combined and separately disclosed in the segmented information.  The 
segments and the services they provide are as follows: 

General Government 
General Government provides the administrative and legislative services that support the various sectors of the City.  Functions 
include financial planning and reporting, economic development and legislative services. 

Transportation and Transit 
The Transportation division aims to provide enhanced access to public transit, safe pedestrian and cyclist routes, enable 
accessible transportation for people with limited mobility and maintain existing infrastructure.  These goals are achieved through 
street design, traffic signals and signs, street lighting and road maintenance activities. 

Health, Social Services and Housing 
Health, Social Services and Housing encompasses a wide variety of City funded initiatives aimed at supporting the social 
structure and sustainability of the community.  Included are cemetery operations, youth and family support services, seniors 
programs and homeless prevention initiatives. 

Development Services 
Development Services’ focus is community planning, which includes land use guidelines, the management of City owned lands, 
heritage planning and development of the City’s official community plan. 

Protective Services 
Protective Services is comprised of the North Vancouver RCMP detachment, the North Vancouver City Fire Department and 
bylaw enforcement.  The North Vancouver RCMP detachment plays an integral role in the protection of North Vancouver 
residents and their property through crime prevention and detection, emergency response and victim services.  The North  
Vancouver City Fire Department is responsible to provide fire suppression service, fire prevention services and fire safety 
education.   

Parks, Recreation and Culture 
Parks, Recreation and Culture provides access to recreation facilities, the operation and maintenance of the City’s many parks 
and trails, the North Vancouver City Library and the City’s participation in the North Vancouver Museum and Archives and the 
North Vancouver Recreation and Culture Commission. 

22



12. SEGMENTED INFORMATION (con’t)

Water Utilities 
The Water Utility, in conjunction with Metro Vancouver, provides safe, clean, reliable water to the residents and businesses of 
the City of North Vancouver.   

Sewer Utilities 
The Sewer Utility collects waste water and transports it to trunk water mains and wastewater treatment plants operated by Metro 
Vancouver.  In addition to the collection of wastewater, the Sewer Utility also manages the City’s 150km storm sewerage system 
which diverts rainfall runoff from private property with an emphasis on flood prevention. 

Solid Waste 
The Solid Waste department provides curbside garbage, recycling and yard trimmings collection to the residents of the City of 
North Vancouver. 

13. DEFERRED LEASE REVENUE

In 2020 the City entered into an agreement for the Harry Jerome Neighborhood Lands for a lease term of 99 years and 
included in Deferred Revenue is $49.9M (2020 - $51.9M). 

Revenues
Wages & 
Benefits

Goods & 
Supplies Services Depreciation Capitalized Total

Annual 
Surplus(Deficit)

General government 88,129$    16,482$    4,949$    1,123$    5,141$    (4,484)$    23,211$    64,918$    
Transportation and transit 4,401 3,096 1,095 12,831 3,399 (11,555) 8,866 (4,465) 
Health, social services and housing 662 420 118 2,220 - (34) 2,724 (2,062) 
Development services 8,978 5,379 36 2,079 - - 7,494 1,484 
Protective services 1,590 18,809 3,469 8,127 674 (2,940) 28,139 (26,549) 
Parks, recreation and culture 9,039 14,632 1,552 18,234 6,239 (9,992) 30,665 (21,626) 
Water utilities 13,579 2,076 8,026 2,343 851 (2,425) 10,871 2,708 
Sewer utilities 14,225 1,784 281 10,228 795 (1,321) 11,767 2,458 
Solid waste 3,081 1,478 79 1,606 - - 3,163 (82) 
2021 143,684$    64,156$    19,605$    58,791$    17,099$    (32,751)$    126,900$    16,784$    

2020 159,057$    59,158$    16,139$    60,679$    16,413$    (34,303)$    118,086$    40,971$    

Expenses

23



14. BUDGET FIGURES

The budget figures presented in these consolidated financial statements include 100% of the North Vancouver City Library and 
its proportionate share of the North Vancouver Recreation Commission, and North Vancouver Museum and Archives 
Commission. The financial plan was approved by Council as the Financial Plan for the Years 2021 to 2030 Bylaw, 2020, No. 
8822 April 12th, 2021. The table below reconciles the approved budget to the budget figures reported. 

Financial 
Plan Bylaw

Revenue per Statement of Operations 124,684$      

Less:
Budget Adjustments for Consolidation (2,648)$   
Transfers from Reserve (1,908) 
Interagency Funds (5,451) (10,007)         

Revenue per financial plan bylaw 8822 114,677        

Expenses per Statement of Operations 125,947        

Add:

Capital Expenditures (5,195) 
Reserves for Non-Capital Projects 1,694 
Transfer to other funds (3,501) 

Less:
Budget Adjustments for consolidation (21) 
Interagency payments (5,451) (5,472) 

Expenses per financial plan bylaw 8822 116,974        

Deficit for the year (2,298) 

Reserves and capital:

Capital expenditures (69,827)         
Depreciation 16,800          
Equity (17,407)         
Transfers from reserves 52,281          
External contributions 20,451          

Annual budgeted Surplus per financial plan bylaw -$    

24



15. COVID-19 IMPACT

Subsequent to the previous year end, the impact of COVID-19 in Canada and on the global economy increased significantly. 
As the impacts of COVID-19 continue, there could be specific impact on the City, its citizens, employees, suppliers and other 
third party business associates that could impact the timing and amounts realized on the City’s assets and future ability to deliver 
services and projects. The full potential impact of COVID-19 on the City is unknown and cannot be reasonably estimated at this 
time.  

25



SCHEDULE A: COVID-19 Safe Restart Grant 

General funds – COVID-19 Safe Restart Grant 2021 
2020  Grant Funding Balance $   5,359  
Grant Expenditure: 
  Business Continuity (300) 
  Community Resiliency & Recovery (226) 
  City Services (567) 
  Response & Emerging Issues (148) 
2021 Grant Funding Balance $    4,118 

26



Employee Remuneration and Expenses 

27



Elected Official Position Remuneration Benefits1 Car Allowance Subtotal Expenses Total
Back, Holly Councillor 47,272$  -$  -$  47,272$  3,764$             51,036$             
Bell, Don Councillor 47,272 - - 47,272 4,381 51,653 
Buchanan, Linda Mayor 131,925 3,948 9,552 145,425 10,441             155,865 
Girard, Angela Councillor 47,272 2,683 - 49,955 649 50,604 
Hu, Tina Councillor 47,272 2,683 - 49,955 839 50,794 
McIlroy, Jessica Councillor 47,272 2,683 - 49,955 700 50,655 
Valente, Antonio Councillor 47,272 2,683 - 49,955 2,704 52,659 
Total 415,557$               14,680$           9,552$  439,789$           23,477$           463,266$           

1. Includes taxable and the employer's portion of CPP.

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Schedule of Remuneration and Expenses Paid to Elected Officials

FIR Schedule 1, Section 6(2)(a)
2021

28



Last Name Initial Remuneration
One - Time 
Payments Subtotal Expenses Total

Abbott V 83,991 319 84,310           - 84,310 
Alexander C 85,045 1,576            86,621           - 86,621 
Allen J 121,496 295 121,791         1,302 123,093 
Amos G 82,079 1,409            83,488           1,120 84,608 
Anderson T 78,335 4,115            82,450           15 82,465 
Apperley M 99,510 1,740            101,250         2,963 104,213 
Arnold D 55,699 89,467          145,166         - 145,166 
Ashley J 107,844 3,121            110,965         1,340 112,305 
Askraba G 93,520 2,074            95,594           212 95,806 
Baird C 120,822 - 120,822 2,457 123,279 
Bartleman A 99,140 543 99,683 - 99,683 
Bearblock K 113,834 - 113,834 - 113,834 
Beaupre L 78,524 1,604            80,128 419 80,547 
Bennett S 73,195 3,199            76,394 832 77,226 
Blackburn F 74,969 1,216            76,185 3,141 79,326 
Borland J 102,117 - 102,117 - 102,117 
Bosa S 98,520 - 98,520 - 98,520 
Bot M 115,597 - 115,597 - 115,597 
Bovill J 118,301 3,123            121,424 105 121,529 
Bowman B 103,343 9,996            113,339 744 114,083 
Bradley T 129,269 2,782            132,051 - 132,051 
Braithwaite J 92,077 2,886            94,963 - 94,963 
Brown S 114,734 - 114,734 - 114,734 
Browne R 97,285 1,858            99,143 300 99,443 
Budgell J 92,880 10,372          103,252 810 104,062 
Bulaqui V 77,740 2,904            80,644 - 80,644 
Burak R 112,782 3,657            116,439 1,575 118,014 
Burgess B 104,101 30 104,131 - 104,131 
Bushey J 85,583 1,602            87,185 298 87,483 
Caldwell A 81,799 1,567            83,366 - 83,366 
Cameron D 89,424 1,639            91,063 315 91,378 
Campbell M 79,821 1,516            81,337 - 81,337 
Chambers K 86,075 9 86,084 - 86,084 
Chan K 132,992 4,261            137,253 300 137,553 
Chong L 107,125 1,865            108,990 587 109,577 
Chu D 90,797 1,714            92,511 - 92,511 
Chu K 89,463 1,752            91,215 (349) 90,866 
Cohan J 98,745 3,697            102,442 - 102,442 
Colwell V 75,105 1,449            76,554 - 76,554 

Notes:

1. Per FIR, Schedule 1, subsection 6(1), remuneration is defined as "any form of salary, wages, bonuses, gratuities,
taxable benefits, payment into trust or any form of income deferral paid by the corporation to the employee or on behalf
of the employee during the fiscal year being reported upon, whether or not such remuneration is reported under the
Income Tax Act (Canada), but does not include anything payable under a severance agreement. Excludes one-time
payments referenced in Note 2.

2. Includes one-time payments such as prior year vacation for exempt (non union) employees as part of Council's
policy.

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver 
Schedule of Employee Remuneration and Expenses 

FIR Schedule 1, Section 6 (2)(b) and 6(2)(c)
2021

29



Last Name Initial Remuneration
One - Time 
Payments Subtotal Expenses Total

Connor T 94,624 - 94,624 - 94,624 
Cook T 104,460 4,439            108,899 478 109,377 
Cooper D 104,097 34 104,131 39 104,170 
Corcoran R 83,374 569 83,943 1,170 85,113 
Crookes R 76,358 1,516            77,874 106 77,980 
Cullen R 108,383 4,004            112,387 - 112,387 
Cumming B 89,605 952 90,557 - 90,557 
Curtin M 102,403 2,714            105,117 1,201 106,318 
D'Aguiar C 77,772 1,686            79,458 - 79,458 
Dale A 91,731 12 91,743 - 91,743 
Danks M 149,633 2,111            151,744 1,431 153,175 
Danks G 124,050 682 124,732 561 125,293 
Day K 73,610 2,016            75,626 19 75,645 
de Roy Van Zuydewijn J 155,707 2,165            157,872 997 158,869 
de St. Croix R 126,619 - 126,619 868 127,487 
Dempster A 85,454 1,349            86,803 569 87,372 
Devlin A 141,797 - 141,797 1,743 143,540 
Di Spirito D 115,829 1,517            117,346 123 117,469 
Dickson S 115,072 3,360            118,432 - 118,432 
Dorey D 121,360 726 122,086 - 122,086 
Draper J 165,128 - 165,128 1,915 167,043 
Drobny M 117,592 8,269            125,861 - 125,861 
Duffy P 132,509 - 132,509 24 132,533 
Dyer S 79,979 1,516            81,495 578 82,073 
Easton A 127,873 671 128,544 - 128,544 
Easton S 104,535 4,884            109,419 - 109,419 
Elliott G 97,549 1,911            99,460 - 99,460 
Epp M 181,244 - 181,244 920 182,164 
Evans H 95,775 2,850            98,625 606 99,231 
Fabert U 145,044 - 145,044 1,470 146,514 
Farrally M 104,517 696 105,213 395 105,608 
Felber L 111,741 266 112,007 689 112,696 
Fernandes C 127,978 190 128,168 2,707 130,875 
Finlayson A 113,497 2,604            116,101 - 116,101 
Foldi D 133,459 - 133,459 2,064 135,523 
Forman V 84,754 - 84,754 336 85,090 
Forsyth P 115,912 - 115,912 567 116,479 
Fox R 83,813 569 84,382 450 84,832 
Franco S 72,146 4,310            76,456 - 76,456 

Notes:

1. Per FIR, Schedule 1, subsection 6(1), remuneration is defined as "any form of salary, wages, bonuses, gratuities,
taxable benefits, payment into trust or any form of income deferral paid by the corporation to the employee or on behalf
of the employee during the fiscal year being reported upon, whether or not such remuneration is reported under the
Income Tax Act (Canada), but does not include anything payable under a severance agreement. Excludes one-time
payments referenced in Note 2.

2. Includes one-time payments such as prior year vacation for exempt (non union) employees as part of Council's
policy.

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver 
Schedule of Employee Remuneration and Expenses 

FIR Schedule 1, Section 6 (2)(b) and 6(2)(c)
2021

30



Last Name Initial Remuneration
One - Time 
Payments Subtotal Expenses Total

Fraser S 133,980 6,657            140,637         1,850 142,487         
Freigang M 99,289 1,631            100,920         823 101,743         
Friesen M 113,766 2,318            116,084         568 116,652         
Friestadt D 75,205 1,456            76,661           150 76,811           
Fujiwara J 77,402 - 77,402 - 77,402 
Fuller S 71,087 4,435            75,522 169 75,691 
Gale D 74,404 1,341            75,745 - 75,745 
Garber L 168,385 - 168,385 2,384 170,769 
Garden S 106,783 4,609            111,392 1,025 112,417 
Gercsak T 99,350 1,645            100,995 983 101,978 
Gibson B 78,724 1,043            79,767 3,517 83,284 
Gilan J 82,603 1,415            84,018 183 84,201 
Gilfoil R 79,502 5,995            85,497 618 86,115 
Gill R 76,564 8,975            85,539 38 85,577 
Gillespie T 103,134 2,166            105,300 - 105,300 
Gillies L 136,045 695 136,740 877 137,617 
Gordon D 98,528 1,677            100,205 - 100,205 
Graham K 164,135 620 164,755 578 165,333 
Granger H 192,862 - 192,862 2,289 195,151 
Green B 115,373 - 115,373 948 116,321 
Green K 96,812 556 97,368 169 97,537 
Guolo C 80,971 569 81,540 - 81,540 
Hall J 124,314 65 124,379 - 124,379 
Hallaway M 101,812 55 101,867 405 102,272 
Harivel K 92,730 3,453            96,183 - 96,183 
Harrison A 97,901 2,539            100,440 1,340 101,780 
Harrison M 95,722 2,799            98,521 - 98,521 
Hathaway R 98,538 119 98,657 817 99,474 
Hawkshaw D 120,596 2,357            122,953 - 122,953 
Head J 79,179 1,833            81,012 - 81,012 
Hennigar K 116,104 310 116,414 - 116,414 
Herman L 86,393 1,606            87,999 901 88,900 
Hickey P 80,515 1,807            82,322 - 82,322 
Hofilena G 110,353 2,032            112,385 - 112,385 
Holm M 126,619 - 126,619 1,455 128,074 
Houlden M 96,894 5,904            102,798 - 102,798 
Howard R 125,132 - 125,132 - 125,132 
Huang J 89,947 2,264            92,211 55 92,266 
Hudson J 114,784 - 114,784 878 115,662 

Notes:

1. Per FIR, Schedule 1, subsection 6(1), remuneration is defined as "any form of salary, wages, bonuses, gratuities,
taxable benefits, payment into trust or any form of income deferral paid by the corporation to the employee or on behalf
of the employee during the fiscal year being reported upon, whether or not such remuneration is reported under the
Income Tax Act (Canada), but does not include anything payable under a severance agreement. Excludes one-time
payments referenced in Note 2.

2. Includes one-time payments such as prior year vacation for exempt (non union) employees as part of Council's
policy.

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver 
Schedule of Employee Remuneration and Expenses 

FIR Schedule 1, Section 6 (2)(b) and 6(2)(c)
2021

31



Last Name Initial Remuneration
One - Time 
Payments Subtotal Expenses Total

Hunter M 159,883 - 159,883 984 160,867         
Jacobi M 78,458 1,478            79,936 1,175 81,111           
Johal B 79,079 1,516            80,595 435 81,030           
Johnson B 106,831 2,698            109,529 761 110,290         
Johnson D 105,083 2,015            107,098 - 107,098 
Kelsch L 74,698 17,337          92,035 5,390 97,425 
Kelso M 113,439 5,279            118,718 195 118,913 
Kilmartin T 104,676 - 104,676 405 105,081 
King P 69,617 13,687          83,304 196 83,500 
Klochnyk J 151,300 - 151,300 524 151,824 
Ko N 88,602 1,705            90,307 1,194 91,501 
Kral L 127,929 2,381            130,310 2,015 132,325 
Kuzmanovski K 129,554 138 129,692 1,135 130,827 
Kwaterska M 114,767 533 115,300 437 115,737 
Lam D 81,983 1,557            83,540 3,069 86,609 
Lanigan M 80,807 - 80,807 131 80,938 
Lawry L 92,865 3,943            96,808 694 97,502 
Lemanski C 115,085 419 115,504 560 116,064 
Lensink L 83,501 1,727            85,228 3,268 88,496 
Lentsch T 111,527 5,204            116,731 97 116,828 
Lesmeister C 88,581 1,265            89,846 1,907 91,753 
Leung R 85,261 1,646            86,907 1,368 88,275 
Lightfoot B 122,745 - 122,745 270 123,015 
Lindgren C 85,945 652 86,597 - 86,597 
Lindsay S 91,648 1,893            93,541 174 93,715 
Low W 86,738 6,521            93,259 15 93,274 
Macdonald E 87,519 2,160            89,679 584 90,263 
MacDonald C 81,709 1,567            83,276 
MacInnis D 78,390 1,503            79,893 267 
Mackay M 114,357 5,236            119,593 5,000 
Magnusson K 180,191 - 180,191 809 
Maillie D 129,770 1,702            131,472 247 
Mason W 88,485 1,769            90,254 428 
Matsubara D 92,123 8,350            100,473 1,945 
McAllister J 89,017 32,044          121,061 304 
McCarthy L 306,305 5,548            311,853       45

 -
83,276
80,160

124,593
181,000
131,719

90,682
102,418
121,365
311,898

McCutcheon J 105,554 14,642          120,196 - 120,196 
McEachern K 95,320 - 95,320 763 96,083 
McGee A 92,350 221 92,571 964 93,535 

Notes:

1. Per FIR, Schedule 1, subsection 6(1), remuneration is defined as "any form of salary, wages, bonuses, gratuities,
taxable benefits, payment into trust or any form of income deferral paid by the corporation to the employee or on behalf
of the employee during the fiscal year being reported upon, whether or not such remuneration is reported under the
Income Tax Act (Canada), but does not include anything payable under a severance agreement. Excludes one-time
payments referenced in Note 2.

2. Includes one-time payments such as prior year vacation for exempt (non union) employees as part of Council's
policy.

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver 
Schedule of Employee Remuneration and Expenses 

FIR Schedule 1, Section 6 (2)(b) and 6(2)(c)
2021

32



Last Name Initial Remuneration
One - Time 
Payments Subtotal Expenses Total

McMurdo A 115,031 - 115,031 648 115,679         
McNaughton G 69,708 10,425          80,133 85 80,218           
Miles C 78,390 1,503            79,893 406 80,299           
Mitchell S 92,269 1,327            93,596 - 93,596 
Montgomerie K 85,002 - 85,002 - 85,002 
Moore J 97,209 541 97,750 - 97,750 
Mordy B 73,586 10,172          83,758 698 84,456 
Munro G 137,265 9,420            146,685 664 147,349 
Naab K 106,794 19,048          125,842 380 126,222 
Nacorda J 81,137 2,660            83,797 - 83,797 
Nelson L 105,722 584 106,306 30 106,336 
Newbery B 91,298 487 91,785 1,143 92,928 
Nichols C 150,735 19,810          170,545 1,004 171,549 
No N 85,342 1,848            87,190 1,065 88,255 
Nyvall J 73,537 1,474            75,011 910 75,921 
Oliver J 90,065 4,100            94,165 - 94,165 
Orr L 165,705 - 165,705 885 166,590 
Owens D 160,075 1,707            161,782 2,060 163,842 
Pacheco J 118,616 1,818            120,434 311 120,745 
Payne A 149,549 2,668            152,217 1,364 153,581 
Pearce B 221,047 5,572            226,619 2,906 229,525 
Peel M 99,948 4,441            104,389 - 104,389 
Peters J 91,510 667 92,177 - 92,177 
Peters S 86,562 - 86,562 1,011 87,573 
Pichler E 101,294 23 101,317 195 101,512 
Piechota K 107,196 1,760            108,956 1,749 110,705 
Pistilli L 75,331 1,443            76,774 588 77,362 
Pollock B 100,547 1,707            102,254 1,457 103,711 
Polman J 121,797 1,514            123,311 - 123,311 
Pope D 208,376 - 208,376 1,250 209,626 
Price D 80,335 1,662            81,997 660 82,657 
Priestley D 132,738 - 132,738 584 133,322 
Ramsay F 81,345 1,447            82,792 93 82,885 
Rasmussen D 98,431 1,702            100,133 104 100,237 
Rawlings F 90,463 1,741            92,204 432 92,636 
Reece M 86,698 7,053            93,751 - 93,751 
Reinhold H 167,174 - 167,174 1,824 168,998 
Reiss S 100,180 1,765            101,945 1,172 103,117 
Reynolds N 97,220 487 97,707 - 97,707 

Notes:

1. Per FIR, Schedule 1, subsection 6(1), remuneration is defined as "any form of salary, wages, bonuses, gratuities,
taxable benefits, payment into trust or any form of income deferral paid by the corporation to the employee or on behalf
of the employee during the fiscal year being reported upon, whether or not such remuneration is reported under the
Income Tax Act (Canada), but does not include anything payable under a severance agreement. Excludes one-time
payments referenced in Note 2.

2. Includes one-time payments such as prior year vacation for exempt (non union) employees as part of Council's
policy.

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver 
Schedule of Employee Remuneration and Expenses 

FIR Schedule 1, Section 6 (2)(b) and 6(2)(c)
2021

33



Last Name Initial Remuneration
One - Time 
Payments Subtotal Expenses Total

Ring D 87,270 3,479            90,749           24 90,773           
Roberts A 104,571 2,219            106,790         30 106,820         
Rohan C 95,947 6,865            102,812         288 103,100         
Rosalin J 74,185 1,551            75,736           785 76,521           
Roy J 137,762 - 137,762 - 137,762 
Rozairo G 102,152 2,695            104,847 300 105,147 
Ryce T 149,835 243 150,078 2,534 152,612 
Sadgrove S 117,606 - 117,606 1,371 118,977 
Schalk G 193,199 2,422            195,621 299 195,920 
Schell C 81,091 487 81,578 - 81,578 
Schmidt T 95,089 8,403            103,492 - 103,492 
Sedun S 107,107 6,849            113,956 1,480 115,436 
Sellars J 114,196 2,175            116,371 1,260 117,631 
Shaughnessy M 114,462 5,390            119,852 - 119,852 
Sheel J 126,132 693 126,825 75 126,900 
Sherwood D 75,564 12,437          88,001 145 88,146 
Shyry L 75,762 1,420            77,182 278 77,460 
Siddoo L 83,359 1,552            84,911 - 84,911 
Siegmann R 126,005 780 126,785 195 126,980 
Simmons B 76,936 4,046            80,982 25 81,007 
Singh R 73,338 7,016            80,354 59 80,413 
Sister S 95,743 - 95,743 450 96,193 
Skene R 179,122 - 179,122 27 179,149 
So E 115,087 31 115,118 555 115,673 
Sommers J 108,002 6,038            114,040 465 114,505 
Staehling A 97,656 2,122            99,778 - 99,778 
Stevenson M 126,117 37 126,154 508 126,662 
Steward I 92,670 1,776            94,446 1,603 96,049 
Stirling L 98,200 - 98,200 1,714 99,914 
Strubin C 113,174 6,790            119,964 - 119,964 
Svancara J 85,850 2,397            88,247 1,369 89,616 
Tang I 165,136 532 165,668 3,101 168,769 
Tang B 101,950 621 102,571 - 102,571 
Themens B 46,683 46,402          93,085 2,542 95,627 
Townsend T 104,324 5,987            110,311 - 110,311 
Trinkl M 95,113 19,520          114,633 248 114,881 
Trinkl G 89,894 1,724            91,618 742 92,360 
Turner W 75,602 1,456            77,058 456 77,514 
Urbani J 98,451 1,161            99,612 310 99,922 

Notes:

1. Per FIR, Schedule 1, subsection 6(1), remuneration is defined as "any form of salary, wages, bonuses, gratuities,
taxable benefits, payment into trust or any form of income deferral paid by the corporation to the employee or on behalf
of the employee during the fiscal year being reported upon, whether or not such remuneration is reported under the
Income Tax Act (Canada), but does not include anything payable under a severance agreement. Excludes one-time
payments referenced in Note 2.

2. Includes one-time payments such as prior year vacation for exempt (non union) employees as part of Council's
policy.

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver 
Schedule of Employee Remuneration and Expenses 

FIR Schedule 1, Section 6 (2)(b) and 6(2)(c)
2021

34



Last Name Initial Remuneration
One - Time 
Payments Subtotal Expenses Total

Van Born S 128,048 745 128,793         - 128,793 
van Heerden D 140,423 359 140,782         1,194 141,976 
Van Nes T 79,541 10,096          89,637           641 90,278 
Vanderhoek M 104,566 2,707            107,273         - 107,273 
Vanderhoek S 98,385 1,624            100,009         - 100,009 
Vanier J 85,028 - 85,028 578 85,606 
Vasilevich A 106,235 2,032            108,267 1,675 109,942 
Veng K 189,719 - 189,719 4,757 194,476 
Ward A 107,208 582 107,790 429 108,219 
Warman B 76,133 4,412            80,545 181 80,726 
Washington S 90,630 - 90,630 - 90,630 
Watson D 94,216 1,811            96,027 299 96,326 
Waugh M 103,760 2,179            105,939 367 106,306 
Wen V 128,028 190 128,218 3,777 131,995 
Wenhardt W 123,088 - 123,088 221 123,309 
Williams M 107,124 586 107,710 1,873 109,583 
Willock B 143,759 - 143,759 582 144,341 
Wilson S 84,353 1,632            85,985 8 85,993 
Wilson C 83,423 1,769            85,192 - 85,192 
Wong T 72,523 5,835            78,358 26 78,384 
Wood S 112,784 191 112,975 2,703 115,678 
Wray M 87,991 1,656            89,647 569 90,216 
Zander S 128,029 - 128,029 830 128,859 
Zeng Y 127,929 - 127,929 - 127,929 
Zhang E 85,154 1,632            86,786 2,713 89,499 
Zhang H 78,891 3,929            82,820 - 82,820 
Zhang E 75,269 2,866            78,135 1,375 79,510 

Subtotal 27,552,596           787,952        28,340,548               174,997     28,515,545

Consolidated total of
employees earning 15,431,788           761,512        16,193,300    59,118             16,252,418    
$75,000 or less

Total 42,984,384           1,549,464     44,533,848               234,115     44,767,963

Notes:

1. Per FIR, Schedule 1, subsection 6(1), remuneration is defined as "any form of salary, wages, bonuses, gratuities,
taxable benefits, payment into trust or any form of income deferral paid by the corporation to the employee or on behalf
of the employee during the fiscal year being reported upon, whether or not such remuneration is reported under the
Income Tax Act (Canada), but does not include anything payable under a severance agreement. Excludes one-time
payments referenced in Note 2.

2. Includes one-time payments such as prior year vacation for exempt (non union) employees as part of Council's
policy.

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver 
Schedule of Employee Remuneration and Expenses 

FIR Schedule 1, Section 6 (2)(b) and 6(2)(c)
2021

35



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver 
Reconciliation between total remuneration & financial statements  

FIR Schedule 1, Section 6 (2) (d)  
2021

   000’s 
FIR Schedule 1, Section 6 (2) (a) – Remuneration paid to elected officials $        440 
FIR Schedule 1, Section 6 (2) (b) and 6 (2) (c) – Employer remuneration   44,534 

Total City of North Vancouver Remuneration  44,974 

Reconciling items  19,182 

Wages and Benefits per consolidated financial statements note 12 $      64,156 

The reconciling items/variance between the Schedule of Remuneration and Expenses 
and the Wages and Benefits expense reported on the consolidated financial statements 
of the City of North Vancouver are due to various factors including: 

 The Remuneration and Expenses schedule is based on actual cash payments
made during the fiscal year (including payouts of vacation, gratuity, and overtime
banks) whereas the consolidated financial statement figure is determined on an
accrual basis;

 The Remuneration and Expenses schedule excludes the City of North Vancouver
Public Library and the City’s share of the North Vancouver Recreation
Commission; and,

 The Wages and Benefits include benefits recorded at full cost on the
consolidated financial statements and includes items such as employer portions
of deductions, retirement benefits and medical benefits.

36



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver 
Statement of Severance Agreements 
FIR Schedule 1, Section 6 (7) (a) & (b) 

2021 

There were three severance agreements under which payment commenced 
between The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver and its non-unionized 
employees during fiscal year 2021. 

 These agreements represent from 3 to 21.5 months of compensation.

The agreements were determined based on base salary. 

37



Suppliers of Goods and Services 

38



Vendor Payment

0698283 BC LTD. 74,162 

1255665 BC LTD. 53,905 

3DS THREE DIMENSIONAL SERVICES INC 196,113 

604 CLEANIT.COM 60,209 

ACCELLION USA LLC 43,715 

AECOM CANADA LTD. 51,759 

ALL ROADS CONSTRUCTION LTD 398,304 

ANDREW SHERET LTD 225,547 

ANTHEM EASTERN HOLDINGS LTD. 1,001,084 

AON REED STENHOUSE INC 508,889 

ARSALAN CONSTRUCTION LTD 900,714 

ASSOCIATED FIRE SAFETY 56,576 

ASTROGRAPHIC INDUSTRIES LTD 73,632 

AVENUE MACHINERY CORP 43,108 

AXIS TECHNICAL SERVICES CORP. 36,251 

BA BLACKTOP LTD 1,161,580 

BAILEY ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTING 39,590 

BARTLETT TREE EXPERTS 38,685 

BC HYDRO 1,248,910 

BDO CANADA LLP 50,950 

BLACKBURN YOUNG OFFICE SOLUTIONS 108,506 

BLU POOL SUPPLY LTD. 62,844 

BLUECON DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION LTD. 131,302 

BRAVEHEART VENTURES 99,475 

BROOKS CORNING COMPANY 53,582 

CANADA POST CORPORATION 38,608 

CANADIAN LINEN AND UNIFORM SERVICE 37,919 

CANNEPP BOILER ROOM TECHNOLOGIES 28,900 

CANSEL SURVEY EQUIPTMENT INC (CANSEL) 56,791 

CAPILANO UNIVERSITY 36,000 

CARSCADDEN STOKES MCDONALD ARCHITECTS 311,306 

CASCADIA SHADING DESIGN 34,061 

CDW CANADA CORP. 168,024 

CEDAR CREST LANDS (B.C.) LTD 2,095,065 

CEG MANAGEMENT INC. 28,145 

CENTRAL SQUARE TECHNOLOGIES 49,951 

CHANDOS CONSTRUCTION LTD. 630,768 

CHARTER TELECOM INC 173,282 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Schedule of Suppliers of Goods and Services

FIR Schedule 1, Section 7 (1) (a) and (b)
2021

39



Vendor Payment

CITY ELECTRIC SUPPLY 28,935 

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 48,363 

CITY OF SURREY 189,668 

CITY OF VANCOUVER 49,929 

COBRA ELECTRIC SERVICES LTD. 982,115 

COMMERCIAL EMERGENCY EQUIPMENT CO 2,756,501 

COMMISSIONAIRES BC 145,042 

COMMUNITY FIRE PREVENTION 61,027 

CONCERT REAL ESTATE CORPORATION 50,000 

COQUITLAM CONCRETE (1993) LTD 64,462 

CORPORATE EXPRESS CANADA INC 37,514 

COWI NORTH AMERICA LTD. 480,804 

CROWN CONTRACTING LTD. 1,226,001 

DIAMOND HEAD CONSULTING LTD 29,340 

DIAMOND PRE‐CAST CONCRETE LTD 38,475 

DICK'S LUMBER 26,294 

DINESEN NURSERIES LTD. 30,208 

DISTRICT OF NORTH VANCOUVER 626,334 

DISTRICT OF WEST VANCOUVER 27,731 

DMD AND ASSOCIATES LTD 70,001 

DOUGNESS HOLDINGS LTD 37,000 

DTM SYSTEMS CORPORATION 33,709 

E‐COMM 279,801 

ECONOLITE CANADA INC. 50,349 

E‐CUBED MEDIA SYNTHESIS 35,589 

ELECTROMEGA LTD 32,822 

ESC AUTOMATION INC 46,859 

ESRI CANADA LTD 62,722 

EUROVIA BC INC 89,734 

EVOLUTION AV LTD. 66,668 

EXECUTIVE AIR CONDITIONING & 78,764 

FLYNN CANADA LTD. 34,225 

FORTIS BC ENERGY INC. 62,060 

FRASER VALLEY EQUIPMENT LTD. 43,923 

FRASERWAY PREKAST LTD 45,418 

FRED SURRIDGE LTD 205,448 

GAGNON VENTURES INC 45,265 

GFL ENVIRONMENTAL INC 28,504 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Schedule of Suppliers of Goods and Services

FIR Schedule 1, Section 7 (1) (a) and (b)
2021

40



Vendor Payment

GLOBAL SPORTS RESOURCES 49,367 

GRAVITY CONSTRUCTION INC. 54,858 

GREATER VANCOUVER SEWERAGE AND DRAINAGE 8,156,548 

GREATER VANCOUVER WATER DISTRICT 6,803,070 

HABITAT SYSTEMS INC 54,177 

HAPA COLLABORATIVE 61,627 

HAYCO EQUIPMENT LTD. 46,030 

HCMA ARCHITECTURE + DESIGN 5,108,597 

HEADWATER MANAGEMENT LTD. 75,130 

HOULE ELECTRIC LTD 35,546 

ICONIX WATERWORKS LP 103,860 

INDEX CONSTRUCTION (BC) INC. 109,774 

INFINITE ROAD MARKING LTD 37,870 

INFOR (CANADA), LTD. 272,740 

INTERPROVINCIAL TRAFFIC SERVICES LTD 118,843 

ISL ENGINEERING & LAND SERVICES LTD. 479,232 

ISLAND KEY COMPUTER LTD 177,443 

J&R EXCAVATION & DEMOLITION LTD. 38,700 

JIFFY JOHN RENTALS LTD 43,906 

JIM WILES AND SON LTD 194,369 

JUST MECHANICAL LTD 103,113 

KAL TIRE 44,428 

KERR WOOD LEIDAL ASSOCIATES LTD 132,979 

KING KUBOTA SERVICES LTD 40,673 

KINGSTON CONSTRUCTION LTD. 3,430,892 

KIRK & CO 47,838 

KONE INC 29,171 

KPMG LLP 41,290 

KRAUS TRUCKING 175,830 

LAFARGE CANADA INC 120,827 

LANARC 2015 CONSULTANTS LTD. 37,451 

LANESAFE TRAFFIC CONTROL 131,876 

LED ROADWAY LIGHTING 101,948 

LEHIGH HANSON 122,584 

LGI‐INDUSTRIAL & CONSTRUCTION SUPPLIES I 33,520 

LIDSTONE & COMPANY LAW CORPORATION‐TRUST 200,000 

LIFESPACE PROJECTS LTD 51,810 

LIONS GATE CONSULTING INC. 65,535 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Schedule of Suppliers of Goods and Services

FIR Schedule 1, Section 7 (1) (a) and (b)
2021

41



Vendor Payment

LMP PUBLICATIONS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 65,535 

LONG VIEW SYSTEMS 32,836 

LONSDALE ENERGY CORP 320,375 

MAINROAD MAINTENANCE PRODUCTS 169,607 

MAKE PROJECTS LTD 227,952 

MANCORP INDUSTRIAL SALES LTD 34,030 

MANULIFE FINANCIAL 37,970 

MAR‐TECH UNDERGROUND SERVICES LTD 257,256 

MCRAE'S ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES LTD 618,774 

METRO MOTORS LTD 221,481 

METRO TRAFFIC LTD. 82,273 

MICROSOFT LICENSING GP:WRC‐CA 198,952 

MNP LLP 134,350 

MODERN DRAINAGE 35,472 

MOTIV ARCHITECTS INC. 60,174 

MOTT MACDONALD CANADA LTD. 37,346 

MUNICIPAL PENSION PLAN 4,323,059 

MVCC VIDEO COMMUNICATIONS CORP. 37,325 

NAPA NORTH VANCOUVER 47,012 

NELSON NYGAARD CONSULTING ASSOC. INC. 97,541 

NEPTUNE TECHNOLOGY GROUP 63,759 

NEW RHODES CONSTRUCTION INC. 358,638 

NORTH VANCOUVER CHAMBER 34,989 

NORTH VANCOUVER RECREATION COMMISSION 155,166 

NORTHWEST BOARDING KENNELS 29,950 

NORTON ROSE FULBRIGHT CANADA LLP 230,978 

OPEN TEXT CORPORATION 65,524 

ORACLE CANADA ULC 68,284 

ORION ELECTRICAL SYSTEMS LTD. 548,486 

OVERDRIVE, INC. 37,473 

PACIFIC BLUE CROSS 1,453,814 

PACIFIC FLOW CONTROL LTD. 26,932 

PACIFIC ROPES CONTRACTING LTD. 80,723 

PALADIN TECHNOLOGIES INC. 33,926 

PANTHER CREATIVE INC 55,672 

PASSPORT LABS, INC 124,916 

PERFORMANCE BUILDERS LTD. 415,550 

PETERBILT PACIFIC INC. 564,421 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Schedule of Suppliers of Goods and Services

FIR Schedule 1, Section 7 (1) (a) and (b)
2021

42



Vendor Payment

PINTON FORREST & MADDEN GROUP INC. 84,367 

PJS SYSTEMS INC. 71,738 

PORTEAU QUARRY LTD 62,452 

POWER PROS ELECTRICAL 81,648 

PROLINK SECURITY SYSTEMS 45,628 

PROPEL SOLUTIONS LTD 46,200 

PROVINCE OF BRITISH COLUMBIA 1,761,379 

QUESTICA SOFTWARE INC 122,170 

R.A. MALATEST & ASSOCIATES LTD 120,490 

RARE EARTH RECREATIONAL DEVELOPMENTS INC 58,059 

RAY CONTRACTING LTD 653,723 

RECEIVER GENERAL FOR CANADA 11,799,442 

RECYCLE BC/MMBC RECYCLING INC. 68,683 

RESOURCE PLANNING GROUP INC. 34,623 

RF BINNIE AND ASSOCIATES LTD 111,938 

RFS CANADA 50,521 

RICOH CANADA INC 40,082 

ROLLINS MACHINERY LTD 378,760 

ROLLO  ASSOCIATES 30,100 

SCOOBY'S DOG WASTE REMOVAL SERVICE LTD. 85,282 

SCOTTISH LINE PAINTING LTD 27,216 

SEDGWICK CANADA INC IN‐TRUST 50,000 

SERVICES FLO INC. 59,493 

SES CONSULTING 43,740 

SHAW BUSINESS 42,923 

SHERINE INDUSTRIES LTD 39,483 

SHOWKRAFT PRODUCTION SERVICES LTD 41,745 

SIRSIDYNIX (CANADA) INC. 51,275 

SMITH BROS & WILSON BC LTD 84,141 

SOFTCHOICE LP. 55,067 

SOFTWARE TRAINING SOLUTIONS 25,599 

SOLIDCAD 27,859 

SOUTH COAST BC TRANSPORT AUTHORITY 125,000 

SPECIMEN TREES 32,679 

STANDARD BUILDING SUPPLY 63,369 

STAPLES PROFESSIONAL 26,902 

STEPHEN IRVING COMMUNICATIONS 70,610 

STRATA PLAN EPS6231 38,993 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Schedule of Suppliers of Goods and Services

FIR Schedule 1, Section 7 (1) (a) and (b)
2021

43



Vendor Payment

STREET, DEBRA 37,847 

SUNCOR ENERGY PRODUCTS PARTNERSHIPS 343,233 

SUPER SAVE DISPOSAL INC 60,717 

SUSTAINABILITY SOLUTIONS GROUP 54,025 

TECH LOGIC CORP 25,626 

TELUS COMMUNICATIONS INC 128,256 

TELUS MOBILITY 131,178 

TETRA TECH CANADA INC. 99,468 

THE GREAT CANADIAN LANDSCAPING COMPANY 81,335 

THE SHIPYARDS DEVELOPMENT LTD. 142,269 

TIMBERLINE TREE SERVICE LTD. 47,873 

TRIPLE THREE TRADING LTD 42,876 

TUPPER LANDSCAPING INC 55,230 

ULINE 54,358 

UNIVERSAL PRINTING & BINDERY LTD. 36,735 

URBAN ARTS ARCHITECTURE INC 34,601 

URBAN MATTERS 142,218 

URBAN SAWING AND SCANNING CO LTD 55,287 

URBAN SYSTEMS LTD. 87,906 

WESTERN INTEGRATED ELECTRICAL LTD. 94,129 

WESTLAND INSURANCE GROUP LTD. 240,157 

WHITELAW TWINING LAW CORPORATION 28,825 

WOLSELEY WATERWORKS GROUP ‐ BC REGION 36,316 

WOOD WYANT CANADA INC. 61,491 

WORKER'S COMPENSATION BOARD 864,440 

WSP CANADA GROUP LIMITED 75,000 

YOUNG ANDERSON BARRISTERS & SOLICITORS 39,173 

Section 7 (1) (a) ‐ Vendors over $25,000 76,691,730 

Section 7 (1) (b) ‐ Vendors $25,000 or less 5,175,104 

Grand Total Sections 7 (1) (a) and 7 (1) (b) 81,866,834 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Schedule of Suppliers of Goods and Services

FIR Schedule 1, Section 7 (1) (a) and (b)
2021

44



Listing of contributions exceeding $25,000

NORTH SHORE EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT OFFICE 350,840 

NORTH SHORE NEIGHBOURHOOD HOUSE 777,135 

NORTH VANCOUVER CITY LIBRARY 4,453,563 

NORTH VANCOUVER MUSEUM & ARCHIVES COMMISSION 608,354 

NORTH VANCOUVER RECREATION COMMISSION 5,965,926 

SCHOOL DISTRICT NO.44 (NORTH VANCOUVER) 188,800 

Total contributions exceeding $25,000 12,344,619 

Listing of grants exceeding $25,000

CAPILANO COMMUNITY SERVICES SOCIETY 85,321 

DISTRICT OF NORTH VANCOUVER 165,857 

DISTRICT OF WEST VANCOUVER 48,997 

FAMILY SERVICES OF THE NORTH SHORE 55,013 

LOOKOUT HOUSING AND HEALTH SOCIETY 290,499 

NAVY LEAGUE OF CANADA 73,500 

NORTH SHORE COMMUNITY RESOURCES 47,493 

NORTH SHORE NEIGHBOURHOOD HOUSE 203,219 

NORTH SHORE RESTORATIVE JUSTICE SOCIETY 40,142 

NORTH VANCOUVER MUSEUM & ARCHIVES 625,000 

NORTH VANCOUVER RECREATION COMMISSION 94,268 

SILVER HARBOUR CENTRE SOCIETY 168,201 

SQUAMISH NATION 180,670 

THE SALVATION ARMY NORTH SHORE 35,700 

TSLEIL‐WAUTUTH NATION 111,670 

Total of grants exceeding $25,000 2,225,551 

Total of all grants and contributions exceeding $25,000 14,570,169     

Consolidated total of grants and contributions less than $25,000 326,688           

Grand total of all grants and contributions 14,896,857     

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Schedule of Grants & Contributions

FIR Schedule 1, Section 7 (2) (b)
2021

45



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver 
Reconciliation between total payments to suppliers & financial statements  

FIR Schedule 1, Section 7 (1) (c)  
2021 

000’s 
FIR Schedule 1, Section 7(1)(a) & (b) – Payments to Suppliers of Goods and Services  $  81,867 
FIR Schedule 1, Section 7(2)(b) – Grants and Contributions  14,897 

Subtotal – Payments to Suppliers  96,764 

FIR Schedule 1, Section 6(2)(a) – Remuneration paid to elected Officials  440 
FIR Schedule 1, Section 6(2)(b) and 6(2)(c) – Employee remuneration  44,534 

Reconciling items  (14,838) 

Total expenses per Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities  $       126,900 

The schedule of payments to Suppliers of goods and services is based on actual 
payments processed through the City's Accounts Payable system. This provides 
assurance on completeness, as the reported amounts are reconciled to the payment 
register and electronic funds transfer records. The schedule of payments to supplier is a 
"cash basis" listing. This will vary from the expenditures in the consolidated financial 
statements, which are reported on an accrual basis. 

In addition, there are payments issued by the City which are not considered payments 
for the provision of goods and services, such as payments made to other taxing 
authorities, employee payroll deductions, debt repayments and deposit refunds.  

46



Council Approval of the Statement of Financial Information 

Appendix 1



Council Resolution to be Added 

Appendix 1



Financial Information Regulation - Schedule 1 (Checklist)

Appendix 2



Financial Information Regulation - Schedule 1 (Checklist) 

For the Corporation: 
Corporate Name: The Corporation of the City of 

North Vancouver 
Contact Name:   Larry Sawrenko

Phone Number: (604) 982-8343Fiscal Year End: December 31, 2021 

Date Submitted:      June 30th, 2022 E-mail: lsawrenko@cnv.org 

For the Ministry: 
Ministry Name: Reviewer: 

Date Received: Deficiencies: Yes No 

Date Reviewed: Deficiencies Addressed: Yes No 

Approved (SFO): Further Action Taken: 

Distribution: Legislative Library Ministry Retention

FIR 
Schedule 1 
Section 

Item Yes No N/A Comments 

General 

1 (1) (a) Statement of assets and liabilities  
See page 5 

1 (1) (b) Operational statement  
See page 6 

1 (1) (c) Schedule of debts  
See page 15, note 6 

1 (1) (d) Schedule of guarantee and 
indemnity agreements  

See page 21, note 10(f)

1 (1) (e) Schedule of employee remuneration 
and expenses  

See page 27 - 37 

1 (1) (f)  Schedule of suppliers of goods and 
services  

See page 38 - 46 

1 (3) Statements prepared on a 
consolidated basis or for each fund, 
as appropriate 

 

1 (4) 
1 (5) 

Notes to the financial statements for 
the statements and schedules listed 
above 

 

Appendix 2



Appendix 2

FIR 
Schedule 1 
Section 

Item Yes No N/A Comments 

Statement of Assets & Liabilities 

2   A balance sheet prepared in
accordance with GAAP or stated
accounting principles / policies,
and

 Show changes in equity and
surplus or deficit due to
operations

 

 

See Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position 

See Consolidated Statement of Operations 
and notes to the financial statements for 
changes in equity 

Operational Statement 

3 (1) Prepared in accordance with GAAP 
or stated accounting principles / 
policies and consists of: 
 a Statement of Income or

Statement of Revenue and 
Expenditures, and 

 a Statement of Changes in
Financial Position 

 

 

See Consolidated Statement of Operations 

See Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

3 (2) 
3 (3) 

 The Statement of Changes in
Financial Position may be
omitted if it provides no
additional information

 The omission must be explained
in the notes

 

 

3 (4) Community colleges, school districts, 
and municipalities must prepare a 
Statement of Changes in Financial 
Position for the Capital Fund 

 See page 19, note 9(c)  

Schedule of Debts 

4 (1) (a) 
4 (2) 

List each long-term debt (secured by 
debentures, mortgages, bonds, etc.), 
stating the amount outstanding, the 
interest rate, and the maturity date 

 

4 (1) (b) Identify debts covered by sinking 
funds or reserves and amounts in 
these accounts 





Appendix 2

FIR 
Schedule 1 
Section 

Item Yes No N/A Comments 

4 (3) 
4 (4) 

 The schedule may be omitted if
addressed under section 2 or 5
and it provides no additional
information

 The omission must be explained
in a note to the schedule

 

 
See page 15, note 6 

Schedule of Guarantee and Indemnity Agreements 

5 (1) List financial agreements that 
required government approval prior 
to being given (see Guarantees and 
Indemnities Regulation in FIA 
Guidance Package) 

 

5 (2) State the entities involved, and the 
specific amount involved if known 

 

5 (3) 
5 (4) 

 The schedule may be omitted if
addressed under section 2 or 4
and it provides no additional
information

 The omission must be explained
in a note to the schedule 

 

 See page 21, note 10(f)

Schedule of Remuneration and Expenses 
(See Guidance Package for suggested format) 

6 (2) (a) List separately, by name and 
position, the total remuneration and 
the total expenses for each elected 
official, member of the board of 
directors, and employee appointed 
by Cabinet 

 

6 (2) (b) List alphabetically each employee 
whose total remuneration exceeds 
$75,000 and the total expenses for 
each [excluding the persons listed 
under 6 (2) (a)]  

 

6 (2) (c) Include a consolidated total for 
employees whose remuneration is 
$75,000 or less [excluding the 
persons listed under 6 (2) (a)] 

 

6 (2) (d) Reconcile or explain any difference 
between total remuneration in this 





FIR 
Schedule 1 
Section 

Item Yes No N/A Comments 

schedule and related information in 
the operational statement 

6 (3) Exclude personal information other 
than name, position, function or 
remuneration and expenses of 
employees 

 

Schedule of Remuneration and Expenses 
(See Guidance Package for suggested format) 

6 (6) Report the employer portion of EI 
and CPP as a supplier payment to 
the Receiver General for Canada 
rather than as employee 
remuneration 

 Employer share of CPP for elected officials 
was shown under the heading “Benefits” on 
FIR Schedule 1, Section 6(2)(a) 

6 (7) (a) 
6 (7) (b) 

Include a statement of severance 
agreements providing: 
 the number of severance

agreements under which 
payment commenced in the 
fiscal year being reported on for 
non-union employees, and 

 the range of equivalent months'
compensation for them

(see Guidance Package for 
suggested format) 

 

 

6 (8) Provide the reason for omitting a 
statement of severance agreements 
in a note to the schedule of 
remuneration and expenses 

 

Schedule of Suppliers of Goods or Services  
(See Guidance Package for suggested format) 

7 (1) (a) List in alphabetical order all suppliers 
of goods and services who received 
aggregate payments exceeding 
$25,000 

 

7 (1) (b) Include a consolidated total of all 
payments to suppliers who received 
$25,000 or less 

 

7 (1) (c) Reconcile or explain any difference 
between the consolidated total and 
related figures in the operational 
statement 

 

Appendix 2



FIR 
Schedule 1 
Section 

Item Yes No N/A Comments 

7 (2) (b) Include a statement of payments for 
the purposes of grants or 
contributions 

 

Inactive Corporations 

8 (1) The ministry reports for the 
corporation if the corporation is not 
operating to the extent required to 
produce a SOFI 

 

8 (2) (a) The ministry's report contains the 
statements and schedules required 
under section 1 (1), to the extent 
possible 

 

8 (2) (b) The ministry's report contains a 
statement of the operational status of 
the corporation (see Guidance 
Package regarding what to include) 

 

Approval of Financial Information 

9 (1) Corporations other than 
municipalities – the SOFI is signed 
as approved by the board of 
directors or the governing body (see 
Guidance Package for example) 

 

9 (2) Municipalities – the SOFI is 
approved by its council and by the 
officer assigned responsibility for 
financial administration (see 
Guidance Package for example) 

 

9 (3) A management report is included, 
signed by the head and chief 
financial officer, or by the municipal 
officer assigned responsibility for 
financial administration (see 
examples in annual report at 
http://www.gov.bc.ca/cas/popt/) 

 See Consolidated Financial Statements – 
Statement of Management Responsibility 

9 (4) The management report explains the 
roles and responsibilities of the 
board of directors or governing body, 
audit committee, management, and 
the auditors 

 See Consolidated Financial Statements – 
Statement of Management Responsibility 

Appendix 2



FIR 
Schedule 1 
Section 

Item Yes No N/A Comments 

9 (5) Signature approvals required in 
section 9 are for each of the 
statements and schedules of 
financial information, not just the 
financial statements 

 

Appendix 2



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



To: 

From: 

Department Director CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Larry Sawrenko, Chief Financial Officer 

REPORT 

Subject: REPORT REQUIRED UNDER LOCAL GOVERNMENT (GREEN 
COMMUNITIES) STATUTES AMENDMENT ACT, 2008 

Date: June 15, 2022 File No: 05-1610-01-0001/2022 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated June 15, 2022, 
entitled "Report Required Under the Local Government (Green Communities) 
Statute Amendment Act, 2008": 

THAT this report be received and filed. 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to provide Council with financial information required under 
the Local Government (Green Communities) Statutes Amendment Act, 2008. 

BACKGROUND 

In April of 2008, the Province passed the Local Government (Green Communities) 
Statutes Amendment Act ,2008 (the "Act"). This Act amended a number of sections of 
the Local Government Act ("LGA") relating to expenditures on development cost charge 
works, parking space construction, and alternative transportation initiatives, and added 
some additional reporting requirements. 

This report addresses those reporting requirements. 

Document Number: 2158041 Vl 



REPORT: Report Required Under Local Government (Green Communities) Statutes Amendment Act, 2008 
Date: June 15, 2022 

DISCUSSION 

Development Cost Charges 

Local Government Act Section 937.01 requires: 

In each year, 

a. the Director of Finance must prepare and submit to Council a report for the 
previous year that includes the following, reported for each purpose under this 
section for which the Council imposes the development cost levy in the 
applicable year: 

i. the amount of the development cost levies received; 
ii. the expenditure from the development cost levy reserve funds; 
iii. the balance in the development cost levy reserve funds at the start 

and at the end of the applicable year,· 
iv. and waivers or reductions under subsection (10.4); and 

b. as soon as practicable after receiving the report, the Council must consider the 
report and make it available to the public. 

Development Cost Charges Bylaw, 2016, No. 8471 was adopted by Council July 25th , 
2016. The bylaw provides a structured DCC program to assist in funding the cost of 
expanding and upgrading transportation infrastructure, park/parkland development, as 
well as funding the impacts of growth on the City's water, sanitary sewer and drainage 
utilities. 

Transportation DCC Reserve 

The transportation DCC program includes projects principally focused on required multi
mode transportation such as bicycle routes, bridges, sidewalks etc. 

Transportation DCC Reserve 2021 
Opening Balance $ 3,090,164 
Interest 47,950 
Contributions 548,177 
Expenditure (1,172,802) 
Closing Balance $ 2,513,488 

Page 2 of 5 



REPORT: Report Required Under Local Government (Green Communities) Statutes Amendment Act, 2008 
Date: June 15, 2022 

Parks DCC Reserve 

The Parks DCC program includes acquisition of parkland and prescribed parks works that 
include development of parks, trails, and greenways throughout the City. 

Parks DCC Reserve 2021 
Opening Balance $ 17,142,234 
Interest 294,315 
Contributions 1,452,876 
Expenditure (1,568,920) 
Closing Balance $ 17,320,505 

Utility DCC Reserves 

The utility DCC programs include the expansion of our existing utility infrastructure to 
accommodate new growth. 

Water DCC Reserve 2021 
Opening Balance $ 627,038 
Interest 12,235 
Contributions 168,051 
Expenditure -
Closing Balance $ 807,324 

Sanitary Sewer DCC Reserve 2021 
Opening Balance $ 592 ,286 
Interest 11,592 
Contributions 164,224 
Expenditure -
Closing Balance $ 768,101 

Drainage DCC Reserve 2021 
Opening Balance $ 507,769 
Interest 9,970 
Contributions 144,444 
Expenditure -
Closing Balance $ 662,183 

Page 3 of 5 



REPORT: Report Required Under Local Government (Green Communities) Statutes Amendment Act, 2008 
Date: June 15, 2022 

DCC Reductions or Waivers 

The Act amended the LGA to provide a municipality the ability to pass a bylaw allowing 
waivers or reductions of DCC's to certain categories of development, including: 

a) not for profit rental housing, including supportive living housing; 
b) for-profit affordable rental housing; 
c) a subdivision of small lots that is designed to result in low greenhouse gas 

emissions; 
d) a development that is designed to result in a low environmental impact. 

The City provides a 100% waiver of DCC's for not-for-profit rental housing. The City 
does not provide a waiver related to other types of eligible development. No DCC's 
were waived in 2021. 

Parking-in-lieu Payments and Alternative Transportation 

Local Government Act Section 906(9) requires : 

A local government must prepare and consider a report respecting the previous year in 
relation to the reserve funds required under this section (Parking Fund and Alternative 
Transportation Fund) including the following information separately for each of the 
purposes established under this subsection: 

a) the amounts received in the applicable year; 
b) the expenditures from the reserve funds in the applicable year; 
c) the balance in the reserve funds at the start and at the end of the applicable 

year; and 
d) the projected timeline for future projects to be funded from the reserve funds 

Parking Reserve 

Parking Reserve 2021 
Opening Balance $ 169,187 
Interest 4,497 
Contributions 175,000 
Expenditure (7,892) 
Closing Balance $ 340,791 

The City's parking reserve has two funding sources. One is from payments-in-lieu of 
parking space construction, which are allowed by legislation in certain cases to meet City 
zoning requirements for parking, by providing payment instead of off-street parking space 
construction. The second source is from a portion of parking revenues from 1988-2003 
to fund parking-related projects. Since 2003 all parking revenues have been treated as 
general operating revenue. In the year the fund recognized parking contribution in 

Page 4 of 5 



REPORT: Report Required Under Local Government (Green Communities) Statutes Amendment Act, 2008 
Date: June 15, 2022 

amount of $175,000. This reserve is expected to fully exhausted in 2022 funding parking 
initiatives for the Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre. 

Sustainable Transportation Reserve 

Local Government Act Section 906(7) allows the creation of a Reserve to fund 
"transportation infrastructure that supports walking, bicycling, public transit, or other 
alternative forms of transportation". At the March 10, 2008 Finance Committee meeting, 
Council directed that such a fund be established, and that an amount equivalent to 0.25% 
of a tax point, or $87,500, be added to the Project Plan to support alternative 
transportation projects. 

Sustainable Transportation Reserve 2021 

Opening Balance $ 187,042 
Interest 3,096 
Contributions 87,500 
Expenditure (113,530) 
Closing Balance $ 164,108 

There is an annual contribution of $87,500 to the Sustainable Transportation Reserve 
Fund. Reserve balances are expected to be fully exhausted at the end of 2022 and 
used to support the City's Transit Improvement Program, a program to study, design, 
and implement transit priority interventions like bus lanes, signal priority and bus bulbs 
as well as accessibility upgrades to improve access to Transit). 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

The financial implications are covered in the body of the report. 

STRATEGIC PLAN, ORP OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 

This report supports the 2022 Corporate Business Plan Corporate Outcome to be "An 
Open & Engaged Organization". 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Larry Sawrenko 
Chief Financial Officer 

Page 5 of 5 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



- e w 
Department Director CAO 

To: 

From: 

Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Larry Sawrenko, Chief Financial Officer 

REPORT 

Subject: 2022 APPROPRIATIONS #2 - AMENDMENT 

Date: June 21, 2022 File No: 16-8350-20-0039/1 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated June 21, 2022, 
entitled "2022 Appropriations #2 - Amendment": 

THAT Appropriation #2215 in the amount of $2,396,000 from the Carbon 
Reserve be amended to be from the Affordable Housing Reserve; 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Council Report dated June 10, 2022 with the subject "2022 Appropriations #2" 
(CityDoc 2187086) 

2. 2022 Project Descriptions and Funding Allocations (CityDoc 2187980 ) 

BACKGROUND 

At its meeting on June 20, Council received and approved a report from the Chief 
Financial Officer dated June 10, 2022 recommending Appropriations #2 in the amount of 
$158,692,000 (Attachment 1). One of the recommendations in that report was that 
$2,396,000 be appropriated from the Carbon Reserve (Funding Appropriation #2215). 
This appropriation was to fund two projects, being the "NSNH Site Preparation" and 
"Supporting Affordable Housing Supply & Delivery". 

Document Number: 2193016 



REPORT: 2022 Appropriations #2 - Amendment 
Date: June 21, 2022 

DISCUSSION 

Subsequent to Council's approval of Funding Appropriation #2215, staff identified an error 
in the June 10th Report. In Attachment 1 to that June 10th report (Attachment 2), Funding 
Appropriation #2215 was correctly shown to come from the Affordable Housing Reserve. 
Funding Appropriation #2215 was however incorrectly shown in the Recommendation 
section of the June 10th report as being from the Carbon Reserve. The Affordable 
Housing Reserve the more appropriate reserve to fund projects that support affordable 
housing like the "NSNH Site Preparation" and "Supporting Affordable Housing Supply & 
Delivery" projects. 

The purpose of this report is to correct the administrative error noted above, so that 
Funding Appropriation 2215 can be funded from the Affordable Housing Reserve. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

There is no change in the amount of funding being recommended with this amendment. 
Funding for Appropriation #2215 remains available in the current 2022-2026 Financial 
Plan approved by Council. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Larry Sawrenko 
Chief Financial Officer 

Page 2 of 2 



To: 

From: 

Department Director CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Larry Sawrenko, Chief Financial Officer 

REPORT 

Subject: 2022 APPROPRIATIONS #2 

Date: June 10, 2022 File No: 05-1705-30-0019/2022 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated June 8, 2022, 
entitled "2022 Appropriations #2": 

THAT (Funding Appropriation #2213) an amount of $3,584,453 be appropriated 
from the General Capital Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital 
Plan; 

THAT (Funding Appropriation #2214) an amount of $1,361,600 be appropriated 
from the Civic Amenity Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan; 

THAT (Funding Appropriation #2215) an amount of $2,396,000 be appropriated 
from the Carbon Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan; 

THAT (Funding Appropriation #2216) an amount of $135,507 be appropriated 
from the Sustainable Transportation Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 
Capital Plan; 

THAT (Funding Appropriation #2217) an amount of $85,000 be appropriated 
from the Public Art Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan; 

THAT (Funding Appropriation #2218) an amount of $507,915 be appropriated 
from the Parking Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan; 

Document Number: 2187086 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 1�



REPORT: 2022 Appropriations #2 
Date: June 8, 2022 

THAT (Funding Appropriation #2219) an amount of $150,163,125 be 
appropriated from the Civic Amenity Reserve-HJ for the purpose of funding the 
2022 Capital Plan; 

THAT (Funding Appropriation #2220) an amount of $300,000 be appropriated 
from the Cemetery Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan; 

THAT "Development Cost Charge (Parks) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8941" 
(2022 Capital Plan Funding) a Bylaw to appropriate an amount of $123,750 from 
DCC (Parks) Reserve Fund to fund 2022 Capital Plan, be considered; 

THAT "Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, 
No. 8942" (2022 Capital Plan Funding) a Bylaw to appropriate an amount of 
$34,650 from DCC (Transportation) Reserve Fund to fund 2022 Capital Plan, be 
considered; 

AND THAT should any of the above amounts remain unexpended as at December 
31, 2025, the unexpended balances shall be returned to the credit of the respective 
fund . 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. 2022 Project Descriptions and Funding Allocations (CityDoc 2187980 ) 
2. Information Report - New Traffic Signals (CityDoc 2177139) 
3. Information Report - The HUB Redevelopment Site (CityDoc 2177005) 
4. Information Report - Upper Level Greenway (CityDoc 2183573) 
5. Proposed Bylaw 8941 Development Cost Charge Parks Reserve Fund (CityDoc 

2186990) 
6. Proposed Bylaw 8942 Development Cost Charge Transportation Reserve Fund 

(CityDoc 2186988) 

SUMMARY 

This report follows adoption of the 2022-2026 Financial Plan, and provides details of 
projects where appropriations are recommended. 

DISCUSSION 

This report recommends that funds be appropriated so work can begin on some of the 
projects included in the 2022-2026 Financial Plan. Project teams are ready to deliver 
these projects, and funds are needed before Appropriation #3, which is currently 
planned for September. Staff have also reviewed the need for the projects since the 
approval of the 2022-2026 Financial Plan and continue to support proceeding. 
Appropriation is the final step in the funding of these projects and, if approved, will allow 
funds to be expended. 

Page 2 of 3 



REPORT: 2022 Appropriations #2 
Date: June 8, 2022 

Attachment 1 provides additional information regarding each project. Attachments 2-
4 provide more detailed background on projects with planned appropriations greater 
than $500,000 over the Financial Plan period, which are not part of ongoing capital 
replacement programs. Attachments 5-6 are proposed Bylaws for Council 
consideration that, if approved, will enable use of Development Cost Charge funding to 
support a park (Upper Levels Greenway Development) and a transportation (Priority 
Mobility Network Improvements) project. In addition, a separate report from the Sr. 
Project Manager, Strategic Initiatives dated June 3rd, 2022, entitled "2022-2031 Capital 
Plan - Projects Over $500,000: Funding Appropriation and Contract Awards - Harry 
Jerome Community Recreation Centre and Silver Harbour Seniors' Activity" has also 
been provided to Council and provides additional information on those two projects 
(CityDoc 2186869). 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

Funding is included in the current 2022-2026 Financial Plan as approved by Council and 
is available for appropriation . 

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

The 2022-2026 Financial Plan is a reflection of the policies of the City and the work plans 
of all City departments. Finance staff rely on their close working relationships with staff in 
other departments and the City's shared-cost agencies in developing this Plan. 

STRATEGIC PLAN, OCP OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

The preparation and approval of a Financial Plan is consistent with the requirements of 
the Community Charter and several of the objectives of the City's 2014 Official 
Community Plan. The Plan was also prepared taking into consideration the 2018-2022 
Council Strategic Plan. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Larry Sawrenko 
Chief Financial Officer 

Page 3 of 3 



 2022 Project Descriptions and Funding Allocations Attachment 2

2 ‐ 11 Centennial Theatre NVR&CC Howard Kiang 200,000 115,000                 85,000 

This project will address planned major components replacement and renovation at 

Centennial Theatre.

2 ‐ 13 John Braithwaite Community Centre NVR&CC Howard Kiang 55,000 0 55,000 

This project will deliver functional upgrades and planned major components replacement to 

the John Braithwaite Community Centre.

2 ‐ 15 Harry Jerome ‐ Major Repairs NVR&CC Howard Kiang 300,000 0 150,000 

Replace or repair building systems that fail due to unforseen circumstances.  All projects will 

be assessed for cost/benefit before work proceeds.

2 ‐ 19 Provision ‐ HJCRC Outside Consulting Finance Larry Sawrenko 160,000 0 160,000 

The requested funds will be appropriated as needed to fund the use of external consultants 

to facilitate the marketing, disposition and other land transaction related costs of the Harry 

Jerome Neighbourhood Lands (HJNL).

2 ‐ 22 City Library Middle Years Space NVC Library Deb Hutchison Koep 108,160 0 108,160 

Create a distinct, age‐appropriate space in the library for school‐aged children, uniquely 

designed to meet the needs of children in the "middle years". Working creatively within 

existing space constraints, the project incorporates relocation of functions and library 

shelving, and addition of lighting, computing, and new furnishings to create space suitable for 

study, collaboration, self‐directed learning and reading.

2 ‐ 26

Shipyards Destination Infrastructure Upgrades 

Project

Community & 

Partner Engagement

Magda Kwaterska / 

Robert Skene 200,000 0 200,000 

Site Infrastructure to support mobile vending, improvements to site electrical, site plumbing 

upgrades, demountable overhead structures for rain protection, crowd control infrastructure 

that includes railings, directional pathways, wayfinding and interpretive signage. This project 

also includes replacement of Heritage Crane lighting and Burrard Dry Dock infrastructure 

upgrades to support and attract larger commercial vessels.

3 ‐ 5 Traffic Signal System Upgrades

Engineering: Parks & 

Environment Kliment Kuzmanovski 370,000 0 370,000 

Upgrade of traffic signal poles, underground wiring, signal communication systems, and 

controllers in the City.  Locations and project details to be determined per results from various 

traffic engineering analysis and based on needs for upgrading traffic signal equipment.

3 ‐ 7 City‐Wide LED Streetlight Upgrade

Engineering: Parks & 

Environment Kliment Kuzmanovski 250,000 0 250,000 

City‐wide replacement of the existing, inefficient High Pressure Sodium (HPS) streetlights with 

efficient Light Emitting Diodes (LED).  This is estimated to reduce electricity consumption by 

40%. The upgrade is estimated to result in annual cost savings in electricity.

3 ‐ 11

Traffic Signal Pre‐Emption for Fire Emergency 

Vehicles

Engineering: Parks & 

Environment Kliment Kuzmanovski 80,000 0 80,000 

Traffic signal pre‐emption allows a fire truck to communicate with downstream traffic signals 

increasing its likelihood of receiving a green light.  It can also communicate with traffic signals 

further ahead to get traffic flowing before the truck arrives in order to decrease response 

times.

3 ‐ 23 Public Realm Improvements  Engineering: Streets Christel Lindgren 50,000 15,000  35,000 

Provides streetscape elements to enhance the experience of the public realm. Elements may 

include, but are not limited to benches, water fountains, garbage cans, bike racks and holiday 

lighting. 

3 ‐ 25 Living City Tree Program  Engineering: Streets Christel Lindgren 120,000 0 120,000 

The program will plant trees on streets that currently have few or no street trees, and include 

a three year project along City high streets replacing dead and dying trees and improving 

conditions for existing street trees to counter challenging urban growing conditions with 

supportive infrastructure to promote long‐term tree health.   

3 ‐ 28 Public Realm Accessibility Improvements Engineering: Streets Justin Hall 20,000 0 20,000 

Retrofit existing infrastructure throughout the City to continue to provide access to all, aligned 

with regional, national and international best practices. Works may include, but not be limited 

to the application of tactile walking surface indicators, braille signage, automatic door openers 

and ramps. The program will also support the provision of equipment for assistive devices to 

enable all residents and visitors to enjoy the City’s parks, trails and green spaces.  

3 ‐ 29 Transit Improvement Program Engineering: Streets Justin Hall 64,493 0 64,493 

This program will support technical study, design and implementation of transit priority 

interventions like bus lanes, signal priority and bus bulbs as well as accessibility upgrades 

to improve access to transit. 

4 ‐ 10 Public School Playground Funding

Engineering: Parks & 

Environment Mike Hunter 150,000 0 150,000 

Council approved the Public Elementary School Playground Enhancements Revised Policy on 

October 7, 2019. This policy provides funding to specific schools to a maximum of $75,000 

each over a 10 year period.

4 ‐ 25 Play Equipment Replacement 

Engineering: Parks & 

Environment Derek Priestley 35,000 0 35,000  The ongoing play equipment renewal and replacement program in 19 City parks. 

Ref # Project Name Dept Lead

2022 City Funded 

Amount as 

approved in the 

2022‐2026 

Financian Plan

Previously 

Appropriated
Appropriation #2 Description

Appropriation 2213 – General Capital Reserve

1



 2022 Project Descriptions and Funding Allocations Attachment 1

Ref # Project Name Dept Lead

2022 City Funded 

Amount as 

approved in the 

2022‐2026 

Financian Plan

Previously 

Appropriated
Appropriation #2 Description

4 ‐ 26 Streetscape Renovations

Engineering: Parks & 

Environment Derek Priestley 25,000 0 25,000 

The City's existing volunteer traffic circle adoption program has experienced declining 

enrollment from community members resulting in a number of unmanaged overgrown and 

unsightly circles. This project will enable a proactive approach to renovating existing traffic 

circles to address sightline hazards caused by overgrowth and reduce the long‐term 

maintenance cost while tracking what our actual maintenance costs would be in advance of 

applying for an ongoing 2023 operating budget.   

4 ‐ 27 Wooden Bridge and Stair Replacement

Engineering: Parks & 

Environment Derek Priestley 25,000 0 25,000 

This project consists of the replacement of aging wooden structures, such as stairs, bridges 

and boardwalks, throughout the City's park system.  

4 ‐ 28 Grass Sports Field Renovations

Engineering: Parks & 

Environment Mike Hunter 75,000 0 75,000 

The City's sand‐based grass fields are more than 20 years old and are in need of renovation.   

The drainage and irrigation systems need to be updated in order to keep the fields playable 

through the year. Loutet #2 field was completed in 2016, Loutet #1 in 2019, and Ray Perrault 

field is the next priority for 2022. Remaining fields to be completed are Loutet Field #3 in 2024 

and Kinsmen Stadium Field in 2026  

6 ‐ 8 NVRC Maintenance Vehicles NVR&CC Howard Kiang 115,000 0 115,000 

Replacement of NVRC maintenance vehicles from 2022 to 2031. The City’s portion of the cost 

share is 33.94%. In 2022, one Full size pick up, one mid size van and one full size van are 

scheduled to be replaced.

6 ‐ 10 NVRC Recreation Program Equipment NVR&CC Howard Kiang 130,000 0 130,000 

Program equipment such as weight room, sports & activities equipment, activity room 

furnishings & equipment, theatre performance equipment for Centennial Theatre and 

John Braithwaite Community Centre needs to be replaced periodically. The City’s portion 

of the cost share is 33.94% 

6 ‐ 14 Pool Car Replacement  Finance Sabine Zander 50,000 0 50,000 

Replacement of Pool Vehicles / Bikes. Vehicles are replaced every 10 years, bikes are replaced 

every 5 years. In 2022, one Chevy Volt is being replaced.

6 ‐ 17 Library shelving replacement NVC Library Monique Liddle 40,800 0 40,800  Replacement of end‐of‐life library shelving

7 ‐ 10 Website Renewal NVC Library Deb Hutchison Koep 5,000  0 5,000

Design City Library website to incorporate new technology and security updates, refresh 

information architecture and design, integrate new library services into the digital space, and 

provide a seamless user experience for library patrons. 

7 ‐ 20 Facility desktop hardware refresh NVR&CC Preston Corrigan 21,000 0 21,000 

Regular scheduled maintenance and replacement of desktop computer hardware including 

PC's, monitors, peripherals, printers etc.

7 ‐ 21 Document Management System Replacement NVR&CC Preston Corrigan 20,000 0 20,000 

NVRC currently uses the eDocs system for document management at a licensing cost of 

approximatley $15,000 per year.  In 2021 NVRC migrated to Office 365 which includes 

Sharepoint licenses.  This project would fund the migration from eDocs to Sharepoint and 

result in annual operating savings of $15,000 in eDocs licenses.  

2



 2022 Project Descriptions and Funding Allocations Attachment 1

Ref # Project Name Dept Lead

2022 City Funded 

Amount as 

approved in the 

2022‐2026 

Financian Plan

Previously 

Appropriated
Appropriation #2 Description

7 ‐ 22 Perfect Mind Development and Integration NVR&CC Preston Corrigan 10,000                       0 10,000                             

North Vancouver Recreation and Culture is currently implenting Perfect Mind to replace the 

CLASS recreation management system.  The core Perfect Mind system went live in May, 2019.  

This project will allow us to fund integration of Perfect Mind with existing NVRC systems and 

processes to meet business needs and improve operational efficiency.

10 ‐ 15 Block Funding ‐ Planning and Development

Planning & 

Development Tim Ryce 10,000                       0 10,000                             

Construction regulations (building codes, referenced standards, etc.) are considered living 

documents, constantly evolving in response to ‐ for example ‐ new technologies, 

environmental sustainability efforts, and new opportunities for the support of healthy, 

accessible built environments.The provision of the block funding requested below supports 

the Building Division's efforts to remain leaders in innovative construction administration.

10 ‐ 16 Block Funding ‐ NVRC NVR&CC Howard Kiang 50,000                       0 30,000                             

Block funding for minor capital projects. The City is responsible for 100% of the capital costs 

for City owned recreation facilities.

10 ‐ 18 Block Funding ‐ Shipyards 

Community & 

Partner Engagement Magda Kwaterska 35,000                       0 35,000                             

Block Funding to acquire capital items under $10,000 for The Shipyards (Shipyard Commons, 

Cates Deck, Shipbuilders' Square, St Roch Dock and Burrard Dry Dock Pier.

10 ‐ 21

NVRC ‐ Recreation and sport facility/venue plan 

update NVR&CC Heather Turner 51,000                       0 51,000                             

This project involves a consultant led process of stakeholder and staff consultation, 

demographic and participation anaylsis, needs assessments to supplement the 2018 NVRC 

data and indoor and outdoor recreation and sport facility/venue recommendations in 

accordance with the decision‐making matrix in the CNV Community Recreation Strategy. NVRC 

staff are working with City parks staff and others as appropriate to ensure this work is aligned 

with City needs.  The City’s portion of the cost share is 33.94%.

10 ‐ 22 Open Streets, Parklets and Placemaking

Planning & 

Development Leah Herman 275,000                     0 125,000                           

This project will (1) focus on improving the accessibility, functionality, durability and aesthetic 

appeal of Open Streets Central Lonsdale infrastructure long‐term (2) enhance the experience 

of the public realm in Central Lonsdale and other pockets of the City through placemaking 

initiatives that include but are not limited to parklets, street seats, cultural interventions and 

programming year round.

10 ‐ 23 City Studio CapU Parntership

Community & 

Partner Engagement Lisa Stirling 48,000                       0 48,000                             

Year two of three ‐ City Studio provides an opportunity for CapU students to work on City 

issues and opportunities gaining work experience while providing research and student 

motivation to provide ideas for City projects that staff are working on or would like to 

undertake but don't have the time.  14 projects were showcased in Spring 2021.  The funding 

has allowed the project to move from a pilot to a three year term partnership with CapU.  The 

project is administered by CapU and CNV contributions are 50% of the cost.

10 ‐ 24 Community Engagement Strategy 

Community & 

Partner Engagement Pardeep Purewal 60,000                       0 60,000                             

Develop a community engagement program that includes the planning, design and 

implementation of a multi‐medium community engagement strategy, including training and 

guiding all departments and staff on enhanced and tailored engagement practices. The 

program will also include a equity, diversity, inclusion and reconciliation lens to ensure the 

City's engagement efforts are inclusive, respectful and meaningful to diverse community 

members.

10 ‐ 25 Community Recreation Strategy

Strategic & 

Corporate Services  Mike Friesen 61,000                       0 61,000                             

Funding for the second phase of the Community Recreation Strategy which will review, assess 

and prioritize cultural amenities. 

3



 2022 Project Descriptions and Funding Allocations Attachment 1

Ref # Project Name Dept Lead

2022 City Funded 

Amount as 

approved in the 

2022‐2026 

Financian Plan

Previously 

Appropriated
Appropriation #2 Description

10 ‐ 27 Amenity and Public Benefit Strategy Review

Planning & 

Development Renee de St. Croix 125,000                     0 125,000                           

Review and enhance the Community Amenity Contribution (CAC) and Density Bonusing policy. 

Consider new opportunities and/or enhancements for commercial use, inclusionary housing, 

incentives, land value capture (transit and "pre‐capture"), inkind amenities, and cash 

contributions. Social needs assessment(s) / asset mapping will be undertaken to establish 

priority needs for social infrastructure investments, in partnership with relevant stakeholders 

(City departments, other authorities, service providers, community groups, etc).

10 ‐ 28 Child Care and Social Amenity Design Guidelines 

Planning & 

Development Renee de St. Croix 25,000                       0 25,000                             

Develop design guidelines for child care and other social amenities to ensure quality design, 

care, and operational needs are met. The guidelines are intended to ensure the  social 

considerations such as amenity spaces, accessibility, public art, active design, age‐friendly, 

dementia‐friendly, green spaces, etc. are considered and a criteria or principles are applied 

throughout public and private projects in the City. 

10 ‐ 31 Land Use and Long Range Studies

Planning & 

Development Renee de St. Croix 40,000                       0 40,000                             

Land use studies as identified in the OCP or at Council direction. Long range planning studies 

that integrate land use and long range planning to support community growth and 

development, including data, public consultation, and other evidence based studies (social, 

environmental, economic, etc) identified or required to support long range city building 

objectives.

10 ‐ 32 Zoning Bylaw Update

Planning & 

Development Renee de St. Croix                      375,000  0                            375,000 

Update the zoning bylaw to provide a better framework for development in the City. This will 

include focused review of regulations concerning employment lands and missing middle 

housing regulations to advance strategic economic development and housing initiatives. 

10 ‐ 33 Climate and Environment Strategy Implementation

Planning & 

Development Jennifer Draper 135,000                     0 75,000                             

The Climate and Environment Strategy (CES) Implementation project will consist of high 

priority actions to reduce carbon pollution, improve resiliency, protect and enhance our 

natural systems and demonstrate leadership in corporate facilities and operations. Guided by 

the CES, this project will include actions to reduce carbon pollution corporate buildings and 

fleet, accelerate the transition to electric vehicles in the City, address consumption‐based 

emissions and embodied carbon, and increase the health and biodiversity of our natural areas.

10 ‐ 37 INSTPP Implementation

Planning & 

Development Jennifer Draper 100,000                     0 100,000                           

In support of the Council endorsed INSTPP (Integrated North Shore Transportation Planning 

Project) transportation planning priorities, staff on an annual basis lead and project manage 

studies, undertake inter‐governmental liaison and stakeholder engagement, collect North 

Shore wide transportation data and participate in regional transportation planning processes 

to advance interests on behalf of the North Shore local and FIrst Nations governments.

10 ‐ 42 Micro‐Mobility Services Planning and Coordination

Planning & 

Development Andrew Devlin 25,000                       0 25,000                             

This project will support dedicated staff resources and supplementary consultant services to 

develop and deliver guidelines, regulations and pilots for new and emerging personal, shared, 

or commercial mobility services and devices (e.g., e‐scooters, e‐bikes, ridehailing, micro cargo 

delivery vehicles, driverless vehicles) in the City in coordination with the Districts of West 

Vancouver and North Vancouver.

 $                     3,584,453 

3 ‐ 3 New Traffic Signals

Engineering: Parks & 

Environment Kliment Kuzmanovski 865,000                     0 865,000                           

Existing pedestrian and vehicular traffic volume warrants installation of a full traffic signal at 

these intersections. The requested funds are needed for design and construction of new traffic 

signals. See Attachment #2 to this report

3 ‐ 15 Installation of Accessible Pedestrian Units

Engineering: Parks & 

Environment Kliment Kuzmanovski 35,000                       0 35,000                             

Installation of Accessible Pedestrian Signal (APS) devices at various signalized intersections 

within the City (audible signals).

Appropriation 2214 – Civic Amenity Reserve

Subtotal Appropriation #2213

4



 2022 Project Descriptions and Funding Allocations Attachment 1

Ref # Project Name Dept Lead

2022 City Funded 

Amount as 

approved in the 

2022‐2026 

Financian Plan

Previously 

Appropriated
Appropriation #2 Description

3 ‐ 17 Pedestrian and Roadway Lighting Implementation

Engineering: Parks & 

Environment Kliment Kuzmanovski 300,000 0 300,000 

Design and construction of new roadway and pedestrian level lighting throughout the City as 

per the street lighting implementation plan completed in 2019. A certain amount of the funds 

requested  in 2022 will be used for engaging a profesisonal engineering consultant and a legal 

consultant to assist creating a new policy document related to municipal street lighting 

requirements, plans, programs, commitments, addressing liability risk and expectations.

3 ‐ 20 Upper Levels Greenway

Engineering: Parks & 

Environment Mo Bot 126,250 0 126,250 

This project will complete alternatives assessment, design, community engagement and 

construction of a new All Ages and Abilities mobility route that is identified for delivery in 

Phase 2 of the Priority Mobility Network Project as approved by Council in the Priority Mobility 

Network Strategy (2019). The project will engage closely with the local residents and other 

stakeholders to assess needs and navigate trade‐offs to deliver a route that aligns with the 

WalkCNV and Safe Mobility Strategy goals and objectives. See Attachment #4 to this report

3 ‐ 30 Priority Mobility Network Improvements Engineering: Streets Justin Hall 35,350 0 35,350 

This project will execute on the consultation, design and construction of priority corridors 

identified in the Council approved Priority Mobility Network Strategy (2019) and continue to 

prioritize future work based on approved evaluation criteria. This work will result in 

infrastructure tailored to the unique street context and suitable for a broad range of human 

and electrified mobility devices like bicycles and scooters with users of All Ages and Abilities 

(AAA). The project is being delivered with support from Transportation Planning. 

 $ 1,361,600 

2 ‐ 32 NSNH Site Preparation

Strategic & 

Corporate Services  Mike Friesen 3,021,000                  700,000                 2,321,000

Funds to prepare the NSNH / Derek Inman Park Site for development. See Attachment #3 to 

this report.

10 ‐ 30 Supporting Affordable Housing Supply and Delivery

Planning & 

Development Renee de St. Croix 75,000 0 75,000 

Housing Initiatives to improve the supply and delivery of affordable housing in the City.  This 

may include part two of the duplex special study area, post occupancy surveys, short term 

rental policy review, MMR criteria, family units inclusionary policy review, homeless protocols, 

Affordable Housing Reserve Fund Terms of Reference Update,  Non‐Profit Housing 

Regeneration Policy, Homelessness Action Initiative, and/or other housing initiatives.

 $ 2,396,000 

3 ‐ 29 Transit Improvement Program Engineering: Streets Justin Hall 135,507 0 135,507 

This program will support technical study, design and implementation of transit priority 

interventions like bus lanes, signal priority and bus bulbs as well as accessibility upgrades 

to improve access to transit. 

 $ 135,507 

5 ‐ 2 Public Art Civic Program  NVR&CC Lori Phillips  85,000 0 85,000 

The annual Civic Public Art Program provides for the inclusion of public art projects in 

coordination with civic engineering and parks capital projects each year. The resulting public 

artwork builds upon the City owned art inventory in parks, municipal buildings, streets, plaza 

or other civic areas.  Since inception the Civic Public Art Program has commissioned and 

completed 50 municipality public art projects. Projects in 2022 include the a Lonsdale Dog 

Park Plaza ($60k) and an enhancement to the walls of the Spirit Trail underpass near Mosquito 

Creek ($25k).    

 $ 85,000 

Subtotal Appropriation #2214

Appropriation 2215 – Affordable Housing Reserve

Subtotal Appropriation #2215

Appropriation 2217 – Public Art

Subtotal Appropriation #2217

Appropriation 2216 – Sustainable Transportation Fund

Subtotal Appropriation #2216

5



 2022 Project Descriptions and Funding Allocations Attachment 1

Ref # Project Name Dept Lead

2022 City Funded 

Amount as 

approved in the 

2022‐2026 

Financian Plan

Previously 

Appropriated
Appropriation #2 Description

2 ‐ 18 Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre

Strategic & 

Corporate Services  Dianna Foldi 507,915                     0 507,915                           

Tendering, Construction and commissioning of below grade structure, main building, on and 

off‐site works for the new Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre (HJCRC). For further 

information please refer to the report of the Sr. Project Manager, Strategic Initiatives dated 

June 3rd, 2022, entitled “2022‐2031 Capital Plan – Projects Over $500,000: Funding 

Appropriation and Contract Awards ‐ Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre and Silver 

Harbour Seniors’ Activity. (CityDocs2186869)

 $                        507,915 

2 ‐ 18 Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre

Strategic & 

Corporate Services  Dianna Foldi 148,439,234             14,450,000            133,989,234                   

Tendering, Construction and commissioning of below grade structure, main building, on and 

off‐site works for the new Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre (HJCRC). For further 

information please refer to the report of the Sr. Project Manager, Strategic Initiatives dated 

June 3rd, 2022, entitled “2022‐2031 Capital Plan – Projects Over $500,000: Funding 

Appropriation and Contract Awards ‐ Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre and Silver 

Harbour Seniors’ Activity (CityDocs2186869)

2 ‐ 21 Silver Harbour Seniors Activity Centre

Strategic & 

Corporate Services  Dianna Foldi 18,723,891                2,550,000              16,173,891                     

The Silver Harbour Seniors' Activity Centre will be a stand‐alone facility located on the north 

side of 23rd Street / Lonsdale and integrated with the overall infrastructure and services of the 

new HJCRC facility. For further information please refer to the report of the Sr. Project 

Manager, Strategic Initiatives dated June 3rd, 2022, entitled “2022‐2031 Capital Plan – 

Projects Over $500,000: Funding Appropriation and Contract Awards ‐ Harry Jerome 

Community Recreation Centre and Silver Harbour Seniors’ Activity (CityDocs2186869)

 $                150,163,125 

1 ‐ 5 City Cemetery Program

Engineering: Parks & 

Environment Derek Priestley  300,000                     0 300,000                           

Dedicated funding from the Cemetery Reserve to finance the replacement of existing 

cemetery infrastructure as well as the provision of new cemetery services to meet community 

needs.

 $                        300,000 

3 ‐ 20 Upper Levels Greenway

Engineering: Parks & 

Environment Mo Bot 123,750                     0 123,750                           

This project will complete alternatives assessment, design, community engagement and 

construction of a new All Ages and Abilities mobility route that is identified for delivery in 

Phase 2 of the Priority Mobility Network Project as approved by Council in the Priority Mobility 

Network Strategy (2019). The project will engage closely with the local residents and other 

stakeholders to assess needs and navigate trade‐offs to deliver a route that aligns with the 

WalkCNV and Safe Mobility Strategy goals and objectives.

 $                        123,750 

3 ‐ 30 Priority Mobility Network Improvements Engineering: Streets Justin Hall 34,650                       0 34,650                             

This project will execute on the consultation, design and construction of priority corridors 

identified in the Council approved Priority Mobility Network Strategy (2019) and continue to 

prioritize future work based on approved evaluation criteria. This work will result in 

infrastructure tailored to the unique street context and suitable for a broad range of human 

and electrified mobility devices like bicycles and scooters with users of All Ages and Abilities 

(AAA). The project is being delivered with support from Transportation Planning. 

 $                          34,650 

 $                158,692,000 

Appropriation 2220 ‐ Cemetery Reserve

Subtotal Appropriation #2220

Total  Appropriations #2

Bylaw 8942 – DCC Transportation

Subtotal Bylaw #8942

Bylaw 8941 – DCC Parks

Subtotal Bylaw #8941

Appropriation 2218 – Parking

Subtotal Appropriation #2218

Appropriation 2219 – Civic Amenity HJ

Subtotal Appropriation #2219

6



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



To: 

From: 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
ENGINEERING, PARKS AND ENVIRONMENT DEPARTMENT 

REPORT 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Subject: 

Karyn Magnusson, Acting Director, Engineering, Parks and Environment 

REGIONAL PUBLIC WORKS MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT 

Date: June 15, 2022 File No: 11-5240-01-0001/2022 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Acting Director, Engineering, Parks and 
Environment, dated June 15, 2022, entitled "Regional Public Works Mutual Aid 
Agreement" 

THAT The City of North Vancouver enter into a new Regional Public Works 
Mutual Aid Agreement (2022) which supersedes similar previous agreements 
from 1988 and 2000; 

THAT the role of "Authorized Representative" in the new agreement be 
delegated to the Director, Engineering, Parks and Environment; 

THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign the new agreement; 

AND THAT once the new agreement is in place, the City terminate its 
participation in the Public Works - Mutual Aid Agreement for Emergencies (1988) 
and the GVRD Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement (2000). 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement (2022) (CD#2190813} 

2. GVRD Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement (February 8, 2000) cco#219os1s} · 

3. Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement for Emergencies (1988) CCD#1271516} 

Document Number: 2183909 



REPORT: Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement 
Date: June 15, 2022 

SUMMARY 

Emergency preparedness is a fundamental responsibility for local governments and 
responding to an emergency or natural disaster may require municipalities to help one 
another. The Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement (the "New Agreement") 
updates and modernizes an existing agreement executed in the year 2000, and provides 
an improved agreement which lays out the terms and conditions for sharing resources to 
enable municipalities to help each other when needed. · 

BACKGROUND 

In 1988, all three North Shore municipalities entered into a "Public Works - Mutual Aid 
Agreement for Emergencies," (Attachment 3). The only parties to this agreement were 
the City of North Vancouver, the District of North Vancouver, and the District of West 
Vancouver. In the year 2000, the City of North Vancouver joined most other municipalities 
in the Lower Mainland in signing the GVRD Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement which 
provided a framework for municipalities to help one another when needed. 

Over the past two years, Metro Vancouver has taken the initiative to review and update 
this agreement. The New Agreement modernizes some of the terminology, introduces 
cyber-attack as a type of emergency and opens the agreement to include additional 
jurisdictions such as Anmore, Belcarrra, Bowen Island, Tsawwassen First Nation, Lions 
Bay, UBC/UEL, and Metro Vancouver itself. 

DISCUSSION 

Various disparate events over the past few years have reinforced the importance for local 
governments to be prepared to deal with a range of unexpected situations. Examples 
just from the last 12 months include the ongoing pandemic, wildfires, extreme heat, as 
well as coastal and riverine flooding. When the response required to a particular event 
exceeds the available resources, individual jurisdictions will look to their neighbours for 
help. 

Recently, North Shore Emergency Management (NSEM) and all three North Shore 
municipalities turned to existing mutual aid agreements for business continuity planning 
in the early days of COVI D-19. For example, in the event that a specialized public works 
resource such as the staff who are trained to repair water mains became unavailable due 
to illness/quarantine, mutual aid agreements provided a mechanism to request this 
specialized resource from a neighbouring municipality. Fortunately, we did not have to 
request assistance, but the agreements provided a ready mechanism if we did. 

This updated regional public works mutual aid agreement provides the terms and 
conditions for jurisdictions to allow for mutual support, aid and assistance to help ensure 
public works are maintained in the event of an emergency or other serious event. The 
New Agreement is based on the following principles: 

• Voluntary support based on each jurisdiction's situation and capacity; 
• Call your neighbours first; 
• Responders take direction from Requestors; 

Page 2 of 3 



REPORT: Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement 
Date: June 15, 2022 

• Costs are reimbursed based on Responders "rates of the day" with a 10% 
overhead allowance added; 

• All parties are expected to maintain sufficient insurance; and 
• Provision included for Joinder Agreements (enabling others to join in future). 

Metro Vancouver staff report that Squamish Nation would be able to participate though 
future Joinder Agreements as a New Party should they wish. Regardless, the City will 
continue to provide emergency services to Mission IR 1 (the Eslha7an community) as per 
current agreements. 

The New Agreement defines an "Authorized Representative" to be designated by Council 
with the authority to request, allocate, and prioritize assistance on behalf of the 
jurisdiction. Staff recommends this role of Authorized Representative for the City continue 
to be delegated to the Director, Engineering, Parks and Environment. The previous 
agreements referred to this role generally as Municipal/City Engineer with responsibility 
for public works. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

None. 

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

Mutual aid agreements support the mandate of NSEM to plan and coordinate municipal 
resources to prepare for, and respond to, emergencies on the North Shore specifically 
and across the region generally. 

STRATEGIC PLAN, OCP OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

Emergency preparedness is a key characteristic of a resilient community and participation 
in this regional mutual aid agreement aligns directly to the 2014 OCP: 

• Goal 3.3: Support community resiliency and increase the capacity to recover 
from emergencies and disasters. 

Participation in this mutual aid agreement also directly supports two of the outcomes 
documented in the 2021 update to the Corporate Business Plan: 

• A Safe & Secure Community; and 
• A Cooperative & Collaborative Organization. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

~son, P.Eng., 
Acting Director 
Engineering, Parks and Environment 

Page 3 of 3 



ATTACHMENT 1
Execution Version

REGIONAL PUBLIC WORKS MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT

This Agreement is made as of the day of 2022,

AMONG:

1) Village of Anmore 
Village of Belcarra 
Bowen Island Municipality 
City of Burnaby 
City of Coquitlam 
City of Delta 
City of Langley 
Township of Langley 
Village of Lions Bay 
City of Maple Ridge 
City of New Westminster 
City of North Vancouver 
District of North Vancouver 
City of Pitt Meadows 
City of Port Coquitlam 
City of Port Moody 
City of Richmond 
City of Surrey 
Tsawwassen First Nation 
City of Vancouver 
District of West Vancouver 
City of White Rock
Metro Vancouver Regional District (as to Electoral Area A)
Greater Vancouver Sewerage and Drainage District 
Greater Vancouver Water District
Her Majesty the Queen in Right of the Province of British Columbia, as 
represented by the Minister of Municipal Affairs (as to the University 
Endowment Land)
University of British Columbia

2)
3)
4)
5)
6)
7)
8)
9)
10)
11)
12)
13)
14)
15)
16)
17)
18)
19)
20)
21)
22)
23)
24)
25)
26)

27)

WHEREAS:

Capitalized terms used in these recitals and this Agreement have the meanings ascribed to them 
in Section 1.0;

A.

The local government councils and board of the Metro Vancouver Regional District (with respect 
to Electoral Area A) are "local authorities" within the meaning of the Emergency Program Act, 
[RSBC 1996] Chapter 111;

B.

Local Authorities are required under the Local Authority Emergency Management Regulation 
[B.C. Reg. 380/95] to identify the procedures by which emergency resources, including personnel, 
equipment and facilities may be obtained from sources within or outside of the jurisdictional area

C.

Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement
50672995 Page 1 of 21



Execution Version

for which the Local Authority has responsibility;

A Major Emergency affecting one or more Local Authorities or Regional Authorities is likely to 
affect the Metro Vancouver region as a whole and as such, the Parties agree that it is in the best 
interests for the Parties to implement a coordinated and supportive response;

D.

Pursuant to the Local Authority Emergency Management Regulation [BC Reg. 380/95], a Local 
Authority may enter into mutual aid agreements for Resources and subsequent cost recovery 
outside of the jurisdictional area for which the Local Authority has responsibility;

E.

Pursuant to the Local Government Act [RSBC 2015, Chapter 1], a board of a regional district has 
the statutory authority to enter into mutual aid agreements with a Local Authority;

F.

Pursuant to the Greater Vancouver Sewerage and Drainage District Act [SBC 1956, Chapter 59] 
and the Greater Vancouver Water District Act [SBC 1924, Chapter 22], the GVS&DD and the 
GVWD, respectively, have the statutory authority to enter into mutual aid agreements with Local 
Authorities;

G.

Pursuant to the University Endowment Land Act [RSBC 1996 Ch. 469], the Minister of Municipal 
Affairs has the authority to enter into agreements respecting the administration of the University 
Endowment Land;

H.

Pursuant to the University Act [RSBC 1996 Ch. 468], the Board of Governors of the University of 
British Columbia has the authority to enter into agreements on behalf of the university; and

The Parties desire to enter into this Agreement for the purposes of providing for mutual support, 
aid and assistance to, among other things, ensure that Public Works are maintained in the event 
of a Major Emergency.

J.

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the premises and of the sum of $10.00 and other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, each of the above signing 
Parties hereto covenant and agree with each other as follows:

1.0 Definitions

In this Agreement, unless something in the subject matter or context is inconsistent therewith, the 
capitalized terms herein will have the meanings set out below:

"Agreement" means this agreement and includes all recitals and schedules to this 
agreement;

(a)

"Authorized Representative" means the representative of the Local Authority or Regional 
Authority authorized by the municipal council, regional board, Minister of Municipal 
Affairs or Board of Governors of the University of British Columbia, as applicable, to 
coordinate, allocate, and prioritize assistance under the terms of this Agreement.

(b)

"Computer System" means any computer, hardware, software, communications system, 
electronic device, server, cloud, or microcontroller, including similar system or any 
configuration of the aforementioned and including any associated input, output, data

(c)

Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement 
50672995 Page 2 of 21



Execution Version

storage device, networking equipment or back up facility.

(d) "Cyber Attack" means an attempt to disrupt, disable, destroy or maliciously control a 
Computer System and includes, without limitation, an attempt to destroy the integrity of 
data or to steal controlled information.

(e) "Disaster" means a calamity that:

(i) is caused by accident, fire, explosion ortechnical failure or by the forces of nature;
and

00 has resulted in serious harm to the health, safety or welfare of people, or in 
widespread damage to property.

(f) "Effective Date" has the meaning given in Section 9.1;

(g) "Emergency" means a present or imminent event or circumstance that:

(i) is caused by accident, fire, explosion, pandemic, technical failure or the forces of 
nature; and

(ii) requires prompt coordination of action or special regulation of persons or 
property to protect the health, safety or welfare of a person or to limit damage 
to property.

(h) "GVS&DD" means the Greater Vancouver Sewerage and Drainage District;

0) "GVWD" means the Greater Vancouver Water District;

(j) "Joinder Agreement" means an agreement substantially in the form attached hereto as 
Schedule "A", pursuant to which a New Party agrees to join and be bound by the terms 
of this Agreement;

(k) "Local Authority" means:

0) for a municipality, the municipal council; and

(N) for an electoral area in a regional district, the board of the regional district;

and for the purposes of this Agreement includes the following parties who are not are 
"local authorities" within the meaning of the Emergency Program Act, [RSBC 1996] 
Chapter 111:

(iii) for the University Endowment Lands, the Minister of Municipal Affairs; and

(iv) for the University of British Columbia, its Board of Governors.

(I) "Major Emergency" means an Emergency, Disaster or Other Serious Incident that 
involves one or more Local Authorities or Regional Authorities and requires resources 
beyond the capability of one or more of the Local Authorities or Regional Authorities

Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement 
50672995 Page 3 of 21



Execution Version

involved.

"New Party" has the meaning given in Section 9.3 below.(m)

"Other Serious Incident" means any sudden, unexpected, or unintended incident, other 
than a Disaster or Emergency, and including a Cyber Attack, for which a Local Authority 
or Regional Authority may require assistance to protect the health, safety or welfare of a 
person or to limit damage to Public Works or other property.

(n)

"Parties" means those parties who have signed this Agreement or a Joinder Agreement, 
and "Party" means any one of them.

(o)

"Public Works" means any work or property under the management or control of the 
Local Authority or Regional Authority, including but not limited drinking water, 
wastewater waste management services, transportation systems and networks and 
Computer Systems.

(P)

"Regional Authority" means the Board of the GVS&DD or the Board of the GVWD.(q)

"Requesting Authority" means a Requesting Local Authority or Requesting Regional 
Authority, as the case may be.

(r)

"Requesting Authority's Personnel" includes any elected officials, officers, employees or 
affiliated volunteers of a Requesting Authority.

(s)

"Requesting Local Authority" means a Local Authority under a Major Emergency situation 
that has, pursuant to this Agreement, requested assistance from another Local Authority 
or Regional Authority.

(t)

"Requesting Regional Authority" means a Regional Authority under a Major Emergency 
situation that has, pursuant to this Agreement, requested assistance from another Local 
Authority or Regional Authority.

(u)

"Resources" means a Local Authority's personnel, equipment, facilities, services and 
materials that are available or potentially available for utilization to ensure that Public 
Works are maintained.

(v)

"Responding Authority" means a Responding Local Authority or Responding Regional 
Authority, as the case may be.

(w)

"Responding Authority's Personnel" includes any elected officials, officers, employees or 
affiliated volunteers of a Responding Authority.

(x)

"Responding Local Authority" means a Local Authority that provides Resources to a 
Requesting Authority that has, pursuant to this Agreement, requested assistance to 
confront a Major Emergency.

(y)

"Responding Regional Authority" means a Regional Authority that provides Resources to 
a Requesting Authority that has, pursuant to this Agreement, requested assistance to

(z)

Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement 
50672995 Page 4 of 21



Execution Version

confront a Major Emergency.

(aa) "Standby Expenses" means compensation paid or owing to an employee not scheduled 
for normal work but who is required to be immediately available for call-in work.

Intent of the Agreement2.0

This Agreement is intended to guide the sharing of Resources amongst Local Authorities and 
Regional Authorities when assistance has been requested during Major Emergency situations for 
which the sharing of Resources is required.

2.1

Resources are intended to be available in the event of a Major Emergency of such magnitude that 
it is, or is likely to be, beyond the capability of a single Local Authority or Regional Authority and 
requires the combined Resources of several or all of the Local Authorities and Regional Authorities 
to this Agreement.

2.2

Scope of the Agreement3.0

Except as set out in Section 12.1 below, this Agreement shall not supplant, without mutual 
consent, existing agreements between the Parties for the exchange or provision of Resources on 
a reimbursable, exchange, or other basis.

3.1

Any activation of this Agreement under Section 4.0 will clearly state that the request for Resources 
is being made under this Agreement.

3.2

Activation4.0

In the event of a Major Emergency, the Authorized Representative designated by the Requesting 
Authority may activate this Agreement by making a request for Resources to the Authorized 
Representative of one or more Parties to this Agreement.

4.1

If the Requesting Authority is a Local Authority, such Requesting Local Authority shall first request 
Resources from their bordering Local Authorities, before requesting Resources from more distant 
Local Authorities or from Regional Authorities.

4.2

If the Requesting Authority is a Regional Authority, the Requesting Regional Authority shall first 
request Resources from those Local Authorities adjacent to the location of the Major Emergency 
before requesting Resources from more distant Local Authorities.

4.3

Sections 4.2 and 4.3 shall not restrict a Requesting Authority from accepting the first available 
Resources from any Local Authority.

4.4

Resource Requests and Inventory5.0

Each Party agrees that, in the event of a Major Emergency, it will, upon receipt of a written request 
from a Requesting Party, furnish such Resources as are available, provided that doing so would 
not unreasonably diminish the capacity of the Responding Authority to provide any required 
Resources to its own jurisdictional area. For certainty, the extent of the assistance given will be 
at the discretion of the Authorized Representative of the Responding Authority, having regard to

5.1

Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement 
50672995 Page 5 of 21



Execution Version

its own local needs and situation at the time.

The start date of the provision of Resources will be the date agreed to in writing by both the 
Requesting Authority and Responding Authority. The termination date for the provision of 
Resources will be determined by the Responding Authority and shall not exceed the end time of 
the Major Emergency, as agreed by the Responding Authority and Requesting Authority.

5.2

During a Major Emergency, all personnel from a Responding Authority shall report to and work 
under the direction of the Party within whose jurisdiction the Major Emergency is occurring, in 
cooperation with the Requesting Authority and any other Responding Authorities.

5.3

Each Party should maintain an inventory of Resources that may be made available in the event of 
a Major Emergency and share that inventory with its neighbouring Local Authorities and Regional 
Authorities.

5.4

If a request for Resources is made pursuant to this Agreement, the Requesting Party will, as 
necessary, make available to the Responding Authority:

5.5

maps of its jurisdiction indicating the nearest and most suitable roads to enable 
responders to get to an emergency as quickly as possible, together with locations of water 
supplies and access thereto;

(a)

(b) applicable operating guidelines and communications protocols;

(c) a copy of the Requesting Authority's emergency plan; and

names and contact information for the Requesting Authority's key personnel.(d)

Reimbursement6.0

The Requesting Authority will reimburse the Responding Authority for any actual costs incurred 
providing any Resources requested under this Agreement, plus a sum equal to 10% of those costs 
and expenses on account of the Responding Authority's overhead.

6.1

Without limiting the generality of Section 6.1, a Requesting Authority shall pay to the Responding 
Authority:

6.2

Regular Time - Salaries, wages and other regular time employment expenses (including 
benefits and statutory deductions) of employees or affiliated volunteers, at the current 
prevailing rates of the Responding Authority.

(a)

Overtime and Standby Expenses-Overtime employment expenses and Standby Expenses 
of employees or affiliated volunteers, at the current prevailing rates of the Responding 
Authority. There is no compensation for banked time of employees.

(b)

Supplies and Materials - Value of supplies or other materials which are not returnable to 
the Responding Authority. All charges will be at current market rates or at rates otherwise 
agreed to. Supplies or materials may be replaced with like supplies or materials, if agreed 
to by the Responding Authority.

(c)

Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement 
50672995 Page 6 of 21



Execution Version

(d) Equipment - Compensation for the use of equipment, vehicles, computers, or other 
hardware owned outright by the Responding Authority. Equipment reimbursement rates 
shall be at a rate agreed to by the Requesting Authority and Responding Authority for 
vehicles or other equipment. If a rate cannot be agreed, the rate will at the British 
Columbia standard for equipment reimbursement, as represented by the Blue Book - BC 
Equipment Rental Rate Guide. The Requesting Authority shall be responsible for the 
operating costs of equipment provided, including costs of repairs required as a result of 
the Requesting Authority's use, while in its possession. For certainty, a Requesting 
Authority is not responsible for the costs of equipment repairs that would have been 
undertaken by the Responding Authority as a matter of routine repair or maintenance.

(e) Facilities - Compensation for the use of Responding Authority facilities. Reimbursement 
rates will be at the prevailing rate on the day the facility is rented, leased or otherwise 
made available to the Requesting Authority.

The Requesting Authority's obligation to reimburse the Responding Authority pursuant to this 
Agreement is irrespective of the Requesting Authority's entitlement to compensation or funding 
received from Emergency Management BC or any other funding agencies. Accordingly, the 
Requesting Authority will be responsible for any shortfall in any amounts payable by the 
Requesting Authority pursuant to this Agreement and any cost recovery by the Requesting 
Authority from Emergency Management BC or other funding agency.

6.3

The Requesting Authority shall be responsible for any loss or damage to Resources used in the 
response and shall pay any expense incurred in the operation and maintenance thereof, as well 
as any expense incurred in the provision of a service or other expense in answering the request 
for assistance from the Requesting Authority. An itemized claim for loss and damage to the 
Responding Authority's equipment at the response scene shall be filed within thirty (30) days of 
such loss or damage occurring.

6.4

All Resources noted in Subsections 6.2(d) and (e) provided to a Requesting Authority shall be 
returned in the same condition as when such Resources were delivered to the Requesting 
Authority. These Resources shall be deemed to be provided in good working order, unless 
otherwise noted by the Responding Authority at the time of delivery.

6.5

The Requesting Authority will arrange for and pay for all costs associated with any necessary 
repairs or restoration of Resources prior to returning such Resources to the Responding Authority. 
For certainty, a Requesting Authority is not responsible for the costs of repairs or restoration that 
would have been undertaken by the Responding Authority as a matter of routine repair or 
maintenance.

6.6

The Responding Authority will invoice the Requesting Authority detailing all costs incurred in 
providing Resources under this Agreement, including all overhead amounts referred to in 
Section 6.1. Payment of such invoices by the Requesting Authority is due in full sixty (60) days 
from the date of invoice, unless alternate arrangements have been made between the Requesting 
Authority and Responding Authority or the invoice is in dispute, as contemplated in Section 6.9.

6.7

Payment by the Requesting Authority will be by cheque mailed to the Responding Authority's 
address, as detailed in the invoice, or if the Responding Authority and Requesting Authority 
mutually agree, payment may be transferred electronically to the Responding Authorities' bank

6.8

Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement 
50672995 Page 7 of 21



Execution Version

account, as stipulated by the Responding Authority.

If a dispute ensues with respect to an invoice issued by a Responding Authority pursuant to 
Section 6.7, the Parties to the dispute will use best efforts to resolve the dispute as soon as 
possible in accordance with the dispute resolution process provided in Section 10.0.

6.9

The Parties acknowledge and agree that they are each individually responsible for staying 
apprised of the financial guidelines and eligibility requirements of Emergency Management BC 
and any other funding agencies related to potential cost recovery that may be available from such 
agencies in respect of any Resources provided under this Agreement.

6.10

Insurance. Liability and Indemnity7.0

The Parties agree to obtain and maintain sufficient insurance to meet any obligations or liabilities 
that may arise in connection with this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties 
acknowledge and agrees that they each may self-insure part or all of the risks, subject always to 
equivalent terms and conditions as though such policies were obtained from licensed commercial 
insurers.

7.1

Any required insurance coverage pursuant to this Agreement will be arranged prior to the 
acceptance of the request for Resources under this Agreement.

7.2

When rendering aid outside their jurisdictional area, all personnel and affiliated volunteers will 
retain the same powers, duties, rights, privileges and immunities, including any coverage under 
the Worker's Compensation Act tUatthey receive when they are on duty in their home jurisdiction.

7.3

A Requesting Authority shall pay to the Responding Authority:7.4

the Workers' Compensation, death or disability benefits or any other form of 
compensation (including judgements, damages, costs, penalties and expenses) which the 
Responding Authority is legally obligated to pay to one of its employees or affiliated 
volunteers or the family or beneficiaries of such employees or volunteers by reason of the 
death or injury to an employee or volunteer while working on a Major Emergency on 
behalf of the Requesting Authority; and

(a)

all legal fees and disbursements incurred by the Responding Authority to defend any 
demands, claims, suits or actions arising from, related to or caused by any death or injury 
to an employee or volunteer while working on a Major Emergency on behalf of the 
Requesting Authority.

(b)

The Requesting Authority shall in no way be deemed liable or responsible for the personal 
property of Responding Authority Personnel which may be lost, stolen, or damaged while 
performing their duties in responding under the terms of this Agreement.

7.5

No Party to this Agreement shall be liable in damages to another Party, nor to the owner of 
property within the geographic jurisdiction of the Requesting Authority or another Party forfaiting 
to respond to a request for assistance under this Agreement or for failing to render adequate 
assistance.

7.6

Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement 
50672995 Page 8 of 21



Execution Version

When Resources are provided by a Responding Authority to a Requesting Authority pursuant to 
this Agreement, the Requesting Authority shall release, indemnify and save harmless the 
Responding Authority and the Responding Authority's Personnel from and against all liabilities, 
claims, losses, suits, actions, judgments, demands, debts, accounts, damages, costs, penalties and 
expenses (including all legal fees and disbursements) which may be made against the Responding 
Authority, or which the Responding Authority may suffer or incur, arising from, related to or 
caused by:

7.7

(a) the provision of Resources by the Responding Authority to the Requesting Authority 
under this Agreement;

(b) the breach, violation, contravention or non-performance by the Requesting Authority of 
any of its obligations, agreements, covenants, conditions, representations, warranties or 
any other term of this Agreement; or

(c) the negligence or misconduct of the Requesting Authority's Personnel acting in the course 
of their duties pursuant to this Agreement,

except where such liabilities, claims, losses, suits, actions, judgments, demands, debts, accounts, 
damages, costs, penalties and expenses (including all legal fees and disbursements) result from 
the negligence or misconduct of the Responding Authority's Personnel under this Agreement. The 
indemnities contemplated in this Section 7.7 will survive the termination or expiration of this 
Agreement or a Party's withdrawal from the Agreement pursuant to Section 9.2.

Subject to Section 7.7 above, the Responding Authority will not be liable or responsible in any way 
for all liabilities, claims, losses, suits, actions, judgments, demands, debts, accounts, damages, 
costs, penalties and expenses (including all legal fees and disbursements) which may be made 
against the Requesting Authority, or which the Requesting Authority may suffer or incur, including 
any personal injury that may be sustained by the Requesting Authority's Personnel, or by any 
other person, or for any loss or damage or injury to, property belonging to or in the possession of 
the Requesting Authority or the Requesting Authority's Personnel or any other person, including 
any equipment, materials, supplies, motor or other vehicles, arising from, related to or caused by 
the provision of Resources by the Responding Authority to the Requesting Authority under this 
Agreement, unless such liabilities, claims, losses, suits, actions, judgments, demands, debts, 
accounts, damages, injuries, costs, penalties and expenses (including all legal fees and 
disbursements) result from the negligence or misconduct of the Responding Authority or the 
Responding Authority's Personnel while acting in the course of their duties pursuant to this 
Agreement.

7.8

Modification and Review8.0

This Agreement may only be amended upon the written consent of all signing Parties.8.1

This Agreement may be reviewed by the Parties:8.2

(a) every five years, starting from the Effective Date, to ensure that it remains up to date and 
relevant for all Parties; or

(b) any time upon the written request of any Party.

Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement 
50672995 Page 9 of 21



Execution Version

The master copy of this Agreement, together with any Joinder Agreements, will be held by the 
Metro Vancouver Regional District and will be made available electronically to all Parties upon 
request.

8.3

Effective Date, Term and Addition of Parties9.0

This Agreement shall come into effect as soon as it has been executed by two Parties (the
"Effective Date").

9.1

Any one of the Parties hereto may withdraw from this Agreement by giving not less than thirty 
(30) days prior written notice to the other Parties, following which the Agreement shall continue 
in force between the remaining Parties.

9.2

A Governmental Authority may be added as a new party (a "New Party") to this Agreement if such 
New Party executes and delivers to the Metro Vancouver Regional District a Joinder Agreement 
substantially in the form of Schedule "A" attached hereto. "Governmental Authority" means any 
federal, provincial, regional, municipal, local or other government, governmental or public 
department, authority, commission, council, board, bureau or agency.

9.3

Dispute Resolution10.0

In the event of any dispute or material disagreement among two or more Parties regarding the 
interpretation or application of any provision of this Agreement, the Parties agree that:

10.1

(a) the Parties, through their Authorized Representatives, will, in good faith, make all 
reasonable efforts to resolve the dispute by negotiation, during which time each Party 
will disclose to the other Party all relevant information relating to the dispute;

(b) if the dispute remains unresolved, the Parties will meet with a qualified mediator in a 
timely manner and attempt, in good faith, to further negotiate a resolution of such 
dispute; and

(c) if the mediator cannot resolve the dispute within 48 hours, then the dispute will, unless 
otherwise agreed by the Parties, either:

(0 be resolved in accordance with Division 3 of Part 9 of the Community Charter, 
[SBC 2003] Chapter 26; or

00 for any dispute involving a Party to which Division 3 of Part 9 of the Community 
Charter, [SBC 2003] Chapter 26 does not apply, be submitted to final and binding 
arbitration by a sole arbitrator appointed pursuant to the Arbitration Act (British 
Columbia).

Approvals11.0

The Parties signify their approval of this Agreement by the signatures of their respective 
authorized representatives below.

11.1

Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement 
50672995 Page 10 of 21



Execution Version

General Provisions12.0

Schedules. Schedule "A" is attached to and forms part of this Agreement.12.1

Interpretation.12.2

(a) The words "include", "includes" and "including" as used in this Agreement shall be deemed 
to be followed by the phrase ", without limitation,".

(b) The captions and headings contained in this Agreement are for convenience only and do 
not define or in any way limit or enlarge the scope or intent of any provision of this 
Agreement.

Survival of Obligations. All of the obligations of the Parties which expressly or by their nature 
survive termination or expiration of this Agreement, will continue in full force and effect 
subsequent to and notwithstanding such termination or expiration and until they are satisfied or 
by their nature expire.

12.3

Amendment. No amendment of this Agreement will be binding unless made in writing and 
executed by each of the Parties hereto.

12.4

Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement amongst the Parties with 
respect to the subject matter hereof and for certainty this Agreement supersedes the "Mutual 
Aid Agreement for Public Works Assistance" that was prepared by the Metro Vancouver Regional 
Engineers Advisory Committee in 2000 and entered into by participating Local Authorities.

12.5

Governing Law. This Agreement and any dispute arising out of or in connection with this 
Agreement will be governed exclusively in accordance with the laws of British Columbia and the 
laws of Canada applicable in British Columbia which will be deemed to be the proper law of this 
Agreement.

12.6

Severability. Each provision of this Agreement is intended to be severable and if any provision is 
determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal or invalid or unenforceable for any 
reason whatsoever, such provision shall be severed from this Agreement and will not affect the 
legality or enforceability of the remainder of any other provision of this Agreement.

12.7

Time of Essence. Time shall be of the essence of this Agreement.12.8

No Derogation. The Parties acknowledge and agree that nothing contained or implied in this 
Agreement will be construed as limiting or prejudicing the rights and powers of any Party in the 
exercise of their respective functions pursuant to the Local Government Act, the Community 
Charter, the Vancouver Charter and the Emergency Program Act, as the case may be, or any other 
right or power under any public or private statutes, bylaws, orders or regulations, all of which may 
be fully exercised as if this Agreement had not been entered into.

12.9

12.10 Assignment. This Agreement shall not be assignable.

Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement
50672995 Page 11 of 21



Execution Version

12.11 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts and returned by email with a 
PDF attachment, each of which when executed and delivered shall constitute an original and all 
of which together shall constitute one and the same Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF this Agreement has been executed and delivered by the Parties as of the day and 
year first above written.

Village of Anmore

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Village of Belcarra

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Bowen Island Municipality

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement 
50672995 Page 12 of 21



Execution Version

City of Burnaby

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

City of Coquitlam

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

City of Delta

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement
50672995 Page 13 of 21



Execution Version

City of Langley

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Township of Langley

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Village of Lions Bay

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement 
50672995 Page 14 of 21



Execution Version

City of Maple Ridge

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

City of New Westminster

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

City of North Vancouver

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement 
50672995 Page 15 of 21



Execution Version

District of North Vancouver

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

City of Pitt Meadows

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

City of Port Coquitlam

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement 
50672995 Page 16 of 21



Execution Version

City of Port Moody

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

City of Richmond

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

City of Surrey

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement 
50672995 Page 17 of 21



Execution Version

Tsawwassen First Nation

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

City of Vancouver

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

District of West Vancouver

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement 
50672995 Page 18 of 21



Execution Version

City of White Rock

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Metro Vancouver Regional District

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Greater Vancouver Sewer and Drainage District

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement
50672995 Page 19 of 21



Execution Version

Greater Vancouver Water District

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Her Majesty the Queen in Right of the Province of British Columbia, as represented by 
the Minister of Municipal Affairs

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

University of British Columbia

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement 
50672995 Page 20 of 21



Execution Version

SCHEDULE "A"

JOINDER AGREEMENT

This Joinder Agreement is made as of the day of

Pursuant to and in accordance with Section 9.3 of the Regional Mutual Agreement for Major Emergencies
(the "Mutual Aid Agreement") [insert name of new party joining the 

Agreement] hereby acknowledges and agrees that [insert name of new party joining the Agreement] has 
received and reviewed a complete copy of the Mutual Aid Agreement and shall be fully bound by, and 
subject to, all of the terms and conditions of the Mutual Aid Agreement as though it were an original party 
thereto.

made as of the__ day of

[insert name of new party]

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Per:
Authorized Signatory

Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement 
50672995 Page 21 of 21



ATTACH MEIMT 2
February 8, 2000
GVRD Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement

- 3 -

Appendix A

WHEREAS the Parties desire to enter into an Agreement whereby Public Works resources can 
be deployed to assist any Party during an emergency.

NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSES THAT, in consideration of the mutual 
covenants and agreements herein contained and subject to the terms and conditions hereinafter 
set out, the Parties agree as follows:

1. In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires,

“emergency” means any present or imminent calamity or sudden or violent 
disturbance that in the opinion of the City Engineer cannot be brought under control by 
the use of the available local resources and that requires prompt co-ordination of 
action or special regulation of persons or property to protect the health, safety or 
welfare of people, or to limit property damage;

“emergency resources” means all persons, services, equipment and materials held 
by, or directly available to, the Public Works Services of a Party;

“City Engineer” means, for each Party, the senior municipal employee responsible for 
the Public Works Services of that Party or his delegate.

a)

b)

c)

2. The procedure to be followed in requesting and rendering aid under this Agreement shall be 
governed by the following principles, namely:

A City Engineer will attempt to fully utilize the emergency resources of his bordering 
Parties before requesting emergency resources from more distance Parties except 
where special equipment is not available from the bordering Parties.

a)

Where a City Engineer determines that an emergency exists, he shall request 
emergency resources from the appropriate Party.

b)

A City Engineer who receives a request for emergency resources from another Party 
may determine the extent of and duration for which the emergency resource are 
available and thereupon such emergency resources, if any are available, shall be 
dispatched and utilized to control the emergency; but nothing in this Agreement shall 
be construed to require a City Engineer to dispatch emergency resources.

c)

The Person in Charge of emergency resources sent to assist in an emergency shall 
remain in charge of those resources and control and direct those resources in co-
operation with the requesting City Engineer.

d)

3. The Parties agree to consult on a regular basis through their City Engineer on the best ways 
to achieve the optimum deployment of emergency resources to control emergencies.

4. When a Party provides emergency resources:

135090 / 0040-00



February 8, 2000 -4-

a) the Party providing emergency resources may, within sixty days after so doing, render 
to the Party that requested emergency resources a correct account of the cost of the 
service.

b) the Party that requested emergency resources shall pay the account within thirty days 
after receiving it.

c) Payment for emergency services would be on a cost recovery basis without overhead 
or profit.

5. Any Party may terminate its rights and responsibilities under this Agreement by giving to the 
City Clerk of the other Parties, thirty days notice in writing of its intention to do so.

6. This Agreement is not intended to interfere with or supersede any existing written 
agreements between the parties.

7. Subject to paragraph 8, each party to this Agreement covenants and agrees that it will not 
initiate legal action or third party proceedings against any other party to this Agreement, 
based on provision or failure to provide emergency resources. In any action arising from the 
provision or failure to provide emergency resources, the municipality where the incident 
requiring emergency resources occurred, shall (a) defend the action on behalf of itself and 
any other parties to this Agreement who are defendants in the action, and (b) indemnify and 
save harmless the other parties for liabilities which may result.

8 Any claims as between the Parties to this Agreement arising out of gross or willful
negligence in the provision or failure to provide emergency resources or any dispute arising 
respecting a Party’s rights or obligations shall be referred to and finally resolved by 
arbitration under the rules of the British Columbia International Commercial Arbitration 
Centre and shall be administered in accordance with its “Procedures for Cases under the 
BCIAC Rules”. Provided the arbitrator in this procedure is satisfied that the dispute arises 
from gross or willful negligence, the arbitrator has jurisdiction to provide relief against the 
indemnity in paragraph 7 and may allocate responsibility among the Parties in whatever 
manner the arbitrator deems appropriate.

For the purpose of Sections 7 and 8, “Party” includes any employee, contractor or volunteer of 
the Party.

9. Notices or other communications under this Agreement shall be sufficiently given if delivered 
to a City Engineer personally or left at the City Engineer’s office or mailed to the following:

(List of Participating Agencies will be entered here as resolutions are received from 
Municipal Councils.)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have caused to be affixed their seals attested by 
the signatures of their respective officers duly authorized for such purpose.

135090 /0040-00



February 8, 2000 -5-

The Corporate Seal of the Corporation of

CITY OF RICHMOND

Authorized signing Officers_

XT. RttHA « OMay
G> R£ <S Htlt-se-/'34-0*21'

The Corporate Seal of the Corporation of

C/P/ F)f J,)/J/TE /)S>rAr

Authorized signing Officers

MA f/i
c

V Mayor
HARDY USTAUB 
MAYOR

Clerk
M1DDLER 

CITY CLERK

The Corporate Seal of the Corporation of

Cr±xj, ph HdZLkJ.

Authorized signing Officers

Mayor

O^UV^rv) 'VON N\X Xt-y

ACTING MAYOR

lerk

SUSAN BROWN 

CITY CLERK

135090/0040-00



February 8, 2000 -6-

The Corporate Seal of the Corporation of

TUf? Was a/sft/P 'Of

Authorized signing Officers

‘ClerkMayor

The Corporate Seal of the Corporation of

Com \j a^i go  u o

Authorized signing Officers

'7 Mayor Clerk

l

The Corporate Seal of the Corporation of 

STRICT Of P/Tf

Authorized signing Officers

/Clerk/ ^ror

135090/0040-00



February 8, 2000 -7-

The Corporate Seal of the Corporation of

p^Vqv \ OcP^vWatvxCL\\

Authorized signing Officers

A.A
layorX^r^- Tft>-0> Clerk SUSAN RAUH, CMC, CITY CLERK

A

The Corporate Seal of the Corporation of

Q 'Arpo c 0 'O^-'GP

Authorized signing Officers
/

X-cJ-e-i

Clerklayer

The Corporate Seal of the Corporation of

TfttA (Uv-f of1 'B>v<?*i/bsy

Authorized signing Officers

Clerk DEBBIE R- COMIS
City Clerk - Authorized Signatory

Mayor

135090/0040-00



-9-
Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement 
Lower Mainland Municipalities

The Corporate Seal of the Corporation of

iw
Authori signing Officers

/tn $■------- -
A/b/ci^rkftlayor

The Corporate Seal of the Corporation of

-CIVL 'Xio^nA^

Authon lining Officers

Ln&2.
Alb/Mayor Clerk

The Corporate Seal of the Corporation of

Lihjtke

Autl signing Officers

—.Fffi'Mayor

5134956 / 0005-00 
205860



February 8, 2000
-8-

The Corporate Seal of the Corporation-of

Cvt^

Authorized signing Officers

11 y 'CA^-
(^Cierk J\ Mayor

The Corporate Seal of the Corporation of

Pty^uLT of- /k)c£TU-

Aufhori^ed signing Officers

fJ/Ja
Clarify/ Pcj |-4> 1.Mayor p0 r> f3eTT Isr- r\

The Corporate Seal of the Corporation of

C//y of poi-/ /Vao^y

Authorized signing Officers

,a3^ ■6-Mayffr' Clerk

135090/0040-00



February 8, 2000 -10-

The Corporate Seal of the Corporation of

Cc e ^

Authorized signing Officers

Clerk
Bruce Hawkshaw - ClerkBarbaraX Sharp - Mayor

The Corporate Seal of the Corporation of

NftfLG {l7) i ° f \1>G£

Authorized signing Officers

'jj lt L
//Mayor

KATHLEEN J. MORSE 
MAYOR

7/Clerk

ERTERE^yEE
MUNICIPAL ERK

The Corporate.Seal of the Corporation of

.be/fc X

Authorized signing Officers

oJoi/'-b
M^fer Clerkr.(3/7^iS E- Jackson vyn

135090/0040-00



February 8, 2000 -11 -

The Corporate Seal of the Corporation of

C^/'/ Of ^rtC\/
7

Authorized signing Officers

y2,c>o

ClerkMayor

The Corporate Seal of the Corporation of

Authorized signing Officers

ClerkMayor

The Corporate Seal of the Corporation of

Authorized signing Officers

ClerkMayor

135090/0040-00



KAITS. twV  ̂ . 

, .v t>wV '<^0^ 
Xd- fcoH 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
141 West 14ih Sum • North Vancouver. B.C. V7M 1H9 • Phone 985-7761 

^SgpTHE^ig&S 
ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES 

City Clerk Personnel Director 

B. Hawkshaw "" R. Shore 

1 Administrator 

G. H. Brewer 

•JC b &m January 26, 1988 OUPY 

Mr> D. Allan 
-Muhicipal Clerk 
.District of West Vancouver 
#750 - 17th Street 
West Vancouver, B.C. 
V7V 3T3 

Mrs. M. Warwick 
Municipal Clerk 
District of North Vancouver 
P.O. Box 86218 
355 West Queens Avenue 
North Vancouver, B.C. 
V7L 4K1 

RY: 

Dear Mrs. Warwick and Mr. Allan, 

Public Works - Mutual Aid Agreement for Emergencies Re: 

Please find enclosed your original of the Public Works - Mutual 
Aid Agreement for Emergencies that you so kindly executed and 
sealed. They have been dated for reference January 26, 1988. 

It is my understanding that we now await Mr. Jefferd's 
recommendation regarding the Emergency Plan By-law that all three 
municipalities should simultaneously adopt. 

By copy of this memo, Mr. G.H. Bewer, City Administrator, and Mr. 
J. Jefferd are provided photocopies of the said agreement. 

Yours very truly. 

/v. 
tP "b". Hawkshaw 

City Clerk 
9} 

BH/sm $ 
V Enclosure 

p J}\>t 

8̂. fOj 
G.H. Brewer, City Administrator \-A 
J. Jefferd, Director, Emergency Measures Program 
E. Rienstra, Deputy City Clerk \ 
D. Cairns, Fire Chief 
A. Phillips, City Engineer 

cc: 

0 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 3�



Page 1. 

PUBLIC, WORKS - MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT FOR EMERGENCIES 

A THIS AGREEMENT made this 

BETWEEN: 

day of 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER a 
municipal corporation having its offices at 141 West 
14th Street, North Vancouver, B.C. 

AND: 

THE CORPORATION OF THE DISTRICT OF NORTH VANCOUVER a 
municipal corporation having its offices at 355 West 
Queens Road, North Vancouver, B.C. 

AND: 

THE CORPORATION OF THE DISTRICT OF WEST VANCOUVER a 
municipal corporation having its offices at 750 -
17th Street, West Vancouver, B.C. 

.... T — - i, v  . .  .  
WHEREAS for an emergency plan to properly fulfill its co

ordinating and control function/inan :>emergericyV it must 

incorporate a mechanism whereby the resources of the parties may 

be committed without delays caused by uncertainty over 

jurisdiction or financial responsibility; 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT the parties, notwithstanding 

the existing Mutual Aid Fire Protection Agreement, enter into an 

agreement whereby other emergency resources can be deployed to 

assist any party during an emergency or disaster. 



Page 3. 

2. The procedure to be followed in requesting and rendering 

aid under this agreement shall be governed by the following 

principles: 

(a) Where a "Co-ordinator" or "Municipal Engineer" 

determines that an emergency is occurring or is imminent 

either one of those persons shall in sole and absolute 

discretion decide whether the emergency requires aid from 

the other municipalities and if So shall request 

emergency resources from his counterpart in that 

municipality. 

(b) When a Co-ordinator or Municipal Engineer receives a 

request for aid from ahother of~jthe municipalities he 

: shall determine the availability-of emergency resources 

within his municipality. Thereupon such resources shall 

be dispatched and utilized to control the emergency; but 

nothing in this agreement shall be construed to require a 

Co-ordinator or Municipal Engineer to dispatch emergency 

resources that he does not consider are available or 

which he believes may imminently be required elsewhere. 

(c) The senior official in charge of any emergency 

resources responding to an aid request shall remain in 

charge and direct those resources, in co-operation with 

. the requesting Co-ordinator or Municipal Engineer. 



Page 5. 

6. Any party to this agreement which has requested or 

accepted emergency resources pursuant to this agreement shall 

indemnify and hold harmless the party or parties which has or 

have provided such emergency-resources from and against all 

claims, loss, costs, damages, actions, suits, or other 

proceedings by whomsoever made, brought or prosecuted in any 

manner based upon, occasioned by-'or attributable to any action 

taken or thing done or maintained by1 the party or parties which 

has or have provided such emergency resources. , 

7. Notwithstanding Clause 6, no party to this agreement 

shall be responsible for or in any way liable with respect to any 
•  •  '  ' I  * .  > •  •  

claims, demands, loss, costs, damages, actions, suits,, OIJ other 

proceedings arising from or through the* negligence of any. other 
. . f: , . J : • " -* " " 

party to this agreement, its agents1, servants or employees. 

Requests for mutual aid made by''either of the parties to 8. 

this agreement shall be directed to the patties as per contact 

list attached, referenced Appendix'A. " The numbers which are 

listed may be changed from time to time without effect to this 

agreement. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have caused to be 

affixed their seals attested by the signatures of their 

respective officers duly authorized for such purpose. 



APPENDIX A 

PUBLIC WORKS - MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT FOR EMERGENCIES 

Requests for mutual aid as per Clause 2 of this agreement shall 
be made to the following contacts: 

City of 
North . 
Vancouver 
Phone Nos. 

District of 
North 
Vancouver •_ 
Phone Nos. Phone Nos. 

District of 
West 
Vancouver 

Contact Function 

Engineer 985-7761 
922-1858 ' 929-3,620 . 

984-4381 922-1211 
430-4191 

BUS . 
Home 

984-4381 
987-6932 

985-7761 
988-6019 

Deputy 
Engineer 

922-1211 
266-4794 

Bus. 
Home 

988-2212 987-7133 Emergency No. 922-9311 

PLEASE NOTE: 

In the event telephone service is interrupted contact may be 
through the designated public works rad.ip frequencies which may 
be accessed through the Fire Department. ' 



To: 

From: 

Department 
Manager 

CAO 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
CITY CLERK'S DEPARTMENT 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Karla Graham, Corporate Officer 

REPORT 

Subject: APPOINTMENT TO FEDERATION OF CANADIAN MUNICIPALITIES 
COMMITTEES AND FORUMS 

Date: June 21, 2022 File No: 01-0530-01-0001/2022 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Corporate Officer, dated June 21, 2022, entitled 
"Appointment to Federation of Canadian Municipalities Committees and Forums": 

THAT Councillor Mcllroy be appointed as the City of North Vancouver 
representative to the Federation of Canadian Municipalities Committees and 
Forums, for the term ending on May 31, 2023; 

THAT, on approval of appointment, expenses will be paid in accordance with 
"Council Expense Bylaw, 2003, No. 7487"; 

AND THAT funds be allocated in the annual budget for future travel 
expenditures. 

BACKGROUND 

Council requested that staff provide information for consideration of a Councillor to be 
appointed to represent the City of North Vancouver at Federation of Canadian 
Municipalities (FCM) committees and forums. 

DISCUSSION 

FCM's Board of Directors established the following committees and forums to facilitate 
more detailed debate and provide the board with recommendations on priority policy 
and program issues, which are comprised of board members and other municipal 
elected officials: 

Document No. 2193467 



REPORT: Appointment to Federation of Canadian Municipalities Committees and Forums 
Date: June 21, 2022 

• Anti Racism and Equity 
• Community Safety and Crime Prevention 
• Conference Planning Committee 
• Environmental Issues and Sustainable Development 
• Increasing Women's Participation in Municipal Government 
• International Relations 
• Municipal Finance and Intergovernmental Arrangements 
• Municipal Infrastructure and Transportation Policy 
• Network of Francophone Municipalities 
• Non-Board Committee Members 
• Northern and Remote Forum 
• Rural Forum 
• Social Economic Development 

Historically, one member of Council has been appointed to attend and represent the 
City on committees or subcommittees of FCM. There is currently no designated 
representative for the City. Councillor Mcllroy has expressed an interest in applying for 
Environmental Issues and Sustainable Development and Municipal Finance and 
Intergovernmental Arrangements. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

On approval of the appointment, relevant expenses will be paid in accordance with the 
Council Expense Bylaw. The Chief Financial Officer has confirmed that ample funds are 
available for Councillor travel expenditures as part of the annual operating budget. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Corporate Officer 

Page 2 of 2 



To: 

From: 

JfL A€ ~ 
Director CAO 

Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

David Johnson, Development Planner 

REPORT 

Subject: REZONING APPLICATION: 124 WEST 2QTH STREET (124 2QTH STREET 
HOLDINGS LTD. INC. NO. BC1081725 / RHA ARCHITECTS) 

Date: June 1, 2022 File No: 08-3400-20-0048/1 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Development Planner, dated June 1, 2022, 
entitled "Rezoning Application: 124 West 20th Street (124 20th Street Holdings 
Ltd. Inc. No. BC1081725 I RHA Architects)": 

THAT "Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8898" 
(124 20th Street Holdings Ltd. Inc. No. BC1081725 / RHAArchitects, 124 West 
20th Street, CD-746) and "Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2022, No. 8899" (124 20th 

Street Holdings Ltd. Inc. No. BC1081725 / RHAArchitects, 124 West 20th Street, 
CD-746, Rental Housing Commitments) be considered and referred to a Public 
Hearing; 

THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 

THAT the community benefits listed in the report section "Density Bonus and 
Community Benefits" be secured through agreements at the applicant's expense 
and to the satisfaction of staff; 

AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign the necessary 
documentation to give effect to the motion. 

Document Number: 2079831 V3 



REPORT: Rezoning Application: 124 West 20th Street (124 2QTH Street Holdings Ltd. Inc. No. BC1081725 / RHA 
Architects) 
Date: June 1, 2022 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Context Map (CityDocs 2114230) 
2. Project Summary Sheet (CityDocs 2114246) 
3. Architectural and Landscape Plans, dated February 4, 2022 (CityDocs 2185752) 
4 . Policy Objectives (CityDocs 2173434) 
5. Public Consultation Summary (CityDocs #2179617) 
6. "Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8898" (CityDocs 21 14241 ) 
7 . "Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2022, No. 8899" (CityDocs 2185083) 

SUMMARY 

The purpose of this report is to present, for Council's consideration, a rezoning 
application for 124 West 20th Avenue to amend the Zoning Bylaw to permit a six
storey rental apartment building with 57 units, including six Mid-Market Rental 
(MMR) units, over one and one-half levels of underground parking. 

The proposal would replace an existing 22-unit rental apartment building that was built 
in the late 1960s. 

BACKGROUND 

~ bl 1 P . t I ti t. a e - ro1ec n orma ,on 
Applicant: RHA Architects - Mark Pickrell 
Architect: RHA Architects 

Official Community Plan 
Residential Level 5 (R5) 

Designation: 

Existing Zoning: Medium Density Residential 1 (RM-1) 

• 2014 Official Community Plan 

• 2018-2022 Council Strategic Plan 

• Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700 
Applicable Policies: • Density Bonus and Community Benefits Policy 

• Residential Tenant and Displacement Policy 

• Housing Action Plan 

• Active Design Guidelines 

Site Context and Surrounding Use 

The subject property is located in the Central Lonsdale area, along the north side of 
West 20th Street, between Lonsdale Avenue to the east and Chesterfield Avenue to the 
west (Attachment #1 ). The neighbouring buildings consist mainly of three-storey 
residential apartment buildings. The subject site is within a transition area from the 
higher density buildings along the Lonsdale Avenue corridor to the lower density 
buildings toward the west. 

The property directly to the east is a small one-storey veterinarian clinic on a narrow lot. 
The applicant has made attempts to acquire the lot to include it with their development 
plans, but the owner has stated they are not interested in selling the property. In orphan 

Page 2 of 8 



REPORT: Rezoning Application: 124 West 20th Street (124 2QTH Street Holdings Ltd. Inc. No. BC1081725 / RHA 
Architects) 
Date: June 1, 2022 

lot situations such as this, Staff give consideration towards the conditions that could limit 
a viable form of development, such as setbacks, access, orientation and livability. In 
this particular assessment, a lane-fronting multi-family building is possible, yet highly 
constrained should the adjacent properties to the east redevelop in the future. Despite, 
opportunity exists to explore potential changes to the lane configuration as part of future 
applications and achieve improved setback conditions for the orphan lot. In light of this, 
Staff support the subject property configuration as presented. 

The buildings and uses immediately surrounding the subject site are described in Table 
2 below. 

North 121 and 135 West Two separate 3 storey apartment RM-1 
(across the lane) 21 51 Street buildings 

South 121 and 131 West Two separate 3 storey apartment RM-1 
(across West 20th Street) 20th Street buildings 

East 116 West 20th Street Single storey commercial building C-2 

West 134 West 20th Street 3 storey apartment building RM-1 

The subject site is less than a block away from Lonsdale Avenue, where amenities, 
services, employment opportunities and public transit routes are easily accessed. 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The application proposes a 57-unit, six-storey rental apartment building, including 
common amenity space with shared workspace area, common gathering area with a 
small gym and a full bathroom on the ground floor (Attachment #3). An outdoor rooftop 
amenity provides additional common space for residents. Of the proposed 57 units, six 
are proposed as mid-market rental (MMR) units to be secured through a Housing 
Agreement in perpetuity (Attachment #7) . 

The proposed breakdown of units by type is shown in Table 3 below. 

Table 3. Proposed Unit Breakdown 
Unit Type Number of Number of Size Range 

Units Mid-Market Units 

Studio 5 1 39.6 sq. m (426 sq. ft.) 

1-Bedroom 23 2 52.0-54.3 sq. m (560-585 sq. ft.) 

2-Bedroom 22 2 69.5-81.8 sq. m (748-881 sq. ft.) 

3-Bedroom 7 1 91 .9-94.2 sq. m (989-1,014 sq. ft.) 

Page 3 of 8 



REPORT: Rezoning Application: 124 West 20th Street (124 2orH Street Holdings Ltd. Inc. No. BC1081725 / RHA 
Architects) 
Date: June 1, 2022 

The proposed main access to the building is on West 20th Street. Through the main 
doors and lobby is the common work space amenity room that features individual work 
offices as well as a small meeting room. A common lounge and gym is located nearby 
and extends out onto its own patio. 

A rooftop deck is proposed with a variety of uses including a children's play area, 
lounge space, outdoor dining and BBQ area and community garden with storage room 
for tools. Access to the roof deck is via both stairways and an elevator. 

The proposed building sits on top of one and a half levels of underground parking that is 
accessed off of the rear lane and will provide 47 vehicles and 88 secured bicycle stalls, 
as well as rooms for mechanical, electrical and a dedicated room for LEC connection 
and distribution. Six visitor parking stalls are proposed directly off the rear lane with a 
pathway along the eastern edge of the site, providing a connection to and from the main 
entrance off of West 20th Street. 

The applicant is proposing 17 units to meet Level 2 of the City's Adaptable Design 
Guidelines, exceeding the minimum requirement. The remaining units will achieve 
Level 1. 

The building is contemporary and features a variety of fa9ade materials and colours to 
help break up the massing. The use of brick at the lower levels helps create a heavy 
base with the middle floors presenting a lighter Hardie-panel material. 

The proposed landscaping plan includes a variety of native and drought-resistant 
plantings in addition to evergreen and pollinator plants. The plan includes seven street 
trees to be planted off-site where none currently exist (Attachment #3). 

PLANNING ANALYSIS 

2014 Official Community Plan 

The subject site is designated Residential Level 5 (R5) in the Official Community Plan 
(OCP). This designation is to provide quality multi-family housing with a mix of unit sizes 
and a focus on creating attractive and active streets. It supports a maximum density of 
2.60 FSR (including 1.0 bonus FSR for purpose built rental housing) in accordance with 
OCP Schedule A - Land Use map. 

The applicant is proposing a density of 2.59 FSR or 4,359.8 sq. m. (46,929 sq. ft.), 
which is within OCP maximum density, and meeting the height limit of six storeys. 

No amendment to the OCP is required. 

A full description of OCP compliance as well as a response to other applicable City 
objectives can be found in Attachment #4. 

Page 4 of 8 



REPORT: Rezoning Application: 124 West 20th Street (124 201H Street Holdings Ltd. Inc. No. BC1081725 / RHA 
Architects) 
Date: June 1, 2022 

Zoning Bylaw 1995, No. 6700 

The subject site is zoned "Medium Density Apartment Residential 1 (RM-1)" that would 
allow a three-storey building on the property at a maximum density of 1.60 FSR. An 
amendment to the Zoning Bylaw is required to permit the proposal and is reflected in 
Zoning Amendment Bylaw 8898 (Attachment #6) . 

Using the RM-1 Zone as a base, the proposal requires the following special provisions 
be incorporated into the new Comprehensive Development Zone: 

• Increase the allowable density from 1.60 to 2.60 FSR by entering into a Housing 
Agreement with the City to secure rental housing in perpetuity as well as the 
provision of six MMR units, also in perpetuity; 

• Allow a maximum Building Height of six storeys and 19.12 metres (62. 7 feet) to 
the top of the main roof line; 

• Vary the Building Width and Length of the building above the third storey; 
• Permit vehicle parking directly accessing the rear lane; and 
• Allow the proposed building setback from the property lines. 

A summary comparing the Zoning requirements to the proposal is shown in Attachment 
#2. 

While the proposed density is in keeping with the OCP, the rationale for considering 
other key variances to zoning are discussed below. 

Density 
The increase in density is permitted in the OCP as long as the rental proposal secures 
all the residential units as rental as well as supply at least six (10%) of the 57 units as 
MMR units in perpetuity. The applicant has agreed to this through the Housing 
Agreement (Attachment #7). 

Height 
A variance is required to the current Zone which limits the building Height to three 
storeys and 13 metres (42.7 feet). The proposed height of six storeys and 19.12 metres 
(62.7 feet) is to the top of the main roof line and is consistent with recent development 
approvals and permitted under the OCP. A further variance to permit an elevator lobby 
and stairways to the rooftop deck would extend the height to no more than 22.2 metres 
(72 .7 feet). This additional height is located away from the building edge. 

Building Width and Length 
The Zoning Bylaw limits the width and length of buildings to 30.5 metres (100 feet) 
above the third floor to help mitigate the massing of the building on the upper levels. 
The proposed building exceeds the width by 1.5 metres (5 feet) and the variance is 
considered minor. 

Parking Space Access Directly from the Rear Lane 

Page 5 of 8 



REPORT: Rezoning Application: 124 West 20th Street (124 2QTH Street Holdings Ltd. Inc. No. BC1081725 / RHA 
Architects) 
Date: June 1, 2022 

The parking at the rear is limited to visitor parking and not intended for residents. An 
accessible pathway along the eastern edge of the property is proposed to allow visitors 
to access the main entrance along West 20th Street. 

Building Setbacks 
The proposed setbacks from the property lines are in keeping with setbacks from recent 
apartment form development approvals. 

Residential Tenant Displacement Policy 

The applicant has appointed a private company to manage the relocation of existing 
tenants. They have been in regular communication on the plans for redevelopment and 
to provide information on the relocation plan and assistance available to each tenant for 
those who wish for help in finding a new residence. 

The applicant has offered all tenants financial assistance as well as relocation services 
in accordance with the requirements of the Policy. In terms of financial assistance, all 
tenants are being offered the following relocation expenses: 

• $1,000 for one-bedroom; and 
• $1,250 for two-bedroom. 

The following compensation was also offered based on length of tenancy: 

• three months' rent to tenants whose tenancy is up to 10 years; and 
• four months' rent to tenants whose tenancy is 10 or more years. 

These provisions exceed the expectations of the original City's Residential Tenancy 
Displacement Policy as the application was received prior to the July 2021 update. 

The applicant is aware of the revised policy, but had begun making arrangements with 
existing tenants under the original plan . To maintain consistency for all tenants, the 
submitted plan based on the original policy has been used. 

As of the time of this report, the applicant informed staff that of the existing 22 units, 
nine of the tenants have been relocated. An update on the status of tenant relocation 
can be provided should Council refer this to a Public Hearing. 

Under the provincial Residential Tenancy Act, the earliest the applicant may issue 
notice to end tenancy is when all permits have been issued for the development. The 
notice shall be a minimum of four months' notice. 

Tree Bylaw 

There are currently no on-site trees that require removal with the proposal. The 
development would add 34 new trees on the property, in addition to the seven street 
trees as required for the off-site works. 

Page 6 of 8 



REPORT: Rezoning Application: 124 West 20th Street (124 20TH Street Holdings Ltd. Inc. No. BC1081725 / RHA 
Architects) 
Date: June 1, 2022 

Density Bonus and Community Benefits 

The City's Density Bonus and Community Benefits Policy, in conjunction with the 
Official Community Plan, allows for density bonuses beyond 1.60 FSR in the Residential 
Level 5 land use designation, up to a maximum of 2.60 FSR. 

The policy provides a number of community benefit options for projects seeking 
additional density and seeks to ensure the City receives value for additional density 
granted. The value could be in the form of a cash contribution or some form of amenity, 
such as an all-rental apartment building to be secured in perpetuity plus a form of 
housing affordability in accordance with the City's Housing Action Plan. In this case, to 
achieve the desired 1.0 FSR bonus density, the applicant has agreed to secure through 
the registration of a Housing Agreement, that all proposed 57 units will be secured as 
rental units in perpetuity, as well as to provide six of these as MMR units at rates below 
market levels in perpetuity. 

As the Density Bonus and Community Benefits Policy recognizes rental and affordable 
rental dwelling units as an acceptable public amenity, any cash contribution for the 
density bonus that is generally required for a non-rental project is waived. 

For example, if the applicant was proposing these units for sale as a strata development 
project, the Density Bonus and Community Benefits Policy would value this density 
bonus at approximately $3.45 million dollars, as outlined in Table 4 below. 

N/A 
$3,449,260 
$3,449,260 

Instead of this amount and consistent with the Density Bonusing and Community 
Benefits Policy, the City's total rental housing stock would be receiving 57 rental 
apartment units, with six of these being MMR units. These will be secured in the 
Housing Agreement. This building will be privately owned and the tenant selection for 
the six mid-market units will be at the discretion of the building owner. 

In addition to the items above, the following items will be secured as conditions of this 
development: 

• Sanitary sewer line upgrade from Chesterfield to the property; 
• 2.0 metre sidewalk with bumpouts at the laneway entrance; 
• Pedestrian and street level lighting; 
• 7 new trees with supportive soil cells and irrigation; 
• Paving to centre line on West 20th and the entire width of the lane for the 

property frontage. 

Page 7 of 8 



REPORT: Rezoning Application: 124 West 20th Street (124 20TH Street Holdings Ltd. Inc. No. BC1081725 / RHA 
Architects) 
Date: June 1, 2022 

ADVISORY BODY INPUT 

Advisory Design Panel 

The application was received by the Advisory Design Panel on May 19, 2021, where the 
Panel reviewed and asked the application to return for a second review. A review was 
conducted at the May 18· 2022 meeting of the ADP, where the Panel unanimously 

· supported the project with conditions relating to improved safety a sense of territoriality 
be provided for the eastern pathway connecting the street with the rear lane, 
improvements to mitigate solar heat along the south and west sides of the building, and 
changes to the rooftop deck to include urban agriculture and some cover for additional 
shading. 

The applicant has responded to the conditions with a revised drawing to the satisfaction 
of staff that includes improvements to the east pathway, including a lighting plan, the 
roof deck has been expanded to provide greater flexibility in the programming of the 
space, including the provision of urban agriculture. 

COMMUNITY CONSULTATION 

The applicant held their Developer Information Session on May 4, 2021 and was 
attended by 13 people (Attachment #5). Three comment forms were received with 
mixed responses regarding the proposal. Those who supported the proposal liked the 
design of the building, with others raising concerns with respect to building size, 
increased number of units, traffic and local parking pressures. Staff have been in touch 
with those who have expressed concerns stating the proposed building height and the 
density is in keeping with the OCP, as well as mentioning that the applicant is offering a 
welcome package to all new tenants that will include a list of transportation options in 
the area with the intention to help mitigate street parking for residents. 

CONCLUSION 

This proposal is consistent with the Official Community Plan. The subject site's 
proximity to existing amenities, commercial areas and public transit and active 
transportation facilities makes it an appropriate site for the proposed new 57-unit rental 
apartment building. The application meets the Strategic Plan as a City for People in 
using an existing site to increase the number of rental and mid-market units to the City. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

[)avujJohn 
Development Planner 

Page 8 of 8 



W 21st St

Ch
es

ter
fie

ld 
Av

e
Ch

es
ter

fie
ld 

Av
e

Lo
ns

da
le 

Av
e

Lo
ns

da
le 

Av
e

E 21st St

E 20th StW 20th St W 20th St

1 9 52

13
1

2 0 44

12
4

13
4

2 0 57

12
4

11
6

1 4 41 5 6

1 9 45
12

1

2 0 06

2 0 16
14

4

12
1

2 0 35
2 0 28

2 0 25

13
7

1 3 5

12
8

2 0 52

12
4

2 0 36

1 1 6

1 9 40

12
4

1 0 8

2 0 01

14
9

2 0 35

20
32

19
00

1 2
3

Context Map: 124 West 20th Street  Subject Site

Attachment 1



SITE CHARACTERISTICS

OCP Designation

Existing Zoning 

Site Area

FLOOR AREA AND HEIGHT Existing Zoning (RM-1)

Total Lot Coverage 50%

Principal Building Height 
(maximum)

Three Storeys and      
13.0 m (42.7 ft.) 

SETBACKS
Front (West 20th Street)
Interior Side Yard (East)
Interior Side Yard (West)
Rear (North)

BICYCLE PARKING
Short Term
Secured
Total Bicycle Parking (stalls)
VEHICLE PARKING
Resident Parking
Visitor Parking
Total Vehicle Parking (stalls)

6.10 m (20.0 ft.)

4.57 m (15.0 ft.)

45%

Six Storeys and         
19.12 m
(62.7 ft.)

Six Storeys

N/A

Existing Zoning (RM-1)

Numbers based on plans dated May 31, 2022 #2186961

Residential Level 5 (R5)

Medium Density Apartment 
Residential 1 (RM-1)

1,686.6 sq. m             
(18,154 sq. ft.)

40 53

6

92 94
86 88

Maximum - 2.60 FSR      
4,858.4 sq. m             
(47,200 sq. ft.)            

6.10 m (20.0 ft.)

Proposed 
5.94 m (19.5 ft.)
3.51 m (11.5 ft.)

4.57 m (15.0 ft.)

6
Required

6 6
34 47

Required Proposed

Proposed

3.51 m (11.5 ft.)
6.10 m (20.0 ft.)

Floor Space Ratio
Maximum 1.60 FSR     

2,989.8 sq. m          
(29,046 sq. ft.) 

2.59 FSR
4,365.9 sq. m          
(46,994 sq. ft.)          

Proposed (CD-746)

PROJECT SUMMARY SHEET
DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION

124 West 20th Street

Offical Community Plan 

Attachment 2



~~w~U©l~ /A\~©l~UM®ITTJU~ [lJmL • lR1®mJU©l~ ~@[ill~~ffi]~ 

"U ~t4! Wfl ~(QJU[ru ~U~@@U 9 ~@~U[ru \W@l[n]~@MW®~ 9 [85~ 

.... -~ I ~ ~ 

••-
~~ 

~ iil 

-cl 
-lssuedForf\eroniog,Devdopme,;ttPfflrit 
Jaiuary28,2021 

lssued forAdviSOl)'OesignPanel 
May12,2021 

Re-lSS!ledForRezooing, OemopmerrtPffllit 
September02, 2021 

Re-lssuedForf\eror,jng, OevelO!JmerrlPfflril 
Ftoruary04,2022 

-Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124W20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

Ftbn.iary04,2022 

Attachment 3



Project Team: 

OWNER 

Crystal Apartments Ltd 

102-2455 Dollarton Hwy 

North Vancouver, BC V7M 0A2 

604.787.3984 

Contact: Andrew Statham 

Crystal Apartments Ltd. is applying to develop a 6 storey wood frame residential project w ith 57 
rental units. This new purpose built rental housing project wil l replace an aging 22 unit bui lding 
and will provide 35 additional rental units to the much needed rental housing stock in North 
Vancouver. With a mix of efficiently designed units, we are proposing : 5 Studio units at 426 sf, 
23 one bedroom units ranging from 560sf to 585sf, 22 two bedroom units ranging from 748sf 
to 881sf and 7 three bedroom units ranging from 989sf to 1014sf. 17 of these units (30%) will 
be Level 2 Adaptable and 6 units ( 10%) will be below market housing. We are also proposing 
the addition of several amenity spaces for the residents that includes a roof top deck. This 
proposal provides a complete mix of housing opportunities for North Vancouver's diverse 
community. 

Upon completion, 90% of these units will be rented at market rates and will provide an 
attractive and financially viable option for housing to those who are unable to bear the high 
cost of condominium ownership in todays real estate market. With the project located close to 
transit, services, employment opportunities, and civic amenities, the provision of 94 secured 
bicycle spaces and 6 short term spaces is intended to help reduce the reliance on the 
automobile for the residents of this building. 
With the current shortage of supply of rental opportunities, and the increase in demand, it is 
important to the City's social and economic sustainability that new rental product is provided 
that will extend the life of the City's rental stock. This project will help ensure that rental 
opportunities will remain into the future for new residents instead of the unaffordable 
alternative of condominium ownership. 

We look forward to working with The City of North Vancouver to bring this much needed rental 
housing to realisation. 

ARCHITECTURAL 
RLA Architects 

250 - 970 Homer Street 
Vancouver, BC V6B 2W7 

604.669.3339 

Contact: Mark Pickrell 

LANDSCAPE 
Durante Kreuk Landscape Architecture 

102 - 1637 West 5th Avenue 
Vancouver, BC V6J lNS 

604.648.4611 

Contact: Peter Kreuk 

DRAWING LIST: 

ARCHITECTURAL 

A-0.41 Development Summary & Zoning Map 

A-0.42 Context Pl an 
A-0.43 Context Si te Plan 

A-0.45 Renderings 

A-1.01 Site Plan 

A-1.02 Survey Plan 
A-1.03 Site Section A 

A-1.04 Site Section B 
A-1.05 Site Section C 

A-2.01 Parking Level 2 
A-2.02 Parking Level 1 

A-2.03 Main Fl oor Plan 
A-2.04 Level 2 Plan 
A-2.05 Level 3 Plan 
A-2.06 Level 4 Plan 
A-2.07 l evel 5 Plan 
A-2.08 Level 6 Plan 
A-2.09 Roof Plan 
A-2.10 El evator and Stair Roof Pl an 

A-3.00 South Eleva tion 
A-3.01 East Elevation 

A-3.02 North Eleva tion 
A-3.03 West Elevation 
A-3.10 Color and Materi al Board 

A-3.11 Shadow Analys is 

A-5.00 Studio and 1 Bedroom Unit Plans 

A-5.01 2 Bedroom Unit Plans 

A-5.02 3 Bedroom Uni t Plans 

A-9.00 Area Overlay Level 1 & Level 2 
A-9.01 Area Overlay l evel 3 & Level 4 
A-9.02 Area Overlay l evel 5 & Level 6 

A-9.03 Area Overlay Roof Level 

A-10.01 Adjacent Lot Study Pl an 

A-10.02 Adjacent Lot Study Elevation 

A-10.03 Adjacent Lot Study Elevation 

LANDSCAPE 

L-1.0 Cover Sheet 

L-1.1 Ground Level: Material & Grading 

L-1.2 Ground Level: Pl anting Pl an 

L-1.3 Roof Level: Landscape Plan 

L-2.1 Landscape Sections 

L-2.2 Landscape Deta ils 

L-2.3 Landscape Detai ls 

CIVIL 

Creus Engineering Ltd. 

610 - 221 Esplanade West 

North Vancouver, BC V7M 3G7 

604.987.9070 

Contact: Fred Ciambrelli 

.... -~ I ~ ~ 

••-
~ t. Alllglft--."-i, _,,;,-•- .-~ .. ., 
;,""'"""'"-·""'-"""'""'-' .-"dm.,no,t>ouMdilony.,.y...,..,.,h wi-

,,..,_, °',,. - ··--·~ .,,.. ,_ ,,....do .... - ... 11<1 -·~ 
~t:~;;;~~~ 
lssuedF<J Rero<ing,~el(:fl'l)el'Cf'em'it 
Jniay28,2021 

lssuedF<J A<t.iso<yOeli(J')Pnl 
May 12,2021 

Re-l$$U«I F,::r Rezo!ing, OMl~tf'em'it 
S!l:)tell'bef02,2021 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd. 
124W20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

Index 
Scale:NTS 
feb:uayOl ,2022 

A-0.01 



A artments. Residential Rental Development 

~27!t;~th ~ rHI , North Vancouve; All ol Lois 2 and 3, Block 6, Dlstrlcl Loi 548, Plan 1241 Lega1Address: l ots211o241nclusve, 

ZONING: 

SETBACKS: 

SUILDINGHEIGHT: 

ENERGY PERFORMANCE: 

··-B1 1Btdnan 
B2 1Btdnan ,,_ 
C1 2-...,. AdapUblo ~,-
C3 2Bno:rn ,,_ 
C ,_ 

#INT / FLIXII 

UNIT~ 

""""' ... 
=,,_Cffi:t 
Adajlabll Uils E>El ' 
WallThiclolo .. 

GIIOISSFlOORARfA 

' llttn:#lad i> &m,Ftu..,_, 
NETEffiCIBICY 

FAR·NETIUIIDIN~APEA ~,M 

I 

RM1 

FfonlYard south 
RaarYard North 
SldeYard EHi 
SldeYard West 

.. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. 
Mi9Sf 

1.250SF 

""' 1.0l&SF 
40SF" 

5.94 
6.10 
3.51 
3.51 

meters 
meters 
meters 
meters 

23.19 meters 

BCBC2018STEPC0DELEVEL3 

7.109SF 

"': . ... .,. 

7,111'18f .,. . . ... .. 
7,1D98f 

9(2:: . 
60SF" .., 

61'.l 'llo !!l.2 '11o 

fSR&4f'U-l'fO'OS.EDEXCl.usatS 

~ i,-.-, 
Ada~Uils E,,:l 
Wall Thicknus 

"'" 1.0l&SF 

:: 

"': . . .. .. 
1,133 Sf 

Z,311SfTOIOIE:.cl-

--~·-
RoglJar SmallAccossbll 

'""' 0.10 11)11 

0.038 11)11 

' " " ' 

, .. 

" B .. 
.. 
'" '" .. 

""' . . 
60SP .., 

l,1U SF 

llaidl<IS- 41 4 2 

YilkrS- 5 (7:i:-~prnldod' 

SllnllwdO.&,uum 
S«:111 V.tlcl,IO.&n,1.l)n 

~ ~ 2)(11):MM~IIJb• ffl 

D-11 ooill:oar...,i,..-

::·!9=!:~-pet•trJl0111ito 

,. 
" . 

t1t1Sf po, llli1 

H Spoc• :: = =d•=tSS'llo Dlll) 

I Spa:• 

211.1 Sf 

345.0 If 

-· 
~· 
""' ~· ~· 
8B1SF ~· "'"' 7.SSF 

6 1,014SF ,. . 
57 UNl'IS 

. .,. . .,. 

January20.2021 

""'"' 

2,1~SF 

•n• 
3, 510 SF ,s. ,~. 
5,184SF . ... 
3.7ClSF ·~· ,.. 
,.,,. ,,,. 
1,076SF ... ... 

49,H2SF 

'" '" " " '" " 

Z,311Sf ~ 

4U94SF ~ 

2.59FAR .....__ 

@~=-
,. ...... 7_... ........... 

.,,_ 

·¥-4= 
= n 5 : 

@SY 
Schedule A 

Land Use 
Pallclll>eOl'llool~Plon 

• -===:= ,_ __ ,_ 
:.:_-=..,"";-_ 

==---=-"."'-----·----·----·-=:..,<-;-::-
=:..,"";"%..
::!::\::::-
____ ,_ 
----·-------·-==--7·-==-~--------

ii~ -·------------

= ForP.erorir,,i,OevdCJ!li'TNJIIF'fflm 
January 26, 2021 

Issued for Mw1soly Design Panel 
May12. 2021 

R&-lsS!led forRBZoolng, (}eyef(J!IITIBMPenril 
5epteni>ef02,2021 

=ryed04~~~-0evel(J!lmemf'fflm 

-Crystal 
Apartments Ltd · 
124 W20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

Zoning Map Plan 
Scali!:NTS 
Ftbn.iary04,2022 

@ A-0.41 



.... -~ I ~ ~ 

••-
ew,rlgJL ... ,;,... ,__ ~ ., 
_,,, ,,ponio~-'""""11•"" 
.....,,...... ol _..,.ioh-olh
and""'fnotbo-iio_,,_""""'-'..,_ ~olho"""'-__ _ -~--C<,1,-aa<>s-vonfyandbo,__b_ 
-and~o-,t,ojob, """""" .. -oo.--a_,,-....,,,-. 
"""'...,_...,.,...,~"'""' ""Mlr,g. 

lssuedforP.eroril'll,l, OevdCJ!li'TNJIIPfflril 
January26, 2021 

Issued for Mw1soly Design Panel 
May12,2021 

R&-lsS!ledForRBZooing, ()eyel(J!IITIBMPemil 
5epteni>ef02,2021 

Re-lssuedForRezorm;), OevelopmemPt<rnt 
F«Jruary04,2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124W20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

Context Plan 
Scali!:NTS 
Ftbn.iary04,2022 

A-0.42 



Legend 
Transit Corridor 

1 Lonsdale Avenue 

Parks and Amenities 
2 Wagg Creek Park 
3 Rey Sargent Park 
4 Harry Jerome Community Centre 
5 Centennial Theatre 
6 Norseman Park 

Memorial Community Recreation Centre 

Businesses 
8 Lonsdale Veterinary Hospital 
9 Health & Beauty and Restaurants 
1 0 LifeLabs Medical Laboratory Services 
11 London Drugs 
12 Grocery Markets / Restaurants / Sports Stores 

Residential 
13 121 21st Street West (3 Storeys) 
14 135 21st Street West (3 Storeys) 
15 134 20th Street West(4 Storeys) 
16 144 20th Street West (3 Storeys) 
17 121 20th Street West(3 Storeys) 
18 131 20th Street West(3 Storeys) 
19 137 20th Street West(3 Storeys) 
20 149 20th Street West (3 Storeys) 
21 Townhome Complex 
22 2006 Chestertield Avenue (2 Storeys) 
23 1940 Chestertield Avenue (Townhome Complex) 
24 1953 Chestertield Avenue (Single Family Homes) 

.... -~ I ~ ~ 

••-

lssuedforP.eroril'll,l, OevdCJ!li'TNJIIPfflril 
January26, 2021 

Issued for Mw1soly Design Panel 
May12,2021 

R&-lsS!ledForRBZooing, ()eyel(J!IITIBMPemil 
5epteni>ef02,2021 

Re-lssuedForRezorm;), OevelopmemPt<rnt 
F«Jruary04,2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124W20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

Context Plan 
Scali!:NTS 
Fttin.iary04,2022 

A-0.43 



D ESIGN RATI O NA LE 

This p,oposed ren1al developmem is located on a 0.4 acre site in 1he Central l~ale neighborhood 
on W~ 2r Stree1 between C~erfield Avenue and Lonsdale Avenue. 
An aging. 3-siorey wood frame building comprised of 22 rental §Uitescurremly o,;cupies the 5/te. 
The site slopes con5'Slently 3% down from eaSI to we5t and has an increasing nonh to south down 
slope from approx. 1 % to 2% as one travels we5tward. 

The adjacent buildings to the N0<1h and W~ are townhouse/ apanmentdevelopmentsof 2 or 3-soreys 
inheight.TheneighboringeaS1ernbuildingis a l S1oreyVe1erina,yClinic,Alanerunningnonho/f21 • 
StrooboundsitseaS1sideandconnectsto1herearlanerunningalong1henonhemboundaryofthe 
site. The ~em lane also serves the parldng lot of the MacDonald's r~auram that (roots the urban 
centre ruming along the Lonsdale commercial corridor. 

A!tempts were made by the Owner to acquire the Vete<inary site, however the exi sting Owners were 
reluctant to pan with their property that had been in their family for approx imately 30 ~ars. 

The City ol North Vancouver'• 2014 Official Comm.mity Plan permi\5 the den,ification of thi s site to 
land Use [ksignation of Residential level S (medium den>ity) with an allowable den,~y of 1.6 fSR. 
Further, the 2018 Bonus Oen5'ty and Community Benefiu Policy permiuan addilional 1.0 FSR within 
the framework of the OCP. 

Thisresidentialprojectp,oposes1he replacementofthe22exiSlingrental uni15plusdevelopmentofan 
addi1ional 3Sremalunits.Thishelpsmeetthemuchneededregionalhousingdemandandasitisas 
recogniied public benefit, the project is designed to the 2.6 allowable FSR with a Grtl5o Floor Area of 
approximo1ely47,(l(K)SF 

The intended project is for 57remal uni1s in a six-Slorey wood frame building over 1 1/2 IC'llcls of 
undergroundconcreleparkinggarage. 

The compact square nature of the site imposed a challenge for the proposed 6 storey ma.sing. Care 
was taken to comply as much as pos.sible with the ~iSling RMl zoning setbacks. The building is 
situatedwithintheexiSling3Sloreyoutlineanditsapproximate12footsideyardsetbacksaretwice 
thoseoftheexiSling JSloreybuildingµ;-ovid ing amp!eroomfortheexitpalhswithaplantedbufferto 
thepatiosrunningalong21 " Street. 

Noiingtheslopingnatureolthesite,thebuilding'smainfloorelevationisil.'llomeettheexiSlinggrade 
along21 " Streetascloseaspos.sible.Accessto theundergroundparkingislocatedat thelowe5t 
portiono/1he1e;1rlaneattheNWcornerofthe5'1e.TheBuildi'l,IEntryis placedclose1otheSEcorner 
onW21 ' Street.'Frontyard'acce;sis providedto1hepatiosforgroundflooruni1sf.>cingthenew 
public realm off 11" framed within a double row of street trees. The public realm is connected vi§Ually, 
butphy5'callyseparatedfromthegroundfloorunitswithaS'wideboulevardandgradetransitionto 
the raised palios. 

The 6--Sletty massing is anicu lated by several ~itive design elements to break down the overall 
scaleandharmonizethebuildingform.Asimp'.epaletteofmaterialsisinteodedtoproduceaclean, 
contemporary build ing appearance. White co,rposite panels comprise the main buiding fatade, 
accemuatedbytwocontraSlingcolourvariationsSlrategicallyplacedonthebuildingcomposition. 
Dark brick is imroduced at the ground level units as 2-Sloreyframing elements forming a rhythmic 
cadencealong21 " Slreettop,ovidescaleandintere:llatthepedest,ianlevel.Thisrhythmis 
accen1uatedbytheuniformbalconyandglaiingsystemol1heS1aCkingunitsoverhead.Compositelap 
siding panels in a natura l wood tone are imroduced belween the brick frames 10 link the brick and add 
a continuous wa rm texture at thi, level. The ground IC'llel privacy fences are also comprised of this 
du1able'wood' paneltoreinforce 1his warm,1ac1i\efeeling. 

The repealing brick frames Slep up to a lhird level to ernpl\asize 1he buildi~ entrance. A glazed, metal 
canopy~tenclsoutatthel "-Sloreyandovertheentrypathfo<funheremp,a5'sandtoprovidecritical 

The )-storey brick frame is designed 10 wrap the southeasi corner of the bu lding as a fealure element 
and welcoming gesiure from the nearby urban comme<cial street. The upp,1 floors a1 this corner 
change to a contraSling, but complimentary colour and the natural 'wood' panels a re reintroduced to 
funheraccentuatethiscornerbuildingfeature.Woodpostsandbeamsof thesame naturalcolou, 
highl ightthecornerbalconies.Thesea,erepeatedatallcornerbalconieso'thebu ild ing 

ThebrickcontinuesalongtheeaS1elevation1omatchthescaleof the~acentVete<inarybuild;ngand 
isimendedtoaccentua1e theeaS1ernindooramenityspace.Thiseleva1ioniscarefullytreatedwith a 
secondcolourvariationat1henonheaS1cornerandreintroductionoflwoodpanelsinan1icipationof 
longte<mvisibilitytoadjacentSlfeets. 

Thebuild ingiscappedwithaflatroof1ominimize1heoverallheigh1ofthebuilding.Generous4foot 
overhangsserveasweatherp,otectionandalongwiththeirblackfascia tocon1raS1with1heclean 
whitepanelingbelowandfurtherSloplheeyefromwanderingfurtherupward.Theexceplionoccursat 
the feature corner, where, following 1he profile of the 3 Slorey brick fra= below, the roof pops up, 
breakingtheovera ll planetoaddvarietyandfurtherinte,eSI. 

TheexiSlingrentalbuildinghasonlyl and2-bedroomtypica l suites,whiletheproposedbuildinghasa 
mi~ofunitlypesincludingStudios, 1,2and3-bedroomunits,withmuchconsiderationgivenlothe 
comfortandeffidencyofeachoftheplan layouts.Six(10.5%) ofthe 57uritsaredesignatedasbelow 
market un its and .-re provided in a mix of 1, 2 and 3 bedroom types at the ground floor level 
Seventeen (30%) units aredesignedtomeetlheAdaplableDesignLevel2Cuidelines. 

11/2 1evelsofundergroundparkingisprovidedtohou.ealltheresidentialparking,somevisitor 
parkingandbicyclesecureSlorage,aswellasSlor.igelocke<roomsforallthe§Uites.SixVisitorspaces 
arelocatedon-§Urfaceatthe rearlane.Thesespacesarewell shiekledfromtherearlacinggroundunils 
byprivacyfencingandagradechangetotheloweredpatios. 

TheprimaryS1aircase(Slair'2)hasbeenlocatedataprominentlocationadjacent1heelevatorcore 
andacrossfrom1heentrylobby1oencourageitsu5e. ThisS1aira lsohasdirectaccesstooneof1hetwo 
p,ovidedindooramenityspaces.ThesecondaryS1airattheweS1sideolthebuildingexitstop.1hway 
1hatlink,directlytothepublicrealmalongW21S1S1reet.BothS1airwellswillincludelargesignageand 
fullyglazedfire-rateddoor-sforclearvisibil ity andsafety.Bo1hSlai rsex itdi rectlya1groundlC'llel and 
connectwiththeparkinggarage/garbage&recyclingfacilitlesandunitSlorageJbicyclelockers. 

Two indoor amenity rooms are included at the ground level of 1he building for the comm:>n use of all 
tenanl$. Both~arelocatedadjacenttheeleva1orcore andp,ima.ry<tair.fa<:hsp.ace i$ intendeda$ 
a place for meetings and,oci al gathe<ings or for use by people who work from home. They a lso 
providetheop1ionforhavingmuhipleactivities 1oo,;curat onetimeshouldonespacealreadybe 
reserved.Eachamen ity roomisprovidedwithaccessiblewashroomfacil i1iosandasmallkitchenette. 

Due to the compactness of the site and limited outdoor space, a third outdoor amenity is proposed as 
anoutdoorterraceatthe,ooflevel.Thecentralelevatorshaftandp,ima,yuirwille,ctendtotheroof 
level.This outdoorterracewillprovideopportunityfo<fresh airandg,eatviews,especiallytothenorth 
shore mountains. The terrace will be partially covered with a wood trellis to provide ,ain protection or 
shadecoveronhot§Unnydays. 

.... -~ I ~ ~ 

••-
ew,,lgJL ... ,;,.. ,__ ~ ., 
_,,, ,, pon io~-~ -., 
..........,.. ol _..,.ioh-olh
ond ""'fnotbo -iio..,_\Mltn.<..,_ ~olhoolloo. __ _ -~-- C<,1,-aa<>s -vonfy ond bo ,__,.,._ 
-ond~ o-, t,ojob, """""" -00.-- 01 _,,-.... ,,,-. 
o-an ... --...,~,,,, .., 0-Ml<,g. 

lssuedfor P.erorir,g, OevdCJ!li'TNJrlf'fflril 
January26, 2021 

Issued for Mw1soly Design Panel 
May 12.2021 

R&-lsS(ledf'orRazoolng, Oevel(J!lmemPennt 
5eptent>er 02, 2021 

Re-lssuedForRezorm;), Oevel(J!lmemf'fflm 
f«lruary04,2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124W20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

Design Rationale 
Scali!: NTS 
Ftbn.tary 04,2022 

A-0.44 



View from South East View from South West 

South West - Bird's eye View of Residential Entrance 

.... -~ I ~ ~ 

••-
ew,rlgJL ... ,;,... ,__ ~ ., 
_,,, ,,pon io ~-'""""11•"" 
.....,,...... ol _..,.ioh-olh
and""'fnot bo-i io_,,_""""'-'..,_ ~olho"""'-__ _ -~--C<,1,-aa<>s-vonfyandbo,__b_ 
-and~o-,t,ojob, """""" -oo.--a_,,-....,,,-. 
"""' ...,_...,.,...,~"'""'""Mlr,g. 

lssuedforP.eroril'll,l, OevdCJ!li'TNJIIPfflril 
January26, 2021 

Issued for Mw1soly Design Panel 
May12,2021 

R&-lsS!ledForRBZooing, ()eyel(J!IITIBMPemil 
5epteni>ef02,2021 

Re-lssuedForRezorm;), OevelopmemPt<rnt 
F«Jruary04,2022 

-Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124W20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

Renderings 
=-='----------"'--- Scali!:NTS 

Ftbn.iary04,2022 

A-0.45 



111 ~ (; 
' W 20th Street W.____ 

I 

·r 

I 

.J. 

ew,rlgJL ... ,;,... ,__ ~ ., 

-o, ,iponio~-'""""11•"" 
.....,,...... d ....,.ioh-dh-

:~":;,~=-= 
C<,t,aa<>s-..-,fyandt>o,__,.,,_ 
-and«n<titia-.o-,t>ojol), """""" -oo.--«a"¥-....,,,-. """'...,_...,.,...,~"'""' ""Mlr,g. 

L= ForP.erorir,,i, OevdCJ!li'TNJIIPfflril 
January26, 2021 

.,,.,._,,.,,", .. 
May12,2021 

R&-lsS!ledForRBZooing, ()eyel(J!IITIBMPemil 
5epteni>ef02,2021 

L 

Re-lswedForRezorm;), OevelopmemPt<rnt 
F«Jruary04,2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124 W 20th Street 
North Vancouver 

Site Plan 
Scali!:1/8"• N J' 
Ftbn.iary04,2022 

A-1.01 



VR 138 

-~2~ 
(TOPOffl.ASl11~1 

FOUR STOREY 

APARTMENT BUILD ING 

SANITARY 

=i~i7£~~ 
ELI=.VATION102.921MEffiiiS 

LANE 

49" 

10, 

TOTAL SITE AREA= 1686.6 m' 
(18154sq.fl.) 

i 

' 
' 
' 
' 
' 
' 
' ' > 

i f 
:~ 

\_ 

~~ 
tl-'' :1" \ «#-ff'~ ,<>">11' 

.. 
.~' 

25 

UJ 
z 
<( 
_J 

.... -~ I ~ ~ 
'H' •• -

'F' 

ew,rlgJL ... ,;,... ,__ ~ ., 
_,,, ,,ponio~-<>">""1111•"" .....,_,..... ol _..,.io.,._olh
ond""'fnotbo-iio_,,_""""'-'..,_ ~olhooll0o. __ _ -~--C<,t,aa<>s-vonfyondbo,__,.,._ 
-ond~o-,t,ojob, """""" -oo.--a_,,-....,,,-. 
,.,,,,,.., _...,.,...,~,,,, ... o-...ir,g. 

lssuedf<>rR=rir,,i. OevdCJ!li'TNJIIPfflril 
January26, 2021 

Issued for Mw1soly Design Panel 
May12.2021 

R&-lsS!ledForRBZoolng, ()eyei(J!IITIBMPemil 
5epteni>ef02.2021 

Re-lssuedForRezorm;I. Oevel(J!lmemf'fflm 
F«Jruary04,2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124 W20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

Survey Plan 
Scali!:1/8""• N J' 
Ftbn.iary04,2022 

A-1.02 



I 
-------------- ------------r---------'-----~ ~~~ ~ -+---i! _______ ___ _ 

DriveAsile 

DriveAsile 

SECTION A 

_____________ Roof Tenace B.121.84m 

_______________ J~ PfateB. 120.n m ~ 

__________________ 6111 El. 118.00m_ 

l 
__________________ 5th El. 114.94m _ 

_____ 3rd El. 108.82m _ 

___ 2nd El. 105.76m_ 

.... ... ~ 
I ... ~ 

••-

lssuedfocAeroning, OevelopmentPennil 
Jarmry28, 2021 

lssuei:lfocAdvisoryOesii;inPanel 
May12, 2021 

Ae-lssuedfOfAeronillu.Deve10proerrtPenTI~ 
Septembef02, 2021 

Re-lssuedfocReronin~.DevelopmentPerm~ 
F-ebruary04,2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd. 
124 W 20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

Site Section A 
5eal!:1/8'• 1'-0' 
Feliruart04,2022 

A-1.03 



Roof Deck 

UnrtB 

UnrtB 

UnrtB 

UnitB 

Lane 
UnitB 

Amenity 

SECTION B 

______________ Roof Tenace B.1 21.84m 

________________ J ~PfateB. 120.n m ! 

___________________ 6111 El. 11B.OOm_ 

l 
___________________ 5th El. 114.94m_ 

4th El. 111.BBm 

~ 
l 

---------------- - ------- ,,,-

_____ 3rd El. 108.82m_ 

.... ... ~ 
I ... ~ 

••-

lssuedfocAeroning, OevelopmentPennil 
Jarmry28, 2021 

lssuei:lfocAdvisoryOesii;inPanel 
May12, 2021 

Ae-lssuedfOfAeronillu.Deve10proerrtPenTI~ 
Septembef02, 2021 

Re-lssuedfocReronin~.DevelopmentPerm~ 
F-ebruary04,2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd. 
124 W 20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

Site Section B 
5eal!:1/8'• 1'-0' 
Feliruart04,2022 

A-1.04 



Adjacent 
f'ropert¥ 

===:1==1------ ---

Unit Bl UnitB2 

Unit Bl UnitB2 

Unit Bl UnitB2 

Unit Bl UnitB2 

Unit Bl UnitB2 

Unit Bl UnitB2 

Unrt B 

Unrt B 

UnrtB 

Unit B 

UnitB 

UnitB 

SECTION C 

UnrtC 

unrt c 

UnrtC 

UnrtC 

UnrtC 

UnrtC 

__ ___ _ __ _ J.olibyBOIJLB.124.ll!loL --

________ Roof TerraceB.121.84m __ 

__________ TQP Plate 8.120.77m ~ __ 

_____________ 6th 8.11 8.00m 

~ 
i 

_____________ 5th B.1 14.94m 

Lonsdale 
pet 3rd El. 10B.B2m 

Hospital 

--------- 2nd El. 105.76m 

.... ... ~ 
I ... ~ 

••-

lssuedfocAeroning, OevelopmentPennil 
Jarmry28, 2021 

lssuei:lfocAdvisoryOesii;inPanel 
May12, 2021 

Ae-lssuedfOfAeronillu.Deve10proerrtPenTI~ 
Septembef02, 2021 

Re-lssuedfocReronin~.DevelopmentPerm~ 
F-ebruary04,2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124W20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

Site Section C 
5eal!:1/8'• 1'-0' 
Feliruart04,2022 

A-1.05 



1~ 
------...1.------rr-__________ ------

11 

II 
;II 

25 

1 -
I 
I 

I 

I 
I 

I 

28 

------

rt 
II 
II 
II 
II 
II 
II 

,r== 

27 28 

43 

Two Way 
Drive Aisle 

29 30 

12T·I~ " 
[3<1.oom] 

n 
LJ 

32 

n 
LJ 

23 Residential Stalls 

33 34 35 36 

n 
LJ 

37 38 

__ _J 

.... . ,.. 
I ~ ~ 

••-ARClilllCIS INOORIORAlB) -·-..... ----=-

L 
'""''"'"'-·""'-·-January28,2021 

lssuedFor/1.cMsoryOeslgnPM 
May12.2021 

R&-lssuedForRe.zoring, Oevelo?f!l&MP!lffl'il 
September02,2021 

R&-lssuedForRe.zoring,Oevelopmem!'$'nil 
Ftibruary04,2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124W20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

LParking 
Level 2 
Scali!: 1/8' • 1~0' 
Ftoruary04,2022 

A-2.01 



-

,_ ~ 
0 

: - ~ 

1-- C: ,__ L 

-
I-,__ 

f-- 0' ,,_ 
I-- ·" 
1--- ... 

~ 

f- C. 
I- c;; - ca -

·----=-= 
2 3 

< 

Lobby 
_I\ 

W///// 

Two Way 

DriveAisle 24 Residential Stalls 

i _J 

I I 
L _I 

. ~ J - irs.-v= ,~ ~-~---~- ~ 
6 9 10 11 12 ,;-

17 

I, 11'-t>" 

14 

-

,_ .. , 

:, A 
~ 

.... . ,.. 
I~• • 111111 
~~ 

~~ 

L 
~e~~

8
~ , 0efflCl!lfTlerrtf'ffiril 

~ef/°'"
202

~soryOeslgnPanel 

~ \: ,:.~~,OevelO?f!18rIIPIWll'il 

R&-lssuedForRe.zOMl(l,OevelopmemPIWll'il 
: Ftibruary04,2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd , 
124W20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

L~,. 
Level 1 
Scali!: 1/8'•1~0' 
Ftoruary04,2022 

A-2.02 



14 '---<½ 

, FDC""' 45m to Hydrant •;--------s::::: -- -
~"::t- () 
20th Street w ________ 

I 

,J. 

.... -~ I ~ ~ 

••-
~ t. Alrlglft,__,"-i, _,, ;,-•- --~ .. ., 
""""""'"-·""'-"""·-· rd~no<t>oueodi',olll' •Y-lho ..;-
.-..-,Olhl<fl<:o.--,;"'"°""' 
i- """"do"°",,.. ocolo<I -•"'" o c.,,,_-,11.-Wy.,dt>o_,_!Or,I 'L =:::s:-:=.:.·~:t-E 
lssuedF<J Rero<ing,~el(:fl'l)el'Cf'em'it 
Jn1ay28,2021 

lssuedF<J A<t.iso<yOeli(J')Pnl 
May 12,2021 

Re-l$$U«I F,::r Rezo!ing, OMl~t f'em'i t 
1 S!l:)tell'bef02,2021 

L 
Crystal 
Apartments Ltd. 
124W20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

Main Floor 
Scale: 1~•- N)" 
feb:uayOl ,2022 

A-2.03 



, r 
,---------
1 

I 
I 

I 

I 

I 
I 
I 

I 
I 

A-1.05 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124 W 20th Street 
North Vancouver 

Scali!:1/8"• N J' 
Ftbn.iary04,2022 

A-2.04 



, ---------
1 

I 

I 
I 

I 

I 

I 

I 
I 

I 

121'- l l)S" 
[~.OOmJ 

A-1.05 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124 W 20th Street 
North Vancouver 

L ~•13P~ 
Scali!:1/8"• N J' 
Ftbn.iary04,2022 

A-2.05 



14 '-% 

' __ f 
,---------
1 

I 

I 
I 

I 

I 

I 

I 
I 

I 

121'- l l)S" 
[3<1,00m] 

----

7 

[:!Sim] 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124 W 20th Street 
North Vancouver 

A-2.06 



14 '-'*.l 

, ---------
1 

I 

I 

I 

I 
I 

I 

I 
I 

I 

7 

A-1.05 

- ~ -
_______l_______ .. _J 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124 W 20th Street 
North Vancouver 

Leo,,,.., 
Scali!:1/8"• N J' 
Ftbn.iary04,2022 

A-2.07 



r 

14 '~ 

,-------- - - ----w==-----~~--
11 -~_J - -~-=-s--, 
:1 ~~~ I 1: 1 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

r----~-~---,, :1 11 

11 I' 11 I l__ 11 I 
~~-==~J I 

I 

- ~ --

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd 
124 W 20th Street , 
North Vancouver 

A-2.08 



IZl '- l il!z" 
[~.oom] 1~ 

----- --+---i----

, ---------
1 

~-==7- -~=----=--1 
I I 
L ____ _J 

I 

I 

I 

I 
I 

I 

I 
I 

,----7 ,----7 

,----" 
I 
I 
I ,-~ 

I I I 
L ___ _J I 

I 
I 
L ____ 7 ,----

1 I 
L ___ _J 

ROOF: 121.38m ,-~I 
: I 
I 

I I 
L_7 

--------------1 

r 
:1 

Roof Deck :1 

Amenity 1

1

1 

(1,910 sn 
FFE: 121.53m :1 

IL - - - 7 , - - - ~~-~~~~~9""'-i 7 , - - --1 
Le,_ _ l_ ____ J - l_ ____ J - l_ ____ J - -1------------L - _d 

------t-
~ 

.... -~ I ~ ~ 

••-
ew,rlgJL ... ,;,... ,__ ~ ., 
_ ,,,,,pon io ~-'""""11•"" 
.....,,...... ol _..,.ioh - olh
and""'fnot bo -iio_,,_""""'-'..,_ ~olho"""'-__ _ -~--C<,1,-aa<>s - vonfyand bo ,__b_ 
-and~o-,t,ojob, """""" - oo .--a_,,-....,,,-. 
"""' ...,_...,.,...,~"'""'""Mlr,g. 

lssuedfor P.eroril'll,l, OevdCJ!li'TNJIIPfflril 
January26, 2021 

Issued for Mw1soly Design Panel 
May 12,2021 

R&-lsS!ledForRBZooing, ()eyel(J!IITIBM Pemil 
5epteni>ef 02,2021 

Re-lssuedForRezorm;), OevelopmemPt<rnt 
F«Jruary04,2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124 W 20th Street 
North Vancouver 

Roof Plan 
Scali!:1/8"• N J' 
Ftbn.iary 04,2022 

A-2.09 



14 '~ 
[4.51m 

,--------
1 

I 

I 
I 

I 

I 

I 

I 
I 

,----7 ,----
1 I I ' 
I L ___ _J 

I 
I 
I 

,3 '--01 

ROOF: 121.38m 

,----
1 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

""'""'-""" I I 

7 ,----J 
I I 

L_ ~ 

~tg~~ OVTLINE 

7 ~-----1 
L ____ _J :1 

:1 
I 
I 

- ~ --

7 

L f#:~ 
~e~~8~ OefflCl!lfTlerrtP!:if!ril 

~ 8f/°'"
202

~soryOeslgnPanel 

L 

~ \: ,:.~~, OevelO?f!18rIIPIWll'il 

~:~~ ~orm;i, Oevelopmerrt !'$'nil 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd 
124 W 20thStreet , 
North Vancouver 

Elevator and Stair 
Roof Plan 
Scali!: 1/8'•1~0' 
Ftoruary04,2022 

A-2.10 



Lobby lloo!J:U24.89m_ t -
Roof Terractll.~ 1,111m~ ~ _ 

Top e_la~IJgO_J?~ : _ 

_6tll_EL_!18_,IJ(JITl_ 

Existing 4 Storey apartment ~ 

--------------l-------,~~I. 111.88m : . 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - -:- - - - - - - - - _ 1_ _ 7 l 
1 

_3rQ__l!L_1__(}8_,1!21Tl_ ______________ I __________ T _ _J 

I I 

--------------i----------/~L1os~~ 
I I ~ 

--------------1----------1--7 9 
I I a 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - -:- - - - - - - - - -1ain!L1__()2_,701Tl_m~!'ai==-i 

I

I~ ~ 
I~ ~ 
~ i 

}---i 
.I ~ 

,, 
Q I I 1: 

P2 El. 96.30m 1
1 1

1 ---- T=~==========================~--------j,--
6 ~ 

SOUTH ELEVATION (W 20TH STREET) 
Exterior Finish Legend Spatial Calculations 

0Roof 2-ply SBSMembrane, 0 concreteCopings Caps, Headers, Lintels and Sills 
light Grey Colour to match brick 

(ysotrrt Hardie Panel <§) Vinyl Window Vinyl Frame 
BenjaminMooreAF-68OWish Black 

(vRoofFascia Fiber Cement TrimBoard <§) Vinyl Window Vinyl Frame 
BenjaminMoore2132-10Black While 

<e)wall Panel 
~~f~~~ne~~o~:oti

st
~rie

5~~6~ 0 Guardrails Aluminum Frames, Powder Coated, 
MakinMetals, lronOre 

<3> wa11Panel HardieRevealPanel S}'stem, Smooth ~ Guardrail Glazing Tempered Glass Panels, Vitruim Glass, 
Benjamin Moore HC-1O4 Copley Gray Colour: Pewter 

<3> wa11Panel 
~:~f~~~;~~o~ea~ti~

st
ts~ietra~~: 

<Jy curtainWall Smooth.Matt Finish, 
Black 

(ywoodCladding HardiePlanklapSiding, 6" Exposure, 0 curtainWall Spandrel VilrumGlass, 
Colour: Opack:oat #3-O5B6 Medium Gray 

0 BrickVenner YankeeHillBrick,Smoott, <§> Metal Canopy Powder Coated Steel, 
StandardRunningBond,Oark lronSpot BenjaminMoore2132-1OBlack 

<3> aa1conyFascia Fibre Cement Trim Board, 
BenjaminMoore2132-10Black 

<§> columns Wood, 
Colour: Broda Stain, Natural111 

<3) 0eams Fibre Cement Trim Board, 
BenjaminMoore2132-1OBlack 

0 Trellis Wood, 
Colour: Broda Stain, Natural111 

<3) FeatureSoffil LonglloardSoffil, V-9roove,6" Exposure, 
Colour: LightCheny 

<§> Window Flashing PrefinishedAluminum 
Colour: See Supplementary Colour Board 

<@) Fascia Flashing PrefinishedAluminum 
Colour: See Supplementary Colour Board 

0 Gutter&RWl PrefinishedAluminum, 
Colour: See Supplementary Colour Board 

fnt<m po~ mort u m11-.Dllt•""'" Totllfli;dl Ara U""1ect 1', Unprv111:1od Umli,g E>p0sh111Bull,lng f1<1 1', U..,tt<tod M~R~°'." 1;:'= 1..,c'"'::.,. 

i=================c::,'"'=m=•==•~'-=:;m•==='=-== :='="=-='"='='=•= .. ::::~"'=-===='=-=======::'.·f .. IT•ft".:1::'."f'::-IT.fr::: 

Sautbfli;all 

Wnlfli; ... 

1. Anuksbasedcntablt3.2.3.1.t1ndl2.3.1for GroopC bulldni:,1. WhllrelheUmldrigCfs1m:11ndMa:tAmcategeryOOnol11Uon111bleolue.lhtresl.fl1hmbeenlfMrpolaledltroughlloe1llnlt(pc(11ion. 
2Al lllmillngdstancts111mustndtoP«9'11YUnts(P401'10lheo:.rtr1Hntd11!rett 
ll'lr3.2.3.14(3),ooproteetedopetlQ'QSdono11~ytol<tcompartmtrawtllirllht1wn1bukinglhat1re1prlnldtrt<I 

Lane 

.... -~ I ~ ~ 

••-
ew,rlgJL ... ,;,... ,__ ~ ., 
_,,, ,,pon io ~-'""""11•"" 
.....,,...... ol _..,.ioh-olh
and""'fnot bo-i io_,,_""""'-'..,_ ~olho"""'-__ _ -~--C<,1,-aa<>s-vonfyandbo,__b_ 
-and~o-,t,ojob, """""" -oo.--a_,,-....,,,-. 
"""' ...,_...,.,...,~"'""'""Mlr,g. 

lssued forP.eroril'll,l, OevdCJ!li'TNJIIPfflril 
January 26, 2021 

Issued for Mw1soly Design Panel 
May12, 2021 

R&-lsS!ledFor RBZooing, ()eyel(J!IITIBMPemil 
5epteni>ef02,2021 

Re-lssued For Rezorm;), OevelopmemPt<rnt 
F«Jruary04, 2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124W20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

South Elevation 
(W 20th Street) 
Scali!:1/8"• N J' 
Ftbn.iary04 , 2022 

A-3.00 



W20th Street 

Exterior Finish Legend 

0Roof 2-ply SBSMembrane, 0 concreteCopings 
Light Grey 

(>sotrit Hardie Panel <§) Vinyl Window 
Benjamin MooreAF-680Wish 

0Roo1Fascia Fiber CementTrimBoard <§> Vinyl Window 
BenjaminMoore2132-10Black 

<e)wall Panel ~=~f~~~ne~~o~:oti~rie5
~~g~h 

0 Guardrails 

<3> wa11 Panel ~=~f~~~ne~to~ea~tl~t~·p~~i~~~ ~ Guardrail Glazing 

<3> wa11Panel ~:~f!~~ne~~o~ea~tt7stls~ie~ra~~h <3> curtainWall 

<:y woodCladding HardiePlanklapSiding, 6"Exposure, 0 curtainWall Spandrel 
Colour: 

0 BrickVenner YankeeHill Brick,Smooth <i}> Metal Canopy 
Standard Running Bond, Dark Iron Spot 

? 
Q t llllllf EL 124.89m 

errace El. 121.84m 

~~e ~hJgQ_,7Im ? 

II 11 

: I ~ :: 

Jic_p2El96.30m --============ = ==---1: - _________ _ 6------ ~ 

EAST ELEVATION 

Caps, Headers, lintels and Sills 
Colour to match brick 

Vinyl Frame 
Black 

Vinyl Frame 
While 

<3> sa1conyFascia 

<3) columns 

<§) seams 

~~~~n~~:i~~Tr~~• 6r~wder Coated, 0 Trellis 

~~~~~:~~~:~s Panels, Vitruim Glass, <§> Feature Soffil 

~~;th, Matt Finish, <§> Window Flashing 

~:c~~~i5!3--0586 Medium Gray <§> Fascia Flashing 

:~~~:j~~~~~s~~~2-10 Black 0 Gutter & RWL 

Fibre Cement Trim Board, 
BenjaminMoore2132-10Black 

Wood, 
Colour: BrodaS1ain, Natural1 11 

Fibre Cement Trim Board, 
BenjaminMoore2132-10Black 

Wood, 
Colour: Broda Stain, Natural1 11 

LongboardSoffil, V-groove,6" Exposure, 
Colour: light Cherry 

PrefinishedAluminum 
Colour: See Supplementary Colour Board 

PrefinishedAluminum 
Colour: See Supplementary Colour Board 

PrefinishedAluminum, 
Colour: See Supplementary Colour Board 

Spatial Calculations 

Umili,g01lt11101 Totllfai;dl Ara U""1ecl 1', U prvlll:lod Um l i,g E,posl1111Bull,lng F1<1 1', U..,tKlod M,•.,. A
0

oq.. ,::= (..,C'"'::111 
Ara Opoaing ;paring Oist-.(•) MuM1Cal1g111J Opning .n •~•••·lul •~•••"' l====~=:};:::=:;;::::::,;:,::::;,;m•=f:•::jmi:::• === 11 ---_ -_, -,_ -'_ -_ -_ -_ --""1======,;::===;,;,::=::'j.,~~"':::'j.,~~"':: 

Sautbfli;MII 

Wnlfli; ... 

N<ats: 
1. Anuksbasedcntablt3.2.3.1.11ndl2.3.1forGroopCbulldni:,1. WhllrelheUmldrigCfs1m:11ndMa:tAmcategeryOOnolllU001tablenlue,lhtresiltsha\'lbeenlfMrpolatedltroughlloe1linte(pcl11ion. 
2Al lllmillngdstancts111mustndtoP«9111YUnts(P40f10lheo:.rtr1Hntd1S!rett 
ll'lr3.2.3.14(3).ooproteetldopt,l'IQ"QSdono11~ytol<tcompartrntrawtllirllhtsitn1bukingthat1re1prlnldtrt<I 

.... -~ I ~ ~ 

••-

lssuedforP.eroril'll,l, OevdCJ!li'TNJIIPfflril 
January 26, 2021 

Issued for Mw1soly Design Panel 
May12, 2021 

R&-lsS!ledFor RBZooing, ()eyel(J!IITIBMPemil 
5epteni>ef02,2021 

Re-lssuedForRezorm;), OevelopmemPt<rnt 
F«Jruary04, 2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124W20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

East Elevation 
Scali!:1/8"• N J' 
Ftbn.iary04,2022 

A-3.01 



Lobb)'Jloo[B J24 

l
!il:::, ~ 

.! :i 

~ I 1
. ---f-

Roo_LT~ctl) R 1Mm 
1 

__ _ 

Topj>late B.120.77m .., : __ _ 

_ _§tn!i,11BJ)l)m 

__ Pg_ El_,_9_61(lm 

NORTH 
Exterior Finish Legend 

0Roof 2-plySBSMembrane, 0 concreteCopings Caps, Headers, Lintels and Sills <3>sa1conyFascia 
Light Grey Colour to match brick 

(ysotrrt Hardie Panel <e) Vinyl Window Vinyl Frame <§> columns 
Benjamin MooreAF-680Wish Black 

(vRoofFascia FiberCementTrimBoard <§) Vinyl Window Vinyl Frame <iY Beams 
BenjaminMoore2132-10Black White 

<e)wall Panel 
~~f~~~ne~~o~:ot~

st
~rie

5
~~~ 

0 Guardrails Aluminum Frames, Powder Coated, 0 Trellis 
MakinMetals, lron0re 

<3> wa11Panel HardieRevealPanel S}'stem,Smooth <3:> GuardrailGlazing Tempered Glass Panels, Vitruim Glass, <3) FeatureSoffil 
Benjamin Moore HC-1 04 Copley Gray Colour: Pewter 

<3> wa11Panel 
~:~1!~~ne~~o~ea~ti7

st
ls~ietra~~: 

<3) curtainWall Smooth.Matt Finish, <i1/ WlndowFlashing 
Black 

<:y woodCladding HardiePlanklapSiding,6"Exposure, 0 curtainWall Spandrel VilrumGlass, <@) Fascia Flashing 
Colour: 0paci-<:oat #3-0586 Medium Gray 

0BrickVenner YankeeHill Brick,Smooth <§>Metal Canopy Powder Coated Steel, <:g> Gutter&RWl 
StandardRunningBond,0ark lronSpot BenjaminMoore2132-10Black 

Existing 4 Storey apartment 

ELEVATION (LANE) 

Fibre Cement Trim Board, 
BenjaminMoore2132-10Black 

Wood, 
Colour: Broda Stain, Natural1 11 

Fibre Cement Trim Board, 
BenjaminMoore2132-10Black 

Wood, 
Colour: Broda Stain, Natural1 11 

LongboardSoffil, V-9roove,6"Exposure, 
Colour: Ligh!Cheny 

PrefinishedAluminum 
Colour: See Supplementary Colour Board 

PrefinishedAluminum 
Colour: See Supplementary Colour Board 

PrefinishedAluminum, 
Colour: See Supplementary Colour Board 

Spatial Calculations 

Umili,g01lt11101 Totllfai;dl AraU""1ecl 1', U prvlll:lod Um l i,g E,p0sh1gBull,lngf1<1 1', U..,tt<tod M,• .•. Anoq.. 
1
;:'= 

1
..,C'-!::111 

Ara Opoaing ;paring Oist-.(m) Ma.W1Cllegory Opning .n •~•••·lul •~•••"' l====~=:};:::=:;;::::::,;:,::::;,;m•=f:•::jmi:::• === 11 ---_ -_, -,_ -'_ -_ -_ -_ -_eol======,;::===;,;;::=::'j .. ~~"':::'j .. ~~"':: 

Sautbfai; ... 

Wn!Fai; ... 

Ncus: 
1. Anuksbasedcntablt3.2.3.1.11ndl2.3.1forGroopCbulldni:,1. WhllrelheUmldrigOfs1m:11ndMa:tAmcategeryOOnol11Uon111bleolue,lhtresl.ft1hmbeenlfMrpolatedltroughlloe1llnlt(pc(11ion. 
2Al lllmillngdstancts111mustndtoP«9'11YUnts(P401'10dleo:.rtr1Hn1d11!rett 
ll'lr3.2.3.14(3).ooproteetedoperiQ"QSdono11~ytol<tcompartmtrawtllilllht1wn1bukingthat1re1prlnldtrt<I 

.... -~ I ~ ~ 

••-

lssuedforP.eroril'll,l,OevdCJ!li'TNJIIPfflril 
January26, 2021 

Issued for Mw1soly Design Panel 
May12,2021 

R&-lsS!ledForRBZooing, ()eyel(J!IITIBMPemil 
5epteni>ef02,2021 

Re-lssuedForRezorm;), OevelopmemPt<rnt 
F«Jruary04,2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124W20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

North Elevation 
(Lane) 
Scali!:1/8"• N J' 
Ftbn.iary04,2022 

A-3.02 



I! 
11 
I• 
1= 
1---------
1 

I! ~ 

:I i 
11.i ' 

~~==~~~t:;~~~~~~:~~~~~~ 

1: t - - - - - -- 6 7 1
1 

11 ----- ---- 11 t½ l'?_El,_96l(lm _ _________________ ~_::_-:__::.::_:::_;:_ = ~'=---c_~====~ ------t 

~---------------

Exterior Finish Legend 

0 Roof 2-plySBSMembrane, 0 concreteCopings 
Light Grey 

(ysotrtt Hardie Panel <§) Vinyl Window 
Benjamin MooreAF-68OWish 

0Roo! Fascia FiberCementTrimBoard <§> Vinyl Window 
BenjaminMoore2132-10Black 

<e)wall Panel ~:~f~~~ne~~o~:ot~st~rie5~~g~ 0 Guardrails 

<3> wa11Panel Har~ieRevealPanel S}'stem, Smooth 
Ben1amin Moore HC-1 04 Copley Gray 

<3:> Guardrail Glazing 

<3> wa11Panel ~:~f~~~"e~~o~ea~ti7stls~ie~ra~: <3:> curtainWall 

<:y woodCladding HardiePlanklapSiding, 6"Exposure, 0 curtainWall Spandrel 
Colour: 

0 BrickVenner YankeeHill Brick, Smooth <§> Metal Canopy 
Standard Running Bond, Dark Iron Spot 

WEST ELEVATION 

Caps, Headers, Lintels and Sills 
Colour to match brick 

Vinyl Frame 
Black 

Vinyl frame 
White 

<3> Ba1conyFascia 

<3) columns 

<3) Beams 

~~~~n~~:i~~Tr~~• 6r~wder Coated, 0 Trellis 

~~~~~:~~~:~s Panels. Vitru im Glass, <3> Feature Soffit 

~~;th, Matt Finish, <'.iy Window Flashing 

~~c~~~?!J--0586 Medium Gray <§> Fascia Flashing 

:~~:i~~~~~s~;~2- 1 o Black 0 Gutter & RWl 

Fibre Cement Trim Board, 
BenjaminMoore2132-10Black 

Wood, 
Colour: Broda Stain, Natural1 11 

Fibre Cement Trim Board, 
Benjamin Moore2132-1OBlack 

Wood, 
Colour:BrodaStain, Natural1 11 

LongboardSoffit, V-9roove,6" Exposure, 
Colour: Light Cherry 

PrefinishedAluminum 
Colour: See Supplementary Colour Board 

PrefinishedAluminum 
Colour. See Supplementary Colour Board 

PrefinishedAluminum, 
Colour: See Supplementary Colour Board 

Spatial Calculations 

UrnllirvOllt10C1 TotllFli;dl Ara U""1ecl 1', U prvlll:lod Um l i,g E,p0sh1gBull,lng f1<1 1', U..,tt<tod M,•.,.A
0

oq.. ,::= (..,ci.::.,. 
Ara Opoaing ;paring Oist-.(m) Ma.W1Category Opning .n •~•••·lul •~•••"' l=====::!=:Je:::=:;;::::=,;:,::::;,;m•=f:•::jmi:::• === 11 ---_ -_, -,__ --'_ -_ -_ -_ -_eol======,;::===;,;,::=::'j .. ~~"':::'j .. ~~"':: 

SautbFli; ... 

Wnl~-

Ncus: 
1. Anuksbasedcntablt3.2.3.1.11ndl2.3.7forGroopCbulldni:,1. WhllrelheUmldrigCfs1m:11ndMa:tAmcategeryOOnol11Uon111bleolue,lhtresl.fl1hmbeenlfMrpolattdltroughlloe1linte,"pcl11ion. 
2 Al l llmillngdstar>cts111musondtoP«9111YUnts(P401'10dleo:.rtr1Hntd11!rett 
ll'lr3.2.3.1 4(3),ooprotee!tdopeningsdono11~ytoltteompartmtrawillirllht1wn1bukinglhat1re1prlnldtrt<I 

.... -~ I ~ ~ 

••-

lssuedforP.eroril'll,l,OevdCJ!li'TNJIIPfflril 
January 26, 2021 

Issued for Mw1soly Design Panel 
May12, 2021 

R&-lsS!led ForRBZooing, ()eyel(J!IITIBMPemil 
5epteni>ef02,2021 

Re-lssuedForRezorm;), OevelopmemPt<rnt 
F«Jruary04,2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124W20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

West Elevation 
Scali!:1/8"• N J' 
Ftbn.iary04,2022 

A-3.03 



0 Typical Roofing 0 Fascias 
IKO Cambridge Dual Grey Fibre Cement Tnm Board 

Colour: BM2132-1081ack 

0 sottits 
Hardie Panel System 
Colour: SM AF-680 Wish 
Colour-Matched, Embedded 

Screws 

0 Metal Canopy 
Powder Coated Steel, 

<3> Exterior Wall Panel 0 Exterior Wall Panel 
Hardie Reveal Panel System Hardie Reveal Panel System 

<§> ~;t~~~ S~ttif Black 
Colour: BM HC-104 Colour: BM HC-87 Ashley Gray 
Copley Gray Colour-Matched, Embedded 

Soflit: Longboard V-groove 

Colour: LightCherry 

Colour-Matched, Embedded Screws 

n 
<3> Exterior Wall Panel 0 Feature Siding 

Hardie Reveal Panel System Longboard V-groove, 
Colour: BM OC-57 Colour: Light Cherry 
White Heron 
Colour-Matched, Embedded 

Sc,= 

0 Balcony Glazing 
VitrumGlassGroup 
Colour:Pewter 

0 Brick Veneer 
YankieHill 

<$> Curtain Wall 
Frames 
Colour: Black 

Colour: Dark Iron Spot Smooth 
Running Bond 

0 Railngs 
Colour: Makin Metals - Iron Ore 

0 Curtain Wall Spandrel 
Vitrum Glass Group 
Colour: Opaci-coat #3-0586 

Medium Gray 

i Vinyl Windows 
Feature: Black 
Standard:IMlite 

r::============================ii-<'2 ~a~J~tP~n~rpical 
Colour: Benjamin M00<e AF-680 Wish 

~--------------------+-< 11 Trellis 
Wood. Colour: Broda Stain, Natural 111 

1 
~~J~iembrane, 
Cap Sheet, Min 2% Slope, Light Grey 

==--,,,a Soffit - Feature 
Lor:igboru:d Soffit, V-groove, 6" Exposure 
Colour: Light Cherry 

-------,-< 16 Feature Drop Beam 
Fiber Cement Trim Board 
Colour: Benjamin Moo<e 2132-10 Black 

----,-<ea Feature Vinyl Windows 
Colour:Black 

____ ,__ Glazed Guardrail 
Aluminum Frames Powder Coated 
Colour: lroo Ore 
Tempered Glass Panels Vitruim Glass 
Colour: Pewter 

, ~-~ - ~~~b~~ii~~dFascia 
Colour: Benjamin M00<e 2132-10 Black 

,,-----l-<15 Wood Columns 
Colour: Broda StaJn, Natural 111 

----,-<. ,ab ~~rl:~\~dows 

4b Wall Panel - Feature 
Fiber Cement Panels: HardiePanel Smooth 
HardieReve_al Panel System 
Colour: BenIamm MOOfe HC-104 Copley 

=ah--,s Feature Wood Cladding 
~~:iilso~~o9~t~~'&~~sure 

--""S3r-- -<4a ~t!1
b~~eJ;e~ :~~J~!diePanel Smooth 

Hardie Reva.al Panel System 
Colour: BenIamm M00<e OC-57 White Heron 

----~ ~~:1c~!~DftJ1 
~tt!:0i~~t~=;~~i:1~~tre, 
Soffit - Feature 
Lor,gboard Soflit . V-groove, 6" Exposure 
Colour: Light Cherry 

!!l---- 0 fJ1~r~~~af 8 11 

Anodized, Vrtrum Glass 

+ ---- 0 ~
1
~~~

1
~

5
~ all - Spandrel 

Colour: Opaci-coat #3--0586 Medium Gray 

-j-------<_22 ~e~~r~~!JM~~~~~:iai l ing 

Colour: Makin Metals, PVDF Weathered Zinc 

~ Window Flashing 
VPrel1nished Alum1num 

Colour: Colour-Matched to Window 

.... -~ I ~ ~ 

••-
ew,rlgJL ... ,;,... ,__ ~ ., 
_,,, ,, pon io~- '""""11 •"" 
.....,,...... ol _..,.ioh-olh
ond ""'fnotbo -in_,,_""""'-' .., _ ~olhooll0o. __ _ -~-- C<,1,-aa<>s - vonfyond bo ,__b_ 
-ond~o-,t,ojob, """""" -oo.--a_,,-....,,,-. """' ..,_...,.,...,~"'..,""'Mlog. 

lssuedforP.eroril'll,l, OevdCJ!li'TNJIIPfflril 
January 26,2021 

Issued for Mw1soly Design Panel 
May12.2021 

R&-lsS!ledForRBZoolng, ()eyei(J!IITIBMPemil 
5epteni>ef02,2021 

Re-lssuedForRezorm;), Oevel(J!lmemf'fflm 
F«Jruary04,2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124W20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

Material 
Board 

Scali!:1/4"• N J' 
Ftbn.iary04,2022 

A-3.10 



J 
i 

June 21st, 3:00 P.M. 

.... . ,.. 
I ~ ~ 

••-
~ Al ,VU,___, ., 
...-door 'lportio~. TNl......-.g a an 
_ ol _..,. il .... l>'<J!)ll'tfol ... _ 

..-Jdmoy""'t>o.-i n "'IY-i'"""' .., _ 
,..-.o1 ... _ _ ,,., __ ,_ ---l<oio<!-. C<>-.-..-vori>j..-Jdbo,__b" .. -Otld"""""'"""" .... jot>.~ -bo~ ol a-,y~- "' '"'""""" 
'"""'""'"""'-'"r<lCC,.-,.oen,~ 

lssuedfor Reroriog, OefflCl!lfTlerrtf'ffirit 
January28,2021 

lssuedFor/1.cMsory OeslgnPM 
May12.2021 

R&-lssuedForRe.zoring, Oevelo?f!l&rrtP!lffl'il 
September02,2021 

R&-lssuedforRe.zoring, Oevelopmem !'$'nil 
Ftibruary04,2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124W20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

Shadow Analysis 
Scali!:ITTS 
Ftoruary04,2022 

A-3.11 



Amenity Space 1 
Area: 336sf 

Amenity Space 2 
Area: 579sf 

.... ... ~ 
I ... ~ 

••-~~ 

lssuedfocAeroning, OevelopmentPennil 
Jarmry28, 2021 

lssuei:lfocAdvisoryOesii;inPanel 
May12, 2021 

Ae-lssuedfOfAeronillu.Deve10proerrtPenTI~ 
Septembef02, 2021 

Re-lssuedfocReronin~.DevelopmentPerm~ 
F-ebruary04,2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd , 
124W20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

Amenity Plans 
5eal!:1W• 1'-0' 
Feliruart04,2022 

A-4.00 



I 

"' 
oO 

I 
I 
I 

Unit A: Studio [I 
I 

Area: 426 sf 
I 

~ 
• j I I ~ 

cm 

~ ~ J 

Unit 81 : 1 Bed 
Area: 585 sf 

~ 

AOAPTABlJTYREQlffMENTSFORl.fv'EL2UlffS 

1, 3-l'SlmEITTRYOOOR Ml~MUM. 
2. ROUGHJI WRNG FOR.'JJIOOPENEROFSIJTE 

ENTRYOOOR. 
3. fl.USl1 THRESHOl.OS1/l'W.X INCWDtlG 

BALCONYOOOR. 
• · 5'--0' TUUIHGRIJJLIS INSllE&OUTSDESlm 

ENTRYIXlOR 
5. 2'-0'ClfAAWAl.1ADJACHITTOOOORl>.TCHES 

~OOOR S\\1~S TOWAR!lUSER. 
6. 3-l'OOORSFORONE8EOOOOM,ONE8ATHROOM 

&PATIOOOOR 
7. 5'-{l'fUlNING AADIJSONBALCONY 
a WINOOW0f'El,,tlG MECIWISM 46'Mfw.'<lt.U,1 
9. 6'-0' WINDOW (MNIMUM) INLMNG,'!JtllNG & 

m~~~~~:~rn~~,:'1STIM 
11. TOIL£TLOCi\TED.IJl.JACENTT03'-0'LONGWAl.l 

'°'""""' 12. 3'--0'Cl.EA,'l.lJICEAlCHiTHE R.ll lE~Of 
BATHTUB, 

1, LE\IERIWIOI.ESOOALLOOORS 
2. .l,Q,JJJSTASI.E DOOR CLOSERS ON SUTEENTRY 

OOORS(22NM»...FOOCE) 
3.SUITTE'f!RYOOORHANOI.EST08EW'.IJ'f&DB 

~RECTLYAIIOVl 
t . OONSLIPFlOORING INITTCOOIS&MIN.OHE 

BATHROOM. 

5. ~~~~~,LOWLMLLOOPCAA?fl & 

6.00TDOORUiHT&RECEPTACLEONBALCOOl£S 
R[OUIREO. 

1, FURTHERaECTIICIJ.FIEOOFGIOll'SONEUC. -8. LEVEAIWIDI.E l(JTCHENF,1.UC£1S&KITCIIEN 
CIJiNETHANOlES. 

9 . .w.RJSTA8l.E tJTCHENCABINITSHELVES. 
10. ITTCHENPUU.-OUTWOIIK S00.FAT2'-8'MF 
11 .SOlllBlOCKl~tlBATHROOM WAU.SOF 

TIJB.ISOOWER&TOILnAREAS&BEH~TCM'EL 
SAAS 

12.PflESSIJREBALANCEDTU!/'SHOWEffVAl\o'ES. 
13.f\JlffHERMECHANDJ.REOOJIEMENTSONMECH. 

OWGS 

Al10011S tlOTDEHNEDW-.AOAPTA81.EUVEL2AAE 
RECIUJIEOTOBEAOAPTASLEl.Ml. 1 
SOlllBLOCKt/G INBATHROOMWi'USOF 
TUBISOOWER& TOl.ITAAEAS &BEHNDTOWELBARS. 

Unit B: 1 Bed 
Level 2-Adaptable 
Area: 576 sf 

~ 

Unit 82: 1 Bed 
Area: 560 sf 

~ 

.... ... ~ 
I ... ~ 

••-

lssuedfocAeroning, OevelopmentPennil 
Jarmry28, 2021 

lssuei:lfocAdvisoryOesii;inPanel 
May 12, 2021 

Ae-lssuedfocAeronillu.Deve10pmemPenTI~ 
Septembef02, 2021 

Re-lssuedfocReronill~.OevelopmentPerm~ 
F-ebruary04,2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124W20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

Unit Plans 
Studio & 1 Bedroom 
5eal!:1W• 1'-0' 
Feliruart04,2022 

A-5.00 



[i] ~~~ 
ms] Unit C: 2 Bed 

Area: 881 sf 

~ 

~ E:::::'.l ~ 

I I 
~ 

[D 
j-
~ 

CJ 
~ ~ 

Unit C2: 2 Bed ~ 
Area: 879 sf 

~ 

~u:] 

• 

.... 
,l,[)APl.w.JIYREOOIRCMENTSFall.mt.2UNITS ~-------- ... -

A. SUMMARYOfl.00.2DESKiNELEMENTS ~~g~gk~~:tf~.~LML2AAE r"': 
1, 34"SU1HNTRYOOOR MW'!MJM. SOLIDBLOCKtlG INBATHROOMW~OF I • 
2-=~RtlGFORAUTOOPENEROFSOOE nl!ISlffl([R&TCILElA/IEAS&BEHll'.DTOWELBARS. .... ~ 

3. FI.USHWRESHOl.0S1/2'MAAINCLI.JaNG ••-
< [~'"""""'"""""~"'" Unit C1: 2 Bed 
, ~=:::.=;:i::-""'" Level 2-Adaptable ARCHIIR:ISNXlRIOIIATil) 
6, 34'000RSfOR ONESEDROOM,ONEeA!liROOM Area: 864 sf --------~ -

7 

,.!!:'::IW'.:4USOOE!ALCONY ~Units:60157 ~ :..:..'-:"'~Thi>~;, 
8. WINOOW Of'WINGMECHANISM46'AffMAXNUM nstrunonl o< _ io ..., _"' "" "'"'"°" 

• 9. 6'-0"WlflXJW(MINM.IM) INlM~I/NG& ..., ..,.,,..,,..- 1n..,, _ _, .,. ... _ 
';t 2'-6"Sll.LS(MAXMUM) II/OOE.BEDROOM :.-_::.~----~ 
);; 10.cootruOUSCOUlfilR8EIW!:ENSINK&ST<M 0ontraaon.,.,.,riy"""° '_,.;,i,, ,ora1 

11 . TOl.ETLOCATEDADJACENTTOl'--O'LONGWAU. =":::,~~ -.:= 
12.1:~EALONGTH::FtUl.ENGTHOF • 1rcrn .,.__,....,_"""'" -.w,g. 

MTirnJ, 

a. FIXTURES&FtllSHES lssuedfocAeroning, OevelopmentPennil 

1, LE'IERIWIOLESON AUOOORS Jarmry28, 2021 

2. AOJJST.1.81.EOOOACLOSERSONSUITEENTRY 
OOORS(22Nw;(_fORC€) lssuei:lfocAdvisoryOesii;inPanel 

3. SUTI:ENTRY OOOR~EST0&41J'lff&08 May 12, 2021 
OIRECllYABOVE 

4. NONSl.J> FLOORijG INKITCftENS&MN. ONE 
MTiffl>M. 

5. HU~=~·LOWLMI.LCU'CARPET& 

~7 ..... ili .. llll1111iiiiiliiiliii111-IIII __ • _ _J :: =~::::::M~ITTS~:::. 
Ae-lssuedFocAeronillu.Deve10proerrtPenTI~ 
Septembef02, 2021 

Re-lssuedfocReronin~.DevelopmentPerm~ 
F-ebruary04,2022 

t,,iiioo ....... """ 8. ~R
5
H.&.Not.E KITCIENFAUCETS& ITTCl£N 

C&.StlEltw!Dl.ES. 
9. AllJUST"'8U KITCHENCASflflSHa'IES 
10.KIICHENPllL-OUTWORKSHELFAT2'-8" AFF 
11 .SOUDBLOCKING IN BAHIROOMWALLSOF 

lf±f911~ 
• bl 

T\Jl,/SHOWER &TOLETmAS&BEHIND TOWEL 

""'· 12,PRESSURESAWICEDTUWSffOWERV.IJ.VCS. 
13.FURTl£R MECHAl1'CAl. REOIJ~ENTS ON MECH 

owes 

Unit C3: 2 Bed 
Area: 748 sf 

~ Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124W20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

Unit Plans 
2 Bedroom 
5eal!:1W• 1'-0' 
Feliruart04, 2022 

A-5.01 



Unit D: 3 Bed 
Area: 1,014 sl 

~ ·t D1 · 3 Bed Urn · 
Area: 989 sl 

~ 

.... ... ~ 
I ... ,. 

••-·-~ ~ """"'==--

~~ 
= focAeroning, OevelopmentPennil 
Jarmry28, 2021 

lssuei:lfocAdvisoryOesii;inPanel 
May12, 2021 

FOfAeronillu.Deve10proerrtPenTI~ 
~=02. 2021 Perm~ 

lssuedfocReronin~.Development 
~ruary04,2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
~!~: J.~~~:~t 

Unit Plans 
3 Bedroom 

A-5.02 



C.W.<llldgArl!a 

An'll!nily h d u<ion, 

Amenil)' RO<Jn><& Ren;al Office 

01 
(AH) 

r I 
[ C 

Stair 1 

Exit 
~ ~ Wash 

Office 
l]t ~ 

Iv 

I 
[ 

8,148 SF 

7,072 SF 

1,076 SF ... ·~ 

L 

D 
(AH) 

Jj e 

[ 

C1 Amenity 
(Adpt/ 

AH) 
Stair2 

11 C 

Elevators ~ 
lf FFE: 102.?0m 

I t 
Mail 

Lobby 
Amenity 

Vest. 

Ame nil)'Exdu<ion< 

"'' ~ 

c,o .. Bld(IA ... ~ ~ 
Re,lden1lalUnl11/C01ridor ~ 
AmenltyExchnioo ~ 
lobbyhdu<i<>n ~ 

c::::::::::J 
AdaptableUnithch.nioo(20li(uoil) ~ 

A } 

lr 

o ~~;~,: -~~a Overlay 

8,156 5F 

8,156 Sf 

! 

C1 
(Adpt) 

Ir 

Elevators 

FFE: 105.76m 

ir 

~I 

,i- ,,__,IRD(CO,.-., 

t"-WOOl. umooJ<........,.,......,,TlON ON ----"""-°" t"'-vwooo-.."'°"'""""""""·,_..°" 
st<D.""""°ONDO..- o.e ... O"'"-CT. IP£aF°""""' 
., .... ,_"'"....,., ... ..,-....,TJON 
0"'- f'QI.Y S--..,._,... _ ,.._,. 

....,., ........... .,,.....,.,~- ""'"°"' 

p_,-f-""60 TOIUVAlD«I ,,,.....,_,.b.__, ............ _,._..,..,....,.. 
'" " - - ~ ··- - - ,.,........,..~ ....... ,.,. .,. ____ ,..,.._,. .,.. 
~ PLYWOOC -..TMHO PE ,.,.,S OM 

''"-"·""""""""" .... """""·-"'"""' ,,_ OOCO<"IOOL_TT ,.. ...... TICW 
, .._.POI.YV"'°"" _,,..., ... ....,... 
............ ........ ...,."'"""" ... """''.,,.. 

D 

C3 

fl t 

lL 

I 

.... -~ I ~ ~ 

••-
eoe,,,r1gi1. ,1,1 ,;,...,-~1n 
_ ,,,,,pon io~- '""""11•"" .....,,...... ol _..,.io..., _ olh
ond""'fnol bo -'io_,,_,..,,_..,_ ~olhooll0o. __ _ -~--C<>t<aa<>s - ,onfyond bo ,__,.,._ 
-ond~o-,t>ojob. """""" - oo .--a_,,-....,,,-. ""'"...,_...,.,...,~,,,,...,O'Mlog. 

lssuedfor P.eroril'll,I. OevdCl!ll"NJIIPfflril 
January26, 2021 

Issued for Mw1soly Design Panel 
May 12.2021 

R&-lsS!ledForRazoolng, Oevel(J!IITIBMPemil 
5epteni>ef 02.2021 

Re-lssuedForRezorm;l, Oevel(J!lmemf'fflm 
F«Jruary 04. 2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124 W 20th Street 
North Vancouver 

Main & Level 2 
Area Overlay 
Scall!:1/8"• N J' 
Ftbn.iary 04.2022 

A-9.00 



G,o .. BldgArea 

C2 

le 

~ A f[ 

~ J( 

B1 I B2 I 

o :~;~} -~~a Overlay 

8,142 Sr 

8,142 Sr 

.. ~ 
7,991 sr 

l 

C1 
(Adpt) 

11 C 

Elevators 

FFE: 108.82m 

f[ 
][ 

B 
(Adpt) 

D 

Jr 
.J 

i l 

l 
C3 

~ 

Ill 

~ 
lr 

~ 

[ ~ 

r 

B C 
(Adpt) 

Groo,Bld(!Area 

AmenityExcl.,.iom .. 

Groo,Bld(iArea ~ 
Re1iden1lalUnlt</C..-ridor c:::::::J 
AmenltyExcl.,.ion c:::::::J 
lobby Ex~lu<ion c:::::::J 

c::::::::::J 
AdaptableUri!Exclu,ion(20,\lunil) c:::::::J 

C2 

A } 

B1 I B2 I 

o :~;~,.4 -~~a Overlay 

8,ll3 SF 

8,133 Sr 

. =~ 

49,362Sr 

•8,266Sf 

J 

C1 
(Adpt) 

Ir 

Elevators 

FFE: 111.88m 

B I 

(Adpt) 

rr 

B 
(Adpt) 

~1 

>t •r- M0< """'5><~ ,------....,. .... -.. ....,,...,.,"" -- ---·-"" t "-"""""'_,."""' ... . nuc-r.ow<n<>< ,J- -.o.woooOTIJDO..- PlR ITJIIJCT.~,.,... 
•J-- - °""""' "'"-...."°" ..... ..._, ___ _ 
·-------""" 
_,, _ _ f0 n£v• ,.,... 

,,... .......,,A.....,_, ...,_....,.. ......,._.,.._,.. 
t X > ... ~ Mmuwwo ON 

t" - °"'"'°"'~'"'°'r<t«>IO..,,.._ _,..TIOM"" ------"" t"-""""' ..,.,,_..._mom,_,.. ,.. 
I J""-D.WOOOSnDSl'l:, 'l:ClflCA"°"O 

·~-- """'"""'"'" -...,.""' .... .... y • ...,..,_ _ _,..,_,. 

......-, ,....._ ... ,,.....,_Ol..,.._,,..,.,.,... 

D 

C3 

t 

ll 

J 

C 

.... -~ I ~ ~ 

••-
Coo,rlgJL ,l,l r;,u,-~ln 
_ ,,,,,pon io ~-<>">""1111•"" 
.....,_.,.... ol ....,.ioh- olh
ond""'fnotbo-iio_,,_""""'-'..,_ ~olhooll0o. __ _ -~--C<>t<aa<>s - l'tlnfyond bo ,__b_ 
-ond~o-,t,ojob, """""" -oo.--a_,,-....,,,-. 
"""'..,_...,.,...,~,,,, ... o-...ir,g. 

lssuedfor P.eroril'll,I. OevdCJ!li'TNJIIPfflril 
January26, 2021 

Issued for Mw1soly Design Panel 
May 12.2021 

R&-lsS!ledForRBZooing, ()eyel(J!IITIBMPemil 
5epteni>ef 02.2021 

Re-lssuedForRezorm;I. Oevel(J!lmemf'fflm 
F«Jrua,y04, 2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124 W 20th Street 
North Vancouver 

Level 3 & 4 
Area Overlay 
Scali!:1/8'"- 1'--0' 
Ftbn.iary 04,2022 

A-9.01 



~ 

Gro .. BldsAr.a 

AmenityE•d.,.ion,, 

"'' 

le 

A 

B1 I 

C2 

~ 
J( ~ 

o :~;~,; -~~a Overlay 

f[ 

B2 I 

8,133SF 

8,133sr 

L 

C1 t ' 
(Adpt) 

~ 

11 C 

~ Elevators 

FFE: 114.94m 
L 

[ 

f[ 
][ 

B 
(Adpt) (Adpt) I 

D 

Jr 
i 0 

l 

C3 
-cd 

Ill 

lr 
~ 

r I 

C 
l 

i 

~ 

Ame nity l , cl.,.ion, .. 

C10>,Bl~Area C=:J 
Re>ide,..i a lUnill/Corridor ~ 
AmenityExdu,ion ~ 

lobbyE•dusion ~ 
WallE•dW"" ~ 
Adap:dbleUni1ExclUS<on (Mlt/uni1) ~ 

A ! 
Jr 

p 

B1 I B2 I 

o :~;~,~ -~~a Overlay 

8,133SF 

8,133 SF 

"'" 7,991SF 

49,J62Sr 

•B.286Sr 

1,076Sr 

46.994SF 

I 

C1 
(Adpt) 

Ir 

Elevators 

FFE: 118.00m 

B I 

(Adpt) 

rr 
~ 

L 

B 
(Adpt) 

~1 

*"'_....,....,..._ 
1•--=""'-WOC>.EXJIROt,C-,0-....lD< ON ~·--~"""--"'"" ~ ... l'WOOll_,.,,_,.,._,.."" 
or )<)Dffl~•"ro.c .. •o"'-'CT.~..,_....,... •t~--.._n__,...,. ...... , .... _,,_,. ........ ..., __ 
.._,....._ _ _...,......,_,,,,"""""' 

,,_., ,....,....,.rofl.ftAT.,,.. ,,,.._,~......_ .............. ..,__,,,....~"" 
, ..... --~ ··--=•••UW<loO.,..__ ........ _"" ------"" t ... --..--rnu:1.,-;-0 0. 
O~<.O.WIX>OOTWll ... rnu:1.-'2'""'""' ,, __ .,,..,..,_,,. ........ """ ...... .... ,._,.,.........,._,..,......,.. ,,_.,.....,, ... ,.,.,,_,,. _ _,,_...,... 

D 

C3 

t 

ll 

J 

C 

.... -~ I ~ ~ 

••-
ew,,lgJL ... ,;,... ,__ ~ Ir, 
_,,, ,, pon io ~-'""""11 • "" .....,,,.,.... ol _..,.io.,._olh
ond""'fnolbo-'io_,,_,..,_ .., _ ~ol ho olloo. __ _ -~--C<,1,-aa<>s-vonfyondbo,__,.,._ 
-ond~o-,t,ojob, """""" -oo.--a_,,-....,,,-. ""'".., _...,.,. ..,~,,,,..,O"a,w,g. 

lssuedfor P.eroril'll,l, OevdCJ!li'TNJ<lf'fflril 
January26, 2021 

lssuedforA(MsoiyDeslgnPMel 
May 12.2021 

f\&.lsS!ledForRBZooing, ()eyel(J!IITIBMPemil 
5epteni>ef02.2021 

Re,lssuedForRezorm;), Oevel(J!lmem F't<rnl 
F«Jruary04,2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124 W 20th Street 
North Vancouver 

Level 5 & 6 
Area Overlay 
Scali!:1/8"• N J' 
Ftbn.iary04,2022 

A-9.02 



r 
I 
I 
I 
J 

Gro .. Bl<ISA .. a 

Aml!roryE><ch .. kH"" ,.,, 
r,;:;:;:::- bdu»OO 

e,,o,,sldgMea [=:J 
Reoide.-..ial Unlu/C<ffldor C=::J 
Amero1y bclu,ion C=::J 
Lobby Exclv,ion C=::J 

c:::::::J 
Acla.pt•ble uro, bclusion (20,l/unit} C=::J 

7 
I 
L 

Roof Deck 
Amenity 

FFE: 121.53m 

'8.2tlf>Sf 

1.07&Sf 

46,994SF 

I 

t Elev. Lobby 

~ 20~· J ,. ,0m1 

BRICKEX"TERIOR SJ<ISHATTWICAI.WOOOFlWo!E 

EFFECTIVER,VALUE:22.3! 

*ST--=>COOJIWOG 

1•-WO<JlE<tt..,. ___,_.,,,.,,.ON ,_"°""""""'-_,....,__,,ON t "'-"""'°"_,,__,.....,,. _ _,.ON 
•tUl.WDOO OT\OltW O.C ..,. .......,... "'°""""'n<HS 
,,,...,._..,....., .. TJ_..,,m, OML ""'-Y ___ _ 

. _,,._ ..,."""""" __ enc.A~ 

·-~"' "'°"-'"'''1CWI ,~.- ...... ,~....,_ ,.....,.._ ..,,..,._VST<,.ON 
n,n--•-~ ··---"~""""°"__,.""'-.....,'""'°" ----~------"" tr,.YWDOO--·= ·""-"t,...,.ON 
l ~"-D.WOOO U W II "°' cao,c.onoHS •t=--- •-= , .... ..,.,.N'OOO_N<>,.._ 
.......,_,.._..,.........,.,,._~,icwa 

ROOF: 121.38m 

7 
f 

ew,rlgJL ... ,;,... ,__ ~ ., 
_,,, ,,pon io ~-'""""11•"" 
.....,,...... d....,.ioh-dh-

:~":;,~=-= 
C<>t<aa<>s - vonfy.-"d t>o ,__bal 
-.-"d~.,..t,ojob, """""" -oo.--«a'¥_....,,,,-. """'..,_...,.,...,~,,,,..,O'Mlog. 

lssuedforP.eroril'll,I.OevdCl!ll'fNJIIPfflril 
January26,2021 

Issued for Mw1soly Design Panel 
May12.2021 

R&-lsS!ledForRBZooing, ()eyelO!IITIBMPemil 
5epteni>ef02.2021 

Re-lssuedForRezorm;I. OevelO!lmemf'fflm 
F«Jruary04,2022 

Crystal 
Apartments Ltd . 
124W20thStreet 
North Vancouver 

Roof 
Area Overlay 
Scall!:1/8'" • N J' 
Fttin.iary04,2022 

A-9.03 



MATERIALS KEY 
KEY MATERIAL KEY MATERIAL 

SURFACING 

fi•••<>I ~ 
PERMEABLE VEHICULAR PAYERS 

SODDEDLA.WN AQUAPAVE OR APPROVED EQUAL, REFER 
TO CIVIL FOR BUILD UP DETAILS 

I 1111 1 llll CONCRETE PAYERS RIVER ROCK 
HYDRAPRESSED NATURAL GREY, 24"x24" DRAINAGE STRIP 

CIP CONCRETE 

E=:J BROOM FINISHED, 100mm THICK, ffiE3 CONCRETE PAYERS 
- SAWCUT AS PER PLAN - REFER TO CIVIL HYDRAPRESSED NATURAL GREY, 24''x24" 

FOR OFFSITE INFO 

CONCRETE ENTRY PAYERS 

~ - ARTIFICIAL TURF 
4"x8" STANDARD CONCRETE PAVERS, 

• "PAW PRO" SUPPLIED BY PRECISION GREENS, 
CHARCOAL GREY, RUNNING BOND 
PATTERN AT DOG-RUN AREA 

HARDSCAPE FURNISHING 

ttff CIP CONCRETE WALLS/CURBS ADVANTAGE HI-LO BIKE RACK 

• REFER TO PLAN FORTW • 6 STALLS, POWDER COAT Bl.ACK 

• REFER TO ARCH FOR DETAILS 

POWDER COATED METAL PLANTER 
C IP CONCRETE STEPS 

~ = • 5S' xl s· x24" - GROUND LEVEL 
• REFER TO PLAN FOR TOP & BOTTOM OF 
STEP GRADES • • 30"x3J"x42" - ROOFLEVEL - BRICK/STONE FACE ARCHITECTURAL WALL 
• REFER TO PLAN FOR TW 4 •TAPERED. VARIED HEIGHT/SIZE 

• REFER TO ARCH FOR DETAILS 
•TO MATCH ARCH MATERIAL PALETTE -_[.L METAL FENCING & GATE 

SUN LOUNGERS 

• BLACK ALUMINUM PICKET 

ii PICNIC TABLE 

METAL FENCE· SOLID •VICTOR STANLEY, PT-2, UMBRELLA 

• HEIGHT VARIES - REFER TO PLAN NOTES, OPTION - OR APPROVED EQUAL 

SOLID PAN ELS FOR PRIVACY 

@ LIGHTING TABLE & CHAIRS 
•DUO C AFE LINE. BROUGHAM INTERIORS-

-$-
OR APPROVED EQUAL 

BOLLARD LIGHTING 

"17' RECESSED STEP LIGHTING <>.• LOUNGE FURNISHING 
•KNOT LOUNGE CHAIR, BROUGHAM 
INTERIORS - OR APPROVED EQUAL 

GRADING KEY CNV IRRIGATION NOTES 
FG FINISHED GRADE 

lw TOP OF WALL 

bw BOTTOM OF WALL 

EG EXISTING GRADE 

+26.00 SPOT ELEVATION 

( d!n STAIR RUN 

-)> SLOPE (DOWN) 
DIRECTION 

IRRIGATION $TA ND ARDS fOR OfFSlTE DEVaO~MENT$ REQUIREMENTS 
All d~ apmentapptcantsare ta ~avide oo autam:ific irlgafian system ta tnt<:t,iish and mantain al aft-site vegetation 
an the City boulevard. Maintenooce althisln1gafian system and al vegetation wl l be the respaosbiltyalthe Strata -
except for maintenance of street trees (r:runng, m .. khng, lertihing. pest management, etc.I. The Strata must maintain a 
supptyolwatertaal vegetationi-,the bo!Jevardta ensure t hatilre m;iir.$ heatthyoodthattheperm:inentwitti-,gpaintis 
n""erreached This meoos that du~ng fimesoldroug'lt or ntense heal. the system IYlC'1 need to be o~usted bytheStrota 
tocorrpensate. Al wor'<mustbeperformed byaCertified lnigation Technicioo. 
TheOJtomaticirrtgafiansystemistobedesignedbyaCertili&d lnigafianDMigner. A lullsetolrrtgafianploosanddetaill 
<:re ta be ~aw:ledas part of a Bul dng Pemitsut:miuion 

SCO~!OfWORK 
f'ravide ltle fal awng ca~nents· 

~- ~:;r;~fi:t ~o~7,:~~~a!"n ~a::n:i~':: ~~tr~~°o ~::::a'"' canstantvakJme ar>:J ~ euure 

3. Control System 
• ~ltnSthan6zonesare re~i..,d.use olabatterv· 
operotedcontrolboxisacce,:,tal::le 

;,!~~~~~l~=~~';!'~·n:~~:~~box nut 
f'ravideseparate zontn foreachvegetafiantype· 
- Lown.tretn.plantngbeds.rangordeos 
rrtgafiantypetomatch vegetafiantl'f>": 

- Pap-<Jp lieadslor Lawn a ndRain Gardens 
-ColpforPloofing fleds 
- RoolWatertngSystemlorStreet Trees(2pertreel 

7. Placement of all Control & Valve Boxes &/or Kiosks 
• setboxtn withi-,IQwn<:re~for e~yacctnS 
• Canfirmpropasedlacafianolany <io5.< 

8. rrtgafianEndosure Box 
Please note that CNV requi'es DFW Heavy Duty Polymer Rectoog!Jar Meter Box or ar:f)roved equal (Product 
~n:::.awnintablean page 2I n steodafthevatve ba><specified n ILA!IC. Alvalve boxtn shal t,ei-, new 

9. Relerto lLA!IC(lnigofiank'ldustry Assaciotedol!ICllrrlgotionstandardslornstolofians;,ecilicotioos. .... ~----

PLANT LIST 

SYM QTY BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE 

TREES 

0,~ : Acer palmatum 'Blhou ' Bihou Japanese Maple 5cm cal. Min 1 SG pot 

Acer palmatum 'Scolopendrifolium' Fingerleaf Japanese Maple 5cm cal. Min 15G pot -0-,, Fagus sylvatlca 'Dawyck Gold ' Dawyck Gold Beech 6cm cal. B&B 

~5 
Magonlia grandifloa 'Little Gem' Dwarf Evergreen Magnolia 10.15G Pot 
(Container - Roof) 

k~ Pinus thuenbergii 'Thunderhead ' Thunderhead Japanese Black Pine 10-15G Pot 
(Container - Roof) 

Prunus sargentii 'Kwanzan' Kwanzan Flowering Cherry 6cm cal. B&B 

Street Trees 

~ 3 
Acer x freeman ii "Jeffersred " Jeffersred Freeman Maple 7cm cal B&B, 2m ht. Std 

.,__t__ 1 Pinusnigra Austrian Pine 3mltt 

{:~"'/' 
Quercus bicolor 'American Dream' American Dream Oak 7cm cal B&B, 2m ht. Std 

~©---- 1 t 2 Taxodium ascendans 'Caroline Malone' Green Feather Pond Cypress 2.Smhtstd 

-,,, " 
FERNS & SHRUBS 

AN 8 Athyrium niponicum Japanese Painted Fern #2pot, 1a· o.c. 
a, 31 Azalea 'Hino White' Hino White Azalea #3pot, 1a· o.c. 

AZ 18 Azalea 'Hino Pink' Hino Pink Azalea #3pot, 1a· o.c. 
s, 67 Buxus micro. Green Beauty Green Beauty Boxwood #2pot, 1a· o.c. 

Ct 15 Choisya temata Mexican Mock Orange #3 pot, 24" o.c. 
Pm 50 Potystichum munitum Western Sword Fem #2 pot, 24" o.c. 

PAN 5 Picea abies nicliformis Nest Spruce #5 pot, 36" o.c. 

RN 22 Rosa nutkana Nootka Rose #5 pot, 36" o.c. 

Sh 62 Sarcococca hookeriana humilis Dwarf Sweet Box #2pot, 1a· o.c. 

Sj 14 Skimmia japonica 'rubella' Japanese Skimmia #3pot, 1a· o.c. 

SP 15 Spiraea japonica 'Gold Flame' Goldflame Spiraea #3 pot, 24" o.c. 
Vd 23 Viburnum davidii David's Viburnum #2pot, 1a· o.c. 

0 171 Thuga occidenta~s 'smaragd' Cedar Hedge 4.5'ht, 1a· o.c. 

PERENNIALS & GRASSES 

108 Arctostaphylos uva-ursi Kinnikinnick #1 pot, 15" o.c. 
103 Calluna vulgaris 'Gold Haze' Gold Haze Erica #1 pot, 12• 0.c. 

cm 18 Garex morrowii 'Variegata' Japanese Sedge #1 pot, 12• 0.c. 

I 24 Festuca glauca 'Elijah Blue' Blue Fescue #1 pot, 12• 0.c. 

ha 25 Heuchera 'Amberwaves' Amberwaves Coral Bel s #1 pot, 12• 0.c. 

hg 38 Heuchera 'Green Spice' Green Spice Coral Bells #1 pot, 12• 0.c. 

67 Liriope muscari 'Big Bh.Je' Lily Turf #2pot, 12• 0.c. 

Ms 15 Miscanthus sinensis 'Gracil~mus' Japanese Silvergrass #3 pot, 20· o.c. 

p1 184 Paciiysandra terminalis Japanese spurge #1 pot, 12• 0.c. 

GENERAL NOTES DRAWING LIST _ .... _____ _ _ ... _ .... .,._., -........... __ 
~:.:· .... -... 

I ::..~•~;.,~~:"~~:rn:'t':"°' 
lOOdlcapeSIOOdO!d 

2 P1ait,ke,00dn,la1edcon1onercbsi"'a" ,peelfied 

~'!,~;~1'.'"'for~=~!ci°': ... 
pa,tske, sl>Cll be a,rownn11>epan1iltaid 11>e 
SIOOdO:dcforOl-plaoti.bo1flplaot~ .. OOd 
con1onercbsi,t>:i1lbeois1>o,,,.,n11>ep1ait1ist 

==ti:.::::-ic:.-:..::~:-::~~ 
3 =:°':'~Olr.edi-,occc,daoee~C~ 

4 AU.ST!!a:TTREESra1e118' ,1 :!" 0eep Roo! Bonler 
ceo1ledooeocti-be1w""11-pfOOd ~dewCI~ 
(OO BOTI, SDfS:CUR!l A~SOEWAL~AND 
~ECTIOOPATHSI 

5 for Ol .,.istlog oo,~e ,.,.,.;c.,,Olld,uvev,vmboll1ef..-
1o,uvevd!awng, 

6 AIIOoel>C~OOd1"'otmeo1of11>eopeopo~iomof 
he~1esl>Olbecofll)le1edloacco!d0oee,,,;tt,11>9 
~ ved~flll!l,,,;1t1n,0<(6lmo111"'0l11>edOleof 
Mua,ceoforwn,Ql,JQdoceupor,cypelmll . oroo,, 
""'oroceupor,cyofhepropo,eddev....,pmeo1ool 
n,,q,uot,goooC<:UpQllCYpemi1.00d11>en,offer 
perm:ioeol vffi0n1onedlogoodcondilons 

7 Al'Sot1lOoel>C~Area,'oo,tobei11g01edto lABC 
SIClr>CIClo:dlwlllloh11t>-9ffideocvi11g01ioosv,1em 
AI Palloi sl>Ol be e"-'~d,,,;t, t,o,ebl,o 
Mi11g01ioovalvebal<"'~wllllq,,..;c~-couplen 

LO.O 

Ll.1 
L 1-2 
L 1-3 

L2.l 
L2.2 
L2.3 
L2.4 

Tl .O 

COVERSHEET 

GROUND: HARDSCAPE 
GROUND: PLANTING 
ROOF: LANDSCAPE PLAN 

LANDSCAPE SECTIONS 
LANDSCAPE SECTIONS 
LANDSCAPE DETAILS 
LANDSCAPE DETAILS 

TREE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

r 

2 MAYl2•2l tsS UEDFORADP 

l tsSUEDFORRZ/DP 
no.: I date: I nem: 

~ I,"~''""'"' 102 - 1637WetAsihAveooe 
V.,-,:;QUV9f acV6J1NS 

~ 1: 6046644611 
..., l: 60466405n 

www.dkl.bc.ca 

CRYSTAL 

124 W. 20th 
North Vancouver, BC 

Drawn by. AG 

Chec kedt,,,,: AG 

DrawngTifle: 

COVERSHEET 

ProjectNo· 

20065 

LO.O 



. 
EX ' SOOW'l . l'Ol_, ___ o, ____ _ 

RAISEOPlANTERW rT Hl!UFFERSHRUBS - ----i_jJl.-'--'-+a 
ANDICOLUMNAR TREES 

]·-·" 

• I _, 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

I 

I 

I 

~~: F~~ ~~ 
I ,.~ 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

r 

2 MAYl2•21 tsS UEDFORAOP 

l tsS UEDFORRZ/DP 
no.: I date: 1nem: 

102-1637WetAsihAveooe 
V.,-,:;QUV9fBCV6J1NS 

~ 1:6046844611 ~ l,.~,,..,.u, 

..., l:60468405n 
www.dkl.bc.ca 

CRYSTAL 
124 W, 20th 
North Vancouver, BC 

Drawn by: AG 

Chec kedt:,,,: AG 

Drawi'lgTifle: 

GROUND LEVEL: 
MATERIAL & GRADING 

PrajectNo· 

20065 

L 1.1 



. 
EX ' SOOW'l . l'Ol_, ___ o ____ _ 

r 
I 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

I 

I 

I 

~~: F~~ ~~ 
I ,.~ 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

r 

2 MAYl2•21 tsS UEDFORAOP 

l tsS UEDFORRZ/DP 
no.: I date: 1nem: 

....&. 102-1637WetAsihAveooe ~l'"~,,..,.u, 
-C

V.,-,:;QUV9fBCV6J1NS 

1:6046844611 
l:60468405n 
www.dkl.bc.ca 

CRYSTAL 

124 W. 20th 
North Vancouver, BC 

Drawn by: AG 

Chec kedt:,,,: AG 

5cae: 118"•1'-0" 

Drawi'lgTifle: 

GROUND LEVEL: 
PLANTING PLAN 

PrajectNo· 

20065 

L 1.2 



-------, , ---------7 

,---------------------------------~ 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

-------&-
GUARORAILHEK,HTMETALf'\.ANTERS 
WITH SMALL POTTED TREE-FORM SHRUBS 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

I 

I 

I 

GUARDRAIL Hl:K,HT f'\.A NTERSW ITH 
SMA LL POTTE D TREE-FORM SHR UBS 

I 
I 

__ _J_ _________ ~ 

I- ---- -

L ____ _ 

r 

2 MAYl2•21 tsS UEDFORAOP 

l tsS UEDFORRZ/DP 
no.: I date: 1nem: 

~ I,"~''""'"' 102-1637WetAsihAveooe 
V.,-,:;QUV9f BCV6J1NS 

~ 1:6046844611 
..., l: 60468405n 

www.dkl .bc.ca 

CRYSTAL 

124 W. 20th 
North Vancouver, BC 

Drawn by: AG 

Chec kedt:,,,: AG 

Drawi'lgTifle: 

ROOF LEVEL: 
LANDSCAPE PLAN 

PrajectNo· 

20065 

L 1.3 



Ll 102.70m Ll 102.70m 

• SECTION A: PRIVATE PATIO@ NORTH PL • SECTION 8: AMENITY PATIO & BLDG EXIT AT EAST PL 

SCALEl/4"= 1'-0' SCALEl/4"= 1'-0'' 

L1 102.70m ,,;' L1 102. 70m ,,;' 

• SECTION C: LOBBY ENTRY ON W20TH • SECTION D: PRIVATE GROUND LEVEL PATIO AT W20TH 

SCALEl/4"= 1'-0' SCALEl/4"= 1'-0' 

Ll 102.70m 

• SECTION E: AMENITY PATIO & BLDG EXIT AT EAST PL • SECTION F: ROOF TOP AMENTY PATIO- WEST • SECTION G: ROOF TOP AMENTY PATIO- SOUTH 

SCALE 1/4"= 1'-0" SCALE 1/4"= 1'-0" SCALE 1/4"= 1'-0" 

4 FE1 4-22 RE- ISS UED fO RRES l'()MSE TORI 

3 AUGU-21 tsS UED FORREs.PONSE TORZ 

tsS UE DFOR ADP 

l tsS UED FORRZ/DP 
no.: I date: 1nem: 

~ I,"~''""'"' 102-1637WetAsihAveooe 
V.,-,:;QUV9fBCV6J1NS 

~ 1:6046844611 
..., l: 60468405n 

www.dkl.bc.ca 

CRYSTAL 

124 W. 20th 
North Vancouver, BC 

Drawn by: AG 

Chec ked t:,,,: 

Drawi'lgTifle: 

LANDSCAPE SECTIONS 

PrajectNo· 

20065 

L2.1 



-·-!: =1.:~:,,~,_..noi>1nno.En1,.._p_110ms...-.,Ft011010..<d>n 
~- =---:-~::.,~~i=~-~:i,.,~r~1.1m ErMua 
=nolponthlltOl--!OO'l>al Ena..• al-•-Mg,tOp,nllMIOol-•-on t Hpl 

~: :::.~,;:,~~":"~=:":.!:.i.i,.,"'Giowwlg-.n. 

llF=='ii=~~~';:,,.r:;min 

@·--·--

~=:romtOJM 
150nrnTapoolSa,cer 
RelorlOSpe-cq 

Note : Enso.relOl)01_rooa:.1Is• 
oroli!tllylboveFlnSledGaodo 
Roma,el0p 1/3of bur11pfram 
~ls,dt...,etombaseof 

~~niY_;•reb_1,11nglo:lps' 

rowOlllMl<e().Aemove 

~0%~1r"=~[ 
=::ei:,.,, 
Don,..·compacr• 
llottomOll)ICo""IICI 
~.-:l•urdorrooltlall 

?~':'.,IO~'V.~memert 

@) 

?=~:.:~=~.::..~:i,IDIY,IOO 
an:h bukq>ontlab 
Rete<t:>0.awhg~& Specificati::>rwb- Pav« 
Typeaodlayoul 

Sodded lawn on 
Growing Meditm t~~ II (screened) 
on tree draining, scar~ied and graded sl.tlgrade 

PfeCUlholeio 
Me!alplan!erbase 
b'~t>mted 
~ligation lines 

LJ 

Metalworl<Note· 
1. Subm~shopdrawings 
fora l metatworllin 
accordancewithSection 
05500 
2.Conlirmalldimensions 
ons~e. M:>dify as required 
to maintain design intent. 
3.AIIGate Enclosure 
components to be powder 

=""· (colourtomatch 
ardlitectu'alpalette). Fleld 
touch-1.41s !o beuniform, 
smooth paint to match. 
4. ConslAtanttoapproveall 
panelsat fabrication priorto 
painted linish beingaJ)plied 

.. ! ~PIIO• Q>noN"'1 -~~:c==:.:: 
ac!,u,"""" -'ll--

~------ ~r=~<~~~~o:ed 
1o 'J(f'depfl l'l woa o11,-)on 

!~:;~on 
.,ctr1ect.,, .. tul(l--up{,ote,t,an,h.) 

)icr---- ='=~..:Oplant"' 
;y],'.,/J<''dc' ,r ~~~~~ecllX .. t>f w_.l 

ML:1""2'AL ~ 

l<-f-t-l-lc-t--1-,LLUJ I 
11111 

•
14+H-+++:1:crr I 

FRONT 
VIEW 

I•· 

I 

, FU•-22 RE- ISSUEDFOR RE SP'O MSETO IIZ 

3 AUG26-2l tsS UEDFORRESPON5E T0'12 

2 MAY12·2l tsS UED FORADP 

l JANU-21 tsS UEDFORRZ/DP 
no.: I date: 1nem: 

~ I,"~''""'"' 102·1637WetAsihAveooe 
V.,-,:;ouve,BCV6J1NS 

~ 1: 6046644611 
..., l: 60466405n 

www.dkl .bc.ca 

CRYSTAL 

124 W. 20th 
North Vancouver, BC 

Drawn by: AG 

Chec ked t:,,,: 

Drawi'lgTifle: 

LAND SCAPE DETAILS 

PrajectNo· 

20065 

L2.2 



2x4CaJJ 

1x3nailer(frontand ---
back) 

----- 4x4post-----

----1x6betweantopand ----------• 
bottomnailers 

·Fence posts should 
be placed no further 
than8'8J)art in 
distance. 

•Boards to be 

roaiar::~a:~~rto 
matcharchitectu"al 
palette) 

•Provide shop 

~=Jtpiorto 

~------1x3naller 
(front and back) 

sonotl.tlefootin,9----------~ 

• R!:FERTO LA N0SCA "f COVERSHEEi FOR 
PlA NTEl! SCHEDULE 
• PROVIDE SHOP DRAWNGS f'RK)R TO 
INSTALLA TK:>N FOR A PPROVAL 
• R!:FERTO PAVING DEiAILSFOR 
ADJACENT MATE RL-'IL 

ongrade-referto 
enlargmenet 

PROVIDE DRIP LINE 
IRR K,ATO N IN A LL PlA NTEl!S 

I 1/< •++~ - GROWINGMEDIUMON 
J" DRAINAGEROCKON 
FILTERCLOTHON 
VOIDINGAS NEEDED 

WB-t--P----:1- ~~~ C:-~~~~:;EiAL 

SETPLA NTERON PE DA STA LS 
TOALLOWFORFRE E 
DRAINAGE 

I I 

POST: 4"X4" AL -

I 

,._,...., ............. 
1 
\ 

Metalwork Note: 
1. Submit shop drawings for al l 
metalworkinao::ordancewilhSection 
05500 
2.Conlirmalldimenslonsonsite. 
Modijyasrequiredtomainta in design 
intent. 
3. All Gate Endosure components to be 
powderooated. 

,- ~ (colourtomatcharchiteduralpalette). 
r- • F!~ :-i;.Z-~I;':' to be uniform, smooth 

.ConsultanttoaJ)prowallpanelsat 
abricationprbrtopaintedlinishbeing 
ppUed 

4 FEB4•22 RE-ISSUEDFORRESl'OMSETOIU 
3 AUGU-21 ts.S UED FOR REs.PONSI: TO RZ 

' no.: l date: 

tsS UEDFOR A DP 

tsS UEDFORRZ/DP 
1nem: 

~ I,"~''""'"' 102·1637WetAsihAveooe 
V.,-,:;QUV9fBCV6J1NS 

~ 1:6046644611 
..., l: 60466405n 

www.dkl .bc.ca 

CRYSTAL 
124 W. 20th 
North Vancouver, BC 

Drawn by: AG 

Chec ked t,,,,: 

Drawi'lg Tifle: 

LANDSCAPE DETAILS 

Praject No · 

20065 

L2.3 



124 West 20th Street proposal 

The project is in keeping with the goals and objectives of the following City policies: 

Official Community Plan 
Policy 1.1.1 
Plan for growth in the City’s population, 
dwelling units and employment in keeping 
with the projections in Metro Vancouver’s 
Regional Growth Strategy. 

Intensification of the site supports the use of 
existing amenities, including transit and 
services along Lonsdale. 

Policy 1.1.7 
Allow for accessory uses, such as home-
based businesses and childcare, in 
residential areas. 

The proposal would be zoned to allow desk 
and computer style home-based businesses 
in this residential area. 

Policy 1.2.1 
Ensure the location, density, design and 
durability of developments and their 
infrastructure are informed by the best 
available science on climate impacts. 

The proposed development is utilizing an 
existing site and infrastructure to densify 
while proposing to achieve an energy level of 
Step 3 in the BC Building Code. 

Policy 1.3.1 
Ensure that new development is compatible 
with the established urban form of the City, 
reflecting primacy of the Lonsdale Regional 
City Centre and the transition through mid 
and low-rise buildings to lower-density 
residential neighbourhoods. 

The proposal includes high-quality materials 
and design in a location that is less than one 
block west of Lonsdale Avenue.  The scale of 
the proposed building provides a good 
transition from the higher density buildings 
found along the Lonsdale corridor towards 
lower density neighbourhoods further west. 

Policy 1.3.6 
Encourage architecture that responds to the 
unique context of the City in a sensitive, 
sustainable, and aesthetically compatible 
manner. 

Design and materials are consistent with 
those found in the local context.  
Landscaping utilizes native plant species. 

Policy 1.3.10 
Encourage active, healthy lifestyles and the 
opportunity for more social connections 
through planning and active design principles 
that encourage physical activity and 
contribute to enhanced walkability and active 
streets, sidewalks and public spaces. 

The proposal includes indoor amenity rooms 
and an outdoor rooftop amenity space for 
residents to encourage social interaction. 
The subject site has easy access to local 
bike routes in the Central Lonsdale area that 
will help make cycling a more appealing 
mode of transportation for residents.  
The location is close to many local amenities 
and services along Lonsdale Avenue to 
encourage active movement through walking 
and cycling. 

Policy 1.4.1 
Consider the needs of households with 
children in the design of multi-family 
developments. 

The proposal would provide seven 3-
bedroom units and a rooftop outdoor amenity 
space on the roof allowing for multiple uses 
and activities, including a children’s play 
area. 

Attachment 4



Policy 1.4.3 
Consider recreational, cultural and other 
community spaces as aspects of informal 
community living rooms, and essential ‘social 
infrastructure’, particularly in high-density 
neighbourhoods like Central/Lower Lonsdale. 

The proposed indoor amenity space as well 
as an outdoor rooftop amenity space 
provides opportunities for social interaction. 

Policy 1.5.1 
Provide opportunities for a range of housing 
densities, diversified in type, size and 
location. 

The project will provide 57 new rental units 
with a range of unit types and average sizes, 
from 426 to 1,014 sq. ft.  Seven of these units 
will be 3-bedroom. 

Policy 1.5.4 
Prioritize the development and revitalization 
of affordable rental housing and use density 
bonusing and density transfers to incentivize 
the retention, renewal and/or replacement of 
rental units as a public benefit. 

The proposed 57 rental units, including six 
mid-market units, will be secured by a 
Housing Agreement for the life of the building 
which provides a public benefit. 

Policy 1.5.6 
Ensure a sufficient number of new apartment 
buildings provide accessible units and that 
these accessible units are represented 
across various unit sizes. 

The proposal exceeds the required number 
of Adaptable Level 2 units, in accordance 
with the Zoning Bylaw, and the distribution of 
which will reflect the overall unit mix and the 
remaining units will be Adaptable Level 1. 

Policy 2.1.1 
Invest in cycling and pedestrian networks and 
facilities to make these more attractive, safer, 
and convenient transportation choices for all 
ages and abilities with and aim to increase 
these ways of travelling over single-occupant 
vehicle use. 

The proposal includes secured bike parking 
and the subject site is close to many of the 
local bike networks such as the Green 
Necklace located one block north and 
existing bike routes along Chesterfield 
Avenue and 23rd Street. 

Policy 2.2.2 
Strategically manage off-street transportation 
facilities to prioritize more sustainable forms 
of transportation through a variety of 
measures (e.g. providing bicycle end-of-trip 
facilities and pedestrian-level lighting, 
reducing parking requirements in 
developments in close proximity to transit, 
on-street pay parking, electric vehicle 
charging stations, and parking spaces for 
car-share, carpool and low-emission vehicles. 

The subject site is located close to many of 
the City’s main public transit routes along 
Lonsdale Avenue. 
The proposal includes all resident parking to 
provide for electric car plug-ins. 

Policy 2.2.3 
Encourage higher and medium density 
residential area uses near jobs and services. 

The subject site is located close to Lonsdale 
Avenue, near many services and 
employment opportunities. 

Strategic Plan 
City for People The proposal supports the Strategic Plan 

vision and priority to be a City for People by 
using an existing site to increase the number 
of rental units in the Central Lonsdale area, 
providing employment opportunities and 
services within close walking distance. 



Housing Action Plan 
Action #3: 
Mid-Market Rental Units 

The project will provide six mid-market units, 
to be secured by a Housing Agreement for 
the life of the building. 

Action #4: 
Family-Friendly Housing 

The project includes seven three-bedroom 
units to support families to be secured 
through a Development Covenant. 

Sustainable Development Guidelines 
Natural Systems 
The ability of natural systems, both global 
and local, to support life.  Parks and green 
spaces help regulate the climate, clean and 
filter water and air, and provide recreational 
and aesthetic benefits.  Maintaining healthy 
natural systems will reduce strain on 
municipal infrastructure, support local wildlife 
and enhance quality of life for community 
members. 

The proposal includes green space not only 
on the street front, but also along the rear 
lane and as part of the rooftop landscaping.  
The planting plan includes a number of native 
species. 

Physical Structures/Infrastructure 
The ability to effectively deliver basic 
services, shelter and physical amenities 
required to sustain the health and well-being 
of the community.  This includes water 
supply, sanitary sewer, stormwater drainage, 
solid waste management, roads, 
telecommunications, and energy efficiency 
and conversion including district energy.  As 
well, this category includes attractive 
streetscapes, durable buildings, provision of 
a range of housing types and adequate 
community amenities. 

The project will use high-performance and 
environmentally friendly building materials 
and will achieve Step 3 of the Step Code. 
Energy Star and water-efficient appliances 
will be installed in the dwelling units 
The proposal will be connecting to the LEC 
network. 
 
An on-site stormwater management system 
will be provided. 

Local Economy 
The ability to maintain and grow a healthy 
local economy.  A strong economy brings 
employment and a solid tax base to support 
services without compromising other areas of 
capacity.  A stronger economy has been 
shown to support healthier lifestyles for 
community members and greater 
opportunities for personal fulfillment and 
overall quality of life. 

The proposal will provide a variety of jobs 
during the construction period and is close to 
employment opportunities along Lonsdale 
Avenue. 

Human Potential 
The ability of our local community to support 
our residents in their pursuit of individual 
livelihood objectives including access to 
education, healthy food, active transportation 
and affordable housing.  Meeting these basic 
needs is essential for the maintenance and 
growth of human capacity. 

The development provides Market Rental 
and Mid-Market Rental housing at a range of 
unit types and sizes.  
 
The subject site is close to several public 
transit routes and the services along 
Lonsdale Avenue. 



Social Connections 
The ability of our community to foster 
communication, interaction and networks to 
respond effectively to community issues.  
These may include supporting community 
members with low incomes, lone-parent 
families, and matters specific to children, 
youth, seniors and people with disabilities. 

The project includes indoor amenity space 
and an outdoor rooftop amenity area that are 
well-programed with multiple opportunities for 
activities. 

Cultural Diversity 
The ability of our community to support and 
celebrate a diversity of cultural backgrounds.  
This includes recognition of the traditions of 
the Squamish Nation and the many cultures 
of residents who make the City their home.  
With both tangible and intangible elements, 
cultural capacity has economic implications 
and is strongly connected to social traditions. 
Manifestations of cultural practices can range 
from spiritual practices to heritage buildings. 

The proposed design includes various 
informal gathering spaces for residents both 
within the building and in the public realm. 

Active Design Guidelines 
Indoor Amenity The proposed indoor amenity room is located 

on the main floor, adjacent to the main lobby, 
and provides programming options to 
encourage social interaction for residents. 

Outdoor Recreation and Gardens The outdoor rooftop amenity area is designed 
to allow various activities, with outdoor 
seating and landscaping. 

 
 



1 of 4

May 20, 2021 

City of North Vancouver  

Planning and Development Department 

141 West 14th Street 

North Vancouver, BC V7M 1H9 

Attention: David Johnson, Development Planner 

RE:  Virtual Developer Information Session - 124 West 20th Street, 2036716 - PLN2021-

00004 

Applicants’ contact information: 

RLA Architects Inc. 

250 – 970 Homer Street 

Vancouver, BC V6B 2W7 

T: 604.669.3339 

and 

Crystal Apartments Ltd. 

102-2455 Dollarton Hwy.

North Vancouver, BC V7H 0A2 

T: 604.980.0067 

Date and time: May 4, 2021 6 pm – 8 pm 

Format: Virtual DIS via Microsoft Teams 

Number of attendees: 13 

Issues discussed and how the issues are proposed to be resolved – please refer to the following 

table of comments: 

Comments Response 

From 

Response 

Are you aware of embodied 

carbon during construction and 

possibility of low carbon concrete? 

RLA We are aware and will be reviewing it 

when the project gets to the building 

permit application stage. 

During construction are there 

options on where the workers are 

going to park? W 20
th
 is already 

overrun with people parking for 

stores on Lonsdale. 

RLA 

CNV 

General contractor to have an action plan 

approved by the City which will help to 

address any parking concerns. 

At the BP stage each applicant submits 

traffic and construction management 

plans for the City’s review to minimize an 

impact on on-street parking. 

Please comment on EV charging 

on site 

RLA It is proposed for the resident parking at 

100% 

Why 6 storeys when all the 

neighbouring buildings are 4-

RLA OCP – this site is located in a zone 

designated as Residential Level 5 for 

Attachment 5



 

    2 of 4 

 

storeys only increased density, and 6 levels are 

permitted. 

Are you going to use low carbon 

insulation? 

RLA Insulation will be reviewed per Step 3 BC 

Energy Code requirements. 

Will the building have a Life Cycle 

Analysis for products used to build 

it? 

RLA Likely it will be part of Step 3 BCBC 

requirements. 

The building will be twice as high 

as the building I live in. Have you 

considered reducing the height? 

RLA Our design intention is to reduce the 

overall scale using the form and character 

of the building.  

What is OCP? RLA Official Community Plan 2014 the City of 

North Vancouver. 

What is the next step after DIS – 

Public Hearing? What is the 

possible timeline? 

CNV 

 

Currently this application is in the review 

stage. 

Anticipated to be before Council – fall 

2021 

Step Code 3 has to do with energy 

efficiency, but nothing with the 

amount of carbon pollution from 

production of insulation. So I ask 

again, will you use insulation 

whose production resulted in less 

carbon pollution than the norm? 

RLA This will be reviewed during the building 

permit application stage. 

 

Privacy of the roof tops – what 

steps are in place to ensure that 

people are not infringing on each 

other’s privacy, throwing garbage 

etc.? 

DKL 

Landscape  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RLA 

Roof top amenity located more towards 

20
th
 Ave. Central location addresses 

privacy concerns of the adjacent 

buildings. Only potential oversight is 

towards 20
th
 Street which is still quite set 

back from the exterior face of the 

building. There will be a guardrail 

running entire edge of deck. 

 

The roof deck is pulled back from the 

edge of the roof by 9 feet 

Step Code 3 makes no statement 

about lowered carbon emissions – 

for that we need to consider both 

embodied and operational carbon 

– sound like this is for discussions 

later in your project – when? 

Possible decision on this prior to 

Before Council in the Fall 

timeframe? 

RLA Will be discussed with our Consultant 

team and selection of materials will be 

reviewed during the Building Permit 

Stage. 

94 secure bike stalls for 57 units 

does not sound enough. It is not 2 

per unit. Might more secure bike 

lockers be considered? Is there a 

bike work room? That is common 

in new buildings 

RLA We are providing 8 more bike stalls than 

the zoning requirement. Bike work room 

or area will be considered.  

In addition, there are 6 visitor bike 

parking spaces located on surface by the 

project entry. 

Is parking going to be gated? 

Security is an ongoing issue with 

other buildings in the area 

RLA Entire underground parking is for 

residents and will be gated. 



 

    3 of 4 

 

How can I communicate with you 

when you are getting further into 

design etc.? 

CNV 

 

People can contact CNV anytime 

regarding this project 

Given that your nice roof amenity 

does not cover much of the roof, 

will the rest of roof be green? 

RLA Not considered due to complications 

with wood-frame construction such as 

structural requirements and building 

envelope (water ingress). 

What extra structure do green roofs 

require? 

RLA 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DKL 

Landscape  

 

Support for the soil requires increased 

structural requirements for additional 

load on the roof. For design aesthetic, we 

also want to maintain a thin roof edge 

profile. Adding green roof will visually 

impact that by nature of increased 

structural requirements.  

 

Significant weight consideration, 

increased load when wet. In addition, 

there are serious concerns about 

waterproofing. Those factors are 

significant for wood-frame buildings. 

Can we get a copy of this 

presentation? 

CNV 

 

Up to the applicant to share the 

presentation. 

I can see green roofs are heavy, 

etc. Can David tell us what CNV’s 

green roofs rules are for 

multifamily dwellings? 

CNV 

 

The City has no requirements for the 

green roofs, but it does encourage them. 

Lives in the building across. 

How much glass will be up in the 

front? Concerned about glare and 

heat coming into her apartment 

RLA The windows will be non-reflective, low 

emission glazing units. There is also a fair 

distance between the buildings. 

 

6-storeys height will take up her 

entire view 

RLA Suggest noting your concerns in the 

forwarded comment sheet. 

This building will be around for 

the long time. In future, solar 

panels (that work very well here) 

may be wanted on the roof. Will 

you install conduits for future solar 

panel wiring? Retrofitting would be 

very expensive. 

RLA Will be considered and reviewed during 

the building permit application stage. 

The entrance to the underground 

parking is currently proposed on 

the west side of the building. Can 

the entrance be moved to the other 

side of the building, closer to the 

vet office and commercial 

building? There are noise concerns 

from garage door. 

 

RLA Design reasons: 

1. Challenge with the existing slopes 

of the site. Our intention is to keep 

the building as low as possible to 

existing street grades. 

2. The gate is located at the bottom 

of the ramp which will help 

mitigate sound concerns. 

Timelines of actual below ground 

and above ground construction. 

RLA Will depend on construction team. 

Approx. 5-6 months for the underground 

8-10 months for the above ground 

Estimate total 1.5 to 2 years 



 

    4 of 4 

 

Dust/ dirt concerns for balconies 

facing the construction street.  

 

 

What might be the solutions? 

 

RLA This will be part of the construction 

management plan, to be approved by the 

City. 

 

Spraying down the construction area and 

site hoarding. 

Quality of life concerns during 

construction time 

RLA There are significant Bylaws in place to 

address these types of concerns. 

 







































1

From: John Western 
Sent: June-17-22 1:30 PM
To: Submissions
Cc: David Johnson
Subject: 124 West 20th Street North Vancouver

To whom it may concern. 

I resided at this address from October of 2004 to February 2020.  Shortly after I moved in, the balconies 
were refurbished i.e. new decking, but, the railings were not replaced and during the next 15 years of 
being exposed to the weather had become unsafe. One would not want to lean against the railing. 

The building has been sinking for 60 plus years and this has resulted in doors not closing properly. I had 
to remove the metal part of the hasp so I could lock my entrance door. Essentially, this structure has 
lived past it's best years. 

In January of 2020 I was approached by Andrew Statham, agent for the owners, and was offered a suite 
in one of their new buildings. This has worked out very well for me as it's in the neighbourhood I want to 
be in and, at 73 I wanted to get into a building that I would not outlive. 

I hope this note is of some help to the recipients. 

John Western 
#204 1549 Chesterfield Avenue 
North Vancouver B.C. V7M 2N5 

Received June 17, 2022 
PH 124 West 20th St.



1

From: Ana may Du
Sent: June-18-22 11:36 PM
To: Submissions
Cc: David Johnson
Subject: Redevelopment Proposal for 124 W 20th Street, North Vancouver 

To whom it may concern: 

Rentals are needed in this area. The current building is old. A new building is way much better for the 
community.  The new proposal has some 3 bedroom units that is great for families.  It will help a lot of 
people looking for a better place and quality of life. 

Thank you, 

Ana May Du 
1549 Chesterfield Avenue 
North Vancouver  

Received June 20, 2022 
PH 124 West 20th St.



1

From: Jeff Williams 
Sent: June-20-22 2:33 PM
To: Submissions
Cc: David Johnson
Subject: 124 W 20th St.

Hi there, I am emailing with respect to a new development in my neighbourhood at 124 W 20th St. 

I live at 231 17th Street West and drive by this location daily. I have seen the growth of our 
neighbourhood by way of superb new builds and looks and am in support of this new development too. 

I think this will help with the growth of the neighbourhood for families young and old.  This would replace 
an old looking building and provide much needed rental spaces. 

Feel free to contact me to discuss further, by I can be sure that this development has the support of my 
wife and I. 

Thank you for the time. 

Jeff Williams 
231 West 17th Street 
North Vancouver 

Received June 20, 2022 
PH 124 West 20th St.



1

From: Colin Hope 
Sent: June-22-22 9:14 AM
To: Submissions
Cc: David Johnson
Subject: Rezoning application for 124 W 20 th St. North Vancouver

I am a resident at 208 W 18th Street, just 2 blocks from this new development. 

As a business owner in the software industry, with my business located in North Vancouver, it is 
important to have new, quality rental stock in North Vancouver to help attract young professionals who 
otherwise look to live in other areas of our city.  

Also, as someone having grown up in North Vancouver, I think it's important to provide places for new 
families, like mine, an attainable means to stay in their hometown.  

Thank you, 
Colin Hope 
208 West 18th Street 
North Vancouver 
--  
Co-owner | Operations 
Hope Media House 

Received June 22, 2022 
PH 124 West 20th St.



1

From: Richie Du 
Sent: June-22-22 12:53 PM
To: Submissions
Subject: 124 W 20th North Vancouver 

I’m writing this to support new building to be built at 124 west 20 street, North Vancouver. 

This building is obviously old and need an upgrade but its better to built a new and bigger building to 
support rental shortages our community. 

Thank you, 

Richie Du 
206-1549 Chesterfield Ave
North Vancouver, BC  V7M 2N5

Received June 22, 2022 
PH 124 West 20th St.



To Whom It May Concern, 

 I wanted to write a quick note regarding the development proposal for 124 W 20th St. North 
Vancouver. 

 I have lived in North Vancouver my entire life and specifically have spent the last 19 years within 3 
blocks of Lonsdale; 3 years on 2nd and Lonsdale, 2 years at 3rd and Lonsdale, and the last 14 years and 
counting on West 17th St. 

The existing building that is in question is an eye sore and has very quickly found itself to be out of place 
in such a quickly developing and flourishing neighborhood.  

I know that the construction time and the increased height will be a potential pain point for neighbours. 
Speaking from experience as one of the last small houses left on our street, we endured multiple years 
of construction on all sides with the erection of 4000sq ft houses. It was definitely inconvenient at the 
time, but ultimately once the construction and landscaping were completed, the neighborhood looked 
and felt significantly improved, and we were all bettered by the overall neighbourhood progress. I 
strongly believe this to also be the case with the new development at 124 W 20th.  

It is great for the community that the proposed unit will have family sized 3-bedroom suites.  I 
appreciate that not everyone is in a financial position to own a free-standing home in the City of North 
Vancouver. Our neighbourhood is missing a family feel, despite being within walking distance to an IB 
elementary and high school, a water park, and a great new artificial turf field.   

Our children no longer have many neighbourhood friends as there simply aren’t many options to be in a 
larger family condominium/multifamily development, especially one that is updated and not falling into 
disrepair. Children at our school are often driven in because they want to stay with their friends and in 
the great school catchment area, but their families are having to move further way to find new/updated 
housing options that will fit their entire family.  

I do not know the make-up of the current occupants in the existing structure, but if the new 
development proposal, with 3-bedroom family targeted units brought in more families to the area, it 
would be a much-welcomed development.  Having two young children myself I cannot say enough good 
things about this area and how nice it is to raise a family here. How lovely for an almost 60-unit 
development to bring the opportunity for more families to share in our amazing neighbourhood 
resources.  

I feel strongly that the new 6 story multifamily development will not look or feel out of place. Central 
Lonsdale is quickly evolving, and it would be great to see a new building go up that could accommodate 
more people and families.  We would welcome it to our thriving area and feel that the proposed 
development would be beneficial to existing neighbours and commercial interests alike, as well as for 
lucky potential future residents.  

Thank you for your consideration, 
 Lindsay Young  
348 17th St West 
North Vancouver 

Received June 23, 2022 
PH 124 West 20th St.



141 WEST 14TH STREET / NORTH VANCOUVER / BC / V7M 1H9

T 604 985 7761 / F 604 985 9417 / CNV.ORG  

Proposal:  To rezone the subject property from a 
Medium Density Apartment Residential (RM-1) Zone 
to a Comprehensive Development 746 (CD-746) Zone 
to permit the development of a 6-storey, 57-unit, 
market rental apartment building, over 1.5 levels of 
underground parking for 47 vehicles and 6 surface 
parking stalls, accessed from the lane, for visitors. The 
proposed density is 2.59 times the lot area.
To provide written input:  All persons who believe 

to speak at the Public Hearing and/or by written or 
email submission.  All submissions must include 
your name and address and should be sent to the 

no later than 
12:00 noon on Monday, June 27, 2022, to ensure their availability to Council at the Public 
Hearing.  No further information or submissions can be considered by Council after the 
Public Hearing has concluded.
To speak at the Public Hearing in person OR by Webex/phone:
In person at City Hall:  On the day of the Public Hearing, a sign-up sheet will be available 
in the lobby, outside the Council Chamber, from 5:30pm.  Enter City Hall through the 

th Street) after 5:30pm.
Via Webex/phone:  Pre-register by completing the online form at cnv.org/PublicHearings, 
or by phoning 604-990-4230 to provide contact details, so call-in instructions can be 
forwarded to you.  All Webex/phone pre-registration must be submitted no later 
than 12:00 noon on Monday, June 27, 2022.
Non-registered speakers:  Speakers who have not pre-registered will also have an 
opportunity to provide input.  Once all registered speakers have spoken, the Mayor will 
call for a recess to allow time for additional speakers to phone in or speak in person.  Call-
in details will be displayed on-screen during the livestream at cnv.org/LiveStreaming.
To view the documents:  The proposed bylaws, background material and presentations 
can be viewed online at cnv.org/PublicHearings.
Questions?

PUBLIC HEARING
Monday, June 27, 2022 at 6:00 pm

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 8898 and Housing Agreement 
Bylaw No. 8899 for 124 West 20th Street
Watch the meeting online at cnv.org/LiveStreaming
or in person at City Hall, 141 West 14th Street

2052

1952

13
1

2044

108

19
10

108

1 12
434

2057

11
6

14
0

144156

1945

1925

1925

12
1

2006

1915

2016

13
0

14
4

12
1

2035
2028

2025

13
7

135

14
0

12
8

1925

2036

116

1940

108

1905

2001

14
9

12
0

2035

14
0

W 21st St

C
he

st
er

fie
ld

 A
ve

Lo
ns

da
le

 A
ve

W 20th St

124 W 20th Street



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8898 Document: 2114241-v2 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8898 

A Bylaw to amend “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, 

Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8898” (124 20th Street Holdings Ltd. Inc. No. BC1081725 
/ RLA Architects, 124 West 20th Street, CD-746). 

 
2. Division VI: Zoning Map of Document “A” of “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby 

amended by reclassifying the following lots as henceforth being transferred, added to and 
forming part of CD-746 (Comprehensive Development 746 Zone): 

 
 Lots Block D.L. Plan 
 

24 of Lots 2 and 3 6 5448 1241 from RM-1 
 
3. Part 11 of Division V:  Comprehensive Development Regulations of Document “A” of “Zoning 

Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby amended by: 
 

A. Adding the following section to Section 1100, thereof, after the designation “CD-745 
Comprehensive Development 745 Zone”: 

 
“CD-746 Comprehensive Development 746 Zone” 

 
B. Adding the following to Section 1101, thereof, after the “CD-745 Comprehensive 

Development 745 Zone”: 
 

“CD-746 Comprehensive Development 746 Zone” 
 

In the CD-746 Zone, permitted Uses, regulations for permitted Uses, regulations for 
the size, shape and siting of Buildings and Structures and required Off-Street Parking 
shall be as in the RM-1 Zone, except that: 

 
(1) The permitted Principal Use on the Lot shall be limited to: 

 
(a) Rental Apartment Residential Use; 
 

i. Accessory Home Office Use; 
ii. Accessory Off-Street Parking Use; 

 
(2) Gross Floor Area; 

 
(a) The Principal Building shall not exceed a Gross Floor Area of 1.0 times the 

Lot Area, provided that this amount may be increased to a maximum of 
1.60 times the Lot Area through the provision of Adaptable Design subject 
to Section 423; 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8898 Document: 2114241-v2 

(b) Notwithstanding 2(a), the maximum Gross Floor Area may be further 
increased upon entering into a Housing Agreement with the City, from the 
“Base Density” to the “Total Density” as follows: 

 
BASE DENSITY 

OCP Schedule ‘A’ 1.60 FSR  
ADDITIONAL (BONUS) DENSITY 

ADDITIONAL 
DENSITY 
CATEGORY 

DESCRIPTION 
ADDITIONAL 
DENSITY 
(BONUS) 

POLICY 
REFERENCE 

100% Rental 
Housing 

Secured rental 
apartment 
building, of 
which 6 units 
are mid-market 

1.0 FSR OCP Section 2.2 

 
TOTAL DENSITY 2.60 FSR  

 
(3) Height: 
 

(a) The Principal Building shall not exceed a Height of six storeys to the top of 
the main roof line and no more than 19.12 meters (62.7 feet) as measured 
from the average building grade along the North property line; 

 
(b) Notwithstanding 3(a), the maximum building height may be further 

increased to permit a rooftop elevator lobby and stairways up to a 
maximum of 22.2 meters (72.7 feet) from the average building grade along 
the North property line; 

 
(4) The minimum required Principal Building setback, measured to each building 

face, shall be limited to: 
 

(a) 5.94 meters (19.5 feet) from the Front Property Line (West 20th Street); 
(b) 3.51 meters (11.5 feet) from the Interior Side Lot Lines; 

 
(5) Section 906(4)(d) Parking Space access directly from Lane shall not apply; 

 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8898 Document: 2114241-v2 

(6) Section 510(3) Building Width and Length shall not apply. 
 
 

READ a first time on the 13th day of June, 2022. 

READ a second time on the 13th day of June, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

APPROVED pursuant to section 52(3)(a) of the 
Transportation Act on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 
 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8899 Document: 2185083-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8899 

A Bylaw to enter into a Housing Agreement (124 West 20th Street) 

WHEREAS Section 483 of the Local Government Act R.S.B.C. 2015 c.1 permits a local 
government to enter into a housing agreement for rental housing. 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open 
meeting assembled enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2022, 

No. 8899” (124 20th Street Holdings Ltd. Inc. No. BC1081725 / RLA Architects, 124 
West 20th Street, CD-746, Rental Housing Commitments). 

 
2. The Council hereby authorizes the agreement substantially in the form attached to this bylaw 

between The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver and 124 20th Street Holdings Ltd. 
Inc. No. BC1081725 with respect to the lands referenced as 124 West 20th Street, “Zoning 
Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8898” (124 20th Street Holdings Ltd. 
Inc. No. BC1081725 / RLA Architects, 124 West 20th Street, CD-746). 

 
3. The Mayor and Corporate Officer are authorized to execute any documents required to give 

effect to the Housing Agreement. 
 
 

READ a first time on the 13th day of June, 2022. 

READ a second time on the 13th day of June, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8899 Document: 2185083-v1 

PART 2 – TERMS OF INSTRUMENT 
 

RENTAL HOUSING AGREEMENT AND SECTION 219 COVENANT 
 
THIS AGREEMENT dated for reference the _______ day of ________________, 20____. 

BETWEEN: 

124 20TH STREET HOLDINGS LTD. INC.NO. BC1081725 
#102 2455 Dollarton Highway 
North Vancouver, British Columbia,  
V7H 0A2 
 
(the “Owner”) 
 

AND: 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER, 
a municipal corporation pursuant to the Local Government Act and 
having its offices at 141 West 14th Street, North Vancouver, 
British Columbia, V7M 1H9 
 
(the “City”) 

WHEREAS: 

A. The Owner is the registered owner of the Lands. 
 
B. The City is a municipal corporation incorporated pursuant to the Community Charter, SBC 

2003, c. 26. 

C. Section 219 of the Land Title Act, RSBC 1996, c. 250 permits registration of a covenant 
in favour of a municipality in respect of the use of land or the use of a building on or to be 
erected on land, that land is or is not to be built on except in accordance with the covenant 
and that land is not to be subdivided except in accordance with the covenant;. 

D. Section 483 of the Act permits a local government to, by bylaw, enter into a housing 
agreement that may include terms and conditions regarding the occupancy of the housing 
units identified in the agreement, including respecting the form of tenure of the housing 
units, the availability of the housing units to classes of persons, the administration and 
management of the housing units and the rents and lease, sale or share prices that may 
be charged. 

E. The City has enacted a bylaw authorizing this Agreement. 

F. The Owner and the City wish to enter into this Agreement pursuant to Section 219 of the 
Land Title Act and section 483 of the Act. 

 
NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the sum of Ten Dollars ($10.00) now paid by the City to 
the Owner and for other good and valuable consideration (the receipt and sufficiency of which the 
Owner hereby acknowledges), the Owner and the City covenant each with the other as follows: 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8899 Document: 2185083-v1 

1. DEFINITIONS 
 

(a) “Act” means the Local Government Act, RSBC. 2015 c.1 as amended from time 
to time; 

 
(b) “Affordable Rent" means with respect to each Mid-Market Rental Unit a rent 

payment amount equal to 10% below the “Private Apartment Average Rents” for 
the corresponding bedroom type in the City of North Vancouver as established by 
CMHC’s Housing Market Information Portal for the year the tenancy is entered 
into; 

 
(c) “Agreement” means this agreement as amended from time to time; 
 
(d) “Commencement Date” has the meaning set out in section 2.1 herein; 
 
(e) “Council” means the municipal council for the City of North Vancouver; 
 
(f) “CMHC” means Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation; 
 
(g) “Director of Planning” means the chief administrator of the Department of 

Planning of the City and his or her successors in function and their respective 
nominees; 

 
(h) “Dwelling Unit” means a dwelling unit as defined in the City of North Vancouver’s 

“Zoning Bylaw 1995, No. 6700” as amended from time to time; 
 
(i) “Lands” means those lands and premises legally described as: 

 
Parcel Identifier: 014-912-261 
Lot 24 of Lots 2 and 3 
Block 6 
District Lot 548 
Plan 1241; 

 
(j) “Mid-Market Rental Units” means the 6 Dwelling Units in the Residential Building 

to be constructed on the Lands that are rented to tenants for Affordable Rent; 
 
(k) “Market Rental Units” means all Dwelling Units in the Residential Building other 

than the Mid-Market Rental Units; 
 

(l) “Rental Purposes” means an occupancy or intended occupancy which is or would 
be governed by a tenancy agreement as defined in Section 1 of the Residential 
Tenancy Act, SBC 2002 c. 78 as amended from time to time between the Owner 
and the tenant; 

 
(m) “Rental Units” means the Market Rental Units and the Mid-Market Rental Units; 
 
(n) “Residential Building” means the six storey building to be constructed on the 

Lands to be used for Rental Purposes with 57 Dwelling Units, of which 51 Dwelling 
Units will be Market Rental Units and 6 Dwelling Units will be Mid-Market Rental 
Units; 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8899 Document: 2185083-v1 

(o) “RT Act” means the Residential Tenancy Act, SBC 2002 c. 78; 
 

(p) “Rezoning Bylaw” means the rezoning bylaw applicable to the Lands described 
as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2021, No. 8898”; and 

 
(q) “Term” has the meaning set out in section 2.1 herein. 

 
 
2. TERM 
 
2.1 This Agreement will commence upon adoption by Council of “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 

2022, No. 8899” (124 20th Street Holdings Ltd. Inc. No. BC1081725 / RLA Architects, 124 
West 20th Street, CD-746, Rental Housing Commitments), (the “Commencement Date”) 
and will continue until the date this Agreement is terminated in accordance with sections 2.2 
or 8.3(c) (the “Term”). 

 
2.2 This Agreement will terminate immediately upon the removal or destruction of the Residential 

Building provided the Residential Building is not repaired or rebuilt following the destruction 
thereof. 

 
2.3 Subject to section 7.3, upon termination of this Agreement, this Agreement will be at an end 

and of no further force and effect. 
 
3. SECTION 219 COVENANT  
 
3.1 The Owner covenants and agrees with the City as a covenant in favour of the City pursuant 

to Section 219 of the Land Title Act, RSBC 1996, c. 250 that during the Term of this 
Agreement, it being the intention and agreement of the Owner that the provisions in this 
Agreement be annexed to, and run with and be a charge upon the Lands, that 
notwithstanding the Rezoning Bylaw, the Lands shall be used and built on only in strict 
compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement and that:  

(a) the Lands shall not be subdivided or stratified; 

(b) the Rental Units in the Residential Building shall be used for Rental Purposes only; 
and 

(c) no Rental Unit in the Residential Building shall be occupied for any purpose except 
for Rental Purposes pursuant to a Tenancy Agreement. 

3.2 The Owner further covenants and agrees with the City that the Lands and any buildings 
or structures constructed thereon including the Residential Building shall be developed, 
built, and maintained in accordance with all City bylaws, regulations and guidelines as 
amended from time to time. 

3.3 Pursuant to section 219(6) of the Land Title Act, RSBC 1996, c. 250 except for the 
negligence of the City or its employees, agents or contractors, the Owner will indemnify and 
save harmless each of the City and its elected officials, board members, officers, directors, 
employees, and agents, and their heirs, executors, administrators, personal representatives, 
successors and assigns, from and against all claims, demands, actions, loss, damage, costs 
and liabilities, which all or any of them will or may be liable for or suffer or incur or be put to 
by reason of or arising out of: 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 5 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8899 Document: 2185083-v1 

(a) any act or omission, negligent or otherwise, by the Owner, or its officers, directors, 
employees, agents, contractors, or other persons for whom at law the Owner is 
responsible; 

(b) the Owner’s default under this Agreement; and 

(c) the Owner's ownership, operation, management or financing of the Lands for the 
provision of housing for Rental Purposes. 

 
4. TENANCY RESTRICTIONS 
 
4.1 The unit mix for Rental Units in the Residential Building shall be no fewer than 7 three-

bedroom units, 22 two-bedroom units, 23 one-bedroom units and 5 studio units or as 
otherwise approved in writing by the Director of Planning in his or her discretion. 

 
4.2 The six Mid-Market Rental Units shall be provided in the following unit mix: 1 studio unit, 2 

one-bedroom units, 2 two-bedroom units, and 1 three-bedroom unit. The Owner may only 
change this mix with the approval in writing by the Director of Planning with such approval to 
be granted in his or her discretion. The Owner shall be entitled to determine the locations of 
the six Mid-Market Rental Units within the Residential Building. 

 
4.3 The Owner shall enter into a minimum 1 year tenancy agreement for each of the Mid-Market 

Rental Units which will convert to a month to month tenancy at the end of the 1 year term. If 
such a tenancy is ended prior to the end of the Term, the Owner must rent the Mid-Market 
Rental Unit at Affordable Rent.  For greater certainty, at the end of each tenancy, the Mid-
Market Rental Unit will continue to be rented as a Mid-Market Rental Unit at Affordable 
Rent, which obligation will be ongoing at all times during the Term. 

5. OWNER’S OBLIGATIONS 
 
5.1 Without limiting section 3.1 of this Agreement: 
 

(a) Management and administration: the management, administration, and associated 
costs with the management and administration of the Rental Units, including the 
Mid-Market Rental Units, will be borne by the Owner or its designated rental agent, 
unless otherwise approved by the City in writing; 

 
(b) Advertisement: the Owner will feature the tenure restrictions set out in this 

Agreement prominently in all advertising of Mid-Market Rental Units; 
 

(c) Tenant Selection: the Owner will determine the selection of the tenants of the Mid-
Market Rental Units, applying the suggested income qualification of a maximum 
household income determined by multiplying the low-end of market rents by 12 to 
yield the households’ annual housing costs, and divided by 30% to meet the 
standard definition of affordability. Tenants from the existing rental building on the 
Lands should be provided first right of refusal in the Mid-Market Rental Units, 
regardless of income. In determining financial eligibility, the Owner or its rental 
agent, so long as it acts honestly and in good faith, is entitled to rely on all 
information provided by the prospective tenant and the Owner will have no liability 
if the prospective tenant intentionally or unintentionally provides any incorrect 
information. The Owner is under no obligation to monitor or update the financial 
circumstances of the tenant once the lease is signed.  

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 6 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8899 Document: 2185083-v1 

(d) Rent Amount and Permitted Increases: Affordable Rent for Mid-Market Rental 
Units is to be determined at the time of tenancy. Rent amounts may be 
subsequently increased by the permitted annual rent increase then set under the 
RT Act.  

  
(e) Compliance with applicable laws: without restricting the foregoing, the Owner will 

comply with all applicable provisions of the RT Act and any other provincial or 
municipal enactments imposing obligations on landlords in relation to residential 
tenancies; 

 
(f) Performance: the Owner will perform its obligations under this Agreement diligently 

and in good faith; and 
 

(g) Evidence of compliance: provided that the same can be done without breaching 
the Personal Information Protection Act (as amended from time to time) the Owner 
will, at Business License renewal or upon request by the City, supply to the City 
copies of any documentation in possession of the Owner necessary to establish 
compliance with the Owner’s obligations under this Agreement. 

 
6. DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 
 
6.1 The City may, acting reasonably, give to the Owner a written notice (in this section 6.1, the 

“Notice”) requiring the Owner to cure a default under this Agreement within 30 days of receipt 
of the Notice. The Notice must specify the nature of the default. The Owner must act with 
diligence to correct the default within the time specified. 

 
6.2 If the default is not corrected within the time specified, the Owner will pay to the City on 

demand by the City 200 percent of the difference between current market rent, as determined 
by a third-party appraiser, and Affordable Rent for each Mid-Market Rental Unit in default for 
the default year to the end of the Term of the Agreement. The monies collected from default 
will be deposited to the City’s Affordable Housing Reserve Fund.  

 
6.3 The Owner will pay to the City on demand by the City all the City's costs of exercising its 

rights or remedies under this Agreement, on a full indemnity basis. 
 
6.4 The Owner acknowledges and agrees that in case of a breach of this Agreement which is 

not fully remediable by the mere payment of money and promptly so remedied, the harm 
sustained by the City and to the public interest will be irreparable and not susceptible of 
adequate monetary compensation. 

 
6.5 Each party to this Agreement, in addition to its rights under this Agreement or at law, will be 

entitled to all equitable remedies including specific performance, injunction and declaratory 
relief, or any of them, to enforce its rights under this Agreement. 

 
6.6 The Owner acknowledges and agrees that it is entering into this Agreement to benefit the 

public interest in providing housing for Rental Purposes, and that the City's rights and 
remedies under this Agreement are necessary to ensure that this purpose is carried out and 
that the City's rights and remedies under this Agreement are fair and reasonable and ought 
not to be construed as a penalty or forfeiture. 

 
6.7 No reference to nor exercise of any specific right or remedy under this Agreement or at law 

or at equity by any party will prejudice, limit or preclude that party from exercising any other 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 7 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8899 Document: 2185083-v1 

right or remedy.  No right or remedy will be exclusive or dependent upon any other right or 
remedy, but any party, from time to time, may exercise any one or more of such rights or 
remedies independently, successively, or in combination.  The Owner acknowledges that 
specific performance, injunctive relief (mandatory or otherwise) or other equitable relief may 
be the only adequate remedy of a default by the Owner under this Agreement. 

 
7. LIABILITY 
 
7.1 Except for the negligence of the City or its employees, agents or contractors, the Owner will 

indemnify and save harmless each of the City and its elected officials, board members, 
officers, directors, employees, and agents, and their heirs, executors, administrators, 
personal representatives, successors and assigns, from and against all claims, demands, 
actions, loss, damage, costs and liabilities, which all or any of them will or may be liable for 
or suffer or incur or be put to by reason of or arising out of: 

 
(a) any act or omission by the Owner, or its officers, directors, employees, agents, 

contractors, or other persons for whom at law the Owner is responsible; and 
 
(b) the Owner's ownership, operation, management or financing of the Lands for the 

provision of housing for Rental Purposes. 
 
7.2 Except to the extent such advice or direction is given negligently, the Owner hereby releases 

and forever discharges the City, its elected officials, board members, officers, directors, 
employees and agents, and its and their heirs, executors, administrators, personal 
representatives, successors and assigns from and against all claims, demands, damages, 
actions or causes of action by reason of or arising out of advice or direction respecting the 
ownership, operation or management of the Lands for the provision of housing for Rental 
Purposes which has been or hereafter may be given to the Owner by all or any of them. 

 
7.3 The covenants of the Owner set out in sections 7.1 and 7.2 of this Agreement will survive the 

expiration or the earlier termination of this Agreement and will continue to apply to any breach 
of the Agreement and to any claims arising under this Agreement during the ownership by 
the Owner of the Lands. 

 
8. GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
8.1 The Owner agrees to reimburse the City for all legal costs reasonably incurred by the City for 

the preparation, execution and registration of this Agreement.  The Owner will bear their own 
costs, legal or otherwise, connected with the preparation, execution or registration of this 
Agreement. 

 
8.2 Nothing in this Agreement: 
 

(a) affects or limits any discretion, rights, powers, duties or obligations of the City under 
any enactment or at common law, including in relation to the use or subdivision of 
land; 

 
(b) affects or limits any enactment relating to the use of the Lands or any condition 

contained in any approval including any development permit concerning the 
development of the Lands; or 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 8 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8899 Document: 2185083-v1 

(c) relieves the Owner from complying with any enactment, including the City's bylaws 
in relation to the use of the Lands. 

 
8.3 The Owner and the City agree that: 
 
 (a) this Agreement is entered into only for the benefit of the City; 
 

(b) this Agreement is not intended to protect the interests of the Owner, occupier or user 
of the Lands or any portion of it including the Rental Units and the Limited Common 
Property; and 

 
(c) without limiting part 2 of this Agreement, the City may at any time execute a release 

and discharge of this Agreement in respect of the Lands, without liability to anyone 
for doing so. 

 
8.4 This Agreement burdens and runs with the Lands and any part into which any of them may 

be subdivided or consolidated, by strata plan or otherwise.  All of the covenants and 
agreements contained in this Agreement are made by the Owner for itself, its successors 
and assigns, and all persons who acquire an interest in the Lands after the date of this 
Agreement.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Owner will not be liable for 
any breach of any covenant, promise or agreement herein in respect of any portion of the 
Lands sold, assigned, considered or otherwise disposed of, occurring after the Owner has 
ceased to be the owner of the Lands. 

 
8.5 The covenants and agreements on the part of the Owner in this Agreement have been made 

by the Owner as contractual obligations as well as being made pursuant to section 905 of 
the Act and as such will be binding on the Owner. 

 
8.6 The Owner will, at its expense, do or cause to be done all acts reasonably necessary to 

ensure this Agreement is registered against the title to the Lands, including any amendments 
to this Agreement as may be required by the Land Title Office or the City to effect such 
registration. 

 
8.7 The City and the Owner each intend by execution and delivery of this Agreement to create 

both a contract and a deed under seal. 
 
8.8 An alleged waiver by a party of any breach by another party of its obligations under this 

Agreement will be effective only if it is an express waiver of the breach in writing.  No waiver 
of a breach of this Agreement is deemed or construed to be a consent or waiver of any other 
breach of this Agreement. 

 
8.9 If a Court of competent jurisdiction finds that any part of this Agreement is invalid, illegal, or 

unenforceable, that part is to be considered to have been severed from the rest of this 
Agreement and the rest of this Agreement remains in force unaffected by that holding or by 
the severance of that part. 

 
8.10 Every obligation of a party which is set out in this Agreement will extend throughout the Term 

and, to the extent that any obligation ought to have been observed or performed prior to or 
upon the expiry or earlier termination of the Term, such obligation will survive the expiry or 
earlier termination of the Term until it has been observed or performed. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 9 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8899 Document: 2185083-v1 

8.11 All notices, demands, or requests of any kind, which a party may be required or permitted to 
serve on another in connection with this Agreement, must be in writing and may be served 
on the other parties by registered mail, by facsimile or e-mail transmission, or by personal 
service, to the following address for each party: 

 
 City:  The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver 
   141 West 14th Street 
   North Vancouver, British Columbia 
   V7M 1H9 
   Attention: Director, Planning and Development 
 

The Owner: 124 20th  Street Holdings Ltd. 
#102 2455 Dollarton Highway 
North Vancouver, British Columbia,  
V7H 0A2 

 
Service of any such notice, demand, or request will be deemed complete, if made by 
registered mail, 72 hours after the date and hour of mailing, except where there is a postal 
service disruption during such period, in which case service will be deemed to be complete 
only upon actual delivery of the notice, demand or request; if made by facsimile or e-mail 
transmission, on the first business day after the date when the facsimile or e-mail 
transmission was transmitted; and if made by personal service, upon personal service being 
effected.  Any party, from time to time, by notice in writing served upon the other parties, may 
designate a different address or different or additional persons to which all notices, demands, 
or requests are to be addressed. 

 
8.12 Upon request by the City, the Owner will promptly do such acts and execute such documents 

as may be reasonably necessary, in the opinion of the City, to give effect to this Agreement. 
 
8.13 This Agreement will enure to the benefit of and be binding upon each of the parties and their 

successors and permitted assigns. 
 
9. INTERPRETATION 
 
9.1 Gender specific terms include both genders and include corporations.  Words in the singular 

include the plural, and words in the plural include the singular. 
 
9.2 The division of this Agreement into sections and the use of headings are for convenience of 

reference only and are not intended to govern, limit or aid in the construction of any provision.  
In all cases, the language in this Agreement is to be construed simply according to its fair 
meaning, and not strictly for or against either party. 

 
9.3 The word "including" when following any general statement or term is not to be construed to 

limit the general statement or term to the specific items which immediately follow the general 
statement or term to similar items whether or not words such as "without limitation" or "but 
not limited to" are used, but rather the general statement or term is to be construed to refer 
to all other items that could reasonably fall within the broadest possible scope of the general 
statement or term. 

 
9.4 The words "must" and "will" are to be construed as imperative. 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 10 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8899 Document: 2185083-v1 

9.5 Any reference in this Agreement to any statute or bylaw includes any subsequent 
amendment, re-enactment, or replacement of that statute or bylaw. 

 
9.6 This is the entire agreement between the City and the Owner concerning its subject, and 

there are no warranties, representations, conditions or collateral agreements relating to the 
subject matter of this Agreement, except as included in this Agreement.  This Agreement 
may be amended only by a document executed by the parties to this Agreement and by 
bylaw, such amendment to be effective only upon adoption by City Council of an amending 
bylaw to “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2022, No. 8899”. 

 
9.7 This Agreement is to be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the 

laws of British Columbia. 
 
9.8 This Agreement can be signed in counterpart. 
 
IN WITNESS OF THIS AGREEMENT the City and the Owner have executed this Agreement by 
signing the “Form C – General Instrument – Part 1” or “Form D – Executions Continued” attached 
hereto. 
 
 



To: 

From: 

itL, ./4-€ {)A 
Director CAO 

Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Linden Maultsaid-Blair, Planner 1 

REPORT 

Subject: REZONING APPLICATION: 646 EAST 4TH STREET (MEHRDAD 
RAH BAR/ VERNACULAR DEVELOPMENT CORP.) 

Date: June 1, 2022 File No: 08-3400-20-0069/1 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 1, dated June 1, 2022, entitled 
"Rezoning Application: 646 East 4th Street (Mehrdad Rahbar / Vernacular 
Development Corp.)": 

THAT the application submitted by Mehrdad Rahbar / Vernacular Development 
Corp., to rezone the property located at 646 East 4th Street from a One-Unit 
Residential 1 (RS-1) Zone to a One-Unit Residential 2 (RS-2) Zone, be 
considered and no Public Hearing be held, in accordance with the Local 
Government Act; 

THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 

AND THAT the community benefits outlined in the report be secured, through 
agreements at the applicant's expense and to the satisfaction of staff. 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Context Map (CityDocs 2176397) 

2. Public Consultation Summary (CityDocs 2175135) 
3. "Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8934" (Mehrdad 

Rahbar / Vernacular Development Corp., 646 East 4th Street, RS-2) (CityDocs 2181076) 

Document Number: 2176403 



REPORT: Rezoning Application: 646 East 4th Street (Mehrdad Rah bar/ Vernacular Development Corp.) 
Date: June 1, 2022 

SUMMARY 

This report presents an application to rezone 646 East 4th Street from One-Unit 
Residential 1 (RS-1) Zone to One-Unit Residential 2 (RS-2) Zone to allow for future 
subdivision of the existing single lot into two lots. The intent is to develop a single family 
dwelling with a secondary suite and detached garage on each subdivided lot. 

BACKGROUND 

On February 28, 2022, Council directed staff to continue to process RS-2 rezoning 
applications on a case-by-case basis. Council also approved the simplified process for 
these applications, where at rezoning stage there would be a focused review on zoning, 
subdivision and servicing requirements. No design review would be conducted. This is 
to set clear expectation with the applicant and the public that under the Local 
Government Act, the City does not have design control over single family homes 
(though they remain subject to all of the relevant regulations respecting density, siting, 
setback, height, building separations, parking, etc.). 

DISCUSSION 

Project Description 

Site Context and Surrounding Use 

The site is located on the north side of East 4th Street between Moody Avenue and 
Queensbury Avenue. In the Official Community Plan it is designated as Residential 
Level 1 (R1). 

The buildings and uses immediately surrounding the subject site are described in Table 
1 below. 

Table 1. Surrounding Uses 

Direction Address Description Zoning 
North - across the 649 East 5th 

Single detached home RS-1 
lane Street 
South - across the 

649 East 4th 
street 

Street 
Duplex RT-1 

East 652 East 4th 
Single detached home RS-1 

Street 

West 638 East 4th 
Single detached home RS-1 

Street 

Page 2 of 4 



REPORT: Rezoning Application: 646 East 4th Street (Mehrdad Rahbar / Vernacular Development Corp.) 
Date: June 1, 2022 

PLANNING ANALYSIS 

The proposal for two new lots each with a single family dwelling requires a rezoning 
from RS-1 (One-Unit Residential 1) to RS-2 (One-Unit Residential 2) to allow for a 
narrower Minimum Lot Frontage as per Table 2 following . 

Table 2. Requested Changes to the Zoning By-law 
Current RS-1 Zone Proposed RS-2 Zone 

Buildings One Principal Building per lot Same requirements 

Use One-Unit Residential Use Same requirements 

Units 3 Units (one Principal Dwelling Unit, 2 Units per lot (one Principal Dwelling 
one Accessory Secondary Suite, Unit, one Accessory Secondary Suite) 
one Coach House) 

GFA Lesser of 0.3 FSR + 93 sq. m (1,000 Lesser of 0.3 FSR + 93 sq. m (1,000 
sq. ft), or 0.5 FSR. sq. ft), or 0.5 FSR. 

For the subject site, maximum GFA For the two proposed sites, maximum 
is 0.3 FSR + 93 sq. m (1,000 sq. ft.) GFA is 0.5 FSR which is 1708.75 sq. 
= 283.35 sq.m (3050 sq. ft.). ft., for a combined total between both 

sites of 317.31 sq. m (3415.5 sq. ft.). 

Lot Coverage 30% for Principal Building Same requirements 

Minimum Lot 1 O m (32.81 ft) 7.5 m (24.6 ft) 
Frontage 

Principal Front Lot Line - 4.6 m (15 ft) Same requirements 
Building Rear Lot Line - 14.4 m (47 ft) 
Setbacks Interior Lot Lines - 1.2 m (4 ft) 

Minimum on 2 parking stalls 2 parking stalls for each new lot 
site parking 

Use and Density 
The proposal represents the same requirements for density in terms of Gross Floor 
Area (GFA). For both the RS-1 and RS-2 zones the maximum permitted density is the 
lesser of 0.3 times the lot area plus 1000 square feet or 0.5 times the lot area. The 
existing lot is allowed a maximum GFA of 3050 square feet. Based on the new lot 
areas, the two new lots would be allowed a maximum GFA of 1708.75 square feet each, 
for a combined 3417 .5 square feet of buildable area. One additional net unit is permitted 
through the RS-2 rezoning and subdivision. 

The proposed density is consistent with the Official Community Plan and planned 
character of the neighbourhood. The site is one block away from East 3rd Street, which 
is identified as part of the Frequent Transit Network and serviced by the Rapid Bus. The 
proposed parking is one space per principal unit and one space per suite, consistent 
with the requirements in the Zoning Bylaw. Secure bicycle parking is provided for each 
new lot. 

Proposed landscaping includes new planted areas along the front, side, and rear yards 
(native species) and the retention of three on-site trees. 

Page 3 of 4 



REPORT: Rezoning Application: 646 East 4th Street (Mehrdad Rahbar / Vernacular Development Corp.) 
Date: June 1, 2022 

COMMUNITY CONSULTATION 

Following neighbourhood notification on February 9, 2022, the City received 
correspondence from two residents. A Virtual Developer Information Session was held 
on February 24, 2022, with three attendees. Recently, input was received from one 
more resident. The main focus of the feedback was concern about the proposed 
removal of three trees on site. Based on this feedback, and feedback from staff, the 
proposal was revised and now includes the retention of all three trees on site. 

Given the conformity of the proposal with the Official Community Plan and existing 
character of the area, staff is recommending that no Public Hearing be held. Should 
Council wish to refer the application to a Public Hearing the first active clause in the 
resolution should be amended to read: 

THAT "Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8934" 
(Mehrdad Rahbar / Vernacular Development Corp., 646 East 4th Street, RS-2) be 
considered and referred to a Public Hearing; 

COMMUNITY BENEFITS 

The standard servicing requirements would apply and a covenant would be registered 
to secure the retention of three mature trees on the site. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Linden Maultsaid-Blair 
Planner 1 

Page 4 of 4 



Mo
od

y A
ve Qu

ee
ns

bu
ry

 A
ve

E 3rd St E 3rd St

E 4th St E 4th St

E 5th St E 5th St

7 3
3

8 5
0

6 4
2

6 0
8

7 2
3

7 0
1

5 5
8

7 5
56 6

3

7 3
9

5 5
2

6 3
3

6 4
8

5 4
5

6 5
34 4
0

7 2
36 4
9

7 3
3

7 4
3

5 3
2

6 5
8

6 3
3

7 1
96 2

7

7 1
55 5

3

7 4
2

8 0
2

8 1
2

8 6 1

74
5

76
1

8 5
8

6 0
8

6 0
7

6 6
2

7 2
3

7 5
2

5 4
7

7 1
8

7 5
8

5 3
2

5 4
0

7 3
2

7 0
2

6 1
8

6 3 2

72
9

8 6 1

53
9

73
6

7 3
8

3 1
1

7 4
9

5 5
9

8 4
0

3 5
0

7 0 7

53
6

72
9

7 5
3

7 1
95 3

3

6 2
3

6 1
5

6 2
3

8 5
4

7 5
6

7 1
2

6 1
9

6 6
2

7 4
2

5 4
56 1

9

7 6
2

6 0
6

6 4
3

5 5
7

6 1
4

7 2
6

7 4
3

6 2
2

7 3
9

6 4
5

6 5
2

5 3
3

5 6
3

6 4
5

6 1
9

6 5
8

6 1
8

7 5
5

6 3
9

7 0
9

5 4
3

6 1
2

8 6 1

80
8

56
3

7 4
8

7 1
3

7 4
2

5 0
7

6 1 5

84
2

72
8

8 2
0

6 4
2

5 4
7

5 4
8

6 3
9

7 1
86 3
8

5 4
9

8 1 9
70

4

72
2

7 5
8

5 5
2

6 2
7

6 4
2

6 4 9

53
3

64
9

6 5
2

6 4
3

6 5
96 1
3

5 3
6

5 4
3

6 2
2

7 4
6

6 2
3

5 4
6

7 0
86 0

2

6 1
2

7 1
9

7 1
1

7 3
3

7 4
4

8 3
4

5 4
3

5 3
9

7 1
45 4

2

7 4
7

6 0
3

6 5
7

5 5
7

5 5
3

8 6 1

61
5

63
4

7 0 1

62
8

60
7

6 4
8

6 5
1

7 3
9

6 4
6

6 6
3

6 3
3

7 4
7

6 5
9

7 2 065
2

65
9

6 2
9

7 2
7

6 3
8

5 3
9

5 6
2

7 5
9

7 0
8

5 4
2

8 2
4

6 2
8

6 0
7

6 0
3

2 5 0

83
0

55
3

7 1
3

4 4
7

7 2
2

7 3
2

7 5
2

6 5
8

5 5
8

6 3
9

4 3 4

65
5

75
2

7 3
6

Context Map: 646 East 4th Street Subject Site
Legal_Parcels

Attachment 1



Attachment 2



From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Patricia McClung
April-20-22 5:26 PM
Submissions
646 East 4th Street

Hello thank you for your reply regarding my inquiry about the application for subdivision of the above lot 
– 646 East 4th Street.

I am a neighbour in the 500 block of fourth Street and have lived on the North Shore since 1960 and 
have lived in this house at 512 E. 4th Street for many years now and raised my daughters here. They, 
now in their 30’s, both work on the North Shore and want to buy a home. 

I want to share this property with them and I would love for them to own a home here on the North 
Shore.  It is my hope that I too could subdivide this property I love, to provide an ownership opportunity 
for both of my daughters, all while enabling me to live privately in a suite and help to raise my 
grandchildren here! 

Most Sincerely 

Patricia McClung 
512 East 4th Street 
North Vancouver 

1

Received April 21, 2022
RE: 646 East 4th Street



From:
Sent:
To:
Cc:
Subject:

Hello Mary Gamel, 

Thank you for your email. My name is Linden and I am the planning lead on the application for 646 East 4th Street. The 
application is to rezone the property from RS-1 to RS-2 to enable a future subdivision. Each new lot would have a single-
family home with an accessory secondary suite and two parking spaces. 

City staff are currently reviewing this proposal to ensure it meets all City policy and regulations. The applicant will provide 
revisions based on feedback from City staff and from the public.  

The original design submitted to the City proposed to remove three existing trees. City staff have reviewed this proposal 
and have recommended to the applicant that all three trees should be retained, if possible. We are currently working with 
the applicant to find potential solutions. The applicant did provide an arborist’s report, which is under review by staff. We 
hope that soon we will be able to find solutions that retain all three trees, if possible.  

Once the proposal meets all City policy and regulation, staff will present a report to Council for their consideration. When a 
report is brought to Council there will be a public notification. The approval of this application is at the discretion of Mayor 
and Council.  

I appreciate your input on this proposal. You are welcome to reach out to me if you have any questions about this proposal. 
You also can find more information about this proposal on our website here: www.cnv.org/currentdevelopments  

Best, 

Linden Maultsaid-Blair | Planner 1 
Planning & Development 
T 604 990 4217 

City of North Vancouver 
141 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC | V7M 1H9 
cnv.org  

From: Mary Gamel   
Sent: May-17-22 11:24 AM 
To: Linda Buchanan (Mayor); Angela Girard (Councillor); Jessica McIlroy; Tony Valente (Councillor); Don Bell (Councillor); 
Tina Hu (Councillor); Holly Back (Councillor); Michael Epp; Jennifer Draper 
Cc: gateway@cnv.org; Patricia Lepp; Rainer Fassler; terry rich; geniatk; the glossary; Laurie PARKINSON 
Subject: Tree preservation 646 East 4th Street, North Vancouver 

1

Dear Mayor and Council, 

I am a member of the Urban Tree Alliance working with other groups on the North Shore, to protect 
urban trees.  

Linden Maultsaid-Blair
May-18-22 11:52 AM
Mary Gamel Michael
Epp; Clerks
RE: Tree preservation 646 East 4th Street, North Vancouver

Received May 18, 2022
RE: 646 East 4th Street



2

It has been brought to our attention of the planned subdivision at 646 East 4th Street, North Vancouver 
with the possible removal of three mature trees.  

Densification certainly has many advantages, including providing much needed housing with a smaller 
carbon foot print.   

However, the disadvantages can be the loss of mature trees. Trees have valuable assets, carbon 
sequestration, storm water management and shade to name just a few. Landscaping with young trees 
and shrubs is not a replacement for mature trees and there is significant (20%) die-off among replanted 
trees.  

In 2019, North Vancouver City declared a Climate and Ecological Crisis with the objective of protecting 
and enhancing the ecosystem health and biodiversity, reducing greenhouse gases and improving 
resilience to climate change.  

The retention of these three mature trees would align with the need to mitigate climate change.  

I understand from Alex Jamieson B. Arch, MPIBC (retired) that it would be possible to develop the lot 
and at the same time save the trees.  

I have heard from Laurie Parkinson, a resident living in close proximity to the planned subdivision, that 
the trees have added character, much needed shade and beauty to the neighbourhood for many years. 

Perhaps developers who save trees can be recognized in some way for their contribution to preserving 
the urban canopy.  

Saving existing trees should be a foundational part of the building permit process.  

With kind regards, 

Mary Gamel 



141 WEST 14TH STREET / NORTH VANCOUVER / BC / V7M 1H9
T 604 985 7761 / F 604 985 9417 / CNV.ORG                  

Proposal:  To rezone the subject 
property from a One-Unit Residential 
1 (RS-1) Zone to a One-Unit Residential 
2 (RS-2) Zone to permit the subdivision 
of the lot and the construction of two 
homes.
To provide written input:  All persons 
who believe their interest in property 

heard by written or email submission.  
All submissions must include your 
name and address
input@cnv.org, or by mail or delivered to City Hall, no later than 
12:00 noon on Monday, June 27, 2022, to ensure their availability to 
Council at the meeting.  No Public Hearing will be held.
Watch the meeting online at cnv.org/LiveStreaming or in person 
at City Hall, 141 West 14th Street.  Enter City Hall through the doors 

th

To view the documents:  The proposed bylaw and background 
material can be viewed online at cnv.org/PublicHearings.
Questions?  Linden Maultsaid-Blair, Planner, lmaultsaidblair@cnv.org 

70
4

35
0

64
6

62
9

62
8

62
7

63
3

63
9

64
3

64
9

65
5

65
9

66
3

63
4

63
8

64
2

65
2

65
8

66
2

63
3

63
9

64
3

64
5

64
9

65
3

65
9

66
3

E 4th St

Q
ue

en
sb

ur
y 

Av
e

646 E 4th St

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 8934 for 646 East 4th Street

PUBLIC NOTICE
Regular Council Meeting

Monday, June 27, 2022 at 6:00pm



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8934 Document: 2181076-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8934 

A Bylaw to amend “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, 

Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8934” (Mehrdad Rahbar / Vernacular Design Corp., 646 
East 4th Street, RS-2). 

 
2. Division VI: Zoning Map of Document “A” of “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby 

amended by reclassifying the following lots as henceforth being transferred, added to and 
forming part of RS-2 (One-Unit Residential 2 Zone): 

 
 Lots Block D.L. Plan 
 
 17 18 273 1063 from RS-1 
 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



To: 

From: 

~ ~ M 
Department Director CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Emma Chow, Planner 2 

REPORT 

Subject: ZONING BYLAW AMENDMENT FOR 800 MARINE DRIVE (CASCADIA 
GREEN DEVELOPMENT) 

Date: June 1, 2022 File No: 08-3400-20-0065/1 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 2, dated June 1, 2022, entitled "Zoning 
Bylaw Amendment for 800 Marine Drive (Cascadia Green Development)": 

THAT the application submitted by Cascadia Green Development Company/ WA 
Architects Ltd., to rezone the property at 800 Marine Drive from Special 
Commercial (CS-3) Zone to Comprehensive Development (CD-755) Zone, be 
considered and no Public Hearing be held, in accordance with the Local 
Government Act; 

THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 

AND THAT the community benefits listed in the report section "Density Bonus 
and Community Benefits" be secured , through agreements at the applicant's 
expense and to the satisfaction of staff. 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Context Map (CityDocs 2174624) 

2. Architectural Plans, dated May 6, 2022 (CityDocs 2177236) 

3. Landscape Plans, dated May 6, 2022 (CityDocs 2177234) 
4. Public Consultation Summary (CityDocs 2170936) 

5. Sustainability Checklist (CityDocs 2159521 ) 
6. "Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8905" (CityDocs 

2174968 

Document Number: 2174496 V2 



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 800 Marine Drive (Cascadia Green Development) 
Date: June 1, 2022 

SUMMARY 

This report presents for Council consideration a rezoning application for 800 Marine 
Drive to permit a four-storey mixed-use commercial and strata residential development. 

BACKGROUND 

Applicant: Maryam Lotfi, Cascadia Green Development Company 
Architect: Barry Weih, WA Architects Ltd 
Official Community Plan Mixed Use Level 2 (MU2) 
DesiQnation: 
Existing Zoning: CS-1 (Service Commercial) 
Applicable Guidelines: N/A 

DISCUSSION 

Site Context and Surrounding Use 

The subject site is located in the Marine-Hamilton neighbourhood on the northwest 
corner of the Marine Drive & Fell Avenue intersection. The site is within easy access of 
nearly all essential destinations (i.e. employment, grocery stores, medical/pharmacy, 
banks, recreation trails and public transit, etc) . 

The site is approximately 33 metres (108 feet) wide by 40 metres (133 feet) deep and 
1,440 square metres (15,500 square feet) in area. The site currently contains a 1-
storey commercial building that accommodates a vehicle servicing and repair business. 

The immediate surrounding area mainly contains one-storey commercial buildings and 
surface parking (Table 1 ). Beyond this block are some mixed-use buildings, Capilano 
Mall across Marine Drive to the west, and some residential strata and rental 
developments. 

Table 1. Surrounding Uses 
Direction Address Description Zoning 
North 1451 Fell Avenue 1-storey commercial Comprehensive 

(Salvation Army) Development (CD-110) 

East 1420 Fell Avenue 1-storey commercial Comprehensive 
Development (CD-164) 

West 820-822 Marine Drive 1-storey commercial Comprehensive 
Development (CD-725) 

South 801 Marine Drive 1-storey commercial Service Commercial (CS-
1) 

Policy Context 

The Official Community Plan (OCP) designates the site and surrounding areas to the 
north and east as Mixed Use Level 2 (MU2), which supports mixed-use development 
such as mid-rise multi-family and commercial uses contributing to a pedestrian-scale 
village-feel. Lands to the south and west are designated Commercial. 

Page 2 of 9 



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 800 Marine Drive (Cascadia Green Development) 
Date: June 1, 2022 

The MU2 designation of the site allows for a density of up to 2.5 FSR (including 0.5 FSR 
bonus density) and a maximum height of 6-storeys. 

The proposal is situated on the Marine Drive mixed-use commercial corridor, which is 
considered a key part of the City's economic engine and identified as a Frequent Transit 
Development Area (FTDA). Development priorities for this FTDA are to encourage a 
pedestrian-friendly and transit-supportive environment and to ensure sufficient right-of
way for future transit expansion along Marine Drive. 

Project Description 

The proposal is for a 4-storey mixed-use building with retail use at ground level, office 
use above and two upper levels of strata residential. Parking access is provided off the 
rear lane. The following table provides an overview of the proposed development: 

Table 2: Development Proposal Overview 
Element Proposal 

Density 2.5 FSR 

Commercial Space Total of 2,113 square metres (22,745 square feet) or 1.4 7 FSR 

Unit Mix 19 residential strata units, including: 

• 6 studio units; 

• 11 two-bed units; and 

• 2 three-bed units (10.5%) . 

Adaptable Units 6 Level 2 adaptable units (32%) 

Parking Commercial - 27 vehicle spaces; 20 secure bicycle spaces 

Residential - 12 vehicle spaces; 32 secure bicycle spaces 

Residential Amenity Outdoor - 66. 7 square metres (718.4 square feet) 

The proposed residential amenity is an outdoor gathering space with planters and 
seating, adjacent to an exterior circulation passage. 

To facilitate the proposal, the amendment bylaw would vary the CS-1 zone for 
increased density, building height, lot coverage and parking, as well as reduced 
setbacks. 

Table 3. Summary of Proposed Zoning Changes 
BASE CS-1 ZONE PROPOSED CD-755 ZONE 

Permitted Various Commercial Uses 
Principal Uses 

• Retail-Service Group 1 Use 
• Accessory Apartment Use 
• Accessory Off-Street 

Parking Use 
• Accessory Off-Street 

LoadinQ Use 

Page 3 of 9 



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 800 Marine Drive (Cascadia Green Development) 
Date: June 1, 2022 

BASE CS-1 ZONE PROPOSEDCD~55ZONE 
Density 0.9 FSR 2.5 FSR 
Maximum 
Lot Coverage 45 percent 91 percent 
Maximum 
Height 10.7 m (35 ft) 17.7 m (58 ft) 
Maximum 
Setbacks 6.1 metres (20 feet) from the Front, 0.11 m (0.35 ft) from Front Lot Line; 

Rear and Exterior Side Lot Lines 0.06 m (0.2 ft) from Rear Lot Line; 
1.00 m (3.3 ft) from Exterior Side 
Lot Line 

Parking, Residential Use: 1.05 spaces/unit Residential Use: 0.63 spaces/unit 
Access & Commercial: 1 space/50 sqm GFA Commercial: 1 space/78 sqm GFA 
Loading 

Small car spaces up to 35% of Small car spaces up to 64% of 
required spaces required spaces 

Driveway slope 12.5% maximum Driveway slope 16% maximum 

Loading spaces: 1 space/1,393.5 Loading spaces: 1 space/2, 105 sqm 
sqm 

PLANNING ANALYSIS 

Policy Alignment 
The proposal is consistent with the OCP land use designation and within OCP height 
and density limits for the site. This mixed-use proposal furthers a number of OCP goals 
and objectives for economic development, housing and the FTDA. 

The proposed mix of unit types meets a key action of the Housing Action Plan to help 
support families by providing a minimum of 10% three-bedroom units. Also, 32% of 
proposed units meet Level 2 Adaptable Design, exceeding the Zoning Bylaw minimum 
requirement of 25%. The proposal addresses the Active Design Guidelines with 
thoughtful design of stairways and provision of outdoor circulation and-36 amenity 
space. 

Lot Coverage and Building Setbacks 
Compared to the base zone (CS-1 ), a significant increase in lot coverage is proposed, 
along with a corresponding reduction in setbacks. Given the commercial nature and 
existing built forms of the surrounding area, the proposed lot coverage and setbacks are 
expected to have minimal impacts to neighbours while enabling viable mixed-use 
redevelopment of the site. 

Traffic and Parking 
A mini transportation study for the proposal showed that estimated traffic generation is 
not expected to create any significant traffic impacts on the existing street network. 
However, the proposal includes parking reductions of about 40% and 36% for 
residential and commercial uses, respectively. The main reason limiting provision of 
required parking is relatively high groundwater levels, which significantly increases 
construction cost of underground levels. Study shows very limited on-street parking in 

Page 4 of 9 



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 800 Marine Drive (Cascadia Green Development) 
Date: June 1, 2022 

the proximate area, which will be further impacted by the proposed parking variances. 
To mitigate these potential impacts, the applicant is proposing a comprehensive 
Transportation Demand Management (TOM) package to encourage sustainable travel 
by residents, patrons, employees and visitors to and from site. The package includes: 

• Additional and oversize bicycle parking 
• Bicycle maintenance room 
• 25% transit subsidy for residents for 3 year ($45,000) 
• 25% transit subsidy for commercial employees for 10 years ($155,000) 
• Distribution of a TOM information package for all new residents and employees 
• Commercial pay parking on-site 
• Unbundle parking costs 

In addition, a 2-year post-occupancy study will be provided to the City at the applicant's 
cost. The study will provide valuable data on the travel behaviour of users of the 
proposed development. 

The current site context is vehicle-oriented but, as an FTDA, future development is 
expected to transition to a pedestrian-friendly environment that fosters cycling and 
transit use. This transition is further supported by the Mobility Strategy that calls for 
updates to parking and curbside policies in the coming years. The proposed TOM 
package is expected to effectively encourage higher transit and active transportation 
use by residents and employees, helping to facilitate this transition. 

The application includes a Loading Management Plan and letter from a waste control 
service provider that support safe, functional operation of the proposed loading space 
and garbage rooms. 

Infrastructure and Servicing 
The proposal will require new utility service connections, including a sewage main 
upgrade and replacement of adjacent traffic signal equipment. The adjacent laneway 
will need to be reconstructed to meet grade of parkade access. Streetscape 
improvements will also be required, including relocation and upgrade of existing bus 
stop, a statutory right-of-way along Fell Avenue and a dedication along Marine Drive to 
ensure sufficient space for sidewalk widening, street trees and street furn iture, as well 
as potential future transit expansion. 

The development will have to meet the City's stormwater management requirements at 
time of Building Permit application. The City's stormwater management requirements 
are intended to reduce development impact to the City's storm network and improve the 
health of the surrounding watershed, including replenishing the natural water table and 
slowing the release of storm drainage to receiving bodies. This will become more 
critical as the effects of climate change are expected to be experienced through 
increased severe rain events in the fall, winter, and spring and longer droughts in the 
summer. The preferred stormwater management for new development is on-site 
retention and infiltration with surplus directed to the City's system, attenuated to reduce 
peak load. If the Owner is unable to construct this on-site, stormwater management 
may be provided on public property or a fee may be paid where it will enhance the 

Page 5 of 9 



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 800 Marine Drive (Cascadia Green Development) 
Date: June 1, 2022 

amenity of the public space through a rain garden or by supporting tree growth. Finally, 
if the Owner is unable to meet the required stormwater capture, the Sewer and 
Drainage Utility bylaw allows a fee to be paid that can then be used to provide 
improvements elsewhere in the system. In this location, due to water table elevations 
and proximity to Mosquito Creek, payment may be viable option as it would allow us to 
improve the existing local point of discharge to the creek and also continue to enhance 
creek hydraulics and habitat. This would improve the natural asset which is a key part 
of the City's stormwater system. 

Density Bonus and Community Benefits 

The City's Density Bonus and Community Benefits Policy, in conjunction with the 
Official Community Plan, allows for density bonuses beyond 2.0 FSR in the Mixed Use 
Level 2 land use designation, up to a maximum of 2.5 FSR. 

The proposed project would include community benefits valued at approximately $400K, 
as outlined in Table 4 below. 

Densit Bonus to 2.5 FSR Max Bonus 
Total Value of Community Benefits 

The policy provides a number of community benefits options for projects seeking 
additional density and seeks to ensure the City receives value for additional density 
granted. The specific amenities and benefits included in the proposed project are 
described in Table 5 below and would be secured as conditions of receiving a density 
bonus should Council wish to proceed with the proposed project. 

Table 5. Community Benefits Summary 
Community Benefit Value 
A. Cash Contributions 

Contribution to Civic Amenity Reserve Fund (80%) $319,688 
Contribution to Affordable Housing Reserve Fund (20%) $79,922 

In addition to the items above, the following items will be secured as conditions of this 
development: 

• public art incorporated into the project with a value of $100,000; 
• security for transit subsidies; 
• security for 2-year post-occupancy transportation study; 
• requirement for on-site loading manager to implement Loading Management 

Plan 
• Relocation and upgrade of bus stop 
• a statutory right-of-way of 1.0 m along Fell Avenue; and 
• dedication of 2.0 m along Marine Drive for public realm improvement. 

Page 6 of9 



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 800 Marine Drive (Cascadia Green Development) 
Date: June 1, 2022 

Legal Agreements 

Should Council support this rezoning, the following legal agreements should be 
prepared prior to final adoption: 

• Development Covenant 
• Servicing Agreement 
• Pedestrian Statutory Right-of-Way 
• Road Dedication 
• Community Good Neighbour Agreement 
• Shoring, Crane Swing, and Staging License Agreement 
• Flooding Covenant 
• Community Energy Agreement 

ADVISORY BODY INPUT 

Advisory Design Panel 

The application was reviewed by the Advisory Design Panel on April 20, 2022. The 
Panel unanimously endorsed the following resolution : 

THAT the Advisory Design Panel has reviewed the Rezoning Application for 
800 Marine Drive and recommends approval of the project subject to 
addressing the following issues to the satisfaction of the Development 
Planner: 

• incorporate passive solar control, especially on the southern exposure 
of building; 

• further design development to enhance relationship between the 
residential and office as it relates to landscape developments, both 
hard and soft; 

• further design development for office and residential development and 
access, as it relates to visibility, accessibility and CPTED concerns re: 
access; 

• further design development to address security and CPTED concerns 
within the laneway; 

• further design development/ consideration for the roof enclosures; 

AND THAT the Panel wishes to thank the applicant for their presentation. 

Carried Unanimously 

Integrated Transportation Committee 

The application was reviewed by the Integrated Transportation Committee on May 25, 
2022. The Panel endorsed the following draft resolution: 

Page 7 of 9 



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 800 Marine Drive (Cascadia Green Development) 
Date: June 1, 2022 

BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Integrated Transportation Committee, having 
reviewed the proposed development at 800 Marine Drive and although 
supportive of the concept, wants it noted that the following has not been 
adequately resolved: 

• Improve the design of on-site bicycle storage for security and 
maneuverability; and 

• Include a security gate between residential and commercial parking; 

THAT the Committee commends the applicant for: 

• Provision of lockable short term bicycle parking; 
• Provision of dedicated cargo bike parking; 
• Unbundled parking; and 
• Office space on Marine Drive; 

AND THAT staff be requested to consider the following: 

• Improvements for cycling safety infrastructure in the immediate area, 
considering increase in demand for on-street parking; 

• Improvements for pedestrian and cycling safety at the intersection of 
Fell Avenue and 16th StreeULarson Road; and 

• Establishing one-way access at 15th Street, in consideration of other 
nearby developments in progress. 

Carried, with two opposed 

Subsequent design revisions have addressed the above noted concerns. 

COMMUNITY CONSULTATION 

A virtual Developer Information Session was held on April 13, 2022. One person 
registered, but none attended the session. No comment forms or other submissions 
were received. A summary of the public consultation, as prepared by the applicant, is 
available in Attachment #3. 

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY 

The proposal addresses the OCP's Sustainable City Framework through natural 
systems, physical structure/infrastructure, local economy, human potential, social 
connections and cultural diversity. 

The proposed landscaping will be primarily native species using a water efficient 
irrigation system. The arborist report found one tree on-site. The tree is in poor 
condition and identified for removal. The proposal will be providing six new street trees. 

Page 8 of 9 



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 800 Marine Drive (Cascadia Green Development) 
Date: June 1, 2022 

PROCESS WHEN NO PUBLIC HEARING HELD 

Bill 26 - Municipal Affairs Statutes Amendment Act (No. 2), 2021, enacted in November 
2021, included a change to the Local Government Act to provide that a local 
government is not required to hold a public hearing on a proposed zoning bylaw if the 
bylaw is consistent with the OCP. This replaced the former provision that allowed local 
governments to waive a public hearing. Local governments now have to make a positive 
decision to have a public hearing as opposed to deciding to waive a public hearing. 

Given the proposal's consistency with the OCP, and minimal feedback from the public 
during the consultation period, staff recommend that no public hearing be held for this 
application. 

Should Council wish to refer the application to Public Hearing, the first active clause in 
the resolution should be amended to read: 

THAT "Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8905" 
(Cascadia Green Development Company I WA Architects, 800 Marine Drive, 
CD-755) be considered and referred to a Public Hearing; 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

As discussed under the Density Bonus and Community Benefits section, this 
application, if approved, would generate $399,610 in Community Amenity Contribution 
(CAC) cash contribution, which is in addition to City requirements such as Development 
Cost Charges, public art and road dedication. 

CONCLUSION 

This proposal is in alignment with goals and objectives of the OCP and Council 
Strategic Plan to provide employment generating uses, increase and diversify the 
residential housing stock, and support frequent transit service along the Marine Drive 
commercial corridor. The proposal will enhance the public realm with public art and 
streetscape improvements, and contribute funds to further support community 
amenities. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: ~ ~w-------------

Planner 2 

Page 9 of 9 



W 16th St

Be
wi

ck
e A

ve

W 15th St

W 14th St

Fe
ll A

ve

Ha
ne

s A
ve

W 16th St

W 3rd St

Marine Dr

Marine Dr

Mo
sq

uit
oC

re
ek

La
ne

W 15th St

8 0 9

34
8

15
2 5

8 2 0

90
6

9 3 5

1 4 2 6

1 5 5 2

7 1 7

16
15

7 1 0

23
8

92
0

8 2
78 5 5

71
2

75
3

9 0
0

1 5 5 0

7 3 3

72
0

27
5

7 3
2

9 0
1

9 0
1

7 6
5

8 8
0

7 2 5

8 4
5

1 5 1 2

9 3 5

83
5

9 2 5

8 8 8

7 0 0

72
1

1 4 5 6

81
9

6 6 0

75
1

89
0 1 5 1 8

84
8

7 2 8

1 6 0 9

85
5

7 3 5

90
8

1 5 0 0

1 6 5 0
1 6

2 1

82
9

1 5 3 2

16
21

8 1 8

8 8 5

33
9

1 4 1 6

14
20

91
89 2 2

7 1 5

71
1

84
5

1 4 3 6

8 7
9

16
0

9 4 9

1 5 4 0

73
3

1 5 0 4

80
1

31
2

8 5 7

14
01

9 2 5

1 5 4 8

8 6 0

70
5

66
8

1 5 2 2

89
4

82
8

6 4 1

80
0

1 4 5 1
1 4 4 4

8 1 4

720

Context Map: 800 Marine Drive Subject Site
Legal_Parcels

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 1�



PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

NTS

A000

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

COVER SHEET

800 MARINE DRIVE

800 MARINE DRIVE - MIXED USE
PROJECT NUMBER: 21045
CIVIC ADDRESS: 800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, B.C.
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: LOT F BLOCK D DISTRICT LOT 265 GROUP 1 NWD PLAN 20986

CONSULTANT LIST:

REZONING & DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATION 05/05/2022
CLIENT
CASCADIA GREEN DEVELOPMENT
106 - 252 ESPLANADE W.,
NORTH VANCOUVER, BC, V7M 0E9
TEL: 604-260-1056

ARCHITECT
WA ARCHITECTS LTD.
950 - 1500 W GEORGIA STREET,
VANCOUVER, BC, V6G 2Z6
TEL: 604-685-3529

LANDSCAPE
PERRY AND ASSOCIATES
112 EAST BROADWAY,
VANCOUVER, BC, V5T 1V9
TEL: 604-738-4118

CIVIL
3A HYDROTECH SOLUTIONS
TEL: 604-617-0697

TRANSPORTATION
WATT CONSULTING GROUP
550 - 888 DUNSMUIR ST
VANCOUVER, BC, V6C 3K4
TEL: 778-309-1253

CODE
MR CONSULTING
1281 20TH STREET
WEST VANCOUVER, BC, V7V 3Z4
TEL: 604-764-7709

ENERGY
MURI CONSULTING GROUP INC.
3807 - 1480 HOWE STREET,
VANCOUVER, BC, V6Z 0G5
TEL: 778-318-2932

CONTEXT PLAN

RENDERING

DRAWING LIST:
ARCHITECTURAL

A000      COVER SHEET
A001 SURVEY
A100 SITE PLAN
A110 FIRE DEPARTMENT RESPONSE PLAN
A120 CONTEXT MAPS AND PHOTOS
A121 CONTEXT MAPS AND PHOTOS

A200 LEVEL P1 FLOOR PLAN
A201 LEVEL 1 FLOOR PLAN
A202 LEVEL 2 FLOOR PLAN
A203 LEVEL 3 FLOOR PLAN
A204 LEVEL 4 FLOOR PLAN
A205 ROOF PLAN
A220 RESIDENTIAL UNIT PLANS
A221 RESIDENTIAL UNIT PLANS

A301 BUILDING ELEVATIONS
A302 BUILDING ELEVATIONS
A400 BUILDING SECTIONS
A401 BUILDING SECTIONS

A500 PERSPECTIVES
A501      PERSPECTIVES
A502      PERSPECTIVES

A600      AREA PLAN LEVEL 1 & 2
A601      AREA PLAN LEVEL 3 & 4
A610      SHADOW STUDIES

CIVIL

CVL-01 GRADING PLAN
CVL-02 SERVICING PLAN
CVL-03 ROAD WORKS - FELL AVE
CVL-04 SWMP

LANDSCAPE

L1.0 LANDSCAPE PLAN LEVEL 1
L1.1 LANDSCAPE PLAN LEVEL 3 & 4
L2.0 TREE MANAGEMENT PLAN
L3.0 PLANTING PLAN LEVEL 1
L3.1 PLANTING PLAN LEVEL 3 & 4
L4.0 LANDSCAPE DETAILS

21/09/03ISSUED FOR RZ / DEV. PERMIT1
22/03/14REISSUED FOR RZ / DP2
22/05/05REISSUED FOR RZ / DP3

SITE

FE
LL

 A
VE

MARINE DRIVE

ADAPTABLE UNIT EXCLUSION
1.86SQM (20SQFT) PER LEVEL 2 ADAPTABLE
UNIT HAS BEEN EXCLUDED FROM THE GROSS
FLOOR AREA TOTAL PER THE ADAPTABLE
DESIGN GUIDELINES.

ADAPTABLE UNITS PROPOSED:
NAME              NUMBER        AREA EXCLUSION
UNIT A1           1 UNIT            20SQFT
UNIT C2           2 UNITS          40SQFT
UNIT C5           2 UNITS          40SQFT
UNIT D1           1 UNIT            20SQFT

TOTAL:            6 UNITS          120SQFT

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 2�



PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

NTS

A001

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

SURVEY (NTS - FOR INFO
ONLY)

800 MARINE DRIVE

21/09/03ISSUED FOR RZ / DEV. PERMIT1
22/03/14REISSUED FOR RZ / DP2
22/05/05REISSUED FOR RZ / DP3



SCSCSC

SCSC

SC

MARINE DRIVE

FE
LL

 A
VE

LANEHORIZONTAL  BUILDING AREA AND LOT
COVERAGE EQUATES TO EXTENT OF LEVEL
2 FLOOR PLAN = 13,862.5SQFT

PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n  R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

3/32"=1'-0"

A100

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

SITE PLAN

800 MARINE DRIVE

SITE PLAN1

21/09/03ISSUED FOR RZ / DEV. PERMIT1
22/03/14REISSUED FOR RZ / DP2
22/05/05REISSUED FOR RZ / DP3



SCSCSC

SCSC

SC

RAMP TO P1

MARINE DRIVE

FE
LL

 A
VE

LANE

EXIT STAIR 1,
ACCESS TO ABOVE
GRADE LEVELS

EXIT STAIR 2

RESIDENTIAL
LOBBY

FIRE ALARM
ANNUNCIATOR, FIRE
SAFETY PLAN

ELEC.
ROOM

COMMERCIAL
GARBAGE
ROOM

LOADING
BAY

EXIT
STAIR 4

PAD MOUNTED
TRANSFORMER

RETAIL

RETAIL

RETAIL

LOCK BOX, FIRE DEPARTMENT
RESPONSE POINT

FIRE DEPARTMENT
CONNECTION

FH

EXIT STAIR 3,
ACCESS TO
BELOW GRADE
LEVELS

27.5m

15.1m

53.3m

MECH.
ROOM

EXIT STAIR 4,
ACCESS TO
BELOW GRADE
LEVELS

NEW FIRE HYDRANT
PER CIVIL

PARKING

PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n  R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

3/32"=1'-0"

A110

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

FIRE DEPARTMENT
RESPONSE PLAN

800 MARINE DRIVE

FIRE DEPARTMENT RESPONSE PLAN1

21/09/03ISSUED FOR RZ / DEV. PERMIT1
22/03/14REISSUED FOR RZ / DP2
22/05/05REISSUED FOR RZ / DP3



PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

NTS

A120

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

CONTEXT MAPS AND
PHOTOS

800 MARINE DRIVE

21/09/03ISSUED FOR RZ / DEV. PERMIT1
22/03/14REISSUED FOR RZ / DP2
22/05/05REISSUED FOR RZ / DP3

CAPILANO MALL

FE
LL

 A
VE

MARINE DRIVE

SQUAMISH NATION
CEMETERY

MOSQUITO CREEK TRAIL

MAHON PARK

McKAY CREEK

KIWANIS
PARK

HA
M

IL
TO

N 
AV

E

KEITH ROAD

W 3RD STREETW 1ST STREET

SITE

STREETSCAPE ALONG MARINE DRIVE4
BIRD'S EYE AERIAL 2

FELL AVE

MARINE DRIVE

VIEW OF SITE

CONTEXT3
RADIUS MAP

AERIAL VIEW OF NEIGHBOURHOOD LANDMARKS1

800m

400m



PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

NTS

A121

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

CONTEXT MAPS AND
PHOTOS

800 MARINE DRIVE

ZONING AND CONTOUR MAP1

21/09/03ISSUED FOR RZ / DEV. PERMIT1
22/03/14REISSUED FOR RZ / DP2
22/05/05REISSUED FOR RZ / DP3

TRANSPORTATION MAP2

ZONING AND CONTOUR MAP4 STREETSCAPE ALONG FELL AVE, MARINE DRIVE AND 15TH ST3



SC
SC

SC
SC

SC
SC

SC
SC

SC

10

9

11

7

SC SC

SCSC

SC

SC

SC
SC

SC

SC

P1 PARKING
37 STALLS

SCSC

PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n  R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

1/8"=1'-0"

A200

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

LEVEL P1 FLOOR PLAN

800 MARINE DRIVE

LEVEL P1 FLOOR PLAN1

21/09/03ISSUED FOR RZ / DEV. PERMIT1
22/03/14REISSUED FOR RZ / DP2
22/05/05REISSUED FOR RZ / DP3



49
.0

1.3

28.9

24
.4

2.0

4.
6

2.9

53.6

9.
8

9.5

60.4

62.2 4.5

16.2

3.
9

4.2

1.
9

MARINE DRIVE

FE
LL

 A
VE

LANE

RESIDENTIAL
LOBBY

SC

4

RETAIL
UNITS

RETAIL
UNITS

SCSC

SCSC

RETAIL
UNITS

EXISTING
NEIGHBOURING
BUILDING

SC

PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n  R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

1/8"=1'-0"

A201

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

LEVEL 1 FLOOR PLAN

800 MARINE DRIVE

LEVEL 1 FLOOR PLAN1

21/09/03ISSUED FOR RZ / DEV. PERMIT1
22/03/14REISSUED FOR RZ / DP2
22/05/05REISSUED FOR RZ / DP3



SUBDIVIDED
OFFICE
SUITES

PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n  R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

1/8"=1'-0"

A202

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

LEVEL 2 FLOOR PLAN

800 MARINE DRIVE

LEVEL 2 FLOOR PLAN1

21/09/03ISSUED FOR RZ / DEV. PERMIT1
22/03/14REISSUED FOR RZ / DP2
22/05/05REISSUED FOR RZ / DP3



X-21045-FLOOR
PLANS|2
BED - C1

860 SF

X-21045-FLOOR
PLANS|2
BED - C3

855 SF

X-21045-FLOOR
PLANS|2
BED - C4

1,004 SF

X-21045-FLOOR
PLANS|2
BED - C5

(ADAPTABLE)
956 SF

3 BED - D1
1,255 SF

X-21045-FLOOR
PLANS|2
BED - C2

(ADAPTABLE)
967 SF

X-21045-FLOOR
PLANS|STUDIO

- A1
421 SF

X-21045-FLOOR
PLANS|STUDIO

- A1
421 SF

X-21045-FLOOR
PLANS|STUDIO

- A1
(ADAPTABLE)

421 SF

X-21045-FLOOR PLANS|2
BED - C6

852 SF

NOTE:
ADAPTABLE UNITS TO MEET
LEVEL 2 REQUIREMENTS AT
TIME OF BUILDING PERMIT
SUBMISSION

PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n  R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

1/8"=1'-0"

A203

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

LEVEL 3 FLOOR PLAN

800 MARINE DRIVE

LEVEL 3 FLOOR PLAN1

21/09/03ISSUED FOR RZ / DEV. PERMIT1
22/03/14REISSUED FOR RZ / DP2
22/05/05REISSUED FOR RZ / DP3



AMENITY
PATIO

X-21045-FLOOR
PLANS|2
BED - C1

860 SF

X-21045-FLOOR
PLANS|2
BED - C2

(ADAPTABLE)
967 SF

X-21045-FLOOR
PLANS|2
BED - C3

855 SF

X-21045-FLOOR
PLANS|2
BED - C4

1,004 SF

X-21045-FLOOR
PLANS|2
BED - C5

(ADAPTABLE)
956 SF

X-21045-FLOOR
PLANS|3
BED - D1

(ADAPTABLE)
1,255 SF

X-21045-FLOOR
PLANS|STUDIO

- A1
421 SF

X-21045-FLOOR
PLANS|STUDIO

- A1
421 SF

X-21045-FLOOR
PLANS|STUDIO

- A1
421 SF

NOTE:
ADAPTABLE UNITS TO MEET
LEVEL 2 REQUIREMENTS AT
TIME OF BUILDING PERMIT
SUBMISSION

PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n  R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

1/8"=1'-0"

A204

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

LEVEL 4 FLOOR PLAN

800 MARINE DRIVE

LEVEL 4 FLOOR PLAN1

21/09/03ISSUED FOR RZ / DEV. PERMIT1
22/03/14REISSUED FOR RZ / DP2
22/05/05REISSUED FOR RZ / DP3



PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n  R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

1/8"=1'-0"

A205

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

ROOF PLAN

800 MARINE DRIVE

ROOF PLAN1

21/09/03ISSUED FOR RZ / DEV. PERMIT1
22/03/14REISSUED FOR RZ / DP2
22/05/05REISSUED FOR RZ / DP3



2 BED - C6
852 SF

2 BED - C1
860 SF

STUDIO - A1
421 SF

STUDIO - A1
(ADAPTABLE)
421 SF

2 BED - C2 (ADAPTABLE)
967 SF

2 BED - C3
855 SF

NOTE:
ADAPTABLE UNITS TO MEET
LEVEL 2 REQUIREMENTS AT
TIME OF BUILDING PERMIT
SUBMISSION

PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n  R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

1/4"=1'-0"

A220

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

RESIDENTIAL UNIT
PLANS

800 MARINE DRIVE

21/09/03ISSUED FOR RZ / DEV. PERMIT1
22/03/14REISSUED FOR RZ / DP2
22/05/05REISSUED FOR RZ / DP3



2 BED - C4
1,004 SF

2 BED - C5 (ADAPTABLE)
956 SF

3 BED - D1 (ADAPTABLE)
1,255 SF

NOTE:
ADAPTABLE UNITS TO MEET
LEVEL 2 REQUIREMENTS AT
TIME OF BUILDING PERMIT
SUBMISSION

PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n  R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

1/4"=1'-0"

A221

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

RESIDENTIAL UNIT
PLANS

800 MARINE DRIVE

21/09/03ISSUED FOR RZ / DEV. PERMIT1
22/03/14REISSUED FOR RZ / DP2
22/05/05REISSUED FOR RZ / DP3



BRICK PANEL LIGHT GREY

FIBRE CEMENT PANEL CHARCOAL

FIBRE CEMENT PANEL WOODGRAIN

CONCRETE LIGHT GREY

CONCRETE MASONRY UNIT CHARCOAL

CONCRETE MASONRY UNIT GREY

CONCRETE MASONRY UNIT LIGHT GREY

VINYL FRAMING SILVER

SPANDREL GLASS BLUES

PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

1/8"=1'-0"

A300

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

SOUTH & EAST BUILDING
ELEVATIONS

800 MARINE DRIVE

SOUTH ELEVATION (MARINE DRIVE)1

EAST ELEVATION (FELL AVE)2



PARKING RAMP

BRICK PANEL LIGHT GREY

FIBRE CEMENT PANEL CHARCOAL

FIBRE CEMENT PANEL WOODGRAIN

CONCRETE LIGHT GREY

CONCRETE MASONRY UNIT CHARCOAL

CONCRETE MASONRY UNIT GREY

CONCRETE MASONRY UNIT LIGHT GREY

VINYL FRAMING SILVER

SPANDREL GLASS BLUES

PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

1/8"=1'-0"

A301

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

NORTH & WEST BUILDING
ELEVATIONS

800 MARINE DRIVE

NORTH ELEVATION1

WEST ELEVATION2



P1 PARKADE

RETAIL

OFFICE

RESIDENTIAL UNIT

RESIDENTIAL UNIT

RETAIL FELL AVE

RETAIL

OFFICE

RESIDENTIAL UNIT

RESIDENTIAL UNIT

P1 PARKADE

P1 PARKADE

LANE MARINE
DRIVE

RESIDENTIAL
GARBAGE

PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n  R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

1/8"=1'-0"

A400

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

BUILDING SECTIONS

800 MARINE DRIVE

EAST-WEST SECTION2

NORTH-SOUTH SECTION1

21/09/03ISSUED FOR RZ / DEV. PERMIT1
22/03/14REISSUED FOR RZ / DP2
22/05/05REISSUED FOR RZ / DP3



P1 PARKADE

RETAIL

OFFICE

RESIDENTIAL UNIT

RESIDENTIAL UNIT

COMMERCIAL
GARBAGE FELL AVE

OFFICE

LOADING
PARKING
RAMP

EXIT
STAIR 2

EXIT
STAIR 2

RESIDENTIAL
UNIT

PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n  R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

1/8"=1'-0"

A401

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

BUILDING SECTIONS

800 MARINE DRIVE

EAST-WEST SECTION1

21/09/03ISSUED FOR RZ / DEV. PERMIT1
22/03/14REISSUED FOR RZ / DP2
22/05/05REISSUED FOR RZ / DP3



PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n  R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

NTS

A500

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

PERSPECTIVES

800 MARINE DRIVE

21/09/03ISSUED FOR RZ / DEV. PERMIT1
22/03/14REISSUED FOR RZ / DP2
22/05/05REISSUED FOR RZ / DP3

PERSPECTIVE 11 PERSPECTIVE 22

PERSPECTIVE 33



PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n  R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

NTS

A501

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

PERSPECTIVES

800 MARINE DRIVE

21/09/03ISSUED FOR RZ / DEV. PERMIT1
22/03/14REISSUED FOR RZ / DP2
22/05/05REISSUED FOR RZ / DP3

PERSPECTIVE 41

PERSPECTIVE 52

PERSPECTIVE 63

PERSPECTIVE 74

PERSPECTIVE 85



PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n  R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

NTS

A502

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

PERSPECTIVES

800 MARINE DRIVE

21/09/03ISSUED FOR RZ / DEV. PERMIT1
22/03/14REISSUED FOR RZ / DP2
22/05/05REISSUED FOR RZ / DP3

PERSPECTIVE 91

PERSPECTIVE 102



SOUTH RETAIL

STAIR 4

MECHANICAL
ROOM

LOBBY

STAIR 1

STAIR 2

STAIR 3

ELECTRICAL
ROOM

ELEVATOR /
CORRIDOR

NORTH RETAIL

GARBAGE
ROOM

506.5

143.7

2,607.2

5,865.1

142.9

214.2

117.7

79.1

159.7

322.6

192.6

39.9
8"Ø DEC

MARINE DRIVE

LANE

SCSCSC

SCSC

SC

OFFICE

STAIR 2

CORRIDOR /
WASHROOM

ELECTRICAL
ROOM

STAIR 1

170.0

143.0

81.1

1,176.2

12,274.6

AREA BREAKDOWN TABLE (SQFT)

LEVEL 1  USE GROSS FSR EXCLUSIONS

SOUTH RETAIL 5,865.1

NORTH RETAIL 2,607.2

ELEVATOR / CORRIDOR 506.5

LOBBY 192.6

STAIR 1 214.2

STAIR 2 143.7

STAIR 3 159.7

STAIR 4 79.1

ELEC. ROOM 117.7

MECH. ROOM 142.9

GARBAGE ROOM 322.6

TOTAL 8,978.8 1,372.6

LEVEL 2 USE

OFFICE 12,274.6

CORRIDOR / WASHROOM 1,176.2

STAIR 1 143.0

STAIR 2 170.0

ELEC. ROOM 81.1

TOTAL 13,531.9 313.0

LEVEL 3 USE

RESIDENTIAL 8,048.0

CORRIDOR 563.4

STAIR 1 177.4

STAIR 2 126.7

ELEC. ROOM / SHAFT 86.9

ADAPTABLE UNIT EXCLUSION -60.0 60.0

TOTAL 8,638.3 364.0

LEVEL 4 USE

RESIDENTIAL 7,192.1

CORRIDOR 341.1

EXTERIOR PASSAGE 140.7

STAIR 1 177.3

STAIR 2 237.0

ELEC. ROOM / SHAFT 91.7

ADAPTABLE UNIT EXCLUSION -60.0 60.0

EXTERIOR AMENITY 718.4

TOTAL 7,564.9 1,333.5

BUILDING TOTAL 38,713.9 3,383.1

AREA SUMMARY TABLE (SQFT)

GROSS FSR NET EXCLUSIONS
BUILDABLE

(GROSS FSR +
EXCLUSIONS)

LEVEL 1 8,978.8 8,472.3 1,372.6 10,351.4

LEVEL 2 13,531.9 12,274.6 313.0 13,844.9

LEVEL 3 8,638.3 8,048.0 364.0 9,002.3

LEVEL 4 7,564.9 7,192.1 1,333.5 8,898.3

TOTAL 38,713.9 35,987.1 3,383.1 42,097.0

MAX PER BYLAW PROPOSED DIFFERENCE PROPOSED FSR

COMMERCIAL FSR (1.5) 23,229.0 22,510.7 -718.3 1.45

RESIDENTIAL FSR (1.0) 15,486.0 16,203.2 717.2 1.05

TOTAL FSR (2.5) 38,715.0 38,713.9 -1.1 2.50

PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n  R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

1/8"=1'-0"

A600

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

AREA PLAN LEVEL 1 & 2

800 MARINE DRIVE

AREA PLAN LEVEL 11 AREA PLAN LEVEL 22

21/09/03ISSUED FOR RZ / DEV. PERMIT1
22/03/14REISSUED FOR RZ / DP2
22/05/05REISSUED FOR RZ / DP3



CORRIDOR

ELECTRICAL
ROOM / SHAFT

RESIDENTIAL

STAIR 2

STAIR 1

EXTERIOR
AMENITY

EXTERIOR
PASSAGE

718.4

237.0

177.3
91.7

341.1

140.7

7192.1

CORRIDOR

ELECTRICAL
ROOM / SHAFT

RESIDENTIAL

STAIR 2

STAIR 1

126.7

177.4
86.9

563.4

8048.0

AREA BREAKDOWN TABLE (SQFT)

LEVEL 1  USE GROSS FSR EXCLUSIONS

SOUTH RETAIL 5,865.1

NORTH RETAIL 2,607.2

ELEVATOR / CORRIDOR 506.5

LOBBY 192.6

STAIR 1 214.2

STAIR 2 143.7

STAIR 3 159.7

STAIR 4 79.1

ELEC. ROOM 117.7

MECH. ROOM 142.9

GARBAGE ROOM 322.6

TOTAL 8,978.8 1,372.6

LEVEL 2 USE

OFFICE 12,274.6

CORRIDOR / WASHROOM 1,176.2

STAIR 1 143.0

STAIR 2 170.0

ELEC. ROOM 81.1

TOTAL 13,531.9 313.0

LEVEL 3 USE

RESIDENTIAL 8,048.0

CORRIDOR 563.4

STAIR 1 177.4

STAIR 2 126.7

ELEC. ROOM / SHAFT 86.9

ADAPTABLE UNIT EXCLUSION -60.0 60.0

TOTAL 8,638.3 364.0

LEVEL 4 USE

RESIDENTIAL 7,192.1

CORRIDOR 341.1

EXTERIOR PASSAGE 140.7

STAIR 1 177.3

STAIR 2 237.0

ELEC. ROOM / SHAFT 91.7

ADAPTABLE UNIT EXCLUSION -60.0 60.0

EXTERIOR AMENITY 718.4

TOTAL 7,564.9 1,333.5

BUILDING TOTAL 38,713.9 3,383.1

AREA SUMMARY TABLE (SQFT)

GROSS FSR NET EXCLUSIONS
BUILDABLE

(GROSS FSR +
EXCLUSIONS)

LEVEL 1 8,978.8 8,472.3 1,372.6 10,351.4

LEVEL 2 13,531.9 12,274.6 313.0 13,844.9

LEVEL 3 8,638.3 8,048.0 364.0 9,002.3

LEVEL 4 7,564.9 7,192.1 1,333.5 8,898.3

TOTAL 38,713.9 35,987.1 3,383.1 42,097.0

MAX PER BYLAW PROPOSED DIFFERENCE PROPOSED FSR

COMMERCIAL FSR (1.5) 23,229.0 22,510.7 -718.3 1.45

RESIDENTIAL FSR (1.0) 15,486.0 16,203.2 717.2 1.05

TOTAL FSR (2.5) 38,715.0 38,713.9 -1.1 2.50

PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n  R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

3/32"=1'-0"

A601

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

AREA PLAN LEVEL 3 & 4

800 MARINE DRIVE

AREA PLAN LEVEL 31AREA PLAN LEVEL 42

21/09/03ISSUED FOR RZ / DEV. PERMIT1
22/03/14REISSUED FOR RZ / DP2
22/05/05REISSUED FOR RZ / DP3



PROJECT NO:

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NAME:

REVIEW BY:

DWG NO:

SEAL:

CONSULTANT:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

OWNER/CLIENT:

NORTH ARROW:

COPYRIGHT RESERVED. ALL PARTS OF THIS DRAWING ARE THE
EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF WA ARCHITECTS LTD. AND SHALL
NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE ARCHITECT'S PERMISSION. ALL
DIMENSIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR
BEFORE COMMENCING WORK.

NO. ISSUE Y/M/D

V A N  9 5 0  -  1 5 0 0  W .  G e o r g i a  S t r e e t  V a n c o u v e r ,  V 6 G  2 Z 6
V I C  1 0 4  -  3 2 1 2  J a c k l i n  R o a d  V i c t o r i a ,  V 9 B  0 J 5
6 0 4 . 6 8 5 . 3 5 2 9   |   o f f i c e @ w a - a r c h . c a   |   w a - a r c h . c a

GENERAL NOTES:

BW

AW

NTS

A610

21045

800 MARINE DRIVE, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC

SHADOW STUDIES

800 MARINE DRIVE

21/09/03ISSUED FOR RZ / DEV. PERMIT1
22/03/14REISSUED FOR RZ / DP2
22/05/05REISSUED FOR RZ / DP3

JUN 21ST - 10AM1 JUN 21ST - 12PM2 JUN 21ST - 2PM3

SEP 21ST - 10AM4 SEP 21ST - 12PM5 SEP 21ST - 2PM6

DEC 21ST - 10AM7 DEC 21ST - 12PM8 DEC 21ST - 2PM9



KEV LEGEND: 

@ CIP Concrete Paving 
0 On-Grade 

® 0 
g~-~l~~crete Paving 

@ Granite Sett Paving 

@ Hydrapressed Slab 
Paving 

@ Picnic Table 

@ Bike Rack 

@ Aluminum Planter 

@ Bench 

@ Lawn Boulevard 

@ Street Tree 

® 1 Rain Garden 

L 

Legend 

/ a,;,a;,,G,.dof=O• ' 

~ -""""."'' 

I .Slopeellpa,ver1reastoareadr,ins 

2, Allplantingbeds .over slabaretobefh 

~=~J$~~~l~~i~~p~~:~-tty 
~~~~~~,:~;~ra~mum allowable 

;:=E~~~i~;:~~•b 
!~T:~:~~i~~~~~~;':rsite 
6.RefertoCivilforgradesonLevell . 

@) Street lighting to 
CNV standards 1 

" I / LEC CONNECTION I 

tJAof-- ~ l-,~;;:c--Jl-'...Jl .... ..__ Ii __ _/ j ~ _L~E~R ~ 0-Cl~l ~RAWIN~ 
- - J 

FFE 43 '-6 " 

FFE 40'-1 "(12.22m) 

D 

7 

P+A 

No. Desaiption 

Perry+Associilte,s 
l.andscapeArchrtecture 
s,tef'lanning 

~!~~~1V9 
1604.738.4118 
perryandassociates.ca 

_!..-,,........_, ...... 
- "' °""'""""'"".....,_ 
-f..- 1\Z I D' 

c ~scADIA 
Green Oe=>velopment-

800 Marine Drive, 
North Vancouver, BC 

Landscape Plan 
Level 1 

L1.0 

_J 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 3�



i 

L 

I 
·-----✓ 

LEVEL 3 

KEY LEGEND: 

(1A\ CIP Concrete Paving 
~ On-Grade 

(18\ CIP Concrete Paving 
~ On-Slab 

@ Granite Sett Paving 

(3\ Hydrapressed Slab 
~ Paving 

@ Picnic Table 

@ eikeRack 

@ Aluminum Planter 

@ eench 

@ Lawn Boulevard 

@ Street Tree 

@ Rain Garden 

-·-··r;::1 ==-:===:--==~ ~~~~~~~~~~~:;;:;:;:=~ 
! 

, __ j 

LEVEL4 

7 

P+A 

No. Description 

r!::.Js:a~hfecture 
Sitef'lanning 

~~~:.!:C:C~,w 
T: 604.738.4118 
perryandassociates.ca 

_,.,.._....._ ..... ~ 
- fo, °""""""ont.....,_ 1(12~ 

C ~scADIA 
Green De=>velopment" 

800 Marine Drive, 
North Vancouver, BC 

Landscape Plan 
Level 3 & Level 4 

L1.1 
_J 



i 

Lighting Legend 

@--@--------@ Proposed Decorative Davit Streetlight with Pedestrian luminaire 

@-@ - Proposed Decorative Pedestrian Lumlnaire 

Proposed Atchltectural Luminalre mounted on Building 

L 
LEVEL 1 

I 
I 

I i 

I Oi " O 
I 

~ 
-' 
-' 
LJ.J 
u... 

Id Property line 

7 

P+A 

No. Description 

r:~s:a~hfecture 
S1tef'lanning 

~~~:.!:C:C~,w 
T:604.738.4118 
perryandassociates.ca 

_,.,.._....._ ..... ~ 
- f<>r °""""""ont.....,_ 
-f<>rllZI~ 

COPYRIGHT RESERVED 

=~:1=:;-:.:-T~;:t."t.. =::: ;:~;3r~~,::'lho~~,,: 

C ~scADIA 
Green Oe=>velopment" 

800 Marine Drive 
North Vancouver, aC 

Lighting Coordination 
Plan - Level 1 & 4 

L1.2 
_J 



i 

,. 

L 

.. .. 
LANE 

----··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··- -··-··-·· ; ··-··-··-··-··-··- .. 7 

i_ 

.. 
.. 

.. I 

,, 

" I'-------------------

' :· 
k 

r 

.. ·~~ 1· 

,> . - ::, •• •' ,!:,' 

,,.., ........ ..... ~ 

,,.-. '...._ "> I 

':'.- •' ''' .• •· i -
W[l"(lil :;~ --. tr:.. - U-... T00P£N 

'ti. .,, ..... ........... ! ··-....\ ,j~ -:,,W,.IEII."'> 

r------, 

' ' ' 
: /• ... • : : I 
1 ~ 1 I I 

, I " ' "- ' , ,. 
i - l;\ \}'- :x· 
,. I, ·~~ \ \:\ , 

f ______ j: ! i l\ ---------' \ ! 

' :;]) 1•'' •. ,----"\ • ' ' . 
I "., I 
: : ... ~ 
' ' 
' ' 
' ' 
' ' 
' ' ,------------------• : 

i N>OP_ : 
I BAU L_ 7 

' ' 
' ' 
' ' 
' ' 
' ' 
' ' ,-------" i 

.. ,,.. , ...... " i I •' L_l ,,./' 

•" •' 

•' j·· .. 

+ •' .. •. ,-cl' 

'~, • ',, ! ~~~ ca--

~~ @l ·-J_·:.·,. , ~ .~~ --• ('~~'ie°i:AI. .. ~ 0 - ~"--~J-f!J"" 

. ~ ,,~~::<~~£~:. 
~ :-,;~ ~t.;.7€-:s=t 
,, ~ -..... ~_ ., ' )S~ I 

~~~ ·-.../~--:.> __ _,../ ·~~~-- ,.. __ 
~~ ' ·· s.,> ', ,.., ' ------) 

~ { 

11-111,,,✓, 
'€ D111,,(' 

,, 
,I 
I 

( 

Legend 

oExistingtreetobe~ned 

El<istingtreetoberernJYed 

D Tree protection barrier 

Notes 
., 

Tretmanag,ementplanistobe~in 
conjunction..;thillbori5t~ 

---1 
TreestoberemoYed - 1 

Newtreestobeplantedonsite • 

Newstrffltrees• 

.-· 

I 
II 

1 

•'1•· ,i i 
~ Outline of proposed building !.,, 

r r'' 

'l w 

~ 
_J 
_J 
w 
LL 

•' 

,. 
UMl/Y~-T 

,. 
•' 

7 

P+A 

No. Description 

r!::.Js:a~hfecture 
Sitef'lanning 

~~~:.!:C:C~,w 
T:604.738.4118 
perryandassociates.ca 

_,.,.._....._ ..... ~ =::= .... ....,-

COPYRIGHT RESERVED 

~-;:_-~:;.: =:;-.::-T~ ;:t,7,. ~;;~;3r~~t:h~~;: 

C ~scADIA 
Green De=>velopment" 

800 Marine Drive, 
North Vancouver, BC 

Tree Management Plan 

L2.0 

_J 



L 

-··-··-··- ··-··-··-··-··-··-··-··- ~---

Adjacent property 

! .. 
j C=:J 61m1,#lgrade,non-nettedsoddedlawn 

! 

7 

m - 2m ard 
Icm_cal._:_2m_stand1rd 

. . . 
" . ., 

LEC CONNECTION 1 

" I/ ~REFER TO CIVIL DRAWIN<l 0- I 

- _/J':_ - - - - - - - - = = = J 

1.Sm wide, 61 m2 

lawn boulevard 
to CNV standards 

Rain garden 
- planting to 

CNV standards 

7 

P+A 

No. Description 

r!::.Js:a~hfecture 
Sitef'lanning 

~~~:.!:C:C~1V9 
T: 604.738.4118 
perryandassociates.ca 

_,.,.._....._ ..... ~ _ ,.,. °"""""" .... .....,_ 
-fo<IIZI~ 

C ~scADIA 
Green • e=>velopment" 

800 Marine Drive, 
North Vancouver, BC 

Planting Plan 
All Levels 

L3.0 

_J 



L 

l-orowiooowlontmtse!lmo.c. l 

A)-

1 CIP CONCRETE PAVING 
L4.0 1" :1'0" 

@ HYORAPRESSEO SLAB PAVING 
0 1": 1'0" 

Modet MLPT210.S.Worl'rNfllll'IM'(IEquivalent 

==~~lin 
Aa:esslblllty: wheelchairfriendly 
Contact: www.maglin.com 
lnnlbllon: Inst.ill .s per m;inufacturefs specifications 

@ PICNIC TABLE 
0 ITTS 

@ BIKE RACK 
L4.(l 1" : 1'0" 

PA.VINCI 

CCINtll£ff__. ..... ...,._ ---a/l"ICmlNI 

I l '~Mln. 

FURNIIIINGa 

@@ 

e 1112•rJe1 M•• 

@ GRANITE SETT PAVING 
0 1" : 1'0" 

~--~] 

@ PREFABRICATED PLANTER 
0 NTS 

7 

P+A 

No. Description 

r!::.Js:a~hfecture 
Si!E'f'lanning 

~~~:.!:C:C~1V9 
T: 604.738.4118 
perryandassociates.ca 

_,.,.._....._ ..... ~ _ ,.,. °"""""" .... .....,_ 

C ~scADIA 
Green De=>velopme=>nt" 

800 Marine Drive, 
North Vancouver, BC 

Landscape Details 

L4.0 

_J 



L 

J 1111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111 l 

@ LAWN BOULEVARD 
L4.1 1" : 1'0" 

11 PRECEDENT IMAGES 
L4.1 NTS 

@ TREE PLANTING AT BOULEVARD 
L4.1 1/2": 1'0" 

NOTl!S 
1.Doooto,t-

2. l'<o~lrtt f,om<l,ng .. <kri>IJplonlw,g.En .. ,.J00-~1)<0- from _ _ ,.,.,,,._..,., 

~":.,,,~==~~=-=~:~si;::~~--.. ~h<>lthand 

~ muit-~IO<solplocomom.~••" 0<-entlll-~ 

=:~e.:f,.,~~~-·:.::;.:i.~"!"oo~~~w:.:~ ... 
~':.~!,":.":'..::;i~.,,l><~t:.,~ .. r"'~--ffl<ll!olnt9"""'"'11-
~=:=::...,v:;:i:nro:..~--=~"'"m""",Thi! .......... DO-D)'t-.nc! 

a.~:~?-€:-~1:~~E~~::;F~; 
9. RolottoC")'ol-Vln<DIMf',lt>nd.lrdtrN~-

SECTION 

@ RAIN GARDEN as per CNV STANDARDS 
l 4 .1 NTS 

7 

P+A 

No. Desaiption 

Perry+Associilte,s 
l.andscapeArchrtecture 
Sitef'lanning 

~!~~~1V9 
1604.738.4118 
perryandassociates.ca 

_!..-,,........_, ...... =::=..,.....,,-

c ~scADIA 
Green Oe=>velopment-

800 Marine Drive, 
North Vancouver, BC 

Landscape Details 
and Precedent Images 

~Shown 

L4.1 

_J 



 

Cascadia Green Development                                     #106-252 Esplanade West, North Vancouver, V7M 0E9 

800 Marine Drive, North Vancouver, B.C.  

Development Information Session Summary Report 

 

Event Date:   April 13, 2022 

Time:    6:00pm – 8:00pm 

Location:   Virtual – Zoom Webinar 

Attendance:   No public member attended the meeting 

Comments:  No comment sheet was sent out  

Meeting Purpose: 1) To present development proposal materials to neighbours 

 2) To provide an opportunity for the public to ask questions about the proposal 

 3) To provide an opportunity for neighbours to comment on the proposal 

 

Notification: 
In accordance with City of North Vancouver policies: 

 

Invitation Brochures 

The City requires invitations to be sent to all households and businesses within 40m of the site. Invitations were 

distributed among neighbouring properties fully/partially within 60 meters of the development site as well as the 

project site on Thursday March 31, 2022 and Friday April 01, 2022. Appendix A includes a copy of this invitation 

and a map of the distribution area.  

Newspaper Ad 

A newspaper ad was placed in the North Shore News on Wednesday, March 30, 2022 and Wednesday, April 06, 

2022. A copy of the ad is included in Appendix A.   

Notification Signs 

Two signs were installed on the property on March 30, 2022 providing two weeks’ notice to neighbours of the 

meeting. One sign was installed on the Marine Drive frontage, and the other was installed on the Fell Avenue 

frontage close to the back lane. Photographs of the installed signs are provided in Appendix A.  

Attendance: 
As part of Rezoning process, a Developer Information Session was held on April 13, 2022. Because of the COVID-19 

state of emergency this session was held virtually instead of an in-person session. A Zoom Webinar platform was 

used by Cascadia Green Development to host this session. A Zoom Webinar platform had the option to participate 

the session via computer and via phone with audio. The selected platform allowed the chat to be moderated.  

1 public member requested to participate in this session in advance and a Zoom invitation was sent to him. 

However, he did not attend the session. Session had no public member attendees.     

The following City staff and project team members were in attendance: 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 4�



 

Cascadia Green Development                                     #106-252 Esplanade West, North Vancouver, V7M 0E9 

 Public Member Attendees: 0 
 

City of North Vancouver: 

 Emma Chow, City Planner 
 

Project Team: 

 Farzad Mazarei, CEO, Cascadia Green Development 

 Shirazeh Dabiri, Executive Manager, Cascadia Green Development 

 Maryam Lotfi, Development Planner, Cascadia Green Development 

 David Youngson, Facilitator, Cascadia Green Development  

 Barry Weih, Project Architect, WA Architects 

 Adrain Wong, Project Architect, WA Architects 

 Johannes Petzel, Landscape Architect, Perry & Associate 

 Victor Ngo, Transportation Planner, WATT Consulting Group 

 Ayda Sahaf, Energy Consultant, Muri Consulting Group 

 Amir Alavi, Civil Consultant, 3A Hydrotech  Solutions   

 

Cascadia’s team was prepared to present the development project to the public members however no 
public members attended the session. That shows us that there is less concern around the proposed 
development by the public.  

  



 
 
 
 
 
 

January 2018 Version                                                                                                                                                   Document: 1229132-v11 
 1 

Sustainability in the City means 
balancing the natural, physical 
(human-made), human, social, 
cultural and local economic 
implications of our activities in order 
to meet the needs of people today 
without compromising the ability of 
future generations to meet their own 
needs. 

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GUIDELINES 
FOR REZONING & DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATIONS 
 

 
Staff Use 

     Case Number _______________________________    

CIVIC ADDRESS                                         

APPLICANT NAME                             

 
I. INTRODUCTION 
 
These Guidelines have been developed to help 
applicants prepare a successful Development 
Application submission. All Development Applications 
must include a response to the Sustainable 
Development Guidelines, which will be reviewed by 
Advisory Bodies, staff and, ultimately, City Council who 
will give serious consideration to the sustainability 
achievements of a project. 
 
Applicants must demonstrate how their development 
will contribute to the current and future needs of the 
community by highlighting sustainability achievements 
of an application. 
 
The Guidelines challenge applicants to advance the 
sustainability objectives of the City, as outlined in the 2014 
Official Community Plan (OCP), which guides community 
development in our city with the following Vision: 
 

In 2031, the City of North Vancouver will be a 
vibrant, diverse, and highly livable community 
that is resilient to climate or other changes, and 
sustainable in its ability to prosper without 
sacrifice to future generations. 

One of the key ways that the community vision will be 
realized is through property development. Buildings house us, provide employment centres and 
frame our streets. They remain with us for many decades with significant ongoing impacts, 
including generating approximately 50% of our community greenhouse gas emissions. Buildings 
now need to adapt to the impacts of climate change to help the City become resilient to that new 
reality. Building forms and densities also have significant effects on housing cost and diversity, 
transportation choices, and the liveability of our community.  

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 5�



 

January 2018 Version                                                                                                                                                   Document: 1229132-v11 
 2 

II. PREPARING THE SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GUIDELINES  
 
Applicants are required to submit a response to the Guidelines as a key part of their 
development application package. Projects are not expected to incorporate all measures in the 
Guidelines.  
 
For information on underlying City goals and objectives, it is recommended that applicants refer 
to other relevant City policies such as the OCP, Social Plan, Economic Development Strategy, 
Transportation Plan, Community Energy and Emissions Plan, Food Strategy and Food Action 
Plan, as well as others.  
 
The Guidelines address the six capacities that comprise the OCP’s Sustainable City 
Framework, including Natural Systems, Physical Structures / Infrastructure, Local Economy, 
Human Potential, Social Connections, and Cultural Diversity.  
 
 
1. Natural Systems: The ability of natural systems, both global and local, to 
support life. Parks and green spaces help regulate the climate, clean and 
filter water and air, and provide recreational and aesthetic benefits. 
Maintaining healthy natural systems will reduce strain on municipal 
infrastructure, support local wildlife and enhance quality of life for 
community members.  
 
 Y N N/A Please Provide Comments: 

LANDSCAPE 
Private Trees Retained or Added in 
proposal (indicate number of each)     

Green Roof / Wall     

Majority Native Species Landscaping     
Habitat Restoration (butterfly, bird-
friendly, naturalized areas)      

Community Gardens*     
50% or More Edible Landscaping for 
Common Space      

Water Efficient Irrigation System  (drip 
hose, low-flow nozzles)     

Rainwater Collection (rain barrel)     

Reuse of Wastewater      

HARDSCAPE 

Permeable Paving for Hardscape     
40%+ Open Site Space (see Zoning 
Bylaw definition)     

Other Sustainability Achievements: 
 

 
 
*See City of North Vancouver Active Design Guidelines for recommended compliance paths. 



 

January 2018 Version                                                                                                                                                   Document: 1229132-v11 
 3 

2. Physical Structures/Infrastructure: The ability to effectively deliver basic 
services, shelter and physical amenities required to sustain the health and 
well-being of the community. This includes water supply, sanitary sewer, 
stormwater drainage, solid waste management, roads, telecommunications, 
and energy efficiency and conservation including district energy. As well, this 
category includes attractive streetscapes, durable buildings, provision of a 
range of housing types and adequate community amenities.  
 
 Y N N/A Please Provide Comments: 
HIGH PERFORMANCE CONSTRUCTION 
Durable Building (modular / 
deconstructable)     

Building Reuse / Recycled Content / Use of 
Repurposed Materials     

Majority Use of Environmentally Friendly 
Materials (non-toxic, wood)     

Certified by a Third Party Green Building 
Rating System     

ENERGY EFFICIENCY AND HEALTHY BUILDINGS 

Energy Performance (per building type) 
Part 3 Commercial (Step 2 min.) 
Part 3 Residential (Step 3 min.) 
Part 9 Commercial (BCBC min.) 
Part 9 Residential (Step 3 min.) 
Part 9 Residential < 1,200 ft² (Step 1 min.) 

Min. 
 
 
 
 
 

Exceeding  
 
 
 
 
 

(if so, specify Step) 

Superior Insulation (thick wall exclusion in 
Zoning Bylaw sought for insulation above 
BC Building Code)  

    

Airtightness (1.5+ blower door test and 
appropriate ventilation strategy)     

High-performance Windows e.g. Energy-
Star, Passive House Certified (whole 
project) 

    

Heat Recovery Ventilator  (75% or better 
recovery)     

LED Lighting (whole building)     

Energy-Star Appliances (whole building)     

Renewable Energy Fixtures Installed     

Water Efficient Fixtures (whole building)     

Greywater Reuse     



 

January 2018 Version                                                                                                                                                   Document: 1229132-v11 
 4 

 
 Y N N/A Please Provide Comments: 
TRANSPORTATION 
End of Trip Bicycle Infrastructure  
(beyond Zoning Bylaw requirements)     

Car-Share Program     

Electric Vehicle Readiness: 
A minimum of 20% of all commercial 
parking spaces include an energized outlet 
capable of providing Level 2 or higher 
charging level for an electric vehicle 

    

Electric Vehicle Readiness: 
A minimum of 20% of all residential visitor 
parking spaces include an energized outlet 
capable of providing Level 2 or higher 
charging level for an electric vehicle 

    

Other Sustainability Achievements: 
 

 
 
 
3. Local Economy: The ability to maintain and grow a healthy local economy. 
A strong economy brings employment and a solid tax base to support services 
without compromising other areas of capacity. A stronger economy has been 
shown to support healthier lifestyles for community members and greater 
opportunities for personal fulfillment and overall quality of life.  

 Y N N/A Please Provide Comments: 
Net New Jobs Generated (long term, 
full time)     

Commercial floor space (net increase, 
indicate area)     

Neighbourhood-Scale Commercial 
(unit frontages ≤6m (20ft))     

Non-Market / Lower-End of Market 
Commercial     

Commercial Relocation Strategy     

Other Sustainability Achievements: 
 

 
 
 



 

January 2018 Version                                                                                                                                                   Document: 1229132-v11 
 5 

4. Human Potential: The ability of our local community to support our residents 
in their pursuit of individual livelihood objectives including access to education, 
healthy food, active transportation and affordable housing. Meeting these basic 
needs is essential for the maintenance and growth of human capacity. 

 Y N N/A Please provide comments: 
Market Rental Housing (net increase, 
indicate number of units)      

Non-Market / Lower-End of Market 
Rental Housing      

10%+ Three+ Bedroom Units (in multi-
unit residential buildings)     

Micro-units ~37.16m2 (~400 ft2)     

Childcare Facilities      
Community Space for Food 
Preparation, Storage and Processing     

Green Building Educational / 
Interpretive Features      

Primary and Secondary Stair Design*     

Outdoor Circulation*     
Storage space for residents in units 
and storage rooms (multi-unit 
residential buildings) 

    

Other Sustainability Achievements: 
 
 

*See City of North Vancouver Active Design Guidelines for recommended compliance paths. 
 
5. Social Connections: The ability of our community to foster communication, 
interaction and networks to respond effectively to community issues. These may 
include supporting community members with low incomes, lone-parent families, 
and matters specific to children, youth, seniors and people with disabilities.  
 
 Y N N/A Please provide comments: 

Design Features for People with 
Disabilities (beyond Zoning Bylaw 
requirement) 

    

Communal Cooking Amenities      
Indoor Amenity*     
Outdoor Recreation*     
Amenities for Senior Users     
Crime Prevention Through  
Environmental Design      

Other Sustainability Achievements  
  

*See City of North Vancouver Active Design Guidelines for recommended compliance paths. 



 

January 2018 Version                                                                                                                                                   Document: 1229132-v11 
 6 

6. Cultural Diversity: The ability of our community to support and celebrate 
a diversity of cultural backgrounds. This includes recognition of the traditions 
of the Squamish Nation and the many cultures of residents who make the 
City their home. With both tangible and intangible elements, cultural capacity 
has economic implications and is strongly connected to social traditions. 
Manifestations of cultural practices can range from spiritual practices to 
heritage buildings.  
 
 Y N N/A Please provide comments: 

Formal and Informal Gathering Spaces      

Retention of Heritage Building     
Public Art Reflecting Local Culture     
Streetscape Improvements (benches, 
planters, lighting)     

Other Sustainability Achievements:  

  
 
 
 
III. SUMMARY 
 
The Sustainable Development Guidelines are important in 
both shaping and processing development applications. 
Applicants are advised to consider these issues at the 
outset of a project and to contact planning staff for more 
information on sustainable design strategies.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Endorsed by Council October 5, 2015 



1

From: Anthony Z 
Sent: June-17-22 2:07 PM
To: Submissions
Subject: Zoning Amendment No. 8905 - 800 Marine Drive

Hi there, 

I'm totally disappointed by your decision regarding Zoning Amendment No. 8905.  You never think how 
bad your decision is, it's terrible for our business, you have done the horrible bridge beside my store and 
took about 3 years to finish, and you never think about us, and never think about how badly it affects us? 
Besides the covid -19 pandemic, we barely survive, and now you come up with a new dumbest idea to 
develop that place. 

I totally DISAGREE. 

Now I'm expecting an email from you saying that you understand my frustration and we are sorry to hear 
that 👎 however, I assure you that you don't understand us or think of anyone else but yourself.

Best, 
Anthony Z. 
Global Pet Foods  
801 Marine Drive, Unit 200 

Received June 17, 2022
Re: 800 Marine Drive



141 WEST 14TH STREET / NORTH VANCOUVER / BC / V7M 1H9
T 604 985 7761 / F 604 985 9417 / CNV.ORG                  

Proposal:  To rezone the subject 
property from a Service Commercial 
(CS-1) Zone to a Comprehensive 
Development 755 (CD-755) Zone to 
permit the development of a 4-storey, 

space and 19 residential strata units.
To provide written input:  All persons 
who believe their interest in property 

heard by written or email submission.  
All submissions must include your name and address and should 

delivered to City Hall, no later than 12:00 noon on Monday, June 27, 
2022, to ensure their availability to Council at the meeting.  No Public 
Hearing will be held.
Watch the meeting online at cnv.org/LiveStreaming or in person 
at City Hall, 141 West 14th Street.  Enter City Hall through the doors 

th

To view the documents:  The proposed bylaw and background 
material can be viewed online at cnv.org/PublicHearings.
Questions?

820

23
8

75
3

72
0

27
5

76
5

84
5

75
1

14
20

87

16
0

80
0

W 3rd St

Marine Dr

W
14

th

St

Fe
ll 

A
ve

D
on

ag
hy

 A
ve

800 Marine Drive

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 8905 for 800 Marine Drive

PUBLIC NOTICE
Regular Council Meeting

Monday, June 27, 2022 at 6:00pm



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



~ A€ 1)/1 
Department Director CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

To: 

From: 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Emma Chow, Planner 2 

INFORMATION REPORT 

Subject: ZONING BYLAW AMENDMENT FOR 800 MARINE DRIVE (CASCADIA 
GREEN DEVELOPMENT) 

Date: June 22, 2022 File No: 08-3400-20-0065/1 

PURPOSE 

On June 13, 2022, Council referred the above noted planning application for 
consideration on June 27th . This report provides further information on the proposal as 
well as responses to questions raised by Council at referral: 

• Active transportation plans for the area 
• On-street parking impacts 
• Unbundled parking costs 
• Relocation of bus stop 
• Building cooling details 

DISCUSSION 

Active Transportation Plans 

The subject site is located at the intersection of Marine Drive, a four-lane major arterial, 
and Fell Avenue, a four-lane minor arterial that transitions to a major arterial south of 
the intersection. Currently, Marine Drive has sidewalks and shared cycling lanes on 
both sides of the road. Off-street, multi-use pathways may be accessed next to the site 
along Mosquito Creek and 300-400 m to both the east and west for .protected active 
transportation connections to the north east and west. 

Improvements to the shared cycling lanes along Marine Drive will be in scope for early 
planning work on the Park Royal to Metrotown bus rapid transit. 

Fell Avenue currently has sub-standard sidewalks and no bicycle facilities , although it is 
designated as a bicycle route. The proposal will be providing a one-metre statutory-

Document Number: 2192535 V1 



INFORMATION REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment For 800 Marine Drive (Cascadia Green Development) 
Date: June 22, 2022 

right-of-way to facilitate pedestrian improvements, but there is insufficient road width 
along the corridor to add bicycle facilities at this time. 

Designs have been explored to add protected active transportation facilities along West 
16th Street between Larson Rd and Fell Avenue. These designs would require removal 
of on-street parking and will be further explored as part of future phases of the AAA 
mobility network. 

On-Street Parking 

Based on the mini transportation study that was submitted as part of the application, 
availability of on-street parking in the study area is limited (47 spaces along Fell Avenue 
and West 15th St): 

"A review of existing on-street parking occupancy found a peak utilization of 80% at 
11 :00 a.m. during a weekday morning. Parking spaces that were unrestricted had a higher 
utilization of 95%, likely associated with commercial employees and visitors from nearby 
developments." 

"The proposed parking supply is considered acceptable with consideration to the site's 
proximity to frequent bus service (four-minute walk to the nearest RapidBus Stop and a 
local bus stop on the site's frontage) and the proposed transportation demand 
management (TOM) plan." 

Page 2 of 3 



INFORMATION REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment For 800 Marine Drive (Cascadia Green Development) 
Date: June 22, 2022 

Unbundled Parking Costs 

One of the proposed TOM measures for this proposal is unbundled parking costs, which 
means the purchase of a parking space for strata owners will be separated from the 
purchase of the dwelling unit. Research has found a vehicle ownership reduction of 6 to 
8% when unbundled parking is implemented. 

Bus Stop Relocation 

The proposed frontage along Marine Drive will include upgraded streetscaping, but will 
not provide sufficient sidewalk width at the existing bus stop location to meet current 
Translink accessibility standards. The proposal will require upgrade and relocation of 
the bus stop to the frontage of the west adjacent lot (within about 50 m) . 

Building Cooling 

The proposal includes heat recovery ventilators for the residential units to facilitate more 
energy efficient heating and cooling. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Planner 2 

Page 3 of 3 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8905 Document: 2174968-v2 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8905 

A Bylaw to amend “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, 

Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8905” (Cascadia Green Development Company / WA 
Architects, 800 Marine Drive, CD-755). 

 
2. Division VI: Zoning Map of Document “A” of “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby 

amended by reclassifying the following lots as henceforth being transferred, added to and 
forming part of CD-755 (Comprehensive Development 755 Zone): 

 
 Lots Block D.L. Plan 
 
 F D 265 20986 from CS-1 
 
3. Part 11 of Division V:  Comprehensive Development Regulations of Document “A” of “Zoning 

Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby amended by: 
 

A. Adding the following section to Section 1100, thereof, after the designation “CD-754 
Comprehensive Development 754 Zone”: 

 
“CD-755 Comprehensive Development 755 Zone” 

 
B. Adding the following to Section 1101, thereof, after the “CD-754 Comprehensive 

Development 754 Zone”: 
 

“CD-755 Comprehensive Development 755 Zone” 
 

In the CD-755 Zone, permitted Uses, regulations for permitted Uses, regulations for 
the size, shape and siting of Buildings and Structures and required Off-Street Parking 
shall be as in the CS-1 Zone, except that: 

 
(1) The permitted Principal Uses on the Lot shall be limited to: 

 
(a) Retail-Service Group 1 Use; 
 
(b) Accessory Apartment Use subject to Section 607(1) of this Bylaw; 

i. Accessory Home Occupation Use, subject to Section 507(6); 
ii. Accessory Home Office Use, subject to Section 507(6); 

 
(c) Accessory Off-Street Parking Use; 
 
(d) Accessory Off-Street Loading Use; 

 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8905 Document: 2174968-v2 

(2) Gross Floor Area: 
 

(a) Combined and in total, shall not exceed 2.0 times the Lot Area; 
 
(b) Maximum Gross Floor Area may be further increased to a maximum of 2.5 

times the Lot Area, as follows: 
 

BASE DENSITY 

OCP Schedule ‘A’ 2.0 FSR 

ADDITIONAL (BONUS) DENSITY 

ADDITIONAL 
DENSITY 

CATEGORY 
DESCRIPTION 

ADDITIONAL 
(BONUS) 
DENSITY 

POLICY 
REFERENCE 

Community 
Benefit Cash 
Contribution 

Provision of an 
Amenity Share 
of $399,610 for 
total maximum 
residential 
density of 1,485 
sq. m. (15,984 
sq. ft.) 

Maximum 
719.4 sq. m 
(7,743 sq. ft.) / 
0.5 FSR 

OCP section 
2.2 

 

TOTAL DENSITY 2.5 FSR 

 
(3) Lot Coverage of Principal Building shall not exceed a maximum of 91 percent; 

 
(4) Building Height shall not exceed 17.7 metres (58.0 feet) as measured from 

average Building Grade of north Lot Line; 
 

(5) Siting: 
 

(a) Principal Building shall be sited a minimum: 
i. 0.11 metres (0.4 feet) from Front (south) Lot Line; 
ii. 0.06 metres (0.2 feet) from Rear (north) Lot Line; 
iii. 1.00 metres (3.3 feet) from Exterior Side (east) Lot Line; 
iv. 0.15 metres (0.5 feet) from Interior Side (west) Lot Line; 

 
(6) Off-Street Parking, Short-Term and Secure Bicycle Parking, and Accessory Off-

Street Loading Spaces shall be provided in conformity with the requirements of 
Division IV, Parts 9, 10, and 10A, except that: 

 
(a) Minimum number of accessory off-street Parking Spaces required for 

Residential Use is varied to 0.63 per unit; 
 

(b) Minimum number of accessory off-street Parking Spaces required for CS-
1 Zone Retail-Service Group 1 Use is varied to 1 space per 78 sq. m. (840 
sq. ft.) of Gross Floor Area; 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8905 Document: 2174968-v2 

(c) Section 906(3)(a)(ii) is varied to permit a maximum of 64% small car 
spaces; 

 
(d) Section 906(4)(i) is varied to permit a maximum driveway slope of 16% 

beyond the first 6.1 m (20 ft) 
 

(e) Minimum number of Loading Spaces required for Commercial Use is 1 
space per 2,105 sq. m. (22,658 sq. ft.); and 
 

(f) Section 10A07(1) is varied to permit Accessory End Destination Facilities 
to be located on the second storey of a building. 

 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 









 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



To: 

From: 

Subject: 

Date: 

PURPOSE: 

~ ~ LA{ 
Department Director CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 

INFORMATION REPORT 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Annie Dempster, Planning Assistant 

2022 LIVING CITY AWARD RECIPIENTS 

June 22, 2022 File No: 01-0290-20-0005/2022 

The purpose of this report is to advise Council of the 2022 Living City Award winners. 

DISCUSSION: 

The Living City Award Program recognizes the efforts of individuals, schools, 
community groups and businesses demonstrating outstanding leadership in 
environmental sustainability. The awards are an important part of the City's 
environmental sustainability program and provide a means of supporting and fostering 
environmental leadership. 

Nominations received for the 2022 Living City Awards were reviewed by members of 
the Advisory Planning Commission on June 8, 2022. The Commission unanimously 
recommended that the awards be given to the following recipients: 

Queen Mary Community Elementary School - Urban Agriculture, and Education 
and Awareness 

Queen Mary Community Elementary School teachers, staff, parents and community 
partners are integrating sustainable food systems education into their school culture and 
curriculum. Working collaboratively, the Queen Mary School Community has developed, 
implemented and shared innovative food systems education through which 
environmental, health and Indigenous ways of knowing are interwoven to teach local 
sustainable food systems and environmental stewardship. Through this innovative work, 
the Queen Mary School Community has demonstrated student and community benefits 
grow out of integrating outdoors hands-on interactive lessons with traditional place
based knowledge as it cultivates change in the classroom, which in turn has 

Document Number: 2190411 V1 



INFORMATION REPORT: 2022 Living City Award Recipients 
Date: June 22, 2022 

transformative potential for growing integration, resiliency, and interconnectedness for 
both human and natural environments within our community. 

Sam Starr - Sustainable Transportation 

Sam Starr has been nominated for his local and national leadership in sustainable 
urban freight and cycle logistics. He has worked with local and national companies and 
organizations to facilitate transitioning last-mile deliveries from large fossil-fuel 
motorized vehicles to sustainable cycling alternatives. Sam was one of the organizers of 
the inaugural 2021 North Shore Cargo Bike Festival where over 35 participants, 
including three elected officials, toured the City on cargo, electric, and traditional bikes 
pausing at key locations to discuss how cargo bike use could be expanded on the North 
Shore and beyond . Sam combines his passion for sustainable cities and new mobility 
solutions with his education and experience in logistics, supply chain, and final mile 
delivery to advance sustainable urban freight and cycle logistics systems here on the 
North Shore and across North America. 

Tom Riessner - Zero Waste 

Tom has been an advocate for waste reduction and a participant in the circular 
economy for more than twenty years. Beginning in 2002, he managed the Restore 
operations for Greater Vancouver Habitat for Humanity, opening three stores. In 2015, 
Tom founded Urban Repurpose, a non-for-profit social enterprise, to reduce waste 
through reuse and upcycling while building consumer demand for upcycled and reused 
products through education, collaboration and empowerment. Tom works tirelessly to 
reduce the barriers that exist around reuse, collecting materials from hundreds of 
homes and business each year and giving away much of it to teachers, students, 
upcyclers, and the public through "free days" at the store. Through his work, Tom strives 
to change attitudes and perceptions of what waste materials are and their value as a 
natural resource that can be put to beneficial use within our local community. 

Gabe Sentlinger - Environmental Protection & Enhancement, and Water 
Conservation 

Gabe Sentlinger has worked in the field of hydrology for more than fourteen years. In 
2015, he founded Fathom Scientific Ltd., an innovative cooperative technology 
incubator in the City of North Vancouver, bringing professionals with diverse skills 
together to collaborate to develop better tools for environmental monitoring, as well as 
to increase public engagement on water conservation . Fathom Scientific has made 
substantial environmental contributions by developing advanced hardware and software 
products that measure stream flow to help ensure the health of rivers and streams. In 
addition to their environmental products being used locally, they have sold their 
technology to environmental protection agencies around the world where they are used 
to support environmental compliance and research . Gabe has worked tirelessly over 
years to carry out his vision of taking tangible steps to improve the physical environment 
and our awareness of our interrelationships with our environment. Through this work 
Gabe has quietly made a contribution far beyond his company's size. 

Page 2 of 3 



INFORMATION REPORT: 2022 Living City Award Recipients 
Date: June 22, 2022 

The 2022 Living City Award recipients will be recognized at a virtual award presentation 
during the June 27, 2022 Council meeting. The winners will also be announced on the 
City's website and on social media to raise awareness of their contributions to the 
community. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Annie Dempster 
Planning Assistant - Environmental 
Sustainability 

Page 3 of 3 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 









 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



~ ~ L/41 
--Department Director CAO 

Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 

INFORMATION REPORT 

To: 

From: 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Annie Dempster, Planning Assistant 

Subject: 2022 COOL IT! CHALLENGE WINNERS 

Date: June 22, 2022 File No: 11-5280-15-0001/2022 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to advise Council of the winners of the Cool It! Climate 
Leadership Training program delivered at local schools in partnership with the B.C. 
Sustainable Energy Association (BCSEA) for the 2021/2022 school year. 

DISCUSSION 

The Cool It! Climate Leadership Training program engages City youth and their families 
on climate change and energy conservation, and empowers them to take action to 
reduce their household greenhouse gas emissions. The program results directly 
contribute to the City's community-wide emissions reduction targets. 

In response to the pandemic, in 2020 BCSEA adapted the Cool It! Program content so 
that it could be delivered online while also restructuring their take-home climate 
challenge to ensure the activities could be completed safely by students and their 
families. For the 2021/2022 school year, participating schools/teachers were offered the 
choice to participate in the Cool It! Program either online or in-person. 

The Program 

The BCSEA (www.bcsea.org) is a non-profit organization committed to promoting the 
adoption of sustainable energy and energy conservation in British Columbia. The 
BCSEA's Cool It! Program includes three main activities for students: 

1) Educational materials and preparatory exercises for teachers to introduce their 
students to the key ideas; 

Document Number: 2190393 V1 



INFORMATION REPORT: Cool It! Challenge Winners 
Date: June 22, 2022 

2) A workshop delivered by Environmental Educators with thought-provoking 
discussion, interactive activities and animated videos to encourage students to 
connect the choices they make today with the futures they will build; and 

3) A take-home contest involving the entire family in which they participate in 
behaviour changing activities that reduce their environmental impact for one 
month, such as energy and waste reduction and transportation alternatives. 

In the 2021/2022 school year, seven workshops were delivered (six virtually and one in
person) to 168 students in grades four through seven at five elementary schools, 
resulting in over 1,025 actions focused on climate change and sustainability. 

Greenhouse Gas Savings Achieved 

A major strength of the Cool It! program is that the contest is supported by pre- and 
post-workshop surveys, which are used to calculate the GHG emissions savings of 
students and families participating in the program. Overall, the 2021/2022 program 
resulted in the projected savings of 29.3 tonnes of carbon dioxide emissions, equivalent 
to taking 7 passenger vehicles off the road for a year. Lasting additional benefits are 
anticipated as students and their families sustain these behaviour changes. 

Contest Winner 

All contest participants worked extremely hard to reduce their GHG emissions. The top 
prize for class-wide reductions went to Ms. Eldon's grade 5 class at Queen Mary 
Community Elementary School who took 210 actions that reduced their emissions by 
6.5 tonnes, equivalent to the annual emissions of taking approximately 1.5 passenger 
vehicles off the road for a year. 

Ms. Eldon's class will be recognized at a virtual award presentation during the June 27, 
2022 Council meeting. The winners will also be announced on the City's website to 
raise awareness of their contributions to the community. 

CONCLUSION: 

A number of outreach initiatives are currently underway in support of the City's energy 
and emission reduction goals. The BCSEA's Cool It! Climate Leadership Training 
program workshops continue to be effective in achieving measurable emissions 
reductions in the community. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: -=----
Annie Dempster 
Planning Assistant - Environmental 
Sustainability 

Page 2 of 2 













 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



-- -- UA 
Department Director CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
NORTH SHORE EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 

REPORT 

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

From: Emily Dicken, Director, North Shore Emergency Management 

Subject: NORTH SHORE EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT AND 
EXTREME HEAT STRATEGY 

Date: June 15, 2022 File No: 14-7130-01-0001/2022 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution . 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Director, North Shore Emergency Management, 
dated June 15, 2022, entitled North Shore Emergency Management Annual 
Report and Extreme Heat Strategy: 

THAT the report be received for information. 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. NSEM 2021 Annual Report, December 2021 (CityDocs 2190843) 
2. North Shore Extreme Heat Strategy, June 2022 (CityDocs 2190846) 
3. North Shore 2021 Extreme Weather After Action Review, May 2022 (CityDocs 2190863) 
4. Extreme Heat Recommendations and Implementation Work Plan, May 2022 (CityDocs 

2190865) 
5. Extreme Heat Response Plan, May 2022 (CityDocs 2190864) 
6. Extreme Heat Communications Plan, May 2022 (CityDocs 2190866) 

SUMMARY 

NSEM 2021 Annual Report 
2021 was an active year for North Shore Emergency Management (NSEM), from the response 
to COVID, to the heightened readiness for wildfires, this timeframe saw significant strategic and 
operational engagement across all NSEM program areas. The NSEM 2021 Annual Report 
highlights these achievements and addresses the program goals for 2022. 

Document 2190840 



REPORT: North Shore Emergency Management Annual Report and Extreme Heat Strategy 
Date: June 15, 2022 

North Shore Extreme Heat Strategy 
The North Shore Extreme Heat Strategy evolved as a result of the extreme heat and cold 
weather events that took place in 2021. This strategy is comprised of four guiding resources that 
advance the state of readiness across the North Shore regarding extreme heat events. They 
include: 

1. North Shore 2021 Extreme Weather After Action Review 
2. NSEM Extreme Heat Work Plan 
3. North Shore Extreme Heat Response Plan 
4. NSEM Extreme Heat Communications Plan 

BACKGROUND 

NSEM 2021 Annual Report 
NSEM is the emergency management department for the City of North Vancouver, District of 
North Vancouver and District of West Vancouver. NSEM provides an extensive range of 
services to the three North Shore municipalities, including emergency support services, 
emergency planning, operational readiness, public and agency engagement, and emergency 
communications. Specific areas of work include: 

• Supporting the municipalities and residents to prepare for and respond to hazards and 
emergencies on the North Shore 

• Implementation of annual training, exercising, education, research and plan 
development are ongoing to meet the extensive needs across the North Shore 

• Assess needs of emergencies and oversee Emergency Support Services (ESS) when 
incidents occur. Our trained staff and volunteers implement the ESS processes 

• Provide Business Continuity Management to support across all three municipalities 
• Work with partner agencies to effectively coordinate and support emergency response 

and recovery 
• Develop procedures, plans, operational guidelines, cooperative agreements and 

technical documents to ensure effective coordinated action in emergency management. 

North Shore Extreme Heat Strategy 
Prior to the 2021 heat dome event, the extreme heat operational response plan for the North 
Shore had been last updated in 2019. Due to the extreme weather events that occurred in 2021, 
it was identified that significant investments needed to be made into the response processes for 
extreme heat and cold events. As a result, the North Shore Extreme Heat Strategy was 
developed. This strategy works as a high-level roadmap and through the development of the 
four resources identified in the summary, it highlights the gaps in the 2021 response, 
consolidates wise practice, creates mechanisms for actionable change and redefines 
operational response to meet the increased needs of extreme weather events . 

DISCUSSION 

Risk and Liability Associated with the North Shore Extreme Heat Strategy 
The impacts of the 2021 extreme weather events exposed considerable risks across the North 
Shore. Through the After Action Review, various risks were identified and 24 recommendations 
were made to mitigate future risks associated with extreme heat events. Through subsequent 
work planning at NSEM, a strategy is in place to support actionable change regarding extreme 
heat response and readiness. 

Page 2 of 4 



REPORT: North Shore Emergency Management Annual Report and Extreme Heat Strategy 
Date: June 15, 2022 

Community Input in the North Shore Extreme Heat Strategy 
As part of the North Shore 2021 Extreme Weather After Action Review, the following 
engagement for public input took place: 

• On January 20, 2022 NSEM staff met with representatives from the Homelessness Task 
Force, North Shore Neighbourhood House and the Lookout to review warming centre 
operations and extreme weather issues specific to homelessness and under-housed 
populations. 

• On March 9, 2022, NSEM staff met with the Seniors Working Group (coordinated by 
Loinsview Seniors' Planning Society) to review extreme weather issues specific to 
seniors. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

NSEM 2021 Annual Report 
In 2021 NSEM effectively managed its operating budget ($1,216,770) and special projects 
budget ($211,595). 

North Shore Extreme Heat Strategy 
NSEM is currently managing the financial impacts of the Extreme Heat Strategy within its 
operating and special projects budget. To support future work, NSEM will be submitting an 
application for the 2022 Union of BC Municipalities (UBCM) Community Emergency 
Preparedness Fund (CEPF) grant for Extreme Heat Risk Mapping, Assessments and Planning. 

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

NSEM 2021 Annual Report 
NSEM attends the bi-monthly CNV Directors Team meetings. At this forum, NSEM works to 
align the strategic and operational priorities to the work across the various CNV business areas 
and partner agencies. NSEM also attends the CNV Public Safety Working Group which meets 
on a monthly basis. 

North Shore Extreme Heat Strategy 
As part of the North Shore Extreme Weather After Action Review, exhaustive engagement took 
place with municipal departments from across the CNV and the other two North Shore 
municipalities. As an outcome of the Extreme Weather After Action Review, the establishments 
of the Extreme Weather Planning Group, Extreme Weather Response Team and the Extreme 
Weather Advisory group have been created to guide all elements of the strategy and help shape 
emerging work. 

STRATEGIC PLAN, OCP OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

NSEM 2021 Annual Report 
The strategic and operational work priorities at NSEM align with Council's vision and priority to 
be A City for People: welcome, inclusive, sage, accessible and supports the health and well
being of all. 

North Shore Extreme Heat Strategy 
The North Shore Extreme Heat Strategy aligns with Council's vision and priority to be both A 
City for People and A Vibrant City. 

Page 3 of 4 



REPORT: North Shore Emergency Management Annual Report and Extreme Heat Strategy 
Date: June 15, 2022 

Additionally, specific to provincial policies on extreme heat, Emergency Management BC has 
extended financial eligibility under the Emergency Program Act. This shift in policy allows 
extraordinary municipal response that covers staff overtime, the establishment of cooling 
centres, bottled water and snacks, transportation, emergency services , public messaging, and 
wellness checks. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: .. ,. /D -1,,_ 

Emily Dicken 
Director, North Shore Emergency Management 

Page 4 of 4 



 
 
 

NSEM 2021 ANNUAL REPORT 
North Shore Emergency Management December 2021 

  
  

DISTRICT OF NORTH VANCOUVER | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | DISTRICT OF WEST VANCOUVER 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 1�



 
 

VISION 
A resilient North Shore, through strengthening and building connections across  

municipalities, partners and neighbours 

  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

ABOUT THIS REPORT  

 

 

North Shore Emergency Management  
British Columbia, Canada 

District of North Vancouver  
City of North Vancouver  
District of West Vancouver  

Annual Report for the year ended  
December 31, 2021 

Designed and prepared by North Shore 
Emergency Management  

This report is printed on 100% post-consumer 
waste recycled paper 

 

 

 

     
   

     
     

     

       



2021 Annual Review  

 
3 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DIRECTOR’S MESSAGE 

North Shore Emergency Management (NSEM) is the emergency management department for the City of North 
Vancouver, District of North Vancouver, and District of West Vancouver. Our office is responsible for planning and 
preparedness, response and recovery activities, stakeholder engagement, volunteer management and other activities 
that will increase the municipality’s capability to respond and recover from major emergencies and disasters and 
meet their legislated responsibilities. Citizens also have a personal responsibility to be prepared and NSEM provides 
training and learning opportunities for our citizens. 

Due to an absence in annual reporting, this report captures activities from both 2020 and 2021.  From the response to 
COVID, to the heightened readiness for wildfires, this timeframe saw significant engagement from NSEM. We saw 
our staffing stabilized in 2021, which enabled us to focus more on day to day operations and bring greater 
innovation to the work of emergency management on the North Shore.  

Highlights include the following: 
 Numerous responses (i.e., house and apartment fires, extreme weather events, etc.) and hazard 

preparedness activities  
 Development of mobile applications for rapid damage assessment (RDA), evacuation and situational 

awareness; tested RDA app in an exercise 
 Training for municipal staff and NSEM volunteers; redevelopment of training materials 
 Stakeholder engagement and strengthening partnerships to address community recovery 
 Increased volunteer capacity and engagement  
 Shifting towards virtual public education and outreach approaches to adhere to public health 

considerations 

This review provides a brief snapshot of our 2020-2021 accomplishments and our goals for 2022 
 



2021 Annual Review  

 
4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CONTENTS 

ABOUT THIS REPORT 2 
DIRECTOR’S MESSAGE 3 
CONTENTS 4 
INTRODUCTION 5 
PLANNING 6 
RESEARCH ACTIVITIES 7 
VOLUNTEERS 8 
EMERGENCY SUPPLIES 9 
PREPAREDNESS EDUCATION & OUTREACH 10 
STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT & PARTNERING 11 
TRAINING 11 
EXERCISES 12 
EMERGENCY OPERATIONS CENTRE (EOC) 13 
RESPONSES 14 
READINESS 17 
BUDGET COMMENTARY 18 
ANNEX 1:   2022 PRIORITIES 19 
 

  



2021 Annual Review  

 
5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

North Shore Emergency Management (NSEM) is the emergency management department for City of North 
Vancouver, District of North Vancouver, and District of West Vancouver. NSEM provides an extensive range of 
services to the three North Shore municipalities, including emergency support services, emergency planning, 
operational readiness, public and agency engagement, and emergency communications. The following information 
is an overview of activities conducted by NSEM in 2020-2021 as well as our goals for 2022. 
NSEM overview of responsibilities: 
 Support the municipalities and residents to prepare for and respond to hazards and emergencies on the 

North Shore 
 Implementation of annual training, exercises, education, research and plans development are ongoing 

annually to meet the extensive needs of the North Shore community 
 Assess needs of emergencies and oversee Emergency Social Services (ESS) when incidents occur. Our 

trained staff and volunteers implement the ESS processes 
 Provide Business Continuity Management to support across all three municipalities 
 Work with partner agencies to effectively coordinate and support emergency response and recovery 
 Develop procedures, plans, operational guidelines, cooperative agreements and technical documents to 

ensure effective coordinated action in an emergency 
  



2021 Annual Review  

 
6 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PLANNING & RESILIENCE 

As the field of practice evolves, it has become clear that emergency planning must be situated within broader 
collaborative strategies in order to be effective.  In furtherance of the work started in recent years, NSEM continues 
to demonstrate innovative leadership in its planning activities by: 

 initiating planning processes that include the people required to achieve planning outcomes such as 
department leads, staff, community leaders, care givers, and folks with specific needs 

 appropriately prioritizing the means by which planning outcomes are maintained, revised, and exercised 
 ensuring wise practices gathered from emergency management initiatives started in one municipality are 

shared across neighbouring municipalities, and collaborating with municipal staff to further common areas 
of strategic interest 

ACTIVE THREAT STRATEGY: At the request of the City of North Vancouver, 
NSEM has developed an Active Threat Plan. This plan includes public 
messaging that is consistent with existing material being used by law 
enforcement, a risk assessment tool (HRVA) to help staff teams initiate 
important conversations, an Active Threat Playbook to help with practical site 
specific planning, and an Exercise Guide to ensure teams have appropriately 
prioritized on-going training. 

BUSINESS CONTINUITY STRATEGY: At the request of the District of West 
Vancouver, NSEM has been supporting their ongoing cyber security planning 
while developing a broader Business Continuity Management strategy.  A 
significant amount of work to better understand disaster risk across the North 
Shore has already been completed and a Business Impact Analysis strategy is 
underway.   

 
 

 



2021 Annual Review  

 
7 

 

 

EXTREME WEATHER PLANNING: In collaboration with local first 
responders, North Shore libraries, community centers, and organizations 
that provide a broad range of services with an intentional focus on those 
that serve seniors, NSEM is developing a review of this summer’s extreme 
heat events with operational recommendations to follow in the short term 
and an Extreme Weather Strategy by the summer of 2022.   

PEOPLE WITH SPECIFIC NEEDS: 
Planning for emergencies must include 
those disproportionately impacted by 
them.  To that end, NSEM continues to 

participate in a number of Senior’s working groups and will remain opportunity 
seeking with regards to working with those who are typically underrepresented in 
municipal planning processes. 

HEY NEIGHBOUR COLLABORATIVE – FOR STRONGER COMMUNITIES: 
Recent study has linked the importance of social connections to both personal and 
community-wide resilience.  In partnership with the Hey Neighbour Collaborative 
and the City of North Vancouver Planning Department, NSEM is developing an 
engagement and implementation strategy using disaster preparedness as a vehicle 
to connect people and communities. 

 

NORTH SHORE SUSTAINABILITY/RESILIENCE PLANNING: Important 
work has been undertaken to better understand the effects of Sea Level 
Rise across the North Shore.  NSEM will continue to facilitate ongoing 
information sharing among municipal staff, further recommendations, and 
look to broaden the discussion to include non-municipal government 
partners.  

NORTH SHORE EVACUATION GUIDELINES: Traffic flow, route 
planning and a functional Evacuation Time Analysis (ETA) tool have 
recently been developed for the North Shore.  These new inputs will allow 
for an Evacuation Guidelines review and update in 2022.   

 

RESEARCH ACTIVITIES  

MARINE ENVIRONMENTAL OBSERVATION PREDICTION AND RESPONSE (MEOPAR) NETWORK: NSEM 
provided local government input into the MEOPAR, Network of Centres Excellence and Ocean Networks Canada 
funded University of BC research initiative to “Model of Impact of Dilbit and Oil Spills in the Salish Sea” 
(MIDOSS). This study aims to improve scientific knowledge and tools to support evidence-based planning for 
marine oil spill risk, focused in the Salish Sea (Georgia Straight). 

THE NATURAL SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING RESEARCH COUNCIL OF CANADA (NSERC): NSEM is 
working with NSERC and other regional and provincial stakeholders on the “Quantifying the Seismic Resilience of 
the Transportation Network in the Lower Mainland, BC” initiative. This project will develop a living network 
analysis model of the multi-modal transportation system and infrastructure that examines the effects of a major 
regional seismic.  

ABORIGINAL HOUSING MANAGEMENT ASSOCIATION (AHMA): NSEM is also engaged in the UBC research 
initiative “A Strategic Plan to Improve Aboriginal Housing in British Columbia: Seismic Resilience for Indigenous 
Social Housing in BC”. This UBC research is in partnership with the Aboriginal Housing Management Association 
(AHMA) to collect information necessary to develop a seismic resilience strategy for Indigenous housing in British 
Columbia (BC).  



2021 Annual Review  

 
8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

VOLUNTEERS  

Public Safety Lifeline volunteers are a key component to our emergency preparedness and response activities. 
Volunteers bring many different skills and see participation on our teams as opportunities to increase their 
contribution to public safety in the community. 

NSEM supports 6 different volunteer teams:  
 

 EMERGENCY SUPPORT SERVICES (ESS) provides immediate support to evacuees including food, 
clothing, shelter, and other services. Financial support to pay for response costs is provided by Emergency 
Management BC.  

 EMERGENCY EDUCATION TEAM (EET) present emergency preparedness workshops and seminars, and 
participate in public displays at community events. In the current climate, the EET are patiently waiting for 
public gatherings to resume and are using the time to stay engaged and refreshed with current best practices 
while assisting with online presentations. 

 GENERAL SERVICES UNIT (GSU) & AUXILIARY (AUX) volunteers help with supporting the 
Emergency Operations Centre and special projects.  

 EMERGENCY COMMUNICATIONS TEAM (ECT) are mostly licensed amateur radio volunteers who will 
assist during emergencies and provide backup communications. Their skills can be used to support response 
agencies, ESS and EMT in their communications needs. Outside of emergency events, the ECT is 
responsible for testing and maintaining operational readiness and maintenance testing.  

 NORTH SHORE RESCUE TEAM SOCIETY (NSR) are highly trained volunteers who assist response 
agencies in search and rescue in wilderness and urban settings. NSEM provides administrative support to 
this independent society.  

 EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT TEAM (EMT) are key volunteers who provide direct support to responses 
by organizing ESS volunteers, responding to incident sites and helping to set up and support activations of 
Receptions Centres, Group Lodging facilities, and the Emergency Operations Centre.  This team is unique 
throughout the Province. 
 



2021 Annual Review  

 
9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EMERGENCY SUPPLIES  

DISASTER SUPPLY CACHES 
In 2021, NSEM completed the installation of seven disaster supply caches (DSC). Through the Union of BC 
Municipalities’ (UBCM) Community Emergency Preparedness Fund (CEPF) grant program and the generosity and 
vision of the North Shore municipalities, NSEM has installed 7 shipping containers fully stocked with response 
support supplies. Key contents include evacuee support supplies (ESS kits, 100 cots each), mobile and portable 
radios, damage assessment and evacuation notification kits, tents, generators, light tools and personal protective 
equipment. These have critical supplies strategically staged across the North Shore and they have already been used 
in response to several apartment fires. 
 

        



2021 Annual Review  

 
10 

 

 

PREPAREDNESS EDUCATION & OUTREACH  

In spite of the obvious challenges associated with providing a public 
outreach program during a pandemic, NSEM continued to offer free 
presentations to the public, while enhancing the preparedness program.  
This was achieved by redeveloping public presentations for online delivery, 
strengthening our social media presence, and collaborating with a broad 
assortment of North Shore agencies for joint program delivery. Examples of 
partnering agencies included: 

 North Vancouver Safety Council 
 Impact North Shore 
 Lynn Canyon Ecology Centre 
 District of North Vancouver Library 
 North Shore Seniors Coalition 
 Lionsview Seniors Planning Society 

A critical activity in 2021 revolved around the launch and promotion of Alertable – a public emergency notification 
system. NSEM is using Alertable to quickly inform and update North Shore residents with information on 
emergency events. Alertable was launched January 1, 2021 and staff actively promoted it throughout the year using 
all available mediums – social media, a hard copy ‘postcard’ campaign, North Shore News, partnering agencies, and 
by providing short online presentations at a lengthy list of public meetings. 

 

STAFF EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS SESSIONS  
As in previous years, NSEM continued to offer the Emergency Preparedness Basics course (online) to all new and 
existing municipal employees to ensure they are personally prepared and able to support the emergency response. 

NSEM provided numerous personal preparedness presentations to staff and public during the annual Great BC 
Shakeout, Emergency Preparedness Week, and Occupational Health and Safety Week, including CNV, DNV and 
DWV as part of their emergency plan role out, new employee orientation sessions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

21 
SESSIONS

482 
PEOPLE

2020

18 
SESSIONS

400 
PEOPLE

2021



2021 Annual Review  

 
11 

 

 

Participation in External Courses Courses offered in 2020-2021

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT & PARTNERING  

 Regional Emergency Planning Committee (Chair) 
 BC Association of Emergency Managers (Board Member) 
 Regional Emergency Social Services Director Committee  
 Coastal Response 2022 (Exercise Steering Committee Member) 
 North Shore Sea Level Rise working group (Chair) 
 Metro Vancouver Regional Planning Advisory Committee - Social Issues Sub-Committee 
 Provincial Public Alerting Sub-Committee 
 Shakeout BC Committee (Member) 
 Services to Seniors Coalition 
 Post-Disaster Building Assessment advisory group  
 Provincial Emergency Radio Communications Service  
 North Shore Community Resources Society 
 Canadian Disaster Animal Response Team  
 North Shore Interface Wildfire Working Group  
 COVID-19 Coordination Calls  
 North Shore Information Officer’s Working group 
 North Shore Responder Working group and North Shore Hazmat Working Group 
 North Shore Climate Adaptation working group 
 Provincial Disaster Response Transportation working group 
 Provincial Supply Chain Strategy working group 
 Saint John Ambulance, Red Cross, Tzu Chi Foundation, Salvation Army, BC Psychosocial Support Team 
 Community Advisory Panel in partnership with chemical industry in Maplewood 

TRAINING  

We redesigned our Emergency Operations Centre (EOC) training courses using the common operating picture 
platform “Lightship”. 

 Offer EOC training to staff, municipal staff and volunteers twice a year via online methods. The spring 
EOC online training was attended by 170 municipal staff. The fall offering of training has been deferred to 
early 2022 as it was intended to precede the provincial Exercise Coastal Response 2022, which has now 
been postponed due to flooding operations. 

 Facilitated EMBC sponsored courses to staff, municipal staff and volunteers  
 Supported Emergency Management Certificate achievements 

NSEM hosted one of two BC pilot incident command system instructor courses by ICS Canada. The ICS200  
Train-the-Trainer course comprised diverse agency representation and provides the North Shore with internal 
training capacity as an alternative to the fee courses offered by the Justice Institute of BC. 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 



2021 Annual Review  

 
12 

 

 

EXERCISES  

Exercises are the capstone to any successful training and 
exercise model. On the North Shore, we’ve approached 
exercises as more of a capstone of training and applied 
learning than a test. NSEM has a history of running highly 
realistic and progressively complex exercises ensuring staff 
confidence and competence in their roles while including 
combinations of emergency response and support functions 
as the series advances. The exercise series is resetting in 2023 
as NSEM gets back to basics and incorporates the Lightship 
common operating picture technical platform into the EOC 
and other functions.  

COASTAL RESPONSE: Coastal Response 2022 is a Federal, 
military, Provincial and Metro Vancouver regional full-scale 
exercise originally scheduled for January/February 2022 and postponed until April 2023.NSEM sees CR23 as 
another opportunity to test the North Shore’s readiness for a seismic event. The North Shore’s play is planned to 
include a full day of emergency operations centre (EOC) play in initial response (event +2hrs), including integration 
of NSEM’s six containerized Disaster Supply Caches and technical communications. The EOC will also activate in 
sustained response (event +96 hours) and play elements of damage assessment, mass care and initiation of recovery 
planning. In between the EOC components, an emergency support services (ESS) exercise will be conducted to play 
key elements of evacuee support needs based on the CR22 seismic scenario.  

FDOC/MEOP:  NSEM again supported the three North 
Shore Fire Departments in their bi-annual exercise to test the 
North Shore Major Emergency Operations Plan (MEO) and 
hosted one of four Fire Department Operations Centres for 
the series.  

VOLUNTEER EXERCISES:  Volunteers are key to our 
response and NSEM supports their participation in exercises.  
Amateur Radio Field Day occurred in June over a 24 hour 
period and involved many amateur radio volunteers. NSEM 
communications volunteers also supported emergency 
communications for the Handloggers Half-Marathon on 
Bowen Island in September 2021 and treated the event as a 
communications message handling exercise in preparation for 
emergency operations. 

ESS volunteers participated in a virtual Reception Centre 
exercise in February. 

SHAKEOUT BC EARTHQUAKE DRILL:  NSEM heavily promotes the Great BC Shakeout earthquake drill, which 
takes place annually on the 3rd Thurs of October. NSEM worked with the 3 municipalities, providing online 
reference material and promotional posters, encouraging staff participation in this important annual drill.  

INITIAL ATTACK: District of North Vancouver Fire & Rescue Services conducted the tactical, multi-agency 
wildfire exercise “Initial Attack” in September 2021 and NSEM supported the exercise with planning and logistical 
support.  

EXTERNAL ORGANIZATION EXERCISES: In 2021, Seaspan and Vancouver Shipyards conducted a multi-agency 
virtual exercise to simulate a fire at their Pemberton Avenue location which required evacuation. NSEM engaged in 
this exercise to address issues including local authority and sub-regional site support operations, mass public 
notification, and declaration of state of local emergency.  



2021 Annual Review  

 
13 

 

 

EMERGENCY 
OPERATIONS CENTRE 
(EOC)  

TECHNOLOGY UPGRADE: EOC 
upgrades included new tables on casters 
and ceiling mounted cable reels for 
power, IT and audio visual upgrades 
intended to support the shift towards 
greater technical system engagement in 
emergency operations. The AV upgrades 
were completed in the first half of 2020. 

LIGHTSHIP: After 4 years of engaging 
in research & development with 
Lightship Works, NSEM has initiated 
the launch of the common operating 
picture technical platform. Lightship 
provides enhanced process efficiency 
and aggregates technical systems into a 
single user-interface. Lightship will be 
incorporated into the EOC training that 
has been postponed to early 2022 and 
will be tested operationally during 
exercise Coastal Response 2022. 

PHONE SYSTEM: 2021 has seen NSEM engage DNV IT for the scoping and tender for a new telephone system for 
both the NSEM office and the Integrated North Shore Emergency Operations Centre. This new system is intended to 
enhance working from home capabilities and to support the new provincial Evacuee Registration Assistance on-line 
tool and a North Shore emergency call centre.  

MICROSOFT OFFICE 365: NSEM is working with 
the District of North Vancouver’s IT department and a 
3rd party contractor to rollout the Microsoft Office 365 
platform in the EOC. This work is expected to be 
complete in early 2022 and will enhance EOC flexibility 
through the use of video conferencing and document 
filing systems, etc.  

RADIO SYSTEM:  Throughout 2021, NSEM has been 
conducting monthly stakeholder tests and upgrading 
elements of its proprietary commercial VHF radio 
system and other technical communications tools. This 
system provides back-up communications for a 
multitude of agencies.  

CAMERAS: On request of members of municipal 
executive, NSEM has been investigating the use of early 
detection systems and remote sensing using cameras. A 
proposal has been drafted for consideration. 

 

 



2021 Annual Review  

 
14 

 

 

RESPONSES  

NSEM staff and volunteers responded to  
a range of events, including house fires, 
structural fires, mutual aid support, 
deployments and emergency 

evacuations:  

 

 

 

 

COVID-19 
NSEM continued its support of the 
response to COVID-19 by coordinating sub-regional coordination 
calls, initially functionally and departmentally. NSEM was also 
instrumental in providing support to Lions Gate Hospital and 
Vancouver Coastal Health, notably by arranging for the sourcing 
and set-up of the initial COVID test site.  

 CAPILANO CANYON SLIDE:  
A landslide occurred on January 6, on the Capilano Pacific Trail 
in West Vancouver near the Capilano Suspension Bridge, in the 
Moyne Drive area. West Vancouver staff confirmed no 
immediate public safety risk and the trail was closed to the public.  
The District had activated a virtual EOC. 

HEAT DOME: 
NSEM staff and volunteers staffed a cooling centre in the lower Lonsdale area, and volunteers helped staff the West 
Vancouver cooling centre, allowing it to remain open for extended evening hours.  

FALL FLOODING: 
Several NSEM staff again deployed to the Southwest Provincial Regional Emergency Operations Centre (PREOC) 
in support of the catastrophic flooding associated with the series of atmospheric rivers that impacted the province. 

EXTREME COLD: 
NSEM staff and volunteers supported municipal resources to provide warming centres and established an overnight 
overflow protocol in cooperation with the Lookout Society. NSEM staff supported municipal staff in coordination 
calls with agencies. 

2020-2021

35 Responses

9 Deployments

4 Mutual Aid

2020-2021

8 DNV

9 CNV

5 DWV

TOTAL # OF RESPONSES PER 
MUNICIPALITY 



2021 Annual Review  

 
15 

 

 

 

EMERGENCY 
SUPPORT SERVICES 
ACTIVATIONS 

ESS and EMT volunteers and staff 
responded to numerous house, 
townhouse, and apartment fires in 
2020-2021. Municipalities are 
required to provide food, clothing, 
shelter, and other services to victims 
of emergencies.  The Provincial 
Government, through Emergency 
Management BC, provides financial 
resources to enable this to occur.   

Often evacuees leave their homes 
with little more than the clothes on 
their back. They also bring their pets 
and our services must also consider 
their needs.  

LYNN VALLEY 
WELLNESS & RESILENCY CENTRE 
NSEM volunteers and staff supported the Disaster Psychosocial Support (DPS) 
Team in maintaining a Wellness & Resiliency Centre for those impacted. The centre 
remained open for a week, allowing those who needed help to seek it in a caring 
environment. After the resiliency centre closed, the DPS Team maintained a virtual 
centre for an additional week as demand faded.  

2021 WILDFIRE:  

Host Community 
NSEM helped host evacuees from a number of different communities: Lytton, Logan Lake, Lower Nicola and 
Canim Lake. Canim Lake First Nation had a major evacuation of their most vulnerable members. Nearly 45 
members were accommodated at the North Vancouver Holiday Inn for two weeks before they were able to return. 
Assistance from Squamish and Tsleil-Waututh Nations and the First Nations Health Authority helped provide these 
evacuees with appropriate meals and supports.  

  

Thank you to our many partners for supporting our citizens in a time of need: Salvation Army, St. John 
Ambulance, Canadian Disaster Animal Response Team, Canadian Red Cross, Coast Mountain Bus, 
Disaster Psychosocial Support team, and our business community including Denny’s, White Spot and 
the North Shore hotels. 

 



2021 Annual Review  

 
16 

 

 

NSEM DEPLOYMENTS:  

The NSEM Deputy Director was deployed to the Northeast Provincial 
Regional Emergency Operations Centre (PREOC) for 10 days to 
conduct research, develop plan and agreements to support mass 
evacuations and the mass care for events displacing up to 10,000 
people. Two weeks later, he was requested to continue this work that 
culminated in a draft provincial strategy for mass evacuations and 
evacuee support. While on deployment, further assistance was 
provided to plan for potential evacuations of up to 3000 residents in 
the Lillooet area, threatened by the McKay Creek fire. This situation 
was compounded by fire activity in the region which restricted 
evacuation options to only the Highway 99 Duffy Lake corridor.  

The NSEM Evacuee Support Services and Recovery Coordinator 
deployed to the Southwest PREOC to provide ESS coordination for 
ESS directors responding to local events 

Many North Shore volunteers and staff contributed to the provision of ESS support to evacuees of the province’s 
unprecedented wildfires and the fall flooding events in the Fraser Valley.  
 

 

 

 
  



2021 Annual Review  

 
17 

 

 

READINESS  

2020 and 2021 were challenging times for 
NSEM as we supported with the COVID-19 
pandemic, wildfires and other severe weather 
responses. 

SITUATIONAL INFORMATION & 
EOC SET UP:  
Provided up-to-date information on response to 
COVID-19, set up and maintained the Integrated 
North Shore EOC, initially for COVID response 
and then in a state of readiness throughout the 
pandemic impact. 

INTERFACE WILDFIRE THREAT: NSEM were 
on standby during the long wildfire season. 
NSEM facilitated a North Shore seasonal 
readiness meeting with municipal departments, 
response agencies, BC Parks, Metro Parks and 
Watershed groups, mountains, and Wildfire 
Management Branch to prepare for the extreme 
heat, drought and wildfire season. An outcome 
was a tri-municipal public communications 
strategy, the decision to keep parks open so the 
public could be ‘eyes and ears’ in the field, no barbeques and other fire sources permitted in public areas. NSEM 
maintains and all-stakeholder Wildfire Equipment Inventory List which it updates and distributed annually. 

GROUP LODGING: Worked with Vancouver and Richmond to re-establish a regional Group Lodging team. We 
also connected with Capilano University to determine if we can store group lodging cots and supplies at their 
facility.  

WEBSITE & SOCIAL MEDIA: Updated NSEM website and social media to provide information to the community 
on upcoming significant hazards such as extreme heat, outdoor safety, severe rainfall, high stream flow warnings, air 
quality issues due to wildfires in Sechelt and Pemberton, and localized flooding.  

NSEM OPERATIONS  
Office processes were reviewed and updates initiated in 2020. In addition, some staff turnover and organizational 
changes occurred.  

STAFFING: Between 2020 and 2021, NSEM experienced significant staffing changes. In January 2021, NSEM 
welcomed a new Director and in May 2021the Emergency Planning Officer role was repositioned and filled as the 
Manager, Planning and Resilience. Under the leadership of the Director, NSEM has developed a staffing strategy 
that strategically addresses staffing capacity. Within this strategy, NSEM hired a Manager, Community Partnerships 
and Recovery on a 9-month secondment and a Planning Coordinator on a 12-month auxiliary term.   

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT: NSEM is ensuring professional development opportunities that enhance 
corporate knowledge, professional excellence within the field of emergency management and greater awareness 
around cultural safety and humility. Specific training sessions included Freedom of Information and Protection of 
Privacy, municipal purchasing requirements, workplace violence, ESS and EOC courses and cultural safety training 
provided by knowledge holders from the Squamish Nation. Staff are encouraged to be members of International 
Association of Emergency Managers (IAEM), and BC Association of Emergency Managers which enables us to 
stay current with other emergency management professionals. 



2021 Annual Review  

 
18 

 

 

BUDGET 
COMMENTARY 

NSEM is funded on a per capita 
basis by the municipalities. In 
addition to municipal funding, a 
significant amount of time, effort 
and expertise is contributed by our 
public safety lifeline volunteer 
network.   

The municipalities continued to 
provide budget for special projects 
on an equally shared basis ($37,667 
per municipality; total of $113,000) 
and went to the following projects: 

 Emergency Support 
Services strategy*  

 North Shore Emergency 
Cache Supply Zones* 

 Emergency Operations 
Centre and Readiness 

 Training and Exercises 
 Communications  
 Public Education (Business 

and Employer Emergency 
Preparedness Program)* 

NSEM receives support services from the District of North Vancouver (Human Resources Technology & 
Accounting), and the City of North Vancouver (building maintenance, and vehicle maintenance) and pays directly 
for these services from our annual budget. 
 

2021 Budget 

Tri Municipal Support (calculated per capita) 

City of North Vancouver (29.2%) $302,007   

District of North Vancouver (47.4%) $490,244   

District of West Vancouver (23.4%) $242,019   

Total Operating Budget  $1,034,270  

Special Projects 

Equally shared ($37,667k/municipality) $113,000    

Total Special Project Budget   $113,000  

TOTAL MUNICIPAL CONTRIBUTIONS   $1,147,270 

External Revenue 

Annual Mass Notification (Alertable) 
funding provided by Chemtrade Logistics $3,000   



 

 

ANNEX 1:   2022 PRIORITIES 

The following table provides an outline of NSEM’s key goals and objectives for 2022 
 

 Goals 

PLANS: Development of strategic plans in support of NSEM’s mission and values 
 Complete organizational strategic planning work in alignment with municipal resilience priorities 
 Update North Shore Risk Analysis with critical missing data points; develop Executive Summary, and a strategy to 

keep research ongoing 
 Roll out Business Impact Analysis (BIA) beginning with District of West Vancouver 
 Support implementation of Active Threat Plan across North Shore (facilitated HRVA, Playbook, and exercising) 
 Perform fulsome ‘Heat Dome’ after action review and develop/implement recommendations before summer 2022 
 Conduct tri-municipal by-law review 
 Advance Evacuation, Sea Level Rise, Vulnerable Populations, Convergent Volunteer, and Risk Assessment 

planning documents 
 Develop methodology for measuring progress in critical areas of programmatic work 
 Develop long term maintenance strategy for North Shore Disaster/Resilience Plan, Evacuation Plans, Municipal 

Emergency Plans, etc. 
 Develop North Shore strategy around disaster risk data collection, synthesis, and dissemination 

TRAINING - Effectively trained municipal staff & public safety volunteers to support planning, response and recover 
activities on the North Shore 
 NSEM courses: EOC overviews, ICS Overview, EOC Basics, EOC Functions (Planning, Ops, Finance, Logistics) 
 Investigate, with EMBC, NSEM courses equivalency   
 D4H Training Technology 
 Response protocols training 
 Annually deliver &/or support volunteer training: Emergency Social Services, Emergency Management Team, 

Emergency Communications Team, General Services Unit, Emergency Education Instructors 
 Identify external training opportunities for staff/volunteers 

EXERCISES - Effectively exercised municipal staff and public safety volunteers to support planning, response and recovery 
activities on the North Shore 
 Deliver and/or support volunteer exercises (i.e., Emergency Communications Team exercise, Amateur Radio field 

day, ESS exercises, etc.) 
EMERGENCY OPERATIONS CENTRE (EOC) - An operationally ready EOC for use by individual or multiple North Shore 
Municipalities 
 Increase EOC functionality: review tri-municipal structure  
 Develop/implement response electronic file structure  
 Test municipal EOC call out process 
 Maintain EOC equipment and technology updates  
 Mass notification system program management  
 Maintain Connect Rocket Call Out System 
 Set up EOC for anticipated events (i.e., severe weather) and activate EOC on a 
 more frequent basis in a pre-planning capacity 

 
 

 
 
 
 



 

 

PUBLIC EDUCATION - An informed North Shore community knowledgeable of their personal emergency management 
responsibilities 
 Update website content, continue social media strategy  
 Municipal Employers Emergency Preparedness courses 
 Business outreach 
 Emergency Preparedness courses; on demand courses as resources available 
 Emergency preparedness for youth and outreach to youth groups 
 Encourage participation in the annual BC ShakeOut earthquake drill – third Thursday of October 
 Engage outside agencies in helping to promote emergency preparedness 

 ENGAGEMENT - Successful engagement of stakeholders to enhance the North Shore emergency management capabilities 
 Volunteer recruitment drive 
 Update and implement volunteer program 
 Volunteer Recognition event 
 Facilitate NS Working Groups and miscellaneous meetings as required. Encourage stakeholder participation in 

training and exercises 
 Participate in external meetings/exercises as staffing resources available (i.e., REPC, IPREM, regional ESSD, 

EMBC public education, industry exercises, etc.) 
NSEM MANAGEMENT 
 Implement FOIPPA strategy 
 Continual update of SOPs  
 Manage annual budgets 
 Maintain flexibility to respond to municipal needs 

RESPONSE AND RECOVERY 
 The number of emergency responses will have a direct impact on our ability to complete the work plan. The nature 

of emergency management means that any emergency response immediately changes the work priority for North 
Shore Emergency staff. Our core business during emergencies is a direct support to the municipalities and 
community and work plan activities will be put on hold.  The severity of the emergency also impacts the recovery 
time.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

147 East 14th Street, 2nd Floor 

North Vancouver, BC, V7L 2N4 

Phone:  778.338.6300 

Fax:  604-985-3733 

www.nsem.ca 

http://www.nsem.ca/


NORTH SHORE EXTREME HEAT 
STRATEGY 
North Shore Emergency Management June 2022 

DISTRICT OF NORTH VANCOUVER | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | DISTRICT OF WEST VANCOUVER 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 2�



ABOUT THIS REPORT 

North Shore Emergency Management 
British Columbia, Canada 

District of North Vancouver 
City of North Vancouver  
District of West Vancouver  

North Shore Extreme Heat Strategy 
June 2022 

Designed and prepared by North Shore 
Emergency Management  

This report is printed on 100% post-consumer 
waste recycled paper 

North Shore Emergency Management 
British Columbia, Canada

District of North Vancouver
City of North Vancouver
District of West Vancouver

Annual Report for the year ended



3 | 

North Shore Extreme Heat Strategy 

The weather driven events in 2021 illustrate the inevitable acceleration of global climate change and its future 
impact on North Shore communities.  It must be expected that heat waves, atmospheric rivers, and extreme 
winter weather events will continue to increase in both frequency and intensity.  This change is outpacing our 
collective ability to adapt and is disproportionately impacting older adults, racialized minorities, those 
experiencing homelessness, social isolation, and underlying health complexities such as limited mobility, heart 
disease, uncontrolled diabetes, emphysema, and/or mental health illness.   

As a result of the extreme weather events that occurred in 2021, it was identified that significant investments 
needed to be made into the response processes for extreme heat and cold events. As a result the North Shore 
Extreme Heat Strategy was developed. This strategy works as a high-level roadmap and through the 
development of the four resources below, it highlights the gaps in the 2021 response, consolidates wise 
practice, creates mechanisms for actionable change and redefines operational response to meet the increased 
needs of extreme weather events. The outcomes of the North Shore Extreme Heat Strategy are addressed in 
the following 4 resources:  

1) North Shore Extreme Weather After Action Review

The North Shore Extreme Weather After Action Review is a document that consolidates the after

action review (AAR) or debriefing processes following the three heat-specific responses and the one
extreme cold response that took place in 2021.  This AAR document analyzes the specific contributions
of partner agencies, highlights what aspects of coordination and response worked well, and identifies
gaps and opportunities for improvement.

The AAR process was conducted in multiple stages. First, NSEM conducted an internal review of 
current response procedures.  Then, NSEM facilitated separate discussions with Community-Based 
Organizations (CBOs) serving older adults and those experiencing homelessness.  As the majority of 
event response was undertaken within the City of North Vancouver (CNV) and Innomergence Solutions 
was contracted to facilitate a workshop with CNV staff who had participated in response activities.  

NSEM engaged key stakeholders from the District of North Vancouver and District of West Vancouver, 
along with academic researchers from UBC and SFU, to inform this AAR. NSEM also participated in 

regional planning and review with partners such as the Integrated Partnership for Emergency 
Management (IPREM), Emergency Management British Columbia (EMBC), Health Emergency 
Management British Columbia (HEMBC) and other neighbouring municipalities.  

2) Extreme Heat Recommendations and Implementation Work Plan

The Extreme Heat Recommendations and Implementation Work Plan identifies the short, medium, and
long term actions required to fulfill the 24 recommendations captured by the After Action Review.  As
with any work plan, it is detailed, includes timelines on deliverables, and is measurable.  The Work Plan
allows for greater collaboration across portfolios and ensures continuity and accountability.  It is
assumed that as many of the actions are concluded new ones will reveal themselves.  The Work Plan
will also act as a ledger, recording previous work and capturing new priorities as they come.  As
opportunities present themselves, the Extreme Heat Recommendations and Implementation Work
Plan will include grant acquisitions and joint project funding for innovative approaches to addressing
extreme heat



 

4 |  

 

 
3) North Shore Extreme Heat Response Plan (EHRP) 

Implementing learnings from the After Action Review and broad engagement with partner agencies, 
the Extreme Heat Response Plan illustrates activation thresholds, roles and responsibilities, and 
available municipal assets (staff and infrastructure).  Unlike previous iterations, the Extreme Heat 
Response Plan acknowledges the existing roles of community centres and libraries, positions municipal 
staff as true partners in municipal response activities, and establishes early interventions far in 
advance of Provincial/Federal alerts and warnings.  Importantly, the EHRP focuses on what can be 
reasonably accomplished in the short term utilizing existing municipal capacity.   
 
The working groups and response protocols established within the EHRP will act as a framework upon 

which other municipal response plans are built.  Into the Fall of 2022, having worked with internal 
partners like libraries and community centres, and external partners such as Silver Harbour Centre and 
the Seniors Action Network, NSEM will place the wisdom gained supporting cooling initiatives, into a 
broader Extreme Weather Strategy that will consider the human impact of extreme cold, wind, and 
atmospheric river events. 
 

4) Extreme Heat Communications Plan  

As is common after emergency events involving interagency and cross jurisdictional coordination, 
communications was identified as an area requiring considerable investment in advance of a future 
extreme weather events.  Specifically, the need for a tri-municipal extreme heat strategic 
communications plan led by NSEM was identified. As a result, the NSEM Extreme Heat 
Communications Plan establishes response objectives, roles and responsibilities, and identifies a 
number of action items for further consideration including supplementary public education materials, 
targeted public health messaging, cooling centre posters, resource maps, the prioritization of web 
content, and the development of a media strategy.  Most importantly the NSEM Extreme Heat 

Communications Plan is a foundational document confirming both the benefit of, and appetite for, tri-
municipal collaboration with regards to public messaging during emergencies. 
 

Together the four components of the Extreme Heat Strategy act much like the legs of a table; each component 

adding strength and reliability to the structure:  The Extreme Weather After Action Review provides an 
opportunity to share knowledge among public safety partners; the Extreme Heat Recommendations and 
Implementation Work Plan itemizes future actions and promotes transparency and accountability; the Extreme 
Heat Response Plan articulates municipal response activities; and, the Extreme Heat Communications Plan 
ensures information is shared in a timely and effective manner.      

It is important to note that as comprehensive as this process has been and strong as the strategy may be, it is 
evergreen.  The truest value of the Extreme Heat Strategy is not to be found on the pages it is written on, but 
rather in the commitment of the people who contributed to the process; the working groups, department 
leads, and external agencies who have without exception, demonstrated a willingness and commitment to 
continuous improvement over time.  NSEM looks forward to further developing these relationships and 
supporting these highly skilled and dedicated municipal staff and community service providers. 

 
 



 

5 |  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

147 East 14th Street, 2nd Floor 

North Vancouver, BC, V7L 2N4 

Phone:  778.338.6300 

Fax:  604-985-3733 

www.nsem.ca 

http://www.nsem.ca/


NORTH SHORE 2021 EXTREME WEATHER 
AFTER ACTION REVIEW 

North Shore Emergency Management May 2022 

DISTRICT OF NORTH VANCOUVER | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | DISTRICT OF WEST VANCOUVER 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 3�



 

 

 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

ABOUT THIS REPORT  

 

 

North Shore Emergency Management  
British Columbia, Canada 

District of North Vancouver  
City of North Vancouver  
District of West Vancouver  

North Shore Extreme Weather After Action 
Review 
May 2022 

Designed and prepared by North Shore 
Emergency Management  

This report is printed on 100% post-consumer 
waste recycled paper 

 

 

 

North Shore Emergency Management  
British Columbia, Canada 

District of North Vancouver  
City of North Vancouver  
District of West Vancouver  



 

3 |  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CONTENTS 

CONTENTS 3 

INTRODUCTION 4 

OBJECTIVES 5 

SCOPE 5 

2021 CLIMATE EVENTS 6 

2021 EXTREME WEATHER READINESS & RESPONSE ACTIVITIES 7 

AAR APROACH & OUTCOMES 7 

WHAT WE HEARD: NSEM 8 

WHAT WE HEARD: COMMUNITY BASED ORGANIZATIONS 9 

WHAT WE HEARD: CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 11 

RECOMMENDATIONS 12 

APPENDIX 1 – AAR QUESTIONS 13 

RESOURCES & REFERENCES 14 
 

 

 



 

4 |  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 

In 2021, British Columbians faced an unprecedented range of extreme weather disasters which struck across the province 
and throughout the year. While their scope - particularly wildfire - did not approach that of years past, the breadth and 
severity of individual events (e.g. wildfire devastation in Lytton, catastrophic flooding in the Fraser Valley), and context of 
increasing frequency over recent decades, make extreme weather and climate adaptation a priority focus for municipal 
readiness and response. 
 
In particular, the North Shore and Lower Mainland were heavily impacted by the late-June Heat Dome event. Compounded 
by the urban heat island effect, social vulnerabilities and a population accustomed to a temperate climate, this disaster led to 
over 700 excess mortalities, along with thousands of heat-related illnesses; heavily straining first responder and public 
health resources which were already struggling with the challenges of COVID-19. 
 
The Heat Dome was followed closely by two more heat events throughout the summer, along with a brief period of intense 
wildfire air quality issues. While neither those follow-ups nor early winter Atmospheric River flooding dramatically 
affected North Shore residents, they still brought significant socio-economic and societal consequences. Notwithstanding 
minimal impacts to the North Shore, these events required sustained activation of North Shore response agencies and 
municipal teams, along with deployments to provide mutual aid to other impacted regions and First Nations across BC. 
 
To close the year, a prolonged extreme cold snap blanketed southwestern BC, with unseasonal snow fall and temperatures 
double digits below the norm. Its impact on homeless and underhoused populations required significant response from 
North Shore Emergency Management (NSEM) and its partners. And while the general population was not significantly 
affected, notable challenges for our approaches to supporting those groups were highlighted; while a combination of 
climate-strained infrastructure and the lingering impacts of atmospheric river supply chain issues threatened severe 
consequences had a compounding disaster or incident occurred (i.e. utility failure). 
 



 

5 |  

 

OBJECTIVES 

It is a best practice in emergency management to conduct an After-Action Review (AAR) - or “hotwash” – as soon as 
practical following significant events. AARs assess event-related processes and activities in collaboration with partner 
agencies, and recommend revisions and enhancements to reduce the consequence of future events. This is consistent with 
industry principles of continuous improvement and collaborative programming; and a standard for NSEM moving forward. 
 
While a heat-specific AAR was originally planned for the Fall of 2021, the continued cycle of climate challenges led to 
undertaking this AAR as a combined document covering all 2021 extreme weather events.  
 
The specific objectives of this AAR process were to: 

 Outline 2021 extreme weather events affecting the North Shore, and their related impacts;  
 Examine related activities undertaken by the three North Shore municipalities, NSEM and/or jointly with partners; 
 Identify relevant strengths, weaknesses, gaps and opportunities for improvement; 
 Enhance linkages, relationships and mutual understanding with partner agencies and their client groups, while 

giving a voice to their insights and perspectives;  
 Demonstrate transparency, accountability and 

emergency management excellence for North 
Shore municipalities and citizens; 

 Inform the process of updating the North Shore 
Extreme Weather Response Plan. 
 

SCOPE 

The scope of this AAR includes considerations related to the 
impact of the 2021 Heat Dome and Extreme Cold events on 
the North Shore; specifically:  

 Activities or approaches proposed and/or 
undertaken by the three North Shore municipalities, 
NSEM and/or jointly with partners;  

 Assessment of potential hazards, risks and 
vulnerabilities; 

 The current and ideal state of emergency management planning, preparedness, processes, communications, 
capacity and resources (financial and human); 

 Governance aspects of the BC emergency management system, including legislation, regulations, policy and 
leadership practices; and, 

 National and international research and best practices specific to climate risks. 
 

The scope of this AAR does NOT address:  
 Activities or decisions undertaken by by external agencies (response or otherwise);  
 Activities or decisions undertaken by First Nations; and, 
 Provincial activities undertaken outside the Lower Mainland. 

 

While there was not a specific focus on wind, rain or flooding events for this AAR, that is due to their limited impacts on 
the North Shore in 2021. NSEM remains mindful of potential related events and mitigations in the context of all-hazard 
extreme weather planning, and would apply a similar preparedness and response lens to all climate risks. 



 

6 |  

 

2021 CLIMATE EVENTS  

HEAT EVENTS  
The June 25th to July 2nd Heat Dome event broke the all-time maximum 
temperatures for June across BC. North Vancouver experienced four straight 
days of 30°+C, including overnight temperatures of 29°C. The BC Centre for 
Disease Control (BCCDC) estimated 740 excess deaths tied to this event, with 
peak mortality occurring on June 29th.  

Several notable markers of mortality were identified: 
 Location: significant increase in private dwellings (177%); 

modest increase for those in acute (24%) or residential (25%) care 
 Age: peak excess in adults over 50 (>75%); 
 Condition: heat-related emergency department admissions were 

primarily heat stroke, acute renal failure; though admissions statistically skewed younger than those who died; 
 Socio-Economic: risk correlations were high for populations experiencing material deprivation, modest for 

social deprivation and low greenspace within 100m, extremely high for confluence of all three; 
 Mental Health: extremely high risk correlation for schizophrenia; modestly high for substance use, 

depression, mood/anxiety disorders. 

Heat Advisories were also issued for the periods of July 28-31 and August 10-14, however only marginal increases in 
mortality and ER admissions were noted. Nighttime temperatures during these periods were more moderate than in the Jun 
25th event, related in part to there being fewer daylight hours that far past the June solstice. 

 

AIR QUALITY EVENTS 
During 2021, there were two days (August 13-14) on which measurements of 
small particulate matter (known as PM 2.5) exceeded provincial air quality 
guidelines of 25 µg/m3; and six more (June 27-29,  August 1, 3, October 31) 
when PM2.5 exceeded generally accepted international guidelines of 12 µg/m3. 
While this was a “good year” owing to most wildfire smoke occurring further east 
in BC, it is notable that heat events can also exceed particulate matter guidelines, 
causing significant impacts to the elderly, children, or those with pre-existing 
medical conditions. 
 
EXTREME COLD 

From December 25th to January 2nd, an arctic outflow affected most of Western 
Canada, with temperatures dropping below -10 on the North Shore, with wind 
chill factors exceeding -20. While temperatures were significantly lower in BC’s 
North and Interior regions, the relative differential versus seasonal norms was 
greater in the Lower Mainland. Those experiencing homelessness and the 
underhoused are at significant risk from extreme cold events, and while no excess 
mortalities were noted, significant mitigations were required from NSEM and 
across all three municipalities.  
 
 

 

https://www.eoas.ubc.ca/courses/atsc113/snow/met_concepts/06-met_concepts/06l-arctic-outflow/


 

7 |  

 

2021 EXTREME WEATHER READINESS & RESPONSE ACTIVITIES 

The bulk of 2021 heat response activities on the North Shore occurred in relation to the Heat Dome event, and were based 
on the 2019 North Shore Extreme Heat Initial Response Guide. Once the late-June Heat Advisory was issued by EMBC, 
based on related warnings from Environment and Climate Change Canada (ECCC), NSEM activated the North Shore 
response structure to Level 1, and initiated coordination calls to inform and connect response agencies and partners across 
the North Shore.  
 

While municipal fire services and BC Emergency Health Services (BCEHS) responded to a surge of heat related emergency 
calls, NSEM activated a Cooling Center for the North Shore; initially established at the North Shore Neighborhood House, 
and subsequently relocated to the Pipe Shop at Lonsdale Quay. 
 
Municipal staff from departments such as Parks, Recreation and the libraries played a significant role in providing 
additional supports and services to North Shore residents. The libraries reported higher than normal numbers of visitors 
during the heat wave, many specifically seeking a climate-controlled space; with the City of North Vancouver Library 
extending their operating hours to meet this demand. 
 
In December, for the Extreme Cold event, NSEM initiated 
coordination calls with a broad coalition of local response 
partners. To address the lack of available daytime shelter during 
holiday closures and the lack of supplementary shelter bed 
capacity, NSEM stood up a warming center at John Braithwaite 
Community Center.  The warming center was made available 
and procedures developed for overnight overflow shelter 
activation if required, though fortunately it was not.  The 
warming center was staffed with Emergency Support Services 
volunteers, and closed once the cold advisory was lifted. 

 

AAR APROACH & OUTCOMES 

PROCESS 
To support AAR development, formal and informal outreach was conducted with key partners to review their specific 
contributions, identify what aspects of coordination and response worked well, and highlight any gaps and challenges. 
 
This process was conducted in multiple stages. First, NSEM conducted an internal review of current response procedures.  
Then, NSEM facilitated separate discussions with Community-Based Organizations (CBOs) serving older adults and those 
experiencing homelessness; groups disproportionately impacted by extreme weather events.  Additionally, due to the 
majority of event response being undertaken within the City of North Vancouver (CNV), Innomergence Solutions was 
contracted to facilitate a workshop with CNV staff who had participated in response activities.  
 
NSEM also engaged key stakeholders from the District of North Vancouver and District of West Vancouver, along with 
academic researchers from UBC and SFU. NSEM also participated in regional planning and review with partners such as 
the Integrated Partnership for Emergency Management (IPREM), Emergency Management British Columbia (EMBC), 
Health Emergency Management British Columbia (HEMBC) and others.  
 
Based on key findings from each engagement session, recommendations have been divided thematically into: 

 Collaboration: elements which require collaboration across departments and between agencies;  
 Resources: physical, human, financial or developmental assets; 
 Communications: issues and requirements related to internal or external communication of information. 



 

8 |  

 

 
WHAT WE HEARD: NSEM 
 
On January 13, 2022, NSEM held an all-staff meeting to review individual and joint involvement and related observations; 

specifically for the Extreme Cold event, though linkages were made with other 2021 extreme weather events. 
 
Collaboration  

 Response agency support was mixed, possibly reflecting a lack of clear designation of roles and responsibilities 
specific to extreme weather response. 

 It was unclear how response is navigated when risks to health and wellness are almost exclusively borne by 
residents with specific needs, e.g. people experiencing homelessness and older adults with complex health needs.  

 Decision-making over weekends and especially during the Christmas holidays was a challenge due to closures and 
staffing availability. 

 While NSEM sees itself as a partner, other stakeholders are better equipped to ‘own’ response aspects. 
 While local community based organizations such as faith groups, care providers, building operators, and 

businesses are in many ways subject matter experts, they lack the experience, capacity, and authority; and thus 
benefit from municipalities leading the overarching response at the community level. 

 More work needs to be done to integrate existing community based organizations into municipal processes and 
vice versa in advance of emergency activations. 

 Streamlining is required for NSEM management team coordination and decision making procedures. 
 Overall coordinating agency response felt ad hoc, likely due to infrequency of such extreme weather events. 
 NSEM response protocols were reconfirmed – when and how to stand up virtual EOC, begin dialogue with EMBC, 

request a task number, and the importance of On-Duty staff producing situation reports.  
 Significant confusion at regional tables; more clarity required for regional coordination of extreme weather 

response, especially reimbursement eligibility. 
 Need for a standing extreme weather working group(s) was widely agreed upon.  

 
Resources 

 ESS reiterated previous concerns that volunteers can supplement work with people experiencing homelessness, but 
they require additional training and direct support from agency staff to be successful.  

 Although site security is an important aspect of any activation, a number of staff and volunteers cast doubt on the 
efficacy of contracted security guards. 

 More work required to effectively utilize funds made available through the Emergency Programs Act.   
 NSEM a) deployed more existing supplies such as cots and blankets than were needed; b) needs to consider how to 

provide board games and other entertainment supplies for evacuees; and c) had some supplies go missing.  
 NSEM should continue to work with operators of libraries and other existing municipal infrastructure to determine 

how best to support residents with specific needs during extreme weather events. 

 
Communications 

 Not having a database or event specific contacts list slowed the coordination process down, resulted in gaps and 
redundancies with regards to notifications. 

 The lack of locally-responsive emergency weather thresholds, and understanding of existing thresholds, added a 
layer of complexity and delays during early stages of response. 

 Thresholds established by ECCC do not equally reflect the risk to human health and safety for residents across the 
region (Provincial and Federal partners are aware and working to provide a more relevant notification system). 

 



 

9 |  

 

WHAT WE HEARD: COMMUNITY BASED ORGANIZATIONS 

On January 20, 2022, NSEM staff met with representatives from the Homelessness Task Force, North Shore 
Neighborhood House and the Lookout to review Warming Center operations and extreme weather issues specific to 
homeless and underhoused populations. 
 
Collaboration  

 More clarity required on existing municipal social service supports i.e. Community Access Coordinators. 
 An ‘Extreme Weather Response Committee’ used to exist but now defunct; should be reconvened. 
 A protocol was co-developed to ‘swap’ one staff member from the Lookout Society location with one NSEM staff 

member from the emergency overflow shelter, if it were to have been activated, ensuring the Lookout Shelter had 
two ‘staff’ members on duty throughout the night, while the overflow shelter would have at least one ‘staff’ who 
was experienced in working with homeless people. 

 Lookout Society has core training they can offer to NSEM and other municipal partners.   
 

Resources 
 North Shore Neighbourhood House is the primary designated Emergency Weather Response (EWR) site; usually 

operates from January – March providing supplementary overnight shelter capacity to the Lookout Society 
location, and was running at or near capacity every night during activation; new building pending, with hopes to 
have a designated space for overflow; currently does not receive any funding for EWR and reports having 
challenges with consistent funding/staffing. 

 Secondary EWR location activated at Lookout Society location reported to be running at of less than 50% capacity 
during activation. 

 CNV library extended hours of operation over Christmas Day to bridge a gap in cold weather respite capacity 
(with most commercial spaces closed), supplementing existing Open Door Community Hub initiative, open twice 
weekly as a drop in for unhoused residents. 

 Transportation to and between shelters was identified as a significant roadblock, especially for those with mobility 
challenges and/or who travel with all of their belongings; more clarity required around the role of RCMP in 
transporting vulnerable people to and between shelters; alternative more culturally safe options should be explored. 

 Staff capacity was identified as a significant roadblock to scaling response; NSEM should work with EMBC to 
better understand how the Emergency Program Act and the financial tools therein can assist municipalities in 
contracting external partner agency staff to provide security and other support during activations. 

 
Communications 

 Acknowledgement that there was a ‘swirl’ of notifications at the onset of the event; an operational list of municipal 
leads was needed to ensure accurate and timely notifications and situational reports. 

 Tri-municipal, interoperable communications platforms needed to share information and resources during an event. 
 Some client and agency confusion about where to go first for Extreme Weather Response support. 
 Contacting people who are underhoused or experiencing homelessness, specifically to inform them of warming 

center or shelter availability or learn what their specific needs are, is extremely challenging for traditional 
government resources.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

10 |  

 

On March 9, 2022, NSEM staff met with the Seniors Working Group (coordinated by Lionsview Seniors’ Planning 
Society) to review extreme weather issues specific to seniors. 
 
Collaboration 

 Senior’s Working Group started off as a COVID support, but has evolved into an opportunity for North Shore 
seniors services agencies to share information and collaborate on initiatives.  

 With the extreme heat event of this past summer, the working group has been an excellent resource and has 
resulted in a number of partnerships with NSEM and other municipal staff. 

 A better understanding is required as to the degree to which social workers, physicians and other care providers 
currently do, and potentially could, distribute personal safety messaging during extreme weather events.  

 
Resources 

 Seniors Action Table meets monthly (Zoom or at Silver Harbour), performed check-in phone calls during Heat 
Dome and Cold events. 

 Disability Alliance of BC significant provides advocacy and supports for provincial programs, and ensures the 
specific needs of seniors with disabilities are being considered. 

 Parkgate Community Services shared information and extended hours during the Heat Dome, delivered AC/fans to 
members needing this support, and initiated a ‘Check On Your Neighbour’ program.   

 Silver Harbour Seniors Activity Centre distributed extreme heat one pager and outreach with meals delivered to 
isolated seniors, supported VCH Congregate Meal Program at 2 apartment complexes in Norgate, and provided 
telephone outreach to check-in and share tips on staying cool. 

 Squamish Elders network shared safety information out through their newsletter; Emergency Operations Center 
was activated at band office through which check-ins were coordinated, and fans and water were donated and 
delivered to elders; many elders have family affected by this year’s fire and floods which added to stress of 
COVID; leadership does their best to support members where they are at by arranging snow removal services, 
providing fire extinguishers and smoke detectors and supports such as food vouchers for off-reserve members.   

 North Shore Community Resources through programs like Better at Home and Seniors One Stop provided 
transportation for seniors requiring medical support or rides, outreach, phone ‘in-reach’, check-ins, and fans. 

 Family Services of the North Shore was a part of a meal delivery program, volunteers provided phone support, and 
offers free counselling to family and friends to support members. 

 Hollyburn Community Services Society through programs like Seniors at Housing Risk Outreach Program and 
Supporting Seniors to Remain Housed program, also does outreach in parks and shelters.   

 Working group encouraged NSEM to map vulnerable locations and consider outreach to certain buildings. 
 
Communication 

 Older adults do not use web based communications tools at nearly the same rate as younger adults, many 
communicating with friends and family over the phone or the written letter. 

 Margaret Coates has a weekly article in North Shore News called Older and Wiser. 
 Municipal methods of communicating with the public exclude large parts of the community, particularly seniors 

and people living on low incomes. 
 North Shore Neighbourhood House noted that the activation of the first cooling center was last minute, resulting in 

a lack of notifications to clients; second activation was not as rushed, and they were able to use seniors peer 
support and to post flyers and posters. 

 NSEM providing standardized text / flyer / info worked well, if late. 
 Direct person to person intervention is required for seniors such as phone trees, outreach, food delivery, etc. 
 Public safety information should include a phone number people can call if they need help.   
 Recently produced “Keeping Safe” card is a useful resource, listing key organizations for food, shelter and other 

supports across the North Shore. 



 

11 |  

 

WHAT WE HEARD: CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

On February 15, 2022, a facilitated AAR was conducted with 17 CNV staff to identify best practices and opportunities 
for improvement. 
 

Collaboration  
 Multi-jurisdictional coordination poses unique challenges.  
 Limitations within the Emergency Program Act continue to incentivize the prioritization of response activities over 

all other phases of emergencies. 
 More work is required to articulate municipal roles and responsibilities during emergencies. 
 Many of the municipal departments and support organizations required for effective and equitable extreme weather 

planning and response do not frequently work together, lack of familiarity and comfort. 
 More engagement required amongst partners with roles supporting people with specific needs. 
 Stronger integration with public health in relation to community wellness in emergency management. 
 Considerable work to be done to engage the local business community. 

 
Resources 
 

 Limited pre-planning, most support activities were reactive in nature. 
 Fire noted that for 2021 heat events, 95% of all calls and all deceased were seniors, most often in walk up 

apartments with no cooling mechanisms or self-regulation. 
 City Library noted that during heat events, there were more visits and that young adults and homeless patrons 

tended to come in to the library, do their business, and leave; while seniors tended to stay longer.   
 Libraries lack specialized services such as community outreach workers, clinicians, and support navigators. 
 When schools closed early in the June heat event, it caused staffing and capacity challenges for municipalities. 
 NVRC flagged that providing staff with expertise in recreation and culture to support resilience hubs may result in 

greater uptake during cooling/warming center activations. 
 Municipal extreme weather related plans and protocols require updating and revision.  
 Using recreation centers to support groups impacted by the extreme weather events is disruptive to existing 

programs, NVRC requires more structure around this process. 
 Holiday closures, staffing availability, and program disruption resulted in challenges utilizing facilities. 
 Emergency Support Services (ESS) volunteers felt ill-equipped while staffing the Warming Centre; municipalities 

generally utilize ESS volunteers as supplementary support rather than primary leads when working with people 
experiencing homelessness. 

 Consensus was reached with regards to deploying ESS volunteers to future warming centers; warming centers are 
as much about providing outreach as they are warm shelter, ESS volunteers should be deployed as supplementary 
staffing support only, with primary staffing provided by partners with experience working with people 
experiencing homelessness.   

 NSEM had adequate logistical capacity to support facility (supplies et al). 
 Cooling Centers went largely unused by those residents most in need of cooling. 
 Although word of mouth resulted in greater attendance over the duration of the event, notifying vulnerable people 

of the existence of the warming center remains a challenge; need more engagement with business community to 
have their spaces available to amplify resources (i.e. postering). 
 

Communication 
 More work required to ensure public health and safety messaging is accessible to residents who speak languages 

other than English, i.e. engaging with Impact North Shore for translation services.  
 Coordination calls helpful. 
 Community maps should be produced as a community resource that include parks, fountains, washrooms, etc.    
  “Keeping Safe” brochure should have a summer and winter version. 
 Desire expressed for emergency communications templates and “canned” pre-messaging. 



 

12 |  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based on the findings of this AAR, the following recommendations will provide the basis for future NSEM extreme 
weather resilience efforts, and specifically the North Shore Heat Response and Communications Plans.   

 
A) Collaboration  

1. Revise the North Shore Heat Response Plan to ensure that response protocols, roles and responsibilities are clearly 
defined and broadly shared, creating a framework for effective multi-partner coordination before events occur.  

2. Convene working and advisory groups to support ongoing extreme weather planning and preparation. 
3. Continue to build a community of support across municipal departments and community based organizations, to 

better identify and protect vulnerable community members. 
4. Strengthen linkages with health authorities to clarify and promote their functions during extreme weather events. 
5. Work with IPREM and Lower Mainland partners to promote enhanced regional collaboration.  
6. Enhance partnerships with the private sector to leverage their resources and outreach where possible. 
7. Work with provincial counterparts to establish guidelines for supplementary and overtime paid work for municipal 

staff, partner agency staff and surge support staff responding to extreme weather events. 
8. Collaborate with academic, health and response partners to enhance related data collection and aggregation. 

 

B) Resources 
1. Establish pre-determined cooling and warming centers and related best practices e.g. activation thresholds, 

protocols, staffing requirements, cultural safety and accessibility, costing, logistics, hours of operations. 
2. Identify “chill zones” – existing public or commercial spaces with climate control or heat-reduction attributes.  
3. Develop activation thresholds that incorporate and address the specific needs of North Shore residents.   
4. Ensure plans remain evergreen, aligned with current research, reflecting initiatives that seek to address inequities 

across the social determinants of health, and opportunity-seeking with regards to innovation. 
5. Champion municipal climate resiliency and adaptation initiatives and programs (i.e. the ‘Building Resilient 

Neighborhoods initiative to address social isolation amongst older adults). 
6. Create emergency transportation contingency plans for residents with specific limitations.  
7. Leverage partner GIS and open source data to better identify vulnerable population locations. 
8. Review and enhance current informal system of wellness checks by social service and response agencies. 
9. Provide training and awareness resources for front line staff (e.g. libraries, Parks, volunteers, etc.) to recognize and 

respond to signs and symptoms of heat illness. 
10. Update and maintain a comprehensive emergency and community partners contact list.  
11. Assess potential for distribution of weather protective equipment (e.g. personal heat resiliency kits, loans of fans or 

air purifiers) for low-income residents; especially those with limited mobility and/or health conditions. 
 
D) Communication 

1. Create a North Shore Extreme Heat Communications Plan in collaboration with municipal communications teams.  
2. Co-construct public health messaging with health system partners in advance of extreme weather events. 
3. Produce a diverse range of products to promote North Shore extreme weather support resources to the public. 
4. Align and enhance NSEM and municipal websites for more effective public access to informational resources.   
5. Build strategies to ensure timely and accurate event information sharing between government agencies, NSEM, 

response and community partners; and particularly with the general public. 
6. Develop public education programs and materials to reinforce health messaging and enhance public awareness. 
7. Construct responsive and proactive media approaches with support from municipal communications teams. 

  



 

13 |  

 

APPENDIX 1 – AAR QUESTIONS 

CNV AAR 
 

1. What were the main weather events that you were involved in from a workplace perspective? 
2. What was your role as an individual staff member in providing support to the extreme weather events? 
3. What was the role in your work unit (department, program, team etc.)? 
4. Did you have the tools you needed to provide the support that you did? If not, what else do you think you need? 
5. Who did you observe or think was most affected by the event(s) and required support or assistance? 
6. What pre-planning was done for support to vulnerable populations prior to the extreme weather events that you 

know of? 
7. What was done to support them and how do you think that worked out? 
8. What could have been done differently to support them? Do you feel that this should be done by the City or should 

it be provided by some other organization and if so, whom? 
9. What do you think the role of your work unit should be in supporting vulnerable populations in an extreme weather 

event? 
10. What do you think the role of the City should be in extreme weather events? 
11. What do you think the role of NSEM should be in extreme weather events? 
12. Thinking outside the box a bit, what other organizations do you think might have a role to play in support during 

extreme weather events? 
13. What do you think the main components of an extreme weather response plan for the City should be? 
14. What was your one biggest takeaway from the extreme weather events this past 12 months? 
15. Do you think the City’s response to the extreme weather events in the past 12-months was appropriate? If not, 

what could have been done differently? 

 
SENIORS’ AAR 

1. What were the main emergency events affecting seniors on the North Shore this past year? 
2. How were you or your organization involved? 
3. What planning was done in advance of this/these event(s)? 
4. Were there examples of things that worked really well? 
5. Where are the opportunities to better support seniors before, during, and after emergency events? 

 

IPREM AAR 

1. Discuss what was done as a region in response to the three heat events in summer 2021. 
2. Explore the regional challenges, gaps, and how the region can respond more effectively to future heat events. 
3. Understand the background context and impacts of the three heat events. 
4. Discuss the regional response, challenges, and gaps identified during the three heat events. 
5. Explore potential next steps for regional planning initiatives for future heat events.. 

 
 



 

14 |  

 

RESOURCES & REFERENCES 

Summary of Mortality During the Catastrophic 2021 Heat Dome 
 
Community Health and Climate Change – Preliminary Study Results 
 
Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction. 
 
Preliminary Strategic Climate Risk Assessment for BC 
 
Provincial Climate Preparedness and Adaptation Strategy:  
 
Managing Climate Change Risks: An Independent Audit 
 
 

 

 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://nexuswebcast.mediasite.com/Mediasite/Showcase/bc-cdc-showcase/Presentation/896ca6fb39e246ab801c0526867b73741d
https://vchtest.s3.ca-central-1.amazonaws.com/Climate+and+Health+Maps+-+Summary+(October+2020).pdf
https://www.undrr.org/implementing-sendai-framework/what-sendai-framework
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/environment/climate-change/adaptation/risk-assessment
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/environment/climate-change/adaptation/cpas
https://www.bcauditor.com/sites/default/files/publications/reports/Climate_Change_FINAL_0.pdf


 

15 |  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

147 East 14th Street, 2nd Floor 

North Vancouver, BC, V7L 2N4 

Phone:  778.338.6300 

Fax:  604-985-3733 

www.nsem.ca 

http://www.nsem.ca/


1 

Extreme Heat Recommendations and Implementation   NSEM Project Lead: John Hawkes  
WORK PLAN   Updated: May 2022 

 
PURPOSE: To further develop and action recommendations from the Extreme Heat After Action Review as well as ongoing community 
engagement and committee work. 

STATUS REPORT 
1. The Extreme Heat After Action Review (ARR) is complete and

has been shared with operational leadership for comment
before being shared with executive leadership in June.   The
AAR is a compilation of participant experiences including
recommendations from the 2021 heat event on the North
Shore.

2. The Extreme Heat Response Plan is complete and will be
presented to Council in June.  The Extreme Heat Plan
articulates notification designations, levels of municipal
response, and roles and responsibilities of municipal
departments.

3. The Extreme Heat Communication Plan is complete and has
been shared with the Communications leads across all three
North Shore municipalities.  The Communications Plan
articulates how information is received, synthesized, and
shared across key stakeholder groups during heat events.

KEY DATES 

 NSEM to present Extreme Heat Strategy (AAR,
Extreme Heat Response Plan, Extreme Heat
Communications Plan)     June 

 NSEM to convene Extreme Heat Planning Group     June 

 NSEM/Comms to produce Pub Ed materials     July 

 NSEM to provide operational support during
anticipated municipal response to heat events     July/Aug 

 NSEM to produce Extreme Weather Strategic Plan     Sept/Oct 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 4�



2 
 

 
SHORT TERM (JULY 2022) 
 

 ACTIONS (LEAD) DETAILS STATUS 

June Ensure contacts lists are current and notifications 

procedures are well understood (NSEM) 
 Ensure municipal staff with planning, response, and 

recovery functions for heat events have been identified. 

 Develop email groups for timely notifications and 
coordination calls. 

 Ensure contacts are accurate for the coming summer 
months and take into consideration vacation availability 
and function redundancies. 

In progress 

June Convene Extreme Weather Planning Group (NSEM) 

 
 Continue to broaden engagement ensuring 

marginalized people are centred in the work.  

 Begin the process of identifying neighbourhoods and 
where possible buildings, with high numbers of low 
income seniors who live alone.   

 Further develop North Shore strategy that includes 
supporting Libraries and Rec Centres as the first level of 
municipal response to extreme weather.    

 Better utilize municipal staff to force multiply existing 
community outreach initiatives such as wellness checks 
during extreme weather events.  Where there are 
remaining gaps, continue develop strategies to address 
the needs of vulnerable residents.   

 Ensure existing protective infrastructure (libraries, 
parks, water fountains, public seating) are all accessible 
for people with limited mobility). 

 Include the business sector as valued partners. 

 Engage First Nation partners on North Shore to learn 
wise practices with regards to protecting elders during 
heat events 

 Consider the acquisition of forced air fans 

On going 



3 
 

July Establish libraries and community centres as 
standing cooling facilities (Libraries/Rec/NSEM) 

 Develop site specific extreme heat plans 

 Provide culturally safe public spaces to take shelter 
from extreme heat. 

 Recreational programming will wherever possible, to 
accommodate for the emergency cooling needs of local 
residents 

 Individual facilities will work in concert when extending 
hours of operation as the need demands 

 Accommodations will be made to support the needs of 
residents accompanied by household pets 

 Individual locations will provide daily Situation Reports 
with NSEM to provide template  

 Daily Situation Reports from Cooling Facilities will be 
collated  and shared with municipal response partners 
(Planning Section) 

 NSEM to provide Cooling Facilities with cold water, 
snacks and public health safety materials. 

 Extreme Heat Plans to support extended hours of 
operation inclusive of holidays and overnight 

 Develop a strategy to manage the integration of other 
municipal staff and community volunteers 

 Determine the necessary logistics support including 
transportation and other supplementary resources 

 Community centres are prepared to provide shelter, 
access to water, washrooms, cool showers, and 
important public health information. 

 Wherever possible, recreational facilities plan to 
provide appropriate activities for patrons seeking 
refuge from extreme heat. 

 Supplementary community supports have been 
identified and are in place for Heat Warning or Extreme 
Heat Emergency if one were to occur 

In progress 



4 
 

 Managers understand the circumstances under which 
overtime hours are eligible under task and on the 
process for reimbursement 

 Frontline staff have awareness level training on how to 
treat Heat Exhaustion and recognize Heat Stroke 

  

July Develop community partnerships to support 
cooling facilities (NSEM/Health) 

 Identify appropriate supplementary subject matter 
expertise (SME) to provide libraries and rec centres 
necessary wrap-around supports during activations (ie 
Community Support Workers, Mental Health 
practitioners, etc) 

 Include SMEs in development of ‘wrap around’ 
framework and service provision 

On going 

June Seasonal Heat messaging as a tri-municipal 
priority (Comms/NSEM) 
 

 NSEM and Comms teams to confirm Comms Strategy 

 In cooperation with NSEM and local Health partners, 
Comms leads development of Media strategy that 
integrates local broadcasters and publishers as public 
health partners  

 Lead the branding, graphics, and printing of municipal 
public safety materials including resource maps, stay 
safe information, large format cooling centre signage, 
etc. 

 Alternatives to web-based communications have been 
identified and distribution pathways established  

 Municipal websites and social media platforms 
prioritize extreme heat information 

 Develop a communications strategy with landlords, 
housing operators, and building managers to ensure 
residents are well-informed and able to take protective 
measures.  

 Ensure messaging is consistent across all three 
municipalities: 

o making the correlation between age and risk,  
o recognizing symptoms of heat illnesses,  

In progress 



5 
 

o what actions to take if one experiences 
symptoms, and 

o where to find information and support 
resources    

 Municipal Communications teams with support from 
NSEM and VCH, will develop messaging in multiple 
languages,  follow accessibility guidelines (large font, 
illustrations, image descriptions for any images used, 
etc), and produce resource maps (water fountains, 
public washrooms, cooling sites, safe harbour 
businesses, etc). 

 NSEM will continue to create partnerships across 
municipal departments, local business operators, and 
with agencies that serve vulnerable populations to 
better utilize existing communication pathways. 

 Develop or enhance existing community resource map 
(on-line and printed version) including public 
washrooms, water fountains, libraries, rec centres, 
shopping malls, resources contact information, etc. 

  

  Routinize early municipal preparation (NSEM)  NSEM to convene a standing Extreme Heat Planning 
Group to navigate the many considerations required to 
stand up a municipal response to extreme heat  

 NSEM to establish a Heat Alert protocol.  This protocol 
will prompt a shift in municipal priorities towards 
extreme heat awareness and preparation 

  

Completed 

June Clarify financial guidelines (NSEM/EMBC)  NSEM will continue to work with regional and provincial 
counterparts to clarify guidelines. 

 Where eligible NSEM to articulate guidelines for 
supplementary and overtime paid work for staff, 
partner agency and surge support staff responding to 
extreme heat events 

In progress 



6 
 

 

 

June Continue to enhance green space (Parks/NSEM)  Continue to enhance municipal green space with a 
focus on drought tolerant, shade bearing trees in public 
spaces near or adjacent to buildings with high numbers 
of low-income seniors or in locations suffering from the 
urban heat island effect 

 Wherever possible, Parks staff will strategically plant 
shade trees adjacent to existing park benches 

 The installation of new benches, picnic tables and the 
like will take into consideration the protective value of 
shade bearing trees 

 Trails, parks, and pathways will be enhanced to ensure 
they are accessible to people with limited mobility. 

 N 

 NSEM to engage with Parks to capture existing 
greenspace plans 

On going 

July Ensure Emergency Operations Center is fully 
functional (NSEM) 

 Ensure all Duty Staff are able to convene coordination 
calls as and when necessary 

 Ensure Situation Report templates are distributed to 
library and rec staff and that staff know how to fill them 
out 

  

On going 

July Mobilize frontline municipal staff 
(Engineering/Parks/NSEM) 

 Deploy portable water stations and mist tents in 
strategic locations 

 Ensure access to washroom facilities by considering 
adding portable toilets and extending the hours of 
operation of existing public facilities 

 Frontline staff have awareness level training on how to 
treat Heat Exhaustion and recognize Heat Stroke 

 Frontline staff will disseminate important public health 
materials 

 



7 
 

 
MEDIUM TERM (1-3 YEARS) 
 

 ACTIONS (LEAD) DETAILS STATUS 

Jan 2022 Assess municipal bylaws (Bylaws/NSEM)  Ensure current municipal bylaws support community 
resilience during extreme heat events (ie hours of 
operation for municipal parks, water usage restrictions, 
etc). 

  

Not started 

Sept 2022 Pilot community project to address social 
isolation (Planning/NSEM) 
 

 NSEM, the City of North Vancouver, and Building 
Resilient Neighbourhoods Society will launch a pilot 
program targeting low income seniors and their 
neighbours.  Utilizing emergency planning as a vehicle, 
the aim of the initiative seeks to address social 
isolation. 

Pending 

May 2022 Develop Extreme Weather Health Kits (NSEM to 
coordinate) 

 Create an inventory of Extreme Heat Health Kits.  These 
kits  can include any of the following: important health 
information, heat health information on a fridge 
magnet, hand held fan, fine mister bottle, freezable eye 
‘goggles’, bottled water, reusable water bottle 
(preferably metal), sun screen, wide brimmed hats, SPF 
lip balm, etc.  Once items have been collected, Extreme 
Heat Kits can be put together with specific distribution 
pathways in mind prioritizing the needs of residents 
most at risk. 

Pending 

April 
2022 

Expand District of North Vancouver’s Urban 
Tree Canopy Project (Parks, Planning) 
 

 Project to be expanded and promote trees that are 
drought tolerant and produce the maximum shade 
benefit. 

Status 
unkown 

May 2022 Ensure frontline staff have awareness level 
training (HR/NSEM) 
 

 In cooperation with VCH, develop ‘Just in Time’ training 
modules for municipal frontline staff on how to treat 
Heat Exhaustion and recognize Heat Stroke.   

 Ensure all frontline staff have the tools required to 
address Heat Exhaustion as per their training. 

Not started 



8 
 

 The initiative may be linked to the greater Extreme 
Weather Strategy.  If this were to occur training for 
Cold Weather events would take place in the Fall. 

May 2022 Further develop media strategy (Comms/NSEM)  Purchase branded mist tents and slip-n-slides for pop 
up events or co-location outside of libraries and rec 
centres to maximize visibility and push the message out 
to targeted communities.   

 Initiate grassroots campaign for donations of pet 
carriers and other specific pet supplies for libraries and 
rec centres.   

 Host a pop-up “Cool Hot Dogs” event to raise 
awareness of heat waves and their affect on pets. 

 Creating community awareness events that are ‘media 
friendly’ (run for more than one day, start before 6 
o’clock news cut off time, are well-branded, well 
attended, and fun) 

  

Not started 

July 2022 
(evaluate) 

Improve access to fresh cold water 
(Enginnering) 

 Additional multi-height, low-barrier water fountains to 
be acquired and deployed across the North Shore.  

 It is recommended this initiative be combined with the 
provision of refillable water bottles to those 
experiencing homelessness. 

 Recommended this initiative be supported by a tri 
municipal communications plan promoting the public 
health value of water. 

On going 

May 2022 Use existing data (GIS/Fire/NSEM)  Map out especially vulnerable buildings and various 
other sites for targeted messaging and direct outreach 

 Identify gaps in data 

 Consider what it would take to have integrated real 
time data for operational effectiveness  Ie Rapid 
Damage Assessment 

Not started 



9 
 

 

June 
2022 
(evaluate) 

Develop database of community support 
workers (NSEM) 

 Draw resources out of care facilities and into libraries 
and recreation facilities. 

On going 

June 
(evaluate) 

Further enhance engagement strategy (NSEM)  Engage with neighbourhood associations, Translink, 
seniors facing support services, faith based groups, 
local business operators such as grocers, drug stores, 
and food chains to ensure appropriate public safety 
announcements have maximum penetration across 
populations for whom municipal social media and other 
conventional tools are not effective.   

On going 

 
LONG TERM (3-5 YEARS) 
 

 ACTIONS (LEAD) DETAILS STATUS 

Sept 2022 
(evaluate) 

Continue to reduce the Urban Heat Island effect 
(Parks/Planning) 

 Greening urban areas, enhancing tree canopy coverage, 
encouraging larger awnings and covered sidewalks, and 
improving access to parks and other protective public 
space. 

  

On going 

Dec 2022 
(evaluate) 

Incentivize protective measures (Planning) 
 

 Municipalities to ensure new capital investments in 
public infrastructure take into consideration the future 
extreme heat needs of the surrounding community. 

 Municipalities establish incentives for the retrofitting of 
existing housing to improve cooling and air quality via 
the addition of heat pumps, air conditioning, ceiling 
fans and other equipment. 

 Municipalities to look for opportunities to promote 
intergenerational housing models and standards for 
social housing that do not result in the ‘warehousing’ of 
vulnerable people. 

 Review current policies to account for unintended 
consequences such as the relationship between an 

On going 



10 
 

increase in A/C usage and surges in electrical power 
and a higher prevailance of Legionnaires disease. 

  

Mar 2022 
(evaluate) 

More research (NSEM/health/academia)  Gaps in research suggest there is further understanding 
required with regards to the role of social capital on 
peoples’ latent capacity to prepare for, respond to, and 
recover from emergencies.  This is particularly true for 
communities of racialized minorities, people 
experiencing homelessness, and those with underlying 
mental health illnesses. 

 Although the BC alert system focuses on daily 
temperature conditions, research shows that the large 
shift in diurnal pattern in which evening temperatures 
can reach up to 12’C warmer than their equivalent 
during cooler periods, is an important factor in heat-
related illness that requires additional assessment and 
more fully developed adaptation measures.   

 Establish thresholds around maximum indoor 
temperatures. 

 Ensure existing municipal priorities/initiatives continue 
to be informed by climate change adaptation research 
and Disaster Risk Reduction methodologies.   

  

On going 

TBD 
(Linked to 
UBCM 
schedule 
perhaps) 

Advocate for amendments to the provincial 
Residential Tenancy Act, through the 
Government of British Columbia’s Residential 
Tenancy Branch (municipal leadership) 

 Tenants must not be threatened with verbal or written 
warnings or eviction notices for operating fans or air 
conditioning units or otherwise taking protective 
measures to cool their rented dwellings during hot 
weather events.  

 In buildings, or sections of buildings, where heat is not 
controlled by tenants, landlords and building managers 
must ensure that all heating is turned off during periods 
of hot weather. 

 Landlords and building managers must be required to 
post information pertaining to relief measures 

Not started 



11 
 

 

distributed by local health authorities in common areas 
of the property in large print and in multiple languages 
during extreme hot weather events and other 
emergencies. 

  

     



 
 
 
 
 
 

North Shore 
Extreme Heat Response Plan 
May 2022 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 5�



NORTH SHORE  
EXTREME HEAT PLAN  

 
 

File: NS Extreme Heat Plan May 2022  2 

EXTREME HEAT RESPONSE PLAN 

Compounded by the urban heat island effect, social vulnerabilities and a population accustomed to a temperate 
climate, the Heat Dome event in June (2021) led to over 700 excess mortalities across the Province.  Locally, First 
Responders report that emergency calls pertaining to heat related illnesses quickly overwhelmed E-Comm and 
BCEHS, profoundly impacting access to emergency care for at-risk residents.  Simultaneously, official Cooling 
Centres went largely unused and libraries reported only marginally higher than usual numbers of visitors.  To 
better understand the human health impacts of extreme heat, identify where the vulnerabilities lie, and begin to 
work with partner agencies to address the specific needs of at-risk residents, NSEM has made (and will continue to 
make) significant investments in engaging emergency management partners.   

KEY PUBLIC MESSAGING 

 The North Shore municipalities are implementing their extreme heat response plan. 

 Municipalities have designated Libraries and Community Centres as Cooling Facilities. 

 Libraries and Community Centres are culturally safe public spaces to take shelter from extreme heat.  

 Older adults may not physiologically compensate for heat stress efficiently, and are therefore less likely to 
sense and respond to high temperatures. 

 Older adults with underlying health concerns such as heart disease, uncontrolled diabetes, emphysema, 
kidney failure, colitis or mental health illness are especially at risk. 

 Residents are encouraged to check in on family members and neighbours. 

 More information can be found at www.cnv.org, www.dnv.org, www.westvancouver.ca  www.nsem.info 
www.healthlinkbc.ca/healthlinkbc-files/heat-related-illness, www.ch.ca/heat, www.vch.ca/wildfiresmoke  

  

Media inquiries should be directed to: 

City of North Vancouver (Pardeep Purewal): 604.982.8338 
District of North Vancouver (Carolyn Grafton) 604.990.2416 

District of West Vancouver (Donna Powers): 604.925.4736; 604.925.7168 
North Shore Emergency Management (Emily Dicken): 778.338.6305 

 
 

1 OVERVIEW 

1.1 DESIGNATIONS 
 

Over the last number of months agencies such as Emergency Management British Columbia, the Ministry of 
Health, BC Center for Disease Control, and Health Emergency Management BC have been working to improve 
coordination across all levels of government during extreme heat events.  One of the outcomes of this work is an 
updated British Columbia Heat Alert Response System (HARS) which promises to harmonize a two tiered approach 
to extreme heat notifications and offer local authorities enhanced access to public health subject matter experts.  
Although the details of HARS are expected to be released late May/early June 2022, the following designations 
have been shared with local authorities. 
 
 

 
 
 

http://www.cnv.org/
http://www.dnv.org/
http://www.westvancouver.ca/
http://www.nsem.info/
http://www.healthlinkbc.ca/healthlinkbc-files/heat-related-illness
http://www.ch.ca/heat
http://www.vch.ca/wildfiresmoke


NORTH SHORE  
EXTREME HEAT PLAN  

 
 

File: NS Extreme Heat Plan May 2022  3 

Level 1: Heat Warning: 
Environment & Climate Change Canada (ECCC) develops the weather forecast for the Southwest BC Region and will 
issue a Heat Warning when the criteria for Coastal weather stations is met.  This is the time that local authorities 
across Metro Vancouver will implement their extreme heat plans.  When the criteria level is no longer met, HEMBC 
will issue notification to all parties ending the alert. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Level 2: Extreme Heat Emergency: 
BCCDC monitors daily temperature forecasts and will advise Vancouver Coastal Health when temperatures are 
expected to reach the Extreme Heat Emergency level.  Once the criteria level has been reached, ECCC will issue an 
Extreme Heat Emergency.  When the criteria level is no longer met, HEMBC will issue notification to all parties 
downgrading the Extreme Heat Emergency to a Heat Warning or ending the alert altogether. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

1.2 CONSIDERATIONS 

 The weather driven events of this past year illustrate the inevitable acceleration of global climate change 
and its future impact on North Shore communities.  It must be expected that heat waves, atmospheric 
rivers, and extreme winter weather events will increase in both frequency and intensity.   

 Disaster literature tells us that plans that do not fully acknowledge and account for the specific needs of 
at-risk citizens invariably fail across social, economic and environmental dimensions.  NSEM is committed 
to centering marginalized citizens such as seniors, racialized minorities, those experiencing housing 
insecurity and/or homelessness, have limited mobility, or mental health illness, in the work of emergency 
management.  

 In the June 2021, extreme heat related emergency calls overwhelmed the response capacity of BCEHS.  As 
a result, emergency care was significantly reduced for those with already tenuous access to existing 
services. 

 Mitigation strategies must acknowledge and address structural inequity, derive from ongoing community 
engagement, and be supported by all levels of government.  Failing to create policies and procedures that 
reflect the reality of peoples’ lives can and will continue to result in unnecessary loss of life. 

 Although there is much work being done within agencies such as Environment Canada, Vancouver Coastal 
Health, and Emergency Management BC to enhance weather related thresholds and regional notification 
protocols in support of local authorities, this work has not been completed to date.   Currently there is no 
regional approach to managing extreme weather events with requests for support from municipalities 
largely managed by EMBC on a case-by-case basis and with very few guidelines.   

 Weather forecasts become more accurate the closer to the event, often giving local authorities 2-4 days 
with which to take action.  Although these few days are insufficient to develop coordinated strategies 
they are more than enough time to convene partners and implement existing Extreme Heat Plans to great 
effect. 

 NSEM has completed a fulsome After Action Review process and convened an Extreme Heat Planning 
Group from select public safety partner agencies.  This group will continue to meet regularly to further 
develop the Extreme Weather Strategy.   

Heat Warning Criteria for Coastal Southwest BC: 
Environment & Climate Change Canada (ECCC) is expecting two or more 
consecutive days of maximum temperatures to reach 29°C or warmer and 
nighttime minimum temperatures to fall to 16°C or warmer 

Extreme Heat Emergency Criteria for Coastal Southwest BC 
Environment and Climate Change Canada (ECCC) is expecting three or more 
consecutive days of daytime maximum temperatures to reach 32°C or 
warmer. 



NORTH SHORE  
EXTREME HEAT PLAN  

 
 

File: NS Extreme Heat Plan May 2022  4 

RESPONSE ACTIVITIES 

1.3 INITIAL (EXTERNAL) NOTIFICATIONS 

A chemical accident, act of terrorism, apartment fire or extreme weather event will all result in a swirl of 
notifications from agencies with jurisdictional and/or technical authority.  NSEM, as the provider of emergency 
management services for all three North Shore municipalities, is a primary recipient of emergency notifications 
most often received as Warnings or Alerts. 

North Shore Emergency Management provides 24/7 365 municipal standby readiness through the Duty Staff role.  
Upon receipt of a Warning or Alert, Duty Staff are able to send/receive subsequent notifications, and coordinate 
any number of municipal supports to local partners.  When Duty Staff capacity is exceeded or expected to be 
exceeded, he/she/they will follow departmental SOPs and activate the Emergency Operations Centre.   

Where the municipal response to emergencies requires more time to prepare for than is afforded through 
conventional external partner notifications, municipalities may choose to develop preparedness thresholds 
independently.  As is illustrated below, NSEM has done just that, by including an interdepartmental and partner 
agency Heat Advisory.  This Heat Advisory designation ensures measures are in place in advance of the 48-72 hours 
notice an ECCC issued Heat Warning provides.  Additionally the Heat Advisory uses what is becoming more widely 
understood as a maximum allowable indoor temperature (26°C) as a designated threshold. 

 

DESIGNATIONS THRESHOLDS ACTIVATION LEVELS 

North Shore Emergency 
Management (NSEM) to 
initiate 
interdepartmental and 
partner agency Heat 
Advisory 
 

o When daytime maximum temperatures are 

expected to reach 26°C or warmer  OR; 

o At the discretion of the NSEM Director  

o Although there are currently no safe indoor 

temperature guidelines, the CDCC has referenced 

the Toronto Public Health’s use of 26°C as the 

valuation signifying maximum allowable indoor 

temperature. 

No EOC activation 

required 

Environment and 
Climate Change Canada 
(ECCC) to issue Heat 
Warning 

o Environment Canada has issued a Heat Warning 

and is expecting two or more consecutive days of 

daytime maximum temperatures expected to 

reach 29°C or warmer and nighttime minimum 

temperatures expected to fall to 16°C or warmer 

OR; 

o Vancouver Coastal Health issues a Heat Alert to 

the public when daily temperature forecasts 

indicate an average of 29°C  at YVR or 34’C at 

Abbotsford OR;  

 

EOC Activation Level 1 
Activation may be virtual 

or in-person with NSEM 

standing up sections as 

required 

Environment and 
Climate Change Canada 
(ECCC) to issue Extreme 
Heat Emergency 
 

o Environment and Climate Change Canada (ECCC) 
has issued an Extreme Heat Emergency and is 
expecting three or more consecutive days of 
daytime maximum temperatures to reach 32°C 
or warmer OR; 
 

 

EOC Activation Level 2 
In-person EOC with key 
sections led by a 
combination of NSEM 
staff and municipal 
employees 

 



NORTH SHORE  
EXTREME HEAT PLAN  

 
 

File: NS Extreme Heat Plan May 2022  5 

1.4 INTRA-MUNICIPAL NOTIFICATIONS 

An important function of NSEM is to ensure public safety partners across the North Shore remain well informed.  
To that end, upon receipt of external notifications from agencies with jurisdictional or technical authority, NSEM 
determines the degree to which those notifications require further synthesis and amplification.  Some notifications 
may be for information sharing purposes only, others may include an invitation to convene for further discussion 
and provide links to regional/provincial coordination calls, and many require amplification into the broader 
community.   

The following section illustrates a three tiered approach to notifications matching designations (Advisory, Warning, 
and Emergency) with a corresponding group of municipal partners best suited to contribute to the specific phase 
of the event. Readers will note that as the impact to human health increases so does the depth and breadth of 
notifications. 

 

DESIGNATIONS DETAILS MUNICIPAL PARTNERS 

Heat Advisory – 
No EOC activation 

o NSEM to email seasonal Heat Advisory to 
Extreme Heat Planning Committee 

o Advisory will include digital file of Extreme 
Heat Plan, a reminder to municipal staff to 
revisit their departmental heat protocols, and 
a request to confirm primary contacts and 
designates  

o Selected municipal liaisons to external partner 
agencies are responsible for engaging their 
respective community contacts and ensuring 
two way communications has been 
established 

 

Extreme Heat Planning Group: 
o Libraries 
o Recreation 
o Parks 
o Engineering 
o HR 
o Communications 
o Selected municipal liaisons to 

external partner agencies (ie. 
Manager of Economic 
Development, and 
Homelessness Task Force 
Coordinator) 

Heat Warning – 
Level 1 EOC  

o NSEM to notify Extreme Heat Response Group 
that the Extreme Heat Response Plan is being 
implemented and the EOC is activated at a 
Level 1 

o NSEM to engage municipal leadership and 
provide a synthesis of ECCC Warning 
notification and actions underway 

o NSEM to send Extreme Heat Response Group 
an invitation to initial municipal coordination 
call  

o Extreme Heat Response Group will be 
forwarded invitations to regional coordination 
calls as they become available 

o Municipal Comms teams, NSEM, and North 
Shore Health partners will convene to 
synthesize ECCC notifications and ensure 
common messaging across North Shore  

o Municipal Comms teams will send 
notifications to their respective work forces 
and department leads will ensure appropriate 
health and safety protocols are in place 

o NSEM to notify EMBC of a Level 1 Activation 
o NSEM and Comms teams will amplify Heat 

Warning to general public as per the Comms 
Strategy 
 

Extreme Heat Response Group: 
o All Extreme Heat Planning 

Committee members AND; 
o Municipal Fire 
o Police 
o HEMBC 
o Vancouver Coastal Health 
o CAOs or designates 

 



NORTH SHORE  
EXTREME HEAT PLAN  

 
 

File: NS Extreme Heat Plan May 2022  6 

Extreme Heat 
Emergency –  
Level 2 EOC 

o NSEM to notify Extreme Heat Executive Group 
that the Extreme Heat Response Plan has 
been implemented and the EOC is activated at 
a Level 2 

o NSEM to provide Extreme Heat Executive 
Group a synthesis of ECCC Emergency 
notification and actions currently underway 

o NSEM to convene Extreme Heat Executive 
Group to provide a synthesis of ECCC 
Emergency notification and actions currently 
underway and to establish strategic priorities 
and ensure appropriate linkages into the EOC 
have been made  

o NSEM to utilize Alertable system to convey 
risk to public health 

o Municipal Comms teams will convene to 
synthesize ECCC notifications and ensure 
common messaging across North Shore  

o Municipal Comms teams will send 
notifications to their respective work forces 

o Department leads will ensure appropriate 
health and safety protocols are in place 
including redeploying outside staff (where 
appropriate) to EOC for tasking 

o NSEM to notify EMBC of a Level 2 Activation 
o NSEM and Comms teams will amplify Extreme 

Heat Emergency to general public as per the 
Comms Strategy 

Extreme Heat Executive Group: 
o Fire Chiefs 
o Superintendent RCMP 
o Municipal Engineering Leads 
o Municipal Communications 

Leads 
o MHO, Vancouver Coastal 

Health 
o Superintendent of School 

District 
o CAOs  

1.5 COORDINATED RESPONSE ACTIVITIES 

An Environment and Climate Change Canada (ECCC) Heat Warning or Extreme Heat Emergency notification 
signifies an imminent threat to public health and safety that requires a coordinated response throughout all levels 
of government and across all public safety partners on the North Shore.  Within the first operating period it is 
important that response partners confirm roles and responsibilities, and begin to coordinate their response 
activities across departments, jurisdictions and agencies.  Typically this work is initiated by debriefing leadership, 
convening a North Shore coordination call, and activating the Emergency Operations Center.  The following section 
illustrates a three tiered coordination approach that aims to leverage existing municipal capacities.  Readers will 
notice that much of the coordination work is ‘front loaded’ in that it occurs well in advance of Environment and 
Climate Change Canada (ECCC) notifications.   

 

FUNCTION LEAD DETAILS 

Heat Advisory – 
No EOC activation 

NSEM o Ensure contacts lists are current and notifications procedures are 
well understood 

o Convene Extreme Weather Planning Group 
o Develop seasonal Communications Strategy 
o Ensure NSEM, municipal Communications teams, and local 

Health representatives understand their roles and 
responsibilities moving into summer months 

o Confirm community wrap around supports are available and 
ready to be deployed to libraries, community centres, and 
elsewhere as the need arises 

o Ensure Extreme Heat Plan is evergreen  
o Ensure the Emergency Operations Centre is operationally ready 



NORTH SHORE  
EXTREME HEAT PLAN  

 
 

File: NS Extreme Heat Plan May 2022  7 

o Continue to engage with external partners to better understand 
and account for the specific needs of at-risk residents 

o  
Communications o Seasonal Heat messaging becomes a tri-municipal priority 

o NSEM and Comms teams convene to confirm Comms Strategy 
o In cooperation with NSEM and local Health partners, Comms 

leads development of Media strategy that integrates local 
broadcasters and publishers as public health partners  

o Lead the branding, graphics, and printing of municipal public 
safety materials including resource maps, stay safe information, 
large format cooling centre signage, etc. 

o Alternatives to web-based communications have been identified 
and distribution pathways established  

o Municipal websites and social media platforms prioritize 
extreme heat information 

 

Community 
Centres 

o Community Centres have facility specific Extreme Heat Plans and 
protocols in place inclusive of staffing surge capacity, extended 
hours of operation, ad hoc programming, building requirements, 
unintended consequences, etc. 

o Community centres are prepared to provide shelter, access to 
water, cool showers, and important public health information. 

o Wherever possible, recreational facilities plan to provide 
appropriate activities for patrons seeking refuge from extreme 
heat. 

o Supplementary community supports have been identified and 
are in place for Heat Warning or Extreme Heat Emergency if one 
were to occur 

o Managers understand the circumstances under which overtime 
hours are eligible under task and on the process for 
reimbursement 

o Frontline staff have awareness level training on how to treat 
Heat Exhaustion and recognize Heat Stroke 

o As and when Health Kits are developed, staff will ensure they are 
complete and ready to deploy 

Libraries o Libraries have facility specific Extreme Heat Plans and protocols 
in place inclusive of staffing surge capacity, extended hours of 
operation, building requirements, unintended consequences , 
etc. 

o Libraries are prepared to provide shelter, access to water, and 
important public health information 

o Supplementary community supports have been identified and 
are in place for a Heat Warning or Extreme Heat Emergency if 
one were to occur 

o Managers understand the circumstances under which overtime 
hours are eligible under task and on the process for 
reimbursement 

o Frontline staff have awareness level training on how to treat 
Heat Exhaustion and recognize Heat Stroke 

o As and when Health Kits are developed, staff will ensure they are 
complete and ready to deploy 

Engineering o Ensure Libraries and community centres have what they need to 
be successful 

o Ensure future needs are considered when planning for annual 



NORTH SHORE  
EXTREME HEAT PLAN  

 
 

File: NS Extreme Heat Plan May 2022  8 

maintenance and servicing 
o Frontline staff have awareness level training on how to treat 

Heat Exhaustion and recognize Heat Stroke 
o Frontline staff have public health safety materials on hand  

Parks o Continue to enhance municipal green space with a focus on 
drought tolerant, shade bearing trees in public spaces near or 
adjacent to buildings with high numbers of low-income seniors 
or in locations suffering from the urban heat island effect 

o Further enhancement of trails, parks, and pathways to ensure 
accessibility for people with limited mobility 
 

 Fire o Awareness level engagement in Extreme Heat Planning Group 

Heat Warning – 
Level 1 EOC 

NSEM o Notify EMBC that the Emergency Operations Centre has been 
activated to a to a Level 1 

o Convene coordination call and initiate notifications with 
municipal response partners as outlined in Section 1.4 (above)  

o Ensure Libraries and Community Centres are supported while 
providing Cooling Facility services.   

o NSEM to provide Sit Rep template to Cooling Facilities 
o Provide Cooling Facilities with cold water, snacks and public 

health safety materials. 
o Coordination of volunteers in support of public education 

(information tents, direct outreach, door knocking initiatives, 
etc)  

o Daily Situation Reports from Cooling Facilities will be collated  
and shared with municipal response partners (Planning Section) 

o In collaboration with Comms teams, initiate Comms Strategy 
o Ensure community partner agencies have accurate and timely 

information and resources for distribution through existing 
pathways 

o Municipalities to assess capacity to support existing community 
services organizations with direct outreach ie. EOC may be used 
as a call centre 

Communications o Initiate Media strategy including the identification of media 
liaison(s) 

o Comms team to support Comms Strategy 
o Leads will forward Heat Warning notifications to their respective 

municipal staffs teams 
o Municipal frontline staff are encouraged to distribute public 

health safety materials 
o Signage designating libraries and community centres as Cooling 

Facilities delivered to sites 
o Posters distributed to community partners (local businesses, 

pharmacists, seniors serving agencies, etc) 

Community 
Centres 

o Established as official Cooling Facility locations 
o To provide culturally safe public spaces to take shelter from 

extreme heat. 
o Enhance public access to water fountains, showers, and 

washrooms.  
o Recreational programming will try wherever possible, to 

accommodate for the emergency cooling needs of local 
residents 

o Individual facilities will work in concert when extending hours of 
operation as the need demands 



NORTH SHORE  
EXTREME HEAT PLAN  

 
 

File: NS Extreme Heat Plan May 2022  9 

o Accommodations will be made to support the needs of residents 
accompanied by household pets 

o Individual locations will provide daily Situation Reports with 
NSEM to provide template 

Libraries o Established as official Cooling Facility locations 
o Activate site specific Extreme Heat Plans 
o To provide culturally safe public spaces to take shelter from 

extreme heat. 
o Provide public access to water fountains and washrooms. 
o Supplementary community services are present to provide wrap 

around supports as required 
o Accommodations will be made to support the needs of residents 

accompanied by household pets 
o Individual locations will provide daily Situation Reports with 

NSEM to provide template 

Engineering o Deploy portable water stations and mist tents in strategic 
locations 

o Ensure access to washroom facilities by considering adding 
portable toilets and extending the hours of operation of existing 
public facilities 

o Frontline staff have awareness level training on how to treat 
Heat Exhaustion and recognize Heat Stroke 

o Frontline staff will disseminate important public health materials 

Parks o Ensure access to washroom facilities by considering adding 
portable toilets and extending the hours of operation of existing 
public facilities 

o Frontline staff have awareness level training on how to treat 
Heat Exhaustion and recognize Heat Stroke 

o Frontline staff will call 911 when required to assist people who 
are exhibiting signs of heat-related illness. 

o Frontline staff will disseminate important public health materials 

Fire o Participate in coordination calls 
o Continue to provide advanced First Aid supports for heat related 

illnesses 
o Provide supplementary support to public wellness checks and 

public education events 

Extreme Heat 
Emergency –  
Level 2 EOC 
 

NSEM o Engage Extreme Heat Executive Group as outlined in Section 1.4  
o Notify EMBC that the Emergency Operations Centre has been 

activated to a Level 2 
o Utilize Alertable to convey risk to public health 
o Stand up EOC,  filling all sections with a combination of 

municipal and NSEM staff  
o Ensure appropriate liaisons from partners agencies are in the 

EOC 
o Host daily coordination calls with Extreme Heat Response Group 

as identified in Section 1.4 
o Continue to ensure Libraries and Community Centres are 

supported while providing Cooling Facility services.  
o Ensure Site Support staff are deployed to Libraries and 

Community Centres as required (preferably NSEM or Fire staff 
familiar with Incident Command System) 

o Operations Section to work with community liaisons in 
identifying opportunities to support direct outreach activities 

o Community outreach initiatives including wellness checks 



NORTH SHORE  
EXTREME HEAT PLAN  

 
 

File: NS Extreme Heat Plan May 2022  10 

coordinated through the EOC 
o Advanced Planning Unit activated to determine overflow Cooling 

Facilities and associated logistics including transportation 
o Lead management of convergent volunteers 
o Lead redeployment of municipal assets as they become available 

(ie Parks and/or engineering staff) 

Comms o  Deploy to EOC as required 
o Continue to lead media strategy 
o Continue to implement comms strategy 

Community 
Centres 

o Prioritize community centre space and resources to response 
activities 

o Continue to communicate needs to EOC via daily sit reps 
o Utilize supplementary municipal resources as they become 

available 
o Provide supplementary support to overflow sites when capacity 

is exceeded 

Libraries o Prioritize library space and resources to response activities 
o Continue to communicate needs to EOC via daily sit reps 
o Utilize supplementary municipal resources as they become 

available 
o Provide supplementary support to overflow sites when capacity 

is exceeded 

 Engineering o Outdoor staff (where appropriate) redeployed to EOC for tasking 
o Frontline staff continue to provide basic first aid and public 

education supports  

 Parks o Outdoor staff (where appropriate) redeployed to EOC for tasking 
o Frontline staff continue to provide basic first aid and public 

education supports 

 Fire o Provide Liaison to municipal EOC 
o Continue to provide advanced First Aid supports for heat related 

illnesses 
o Provide supplementary support to public wellness checks and 

public education events 

 

 

1.6 DE-ACTIVATION 

FUNCTION LEAD DETAILS 

Cessation of Extreme 
Heat Plan activities 

All 
Departments  

o All departments to review their response activities to the 
extreme heat event and make changes to their departmental 
extreme heat plans as required. 

Debrief of municipal 
response 

NSEM o NSEM to facilitate an After Action Review after all Level 1 and 2 
Extreme Heat activations.  

Reconcile 
supplementary 
response costs 

NSEM  o NSEM to lead municipal effort to reconcile costs and seek 
reimbursement from EMBC as articulated in the Emergency 
Program Act 

 



NORTH SHORE  
EXTREME HEAT PLAN  

 
 

File: NS Extreme Heat Plan May 2022  11 

2 TOOLKIT 

2.1 EXTREME HEAT PLANNING GROUP  

Agency Function Lead Phone email 
City of North Vancouver 

Communications  Pardeep Purewal 604.982.8338 ppurewal@cnv.org 

Library Deb Hutchison Koep  dkoep@cnv.org 

Engineering Karyn Magnusson 604.983.7338 kmagnusson@cnv.org 

Fire Andrew Payne 778.928.4732 apayne@cnv.org 

Facilities Joel Roy 604.983.7305 jroy@cnv.org 

Planning Renee de St. Croix 604.982.3993 rdestcroix@cnv.org 

Economic Development Siobian Smith  ssmith@cnv.org 

Community Access Rebecca Knight  rknight@cnv.ca 

District of North Vancouver 

Communications  Carolyn Grafton 604.990.2416 graftonc@dnv.org 

Libraries Jacqueline van Dyk 604.990.3740 jvandyk@nvdpl.ca 

Engineering Steve Ono 604.990.2359 sono@dnv.org 

Facilities Nicola Chevallier 604.990.2333 chevalliern@dnv.org 

Planning Cristina Rucci 604.990.2274 ruccic@dnv.org 

Parks    

    

District of West Vancouver 

Communications  Donna Powers 604.925.7168 dpowers@westvancouver.ca 

Libraries Stephanie Hall 604-925-7424 shall@westvanlibrary.ca 

Engineering Jenn Moller 604-925-7171 jmoller@westvancouver.ca 

Parks, Culture and 
Community Services 

Sue Ketler 604.925.7126 sketler@westvancouver.ca 

Facilities John Wong 604.921.3420 jtwong@westvancouver.ca 

Community Development Arleta Beckett 604.921.3404 abeckett@westvancouver.ca 

Sr. Community Services Jill Lawlor 604.921.3467 jlawlor@westvancouver.ca 

Children and Families Alison Getz  agetz@westvancouver.ca 

North Shore Emergency Management 

 Emily Dicken 778.338.6305 edicken@nsem.ca 

John Hawkes 604.314.4122 Jhawkes@nsem.ca 

North Vancouver Recreation & Culture Commission  

 Howard Kiang 604.983.535 howard.kiang@nvrc.ca 

 Melissa Mueller 604.983.6304 Melissa.mueller@nvrc.ca 

Health 

PHSA Christine Turenko 604.690.5705 Christine.turenko@phsa.ca 

PHSA Breanna Gregory  Breanna.gregor@phsa.ca 

VCH Emily Peterson  Emily.peterson@vch.ca 

2.2 EXTREME HEAT RESPONSE GROUP  

Agency Function Lead Phone email 
City of North Vancouver 

Communications  Pardeep Purewal 604.982.8338 ppurewal@cnv.org 

Library Deb Hutchison Koep 604.990.4226 dkoep@cnv.org 

Engineering Karyn Magnusson 604.983.7338 kmagnusson@cnv.org 

Fire Andrew Payne 778.928.4732 apayne@cnv.org 

Facilities Joel Roy 604.983.7305 jroy@cnv.org 

Planning Renee de St. Croix 604.982.3993 rdestcroix@cnv.org 



NORTH SHORE  
EXTREME HEAT PLAN  

 
 

File: NS Extreme Heat Plan May 2022  12 

Economic Development Siobian Smith  ssmith@cnv.org 

Community Access Coord. Rebecca Knight  rknight@cnv.ca 

District of North Vancouver 

Communications  Carolyn Grafton 604.990.2416 graftonc@dnv.org 

Libraries Jacqueline van Dyk 604.990.3740 jvandyk@nvdpl.ca 

Engineering Steve Ono 604.990.2359 sono@dnv.org 

Facilities Nicola Chevallier 604.990.2333 chevalliern@dnv.org 

Planning Cristina Rucci 604.990.2274 ruccic@dnv.org 

Parks    

    

District of West Vancouver 

Communications  Donna Powers 604.925.7168 dpowers@westvancouver.ca 

Libraries Stephanie Hall 604-925-7424 shall@westvanlibrary.ca 

Engineering Jenn Moller 604-925-7171 jmoller@westvancouver.ca 

Parks, Culture and 
Community Services 

Sue Ketler 604.925.7126 sketler@westvancouver.ca 

Facilities John Wong 604.921.3420 jtwong@westvancouver.ca 

Planning    

West Vancouver Rec    

North Shore Emergency Management 

 Emily Dicken 778.338.6305 edicken@nsem.ca 

John Hawkes 604.314.4122 Jhawkes@nsem.ca 

North Vancouver Recreation & Culture Commission  

 Howard Kiang 604.983.535 howard.kiang@nvrc.ca 

Health 

PHSA Christine Turenko 604.690.5705 Christine.turenko@phsa.ca 

PHSA Breanna Gregory  Breanna.gregor@phsa.ca 

VCH Emily Peterson  Emily.peterson@vch.ca 

Fire Chiefs 

District of North Vancouver Brian Hutchinson 604.990.3676 hutchinsonb@dnv.org 

City of North Vancouver Greg Schalk 604.340.8870 gschalk@cnv.org 

District of West Vancouver Dave Clark  604.319.0109 dclark@westvancouver.ca 

Police 

RCMP    

West Vancouver Police    

 24 hour Duty Officer 1.855.675.2436 n/a 

2.3 EXTREME HEAT EXECUTIVE GROUP 

Agency Function Lead Phone email 
CAOs 

District of North Vancouver Dave Stuart 604.240.2788 StuartD@dnv.org 

City of North Vancouver Leanne McCarthy 778.222.5103 lmccarthy@cnv.org 

District of West Vancouver Robert Bartlett 604.313.6152 rbartlett@westvancouver.ca 

Superintendents 

RCMP William Yee 604.969.7400 william.yee@rcmp-grc.gc.ca 

School Board Pius Ryan   

Fire Chiefs 

District of North Vancouver Brian Hutchinson 604.990.3676 hutchinsonb@dnv.org 

City of North Vancouver Greg Schalk 604.340.8870 gschalk@cnv.org 

District of West Vancouver Dave Clark  604.319.0109 dclark@westvancouver.ca 

North Shore Emergency Management 

Director Emily Dicken 778.338.6305 edicken@nsem.ca 



NORTH SHORE  
EXTREME HEAT PLAN  

 
 

File: NS Extreme Heat Plan May 2022  13 

Health Partner 

MHO w. VCH Michael Schwandt 604.657.3915 Michael.schwandt@vch.ca 

 

2.4 PHYSICAL ASSESTS 

A. Cooling Facilities* 

City of North Vancouver Location 

Community Recreation centres 

Harry Jerome Community Recreation  Complex 123 East 23rd street 

John Braithwaite Community Centre 145 East 1st Street 

Library 

North Vancouver City Library  120 14th Street West 

District of North Vancouver 

Community Recreation centres 

Delbrook Community Recreation Centre 851 West Queens Road 

North Vancouver Tennis Centre   280 Lloyd Avenue 

Karen Magnussen Community Recreation Centre 2300 Kirkstone Road 

Parkgate Community Centre 3625 Banff Court 

Ron Andrews Community Recreation Centre  931 Lytton Street 

Libraries 

Capilano Library   3045 Highland Blvd 

Lynn Valley Library 1277 Lynn Valley Road 

Parkgate Library  3675 Banff Court 

District of West Vancouver  

Community Recreation centres 

West Vancouver Community Centre 2121 Marine Drive 

West Vancouver Aquatic Centre 2121 Marine Drive 

Gleneagles Community Centre 6262 Marine Drive 

West Vancouver Seniors’ Activity Centre 695 – 21st Street 

West Vancouver Ice Arena 786 – 22nd Street 

Library 

West Vancouver Memorial Library  1950 Marine Drive 

*Note: not all municipal locations are included; only those locations having adequate 
staffing levels to serve the public are listed. 

 
 

B. Outside Water Fill Stations/Fountains* 

City of North Vancouver 

Grand Blvd. Park 13th and Grand Blvd. 

Mosquito Creek Park 17th and Fell Ave. 

Kings Mill Walk Park Harbourside Pl. 

Waterfront Park 200 Blk W. Esplanade 

Mahon Park – beside concession stand 1700 Jones Ave. 

Norseman Park 23rd St. & Lonsdale Ave. 

14th St Civic Plaza 14th and Lonsdale 

Stella Jo Dean Plaza 147 East 14th St. 

Victoria Park East at Lonsdale Keith and Lonsdale 



NORTH SHORE  
EXTREME HEAT PLAN  

 
 

File: NS Extreme Heat Plan May 2022  14 

100 Blk W 2nd Street – mid block north side 100 Blk W. 2nd 

Derek Inman Park – North side 200 E 1st St. 

Shipbuilder’s Square Wallace Mews 

Confederation Field 2145 Jones Ave. 

Harry Jerome Skate Park 2300 Lonsdale Ave. 

NOTE: when required, CNV Engineering can make other locations available during 
extreme situations 

District of North Vancouver 

Grousewoods Park (drinking water station) Grousewoods Park 

Cleveland Park (drinking water station) Nancy Greene Way 

Eldon Park Fieldhouse (washroom, drinking water station) 410 Ruby Ave. 

Eldon Park Baseball Diamonds (drinking water station) 410 Ruby Ave. 

Murdo Frazer Tennis Courts (water fountains) 3092 Paisley Rd. 

Delbrook Field (washroom building) Delbrook Ave.  

William Griffin (drinking water station, washroom building) West Queens Rd.  

Norgate Field (drinking water station, washroom building)  309 19th St.  

Princess Park (washroom building) Princess Ave.  

Kirkstone Park (washroom building) Kirkstone Rd. 

Kilmer Field (washroom building, drinking water station) 1700 Dempsey Rd.  

Top of Mountain Highway (drinking water station) Drinking water station  

Lynn Canyon Park (washrooms, café, drinking water station) 3690 Park Rd.  

Viewlynn Park (washroom building, drinking water station) 2555 Viewlynn Dr.  

Bridgeman Park (washroom building, drinking water 
station) 

625 Mountain Hwy.  

Inter River Field #1 (washroom at Inter River South) Inter River Park Rd.  

Inter River Field #2, #3 (washroom at Inter River South) Inter River Park Rd. 

Inter River Field #4, #5, #6 (wash trailer with water) Inter River Park Rd. 

Inter River Fields #7, #8 (wash trailer with water) Inter River Park Rd. 

Windsor Field (washroom, drinking water station) Plymouth Dr.  

McCartney Creek Field (washroom, drinking water station) Larkhall Cres. 

Garibaldi Park (drinking fountain) Garibaldi Dr.  

Parkgate Park (washroom building, drinking water station) 1270 Parkgate Ave.  

Roche Point Field (drinking water station) Roche Point Dr. 

Cates Park (drinking water station, concession, washrooms) 4141 Dollarton Hwy. 

East Cates (washroom building) 4000 Dollarton Hwy.  

Myrtle Park Field House/Water Park (washroom, drinking 
water station) 

4383 Cove Cliff Rd.  

Deep Cove (washroom building, drinking water station) Rockcliff Rd.  

Panorama Park (washroom building, drinking water station) Panorama Dr. 

District of West Vancouver 

Ambleside Park North  

 Rutledge Field 

 Fieldhouse Washroom Exterior 

 Between D and E fields 

1243 Marine Dr. 

Ambleside Park South – Ocean side of concession 1200 Argyle 

John Lawson Park Foot of 17th St 

Chippendale Roadside Park Chippendale Road - Between 
Highgrove Pl. and Highland Pl. 



NORTH SHORE  
EXTREME HEAT PLAN  

 
 

File: NS Extreme Heat Plan May 2022  15 

Horseshoe Bay Park – Washroom exterior 6441 Bay St 

Capilano View Cemetary  1490 3rd St, West Vancouver, 
BC V7S 2Y2 

Gleneagles Skate Park  6262 Marine Dr. 

Normanby Park Pinecrest Dr. 

Dundarave Park – Washroom exterior Foot of 25th St. 

*These potable water locations are tested and maintained by the engineering departments as 
per legislative requirements.  

 
C. Spray Parks 

City of North Vancouver 

Mahon Park  17th and Jones Avenue 

District of North Vancouver 

Eldon Park Sunset Boulevard and Ruby Crescent 

Kilmer Park Between Dempsey Road and Kilmer Road (1600 Block Dempsey Road) 

Myrtle Park Off 1500 Block Deep Cove Road, 4400 Block Banbury Road 

Viewlynn Park 2600 Block of Viewlynn Drive 

District of West Vancouver 

Ambleside Park 1200 Argyle 

John Lawson Park Wading Pool, at the foot of  17th street  

Dundarave Park Wading Pool, at the foot of 24th street 

 
 
D. District of West Vancouver Fire Rescue Rehabilitation Trailer 

Used for large scale incidents, training, recruitment, and incidents during adverse weather 
conditions and used for firefighters’ rehabilitation. The trailer is currently stocked with the 
following items: 

o One canopy 
o Garbage bags 
o Cooler 
o 2 flats water and Gatorade 
o 2 wheel chalks 
o 4 kore kooler chairs with clear arm bags (chairs that effectively reduce body heat quickly 

by inserting both arms in cold water)  
 

E. Portable Water Wagon 
o Metro Vancouver has several portable water wagons which they offer at outdoor events 

if they are booked in advance.  
o City of North Vancouver has its own portable water station used during festivals and can 

be utilized during an extreme heat event. 



 

 

 
 
 

EXTREME HEAT  

COMMUNICATIONS PLAN 
North Shore Emergency Management May 2022 

  
  

DISTRICT OF NORTH VANCOUVER | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | DISTRICT OF WEST VANCOUVER 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 6�



 

 

 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

ABOUT THIS REPORT  

 

 

North Shore Emergency Management  
British Columbia, Canada 

District of North Vancouver  
City of North Vancouver  
District of West Vancouver  

Extreme Heat Communications Plan 
May 2022 

Designed and prepared by North Shore 
Emergency Management  

This report is printed on 100% post-consumer 
waste recycled paper 

 

 

 

North Shore Emergency Management  
British Columbia, Canada 

District of North Vancouver  
City of North Vancouver  
District of West Vancouver  

Annual Report for the year ended  



 

3 |  

 

Purpose 
 
North Shore Emergency Management’s (NSEM) After Action Review of 2021 extreme weather events identified 
the need for a coordinated and strategic communications approach to ensure that North Shore residents are 
effectively informed of, and equipped to respond to, Extreme Weather events. 
 
This effort is part of a broader NSEM strategy to mitigate climate risks and enhance societal resilience, and will 
initially focus on 2022 summer heat events, providing a framework for associated communications goals, 
messaging, activities, roles and responsibilities.  
 
 

Background 

 
In 2021, British Columbians were subjected to an unprecedented range of extreme weather disasters, with the 
North Shore particularly impacted by a late-June Heat Dome event. Compounded by the urban heat island 
effect, social vulnerabilities, and a population and infrastructure adapted to a temperate climate, this disaster 
led to over 700 excess mortalities and thousands of heat-related illnesses in BC, straining response and health 
resources already struggling with the challenges of COVID-19.   
 
During the last several months, public health experts have established clear linkages between mortality and 
specific risk factors during heat events, including: age; material and social deprivation; physical co-morbidities 
(heart disease, obesity, diabetes, high blood pressure); mental illness (schizophrenia, substance use, 
depression, mood/anxiety disorders); and access to green space. 
 
NSEM’s response to the Heat Dome was based on the 2019 North Shore Extreme Heat Initial Response Plan. 
When the Heat Advisory was issued by Emergency Management BC (EMBC), NSEM stood up a level 1 
Emergency Operations Center and initiated coordination calls to engage response agencies and partners, also 
activating a Cooling Center (initially at the North Shore Neighborhood House, subsequently relocated to the 
Pipe Shop at Lonsdale Quay). Municipal Parks, Recreation and library staff played a significant role in providing 
additional supports and services to North Shore residents, with libraries reporting higher than normal numbers 
of visitors during the heat wave, many specifically seeking a climate-controlled space; the City of North 
Vancouver Library extended their operating hours to meet this demand. First responder resources were heavily 
strained, at times resorting to hospital transport in police and fire vehicles. 
 
It is a best practice in emergency management to conduct an After-Action Review (AAR) as soon as practical 
following significant events in order to assess event-related processes and activities, and recommend revisions 
and enhancements to reduce the consequence of future events.  This process included internal reviews by 
NSEM and workshops with partners including the City of North Vancouver (where most 2021 response 
activities took place), regional Health agencies, and community-based organizations. NSEM also attended 
regional and provincial after-action sessions, and undertook research on national and international best 
practices with support from academic experts from Simon Fraser University and the University of British 
Columbia. 
 

 
 



 

4 |  

 

 
Key Considerations 
 
ECCC and meteorological sources have a high attribution confidence linking 2021 heat events with irreversible 
climate change. They also concur that Level 1 “Heat Advisory” events are likely to occur multiple times per 
year, while Level 2 “Heat Emergency” events like the Heat Dome are anticipated at least every 5-10 years. 
Wildfire smoke events will also increase accordingly, with 2022 forecasts already seeing early drought 
conditions in the Interior. Extreme weather events are the new norm. 
 
Those Levels are from Canada’s Heat Alert Response System (HARS), established in 2018 by Environment and 
Climate Change Canada (ECCC) and Health Canada, with Level 1 events equating to a 5% mortality increase vs 
norms, and Level 2 at 20%. In 2021, BC used its own system, driven by Health Emergency Management BC 
(HEMBC), with a single trigger point that varied by region. HARS has recently been updated and will be 
replaced by a two-tier federal hierarchy, for which ECCC will attempt to confirm triggers 3-5 days out (at least 
for internal planning purposes). This now uses regional temperature-based trigger points for Advisories (in the 
Lower Mainland, sustained temperatures of 29 degrees in the daytime, 16 at night), with Emergencies being 
defined as steadily increasing temperatures significantly above seasonal norms. 
  
While this plan focuses on heat, air quality events owing to wildfire smoke are more likely than a Level 2 heat 
event. With the exception of encouraging use of outdoors spaces, NSEM and partner activities would be similar 
to heat events however, with communications approaches adapted similarly; though some advance 
considerations should be implemented for this risk i.e. pre-prepared templates specific to air quality events. 
 
The 2021 North Shore Extreme Weather After-Action Review identified a range of challenges related to 
communications: 
 
Internal (i.e. municipal) 

 Advance access to health-informed messaging; 

 Consistent flow of information from partners to NSEM and then to municipalities; 

 Pre-established event-specific contacts lists and designated leads impeded initial coordination; 

 Event triggers were unclear and issued in a manner not ideal for adequate coordination; 

 Timely and accurate notifications and situational reports (e.g. templates, pre-messaging); 

 Key provincial support partners face demands from dozens of other authorities during such events; 
 

External 

 Event thresholds vary across the Lower Mainland and are not linked with actions;  

 Municipal and partner communications were not always consistent, timely or coordinated; with 
residents and local agencies unclear of which was most authoritative source; 

 Outreach and information gathering for homeless and under-housed populations is beyond the capacity 
of government agencies, while targeting senior adults and those with socio-economic or health 
challenges is also a significant challenge, with both being audiences underserved by “digital-first” 
approaches; 

 Rapid establishment and relocation of cooling centers posed awareness issues; 

 There was a need for mapping resources sharing permanent infrastructure supports (i.e. greenspaces, 
water sources, washrooms, climate controlled public spaces, etc.). 



 

5 |  

 

Communications Objectives 

 
1. Broadly, the goals of this approach are to maximize public understanding and awareness of heat events 

and associated risks; fully engage local, regional and provincial agencies to leverage their subject-matter 

expertise; and to ensure that preparation and response efforts are driven by an equity-seeking lens, 

whereby no identified group is disadvantaged in its ability to maximize resilience for heat events. 

 

2. NSEM, key response partners and municipal communications teams should coordinate their 

communications efforts through an audience- and event-centric lens, using the North Shore Public Safety 

Public Education & Communications Working Group model, whereby a single set of coordination messages 

and actions are jointly agreed-upon but individually led (dependent on expertise and capacity), 

disseminated by all partners through their digital and front-line channels, and amplified by community 

agency stakeholders with bespoke outreach to designated target populations. 

 

3. Broad public messaging should be:  

 Timely (regularly updated); 

 Accurate (informed by trusted sources); 

 Relevant (localized, responsive);  

 Accessible (plain language, translated); 

 Consistent (across municipalities and with provincial/federal partners); and,  

 Provided through diverse channels (not only social media) to reach multiple audiences. 

 

4. Community agency partners should be engaged to help identify populations and locations with specific 

needs/risks, what their specific challenges are, how the agencies can support or be equipped to help 

address those challenge. Vulnerable populations generally have fewer connections, working through 

agencies they know and trust may be the only way to reach some. 

 

 

Roles and Responsibilities 

 

Agencies Roles & Responsibilities 

NSEM  Partner coordination and liaison 

 Hub for risk and event information (externally via EOC during events, extreme 
weather working group ongoing) 

 Issues Alertable messaging with input from response partners 

 Creates event specific content and messaging 

Municipalities  Communications expertise 

 Technical supports (e.g., graphics, GIS, IT) 

 EOC staff (if required) 

 Front line outreach (e.g., parks, recreation, libraries, etc.) 

 Messaging review from municipal leadership 

 Content amplification 

Response Partners  Advise on public safety messaging 



 

6 |  

 

 Confirm impacted audiences and event-related emergency services 

 Content amplification 

Community-Based 
Organizations (CBOs) 

 Advise on targeted audience messaging 

 Outreach and amplification 

HEMBC & Health 
Partners 

 Provide, review and advise on health-specific messaging content 

 Broker linkages and information sharing with sectoral partners and resources 
(e.g., HARS) 

EMBC  Coordination of provincial information and resources via regional coordination 
calls, Emergency Info BC and Prepared BC 

 Support regional leadership decision making through the Integrated 
Partnership for Regional Emergency Management (IPREM) 

 Issue Alert Ready and broadcast-intrusive messaging 

 
 
Target Audiences 
 

 North Shore general public (for broad, standard messaging) 

 Designated target populations with specific identified vulnerabilities to heat risk, including: 
o Adults over 50 
o First-generation Canadians 
o Under-housed or experiencing homelessness 

o Physical (heart disease, obesity, diabetes, high blood pressure) or mental health co-morbidities 
(schizophrenia, dementia, substance use, depression, mood/anxiety disorders) 

 Response agencies which include DNV/DWV/CNV FD, WV Police and RCMP, BCEHS, North Shore 
Rescue and RCMSAR 

 Community agencies (support general and targeted population focused dissemination of messaging)  

 Multi-unit Property  Owners (stemming from their duty of care to their residents) 

 
Activities (* denotes AAR Recommendation) 
 
Internal 

 Develop and confirm a strategy guiding timely and accurate public information-sharing between the 
three municipalities, NSEM, response agencies, partners, and the public [NSEM] 

 Utilize standing bodies for consultation through which communications leads can elicit input from 
partners on target audience communications considerations (e.g. reaching vulnerable populations, 
conflicts with COVID or smoke messaging, etc.) [NSEM]:  

o Extreme Heat Planning Group (EHPG): Municipal reps. responsible for contributing to creation and implementation 

of heat response activities; 

o Extreme Heat Response Group (EHRG): Municipal and agency reps responsible for coordinating direct response  

immediately prior to and during EW events; 

o Extreme Weather Advisory Committee (EWAC, 20-40 members): Select governmental/academic/economic/social 

agency reps. Responsible for reviewing and providing advice on specific elements of NSEM mitigation and response 

activities (e.g. communications, outreach, advocacy), providing subject matter expertise from the lens of their 

respective portfolios. Engagement may be broad-based or sector-specific as required by NSEM. Representation to 

be confirmed through agency leads by Summer 2022. 



 

7 |  

 

 Co-construct common public health messaging with health system partners in advance of events, 
consistency of content is key - signage, messaging, etc.* [Comms WG] 

 Identify and address internal messaging needs for municipal staff & leadership, including early warning 
of potential events [CNV/DNV/DWV] 

 Designate media lists, spokesperson contacts and approaches for outreach and liaison [Comms WG] 

 Engage with emergency management leads from Squamish Nation and Tsleil-Waututh Nation to seek 
their advice on when and how they wish to be involved with communications and broader 
coordination processes; also provided with advance copies of materials to encourage tailoring and 
internal use per needs of their respective Nation. [Comms WG] 

 Explore the potential, cost and timelines to have key online or print materials translated. Consider 
consulting partner agencies to direct scarce resources and focus these efforts on products specific to 

the target group. Explore alternatives (i.e. use a QR code on printed materials to link to foreign 
language online materials, NSEM or otherwise) [Comms WG] 

 Continue to explore data-informed extreme weather best practices (e.g. defining at-risk groups; 
flagging social isolation as a risk factor, that neighbor-to-neighbor supports are critical). [NSEM] 

 

External 

 Create pre-built product templates for different audiences, types and stages of events to allow 

partners to rapidly customize and implement. [Comms WG] 

 Revise existing NSEM extreme weather web pages to become a trusted source for extreme weather 

resources for the North Shore, providing local communities and agencies with authoritative and 

evergreen information and links to resources and best practices.* [NSEM] 

 Create a “dark page” for the NSEM website, to be made live in the event of a pending Heat Advisory, 

and function as a primary local resource hub for event-related information – weather and status 

updates, community support locations, municipal and partner contacts, etc. [NSEM] 

 Identify key North Shore extreme weather support locations to reference in comms products. [NSEM] 

 Branding for all public-facing communications materials should reflect all partners. [Comms WG] 

 Identify key partner agencies for each designated target audience, and consult with them to optimize 

format and delivery channels of products and activities as appropriate. [Comms WG] 

 Prioritize creation and use of infographics, which are easily understood and rapidly processed (even by 

ESL, youth or the health-compromised) [Comms WG] 

 Establish designated spokespeople and an approach for media inquiries and proactive engagement (for 

inclusion in Appendix)* [CNV/DNV/DWV] 

 Update Alertable messaging templates for extreme weather-specific events. [NSEM] 

 Identify and develop pub ed content suitable for inclusion in NSEM or partner newsletters. [NSEM] 

 Develop public education awareness and preparedness information materials and sessions for the 

general public specifically addressing EW events* (including on-demand, online formats). [NSEM]  

 Examine potential to establish a North Shore EW hotline, providing information and support to seniors 

or others without internet access during an event. Publicize and frame this as only being for specific 

audiences, only active during EW events. [NSEM]  

 

 



 

8 |  

 

Specific communications actions should be designated for different alert levels, eg: 

 

Activation Level Communications Actions 

Heat Advisory  NSEM to email seasonal Heat Advisory to Extreme Heat Planning Group 

 Advisory will include digital file of Extreme Heat Plan, a reminder to municipal 
staff to revisit their departmental heat protocols, and a request to confirm 
primary contacts and designates  

 Selected municipal liaisons to external partner agencies are responsible for 
engaging their respective community contacts and ensuring two way 
communications has been established 

Level 1 

Heat Warning 

 NSEM to notify Extreme Heat Response Group that the Extreme Heat Plan is 
being implemented and the EOC is activated at a Level 1 

 NSEM to engage municipal leadership and provide a synthesis of ECCC Warning 
notification and actions underway 

 NSEM to send Extreme Heat Response Group an invitation to initial municipal 
coordination call  

 Extreme Heat Response Group will be forwarded invitations to regional 
coordination calls as they become available 

 Municipal Comms teams, NSEM, and North Shore Health partners will convene 
to synthesize ECCC notifications and ensure common messaging across North 
Shore  

 Municipal Comms teams will send notifications to their respective work forces 
and department leads will ensure appropriate health and safety protocols are in 
place 

 NSEM to notify EMBC of a Level 1 Activation 

 NSEM and Comms teams will amplify Heat Warning to general public as per the 
Comms Strategy 

Level 2 

Extreme Heat 

Emergency 

 NSEM to notify Extreme Heat Response Group that the Extreme Heat Plan has 
been implemented and the EOC is activated at a Level 2 

 NSEM to provide Extreme Heat Response Group a synthesis of ECCC Emergency 
notification and actions currently underway 

 NSEM to convene Extreme Heat Response Group to provide a synthesis of ECCC 
Emergency notification and actions currently underway and to establish 
strategic priorities and ensure appropriate linkages into the EOC have been 
made  

 NSEM to utilize Alertable system to convey risk to public health 

 Municipal Comms teams will convene to synthesize ECCC notifications and 
ensure common messaging across North Shore  

 Municipal Comms teams will send notifications to their respective work forces 

 Department leads will ensure appropriate health and safety protocols are in 
place including redeploying outside staff (where appropriate) to EOC for tasking 

 NSEM to notify EMBC of a Level 2 Activation 

 NSEM and Comms teams will amplify Extreme Heat Emergency to general public 

as per the Comms Strategy 

 

 

 

 



 

9 |  

 

 

 Key Messages  
 

 These messages will be used as primary messaging across all channels, supplemented by products 
targeted for specific purposes or audiences as required. 

 Where possible, 2022 products will leverage existing materials i.e. 2021 North Shore Heat Dome, 
HEMBC resources (see Appendix 1). 

 HEMBC will be the primary source to provide and validate messaging, via their designated Heat 
PA/Communications lead and population health team; this coordination should be executed pre-
summer, as during events their primary focus is provide direct support to the health system. 

 In late-May EMBC will provide:  
o BC Extreme Heat Response Framework for Long Term Guidance (late-May, collaboration w/ 

PHSA) 
o BC Guide for Heat (late-May, collaboration with BCCDC) 
o New HARS guidelines (late-May, collaboration w/ HEMBC and BCCDC) 
o HARS messaging (June, now with Health Authorities for comment) 

 
General Messaging 
 

 North Shore Emergency Management is working closely with the City of North Vancouver, the Districts 
of West and North Vancouver, and our response and community partners to ensure that all North 
Shore residents are well-equipped to beat the heat this summer. 

 The North Shore municipalities are implementing their extreme heat plans. 

 Municipalities have designated Libraries and Community Centres as Cooling Facilities. 

 Libraries and Community Centres are culturally safe public spaces to take shelter from extreme heat. 

 Older adults with underlying health concerns such as heart disease, uncontrolled diabetes, 
emphysema, kidney failure, colitis or mental health illness are especially at risk. 

 Residents are encouraged to check in on family members and neighbours. 

 Extreme heat events can trigger a variety of heat-related illnesses (e.g. heat stroke), dehydration, and, 
in extreme situations, can lead to permanent disability or death. 

 Signs of heat illness may include: changes in behaviour, dizziness or fainting, nausea or vomiting, 
headache, fast breathing or heartbeat, extreme thirst and decreased urination. Severe signs of illness 
requiring emergency medical care include a high body temperature, confusion, hallucinations, lack of 
coordination, seizures, or a loss of consciousness. 

 If others are unwell, move them to a cool shady spot, help them get hydrated and call for medical 
assistance if appropriate. 

 Spending time in a COOL SPACE and drinking plenty of WATER is the best way to prevent heat-related 
illnesses. 

 The Lower Mainland Medical Health Officers for Fraser Health and Vancouver Coastal Health advise 
that risks from extreme heat exceed risks from COVID-19. 

 For more information on the symptoms of heat-related illness, how to prepare for the heat season and 
stay healthy in the heat, visit www.healthlinkbc.ca/healthlinkbc-files/heat-related-illness, www.ch.ca/heat, 

www.vch.ca/wildfiresmoke 

 
 

http://www.healthlinkbc.ca/healthlinkbc-files/heat-related-illness
http://www.ch.ca/heat
http://www.vch.ca/wildfiresmoke


 

10 |  

 

 
Products 
 

Strategy/Action/Product Notes Leads Budget 

NSEM Extreme Weather 
Website 

 Hub for preparedness and general extreme 
weather information; a new section should be 
created to include a dark index page providing 
event updates. 

NSEM  

Social Media Messaging  Amplify ongoing key messaging NSEM  
Tri-fold Brochure  Heat specific preparedness info and mitigation tips 

(i.e. first aid) 

 physical and online distribution, providing 
information on local resources, tips for coping with 
extreme heat and heat illness warning 
signs/symptoms  

 based on existing CNV 2022 product and revised by 
partners 

 QR redirects to web site  

NSEM  

Posters  At key public, partner and at-risk population sites  

 Common look and feel template   

 Basic info and QR code link to NSEM extreme 
weather website 

NSEM  

Pocket Info Card  With map of “heat-safe” spaces and excerpts from 
brochure, for distribution to front-line workers to 
provide to at-risk populations 

NSEM  

Internal Municipal 
Communications  

 engage staff via internal communications blasts 
(e.g., The DJ, CityView eNews, facility screens, etc.) 

NSEM w/ 
comms 
support 

 

Public Notifications  Alertable (North Shore) or AlertReady (EMBC) 
public alerting systems 

NSEM  

Newsprint  NSEM to develop the subject specific elements of 
the PSA 

 Municipal communications to fine tune the tone 
and dissemination to media outlets 

NSEM w/ 
comms 
support 

 

Public Education & 
Presentations 

 NSEM has one heat specific presentation monthly 
via a virtual platform and can accommodate 
community requests.  

NSEM  

 
Evaluation 

If desired, various options could be considered to evaluate the effectiveness of this Strategy, including: 

 2022 After Action Review 

  Ongoing dialogue with response and partner agency reps (especially the EWAC, EWCC) 

  Public Opinion Research 
 



 

11 |  

 

Appendix 1: Resources 

 
Several health-centric resources have been provided by HEMBC for direct use or adaptation into municipal 
products: 
 

 Extreme Heat (VCH): http://www.vch.ca/public-health/environmental-health-inspections/healthy-
environments/climate-change/extreme-heat (heat notification information will have to be updated to 
reflect information being shared May 25) 
 

 Extreme Heat poster (BC-wide): http://www.vch.ca/Documents/VCH_Climate_Change_Poster_Heat.pdf  
 

 Long Term Care Facilities and Heat (VCH): http://www.vch.ca/Documents/CCFL-Factsheet-Long-Term-
Care-Heat.pdf  
 

 Child Care Facilities and Heat (VCH): http://www.vch.ca/Documents/CCFL-Factsheet-Child-Care-Heat.pdf  
 

 Staying safe and cool in the heat (VCH): http://www.vch.ca/public-health/environmental-health-
inspections/healthy-environments/climate-change/extreme-heat/heat-resources-2#cool (resources 
section has a lot more info from other organization – Health Canada, HealthLink BC, Worksafe BC) 
 

 Wildfire and Smoke (VCH): http://www.vch.ca/public-health/environmental-health-inspections/healthy-
environments/climate-change/wildfire-smoke (scroll to bottom for a list of hyperlinks and resources) 
 

 Heat Preparedness Guide (EMBC): I am assuming it will be available here: 
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/safety/emergency-management/preparedbc/guides-and-resources  
 

 Emergency Kit (EMBC): https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/safety/emergency-
management/preparedbc/build-an-emergency-kit-and-grab-and-go-bag 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.vch.ca/public-health/environmental-health-inspections/healthy-environments/climate-change/extreme-heat
http://www.vch.ca/public-health/environmental-health-inspections/healthy-environments/climate-change/extreme-heat
http://www.vch.ca/Documents/VCH_Climate_Change_Poster_Heat.pdf
http://www.vch.ca/Documents/CCFL-Factsheet-Long-Term-Care-Heat.pdf
http://www.vch.ca/Documents/CCFL-Factsheet-Long-Term-Care-Heat.pdf
http://www.vch.ca/Documents/CCFL-Factsheet-Child-Care-Heat.pdf
http://www.vch.ca/public-health/environmental-health-inspections/healthy-environments/climate-change/extreme-heat/heat-resources-2#cool
http://www.vch.ca/public-health/environmental-health-inspections/healthy-environments/climate-change/extreme-heat/heat-resources-2#cool
http://www.vch.ca/public-health/environmental-health-inspections/healthy-environments/climate-change/wildfire-smoke
http://www.vch.ca/public-health/environmental-health-inspections/healthy-environments/climate-change/wildfire-smoke
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/safety/emergency-management/preparedbc/guides-and-resources
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/safety/emergency-management/preparedbc/build-an-emergency-kit-and-grab-and-go-bag
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/safety/emergency-management/preparedbc/build-an-emergency-kit-and-grab-and-go-bag


 

12 |  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

147 East 14th Street, 2nd Floor 

North Vancouver, BC, V7L 2N4 

Phone:  778.338.6300 

Fax:  604-985-3733 

www.nsem.ca 

http://www.nsem.ca/


To: 

From: 

D(paent 
A-€ lAA 

Director CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Annie Dempster, Planning Assistant 

REPORT 

Subject: 2022 LIVING CITY GRANTS 

Date: June 15, 2022 File No: 05-1850-20-0008/2022 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planning Assistant, dated June 15, 2022, entitled 
"2022 Living City Grants": 

THAT 2022 Living City grants totaling $15,000 be awarded as follows: 

Name of Applicant Amount Recommended 

North Shore Neighbourhood House and the Edible Garden 
$3,500.00 Project 

Jump Buddies Fellowship $2,500.00 
North Shore Streamkeepers $1,000.00 
Greater Vancouver Orienteering Club $1,250.00 
Access2Innovate Foundation $2,000.00 
Urban Repurpose $2,500.00 
The Craft Pod $1,000.00 
St. Andrew's United Church $1,250.00 

TOTAL $15,000.00 

AND THAT the following organization be notified that their application for a 2022 
Living City Grant will not be funded: 

Name of Applicant 

Force of Nature - North Shore Alliance 

Document Number: 2174328 V2 



REPORT: 2022 Living City Grants 
Date: June 15, 2022 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Living City Grant Terms of Reference (CityDocs #2126976) 
2. Living City Grant Summary for APC (CityDocs #2174326) 

SUMMARY 

The purpose of this report is to present to Council the 2022 Living City Grant 
recommendations provided by the Advisory Planning Commission (APC). 

BACKGROUND 

The Living City Grant Program was established by Council in 2008. A total of $15,000 is 
available annually for small-scale, community-based parks and environmental 
initiatives. The grant's Terms of Reference are attached for reference (Attachment 1 ). 

DISCUSSION 

In 2022, nine Living City Grant applications for funding were received for a total request 
of $24,195. On June 8, 2022 the Advisory Planning Commission (APC) met to review 
and evaluate the applications, and the following resolution was endorsed: 

THAT the Advisory Planning Commission has reviewed the applications for the 
2022 Living City Grants and recommends that the 2022 grant funding be 
awarded as follows: 

Name of Applicant Amount Recommended 

North Shore Neighbourhood House and the Edible Garden 
$3,500.00 Project 

Jump Buddies Fellowship $2,500.00 
North Shore Streamkeepers $1 ,000.00 
Greater Vancouver Orienteering Club $1,250.00 
Access2Innovate Foundation $2,000.00 
Urban Repurpose $2 ,500.00 
The Craft Pod $1,000.00 
St. Andrew's United Church $1,250.00 

TOTAL $15,000.00 

AND THAT the following organization be notified that their application for a 2022 
Living City Grant will not be funded : 

Name of Applicant 

Force of Nature - North Shore Alliance 

Page 2 of 7 



REPORT: 2022 Living City Grants 
Date: June 15, 2022 

In total, nine applications were considered by the Advisory Planning Commission. The 
commission is grateful for all submissions and appreciates the efforts of the applicants. 

Based on the committee's thorough review of the eligibility and evaluation criteria in the 
in the Terms of Reference (Attachment 1 ), the APC recommended that eight projects 
receive partial funding. The recommended amounts were determined through an 
evaluation of the strength of the applications and to equitably allocate funding amongst 
the eight awarded recipients. 

The proposal that was not funded overlaps work that the Lonsdale Energy Corporation 
(LEC) is actively undertaking through their pursuit of low-carbon energy sources, such 
as sewer heat recovery, ocean source heat pump, geo-exchange and electrical boilers, 
to meet the City of North Vancouver's GHG emission reduction targets. 

The APC recommended that the 2022 Living City Grants be awarded as follows: 

1) Organization: North Shore Neighbourhood House and the Edible Garden 
Project 
Project: Teaching, Growing, and Sharing Food with Grant McNeil 
Amount Requested: $4,000 
Grant Recommendation: $3,500 

Project Description: 
The North Shore Neighbourhood House and the Edible Garden Project have 
joined to develop an innovative project to empower the residents living at Grant 
McNeil Place, located on West 1st Street and operated by BC Housing, by giving 
them the confidence and skills to grow healthy, nutritious and sustainable food 
for themselves and their families, and to share this knowledge with other 
residents. The project will also create positive opportunities for connections and 
socialization, which has been particularly challenging for many residents during 
COVID. Weekly drop-ins, monthly food literacy workshops, and visits to Loutet 
Farm will provide residents the knowledge and inspiration to grow organic fruits 
and vegetables for nourishment, using the existing shared garden beds at Grant 
McNeil. Residents will be able to spend food coupons and buy fresh produce and 
other necessities (such as baked goods) at the Saturday Markets during their 
Loutet Farm tips. A potluck, and other food sharing opportunities, will also be 
arranged. 

2) Organization: Jump Buddies Fellowship 
Project: Loutet Bike Park Equipment and Tool Fund 
Amount Requested: $3,000 
Grant Recommendation: $2,500 

Project Description: 
The Loutet Jump Buddies are a group of dedicated volunteers who began to ride 
and maintain Loutet Bike Park, located southeast of Loutet Farm, in 2019. 
Though significant physical labour they have made substantial improvements to 
the park. Theses improvements have grown the ridership at the park establishing 
Loutet Bike Park as a local treasure. The Loutet Jump Buddies' current goal is to 

Page 3 of 7 



REPORT: 2022 Living City Grants 
Date: June 15, 2022 

create and maintain a positive learning environment for locals to improve their 
skills in mountain biking regardless of their skill level, while their long term goal is 
to develop the Loutet Bike Park as the North Shore's Premier Bike Skills Park. 

As a step towards theses goals, they are seeking grant funding to purchase 
equipment (quality wheelbarrows and tarps) for their volunteers to use to make 
physical improvements to the park's overall design and function. The group has 
also raised $1,400 from the community through a go-fund-me which they will use 
to purchase, customize, and install a tool shed at the park to lock up their tools 
and if funds allow purchase additional tools and a first aid kit. 

3) Organization: North Shore Streamkeepers 
Project: Streamkeeper Neighbourhood Walk 
Amount Requested: $1,600 
Grant Recommendation: $1,000 

Project Description: 
North Shore Streamkeepers is a registered society and volunteer organization 
that has monitoring salmon populations, completed habitat restoration, and 
provided education and public outreach in North Vancouver since 2010. The 
grant is for an outreach pilot project to provide public education in a small-group 
setting to residents of properties adjacent to Wagg Creek between West 18th 

Street and West 23rd Street. The goal is helping streamside residents form a 
connection to the creek through understanding how individual (human) choices 
link to the creek. Neighbourhood walks, open to all ages and all abilities, led by 
local Streamkeepers will highlight the unique opportunity theses residents have 
to help the stream due to proximity, thereby contributing to a healthier 
neighbourhood environment. Feedback collected through a post-walk survey will 
be used to evaluate the potential to deliver this type of program in other 
streamside neighbourhoods. 

4) Organization: Greater Vancouver Orienteering Club 
Project: Go-orienteering: permanent orienteering course in City's parks 
Amount Requested: $2 ,145 
Grant Recommendation: $1,250 

Project Description: 
Over the last year the Greater Vancouver Orienteering Club (GVOC), a 
registered society, and CNV Parks staff have been discussing developing a 
permanent orienteering course within a City park to encourage the public at large 
to engage in active park use. GVOC is seeking grant funding to establish this 
course. Orienteering is suitable to all age participants, as there is complete 
flexibility to enhance active park use by using a map (printed or phone) to pass 
through course checkpoints/controls. Permanent orienteering courses are made 
out of a series of permanent fixtures (controls) that are laid out on a detailed map 
that participants have to navigate while walking, rolling, running casually, or 
racing. As the course's physical infrastructure remains in place people can 
participate on their own time, at their own pace, with friends , children , or on their 

Page 4 of 7 



REPORT: 2022 Living City Grants 
Date: June 15, 2022 

own. Funds requested would be used for producing plates, designing the course, 
the course maps, the main sign and updating online maps. 

5) Organization: Force of Nature - North Shore Alliance 
Project: A Study to Eliminate CO2 Emissions from CNV Buildings 
Amount Requested: $4,500 
Grant Recommendation: $0. 

Project Description: 
The Force of Nature (FoN) is a registered non-profit; North Shore Alliance (NSA) 
is a subgroup committed to working with CNV to proactively address the climate 
crisis. Their 2022 mandate is to support the reduction of fossil fuel use in 
buildings, by means of retrofits and better new building design, to conserve 
energy and to reduce Green House Gases by the electrification of buildings. 

The grant would fund a study to assess the feasibility of using solar energy to 
help switch Lonsdale Energy Corporation from natural gas to electric boilers. The 
study would focus on exploration of the possibility of installing solar photo-voltaic 
panels on rooftops of the new Harry Jerome recreation centre and the new North 
Shore Neighbourhood House. The analysis will include ascertaining the amount 
of electricity that could be generated per year from solar panels on these projects 
compared to the estimate of total electricity required for heating and air 
conditioning. The resulting data would be used to determine the payback periods 
for the investment in solar. The grant funds would be used for salaries/benefits, 
contract fees and honoraria, office supplies, and promotion and would be 
supported by in-kind contributions. 

6) Organization: Access21nnovate Foundation 
Project: 3D printing filament re-use and education program 
Amount Requested: $2,500 
Grant Recommendation: $2,000 

Project Description: 
Access21nnovate Foundation is a registered society with a mandate to reduce 
barriers to quality Science, Technology, Engineering, Art and Mathematics 
(STEAM) education for all whether the barriers are socio-economic, physical or 
mental health challenges, or gender based . The grant will assist to create and 
implement local recycling program to divert 3D printing waste plastic from the 
landfill. 3D printing is growing in popularity and usage in businesses, schools, 
libraries and in homes, but currently most of the filament is not recyclable 
locally and the waste ends up in landfill. 

Those with 3D printers in North Vancouver will be identified and invited to 
participate by providing their 3D printing filament waste (drop-off or pick-up 
options) . The waste would be crushed using a DIY crusher, then heated and 
extruded into new 3D printing filament with a machine called the Protocycler. In 
addition to the environmental benefits, the program will provide integrated 
learning experience for participants that are part of Access21nnovate Skills Trip 
program; a program that has been supported and funded by the BC Ministry of 

Page 5 of 7 



REPORT: 2022 Living City Grants 
Date: June 15, 2022 

Poverty Reduction and Social Development to enhance skills and opportunities 
for those facing persistent employability challenges. A template for how other 
organizations in local communities can set up a similar program will also be 
developed and shared. 

7) Organization: Urban Repurpose 
Project: ReUse and Upcycle Fair 
Amount Requested: $3,000 
Grant Recommendation: $2,500 

Project Description: 
Urban Repurpose is a not-for-profit social enterprise with the goal of reducing 
waste through reuse and upcycling while building consumer demand for 
upcycled and reused products through education, collaboration and 
empowerment. The grant will fund the inaugural Reuse and Upcycle Fair in the 
City, an event designed to showcase artists , designers and crafters using 
waste materials in the pieces they create and bring them together with potential 
consumers of their products. Think of it as a Sundance Film Festival for waste 
materials. 

In the first year two to three hundred visitors and fifteen to twenty artisans are 
expected. The festival will begin to change attitudes around what is considered 
waste . Through education the public will see the potential positive impact reuse 
and upcycling can have to the environment, this will grow the circular economy, 
and to inspire the next generation of entrepreneurs to design and create using 
waste materials. To this aim, the fair will include design and art competitions to 
be voted on by attendees and a select panel. This will excite and inspire the 
public and encourage experimentation in the hopes of finding new products 
and processes that will create new products on an industrial scale. Establishing 
relationships with potential sponsors of future events is specified. 

8) Organization: The Craft Pod 
Project: The Craft Pod: Container Gardens Project 
Amount Requested: $1,500 
Grant Recommendation: $1,000 

Project Description: 
The Craft Pod is a newly established little library providing free crafting and 
gardening supplies; the community is encouraged to visit and take/leave what 
they need/can offer. The grant will fund creation and distribution of free container 
gardening kits to all with a focus on those with small children, the elderly and 
those who live with limited connection to gardens or green space. Recipients will 
be able to choose an edible garden kit or a pollinator/native plant. Each kit will 
include soil, pots, seeds and instructions to grow and save seeds. Kits will come 
with education (on site at pick up and/or via video) on how small space can be 
best utilized to grow plants and how soil enhancement allows container gardens 
annual reuse. Recipients will be encouraged to donate seeds back to the library 
for the following years. The hope is the kits aid social connections, grows sense 
of belonging, enhances mental and physical well-being and ecological health, 

Page 6 of 7 



REPORT: 2022 Living City Grants 
Date: June 15, 2022 

encourages upcycling and sharing of resources, and green spaces within the 
City's urban areas. 

9) Organization: St. Andrew's United Church 
Project: St. Andrew's Community Gardens 
Amount Requested: $1,950 
Grant Recommendation: $1,250 

Project Description: 
In 2013 St. Andrew's United Church established a community garden, building 11 
community garden beds for use by people in the CNV. In 2015, five more garden 
beds were built (four sharing beds, gardened by church volunteers, providing 
fresh produce for free community meal programs and one bed used by a church 
parishioner) for a total of 16. The church has offered many programs for people 
of all ages in relation to sustainable gardening, healthy cooking, and has 
operated a successful community kitchen in tandem with the gardens. In 2021 
more than 8,000 healthy free meals were served to people in need at weekly 
meal-to-go program and community dinner-to-go program. A communal herb 
garden and a Butterfly and Bee Garden, both maintained by CNV gardeners, 
have also been established along the perimeter of the building at 1046 St. 
George's. In March 2022, four of the garden beds that were falling apart were 
replaced by the Church. The remaining 12 garden beds will likely last only until 
the current garden season ends. Grant funds requested would be used for wood 
and hardware for the 12 raised garden beds in need of replacement. Other 
revenue for the project includes in-kind and cash contributions from St. Andrew's 
United Church. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

The Living City Grant Program is funded through an annual operating budget provision 
of $15,000. 

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

Coordination and communication with Engineering, Parks & Environment will be 
required to ensure projects that are conducted in parks do not conflict with City activities 
taking place on the same day. 

STRATEGIC PLAN, OCP OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

The Living City Grant Program supports Council's Strategic plan by contributing to the 
vision of being a livable city. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

jf i76~%;;r 
Planning Assistant 

Page 7 of 7 



City of North Vancouver Living City Grant Program 
Terms of Reference 

Page: 1 of 3 
Document: 2126976

Living City Grant Program  

Terms of Reference 

The City of North Vancouver is committed to social, economic, and environmental sustainability. 
The Living City Grant Program (LCGP) provides funding opportunities for small-scale, 
community-based parks and environment initiatives managed by not for profit organizations.  
A total of $15,000 in grants is awarded each year.  

WHO CAN APPLY? 
 Registered not-for-profit societies
 Unincorporated local community associations, groups and service clubs

WHAT IS NOT ELIGIBLE? 
The LCGP does not extend funding for projects which:  

 are for-profit commercial ventures
 are organized by a private enterprise
 receive grants from other City sources for the same purpose
 duplicate specific work conducted by the City of North Vancouver
 attract participants exclusively outside the City of North Vancouver

Please note:  
 Late applications will not be accepted;
 LCGP funding cannot be awarded retroactively;
 LCGP funding is not intended to provide core funding for ongoing programs; and
 The City reserves the right to request evidence of liability insurance if deemed necessary.

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 1�



City of North Vancouver Living City Grant Program 
Terms of Reference 

Page: 2 of 3 
Document: 2126976 

HOW ARE APPLICATIONS EVALUATED? 
All applications will be reviewed and prioritized according to the following criteria:  

 Innovative means to contribute to the social and environmental sustainability of the City
 Clear project goals and objectives
 Clear action plan which is realistic and attainable in terms of timing and resources
 Evidence of community support and inclusiveness
 Evidence of an evaluation plan to measure project effectiveness
 Evidence of financial need and fiscal responsibility
 Willingness to work in collaboration with other City-related sustainability initiatives
 Consistent with and supportive of the City’s parks and environmental goals as presented

in the Official Community Plan

REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 
Funding recipients will be required to submit the following reports, in this order:  

 Interim report (submitted 6 months after receiving initial funding) listing any program
events and deliverables to date

 Final report (submitted within 12 months of receiving funding)

APPLICATION PROCEDURES 
Application forms and deadline information are available at www.cnv.org/LivingCityGrant.  

Applicants are strongly encouraged to contact City staff well in advance of submitting an 
application package.  Please contact the following member of staff to indicate your interest in 
the LCGP and to discuss the suitability of your project:  

Annie Dempster 
Planning Assistant
Phone: 604.982.3942 
Email: adempster@cnv.org  

Complete application packages must be delivered to: 
Living City Grant Program
Planning - Environmental Sustainability
City of North Vancouver 
141 West 14th Street 
North Vancouver, BC V7M 1H9 



City of North Vancouver Living City Grant Program 
Terms of Reference 

Page: 3 of 3 
Document: 2126976 

Email: livingcitygrant@cnv.org  |  Phone: 604.982.3942  

All applications will be reviewed and prioritized, based on evaluation criteria, as outlined above, 
by the Advisory Planning Commission (APC).  

A report outlining the recommended projects for LCGP funding will be submitted to City Council 
for final approval.  

Applicants will receive written notification of Council’s decision within sixty (60) days of the 
submission date. 



Document Number: 2174326 V1 

LIVING CITY GRANT APPLICATIONS 
Summary for APC 
May 27, 2022 
 
GRANT APPLICATIONS RECEIVED: 

 Organization Amount Requested 

1) North Shore Neighbourhood House and the Edible 
Garden Project 

$4,000 

2) Jump Buddies Fellowship  $3,000 
3) North Shore Streamkeepers $1,600 
4) Greater Vancouver Orienteering Club $2,145 
5) Force of Nature – North Shore Alliance $4,500 
6) Access2Innovate Foundation  $2,500 
7) Urban Repurpose $3,000 
8) The Craft Pod  $1,500 
9) St. Andrew’s United Church $1,950 

 Total Requested $24,195 

 Total Funds Available $15,000 

 
 
SUMMARY: 
 
 
1) Organization: North Shore Neighbourhood House and the Edible Garden 

Project 
Project: Teaching, Growing, and Sharing Food with Grant McNeil 
Amount Requested: $4,000 

 
Project Description: 
North Shore Neighbourhood House and the Edible Garden Project have joined to 
develop an innovative project to empower the residents living at Grant McNeil Place by 
giving them the confidence and skills to grow healthy, nutritious and sustainable food for 
themselves and their families, and to share this knowledge with other residents. The 
project will also create positive opportunities for connections and socialization, which 
has been particularly challenging for many residents during COVID, and deepen 
connections to the natural world.  
 
The project will be overseen by the Education Coordinator, who is part of the Edible 
Garden Project team, who will be partnering with the residents at Grant McNeil so that 
they can provide direction around learnings and activities offered. 
 
Grant McNeil Place is operated by BC Housing and is located on West 1st Street in the 
City of North Vancouver. The residents who call Grant McNeil home represent a range 
household types and ages and include 49 seniors, 116 adults (18+), eight children 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 2�



Document Number: 2174326 V1 

between the ages of 0-6, 20 children between the ages of 7-12, and 30 youth between 
the ages of 13-17.  
 
The majority of residents living at Grant McNeil live either on social assistance, disability 
payments or CPP. A small number of the tenants have jobs, although these tend to be 
lower end paying jobs. The Early Development Instrument Tool (developed by the 
Human Early Learning Partnership at UBC), which measures childhood vulnerabilities, 
highlights that the Lonsdale core has a vulnerability rate of 36%, which is higher then 
the Provincial average. The 2021 Child Poverty Report Card also notes that the Lower 
Lonsdale area experiences a high level of child poverty (about 30%). This data confirms 
the importance of investment.  
 
As food often falls last on the list of necessities for those on fixed incomes, the purpose 
of the project is to provide residents the opportunity to learn, grow, and share food.  
• Learning – provide weekly drop-ins as well as monthly food literacy workshops for 

residents in order to provide them the knowledge to grow food for nourishment and 
which is kind to the environment.  

• Grow – using the existing garden beds at Grant McNeil (30 shared beds built in 
2014) and by visiting Loutet Farm, residents will be given advice, tips and inspiration 
to grow fruits and vegetables that are organic and sustainable. The Education 
Coordinator will attend Grant McNeil one day a week to answer questions, assist 
with box maintenance, composting, and develop relationships with the residents. 

• Share: 
 Two bus visits will be arranged which will bring residents from Grant McNeil to 

the Saturday Markets at Loutet Farm. Residents will be able to spend their food 
coupons and buy fresh produce and other necessities (such as baked goods). 

 Two workshops will be offered  
o Veggies 101 – basic information on gardening and pollinators, and  
o Maximizing your harvest 

 A potluck, and other food sharing opportunities will also be arranged during the 
summer months.  

 
Funds requested would be used for the salary of the Education Coordinator, participant 
honoraria, and to provide two bus trips to bring residents from Grant McNeil to the 
Saturday Markets at Loutet Farm, with the remainder of the funds to be used for 
promotional materials, gardening tools, seedlings, and food for the gatherings 
throughout the program. NSNH and the Edible Garden Project will provide volunteers to 
support this program.  
 
2) Organization: Jump Buddies Fellowship 

Project: Loutet Bike Park Equipment and Tool Fund 
Amount Requested: $3,000 

 
Project Description: 
The Loutet Jump Buddies are a group of dedicated volunteers who began to ride and 
maintain Loutet Bike Park, located southeast of Loutet Farm, in 2019. When they first 
began improving the bike park it was in a state of disrepair and there was no evidence 



Document Number: 2174326 V1 

that maintenance had occurred for several years. As a team they have developed, 
tested and improved on their building techniques developing a consistent approach. 
Though their significant physical labour they have made substantial improvements to 
the park. Theses improvements have grown the ridership at the park establishing Loutet 
Bike Park as a local treasure. Over this period, the number and goals of Loutet Jump 
Buddies volunteers has also expanded. The Loutet Jump Buddies’ current goal is to 
create and maintain a positive learning environment for locals to improve their skills in 
mountain biking regardless of their skill level, while their long term goal is to develop the 
Loutet Bike Park as the North Shore’s Premier Bike Skills Park.  
 
As a step towards theses goals, the Loutet Jump Buddies are seeking support through 
this grant application to purchase equipment for their volunteers to use to make physical 
improvements to the park’s overall design and function. The Loutet Jump Buddies has 
also raised $1,400 from the community through a go-fund-me which they will use to 
purchase, customize, and install a tool shed at Loutet Bike Park to lock up their tools. 
Any remaining funds from their fundraising will be used to purchase additional tools and 
a first aid kit that will be stored in the shed.  
 
Grant funds requested would be used to purchase quality wheelbarrows (capable of 
standing up to the strenuous tasks the volunteers put them to) and quality tarps (which 
will be used to “close the park” during poor weather, when the jumps are most 
susceptible to erosion, and to funnel water into the drainage system protecting the 
improvements that volunteer labour has created). Other revenue for the project includes 
contributions from the Loutet Jump Buddies fundraising and their in-kind contributions 
(labour).  
 
3) Organization: North Shore Streamkeepers 

Project: Streamkeeper Neighbourhood Walk 
Amount Requested: $1,600 

 
Project Description: 
North Shore Streamkeepers is a registered society and volunteer organization that has 
operated in North Vancouver since 2010. Activities include monitoring salmon 
populations, habitat restoration, education, and public outreach. 
 
The proposal is for outreach pilot project designed to provide public education in a 
small-group setting. It is a pilot in that it will test the potential to deliver this type of 
program in other streamside neighbourhoods. Wagg Creek, within the City of North 
Vancouver, was selected for this pilot as it is particularly vulnerable due to urbanization 
and the prevalence of homes and condominiums built in riparian zones. 
 
The project will provide education by helping streamside residents form a connection to 
Wagg Creek and understand how individual (human) choices link to the creek. The 
focus will be the unique opportunity that adjacent residents have to positively impact the 
stream, contributing to a healthier neighbourhood environment, due to their proximity to 
the creek. These goals will be achieved by hosting neighbourhood walks where 
residents can connect with North Shore Streamkeepers, hear a talk, enjoy refreshment, 



Document Number: 2174326 V1 

and take away environmental resources (information, access to the stewardship 
community).  
 
There will be three (3) walks held, each with 5-7 participants. Walks are open to all ages 
and all abilities and will be conducted over several weekends in September 2022. 
Follow up: An optional post-walk survey will be available (using Google Forms). Those 
who complete the survey will be gifted a native plant as a thank-you and to encourage 
interest in native plant gardening.  
 
Funds requested would be used for honoraria for the development and facilitation of the 
guided walk, printing reference material to be used on the walks, purchasing native 
potted plants and transporting these plants, refreshments, and the printing of 
promotional material. Other contributions for the project includes in-kind contributions 
from the North Shore Streamkeepers.  
 
4) Organization: Greater Vancouver Orienteering Club  

Project: Go-orienteering: permanent orienteering course in City's parks  
Amount Requested: $2,145 

 
Project Description: 
Over the last year the Greater Vancouver Orienteering Club (GVOC) and City of North 
Vancouver Parks staff have been discussing developing a permanent orienteering 
course within a City park to encourage the public at large to engage in active park use.  
  
Permanent orienteering courses are made out of a series of permanent fixtures 
(called controls) that are laid out on a detailed map that participants have to navigate 
while walking, rolling, running casually, or racing. Multiple decisions about route 
choice, terrain and map interpretation, pace, etc. have to be made while moving 
efficiently between controls. Once a set of controls are deployed, several courses can 
be designed using this pool of checkpoints. 
 
Orienteering is suitable to all age participants, as there is complete flexibility to enhance 
a walk or a run using a map (printed or phone) to pass through the checkpoints / 
controls. The course can be designed to include only controls going along paved trails 
making it suitable for wheelchair access. As the course’s physical infrastructure 
remains in place people can participate on their own time, at their own pace, with 
friends, children, or on their own. For those that wish, orienteering can be pursued as a 
sport with the guidance of orienteering clubs at the local, provincial or national level. 
 
Funds requested would be used for producing plates, designing the course, the course 
maps, the main sign, and updating maps. Other revenue for the project includes in-kind 
and cash contributions from the Greater Vancouver Orienteering Club. 
 
5) Organization: Force of Nature – North Shore Alliance 

Project: A Study to Eliminate CO2 Emissions from CNV Buildings 
Amount Requested: $4,500 

 



Document Number: 2174326 V1 

Project Description: 
The Force of Nature (FoN) is a registered non-profit. The FoN North Shore Alliance is 
a subgroup committed to working with the City of North Vancouver to proactively 
address the climate crisis. Their 2022 mandate is to support the reduction of fossil fuel 
use in buildings, by means of retrofits and better new building design, to conserve 
energy and to reduce Green House Gases by the electrification of buildings. 
 
The proposal is seeking support to fund a study to assess the feasibility of using solar 
energy to help switch Lonsdale Energy Corporation (LEC) from natural gas to electric 
boilers. A focus of the study will be the exploration of the possibility of installing solar 
photo-voltaic panels on rooftops of the new Harry Jerome recreation centres and the 
new North Shore Neighbourhood House. The analysis will include ascertaining the 
amount of electricity that could be generated per year from solar panels on these 
projects compared to the estimate of total electricity required for heating and air 
conditioning. The goal of the resulting data is that it be used to determine the payback 
periods for the investment in solar. 
 
Funds requested would be used for salaries / benefits, contract fees and honoraria, 
office supplies and promotion. The Force of Nature – North Shore Alliance will provide 
other in-kind contributions for the project.  
 
6) Organization: Access2Innovate Foundation 

Project: 3D printing filament re-use and education program 
Amount Requested: $2,500 

 
Project Description: 
Access2Innovate Foundation is a registered society whose mandate is to help reduce 
the barriers to quality Science, Technology, Engineering, Art and Mathematics (STEAM) 
education for children, youth and adults, whether the barriers are socio-economic, 
physical or mental health challenges, or gender based. The people at Access2Innovate 
believe in "science for good," protecting our environment and doing all that we can to 
reduce global warming. 
 
The goal of the project would be to divert 3D printing waste plastic from the landfill to 
instead be re-used through a process of crushing waste 3D printing filament, heating 
it and running it through an extrusion process to make new 3D printing filament rolls 
from the waste plastic. 3D printing is growing in popularity and usage in businesses, 
schools, libraries and in homes but currently most of the filament is not recyclable 
locally and the waste ends up in landfill. 
 
This project would involve identifying who uses 3D printing in North Vancouver and 
would offer a program where they could either drop off their waste 3D printing filament 
or it could be picked up from schools. The waste would be crushed using a DIY 
crusher, then heated and extruded into new 3D printing filament with a machine called 
the Protocycler (https://redetec.com/products/protocycler?variant=39805373743152). 
 



Document Number: 2174326 V1 

In addition to the environmental benefits, it would be a work integrated learning 
experience for participants that are part of Access2Innovate Skills Trip program; a 
program that has been supported and funded by the BC Ministry of Poverty Reduction 
and Social Development. Participants in this program are Indigenous, on social 
assistance, facing physical or mental disabilities, or facing persistent employability 
challenges. 
 
The project is innovative in that it combines both environmental awareness, protection 
with social goals of inclusion, and providing job skills for those facing employment 
challenges from some of our most vulnerable people in the City of North Vancouver. It 
makes a very measurable and specific contribution by diverting plastic waste from 
landfill and it is something that we believe can unite schools, students, libraries, 
businesses and other individuals to showcase how sustainability can be achieved as 
much as possible by reducing materials (through education on how to better design 3D 
models that minimize waste) and re-using the waste materials that are inevitable rather 
than to accept the plastic waste into our landfill. This project will provide an opportunity 
for our community to come together in a very tangible way to improve the environment, 
our economy, and social development, pillars of a circular economy. 
 
Funds requested would be used to purchase the protocycler and DIY filament crusher. 
Other revenue for the project includes in-kind and cash contributions from the 
Access2Innovate Foundation. 
 
 
7) Organization: Urban Repurpose 

Project: ReUse and Upcycle Fair 
Amount Requested: $3,000 

 
Project Description: 
Urban Repurpose is a not-for-profit social enterprise with the goal of reducing waste 
through reuse and upcycling while building consumer demand for upcycled and reused 
products through education, collaboration and empowerment.  
 
They are seeking support to hold the inaugural Reuse and Upcycle Fair, an event 
designed to showcase artists, designers and crafters using waste materials in the 
pieces they create and bring them together with potential consumers of their products. 
Think of it as a Sundance Film Festival for waste materials.  
 
The larger goal of the event is to begin to change attitudes around what is considered 
waste, to educate the public on the impact reuse and upcycling can have to the 
environment, to grow the circular economy, and to inspire the next generation of 
entrepreneurs to design and create using waste materials.  
 
The fair will also include design and art competitions to be voted on by attendees and a 
select panel. The goal here is to not only excite and inspire the public, but to also 
encourage experimentation in the hopes of finding new products and processes that will 
create new products on an industrial scale. 



Document Number: 2174326 V1 

  
Funds requested would be used for salaries / benefits, print and digital promotion, and 
equipment rentals (tables, tents, etc.). Other revenue for the project includes in-kind and 
cash contributions from Urban Repurpose. 
 
8) Organization: The Craft Pod 

Project: The Craft Pod: Container Gardens Project 
Amount Requested: $1,500 

 
Project Description: 
The Craft Pod is a newly established little library that serves North Vancouver by 
providing free crafting and gardening supplies. Members of the community are 
encouraged to visit and take / leave what they need / can offer. The project hopes to 
encourage upcycling, sharing of resources, a community sense of belonging, as well as 
to create more green spaces within our urban areas.  
 
The proposed project is to make gardening more accessible to all with specific focus on 
those who do not have a garden. Members of our community will be able to sign up for 
a free kit that will include the soil, pots, seeds and instructions needed to grow and then 
save seeds for the following year. People will be able to choose an edible garden kit or 
a pollinator / native plant kit designed for their container garden. The kits will come with 
education (on site at pick up and / or via video) on how even a small space such as 
one’s balcony can be utilized to grow plants. Participants will be encouraged to donate 
seeds back to the library for the following years. The kits will be reused year after year 
with the only need being new or enriched soil each year.  
 
Advertising the free gardening kits will be done mostly via social media (through local 
groups such as the Gardeners of the North Shore, North Vancouver Moms Meetups, 
and the Little Library group), connecting with established community groups (such as 
the City Library, North Shore Family Services and the Edible Garden Project), through 
word of mouth, and by using a chalk art sidewalks campaign to encourage engagement. 
 
Funds requested would be used for pots, soil, seeds and seed envelopes. Other 
revenue for the project includes in-kind and cash contributions from The Craft Pod. The 
application notes the project is scalable and additional donations can be sought in the 
event the requested amount is not granted.  
 
 
9) Organization: St. Andrew’s United Church 

Project: St. Andrew’s Community Gardens  
Amount Requested: $1950 

 
Project Description: 
In 2013 St. Andrew's United Church established a community garden, building 11 
community garden beds for use by people in the City of North Vancouver, and in 2015, 
five more garden beds were built for a total of 16. Four of the beds are gardened by 
volunteers at St. Andrew's United Church to provide fresh produce for our community 



Document Number: 2174326 V1 

meals program. Last year we served more than 8,000 healthy free meals to people in 
need at our weekly meal-to-go program on Thursdays and our community dinner-to-go 
program on Fridays. 
 
The church has offered many programs for people of all ages in relation to sustainable 
gardening, healthy cooking, and has operated a successful community kitchen in 
tandem with the gardens. We have also established a communal herb garden and 
planted a Butterfly and Bee Garden along the perimeter of the building at 1046 St. 
George's, which are both maintained by the community gardeners. 
 
In March 2022 four of the garden beds that were literally falling apart were replaced. 
The remaining garden beds will likely last only until the current garden season ends. 
The proposed project is to replace the remaining 12 beds in November 2022. 
 
Funds requested would be used for wood and hardware for the 12 raised garden beds 
in need of replacement. Other revenue for the project includes in-kind and cash 
contributions from St. Andrew’s United Church. 
 
 



-- Cy- w 
Department Director CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

To: 

From: 

Subject: 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Larry Sawrenko, Chief Financial Officer 

2023 PERMISSIVE TAX EXEMPTIONS 

REPORT 

Date: June 15, 2022 File No: 05-1970-07-0001/2022 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated June 15, 2022, 
entitled "2023 Permissive Tax Exemptions": 

THAT "Taxation Exemption Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938" be considered. 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Taxation Exemption Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938 (CityDocs 2185895) 

2. Excerpt from the Community Charter - Division 7, General Authority for Permissive 
Exemptions (CityDocs 1321033) 

3. Permissive Tax Exemptions requested for 2023 Tax Year (CityDocs 2188775) 

4. Estimated 2023 Municipal Permissive Tax Exemptions by Category (CityDocs 2186773) 

5. Permissive Tax Exemption (PTE) Policy (CityDocs 1323187) 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to request that Council consider requests for permissive 
tax exemption ("PTE") for 2023 and consider Taxation Exemption Bylaw, 2022, No. 
8938 for a one-year term (Attachment 1 ). 

Document Number: 2185905 



REPORT: 2023 Permissive Tax Exemptions 
Date: June 15, 2023 

BACKGROUND 

Section 224 of the Community Charter (Attachment 2) gives Council the authority to 
exempt certain lands or improvements, or both, of property located in the City of North 
Vancouver, from municipal taxation. If this exemption is granted, related legislation also 
exempts the properties from some regional, school, and transit taxes. The municipal tax 
exemption bylaw must be adopted by October 31 st of the year prior to the exemption 
being granted. 

Each year when updating its Taxation Exemption Bylaw, City staff request annual 
declarations from past PTE recipients for the upcoming tax year. The annual 
declarations confirm that the exempt property continues to be used for the purposes for 
which the PTE was previously granted. 

DISCUSSION 

Annual declarations have been received from all 2022 PTE recipients, with the 
exception of the Auxiliary to the Lions Gate Hospital ( a Thrift Shop) at 128 West 15th 

Street, as the property will be undergoing redevelopment. 

The City has also received one new application for a PTE for the 2023 tax year from the 
North Vancouver Community Arts Council ("NVCAC"). Information on its operations and 
financial support is provided below: 

Operations: 

Funding Sources: 

Provides opportunities for artists and the broader community through 
programs, projects, exhibitions and cultural events throughout the 
North Shore and advocates for arts and culture on behalf of the 
community. 

Includes Federal & Provincial Government, North Vancouver 
Recreation & Culture Commission, City of North Vancouver 
Community Facilities Grant, memberships, and donations. 

NVCAC has been located at 335 Lonsdale Avenue, a property owned by the City, since 
August 2001. This property is currently categorized as statutorily exempt from property 
taxes on the BC Assessment Roll. Council recently approved a new lease for NVCAC 
that staff expect to be completed in 2022. In this new lease, NVCAC will be responsible 
for property taxes, but it's specified that the lessee may apply for a PTE. 

The North Vancouver Community Arts Council could qualify for a PTE under section 
224 (2) (b) of the Community Charter, which reads: 

(i) land or improvements that are owned or held by a municipality, regional district 
or other local authority, and 

(ii) the council considers are used for the a purpose of the local authority; 

Consistent with the draft lease approved by Council, staff is recommending the PTE for 
NVCAC and the proposed Taxation Exemption Bylaw under consideration has been 
prepared inclusive of the NVCAC PTE. 

Page 2 of 4 



REPORT: 2023 Permissive Tax Exemptions 
Date: June 15, 2023 

If the PTE for the site is not granted, NVCAC will face total estimated taxes of $26,899 
($14,607 retained by the City, the remainder for other tax agencies) that it has not faced 
historically. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

The following table, which includes the proposed PTE for NVCAC, shows estimated 
financial impacts for 2023: 

Municipal Taxes Other Tax Levies Gross Taxes 
- - -

Actual Value of Permissive Tax Exemptions for 2022 $ 1,029,782 $ 938,707 $ 1,968,489 

Md: North Vancouver Community Arts Council (New) $ 14,607 $ 12,292 $ 26,899 

Deduct: The Auxiliary to the Lions Gate Hospital (Thrift Store) $ 12,643 $ 10,640 $ 23,283 

Total Estimated Value of Permissive Tax Exemptions for 2023* $ 1,031,746 $ 940,359 $ 1,972,106 

Total$ Increase (Decrease) $ 1,964 $ 1,652 $ 3,616 

*the 2023 estimate does not include any potential rate increases and is based on 2022 assessments 

The municipal portion of the PTE's is estimated to increase marginally, by $1,964 or 
0.19%, in 2023. 

The complete list of PTE's is shown in Attachment 3. 

The following table shows the estimated municipal property exemptions by category for 
2023 including the new PTE application. 

------ - ---~----- - -- -- - - - - -- ------ - -----

Category Municipal PTE's* %of Estimated 2023 Municipal PTE's 
---

Community Care & Assisted Living $ 62,471 6.1% 

Daycare - Not for Profit $ 16,570 1.6% 

General Social Services $ 127,116 12.3% 

Non-Market Housing $ 81,543 7 .9% 

Public Worship (areas surrounding) $ 74,096 7.2% 

Recreation and Culture $ 396,702 38.4% 

Service Clubs $ 152,466 14.8% 

Social Housing $ 20,866 2.0% 

Tourism and Business $ 99,916 9 .7% 

Total $ 1,031,746 100°/4 

Attachment 4 includes a detailed list of organizations by category. 

The table below illustrates that the City's top 5 PTE recipients represent 36% of the total 
PTE value. 

Page 3 of 4 



REPORT: 2023 Permissive Tax Exemptions 
Date: June 15, 2023 

- -- %of Estimated 2023 
_Or9_anization Use Municipal PTE PTEs 

- - - - - - - - --- - -

North Vancouver Museum & Archives Cultural $85,315 8% 

Presentation House Cultural Society Cultural $80,279 8% 

Silver Harbour Centre Recreational $76,497 7% 

BC Photography & IV.edia Arts Society Cultural $69,738 7% 

North Shore Multicultural Society General Social Services $64,048 6% 

Total $375,877 36°/c 

• BC Photography & Media Arts Society does business as the "Polygon Gallery" 

The total proposed 2023 municipal property PTE's as a percentage of the 2022 
municipal tax levy is approximately 1.43%. The City's PTE's have been on average 
about 1.5% of the total municipal tax levy in previous years. It is important to note that 
granting of PTE's does not change the City's total tax requirement and the value of 
these exemptions is therefore shifted onto all the other properties in the City. 

STRATEGIC PLAN, OCP, OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

This report is in accordance with the City's PTE Policy (Attachment 5) adopted by 
Council, which considers the services provided by organizations for the betterment of 
the local community. A review of the City's PTE Policy is planned for 2023 following the 
completion of the City's new Community Well Being Strategy, expected later in 2022. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Larry Sawrenko 
Chief Financial Officer 

Page 4 of 4 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938  Document: 2185895-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8938 

A Bylaw to exempt certain lands and improvements in the 
City of North Vancouver from taxation for the year 2023 

 
The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Taxation Exemption Bylaw, 2022, 

No. 8938”. 
 
2. Tax exemptions under section 224 of the Community Charter. 
 

The following lands situated, lying and being in the Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, 
Province of British Columbia, and any and all improvements thereon are hereby exempt from 
taxation imposed by the Corporation of the City of North Vancouver under section 224 of the 
Community Charter for the year 2023: 

 
A. land or improvements that: 

 
i. are owned or held by a charitable, philanthropic or other not for profit corporation; and 

 
ii. the council considers are used for a purpose that is directly related to the purposes of 

the corporation: 
 

1. Anavets Senior Citizens’ Housing, District Lot 274 Block 142 Lot 1 Plan 
BCP48496, PID: 028-616-260, 245 East 3rd Street, registered in the name of 
Anavets Senior Citizens’ Housing Society, Roll # 142001.100;  

 
2. Army, Navy Air Force Veterans in Canada, Unit 45, District Lot 274 Block 141 Lot 

11 Plan 878, PID: 015-077-179, 119 East 3rd Street, registered in the name of 
Army, Navy Air Force Veterans in Canada, Roll # 141011.000; 

 
3. The Cascadia Society for Social Working, District Lot 547 Block 4 Lot G 3846, PID: 

012-111-902, 348 West 19th Street, registered in the name of The Cascadia 
Society for Social Working, Roll # 004081.000; 

 
4. The Cascadia Society for Social Working, District Lot 547 Block 21 Lot H Plan 

20988, PID: 005-163-064, 325 West 19th Street, registered in the name of The 
Cascadia Society for Social Working, Roll # 021010.001; 

 
5. The Cascadia Society for Social Working, District Lot 547 Block 21 Lot F Plan 

20141, PID: 003-683-702, 351 West 19th Street, registered in the name of The 
Cascadia Society for Social Working, Roll # 021004.001; 

 
6. Fraternal Order of Eagles, North-West Aerie 2638, District Lot 274 Lot 1 Plan 

BCS2790, PID: 027-428-613, 170 West 3rd Street, registered in the name of 
Fraternal Order of Eagles, North-West Aerie 2638, Roll # 992790.001; 

 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 1�



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938  Document: 2185895-v1 

7. Fraternal Order of Eagles, North-West Aerie 2638, District Lot 274 Lot 2 Plan 
BCS2790, PID: 027-428-621, 168 West 3rd Street, registered in the name of 
Fraternal Order of Eagles, North-West Aerie 2638, Roll # 992790.002; 

 
8. Fraternal Order of Eagles, North-West Aerie 2638, District Lot 274 Lot 3 Plan 

BCS2790, PID: 027-428-630, 166 West 3rd Street, registered in the name of 
Fraternal Order of Eagles, North-West Aerie 2638, Roll # 992790.003; 

 
9. Fraternal Order of Eagles, North-West Aerie 2638, District Lot 274 Lot 4 Plan 

BCS2790 PID: 027-428-648, 164 West 3rd Street, registered in the name of 
Fraternal Order of Eagles, North-West Aerie 2638, Roll # 992790.004; 

 
10. Fraternal Order of Eagles, North-West Aerie 2638, District Lot 274 Lot 5 Plan 

BCS2790 PID: 027-428-656, 162 West 3rd Street, registered in the name of 
Fraternal Order of Eagles, North-West Aerie 2638, Roll # 992790.005; 

 
11. HYAD Society (Housing for Young Adults with Disabilities), District Lot 545 Block 

206 Lot C Plan BCP44933, PID: 028-231-619, 2130 Chesterfield Avenue, 
registered in the name  Provincial Rental Housing Corporation leased to HYAD 
Society, Roll # 206011.400; 

 
12. Kiwanis Senior Citizens Homes Ltd., District Lot 271 Block 139 Lot D Plan 13604, 

PID: 008-538-191, 170 West 2nd Street, registered in the name of Kiwanis Senior 
Citizens Homes Ltd., Roll # 139026.000; 

 
13. Kiwanis Care Homes Ltd., District Lot 550 Block 52 Lot 1 Pl BCP23494 PID: 026-

683-211, 1480 St. Andrews, registered in the name of Kiwanis Senior Citizens 
Homes Ltd., Roll # 052100.100; 

 
14. Lighthouse Harbour Ministries, District Lot 274 SL1 Plan VR786, PID: 005-892-

244, 1 - 260 East Esplanade, registered in the name of Lighthouse Harbour 
Ministries, Roll # 980786.001; 

 
15. North Shore Connexions Society, District Lot 547 Block 4 Lot 2 Plan 14515, PID: 

007-780-591, 1924 Jones Avenue, registered in the name of North Shore 
Connexions Society, Roll # 004045.000; 

 
16. North Shore Disability Resource Centre Association, District Lot 616 Block B Lot 

218 Plan 20292, PID: 006-672-728, 2412 Wilding Way, registered in the name of 
North Shore Disability Resource Centre Association, Roll # 950001.218; 

 
17. North Shore Multicultural Society,  Portion of District Lot 549 Block 50 Lot B Plan 

15169, PID: 007-671-032, 123 East 15th Street, Units 100, 202, 203, 204, 204A,  
205, 207, 301, 302, 303, 304, 305 only, registered in the name of Horizon Square 
Properties Ltd. leased to North Shore Multicultural Society, Roll # 050010.000;  

 
18. North Vancouver Chamber of Commerce, District Lot 274 Block274 SL2 Plan 

LMS4443, PID: 025-073-591, 102-124 West 1st Street, registered in the name of 
North Vancouver Chamber of Commerce, Roll # 994443.002; 

 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938  Document: 2185895-v1 

19. Royal Canadian Legion Branch 118, District Lot 548 Strata Lot 1 Plan LMS4102, 
PID: 024-750-638, 123 West 15th Street, registered in the name of Royal 
Canadian Legion Branch 118, Roll # 994102.001; 

 
20. Royal Canadian Legion Branch 118, District Lot 548 Strata Lot 2 Plan LMS4102, 

PID: 024-750-646, 121 West 15th Street, registered in the name of Royal 
Canadian Legion Branch 118, Roll # 994102.002; 

 
21. Silver Harbour Seniors’ Activity Centre, District Lot 545 Block 207 Lot C Plan 

15014, PID: 007-711-280, 144 East 22nd Street, registered in the name of Silver 
Harbour Seniors’ Activity Centre, Roll # 207050.000; 

 
22. St Leonard's Society of North Vancouver, District Lot 547 Block 67 Lot 26 Plan 

750, PID: 015-141-926, 312 Bewicke Avenue, registered in the name of St 
Leonard's Society of North Vancouver, Roll # 067027.000; 

 
23. Family Services of the North Shore, Portion of District Lot 548/549 Block 86 Lot G 

Plan LMP29334, PID: 023-499-486, Suite 203 and 206, 1111 Lonsdale Avenue, 
registered in the name of Djavad Mowafaghian Foundation leased to Family 
Services of the North Shore, Roll # 086015.100; 

 
24. Canadian Mental Health Association North and West Vancouver Branch, Portion 

of District Lot 548/549 Lot A Plan EPP22742, excluding 2,223 sq. ft. of the 
subleased rental office space of the total 3,596 sq. ft. leased space, PID 028-911-
237, 300-1835 Lonsdale Avenue, registered in the name of Solitude Investments 
Ltd. leased to Canadian Mental Health Association, North and West Vancouver 
Branch Roll #019033.100;  

 
25. The British Columbia Photography and Media Arts Society, Portion of District Lot 

271 Lot A Plan EPP30712, and excluding the commercial retail space, PID 029-
093-554, 101 Carrie Cates Court, registered in the name of the Corporation of the 
City of North Vancouver and leased to The British Columbia Photography and 
Media Arts Society, Roll # 177035.301;  

 
26. Young Women’s Christian Association (YWCA), District Lot 549, Block 61, Lot Air 

Space Parcel 5, Plan EPP68325, PID 030-180-741, 125 East 14th Street, Units 
203, 204, 401, 402, 403, 404, 405, 406, 407 and 408, registered in the name of 
Young Women’s Christian Association, Roll # 061011.600;  

 
27. Girl Guides of Canada District Lot 271, Lot 220, Plan EPS4482, PID 030-250-218, 

Unit 107-252 Esplanade W, registered in the name of Girl Guides of Canada, Roll 
#994482.220;  

 
28. Girl Guides of Canada District Lot 271, Lot 221, Plan EPS4482, PID 030-250-226, 

Unit 108-252 Esplanade W, registered in the name of Girl Guides of Canada, Roll 
#994482.221;  

 
29. Girl Guides of Canada District Lot 271, Lot 222, Plan EPS4482, PID 030-250-234, 

Unit 109-252 Esplanade W, registered in the name of Girl Guides of Canada, Roll 
#994482.222;  

 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938  Document: 2185895-v1 

30. Girl Guides of Canada District Lot 271, Lot 229, Plan EPS4482, PID 030-250-307, 
Unit 207-252 Esplanade W, registered in the name of Girl Guides of Canada, Roll 
#994482.229;  

 
31. Girl Guides of Canada District Lot 271, Lot 230, Plan EPS4482, PID 030-250-315, 

Unit 208-252 Esplanade W, registered in the name of Girl Guides of Canada, Roll 
#994482.230;  

 
32. Girl Guides of Canada District Lot 271, Lot 231, Plan EPS4482, PID 030-250-323, 

Unit 209-252 Esplanade W, registered in the name of Girl Guides of Canada, Roll 
#994482.231;  

 
33. Hollyburn Family Services Society, District Lot 548 Lot 4 Plan BCS4407 PID: 028-

810-317, 104-210 West 13th Street, registered in the name of the Corporation of 
the City of North Vancouver and leased to Hollyburn Family Services Society, Roll 
# 994407.004; 

 
34. Hollyburn Family Services Society, District Lot 548 Lot 6 Plan BCS4407, PID: 

028-810-333, 106-210 West 13th Street, registered in the name of the 
Corporation of the City of North Vancouver leased to Hollyburn Family Services 
Society, Roll # 994407.006; 

 
35. Hollyburn Family Services Society, District Lot 548 Lot 7 Plan BCS4407, PID: 

028-810-341, 107-210 West 13th Street, registered in the name of the 
Corporation of the City of North Vancouver leased to Hollyburn Family Services 
Society, Roll # 994407.007; 

 
36. Hollyburn Family Services Society, District Lot 548 Lot 13 Plan BCS4407, PID: 

028-810-406, 205-210 West 13th Street, registered in the name the Corporation 
of the City of North Vancouver leased to of Hollyburn Family Services Society, 
Roll # 994407.013; 

 
37. Hollyburn Family Services Society, District Lot 548 Lot 14 Plan BCS4407, PID: 

028-810-414, 206-210 West 13th Street, registered in the name of the 
Corporation of the City of North Vancouver leased to Hollyburn Family Services 
Society, Roll # 994407.014; 

 
38. Hollyburn Family Services Society, District Lot 548 Lot 15 Plan BCS4407, PID: 

028-810-422, 207-210 West 13th Street, registered in the name of the 
Corporation of the City of North Vancouver leased to Hollyburn Family Services 
Society, Roll # 994407.015; 

 
 

B. land or improvements that: 
 

i. are owned or held by a municipality, regional district or other local authority; and, 
 

ii. the council considers are used for a purpose of the local authority: 
 

1. The Pipe Shop, District Lot 274 Block 176 Lot 4 Plan BCP 39824, PID: 027-842-
215, 115 Victory Ship Way, registered in the name of 366466 BC LTD, leased to  



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 5 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938  Document: 2185895-v1 

the Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, operated by Quay Property 
Management Corp., Roll # 175100.400;  

 
2. The Shipyard Commons, District Lot 274, Block 176, Portion of Lot 5, Plan BCP 

39824, PID 027-842-223, 125 Victory Ship Way, registered in the name of the 
Corporation of the City of North Vancouver leased to Shipyards Development Ltd, 
includes 1,317 ft2 Office Space and 6,290 ft2 Public Support Space and 28,310 
ft2 Public Plaza SRW leased back to the Corporation of the City of North 
Vancouver, Roll # 175100.500; 

 
3. North Vancouver Museum and Archives, District Lot 271 Lot 131 Plan ELSP6231, 

PID: 030-942-667, 115 Esplanade W, registered in the name of the Corporation of 
the City of North Vancouver, leased by the North Vancouver Museum and Archives 
Commission, Roll# 996231.131; 

 
C. land or improvements that the council considers would otherwise qualify for exemption 

under section 220 [general statutory exemptions] were it not for a secondary use: 
 

1. The Lonsdale Creek Daycare Centre Society, operating in Lonsdale Annex 
Elementary School, Portion of  District Lot 545 Block 205 Lot 8/14 Plan 3181, PID: 
013-068-831, 230 West 21st Street, registered in the name of North Vancouver 
School District #44, leased to Lonsdale Creek Daycare Centre Society, Roll # 
205008.000; 

 
D. the interest of a public authority, local authority or any other corporation or organization in 

land or improvements that are used or occupied by the corporation or organization if: 
 

i. the land or improvements are owned by a public authority or local authority; and, 
 

ii. the land or improvements are used by the corporation or organization for a purpose in 
relation to which an exemption under this Division or Division 6 of this Part would apply 
or could be provided if the land or improvements were owned by that corporation or 
organization: 

 
 

 
1. Lookout Emergency Aid Society, NS Shelter, District Lot 265 Lot 2 Plan BCP8797, 

PID: 025-819-828, 705 West 2nd Street, registered in the name of the Corporation 
of the City of North Vancouver, leased to Lookout Emergency Aid Society, Roll # 
510061.300; 

 
2. North Shore Neighbourhood House, District Lot 274 Block 154 Lot M Plan 22039, 

PID: 012-590-975, 225 East 2nd Street, registered in the name of the Corporation 
of the City of North  Vancouver leased to North Shore Neighbourhood House, Roll 
# 154001.002; 

 
3. North Shore Neighbourhood House (Community Garden), District Lot 274 Block 

154 Lot L Plan 22039, PID: 012-590-924, 207 East 2nd Street, registered in the 
name of  the Corporation of the City of North Vancouver leased to North Shore 
Neighbourhood House, Roll # 154001.001; 

 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 6 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938  Document: 2185895-v1 

4. North Shore Neighbourhood House, District Lot 274, Lot 63, Plan EPS 1235, PID 
029-140-676, 113 East 3rd Street, registered in the name of the Corporation of the 
City of North Vancouver licenced to use by North Shore Neighbourhood House, 
Roll # 991235.063; 

 
5. North Shore Neighbourhood House (Centreview Childcare Centre), District Lot 

549, Block 61, Lot Air Space Parcel 4, Plan EPP68325, PID 030-180-732, 143 
East 14th Street, registered in the name of the City of North Vancouver, leased to 
North Shore Neighbourhood House, Roll # 061011.500;  

 
6. Margaret Fulton Adult Day Centre, District Lot 547 Lot A Plan LMP42825, PID: 

024-562-874, 1601 Forbes Avenue, registered in the name of the Corporation of 
the City of North Vancouver leased to  Vancouver Coastal Health Authority, 
subleased to Margaret Fulton Adult Day Centre, Roll # 003002.100; 

 
7. Navy League of Canada, District Lot 547, Block 27, Lot 27, Plan 12205, PID 008-

935-629, 1555 Forbes Avenue, registered in the name of the City of North 
Vancouver leased to the Navy League of Canada, Roll #003004.000; 

 
8. Presentation House Cultural Society, District Lot 274 Block 134 Lot 15 &16 Plan 

735 and District Lot 247 Block 134 Lots 12 to 21 Plan 735, 333 Chesterfield 
Avenue, registered in the name of the Corporation of the City of North Vancouver 
leased to Presentation House Cultural Society, Roll # 134013.000; 

 
9. North Vancouver Community Arts Council, District Lot 274, Lot 9, Plan LMS3740, 

PID 024-324-523, 335 Lonsdale Avenue, registered in the name of the City of 
North Vancouver leased to the North Vancouver Community Arts Council, Roll 
#993740.009;  

 
E. the interest of a public authority, local authority or any other corporation or organization in 

land or improvements that are used or occupied by the corporation or organization if: 
 

i. the land or improvements are owned by a person who is providing a municipal service 
under a partnering agreement; 

 
ii. an exemption under section 225 [partnering and other special tax exemption authority] 

would be available for the land or improvements in relation to the partnering agreement 
if they were used in relation to the service; 

 
iii. the partnering agreement expressly contemplates that the council may provide an 

exemption under this provision; and, 
 

iv. the land or improvements are used by the corporation or organization for a purpose in 
relation to which an exemption under this Division or Division 6 of this Part would apply 
or could be provided if the land or improvements were owned by that corporation or 
organization: 

 
NIL 

 
F. in relation to property that is exempt under section 220 (1) (h) [buildings for public worship]:  

 
i. an area of land surrounding the exempt building; 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 7 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938  Document: 2185895-v1 

 
ii. a hall that the council considers is necessary to the exempt building and the land on 

which the hall stands; and, 
 

iii. an area of land surrounding a hall that is exempt under subparagraph (ii): 
 

1. North Shore Bethel Christian Mennonite Brethren Church, District Lot 274 Block 
114 Lot 19 Plan 878, PID: 015-069-141, 185 East Keith Road, registered in the 
name of The B. C. Conference of the Mennonite Brethren Churches, Roll # 
114025.000; 

 
2. Holy Trinity Catholic Church. District Lot 545 Block 239 Lot 3 Plan BCP45481, PID: 

028-295-943, 2705 Lonsdale Avenue, registered in the name Roman Catholic 
Archbishop of  Vancouver, Roll # 239066.100;  

 
3. North Shore Alliance Church, District Lot 545 Block 208 Lot 1 Plan 20958, PID: 

005-061-563, 201 East 23rd Street, registered in the name of Christian and 
Missionary Alliance (Canadian Pacific District), Roll # 208001.001; 

 
4. North Shore Alliance Church, District Lot 545/546 Block 208 Lot 2 Plan 20958, 

PID: 005-061-571, 201 East 23rd Street, registered in the name of Christian and 
Missionary Alliance (Canadian Pacific District), Roll # 208001.002; 

 
5. King's Temple Missionary Society (N S Christian Centre), District Lot 616 Block 12 

Lot C Plan 21170, PID: 006-853-838, 1400 Sutherland Avenue, registered in the 
name of King's Temple Missionary Society (N S Christian Centre), Roll # 
912009.001; 

 
6. Parish of St. Agnes Anglican Church of Canada, District Lot 550 Block 78 Lot A 

Plan LMP40523, PID: 024-355-712, 530 East 12th Street, registered in the name 
of Synod of the Diocese of New Westminster, Roll # 078014.100; 

 
7. Parish of St. John The Evangelist Anglican Church, District Lot 548 Block 72 Plan 

20861, PID: 004-364-970, 209 West 13th Street, registered in the name of Parish 
of St. John The Evangelist  Anglican Church, Roll # 072001.001; 

 
8. Salvation Army North Vancouver Community Church, District Lot 548/549 Block 

86 Lot C Plan 1464, PID: 014-606-950, 105 West 12th Street, registered in the 
name of The Governing Council of the Salvation Army of Canada, Roll # 
086009.001; 

 
9. St. Andrew's & St. Stephen's Presbyterian Church, District Lot 545  Block 227A  

Lot A  Plan 2836, PID: 013-252-409, 2641 Chesterfield Avenue, registered in the 
name of Congregation of St. Andrew's & St. Stephen's Presbyterian Church, Roll 
# 227100.000; 

 
10. St. Andrew's United Church, District Lot 549 Block 88 Lot B  Plan 750 PID: 015-

136-931, 1046 St. Georges Avenue, registered in the name of The Trustees of the 
Congregation of St. Andrew's United Church, Roll # 088003.000; 

 
11. St. Andrew's United Church, District Lot 549 Block 88 Lot 27/28/29 Plan 4328, PID: 

011-642-483, PID:011-642-475, PID:011-642-491, 1044 St. Georges Avenue, 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 8 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938  Document: 2185895-v1 

registered in the name of The Trustees of the Congregation of St. Andrew's United 
Church, Roll # 088038.000; 

 
12. The Way Church, District Lot 550 Block 12 Lot C Plan 9445, PID: 009-653-309, 

630 East 19th Street, registered in the name of Sutherland Church, Inc, No. S8825 
Roll # 012028.000; 

 
13. St. Edmund's Parish, District Lot 271 Block 71 Lot B Plan 8415, PID: 010-087-460, 

613 Mahon Avenue, registered in the name of the Roman Catholic Archbishop of 
Vancouver-St. Edmund's Parish, Roll # 071009.000; 

 
G. land or improvements used or occupied by a religious organization, as tenant or licensee, 

for the purpose of public worship or for the purposes of a hall that the council considers is 
necessary to land or improvements so used or occupied:  

 
NIL 

 
H. in relation to property that is exempt under section 220 (1) (i) [seniors' homes], (j) 

[hospitals] or (l) [private schools], any area of land surrounding the exempt building:  
 

NIL 
 

I. land or improvements owned or held by an athletic or service club or association and used 
as a public park or recreation ground or for public athletic or recreational purposes:  

 
1. North Vancouver Lawn Bowling Club, Portion of District Lot 546 Block 217 Lot B 

Plan 18193, PID: 007-204-001, 249 East 24th Street, registered in the name of the 
Corporation of the City of North Vancouver leased to the North Vancouver Lawn 
Bowling Club, (Includes 60,170 sq. ft. for Licensed Area 1,2,2A and 3 per Schedule 
A of License Agreement)  Roll # 217000.002; 

 
J. land or improvements owned or held by a person or organization and operated as a 

licensed community care facility and registered assisted living residence under the 
Community Care and Assisted Living Act:  

 
1. Marineview Housing Society, District Lot 548 Block E.48 Lot A Plan 12729 PID: 

008-811-946, excluding land and improvement portions relating to market rental 
units #202 and #204, 1415 Chesterfield Avenue, registered in the name of 
Marineview Housing Society, Roll # 048019.000; 

 
2. Marineview Housing Society, District Lot 272 Block 5 Lot 12 Plan 3875 PID: 005-

751-390, 1057 Cloverley Street, registered in the name of Marineview Housing 
Society, Roll # 605012.000; 

 
3. Magnolia House Residential Mental Health Facility, District Lot 616 Block 6 Lot 73 

Plan 1763, PID: 004-276-914, 720 East 17th Street, registered of in the name of  
Provincial Rental Housing Corporation leased to Vancouver Coastal Health 
Authority, subleased to Magnolia House Residential Mental Health Facility, Roll # 
906073.000; 

 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 9 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938  Document: 2185895-v1 

4. Community Living Society, District Lot 274 Block 116 Lot 4 Plan 878, PID: 015-
131-548, 317 & 319 East Keith Road, registered in the name of Community Living 
Society, Roll # 116003.000; 

 
5. Community Living Society, District Lot 544 SL21 Plan LMS531, PID: 017-957-826, 

1003-555 West 28th Street, registered in the name of Community Living Society, 
Roll # 990531.021; 

 
6. Marineview Housing Society, District Lot 550, Block 91, Lot 8, Plan 1647, PID 005-

751-454, 1053 Grand Boulevard, registered in the name of Marineview Housing 
Society, Roll #091008.000;  

 
K. land or improvements for which a grant has been made, after March 31, 1974, under the 

Housing Construction (Elderly Citizens) Act before its repeal:  
 

NIL 
 
3. The effective date of this bylaw is January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023. 
 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of<> ,2022. 

READ a third time on the <>   day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



EXCERPT FROM THE COMMUNITY CHARTER SBC CHAP. 26-2003 
 

Division 7 - Permissive Exemptions 
 

General authority for permissive exemptions 
 

 224. (1) A council may, by bylaw in accordance with this section, exempt land or improvements, or both, referred to 
in subsection (2) from taxation under section 197(1)(a) [municipal property taxes], to the extent, for the period and subject to 
the conditions provided in the bylaw. 
 
  (2) Tax exemptions may be provided under this section for the following: 
 (a) land or improvements that 
 (i) are owned or held by a charitable, philanthropic or other not for profit corporation, and  
 (ii) the council considers are used for a purpose that is directly related to the purposes of the 

corporation; 
(b) land or improvements that 

 (i) are owned or held by a municipality, regional district or other local authority, and 
 (ii) the council considers are used for a purpose of the local authority; 

(c) land or improvements that the council considers would otherwise qualify for exemption under section 
220 [general statutory exemptions] were it not for a secondary use; 

(d) the interest of a public authority, local authority or any other corporation or organization in land or 
improvements that are used or occupied by the corporation or organization if 
 (i) the land or improvements are owned by a public authority or local authority, and  
 (ii) the land or improvements are used by the corporation or organization for a purpose in relation 

to which an exemption under this Division or Division 6 of this Part would apply or could be 
provided if the land or improvements were owned by that corporation or organization; 

(e) the interest of a public authority, local authority or any other corporation or organization in land or 
improvements that are used or occupied by the corporation or organization if 

  (i) the land or improvements are owned by a person who is providing a municipal service under a 
partnering agreement, 

  (ii) an exemption under section 225 [partnering and other special tax exemption authority] would 
be available for the land or improvements in relation to the partnering agreement if they were 
used in relation to the service, 

  (iii) the partnering agreement expressly contemplates that the council may provide an exemption 
under this provision, and 

  (iv) the land or improvements are used by the corporation or organization for a purpose in relation 
to which an exemption under this Division o Division 6 of this Part would apply or could be 
provided if the land or improvements were owned by that corporation or organization; 

(f) in relation to property that is exempt under section 220 (1)(h) [buildings for public worship], 
  (i) an area of land surrounding the exempt building, 
  (ii) a hall that the council considers is necessary to the exempt building and the land on which the 

hall stands, and  
  (iii) an area of land surrounding a hall that is exempt under subparagraph (ii); 
(g) land or improvements used or occupied by a religious organization, as tenant or licensee, for the 

purpose of public worship or for the purposes of a hall that the council considers is necessary to land 
or improvements so used or occupied; 

(h) in relation to property that is exempt under section 220 (1) (i) {seniors’ homes], (j) [hospital], or (1) 
[private schools], any area of land surrounding the exempt building; 

(h.1)    in relation to land or improvements, or both, exempt under section (220) (1) (l) [independent schools], 
any area of surrounding the exempt land or improvements; 

(i) land or improvements owned or held by an athletic or service club or association and used as a public 
park or recreation ground or for public athletic or recreational purposes; 

(j) land or improvements owned or held by a person or organization and operated as a private hospital 
licensed under the Hospital Act or as a licensed community care facility, or registered assisted living 
residence, under the Community Care Facility Act; 

(k) land or improvements for which a grant has been made, after March 31, 1974, under the Housing 
Construction (Elderly Citizens) Act before its repeal; 

(3) The authority under subsection (2)(e) and (g) to (j) is not subject to section 25 (1) [prohibition against 
assistance to business]. 

(4) Subject to subsection (5), a bylaw under this section 
 (a) must establish the term of the exemption, which may  not be longer than 10 years, 
 (b) may only be adopted after notice of the proposed bylaw has been given in accordance with section 

227 [notice of permissive tax exemptions], and 
 (c) does not apply to taxation in a calendar year unless it comes into force on or before October 31 in the 

preceding year. 
(5) Subsection (4)(a) and (b) does not apply in relation to exemptions under subsection (2)(f) and (h). 
(6) If only a portion of a parcel of land is exempt under this section, the bylaw under this section must include a 

description of the land that is satisfactory to the British Columbia Assessment Aututhority. 
(7) A bylaw under this section ceases to apply to property, the use or ownership of which no longer conforms to 

the conditions necessary to qualify for exemption and, after this, the property is liable to taxation. 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 2�



 PROPERTY        ASSESSMENT VALUES TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL
NO. ORGANIZATION CLASS ADDRESS ROLL # LEGAL DESCRIPTION    LAND IMPROVEMENT   TOTAL MUNICIPAL OTHER MUN & OTHER

1 Anavets Senior Citizens Housing 1 245 3rd St. East 142001.100 D/L 274  BL 142 LOT 1  PL BCP48496 3,141,000       4,713,000       7,854,000         13,219              9,367           22,587           

2 Army, Navy Air Force Veterans in Canada 6/8 119 East 3rd Street 141011.000 D/L 274  BL 141 LOT 11 PL 878 4,833,000       7,100              4,840,100         21,823              21,374         43,197           

3 BC Photography and Media Arts Society 6 105 Carrie Cates Court 177035.301 D/L 271  LOT A PLAN EPP30713 4,177,000       8,771,000       12,948,000       69,738              66,434         136,173          

4 Canadian Mental Health Association 6 300-1835 Lonsdale Ave 019033.100 D/L 548/549 LOT A PL EPP22742 435,000          338,000          773,000            4,163               3,504           7,667             

5 The Cascadia Society for Social Working 1 325 West 19th Street 021010.001 D/L 547  BL 21  LOT H  PL 20988 2,626,000       10,000            2,636,000         4,437               3,144           7,581             
6 The Cascadia Society for Social Working 1 351 West 19th Street 021004.001 D/L 547  BL 21  LOT F  PL 20141 1,619,000       501,000          2,120,000         3,568               2,528           6,097             
7 The Cascadia Society for Social Working 1 348 West 19th Street 004081.000 D/L 547  BL 4   LOT G  3846 2,411,000       10,000            2,421,000         4,075               2,887           6,962             

8 Community Living Society 1 317 & 319 East Keith Road 116003.000 D/L 274  BL 116  LOT 4  PL 878 2,543,000       112,000          2,655,000         4,469               3,167           7,635             
9 Community Living Society 1 1003-555 West 28th Street 990531.021 D/L 544  SL21 PL LMS531 819,000          55,400            874,400            1,472               1,043           2,515             

10 CNV (Pipe Shop) 6 115 Victory Ship Way 175100.400 D/L 274 BL 176 LOT 4 PL BCP39824 5,530,000       1,601,000       7,131,000         38,408              36,588         74,996           

11 City of North Vancouver - The Shipyard Commons 6/8 125 Victory Ship Way 175100.500 D/L 274 BL 176 LOT 5 PL BCP39824 14,347,000     4,715,000       19,062,000       54,749              57,137         111,886          

12 Family Services North Shore 6 1109-1117 Lonsdale Avenue086015.100 D/L 548/549  BL 86 LOT G  PL LMP2933 2,467,000       1,069,000       3,536,000         19,045              16,027         35,072           

13 Fraternal Order of Eagles, North West Aerie 2638 6 170 West 3rd Street 992790.001 D/L 274 LOT 1 PL  BCS2970 758,000          84,300            842,300            4,537               4,322           8,858             
14 Fraternal Order of Eagles, North West Aerie 2638 6 168 West 3rd Street 992790.002 D/L 274 LOT 2 PL  BCS2970 879,000          105,000          984,000            5,300               5,049           10,349           
15 Fraternal Order of Eagles, North West Aerie 2638 6 166 West 3rd Street 992790.003 D/L 274 LOT 3 PL  BCS2970 917,000          103,000          1,020,000         5,494               5,233           10,727           
16 Fraternal Order of Eagles, North West Aerie 2638 6 164 West 3rd Street 992790.004 D/L 274 LOT 4 PL  BCS2970 879,000          105,000          984,000            5,300               5,049           10,349           
17 Fraternal Order of Eagles, North West Aerie 2638 6 162 West 3rd Street 992790.005 D/L 274 LOT 5 PL  BCS2970 944,000          114,000          1,058,000         5,698               5,428           11,127           

18 Girl Guides of Canada 6 Unit 107- 252 Esplanade W 994482.220 D/L 271 LOT 220 PL EPS4482 1,591,000       284,000          1,875,000         10,099              9,620           19,719           
19 Girl Guides of Canada 6 Unit 108- 252 Esplanade W 994482.221 D/L 271 LOT 221 PL EPS4482 1,575,000       281,000          1,856,000         9,996               9,523           19,519           
20 Girl Guides of Canada 6 Unit 109- 252 Esplanade W 994482.222 D/L 271 LOT 222 PL EPS4482 2,668,000       513,000          3,181,000         17,133              16,321         33,454           
21 Girl Guides of Canada 6 Unit 207- 252 Esplanade W 994482.229 D/L 271 LOT 229 PL EPS4482 1,147,000       264,000          1,411,000         7,600               7,240           14,839           
22 Girl Guides of Canada 6 Unit 208- 252 Esplanade W 994482.230 D/L 271 LOT 230 PL EPS4482 1,222,000       282,000          1,504,000         8,101               7,717           15,817           
23 Girl Guides of Canada 6 Unit 209- 252 Esplanade W 994482.231 D/L 271 LOT 231 PL EPS4482 2,031,000       475,000          2,506,000         13,497              12,858         26,355           

24 Hollyburn Family Services Society 1 104-210 West 13th Street 994407.004 D/L 548 LOT 4 PL BCS4407 426,000          110,000          536,000            902                  639             1,541             
25 Hollyburn Family Services Society 1 106-210 West 13th Street 994407.006 D/L 548 LOT 6 PL BCS4407 462,000          131,000          593,000            998                  707             1,705             
26 Hollyburn Family Services Society 1 107-210 West 13th Street 994407.007 D/L 548 LOT 7 PL BCS4407 462,000          131,000          593,000            998                  707             1,705             
27 Hollyburn Family Services Society 1 205-210 West 13th Street 994407.013 D/L 548 LOT 13 PL BCS4407 513,000          134,000          647,000            1,089               772             1,861             
28 Hollyburn Family Services Society 1 206-210 West 13th Street 994407.014 D/L 548 LOT 14 PL BCS4407 500,000          133,000          633,000            1,065               755             1,820             
29 Hollyburn Family Services Society 1 207-210 West 13th Street 994407.015 D/L 548 LOT 15 PL BCS4407 499,000          134,000          633,000            1,065               755             1,820             

30 Hyad Housing for Young Adults with Disiabilities 1 2130 Chesterfield Avenue 206011.400 D/L 545 BL206 Lot545 DISTRICT LOT 54 570,000          1,031,000       1,601,000         2,695               1,909           4,604             

31 Kiwanis North Shore Housing Society 1 170 West 2nd Street 139026.000 D/L 271  BL 139  LOT D  PL 13604 20,311,000     11,235,000     31,546,000       53,096              37,624         90,720           
32 Kiwanis North Shore Housing Society 1 1480 St. Andrews 052100.100 D/L 550 BL 52 Lot 1 Pl BCP23494 694,000          1,308,000       2,002,000         3,370               2,388           5,757             

33 Lighthouse Harbour Ministries 6 1 - 260 East Esplanade 980786.001 D/L 274  SL1  PL VR786 972,000          65,200            1,037,200         5,586               4,701           10,288           

34 The Lonsdale Creek Daycare Society 1 230 West 21st Street 205008.000 D/L 545  BL 205  LOT 8/14  PL 3181 4,241,000       3,863,000       8,104,000         13,640              9,665           23,305           

35 Lookout Emergency Aid Society,  NS Shelter 1 705 West 2nd Street 510061.300 D/L 265  LOT 2  PL BCP8797 6,515,000       4,194,000       10,709,000       18,025              12,772         30,797           

36 Chesterfield House Society - Marineview Housing S 1 1415 Chesterfield Avenue 048019.000 D/L 548 BL E.48 LOT A PL 12729 1,183,000       859,000          2,042,000         3,437               2,435           5,872             

37 Marineview Housing Society - Grand Blvd 1 1053 Grand Blvd 091008.000 D/L 550 BL 91 LOT 8 PL 1647 1,717,000       1,078,000       2,795,000         4,704               3,334           8,038             

38 Marineview Housing Society - Cloverly House 1 1057 Cloverley Street 605012.000 D/L 272 BL 5 LOT 12 PL 3875 1,612,000       124,000          1,736,000         2,922               2,070           4,992             

39 Navy League of Canada 6 1555 Forbes Ave 003004.000 D/L 547 LOT 27 BL 27 PL 12205 3,245,000       199,000          3,444,000         18,550              15,610         34,160           

40 North Shore Connexions Society 1 1924 Jones Avenue 004045.000 D/L 547  BL 4  LOT 2  PL 14515 1,569,000       89,300            1,658,300         2,791               1,978           4,769             

41 The North Shore Disability Resource 1 2412 Wilding Way 950001.218 D/L 616  BL B  LOT 218  PL 20292 1,589,000       254,000          1,843,000         3,102               2,198           5,300             
Centre Association

PERMISSIVE TAX EXEMPTIONS - COMMUNITY CHARTER, SECTION 224
EXEMPTIONS REQUESTED FOR THE 2023 TAX YEAR

ESTMATED IMPUTED TAXES ON EXEMPT PROPERTIES

Page 1 of 2

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 3�



 PROPERTY        ASSESSMENT VALUES TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL
NO. ORGANIZATION CLASS ADDRESS ROLL # LEGAL DESCRIPTION    LAND IMPROVEMENT   TOTAL MUNICIPAL OTHER MUN & OTHER

PERMISSIVE TAX EXEMPTIONS - COMMUNITY CHARTER, SECTION 224
EXEMPTIONS REQUESTED FOR THE 2023 TAX YEAR

ESTMATED IMPUTED TAXES ON EXEMPT PROPERTIES

42 North Shore Multicultural Society 6 123 East 15th Street, Units 1050010.000 D/L 549 BL 50 LOT B PL 15169 11,820,000     71,400            11,891,400       64,048              53,899         117,946          

43 North Shore Neighbourhood House 1/6 225 East 2nd Street 154001.002 D/L 274  BL 154  LOT M  PL 22039 5,473,000       1,664,000       7,137,000         33,789              28,154         61,943           

44 North Shore Neighbourhood (Centre view childcare 1 143 14th Street East 061011.500 D/L 549  BL 61  LOT ASP4  PL  EPP6832 581,000          1,160,000       1,741,000         2,930               2,076           5,007             

45 N Shore Neighbourhood House (Community Garde 8 207 East 2nd Street 154001.001 D/L 274 BL 154 Lot L PL 22039 2,189,000       -                  2,189,000         4,118               4,979           9,097             

46 North Shore Neighbourhood House 6 113 3rd St E 991235.06 D/L 274  LOT 63  PL EPS1235 30,000           60,000            90,000              485                  462             947                

47 North Vancouver Chamber of Commerce 6 102-124 West 1st Street 994443.002 D/L 274 BL274 SL2  PL LMS4443 1,101,000       154,000          1,255,000         6,759               6,439           13,199           

48 North Vancouver Lawn Bowling Club 6/8 249 E 24th Street 217000.002 D/L 546 BL 217 LOT B PL 18193 15,302,000     1,275,000       16,577,000       59,754              56,110         115,863          

49 North Vancouver Museum and Archives Commissio 6 115 Esplanade W 996231.13 D/L 271 LOT 131  PL ESP6231 13,027,000     2,813,000       15,840,000       85,315              81,273         166,588          

50 Presentation House Cultural Society 6 333 Chesterfield Avenue 134013 D/L 271  BL 134  LOT 13  PL 735 14,413,000     492,000          14,905,000       80,279              76,475         156,754          

51 North Vancouver Royal Canadian Legion 6 123 West 15th Street 994102.001 D/L 548  SL1  PL LMS4102 2,439,000       800,000          3,239,000         17,445              14,681         32,126           
52 North Vancouver Royal Canadian Legion 8 121 West 15th Street 994102.002 D/L 548  SL2  PL LMS4102 838,000          168,000          1,006,000         1,893               2,288           4,181             

53 Silver Harbour Centre 6 144 East 22nd Street 207050.000 D/L 545 BL207 Lot C PL 15014 14,176,000     26,900            14,202,900       76,497              64,376         140,873          

54 St. Edmund's Parish 6/8 613 Mahon Avenue 071009.000 D/L 271 LOT B  PL  8415 3,388,000       3,700              3,391,700         6,394               7,723           14,117           

55 St Leonard's Society of North Vancouver 1 312 Bewicke Avenue 067027.000 D/L 547  BL 67  LOT 26  PL 750 1,356,000       332,000          1,688,000         2,841               2,013           4,854             

56 Vancouver Coastal Health Authority-Magnolia Hous 1 720 East 17th Street 906073.000 D/L 616  BL 6 LOT 73  PL 1763 1,610,000       331,000          1,941,000         3,267               2,315           5,582             

57 Vancouver Coastal Health Authority- Margaret Fulto 6 1601 Forbes Avenue 003002.100 D/L 547  LOT A  PL LMP42825 3,352,000       1,284,000       4,636,000         24,970              21,013         45,983           

58 Young Women's Christian Association 1 125 14th Street East 061011.600 D/L 549  LOT ASP5  PL EPP68325 240,000          1,128,000       1,368,000         2,303               1,632           3,934             
SUBTOTAL 943,043            838,488       1,781,531       

PERMISSIVE AREAS SURRONDING BUILDINGS FOR PUBLIC WORSHIP

59 North Shore Bethel Christian Mennonite Brethren C 8 185 East Keith Road 114025.000 D/L 274  BL 114  LOT 19  PL 878 1,497,000       -                  1,497,000         2,816               3,405           6,221             

60 Holy Trinity Catholic Church 8 2705 Lonsdale Avenue 239066.100 D/L 545  BL 239  LOT 3  PL BCP45481 2,062,000       24,800            2,086,800         3,926               4,746           8,672             

61 North Shore Alliance Church 8 201 East 23rd Street 208001.001 D/L 545/546  BL 208  LOT 1  PL 20958 3,852,000       -                  3,852,000         7,247               8,761           16,008           
62 North Shore Alliance Church 8 201 East 23rd Street 208001.002 D/L 545/546  BL 208  LOT 2  PL 20958 7,122,000       -                  7,122,000         13,399              16,199         29,598           

63 King's Temple Missionary Society  (N S Christian C 8 1400 Sutherland Avenue 912009.001 D/L 616  BL 12  LOT C  PL 21170 1,133,000       -                  1,133,000         2,132               2,577           4,709             

64 Parish of St. Agnes Anglican Church 8 530 East 12th Street 078014.100 D/L 5550  BL 78  LOT A  PL LMP40523 429,000          -                  429,000            807                  976             1,783             

65 Parish of St. John The Evangalist  Anglican Church 8 209 West 13th Street 072001.001 D/L 548  BL 72  PL 20861 10,014,000     -                  10,014,000       18,840              22,777         41,616           

66 Salvation Army North Vancouver Community Churc 8 105 West 12th Street 086009.001 D/L 548/549  BL 86  LOT C  PL 1464 6,261,000       -                  6,261,000         11,779              14,240         26,019           

67 St. Andrew's & St. Stephen's Presbyterian Church 8 2641 Chesterfield Avenue 227100.000 D/L 545  BL 227A  LOT A  PL 2836 2,758,000       -                  2,758,000         5,189               6,273           11,462           

68 St. Andrew's United Church 8 1046 St. Georges Avenue 088003.000 D/L 549  BL 88  LOT B  PL 4328 590,000          -                  590,000            1,110               1,342           2,452             
69 St. Andrew's United Church 8 1044 St. Georges Avenue 088038.000 D/L 549  BL 88  LOT 28/29  PL 4328 1,143,000       -                  1,143,000         2,150               2,600           4,750             

70 The Way Church 8 630 East 19th Street 012028.000 D/L 550  BL 12 LOT C  PL 9445 2,499,000       -                  2,499,000         4,701               5,684           10,385           

TOTAL PTE'S RENEWALS 1,017,139         928,067       1,945,206       
NEW APPLICATIONS

71 North Vancouver Community Arts Council 6 335 Lonsdale Ave 993740.009 D/L 274 LOT 9 PL LMS3740 2,361,000       351,000          2,712,000         14,607              12,292         26,899           

TOTAL ESTIMATED 2023 PTE'S 1,031,746         940,360       1,972,106       

Page 2 of 2



 

Document Number: 2186773 V1 

Estimated 2023 Municipal Permissive Tax Exemptions by Category 
 

Organization Municipal Taxes 

  

Community Care and Assisted Living 
 

Community Living Society 5,940 

HYAD Housing for Young Adults with Disabilities  2,695 
Marineview Housing Society - Cloverly House 2,922 
Marineview Housing Society - Grand Blvd 4,704 
North Shore Connexions Society 2,791 
The Cascadia Society for Social Working 12,080 
The North Shore Disability Resource Centre Association 3,102 
Vancouver Coastal Health Authority- Margaret Fulton Adult Day Centre 24,970 
Vancouver Coastal Health Authority - Magnolia House  3,267 
Subtotal - Community Care and Assisted Living 62,471 
  
Daycare - Not for Profit 

 

North Shore Neighbourhood House - Centreview Childcare Centre   2,930 

The Lonsdale Creek Daycare Society  13,640 
Subtotal - Daycare Not for Profit 16,570 
  
General Social Services 

 

Canadian Mental Health Association  4,163 
Family Services North Shore  19,045 
Lighthouse Harbour Ministries 5,586 
North Shore Multicultural Society 64,048 
North Shore Neighbourhood House (2nd St.) 33,789 
North Shore Neighbourhood House (Strata Unit 3rd St.) 485 
Subtotal - General Social Services 127,116 
  
Non-Market Housing 

 

Anavets Senior Citizens Housing 13,219 

Chesterfield House Society - Marineview Housing Society 3,437 
Hollyburn Family Services Society 6,118 
Kiwanis North Shore Housing Society 56,466 
Young Women's Christian Association (YWCA)  2,303 
Subtotal - Non-Market Housing 81,543 
  
Public Worship (areas surrounding) 

 

Holy Trinity Catholic Church 3,926 
King's Temple Missionary Society  (North Shore Christian Centre) 2,132 
North Shore Alliance Church 20,646 
North Shore Bethel Christian Mennonite Brethren Church 2,816 
Parish of St. Agnes Anglican Church 807 
Parish of St. John The Evangalist  Anglican Church 18,840 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 4�



 

Document Number: 2186773 V1 

Estimated 2023 Municipal Permissive Tax Exemptions by Category 
 

Organization Municipal Taxes 

  
Public Worship (areas surrounding) (Cont’d)  
Salvation Army North Vancouver Community Church 11,779 
St. Andrew's & St. Stephen's Presbyterian Church 5,189 
St. Andrew's United Church 3,260 
The Way Church 4,701 
Subtotal - Public Worship (areas surrounding) 74,096   

Recreation and Culture 
 

BC Photography and Media Arts Society 69,738 
North Shore Neighbourhood House (Community Garden) 4,118 
North Vancouver Community Arts Council *NEW* 14,607 
North Vancouver Lawn Bowling Club 59,754 
North Vancouver Museum and Archives Commission 85,315 
Presentation House Cultural Society 80,279 
Silver Harbour Centre 76,497 
St. Edmund's Parish 6,394 
Subtotal - Recreation and Culture 396,702   

Service Clubs 
 

Army, Navy, Air Force Veterans in Canada 21,823 
Fraternal Order of Eagles - North West Aerie 2638 26,329 
Girl Guides of Canada 66,426 
Navy League of Canada 18,550 
North Vancouver Royal Canadian Legion 19,338 
Subtotal - Service Clubs  152,466   

Social Housing 
 

Lookout Emergency Aid Society (North Shore Shelter) 18,025 
St Leonard's Society of North Vancouver 2,841 
Subtotal - Social Housing 20,866   

Tourism and Business 
 

City of North Vancouver - The Shipyard Commons 54,749 
City of North Vancouver - Pipe Shop  38,408 
North Vancouver Chamber of Commerce 6,759 
Subtotal - Tourism and Business 99,916   

Total 2022 Municipal PTE's 1,031,746 

 



City of North Vancouver 
COUNCIL POLICY  
 
 

Document Number: 1323187 V2   City of North Vancouver Council Policy - Page 1 

 

Policy Name Permissive Tax Exemptions 
Policy Number P27 
 

 
POLICY 

General Policy 

The City recognizes permissive tax exemptions (“PTEs”) as a tool to support the City’s goals 
and guiding principles by supporting organizations in the community which provide services 
for the general public good.  It is the City’s intention that organizations accessing PTEs are 
offering services for the general public good (as defined by the goals from the Social Plan 
and OCP Guiding Principles) and that the overall financial effect on the organization and the 
City are considered. 
 
The policy establishes eligibility and criteria against for evaluating PTEs, and, if Council 
directs, provides that the total dollar value of exemptions may be limited to a fixed percentage 
of the total tax levies.  
 
Relevant goals and guiding principles in the City’s Social Plan and Official Community Plan 
(“OCP”) will be supported through the provision of PTEs. In addition, all applications must be 
consistent with the City’s policies, plans, bylaws and regulations.  
 
Eligibility and Assessment Criteria  

PTE applicants will be asked to complete and application form.  Applications will be assessed 
for eligibility and the City’s criteria:  statutory and municipal compliance, community benefit, 
and the applicant’s financial organizational viability and financial position. 
 
1. Statutory and Municipal Compliance 
 
All applicants must meet the following eligibility criteria: 
 
- Demonstrate and declare that the principal use of the property qualifies under the Section 

224 of the Community Charter; 
 
- Not in arrears with the City; and  
 
- Using the property in a way that is consistent and in compliance with City policies, bylaws 

and legislation. 
 
 
  

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 5�



Document Number: 1323187 V2   City of North Vancouver Council Policy - Page 2 

2. Community Benefit 
 
Applications will be evaluated on their overall benefit to the community and the public good: 
 
(a) Link between the services provided on the property with City goals and objectives. 
 
- The principal use of property is in alignment with relevant City goals and objectives  
- Justify community need for the services offered 
- Demonstrate active and regular community oriented use of the property 

 
(b) Provision of services for the general public good and accessibility of services to City 
residents.  

 
- Services and activities should be available to a significant proportion of City residents, or 

a broad and attainable membership 
 
3. Ownership and Financial Position 
 
Applications will be evaluated on their financial position and viability: 
 
- Ongoing involvement of community volunteers in the delivery of services  
- Seeking funding from multiple sources 
- Clear mandate and demonstration of competent management and administration 
 

Recipients of PTEs must publicly acknowledge the exemption. 

 

REASON FOR POLICY 

The Official Community Plan (Policy 1.3.7) states that the City will “Assist organizations and 
individuals that provide community supports through the responsible allocation of City 
resources.”  This policy establishes criteria and procedures for consistent and accountable 
consideration of PTE applications. 

 
Legislation 
Tax exemptions are either statutory or permissive and are both governed by the Community 
Charter, i.e. a property must qualify under the Community Charter to receive either of these 
exemptions. 
 

Statutory tax exemptions are allowed under Section 220 of the Community Charter for 
properties such as provincially or municipally held buildings and land; public libraries; 
buildings set apart for public worship; public hospitals; and schools. Council does not have 
any authority over these statutory exemptions. Statutory exemptions are administered by the 
BC Assessment Authority and the exemption is applied automatically to the tax role without 
any intervention by Council. Generally, statutory exemptions are for building(s) and the land 
on which the building(s) stand(s), with some exceptions. For the surrounding lands and 
improvements to be exempt from taxation, a permissive exemption is required. 



Document Number: 1323187 V2   City of North Vancouver Council Policy - Page 3 

To receive consideration for a PTE, properties must qualify for an exemption under Sections 
224 (general authority), 225 (special exemptions such as partnering and heritage) and 226 
(revitalization exemptions) of the Community Charter. Should a property be eligible for an 
exemption under the Charter, the application for the PTE will be assessed according to this 
PTE Policy. The application form and associated submissions also form an integral part of 
this PTE Policy. PTEs are at the discretion of Council and are authorized by bylaw, for the 
period and subject to the conditions provided in the bylaw. PTEs apply to property taxes and 
other assessment based levies only and not user fees like water, sewer or solid waste. In 
addition to the exemption from City taxes and levies, related legislation also exempts the 
properties from some regional, school and transit taxes.  

 

AUTHORITY TO ACT 

Administration of this policy is delegated to the Finance Department. 

 

PROCEDURE 

The policy sets a four-year term for the exemption, with an intention to provide some multi-
year certainty to PTE beneficiaries and ease administrative burden of the application process. 
Current legislation allows for up to 10 years; however four years was chosen to coincide with 
Council mandate. Permissive tax exemptions must be passed by bylaw prior to October 31 
for the following taxation year. 
 
The following procedure is used to implement this policy and may be amended at the 
discretion of the Finance Department.  
 
Application Process 
Bylaws are in effect for four year terms. At the beginning of a new bylaw term, all 
organizations applying for PTE’s must: 
 
1. Use the prescribed City application form; 
2. Declare under what sub-section(s) of the legislation they qualify; 
3. Provide a full description of the organization and the programs, services and benefits 

delivered from the exempted property, including use by City residents; 
4. Describe how the services provided link with the goals and objectives of the City as stated 

in this Policy; 
5. Describe any third party use including user group names, fees charged and conditions of 

use (e.g. rental of space to third party); 
6. State the percentage of funding by the provincial and federal governments or agencies; 
7. Provide all required and supporting documentation; 
8. Provide financial statements; 
9. Complete all sections of the application; and, 
10. Complete and submit the application within deadlines as published by the City of North 

Vancouver.  
 
 
 



Document Number: 1323187 V2   City of North Vancouver Council Policy - Page 4 

In year two, three and four of the bylaw, new applicants must follow the process above. 
Existing recipients must provide a copy of their most recent financial statements and 
complete a statutory declaration annually stating that the property is still being used for the 
purposes outlined in the full application. 
 
PTE Review and Approval Process 
Subsequent to advertising the deadline for PTE application submissions: 
 
1. City staff will notify existing PTE recipients of the application process and deadline. 
2. City staff will receive and review all applications / declarations. 
3. City staff will compile a list of qualified applicants.  
4. City staff will provide notice of permissive tax exemptions as required by Section 227 of 

the Community Charter. 
5. City staff will present a report and proposed tax exemption bylaw (“bylaw”) to Council. 
6. Council will approve the  bylaw once every four years in the first year of their four year 

mandate. The bylaw will be in effect for four years and is supported by a thorough review 
of all applications over the four year term. 

7. If there are no new applications in any of year two, three or four of a Council mandate, no 
Council action is required. 

8. New applications received in year two, three or four of a Council mandate will be reviewed 
and considered as received, and a bylaw amendment presented to Council Public notice 
of the bylaw amendment will be provided as stated in point 3 above. 

9. After the bylaw receives final adoption in Council, City staff will notify successful 
applicants by letter of the tax exemption received. 

 
The City will present the approved list of PTE’s in its Annual Municipal Report each year. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approval date: July 6, 2009 Approved by: Council 
    
Effective date: July 6, 2009 Revision date: September 14, 2015 
   July 10, 2019 
    

 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938  Document: 2185895-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8938 

A Bylaw to exempt certain lands and improvements in the 
City of North Vancouver from taxation for the year 2023 

 
The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Taxation Exemption Bylaw, 2022, 

No. 8938”. 
 
2. Tax exemptions under section 224 of the Community Charter. 
 

The following lands situated, lying and being in the Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, 
Province of British Columbia, and any and all improvements thereon are hereby exempt from 
taxation imposed by the Corporation of the City of North Vancouver under section 224 of the 
Community Charter for the year 2023: 

 
A. land or improvements that: 

 
i. are owned or held by a charitable, philanthropic or other not for profit corporation; and 

 
ii. the council considers are used for a purpose that is directly related to the purposes of 

the corporation: 
 

1. Anavets Senior Citizens’ Housing, District Lot 274 Block 142 Lot 1 Plan 
BCP48496, PID: 028-616-260, 245 East 3rd Street, registered in the name of 
Anavets Senior Citizens’ Housing Society, Roll # 142001.100;  

 
2. Army, Navy Air Force Veterans in Canada, Unit 45, District Lot 274 Block 141 Lot 

11 Plan 878, PID: 015-077-179, 119 East 3rd Street, registered in the name of 
Army, Navy Air Force Veterans in Canada, Roll # 141011.000; 

 
3. The Cascadia Society for Social Working, District Lot 547 Block 4 Lot G 3846, PID: 

012-111-902, 348 West 19th Street, registered in the name of The Cascadia 
Society for Social Working, Roll # 004081.000; 

 
4. The Cascadia Society for Social Working, District Lot 547 Block 21 Lot H Plan 

20988, PID: 005-163-064, 325 West 19th Street, registered in the name of The 
Cascadia Society for Social Working, Roll # 021010.001; 

 
5. The Cascadia Society for Social Working, District Lot 547 Block 21 Lot F Plan 

20141, PID: 003-683-702, 351 West 19th Street, registered in the name of The 
Cascadia Society for Social Working, Roll # 021004.001; 

 
6. Fraternal Order of Eagles, North-West Aerie 2638, District Lot 274 Lot 1 Plan 

BCS2790, PID: 027-428-613, 170 West 3rd Street, registered in the name of 
Fraternal Order of Eagles, North-West Aerie 2638, Roll # 992790.001; 

 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938  Document: 2185895-v1 

7. Fraternal Order of Eagles, North-West Aerie 2638, District Lot 274 Lot 2 Plan 
BCS2790, PID: 027-428-621, 168 West 3rd Street, registered in the name of 
Fraternal Order of Eagles, North-West Aerie 2638, Roll # 992790.002; 

 
8. Fraternal Order of Eagles, North-West Aerie 2638, District Lot 274 Lot 3 Plan 

BCS2790, PID: 027-428-630, 166 West 3rd Street, registered in the name of 
Fraternal Order of Eagles, North-West Aerie 2638, Roll # 992790.003; 

 
9. Fraternal Order of Eagles, North-West Aerie 2638, District Lot 274 Lot 4 Plan 

BCS2790 PID: 027-428-648, 164 West 3rd Street, registered in the name of 
Fraternal Order of Eagles, North-West Aerie 2638, Roll # 992790.004; 

 
10. Fraternal Order of Eagles, North-West Aerie 2638, District Lot 274 Lot 5 Plan 

BCS2790 PID: 027-428-656, 162 West 3rd Street, registered in the name of 
Fraternal Order of Eagles, North-West Aerie 2638, Roll # 992790.005; 

 
11. HYAD Society (Housing for Young Adults with Disabilities), District Lot 545 Block 

206 Lot C Plan BCP44933, PID: 028-231-619, 2130 Chesterfield Avenue, 
registered in the name  Provincial Rental Housing Corporation leased to HYAD 
Society, Roll # 206011.400; 

 
12. Kiwanis Senior Citizens Homes Ltd., District Lot 271 Block 139 Lot D Plan 13604, 

PID: 008-538-191, 170 West 2nd Street, registered in the name of Kiwanis Senior 
Citizens Homes Ltd., Roll # 139026.000; 

 
13. Kiwanis Care Homes Ltd., District Lot 550 Block 52 Lot 1 Pl BCP23494 PID: 026-

683-211, 1480 St. Andrews, registered in the name of Kiwanis Senior Citizens 
Homes Ltd., Roll # 052100.100; 

 
14. Lighthouse Harbour Ministries, District Lot 274 SL1 Plan VR786, PID: 005-892-

244, 1 - 260 East Esplanade, registered in the name of Lighthouse Harbour 
Ministries, Roll # 980786.001; 

 
15. North Shore Connexions Society, District Lot 547 Block 4 Lot 2 Plan 14515, PID: 

007-780-591, 1924 Jones Avenue, registered in the name of North Shore 
Connexions Society, Roll # 004045.000; 

 
16. North Shore Disability Resource Centre Association, District Lot 616 Block B Lot 

218 Plan 20292, PID: 006-672-728, 2412 Wilding Way, registered in the name of 
North Shore Disability Resource Centre Association, Roll # 950001.218; 

 
17. North Shore Multicultural Society,  Portion of District Lot 549 Block 50 Lot B Plan 

15169, PID: 007-671-032, 123 East 15th Street, Units 100, 202, 203, 204, 204A,  
205, 207, 301, 302, 303, 304, 305 only, registered in the name of Horizon Square 
Properties Ltd. leased to North Shore Multicultural Society, Roll # 050010.000;  

 
18. North Vancouver Chamber of Commerce, District Lot 274 Block274 SL2 Plan 

LMS4443, PID: 025-073-591, 102-124 West 1st Street, registered in the name of 
North Vancouver Chamber of Commerce, Roll # 994443.002; 

 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938  Document: 2185895-v1 

19. Royal Canadian Legion Branch 118, District Lot 548 Strata Lot 1 Plan LMS4102, 
PID: 024-750-638, 123 West 15th Street, registered in the name of Royal 
Canadian Legion Branch 118, Roll # 994102.001; 

 
20. Royal Canadian Legion Branch 118, District Lot 548 Strata Lot 2 Plan LMS4102, 

PID: 024-750-646, 121 West 15th Street, registered in the name of Royal 
Canadian Legion Branch 118, Roll # 994102.002; 

 
21. Silver Harbour Seniors’ Activity Centre, District Lot 545 Block 207 Lot C Plan 

15014, PID: 007-711-280, 144 East 22nd Street, registered in the name of Silver 
Harbour Seniors’ Activity Centre, Roll # 207050.000; 

 
22. St Leonard's Society of North Vancouver, District Lot 547 Block 67 Lot 26 Plan 

750, PID: 015-141-926, 312 Bewicke Avenue, registered in the name of St 
Leonard's Society of North Vancouver, Roll # 067027.000; 

 
23. Family Services of the North Shore, Portion of District Lot 548/549 Block 86 Lot G 

Plan LMP29334, PID: 023-499-486, Suite 203 and 206, 1111 Lonsdale Avenue, 
registered in the name of Djavad Mowafaghian Foundation leased to Family 
Services of the North Shore, Roll # 086015.100; 

 
24. Canadian Mental Health Association North and West Vancouver Branch, Portion 

of District Lot 548/549 Lot A Plan EPP22742, excluding 2,223 sq. ft. of the 
subleased rental office space of the total 3,596 sq. ft. leased space, PID 028-911-
237, 300-1835 Lonsdale Avenue, registered in the name of Solitude Investments 
Ltd. leased to Canadian Mental Health Association, North and West Vancouver 
Branch Roll #019033.100;  

 
25. The British Columbia Photography and Media Arts Society, Portion of District Lot 

271 Lot A Plan EPP30712, and excluding the commercial retail space, PID 029-
093-554, 101 Carrie Cates Court, registered in the name of the Corporation of the 
City of North Vancouver and leased to The British Columbia Photography and 
Media Arts Society, Roll # 177035.301;  

 
26. Young Women’s Christian Association (YWCA), District Lot 549, Block 61, Lot Air 

Space Parcel 5, Plan EPP68325, PID 030-180-741, 125 East 14th Street, Units 
203, 204, 401, 402, 403, 404, 405, 406, 407 and 408, registered in the name of 
Young Women’s Christian Association, Roll # 061011.600;  

 
27. Girl Guides of Canada District Lot 271, Lot 220, Plan EPS4482, PID 030-250-218, 

Unit 107-252 Esplanade W, registered in the name of Girl Guides of Canada, Roll 
#994482.220;  

 
28. Girl Guides of Canada District Lot 271, Lot 221, Plan EPS4482, PID 030-250-226, 

Unit 108-252 Esplanade W, registered in the name of Girl Guides of Canada, Roll 
#994482.221;  

 
29. Girl Guides of Canada District Lot 271, Lot 222, Plan EPS4482, PID 030-250-234, 

Unit 109-252 Esplanade W, registered in the name of Girl Guides of Canada, Roll 
#994482.222;  

 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938  Document: 2185895-v1 

30. Girl Guides of Canada District Lot 271, Lot 229, Plan EPS4482, PID 030-250-307, 
Unit 207-252 Esplanade W, registered in the name of Girl Guides of Canada, Roll 
#994482.229;  

 
31. Girl Guides of Canada District Lot 271, Lot 230, Plan EPS4482, PID 030-250-315, 

Unit 208-252 Esplanade W, registered in the name of Girl Guides of Canada, Roll 
#994482.230;  

 
32. Girl Guides of Canada District Lot 271, Lot 231, Plan EPS4482, PID 030-250-323, 

Unit 209-252 Esplanade W, registered in the name of Girl Guides of Canada, Roll 
#994482.231;  

 
33. Hollyburn Family Services Society, District Lot 548 Lot 4 Plan BCS4407 PID: 028-

810-317, 104-210 West 13th Street, registered in the name of the Corporation of 
the City of North Vancouver and leased to Hollyburn Family Services Society, Roll 
# 994407.004; 

 
34. Hollyburn Family Services Society, District Lot 548 Lot 6 Plan BCS4407, PID: 

028-810-333, 106-210 West 13th Street, registered in the name of the 
Corporation of the City of North Vancouver leased to Hollyburn Family Services 
Society, Roll # 994407.006; 

 
35. Hollyburn Family Services Society, District Lot 548 Lot 7 Plan BCS4407, PID: 

028-810-341, 107-210 West 13th Street, registered in the name of the 
Corporation of the City of North Vancouver leased to Hollyburn Family Services 
Society, Roll # 994407.007; 

 
36. Hollyburn Family Services Society, District Lot 548 Lot 13 Plan BCS4407, PID: 

028-810-406, 205-210 West 13th Street, registered in the name the Corporation 
of the City of North Vancouver leased to of Hollyburn Family Services Society, 
Roll # 994407.013; 

 
37. Hollyburn Family Services Society, District Lot 548 Lot 14 Plan BCS4407, PID: 

028-810-414, 206-210 West 13th Street, registered in the name of the 
Corporation of the City of North Vancouver leased to Hollyburn Family Services 
Society, Roll # 994407.014; 

 
38. Hollyburn Family Services Society, District Lot 548 Lot 15 Plan BCS4407, PID: 

028-810-422, 207-210 West 13th Street, registered in the name of the 
Corporation of the City of North Vancouver leased to Hollyburn Family Services 
Society, Roll # 994407.015; 

 
 

B. land or improvements that: 
 

i. are owned or held by a municipality, regional district or other local authority; and, 
 

ii. the council considers are used for a purpose of the local authority: 
 

1. The Pipe Shop, District Lot 274 Block 176 Lot 4 Plan BCP 39824, PID: 027-842-
215, 115 Victory Ship Way, registered in the name of 366466 BC LTD, leased to  



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 5 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938  Document: 2185895-v1 

the Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, operated by Quay Property 
Management Corp., Roll # 175100.400;  

 
2. The Shipyard Commons, District Lot 274, Block 176, Portion of Lot 5, Plan BCP 

39824, PID 027-842-223, 125 Victory Ship Way, registered in the name of the 
Corporation of the City of North Vancouver leased to Shipyards Development Ltd, 
includes 1,317 ft2 Office Space and 6,290 ft2 Public Support Space and 28,310 
ft2 Public Plaza SRW leased back to the Corporation of the City of North 
Vancouver, Roll # 175100.500; 

 
3. North Vancouver Museum and Archives, District Lot 271 Lot 131 Plan ELSP6231, 

PID: 030-942-667, 115 Esplanade W, registered in the name of the Corporation of 
the City of North Vancouver, leased by the North Vancouver Museum and Archives 
Commission, Roll# 996231.131; 

 
C. land or improvements that the council considers would otherwise qualify for exemption 

under section 220 [general statutory exemptions] were it not for a secondary use: 
 

1. The Lonsdale Creek Daycare Centre Society, operating in Lonsdale Annex 
Elementary School, Portion of  District Lot 545 Block 205 Lot 8/14 Plan 3181, PID: 
013-068-831, 230 West 21st Street, registered in the name of North Vancouver 
School District #44, leased to Lonsdale Creek Daycare Centre Society, Roll # 
205008.000; 

 
D. the interest of a public authority, local authority or any other corporation or organization in 

land or improvements that are used or occupied by the corporation or organization if: 
 

i. the land or improvements are owned by a public authority or local authority; and, 
 

ii. the land or improvements are used by the corporation or organization for a purpose in 
relation to which an exemption under this Division or Division 6 of this Part would apply 
or could be provided if the land or improvements were owned by that corporation or 
organization: 

 
 

 
1. Lookout Emergency Aid Society, NS Shelter, District Lot 265 Lot 2 Plan BCP8797, 

PID: 025-819-828, 705 West 2nd Street, registered in the name of the Corporation 
of the City of North Vancouver, leased to Lookout Emergency Aid Society, Roll # 
510061.300; 

 
2. North Shore Neighbourhood House, District Lot 274 Block 154 Lot M Plan 22039, 

PID: 012-590-975, 225 East 2nd Street, registered in the name of the Corporation 
of the City of North  Vancouver leased to North Shore Neighbourhood House, Roll 
# 154001.002; 

 
3. North Shore Neighbourhood House (Community Garden), District Lot 274 Block 

154 Lot L Plan 22039, PID: 012-590-924, 207 East 2nd Street, registered in the 
name of  the Corporation of the City of North Vancouver leased to North Shore 
Neighbourhood House, Roll # 154001.001; 

 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 6 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938  Document: 2185895-v1 

4. North Shore Neighbourhood House, District Lot 274, Lot 63, Plan EPS 1235, PID 
029-140-676, 113 East 3rd Street, registered in the name of the Corporation of the 
City of North Vancouver licenced to use by North Shore Neighbourhood House, 
Roll # 991235.063; 

 
5. North Shore Neighbourhood House (Centreview Childcare Centre), District Lot 

549, Block 61, Lot Air Space Parcel 4, Plan EPP68325, PID 030-180-732, 143 
East 14th Street, registered in the name of the City of North Vancouver, leased to 
North Shore Neighbourhood House, Roll # 061011.500;  

 
6. Margaret Fulton Adult Day Centre, District Lot 547 Lot A Plan LMP42825, PID: 

024-562-874, 1601 Forbes Avenue, registered in the name of the Corporation of 
the City of North Vancouver leased to  Vancouver Coastal Health Authority, 
subleased to Margaret Fulton Adult Day Centre, Roll # 003002.100; 

 
7. Navy League of Canada, District Lot 547, Block 27, Lot 27, Plan 12205, PID 008-

935-629, 1555 Forbes Avenue, registered in the name of the City of North 
Vancouver leased to the Navy League of Canada, Roll #003004.000; 

 
8. Presentation House Cultural Society, District Lot 274 Block 134 Lot 15 &16 Plan 

735 and District Lot 247 Block 134 Lots 12 to 21 Plan 735, 333 Chesterfield 
Avenue, registered in the name of the Corporation of the City of North Vancouver 
leased to Presentation House Cultural Society, Roll # 134013.000; 

 
9. North Vancouver Community Arts Council, District Lot 274, Lot 9, Plan LMS3740, 

PID 024-324-523, 335 Lonsdale Avenue, registered in the name of the City of 
North Vancouver leased to the North Vancouver Community Arts Council, Roll 
#993740.009;  

 
E. the interest of a public authority, local authority or any other corporation or organization in 

land or improvements that are used or occupied by the corporation or organization if: 
 

i. the land or improvements are owned by a person who is providing a municipal service 
under a partnering agreement; 

 
ii. an exemption under section 225 [partnering and other special tax exemption authority] 

would be available for the land or improvements in relation to the partnering agreement 
if they were used in relation to the service; 

 
iii. the partnering agreement expressly contemplates that the council may provide an 

exemption under this provision; and, 
 

iv. the land or improvements are used by the corporation or organization for a purpose in 
relation to which an exemption under this Division or Division 6 of this Part would apply 
or could be provided if the land or improvements were owned by that corporation or 
organization: 

 
NIL 

 
F. in relation to property that is exempt under section 220 (1) (h) [buildings for public worship]:  

 
i. an area of land surrounding the exempt building; 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 7 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938  Document: 2185895-v1 

 
ii. a hall that the council considers is necessary to the exempt building and the land on 

which the hall stands; and, 
 

iii. an area of land surrounding a hall that is exempt under subparagraph (ii): 
 

1. North Shore Bethel Christian Mennonite Brethren Church, District Lot 274 Block 
114 Lot 19 Plan 878, PID: 015-069-141, 185 East Keith Road, registered in the 
name of The B. C. Conference of the Mennonite Brethren Churches, Roll # 
114025.000; 

 
2. Holy Trinity Catholic Church. District Lot 545 Block 239 Lot 3 Plan BCP45481, PID: 

028-295-943, 2705 Lonsdale Avenue, registered in the name Roman Catholic 
Archbishop of  Vancouver, Roll # 239066.100;  

 
3. North Shore Alliance Church, District Lot 545 Block 208 Lot 1 Plan 20958, PID: 

005-061-563, 201 East 23rd Street, registered in the name of Christian and 
Missionary Alliance (Canadian Pacific District), Roll # 208001.001; 

 
4. North Shore Alliance Church, District Lot 545/546 Block 208 Lot 2 Plan 20958, 

PID: 005-061-571, 201 East 23rd Street, registered in the name of Christian and 
Missionary Alliance (Canadian Pacific District), Roll # 208001.002; 

 
5. King's Temple Missionary Society (N S Christian Centre), District Lot 616 Block 12 

Lot C Plan 21170, PID: 006-853-838, 1400 Sutherland Avenue, registered in the 
name of King's Temple Missionary Society (N S Christian Centre), Roll # 
912009.001; 

 
6. Parish of St. Agnes Anglican Church of Canada, District Lot 550 Block 78 Lot A 

Plan LMP40523, PID: 024-355-712, 530 East 12th Street, registered in the name 
of Synod of the Diocese of New Westminster, Roll # 078014.100; 

 
7. Parish of St. John The Evangelist Anglican Church, District Lot 548 Block 72 Plan 

20861, PID: 004-364-970, 209 West 13th Street, registered in the name of Parish 
of St. John The Evangelist  Anglican Church, Roll # 072001.001; 

 
8. Salvation Army North Vancouver Community Church, District Lot 548/549 Block 

86 Lot C Plan 1464, PID: 014-606-950, 105 West 12th Street, registered in the 
name of The Governing Council of the Salvation Army of Canada, Roll # 
086009.001; 

 
9. St. Andrew's & St. Stephen's Presbyterian Church, District Lot 545  Block 227A  

Lot A  Plan 2836, PID: 013-252-409, 2641 Chesterfield Avenue, registered in the 
name of Congregation of St. Andrew's & St. Stephen's Presbyterian Church, Roll 
# 227100.000; 

 
10. St. Andrew's United Church, District Lot 549 Block 88 Lot B  Plan 750 PID: 015-

136-931, 1046 St. Georges Avenue, registered in the name of The Trustees of the 
Congregation of St. Andrew's United Church, Roll # 088003.000; 

 
11. St. Andrew's United Church, District Lot 549 Block 88 Lot 27/28/29 Plan 4328, PID: 

011-642-483, PID:011-642-475, PID:011-642-491, 1044 St. Georges Avenue, 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 8 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938  Document: 2185895-v1 

registered in the name of The Trustees of the Congregation of St. Andrew's United 
Church, Roll # 088038.000; 

 
12. The Way Church, District Lot 550 Block 12 Lot C Plan 9445, PID: 009-653-309, 

630 East 19th Street, registered in the name of Sutherland Church, Inc, No. S8825 
Roll # 012028.000; 

 
13. St. Edmund's Parish, District Lot 271 Block 71 Lot B Plan 8415, PID: 010-087-460, 

613 Mahon Avenue, registered in the name of the Roman Catholic Archbishop of 
Vancouver-St. Edmund's Parish, Roll # 071009.000; 

 
G. land or improvements used or occupied by a religious organization, as tenant or licensee, 

for the purpose of public worship or for the purposes of a hall that the council considers is 
necessary to land or improvements so used or occupied:  

 
NIL 

 
H. in relation to property that is exempt under section 220 (1) (i) [seniors' homes], (j) 

[hospitals] or (l) [private schools], any area of land surrounding the exempt building:  
 

NIL 
 

I. land or improvements owned or held by an athletic or service club or association and used 
as a public park or recreation ground or for public athletic or recreational purposes:  

 
1. North Vancouver Lawn Bowling Club, Portion of District Lot 546 Block 217 Lot B 

Plan 18193, PID: 007-204-001, 249 East 24th Street, registered in the name of the 
Corporation of the City of North Vancouver leased to the North Vancouver Lawn 
Bowling Club, (Includes 60,170 sq. ft. for Licensed Area 1,2,2A and 3 per Schedule 
A of License Agreement)  Roll # 217000.002; 

 
J. land or improvements owned or held by a person or organization and operated as a 

licensed community care facility and registered assisted living residence under the 
Community Care and Assisted Living Act:  

 
1. Marineview Housing Society, District Lot 548 Block E.48 Lot A Plan 12729 PID: 

008-811-946, excluding land and improvement portions relating to market rental 
units #202 and #204, 1415 Chesterfield Avenue, registered in the name of 
Marineview Housing Society, Roll # 048019.000; 

 
2. Marineview Housing Society, District Lot 272 Block 5 Lot 12 Plan 3875 PID: 005-

751-390, 1057 Cloverley Street, registered in the name of Marineview Housing 
Society, Roll # 605012.000; 

 
3. Magnolia House Residential Mental Health Facility, District Lot 616 Block 6 Lot 73 

Plan 1763, PID: 004-276-914, 720 East 17th Street, registered of in the name of  
Provincial Rental Housing Corporation leased to Vancouver Coastal Health 
Authority, subleased to Magnolia House Residential Mental Health Facility, Roll # 
906073.000; 

 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 9 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8938  Document: 2185895-v1 

4. Community Living Society, District Lot 274 Block 116 Lot 4 Plan 878, PID: 015-
131-548, 317 & 319 East Keith Road, registered in the name of Community Living 
Society, Roll # 116003.000; 

 
5. Community Living Society, District Lot 544 SL21 Plan LMS531, PID: 017-957-826, 

1003-555 West 28th Street, registered in the name of Community Living Society, 
Roll # 990531.021; 

 
6. Marineview Housing Society, District Lot 550, Block 91, Lot 8, Plan 1647, PID 005-

751-454, 1053 Grand Boulevard, registered in the name of Marineview Housing 
Society, Roll #091008.000;  

 
K. land or improvements for which a grant has been made, after March 31, 1974, under the 

Housing Construction (Elderly Citizens) Act before its repeal:  
 

NIL 
 
3. The effective date of this bylaw is January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023. 
 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of<> ,2022. 

READ a third time on the <>   day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



To: 

From: 

~ ~ lVl 
Department Director CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Huy Dang, Planner 1 

REPORT 

Subject: DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATIONS: 253 EAST 28TH 
STREET (BILL CURTIS/ BILL CURTIS & ASSOCIATES DESIGN LTD.) 

Date: June 15, 2022 File No: 08-3060-20-024 7 /1 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution . 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 1, dated June 15, 2022, entitled 
"Development Variance Permit Applications - 253 East 28th Street (Bill Curtis / 
Bill Curtis & Associates Design Ltd.)": 

THAT Development Variance Permit Nos. PLN2022-00011 and PLN2022-00017 
be considered for issuance under Section 498 of the Local Government Act and 
referred to the same Public Meeting; 

THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 

AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign the necessary 
documentation to give effect to this motion. 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Context Map (CityDocs 2185974) 

2. Architectural Plans for West Lot (Lot 24), dated June 10, 2022 (CityDocs 2189911 ) 
3. Architectural Plans for East Lot (Lot 23), dated June 15, 2022 (CityDocs 2191099) 

4. Public Consultation Summary (CityDocs 2191357) 

5. Streamside Protection and Enhancement Development Permit Guidelines (CityDocs 
750429) 

6. "Development Variance Permit No. PLN2022-00011 - 253 East 28th Street" (West 
Lot) (CityDocs 2186798) 

7. "Development Variance Permit No. PLN2022-00017 - 253 East 28th Street" (East 
Lot) (CityDocs 2190815) 

Document Number: 2181870-V3 



REPORT: Development Variance Permit Applications - 253 East 28 th Street (Bill Curtis/ Bill Curtis & 
Associates Design Ltd.) 
Date: June 15, 2022 

SUMMARY 

This report seeks Council approval for two Development Variance Permits (DVPs) for 
the property at 253 East 28th Street, which consists of two legal lots. The variances 
include an increase to the allowable Principal Building heights for the proposed single
family dwellings, and for the east lot in particular, a reduction of the front yard setback 
and parking requirements from two parking spaces to zero. One DVP will be registered 
per lot, and the variances will support the retention and rehabilitation of the Streamside 
Protection and Enhancement Area (SPEA) that encompasses most of the lots. 

The DVPs will be processed concurrently alongside the required Streamside Protection 
& Enhancement Development Permits for each lot to permit the proposed single-family 
dwellings with suites. 

BACKGROUND 

Applicant: Bill Curtis, Bill Curtis & Associates Ltd . 
Official Community Plan Residential Level 1 
Designation : 

Existing Zoning : RS-1 
Applicable Guidelines: Streamside Development Permit Area 

Site Context and Surrounding Use 

The property is located in the Tempe neighbourhood, and each lot has a frontage of 
10.1 m (33.0 ft) . There is currently a single-family dwelling that straddles the interior 
property line separating both lots, which is an existing non-conformance and would be 
demolished as part of this proposal. 

The buildings and uses immediately surrounding the property are described in Table 1 
below. 

Table 1. Surrounding Uses 
Direction Address Description Zoning 

North 256 East 28th Street Single-family dwelling RS-1 

South 254 East 27th Street 
(across the and 258 East 27th Single-family dwellings RS-1 
lane) Street 

East - Streamside Area -

West 251 E 28th St Single-family dwelling RS-1 

Immediately east of the property is City-owned land containing a protected streamside 
area with no public access. 

Page 2 of6 



REPORT: Development Variance Permit Applications - 253 East 28th Street (Bill Curtis/ Bill Curtis & 
Associates Design Ltd.) 
Date: June 15, 2022 

Policy Context 

The proposal of individual single-family dwellings and suites for each lot is consistent 
with the Official Community Plan's Residential Level 1 (R 1) designation for the property. 

The City's Streamside Protection and Enhancement Development Permit Guidelines 
(the "Streamside Guidelines") apply to any development within 15 metres from the top 
of a watercourse bank, otherwise known as the Streamside Protection and 
Enhancement Area (SPEA). Given the proximity to the adjacent stream, these 
Streamside Guidelines apply to both lots and thus a Development Permit will be 
required for each lot (see Attachment #5). 

The Streamside Guidelines consist of additional considerations and requirements for 
streamside developments in addition to standard Zoning Bylaw and City regulations. 
The Development Permit formalizes the ongoing maintenance requirements and 
necessary protective measures for developing sensitively alongside riparian areas. 

PLANNING ANALYSIS 

Streamside Guideline Requirements 

The Streamside Guidelines require that development be sited on portions of the 
property that are least environmentally sensitive, and generally require that habitat 
within the SPEA (15 metres from the top of a watercourse bank) be maintained, or if 
needed, restored with no net loss (refer to Section 9 of Attachment #5). Furthermore, no 
development within 5 metres of the top of watercourse bank is permitted generally. 

Although the majority of the east lot and significant portions of the west lot are sited 
within the SPEA (refer to Figure 1 ), staff are supportive of the proposal as an 
opportunity to introduce an additional primary dwelling unit and suite to the 
neighbourhood. The proposal seeks to restore and rehabilitate 'lost' habitat space within 
the SPEA at a no net loss and the proposed Principal Building on the east lot in 
particular will be sited in a manner that reasonably limits the footprint within the SPEA. 

The required Development Permits will ensure that the ongoing maintenance and 
restoration requirements of the Streamside Guidelines are fulfilled alongside acquiring a 
security deposit for the required landscaping works. Included in the Development Permit 
review will be requirements to provide a stormwater management plan and flood hazard 
report to confirm the City's standard regulations are being met. 

Streamside Protection and Enhancement Area (SPEA) 

Section 9.2.4 of the Streamside Guidelines indicates that where necessary, zoning 
variances may be considered to prevent further loss of habitat within the SPEA. 

Through the application of the Streamside Guideline requirements, the amount of 
buildable area within the SPEA is limited for both lots. Variances are proposed in order 

Page 3 of 6 



REPORT: Development Variance Permit Applications - 253 East 28th Street (Bill Curtis/ Bill Curtis & 
Associates Design Ltd.) 
Date: June 15, 2022 

to accommodate more functional and livable building designs as a result of the site 
constraints. 

Figure 1. 15- and 5-metre distances from the top of watercourse bank 

A 

Legend N ---
Top of Watercourse 
Bank (ToB) 

5 metres from Tob 

15 metres from ToB 

·unss are rough depletions 

"~, 0 ..... 

Parking Variance 

Development within 5 
metres of the top of 
watercourse bank is 
prohibited, which means no 
buildings, structures, 

- pavement, etc. are permitted 
along the eastern and 
southern portions of the east 

, lot. As such, vehicular 
access off the lane would 
not be possible, and 
introducing a front driveway 
off East 28th Street would not 
be ideal. 

With those considerations, 
the proposal seeks to reduce 
the parking requirements for 
the east lot from the 
minimum requirement of two 
spaces to zero. Staff are 
supportive of this proposal 
given the proximity to public 
transit one block north along 
East 29th Street, and two 
blocks west along Lonsdale 
Ave. There is also available 
street parking along East 
28th Street and St. Andrews 
Avenue . 

Parking requirements will be met on the west lot, however a variance to the siting of the 
garage on the west lot will be required in order to allow for the structure to be sited 
deeper into the lot. This will allow for the existing driveway to be maintained, and allow 
for adequate vehicular egress to the other unenclosed parking stall beside the garage. 

Height and Siting Variances 

A reduction of the Principal Building setback requirement from the Front Lot Line is 
proposed for the east lot. This variance will allow for the building to be sited further north 

Page 4 of6 



REPORT: Development Variance Permit Applications - 253 East 28th Street (Bill Curtis/ Bill Curtis & 
Associates Design Ltd.) 
Date: June 15, 2022 

and away from the 5 metre setback from top of watercourse bank, and will help facilitate 
additional habitat restoration and maintenance in the rear yard. 

A variance to the maximum height envelope for both Principal Buildings is also 
proposed. The immediate proximity to the streamside area results in a higher flood 
hazard potential, and the determined Flood Construction Level (FCL) requires that the 
basements for both buildings be lifted almost entirely above grade. 

A summary of the variances proposed for both lots are outlined below under Table 2. 

Table 2. Proposed Zoning Variances 

Current Regulation (RS-1) Proposed Variance (DVP) 
Principal Building Principal Building shall not Principal Building Top of Plate 
Heights exceed a maximum Building height shall not exceed a 
(Both Lots) Height of 10.1 m (33.1 ft) maximum height of 10.1 m (33.1 

ft) for the west lot 

Principal Building shall not 
exceed a maximum Building 
Height Envelope of 11.2 m (36.8 
ft) for the east lot 

Accessory Accessory Buildings shall be sited Accessory Buildings shall be sited 
Building Siting in the rear 25% of the Lot depth in the rear 31 % of the Lot depth 
(West Lot) 
Principal Building Principal Building shall not Principal Building and site shall 
Lot Coverage exceed a Lot Coverage of 30%, not exceed a combined Lot 
(East Lot) and the site shall not exceed a Coverage of 31 % 

combined total of 40%. 

Principal Building Principal Building shall be sited Principal Building shall be sited 
Front Yard Setback not less than 4.6 m (15.0 ft) from not less than 3.7 m (12.2 ft) from 
(East Lot) the Front Lot Line the Front Lot Line 

Parking 2 parking stalls 0 parking stalls 
(East Lot) 

COMMUNITY CONSULTATION 

A virtual Developer's Information Session (DIS) was held on October 26, 2021, with four 
attendees. The attendees were in general support of the proposal, however all 
attendees, including an additional neighbour who reached out separately, expressed 
concerns with the proposed parking variance. The concerns all cited inadequate street 
parking in the neighbourhood, which could be further impacted by the on-site parking 
reduction. 

In response to those concerns, staff conducted an internal analysis of the 200 block 
along East 28th Street in September 2021 and determined that there was no shortfall in 
available off-street parking during the day. Staff also note that the block and immediate 
surrounding areas are zoned RS-1 (One-Unit Residential 1 ), which already requires on
site parking minimums. 

Page 5 of 6 



REPORT: Development Variance Permit Applications - 253 East 28th Street (Bill Curtis/ Bill Curtis & 
Associates Design Ltd.) 
Date: June 15, 2022 

Additionally, a couple comments were received regarding the City's anticipated plans for 
the streamside area and adjacent lane portion. Currently no plans have been 
formalized, however the City has policies in place to assess the connectivity and health 
of environmentally-sensitive areas, which are prioritized annually through the capital 
and work plans. 

CONCLUSION 

Staff are supportive of the proposed variances as they will help support the addition of 
two new single-family dwellings with suites for both lots, which will be developed at a no 
net loss of habitat in a manner that is sensitive to the adjacent streamside area. The 
proposal will also serve to rectify the existing non-conforming single-family dwelling that 
is currently sited over top of the bounding property line separating both lots. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Huy Dang 
Planner 1 

Page 6 of 6 



City of North Vancouver

253 East 28th Street

E 28th St
E 28th St

St
. A

nd
re

w
s 

A
ve

St
. A

nd
re

w
s 

A
ve160

2
4

4
 E

 2
7

t
h

 S
t

2
4

5
 E

 2
8

t
h

 S
t

2
6

8
 E

 2
7

t
h

 S
t

2
5

8
 E

 2
7

t
h

 S
t

2
4

6
 E

 2
8

t
h

 S
t

2
4

1
 E

 2
8

t
h

 S
t

2
5

1
 E

 2
8

t
h

 S
t

E
 2

8
t

h
 S

t

2
5

4
 E

 2
7

t
h

 S
t

2
4

9
 E

 2
9

t
h

 S
t

2
5

3
 E

 2
8

t
h

 S
t

2
4

2
 E

 2
8

t
h

 S
t

E
 2

8
t

h
 S

t

2
5

3
 E

 2
8

t
h

 S
t

2
4

0
 E

 2
8

t
h

 S
t

2
4

8
 E

 2
7

t
h

 S
t

2
7

0
8

 S
t

.
A

n
d

r
e

w
s

 A
v

e

3 2 5  T e m p e
C r e s

2
3

9
 E

 2
8

t
h

 S
t

3
0

9
 T

e
m

p
e

C
r

e
s

2
3

8
 E

 2
7

t
h

 S
t

2
4

2
 E

 2
7

t
h

 S
t

2
5

2
 E

 2
7

t
h

 S
t

2
7

3
8

 S
t

.
A

n
d

r
e

w
s

 A
v

e

2
4

9
 E

 2
8

t
h

 S
t

2 5 6  E  2 8 t h  S t

PLOTTED : 6/7/2022

COOR DIN ATE SYSTEM: NAD 83, U TM Zone 10

GIS Division, Information Technology, 
City of North Vancouver

This map was produced on the City of North 
Vancouver's Geographic Information System. 
Data provided herein is derived from sources 
with varying levels of accuracy and detail. 
The City of North Vancouver disclaims all 
responsibility for the accuracy or completeness 
of information contained herein.

DISCLAIMER

0 6 123
Meters

Legend
Subject Site
Major Contours
Minor Contours
Streams
Ponds
Legal_Parcels

1:500

SOUR CE: StaffMAP

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 1�



TOPOGRAPHIC SITE PLAN OF LOT 24 6LOCK 237 
D ISTRICT LOT 546 GROUP I NUJD PLAN 32~3 

25)£aot 2Slhf.lr•• t.NonhY..-.:ouv-, 

PID,00-'!l'!ll-= 

SCALE 1 , 100 

Thal-pl<>t•1>• .,rthloF0,-,1•-1•-

--... ,• .... l..,,.<'OOIZ<>l-p\ot..,001•0CM0,1,IOO 

Q.._ DEN01E6UNITMn'M,.,.;ou; 

Q._ P£1""TU&TO<IM M-.£ 

@ OENoTE6 1"'EE.u<>cANO!"YE><TE»T 

x•·• DENOTEI> GIOGl<JND EI.FY"'TION 

P£N01E6TOl'>C# .. liT-!NG"""-l,lia\'_.,TION 

"' .... C&IOTU"'-'""""' 
.... OENOTE&~T'T"L"'II! 

>(T DENOfU~~"1"WEI..EY" TION 

/ 

,, 
•'' ~ ~,....,, ... ' ,,.., ,,.,. 

EA&T 28TI-I &TREET 

26 

!!l.ACl<:TOP TO PROPERTY U NE 
AT DEVEl.Or'ER& COST 4ND TO 
C:ITT Of' NOla:tl-1 Y4NCollvER 
f>.GINEE'll!ING. 6T4 NOARO& 

LANE 

!'ll..l!, ,00..,,TOl"-=~·••En<e.•~CTION 
@T-<lnL.41C>-YFrlOl6,,..,,L"'l0'" 

,, 

I.cl..,,_,.,,..,,__,_,_ --""0 pa.., EPPHY1 

........,_.._...,. .............. ,.,,., .. ,"0,,,.,.,, ... ,"0-

ECov .. ,_.,.,...,....,e,cYC>le<>~•IN~J ~·- ,_ c::-w., -- __ ,. 

,,, 

:;;.:: .. ~~"""'""Eo,' ;";';\~--6,.~- .. --
__ ,.,,, .. ,.,.. .... .,,,_,.,,,..,..,,_,,_1""1'-'11 ,,,_ 
.,._,_,_,,___,,e1p41_,__,....,,_ 
C.--<k\orto.,..., .. ,..,..,,.,.,__...,. .... ...,_ "''"''°~""" 

;:-..:.,-:-;:;:- .. ,_,.,,-.," __ 
·--•-'!r""""""""'--"' -'· n,,, ,.,..,_,,,..,,......,o, ,,.,.,,_.,_. .. _,g,,_ =~~~=..§=~5 _,. . .,.,..,,,,,. ___ ,...,.,..,.,._,.,,,...,.,"'""""" 

/ 
ToRcM~ 21"1.Y~ 
OV~IW&"T""l"LYlllOOP 
OV~ 2d "'°"" J0'6T6 • 10,• 0/C 

6lOrHGOV£llit21.AY-lOH.~. 
5UII.OrMGPAPEJll:OVEl'lln" 
l"LY.614SAT>ll>l<;O\IER 
2d•i." 01c 

I ,_ -- I 
.... ,...,,.,., ___ """" __ ,_ ,,., ..... -... -~--,...,_,., 0---~"""'--"'".,,...""' ----'""""°"""""-'""~----T-....--~----··---~, ___ .. ...,.."'" .. ~----.,_ ,,.. __ ..__ ___ .. .,.,,., __ 

.u.- ~-,_.,,,.....,_,_ .. ,,,,....,_,._,_,,.,o,_.,.. ---- -------OOO<T'CT""M----....""""Tffl/T'O--,,. ...,.,,. -

B ICYCLE &TORAGE PLAN 

RSI 

B IC YCLE &TORAGE 
&IDE ELEYATION 

106.':!5 &aUARE METER& (28,._J 

, 20S.04 SQUARE METER& ()O,._ • ':!2.':lJ 

, 186.422 SQUARE METERS r2s,; • ':!:V:IJ 

31.16 eaJARE METERS 
, 24-.l':!3 &QUARE METERS 

..... ,,. •• ,,, ....... ,.. •• ,,, .•••• 110.102M 
..........•. 16':!.862 M 

................. 167.3':!':! M 
...............•..• IE>,I.WlM 

1.115 M 

.................... 160.6 M 

....... ,, .............. ........... 16 \.37 M 
.................•..............• h&l.01 M 

Phone604•9S6-4550 
Fu 604-9S6-4555 

billcurtisdesign@gmail.com 

HarbourfrontBusinessCentre 
SthFloor,224WestEsplanade 

North Vancouver, BC V7M 3M6 

o,.,1ng SITE PLAN 

o,.., ~ ac c- Fee. 201s 

SCALE, ldOO METRIC 

< 

\ 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 2�



ii© 
I ~ . . 

~ 
' · ~ 

~ 

ii 
it-

--'1:J~·:? l----l---
1 1_ ,, e:ie.eo.=.e, , e,.,_., 

BED OOM •2 

~ u1 .... '8 
.. , 
"\ 

~ 
j 

f$" 

l:I i f ~~ -~-~~~ffli ~· 

4 21f,.4 1 514 ll lOl.ii, 

.m.MA5TER. 6~DROOM .. 

; 1111 ··~ " 

--Ir-'=' 

II"==!"'"~, 

o . .,o,,o.op~OY811 

~1 ··r .. . 

~ 

e 12.a L1 06E>la l I Ot>6.e -l,:s1.t,o<:J., 

¼ 1JJ.1:> 

~······· 

UPPER FLOOR PLAN 
':156.1 SGli.lARE FEET 
<88.611 SQUARE METRESJ 

; -,i--------1~ 
I ,, " ! .. ;: ..... !...., ... 
I 

i--- ==:::."~:~· 

f 
1 066.& w ':!!1-1-.4 w 1E>2 l (i1E>2 

4~:151.2 

~l~l 
:o ~ 

············~·· , ,' 
- N - i LIVING : - !! 4"9~:,;=f---_'. #~ 

4" 

~ l ,t, 

! i 

~

·················-r-·············· 
······•· DINING .... ~ ITTg~-~: 

©- l±J8 
. [-r;"c7\ "H'" i 

; j :o ~ ~:~-
tl-j ' :.------;_ . 

; / , v,jn 
-f'""l : ~ 1 066.8 wl 

' a.r-"• ' "'-" 

1 524 

~ 261.2 

~ 
MAIN FLOOR PLAN 
1,0:>0.0 SQUARE FEET 
<':!!1.~5 eat.JARE METER!e>J 

~~ ifiY 

.~ 
si 
0 

---+----------- r:~---

A 

·'i 
~ 
}.-~:·J::::~ 
s'S\_ 
i ::-

e 

DINETtE 

~ 
LIVING 

-------t!+--------+-'~ 

~I i 
'r ·· ··~ 

I 524 l 
~ 2&1.2 

~······· 

6A5EMENT PLAN 
1,0!;;0.0 SGliJARE FEET 
(':!!1.~S SQUARE METRESJ 

I ---~ --- - I 
....,.,.., __ . .,,. ___ _ 

---.... ------, . ..,_ .......... ., . ..__,.._ ,.._""...,~'---------0 - --··---· .. ---"'"""''"'"'~-· ,.._,__,. 
___ ,,... ,.,,.._,.,.,.!WI __ --~-,-----.,~"'-"" ____ ,..,..,,,,, .. ...,,,...,.,._,,.,.,..,_ 

.,_,..,,.,.,.,__......_ o,,,.,.,. ... .._~,.., "" _,,.,.,,...._ __ , __ © 

Dr•lag 

Phone604•986-4550 

Fu 604-986-4555 
billcurtisdesign@gmail.com 

Hu bourfrontBusinessCentre 
SthFloor,224WestEsplanade 

North Vancouver, BC V7M 3M6 

FLOOR PLAN5 
er-.~ e .c. 

~ Jo<• 
FHAGOORA RESIDENCE 
AT 253 EAST 28th STREET 
NORTH VANCOUVER 



e'-E>" 

:~ 

~ 
~ ~ 

'ti 1;> 
f::l Q 

-0 

IL : 114 
12'-0" 

GARAGE PLAN 

----- -----------=a 

p00-,...-.....,.- - -

GARAGE SOUTH ELEVATION 

-- I ,1111111111111111111111111111111h111111111111111111111111111111!11,111 0 11 0 1111111111111II 

I I __ 

I 1-..! 
1,1J 
~ J, ----- - - - - - _._ - __ ._ _____ ._ - - - - , 

---:;.z:;;c-
GARAGE EAST ELEVATION 

------G 'J 

GARAGE SECTION 

- ""-'••,:~...;.- -
GARAGE WEST ELEVATION 

11111m11m11~111 'LJ_ [[ f-
, I . ---- , --

GARAGE NORTH ELEVATION 

I -- ~ - I 
_,, __ ,..,---~ .. ·----------,. ..,,_ "'""'""""'"""""'-_""_ ... .,,.~,.,,..--....,,.........., ......... ,.._, 

•.. ~-~---··----N __ ,. ...,._..,,. .. ,._,""""", .. ...,,,.,.«-e<i -~--...__----,,,-~-,.....,.. ,._,,._ ........ ,_"'""'-"""",..,_"" ..,..,,,..,,_....,,..,,""""'' "'"- ,. , .. ~ 
""""" -" ··-- ........ ""''--r, "" ....eac,, .... ,,.., © 

~ = 
~ 

= 

~ 

~ 
i 
] 

Phone604-986-4550 1~ 
Fu 60M86-4555 ; 

bilkurtisdesign@gnu.il.(om Cl 

H.rbourfront Business Centre 
5thFloor,224WestEsplanade 

North Vanrouve r, BC V7M 3M6 

Dr•T"9 

~-., 
~Jo<• 

GARAGE PLANS 

PHAGOORA RESIDENCE 
AT 2S3 EAST 26th STREET 
NORTH VANCOUVER 



~I 

[;JQ •4 

'<> 

SECTION A 

'<> 

-=-.....,.,._OVE!Ot..,.'~y 
OVEFt:t,61'10:--0VEFt,ODDl'JOleTe 
<;AIJO,,~ID.ATT•,•Mll,.UVP<:>\,'l' .. "P 4Sl.2h ROOF R IDGiE 110.102 M In' o,oYW.L.L, l!!.OPE ,:,ec,,:: ro °"'-

T"':'_ -~ ~~L 16':!l.!311:>2 M 

61Jl.'..-CONC. w..u.9UT>< 
:t,4<;AU,O:,,.D.ATT~t10tl 
• ..._uv.l'OI.Y • Vl"OtO:'l'IIJ.Ol.l. 

elJITE FLOOR 111:>l.115 M 

l' co»c,,1!11!1'C<H:>MIONIIU.I.I. 
10~,,.==• =,.1•00, 
..l.6Pl,l,,I.LTD....,..,.,.,OOFIN<;">'D 
AI.A'l'""'°""''"TV't~ _,...""' .. ,..,.,._ 
eno,_opf'001..,,ow•·-,.rw 
.-VC:DIU,IH~IHDIUIN,.oct< 
ew .. i<>•" Tl6"l,..,.CDIUl>I 
"°"'"DDl'WAT ... OIO,t,.......,. 

SECTION D 

SECTION B 

d 

11/l"CONCltnE T~IN<oOH 
4' CONCIOl!11!61.Aeova> 
6 ,.._ UV l'OI.Y OVE!Ot 'i' " ~ 
"ld,lt)-..._..TIOtlON~ 
IOOCl<DY ... COMP'ACT<i!l=i! 

ROOF RIDGE 110.102 M 

T~!:__9!... ~~U.. ti&':!J.862 M 

elJITE FLOOR lbl.115 M 

T"':'_ _~ ~~L 16':!J.811:>2 M 

~ ··--=-~ ==OUTTD<teo.aiw 
"""4~°"'VIHn,60l'!'IT. 
"""'°YIC>l!N060ffll ,0:DDl'~TI"°' 
IH &Om16-"I.O"Gfl~A!OP6 
IIO!'l'IT,,,_,.l>Co AT""Otll' '",c>,e,,,,,. 

I W COl<CI01!11!T~IHGoON 
..,...,, <i~Y1J.IOODOV ... 

""'"'Hli"'-"""'.ll.&6P'£C"'IEt) 
ON 6no::JCT\#UI.Dl""""""6 
CIIII V2' 0t0:'l'l,l!.l,,LLcELIN<> 

~ --~ "><'Ot0:'1'1,1!.1,,LL 
OVEl'!l'I.OO'l!J016 T6 C IIII 

KITCHEN 

elJITE FLOOR 111:>l.115 M 

'<> 
SECTION C 

~..::..-== ~ 6,0JNG,,>,N:,OV-Clt!PCM> 

'i'r50-.>COMT.&a<EEMEDVENT 

10:IJH-MEMB"""'-E IP 
OUH,t>EF.4CEOO'IIU.l.l.&IEATI-IIH<, 

V2' (12.-.,~Y1J.IOODIIU.l.l.-..,T .. ,.,, 

OVE!O::t,4(,_,HJ61'10:- •2-<' 0N "l.,l,T, 
(600MM)OIC 0Ve< ... ""'Ll..-'I' 

_,,,,-,0Mn11!R,,1,"" 0VE!Ot l/l"(~ . ...._,~'I' 
"DDl'&MEA~OVE!Ot:t,4'3&..n/6~
ov.,. .. DOI'.......,.,,, - ~'I' 

ROOF VENTING DETAIL 

m· - - - I 
-··---""""--·__ ...,_,..,,N_~---

Q-"'-"-""""""'""'""'' ___ .,. _ ""'~"""'-"""~----~-~---.,.~·--y ~-----.-·----· ---~---.. ,,. .... __ "-"'OO<~-·- ........ --OOOQ.OOC '0-00< ..,.,..,.,,,,.......,_..,,..,_,,,.._,._.,,,._,,,.,,..._ -- """' __ _,,"'"'""'""--,,. ,..,..,.,,,_ __ 

D INEllTE 

~ 

d 

~ ~ = -

Dr•lr,,g 

Phone604-986-4550 
Fn 604-986-4555 

bilkurtisdesign@gmail.com 

Harbourfront Business Centre 
SthFloor,224WestF.splanade 

North Vancouver, BC V7M 3M6 

SECTIONS 
Dr-~ ~.c. pq l'el.2019 

~,-., 
Pl4AGOORA RESIDENCE 
AT 253 EAST 28th STREET 
NORT14 VANCOUVER 



FINIS14ED GRADE 160.508 M 

&OUTI-I ELEV A TION 

NORTI-I ELEV A TION 

ROOF R IDGI= , MAX. 
- AD...OWID 110.102 M 

Tg:" __£F_ _!!!ALL 16S.&62 M 

REC. ROOM FLOOR 161.480 M 

el.llTE FLOOR l&l.11S M 

__ R EFERANCE GR ADE t&0.602 M 

FINIS14ED GRADE 160.361 M 

ROOF R IDGE ' MAX. 
ALLOWEP 110.102 M 

_ _ TOP _ OF WALL l&S.8&2 M 

TOP OF WALL ALLOWED 168.&02 M 

___ JiHitil:ii 
·.• 

.* -'~~~.\•.*~-';) 1
4

1/ 1
4

1/ 1
4

1 ... 1~1
4

1/ 1
4

1/ _1
4

1/ 1
4

1/ 1
4

1/ 1
4

1/4 1/ 1
4

1/ _1
4

14 _1111
4 

1: U 
4 

I~ 

---1 

SPATIAL SERPERATIO N CALCULATIONS, 
1,340 SQUARE FEET <124.486 M2J AT 4 ' LIMITING Dl&TANCE 
ALLOWS~-~ &F (10.14 M2J l '- OF WALL AREA 
es.~ SQUARI= Fl=ET (8.36 M2J P R OPOSED 

FINISl4ED GRADE l&0.508 M 

WE&T ELEVATION 

I 

l illllllllfil~!tllllllllBfOllllllllllllllllllllllllllll
1

llll 1 

,JMil 
rr"P 

I 

__ _!_Of' ____fl~ _.!!!ALL t&S.e,&2 M 

161.4$0 M 

OOR 1~ 1.11s M 

~ . ~ 

= 

...., 

MAIN FLOOR 164.281 M •A 
m 

il JI 
., 

tl .l_lJ .l_lJ11.JW.I.~ J 1..1 _l 1..1 W~.:;•·.~:;•--·/;•·.~:~. _: .. ·.-_: .. ·.-·-· 

~ 

J 
] 

·•).•:::!-•:::;.-:::!,·.};•t-----.t--- ! 
~ : 4

~~: ~ : 4 

~ : : •· :

4 

~:: ~ : 4 

~:: ~.:

4

~ ~: ~ bilku rtis:e:gn6:;:~::~ & 

16 1,489 ~ 

&UITE Fl..OOR 1&1.llS M 

,_. 
REFER ANCE GRADE t&0.64!~ M 

FINISl,,IID GRADE l&0.361 M 

EA&T ELEVATION 

~ 4 
/: ~ 4 

/; •, 
4 

6~; ~ 4 
6~: ~. 4 / · ~ Harbourfront Business Centre 

.• ·•• • ·•• ' 5th Floor,224West Esplanade 
North Vancouver, BC V7M 3M6 

FINl~ID GRADE 161.480 M 

&PATIAL •ERPERATION CALCULATION>, , ---- = •• I ~,-, .. -,., ... ,,._, __ ,_ , ._,., , ... --:- """"" _---
ALLOWS SS.41 SF (8.06 M2) OF UNPROTECTED OPENING •o-~"""""'"'_,,,,,_,_ _ _ _ -
AT 1,r. OF WALL ARl=A .,-....,_ _,.,.,,.,.,. ___ _ , ""'"""_, _, "'' 
&4 SF (S.SS M2) PROPOSED ~ _ __,,,_.._ __ ..,._n- o, __ _ © 

,,,.,.,. ELEV A TION& 
p-..., 8!j 8.C. D- Fee. 20~ 

_,_,, 
P I-IAGOORA RESIDENCE 
AT 253 EAST 28th 5 TREET 
NORTl-4 VANCOUVER 



'I 
·,; 

~ 

Q 
Q 

~ 

'9 
in 

·1 

"' 

~ 

2!:>'-0" 

9'-10' 2'-4" 12'-IO' 

>-! 
I 

3'-6" 

14 '-6" ,·-o• 3 '-6' 

2!:>'-0" 

UPPER FLOOR PLAN 

UPPER FLOOR 2 AREA OVERLAY 
SCALI=: 114" • l'-0" 

~ 
~ 
~ 
~ 

'rl 'I 
~ ~ 

~ 

Q 
Q 

9 
,; 

9 s 

'I 
r J 9 

Q 

-----
~ 

- - "----;-y---~ --

•·-0" I 
, ..... 7 

9'-0" / I , . .... 

11-ARE jEET 

~ 1'-6" 

I~ ~•9~ 
~ "' '-i-"""-"_j 

~ 
~ 
~ 
~ 
~ 
~ 
,-J 

l:tc'C'C..'C..'C . .',---:.., _, _,;;::-_,,<~ 

92!:> $OI.JARE FEET 

: ~ SQUARE FEET 
I 110 SQUARE F 

L_-_-.c-_~_.._,_- ""\.._~~'- :::...--::::..1 '\-~~ s 

,, h.J 

v 
J&li;T 

14 '-0" 7 60!,SQUAR FEET 2&'-6" 

..... ___ ___.. 

~ 
g!] OQIJAREFEET 

~ 

.... 

<----- -=====IJ 
MAIN FLOOR PLAN 
1p!;0.0 6QUARE FEET F&R 
+ 298 .. 18 SQUARE FEET 
• 111,4 .. ~ SQUARE FEET LOT COVERAGE 

MAIN FLOOR S AREA OVERLAY 
SCALE, 1/4 ' • l'-0" 

~ 
~ 9 

,; 

~ 

.# Ill 
T 
11 

' ') 

~ 
~ 
J 

71 
11'-4' 

I II ~ 
149 .. 2 FEET 

122,e<l ¾IUARE ~EET 

254.:?,8 ~QUAR~FEET 

; ~ 

\4'-0" 

2s'-o' 

BASEMENT PLAN 
526,45 SQUARE FOOT SUITE 

6A5EMENT PLAN 3 AREA OVERLAY 
SCALE, 114" • l'-0" I - --- I 

____ ,..¥ ___ , _ __ ..,. ..,,.,. ____ ,. ...,,__ 

""'"'-'- """""""'"""""'-_""'_ ....... "".....,..,,..,,.,. .... _,.., .... ,...._.., _..__~---··---~· ·---.. ..a.11- ......... ,.""°"' ___ =--
_____ ....... ___ .,.,.. __ 
. 

"" .. -,,--.. ... ' - ·-· ..,,._,.,,.__,..,...,.,.,,,......,""'_,.,,.,.._.. __ 
""""'" - · ·--........ .,.,..ffl\/T'O __ 

"" ...,...,,. - @ 

Phone604-986-4550 

Fax 604·966-4555 
bilkurtisduign@gmail.com 

Hu bourfront Business Centre 
5thFloor,224WestEsplanade 

North Vancouver, BC V7M 3M6 

0r .. 1ng 

~- ., 
~Joe• 

FLOOR AREA& 

PHAGOORA RESIDENCE 
AT 2S3 EA5 T 28th 5 TREET 
NORTH VANCOUVER 

t 



TOPOGRAPHIC SITE PLAN OF LOT 24 6LOCK 237 
D ISTRICT LOT 54<& GROUP I NWD PLAN 32\!3 

2!n Eat 28th etr.al, Norl.h vancouv
PrD, 012·~l-~!> 

SCALE 1,100 

,.,_......,...,p..,._,,,.,,,,,,,, p...,,,_ ,"•'<M 
""" - '" ""''9'>1 ro ,,,..>_plot.- .. • oe,~"' 1,100. 

0 ... e>eiOTU SAHJT_,....,.....au, 

o_ OENo1U6TQIOMM,l,,Nl,lQU!' 

@ e>e!OTUT,i:l!l! .. ><C>C: .. _...V<n>lt 

x•·• DEN0Tff~EI.EYAT10t< 

PENOTE6T""'C#"ETAIH-W.,.UB.£V_.,TION 

"' ..... P8,0rl)61'1A"""'I.!: 

l"l l>ENOTEtl-lT UNE 

!MT OENolU~ .. lU>ELEYATION 

/ 

,· / .,, """"""'"" , ,,.,. ,,., 

EA5T 28Tl4 5TREET 

26 25 

81.ACKTOP TO ~apa;jTT UNE 
AT D£VE1.C!'>ER6 COM AND TO 
CltT Of' N01'1Tll VA>ICOUYER 
ENGINEOl:INa. 6TANDAR06 

LANE 

,, ,. 

_,. 

______ __,..,."""_"'~"'--'....,""'-,,-----.,,-1,· 

... ~• = •~~a ... &1-TION 

@ T-c.lOT L.4ND ""'"Yn"""°' INJV L<d ,.,,. 

I.<>< o,_,,.,.,..,. _ ,__, ,..,,, '"""''"'9 - El"!"H!Mll 

___ \o .......... ,.,, .. ,.,"IJ"'""'"'"'""' 
Ei<ovotr.,,..,._,,_,e ,cvc,,.<>~- IN HS1"1,R6J p.,,,,.,.,,., .. ~-861< .... 
:;::'°'':;-'.,__,,...,,,,.,_:i..,,~_,lk."'-e-'"v_,. ::-..:..""::"'....:::.-°' l._,,.,.,.,.'1_-' , ____ .,,..,.., .. _,.,....,. .. .,,.. 

Thl• -- -,odfot.a'II-Wal ....,,gn.., 

::, .. _-;,:~~~:,:..v:·,:;::..--:.~ 
"' "~ '"'-.i--..,.,. ............... ..... ....,"11. 
"'-"""""'''"•- -'""""'.,.,.._"'....,.,_..... 

/ 

,· 
GE 

TO!l<C><1:>C'W'<2 1"!.YMV'ffl""""" 
OVl"!ll ,.,_• T<G!"I..YlllOOD 
OVl"!ll24"°°".l:>i&T6 • .. • o,c 

6101NGoYe.2L,• •l'"EJ'l6JOMrH. 
5UIL.DIN<;PAP"El0:0VER 1d 
l"lY.1!,i-!EAT>!iN<;OYE!I! 
2d O lo."O/C 

BICYCLE STORAGE 
REAR ELEVATION 

I -~ -· - I 

________ ,_ _ _, ,.,.,.,.._-__ ,.. ..,,_ 
'" ... ,__"""'"''' .. """""--"" -

___ _ .....,,..,,,no.,o __ _.. ___ _ 

--COHCPT>---·~- --~· _____ ...,._. .,.. .. ~----"""~ --~---....----.....,._,,.,,, ..., __ ......,. .,.. ~...,.__ ....._. .. ,,,...,~,o - ""' ; ______ ----
''"''"""" __ ........ """""?I/ff--,,. ...,. ,,, -

J 
( ,· 

BICYCLE &TORAC:IE PLAN 

BICYC E STORAGE 
SIDE E EVATION 

BICYCLE &TORAGE 
51DE ELEVATION 

R51 

< 

, 205.04 &al.JARE METERS (30,i. • ':12. ~) 

•••.. ....••.. 111.':111 M 
............ 170.401 M 

...........•... 161.'~3':l M 
............... 164.821 M 

..... ,, ...... ,, ••• 162.0\':lM 

... ,, ....... ,,,;,. ,. 160.15 M 

Phone604-9S6-4550 
Fu: 604-9S6-4555 

bilkurtisdesign@gmail.rom 

HarbourfrontBusinessCentre 
5thFloor,224Wes1Esplanade 

North Vancouver, BC V7M 3M6 

0r• 1ne SITE PLAN 

0r ..... Bil ac D- Fee. 201s 

SCALE, 1,100 METRIC 

~JO<• g PI-IAG:OORA RESIDENCE 
AT 255 E 28th 5 TREET 
NORTl-4 VANCOUVER 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 3�



A5TER BEDROOM 

UEf PER FLO()R PLAN 

~;f.!3!,Q~~:EM~~~; 
;4 &16.& 

~--------] 

Ls;j;j.,.._ 

;~ 

~ 
~ 1-P.£'- ' 

~ 

ii~ 

m _L• I ~ nw . 

-11:,2 JUI 

f-- - - - - -

I 
----------~f-l'i4MlL'l'-----------, 

. 
1 

I 311.6 

4 261.2 

i 

f 

______ ,_ __ _ 

~ <ri 

j 

A 

~ 
DINETIT"E 

i i 2 ---------------------------------•---

LIV INu ij . 

J i 
; $ 

"1 ~ 

;;.; g , 
i 

' ; 

~ 

~ ~ 

i i--+-------.. 

§ . . 

@ 

.uNI" = ..OTCOVE!OA<;~ 

l"IA'l'>emt>ECl< OT"'l!OMOVClTO 
~ T &IDEO,DEC<;A>;D 
K41HR..DEC.: ~~GEO 

~ 

~ 
1 

- It Phone604•986-45SO ~ 

Fu 604-986-4555 :, 
bilkurtisdesign@gmail.com O 

Hnbourfront Business Centre 
5th Floor,224WutEsplanade 

North Vancouver, BC V7M 3M6 

,,..,.,. FLOOR PLAN5 

p,..., ~ e.c. o- FE&. 20~ 

_,_,, 
Pl-4AGOORA RESIDENCE 
AT 2;; EA& T 28th & TREET 
NORTl-4 VANCOUVER 



!000!' .. IDOl~W..-"' 
, m.~11-IJ 

.....,,,. . l.OORIMO.TT( ....... ...., --------

'"°"" '"ID<>l! W...:n' 
(111.91'1-!J 

DECK 

DECK 

5ECTION A 

LIVING 

" 5ECTION D 

!000!' .. IDOi~ ... .,,. 

, m.~11-IJ 

.....,,,. . l.OORIMO.TT( ....... ...., ----------

5ECTION E3 

. 
~I E3EDROOM •2 

I 
I 

'"°""'"ID<>l! ..... :n' 
m,_91'1-!J 

1"EC. 1"00H '1.00R ~)1.S." ----- (,..,.o2t1, 

(r,i., -r,-,, 

..,,. .. .,_,,.,.. MO.TT<""'·•""" ----------

I --"-· - I 
""'""""""' ,.---·-,.._...,. ______ ,...._.._ 

,, ,.,. __ """""""'"--"" -....,.._ ....,...,..,""""' _____ _, __ _ =--_,. ___ _,_ ... " ---"'"""-"""' "'~""' "'"""" ... _ _, 
___ ,.._ ___ ,,,. .. __ _ 
-""~-- ........ --_._,o.,,._ • .,.. 
___ .....,.__,.. _ _,a/< __ 

°"""""'_...._..,.,..,m., __ al< """""" ___ ,.,.._ 

i 
5ECTION C 

© 

ES 0 

= -
~ 

~ 

~ 

~ 
j 
! 

p~::e :;:::~~ I i 
billcurtisdesignttgmail.com Cl 

Dr•rng 

HarbourfrontBusineuCenlll' 
5thFloor,224WestEsplanade 

North Vanrouver, BC V7M 3M6 

5ECTION5 
c,,..., 611 15.C. 0- Fe.:IO~ 

_,_,, 
PHAG:OORA RESIDENCE 
AT 255 EA5T 28th 5TREET 
NORTH VANCOUVER 



6v 

~ .. ~ ... ... •, ~~- ~ 4 ."· ~ 4 . " · ~ 4 /,~: ~ 4 /,~: ~ 4 e.~: •, 4 /: ~ 4 "~: ~- 4 "~: ~ 4 /,~: ~ 4 e.~: •, 4 e.~: •, 
SPATIAL SERPERATION CALCULATIONS, 
818.2 SQUARI= FEET AT 1' LIMITINGc DISTANCI= 
ALLOWS ~.16 e.QUARE FEET OF UNPROTECTED 
OPENING AT 10.3,._ OF WALL AREA 
41.0 SQUARE FEET PROPOSED 

NORTI-! ELEV A TION 

- ' ' . ', • · •• ·• ,• ·,_,'J• 
~. ~ 4 ."· ~ 4 .~. ~ 4 /,~: ~ 4 /: •, 4 / : • , 4 /: ~- 4 "~: ~- 4 

WE&T ELEVATION 

~AR~N/i~~~~~ T~~:~NCE 
ALLOWS ~-16 SOUARI= FEET OF UNPR OTl=CTl=D 
OPENING AT 10 .3 ,._ OF WALL AREA 
41.0 6QUARE Fl=ET PROPOSl=D 

'· ·,,_• · 

EA&T ELEVATION 

mi .• ,'r1/ 

~lOO!ll--:>1" <i.1 ..... , 

• .. • ·'•· . ... ~ ~. 

SPATIAL SERPl=RATION CALCULATION&, 
8 18.2 SQUARE FEET AT l' LIMITING DISTANCE 
ALLOWS ~ .16 SQUARE FEET OF UNPROTECTl=D 
OPENING AT 10.3,._ OF WALL ARl=A 
41.0 SQUARE FEET PROPOS-ED 

SPATIAL SERP ERATION CALCULATIONS, 
8 18.2 SQUARE FEET AT l' LIMITING D ISTANCE 
ALLOWS ~.16 SQUARI= Fl=eT OF UNPROTl=CTEO 
OPENING AT 10.3,._ OF WALL AREA 
41.0 SQUARE FEET PROPOSl=D 1~·- -- 1 

_,o __ ...,."""" _ _,..,... ---------,...,,,....,, ""'"""'""""""""""°""" __ _ 
......... -~---~~----=----------~-.. ...,... _ .. ,._, .. .......,, .. _ _, ,..._.. __ ,_...__ .... _.,,....,.,..,,. .... _.. __ 
...,....,..,._,n.--w,uao"""'"°~"'.,,_""" ..,...,,,.,,_.....,.,,.....,.,,, .... _~.,., ... _ 

..,.,_. ..,,._""_""""-~lm;ro--
.,.. ""' °""""""'--"' 

~ 0 
~ 

--~ - ~QO!l<~ ..... - fi 

----- = -

© 

j 

I 
~ 

~ 
~ 
.t 

ilkurtis:e:gn:a~::~ I & 
H;ljl"bourfront Business Centre 
St'-Floor,224WestEsplanade 

Nort~Vancouver, BC V7M 3M6 

~.,., LEVATION& 
Dr- e-. c; C)- Fe, X>l'll 

~JO<• 
PI-IAG:OORA RESIDENCE 
AT 255 EAST 28th 5 TREET 
NORTH VANCOUVER 



l 

~ 
)R 

~ 

~ 

IO ' 

IO ' 

20'-8" 

12'-0" 

12'-0' 

303,gg SQUARE FEET 

1-=i '-10 " 

Sl1.W $ARE FEET 

IE> '-0' 

20'-8" 

1·-10 · 

l 

~ 

~ ~ 

~ 

~ 

UFf PER FLOOR PLAN 
1~~.\g &QUARE FEET FSR 

3'-IO' 

-=--~-- 2S'-6" 

10 '-e," 14'-IO' 

~ , .. RE FEET 

j 

4g.o SQUARE FEET 

~ 

~ 

~ 

~ 

~ 

~ 
1 
] 

Phone604-986-4550 1f 
Fu 604-986-4555 :, 

bilkurlisdesigntJgmail.rom O 

Harbourfront Business Centre 
5thFloor,224WestE'.splanade 

North Vancouver, BC V7M 3M6 

,,.., ... FLOOR AREAS 
,,_., 
_,_,, 
Pl-4AGOORA RESIDENCE 
AT 2:,:, EAST 28th STREET 
NORTl-4 VANCOUVER 



Bill Curtis & Associates Design Ltd.       
 

Harbourfront Business Centre 
5th Floor, 224 West Esplanade 

North Vancouver, B.C.   V7M 3M6 
Tel. (604) 986-4550        Fax. (604) 986-4555 

www.billcurtishomedesign.com 
e-mail   billcurtisdesign@gmail.com 

 
October 27, 2021 
 
City of North Vancouver 
141 West 14th Street 
North Vancouver, BC 
Planning Department 
Attention Ms. Annie Demster 
 
Regarding 253 East 28th Street, October 26, 2021 Virtual DIS 
 
The virtual DIS was held October 26th, 2021 from 7:00 to 8:30m PM and was attended by 
four respondents to the DIS notification. 
 
The first was  who lives at . Her mail is 

  She was happy to see the extent of planting and the 
restoration of the creek bank. She commented on how children would play in the lane and 
that the lane served as a community space. And she said she would much rather see more 
green space then more parking. She mentioned that there was thought of developing a 
bike lane along 27th street, which would make parking even more difficult in the area. 
 
The second was  who lives at . His email is 

He is not opposed to development but was concerned about the 
parking.  pointed out that it was only one of the two proposed new home that 
would be without parking. We also expressed concern about what would happen with the 
east end of the lane and east side of the creek, would the city upgrade those areas too? 
 
The third were  who live at . Their email is 

  They were interested in learning how much of the creek area would 
be landscaped and restored to health. They liked the plan but parking was a concern. 
 

 was the fourth party to attend. Hi email is    
had little to say other then parking was an issue in the neighborhood, but he uses his 
garage for parking and he felt other people should too. 
 
There were no concerns expressed about any variances requested except parking for the 
easterly lot.  

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 4�



Thank you for your consideration, 
 
Bill Curtis 
 
 
 



The Corporat ion of  the City of  North Vancouver
Engineer ing Parks & Environment Department

Streamside Protection & Enhancement 
Development Permit Guidelines
Development Permits for Streamside Protection and Enhancement serve to both streamline and
formalize the current process for reviewing development near riparian areas and provide greater
protection for natural fish resources.

1.0 Purpose 
The purpose of these guidelines is twofold:

 To provide the owners of affected property and the development community with an outline
of the legal requirements to protect riparian areas on privately owned lands; and,

 To clarify the process for approvals associated with developments near riparian areas in
the City.

2.0 When is a Development Permit Required? 
A Development Permit for Streamside Protection and Enhancement is required for any work to be done within
15 metres of the top of a watercourse bank (10m from top of ravine bank), including:

 constructing any structure or building;
 constructing an impervious / semi-impervious surface; or
 undertaking landscaping changes, including tree removal.

3.0 Exemptions:
An owner/applicant may be exempt from the requirement for a Development Permit if the work is limited to:

i. Interior renovations or exterior renovations / maintenance of existing buildings involving no additions;
ii. Activities occurring more than 15 metres from the top of watercourse bank or edge of wetland (10

metres from top of ravine bank);
iii. Maintenance of existing landscape conditions;
iv. Construction and maintenance activities carried out by, or on behalf of, the City, designed to enhance

the coexistence of natural habitats and public trails;
v. Emergency works, including tree cutting, necessary to remove an immediate danger or hazard;
vi. Regular and emergency City maintenance of municipal infrastructure conducted in a manner that is

consistent with the objectives of the Development Permit designation;
vii. The implementation of a fish habitat mitigation or restoration plan authorized by the senior

government ministry or agency having jurisdiction; and,
viii. The alteration or removal of high to extreme risk trees assessed by a Certified Tree Risk Assessor

who provides the risk rating, and replanting plan consistent with the current Ministry of Environment
Tree Replacement Criteria.

Document: 750429

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 5�



4.0 Definitions 
For the purposes of this guideline the following definitions apply:

"active floodplain" means an area of land within a 
boundary that is indicated by the visible high water 
mark or water level of a watercourse that is reached 
during annual flood events as evidenced by riparian 
area conditions described in the definition of 
"riparian area"; 

“development” shall refers to any of the following: 

i. removal, alteration, disruption or destruction of
vegetation;

ii. disturbance of soils;
iii. construction or erection of buildings and

structures;
iv. creation of non-structural impervious or semi-

impervious surfaces;
v. flood protection works;
vi. construction of roads, trails, docks, wharves

and bridges;
vii. provision and maintenance of sewer and water

services;
viii. development of drainage systems; and,
ix. development of utility corridors.

"fish" means all life stages of: 

(a) salmonids,
(b) game fish, and
(c) regionally significant fish;

"fish bearing watercourse" means a watercourse 
in which fish are present or potentially present if 
introduced barriers or obstructions are either 
removed or made passable for fish; 

"non fish bearing watercourse" 
means a watercourse that: 

(a) is not inhabited by fish, and
(b) provides water, food and

nutrients to a downstream fish bearing
watercourse or other water body;

“no net loss” is a working principle by which the 
City strives to balance unavoidable habitat losses 
with habitat replacement on a project-by-project 
basis so that further reductions to fisheries 
resources due to habitat loss or damage may be 
prevented. 

"non-
permanent watercourse" means a watercourse 
that typically contains surface waters or flows for 
periods less than 6 months in duration; 

"permanent watercourse" means a watercourse 
that typically contains continuous surface waters or 
flows for a period more than 6 months in duration; 

"permanent structure" means any building or 
structure that was lawfully constructed, placed or 
erected on a secure and long lasting foundation on 
land in accordance with any District or approval 
condition in effect at the time of construction, 
placement or erection; 



"potential vegetation" is considered to exist if there 
is a reasonable ability for regeneration either with 
assistance through enhancement or naturally, and is 
considered to not exist on that part of an area 
covered by a permanent structure; 

"ravine" means a narrow, steep sided valley that is 
commonly eroded by running water and with slope 
grades greater than 3:1; 

"riparian area" means the area adjacent to a 
watercourse that may be subject to temporary, 
frequent or seasonal inundation, and supports plant 
species that are typical of an area of inundated or 
saturated soil conditions, and that are distinct from 
plant species on freely drained adjacent upland sites 
because of the presence of water; 

"streamside protection and enhancement area" 
means an area adjacent to a watercourse that links 
aquatic to terrestrial ecosystems and includes both 
the riparian area vegetation and the adjacent upland 
vegetation that exerts an influence on the 
watercourse, the width of which includes the area 
within 15m of the top of bank of a watercourse or 
10m of the top of bank of a ravine; 

"top of the bank" means: 

(a) the point closest to the boundary of the
active floodplain of a watercourse where a
break in the slope of the land occurs such
that the grade beyond the break is flatter
than 3:1 at any point for a minimum distance
of 15 metres measured perpendicularly from
the break, and

(b) for a floodplain area not contained in a
ravine, the edge of the active floodplain of a

watercourse where the 
slope of the land beyond 
the edge is flatter than 3:1 
at any point for a minimum 
distance of 15 metres 
measured perpendicularly 
from the edge; 

"top of the ravine bank" means 
the first significant break in a ravine 
slope where the break occurs such that the grade 
beyond the break is flatter than 3:1 for a minimum 
distance of 15 metres measured perpendicularly 
from the break, and the break does not include a 
bench within the ravine that could be developed; 

“tree” means a woody perennial plant usually 
having a single stem which has a diameter of at 
least 5 centimetres when measured from a height of 
15 centimetres above the natural grade of the land.  

"watercourse" means a creek, pond, lake, river, 
stream, or brook, whether usually containing water 
or not and any spring or wetland that is integral to a 
watercourse; 

"wetland" means land that is inundated or saturated 
by surface or groundwater at a frequency and 
duration sufficient to support and under normal 
conditions that supports vegetation typically adapted 
for life in saturated soil conditions, including 
swamps, marshes, bogs, fens, estuaries and similar 
areas that are not part of the active floodplain of a 
watercourse. 



5.0 Basic Information Requirements 
5.1 Provide the following information to demonstrate existing conditions (baseline information) 

on the site: 

a. All plan(s) drawn to scale, preferably 1/8 inch to 1 foot or larger, showing North
arrow, and 30cm contour intervals;

b. Parcel boundaries and adjacent streets and rights of way;
c. Natural features including watercourses, wetlands and top of bank;
d. Lines showing 5 and 15 metres from top of watercourse bank OR 5 and 10 metres

from the top of ravine bank (streamside protection and enhancement areas);
e. Potential Streamside Protection and Enhancement Areas identified in accordance with the

Development Permit Guidelines for Streamside Protection and Enhancement;
f. Any existing development including locations and dimensions of existing buildings, driveways, motor

vehicle parking areas and landscaping; and
g. All trees within 15 metres of the top of the watercourse bank or edge of wetland OR within 10 metres

of top of ravine bank, highlighting those that will be affected/ removed by proposed development.

5.2 Detail the proposed development including: 

a. Locations and dimensions of proposed buildings, driveways, motor vehicle parking areas and
landscaping;

b. Conceptual building elevations; and
c. Points of vehicular ingress and egress.

5.3 Provide an analysis prepared by a Registered Professional Biologist demonstrating that the proposed 
development is consistent with the applicable Development Permit Guidelines and, where appropriate, 
identify mitigation measures that are consistent with the Guidelines including measures that may be 
specified as Development Permit conditions. 

5.4 Provide a Sediment and Erosion Control Plan, as described in Section 7 of the Stream and Drainage 
System Protection Bylaw, 2003, No.7541.  Sediment and erosion control measures are to be put in place 
prior to any disturbance of soils during site preparation and must remain in place until project completion. 

5.5 Provide a written assessment by a Certified Tree Risk Assessor, confirming the condition of any trees 
proposed for removal, including recommended replacement species and size in compliance with the 
current Ministry of Environment’s Tree Replacement Criteria. 

5.6 As outlined in Section 6(c) of the Development Procedures Bylaw, 2001, No.7343, additional information, 
such as a Survey by a BCLS and a Landscape Plan by a BCSLA and other additional information may be 
required in order to accurately assess the impact of a proposed development on the Streamside Protection 
and Enhancement Area.  

6.0 Fees 
When submitting a Development Permit Application for Streamside Protection and Enhancement Areas, the 
following fees are applicable: 

Obtain a Development Permit (DP) for Streamside Protection and Enhancement: 

Exemption from DP (alteration or removal of high to extreme risk tree)……..$25.00 
Minor DP  (Landscape, Accessory Building or Accessory Structure)….……..$50.00 
Full DP  (Principal Building in any Zone)………………............................…..$350.00 
Full DP with Variance (Variance to Zoning or not meet Guidelines)………$1,700.00 



7.0 Development Permit Process 
This chart outlines the Development Permit (DP) process.  Throughout the process, staff will be 
available to work with applicants to ensure an efficient and timely process.  If you have any 
questions regarding the process or whether you require a Development Permit, pleases do not 
hesitate to contact staff. 

Once a Development Permit is obtained, you may proceed to Building Permit stage. 

New Development Proposed 

No Development permit 
required, proceed to 
building permit stage 

Is property within 15 metres of 
top of watercourse bank or 10 
metres of top of ravine bank? 

Is the proposal exempt from 
the requirement of a 

Development Permit? 
(See exemptions) 

No Development permit 
required, proceed to 
building permit stage 

Development Permit 
Application Required 

Applicant submits Development 
Permit application complete with 

all submission requirements 

Staff Review 
Does the proposed 
development meet 

Guidelines? 

DP with variance. Staff report 
to Council 

Council consideration of 
proposed development. 
Possible Public Meeting 

Consider alternative development 
(may require environmental reports) 

Consider alternative 
development 

DP issued by staff or 
applicant appeals 
staff decision to 

Council. 

Development Permit 
Issued by Council 

yes 

yes 

no 

no 

yes 

no yes 

Rejected Approved 

(i) Interior renovations or exterior 
renovations / maintenance of existing 
buildings involving no additions;

(ii) Activities occurring more than 15 metres 
from the top of watercourse bank or 
edge of wetland (10 metres from top of 
ravine bank);

(iii) Maintenance of existing landscape 
conditions;

(iv) Construction and maintenance activities 
carried out by, or on behalf of, the City, 
designed to enhance the coexistence of 
natural habitats and public trails;

(v) Emergency works, including tree cutting, 
necessary to remove an immediate 
danger or hazard;

(vi) Regular and emergency City 
maintenance of municipal infrastructure
conducted in a manner that is consistent 
with the objectives of the Development 
Permit designation;

(vii) The implementation of a fish habitat 
mitigation or restoration plan authorized 
by the senior government ministry or 
agency having jurisdiction; and,

(viii) The alteration or removal of high to 
extreme risk trees, assessed by a 
Certified Tree Risk Assessor who
provides the risk rating, and replanting 
plan consistent with current Ministry of 
Environment Tree Replacement Criteria.

 Exemptions 



8.0 Obligation to Obtain Permit 
8.1 Failure to obtain a Development Permit for Streamside Protection and Enhancement 

before proceeding with any development in the Streamside Protection and 
Enhancement Area is a ticketable offence.  A fine in the amount of $100.00 per offence 
will be applied to any such contraventions. 

9.0  General Guidelines 
If, in the opinion of staff or Council, the Development Permit proposal meets the intent of the 
following guidelines, a Development Permit may be issued.  The applicant shall: 

9.1 Locate development on portions of the site that are least environmentally sensitive. 

9.2 For permanent watercourses and wetlands: 

9.2.1 Avoid the net loss of riparian habitat within 15 metres of the top of the watercourse bank or edge 
of the wetland or within 10m of the top of a ravine bank. 

9.2.2 Within 15 metres of the top of the watercourse bank or edge of wetland (10m for ravines), the 
applicant shall locate new buildings, structures and impervious / semi-impervious surfaces at 
least as far from the watercourse, wetland or top of ravine bank as any existing development. 

9.2.3 Keep the area within 5 metres of the top of the watercourse bank, edge of wetland or top of 
ravine bank free of all new buildings, structures and impervious / semi-impervious surfaces. 

9.2.4 Where necessary, zoning variances, including reduced building setbacks, may be considered in 
order to prevent the loss of habitat within 15 metres of the top of the watercourse bank or edge of 
the wetland or within 10m of the top of the ravine bank. 

9.2.5 Where it is not practical to avoid net loss of riparian habitat within 15 metres of the top of the 
watercourse bank or edge of the wetland (within 10m of top of bank for ravines), provide 
mitigation as approved by the City of North Vancouver to achieve an overall no net loss of 
riparian habitat. 

9.3 Avoid net loss of riparian habitat within 5 metres of the top of the 
non-permanent watercourse bank. 

9.4 Enhance, and where feasible, restore watercourses in already 
developed areas to improve watercourse quality. 

9.5 Implement recommendations approved by the City of North 
Vancouver, including mitigation measures that are consistent with 
these guidelines. 

9.6 Provide security for works to ensure their completion.  This shall be 
in the form of a letter of credit in the amount of 120% of the 
estimated value of works. 

For more information or if you are unsure if a Development Permit is required please contact 
the Community Development Department at 604-983-7357 or visit www.cnv.org 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2022-00011 Document: 2186798-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 

DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT 
 
 

 
Permit No. PLN2022-00011 File: 08-3400-20-0083/1 
 
Issued to owner(s): Daljit Kaur Phagoora 
 
 
Respecting the lands located at 253 East 28th Street, North Vancouver, BC, legally 
described as: 
 
LOT 24 BLOCK 237 DL 546 PLAN 3293 PID: 012-993-905 
 
(the “Lands”) 
 
 
List of Attachments: 
 
Schedule “A”:  List of Plans 
 
 
Authority to Issue: 
 

1. This Development Variance Permit is issued pursuant to Section 498 of the Local 
Government Act. 

 
 
Bylaws Supplemented or Varied: 
 

2. The provisions of the City of North Vancouver “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” are 
hereby varied as follows: 

 
A. Section 509(4)(a) shall be varied such that the Principal Building Top of 

Plate shall not exceed a maximum height of 10.1 metres (33.1 feet) 
(maximum geodetic height of 560.1 feet). 

 
B. Section 514(4) shall be varied to permit an Accessory Building to be sited 

within the rear 31% of the Lot depth, measured from the Rear Lot Line. 
 
 
  

 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 6�



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2022-00011 Document: 2186798-v1 

Special Terms and Conditions of Use: 
 

3. The Buildings and Structures shall be developed in accordance with the plans 
dated and listed on the attached Schedule A “List of Plans” and filed in the offices 
of the City, approved by Council, and in compliance with the regulations and 
conditions listed hereunder: 

 
A. The subsequent Streamside Protection and Enhancement Development 

Permit (DPA2020-00009) shall be issued alongside the issuance of this 
permit for this property and lot. Any changes to the attached Schedule A 
“List of Plans” required to satisfy the conditions of the Development Permit 
shall be developed in accordance with the variances set out in this permit. 

 
4. No variances other than those specifically set out in this permit are implied or to 

be construed. 
 
5. All plans attached to this Permit and specifications referred to above are subject 

to any changes required by the Building Inspector or other officials of the City 
where such plans and specifications do not comply with any bylaw or statute, and 
such non-compliance is not specifically permitted by this Development Variance 
Permit.  The Lands may be subject to additional regulations, restrictive covenants 
and agreements which may affect their use, development and amenities, if any 
section or lesser portion of this Development Variance Permit is held invalid for 
any reason the invalid portion shall be severed from this Development Variance 
Permit and the validity of the remainder of the Development Variance Permit shall 
not be affected. 

 
 
General Terms and Conditions: 
 

6. Pursuant to Section 504 of the Local Government Act, this Permit lapses if the 
work authorized herein is not commenced within 24 months following issuance of 
this Development Variance Permit. In the event the Owner is delayed or interrupted 
or prevented from commencing or continuing the construction on or about the 
subdivision by reason of any Act of God, labour unrest (including strike and 
lockouts), weather conditions or any similar cause reasonably beyond the control 
of the Owner, the time for the completion of the works shall be extended for a 
period equal to the duration of the contingency that occasioned the delay, 
interruption or prevention, provided that the commercial or financial circumstances 
of the Owner shall not be viewed as a cause beyond the control of the Owner. 

 
7. This Development Variance Permit shall not vary the permitted uses or densities 

of land use in the applicable zoning bylaw nor a flood plain specification designated 
under Section 524(3) of the Local Government Act. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2022-00011 Document: 2186798-v1 

8. Nothing in this Permit shall in any way relieve Land Owner/Developers obligation 
to ensure that the development proposal complies in every way with the statutes, 
regulations, requirements, covenants and licences applicable to the undertaking. 

 
9. Nothing in this Permit shall in any way relieve the Land Owner/Developers 

obligation to comply with all setback regulations for construction of structures or 
provision of on-site services pursuant to the Health Act, the Fire Services Act, the 
Electrical Energy Inspection Act, and any other provincial statutes. 

 
 
 
Authorized by Council: ______________________ 
    Year / Month / Day 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Linda C. Buchanan, Mayor 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Karla D. Graham, Corporate Officer 
 
Date Signed: __________________________ 
   Year / Month / Day 
 
 
 
Note: As required by Section 503 of the Local Government Act, the City of North 

Vancouver shall file a notice of this permit in the Land Title Office stating that the 
land described in this Permit is subject to Development Variance Permit No. 
PLN2022-00011. 

 
 
 Notice filed the ____________day of __________________, 20______. 
 
 
 

THIS IS NOT A BUILDING PERMIT 
 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2022-00011 Document: 2186798-v1 

Schedule A 
List of Plans – 253 East 28th Street 

 
 

Designer 
Project Name Sheet 

Description 
Sheet 
No. 

Sheet 
Date 

CityDocs 
File Number 

Bill Curtis & Associates 
Design Ltd. 

Phagoora Residence 
at 253 E 28th Street Site Plan 1 June 10, 

2022 2189911 

Bill Curtis & Associates 
Design Ltd. 

Phagoora Residence 
at 253 E 28th Street Floor Plans 2 June 10, 

2022 2189911 

Bill Curtis & Associates 
Design Ltd. 

Phagoora Residence 
at 253 E 28th Street 

Garage 
Plans 3 June 10, 

2022 2189911 

Bill Curtis & Associates 
Design Ltd. 

Phagoora Residence 
at 253 E 28th Street Sections 4 June 10, 

2022 2189911 

Bill Curtis & Associates 
Design Ltd. 

Phagoora Residence 
at 253 E 28th Street Elevations 5 June 10, 

2022 2189911 

Bill Curtis & Associates 
Design Ltd. 

Phagoora Residence 
at 253 E 28th Street Floor Areas 5a June 10, 

2022 2189911 

 
 
 
 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2022-00017 Document: 2190815-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 

DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT 
 
 

 
Permit No. PLN2022-00017 File: 08-3400-20-0089/1 
 
Issued to owner(s): Daljit Kaur Phagoora 
 
 
Respecting the lands located at 253 East 28th Street, North Vancouver, BC, legally 
described as: 
 
LOT 23 BLOCK 237 DL 546 PLAN 3293 PID: 012-993-891 
 
(the “Lands”) 
 
 
List of Attachments: 
 
Schedule “A”:  List of Plans 
 
 
Authority to Issue: 
 

1. This Development Variance Permit is issued pursuant to Section 498 of the Local 
Government Act. 

 
 
Bylaws Supplemented or Varied: 
 

2. The provisions of the City of North Vancouver “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” are 
hereby varied as follows: 

 
A. Section 509(3) shall be varied such that the total combined Lot Coverage 

shall not exceed 31% of which the Principal Building shall not exceed 
31%. 

 
B. Section 509(4) shall be varied such that the Principal Building shall not 

exceed a maximum height envelope of 11.2 metres (36.8 feet) (maximum 
geodetic height of 564.2 feet). 

 
C. Section 509(5)(a) shall be varied such that the Principal Building shall be 

sited not less than 3.7 metres (12.2 feet) from the Front Lot Line. 
 

 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 7�



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2022-00017 Document: 2190815-v1 

D. Section 908(8) shall be varied such that no parking spaces are required 
for a One-Unit Residential Use and Accessory Secondary Suite Use. 

 
Special Terms and Conditions of Use: 
 

3. The Buildings and Structures shall be developed in accordance with the plans 
dated and listed on the attached Schedule A “List of Plans” and filed in the offices 
of the City, approved by Council, and in compliance with the regulations and 
conditions listed hereunder: 

 
A. The subsequent Streamside Protection and Enhancement Development 

Permit (DPA2020-00010) shall be issued alongside the issuance of this 
permit for this property and lot. Any changes to the attached Schedule A 
“List of Plans” required to satisfy the conditions of the Development Permit 
shall be developed in accordance with the variances set out in this permit. 

 
4. No variances other than those specifically set out in this permit are implied or to 

be construed. 
 
5. All plans attached to this Permit and specifications referred to above are subject 

to any changes required by the Building Inspector or other officials of the City 
where such plans and specifications do not comply with any bylaw or statute, and 
such non-compliance is not specifically permitted by this Development Variance 
Permit.  The Lands may be subject to additional regulations, restrictive covenants 
and agreements which may affect their use, development and amenities, if any 
section or lesser portion of this Development Variance Permit is held invalid for 
any reason the invalid portion shall be severed from this Development Variance 
Permit and the validity of the remainder of the Development Variance Permit shall 
not be affected. 

 
 
General Terms and Conditions: 
 

6. Pursuant to Section 504 of the Local Government Act, this Permit lapses if the 
work authorized herein is not commenced within 24 months following issuance of 
this Development Variance Permit. In the event the Owner is delayed or interrupted 
or prevented from commencing or continuing the construction on or about the 
subdivision by reason of any Act of God, labour unrest (including strike and 
lockouts), weather conditions or any similar cause reasonably beyond the control 
of the Owner, the time for the completion of the works shall be extended for a 
period equal to the duration of the contingency that occasioned the delay, 
interruption or prevention, provided that the commercial or financial circumstances 
of the Owner shall not be viewed as a cause beyond the control of the Owner. 

 
7. This Development Variance Permit shall not vary the permitted uses or densities 

of land use in the applicable zoning bylaw nor a flood plain specification designated 
under Section 524(3) of the Local Government Act. 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2022-00017 Document: 2190815-v1 

 
8. Nothing in this Permit shall in any way relieve Land Owner/Developers obligation 

to ensure that the development proposal complies in every way with the statutes, 
regulations, requirements, covenants and licences applicable to the undertaking. 

 
9. Nothing in this Permit shall in any way relieve the Land Owner/Developers 

obligation to comply with all setback regulations for construction of structures or 
provision of on-site services pursuant to the Health Act, the Fire Services Act, the 
Electrical Energy Inspection Act, and any other provincial statutes. 

 
 
 
Authorized by Council: ______________________ 
    Year / Month / Day 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Linda C. Buchanan, Mayor 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Karla D. Graham, Corporate Officer 
 
Date Signed: __________________________ 
   Year / Month / Day 
 
 
 
Note: As required by Section 503 of the Local Government Act, the City of North 

Vancouver shall file a notice of this permit in the Land Title Office stating that the 
land described in this Permit is subject to Development Variance Permit No. 
PLN2022-00017. 

 
 Notice filed the ____________day of __________________, 20______. 
 
 
 

THIS IS NOT A BUILDING PERMIT 
 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2022-00017 Document: 2190815-v1 

Schedule A 
List of Plans – 253 East 28th Street 

 
 

Designer 
Project Name Sheet 

Description 
Sheet 
No. 

Sheet 
Date 

CityDocs 
File Number 

Bill Curtis & Associates 
Design Ltd. 

Phagoora Residence 
at 253 E 28th Street Site Plan 1 June 15, 

2022 2191099 

Bill Curtis & Associates 
Design Ltd. 

Phagoora Residence 
at 253 E 28th Street Floor Plans 2 June 15, 

2022 2191099 

Bill Curtis & Associates 
Design Ltd. 

Phagoora Residence 
at 253 E 28th Street Sections 3 June 15, 

2022 2191099 

Bill Curtis & Associates 
Design Ltd. 

Phagoora Residence 
at 253 E 28th Street Elevations 4 June 15, 

2022 2191099 

Bill Curtis & Associates 
Design Ltd. 

Phagoora Residence 
at 253 E 28th Street Floor Areas 5 June 15, 

2022 2191099 

 



To: 

From: 

Department Director CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Bram van der Heijden , Planner I 

REPORT 

Subject: REZONING APPLICATION AND HERITAGE DESIGNATION - 245 EAST 
1 QTH STREET (JAMES STOBIE/ SYNTHESIS DESIGN INC.) 

Date: June 15, 2022 File No: 08-3400-20-0068/1 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 1, dated June 15, 2022, entitled 
"Rezoning Application and Heritage Designation-245 East 10th Street (James 
Stobie/ Synthesis Design Inc.)": 

THAT "Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8936" 
(James Stobie/ Synthesis Design Inc., 245 East 10th Street, CD-757) be 
considered and referred to a Public Hearing; 

THAT "Heritage Designation Bylaw, 2022, No. 8937" (James Stobie/ Synthesis 
Design Inc., 245 East 10th Street) be considered and referred to the same Public 
Hearing; 

THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act. 

AND THAT the community benefits listed in the report section "Density Bonus 
and Community Benefits" be secured, through agreements at the applicant's 
expense and to the satisfaction of staff. 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Architectural & Landscape Drawings, dated May 30, 2022 (CityDocs 2185350) 
2. Heritage Conservation Plan (CityDocs 2185351 ) 

3. Statement of Significance (CityDocs 2108193) 
4. Developer Information Session Summary (CityDocs 2191025) 

Document Number: 2182034 V3 



REPORT: Rezoning Application and Heritage Designation - 245 East 10th Street (James Stobie I Synthesis 
Design Inc.) 
Date: June 15, 2022 

5. "Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8936" (James Stobie 
/ Synthesis Design, 245 East 10th Street, CD-757) (CityDocs 2181153) 

6. "Heritage Designation Bylaw, 2022, No. 8937" (James Stobie/ Synthesis Design 
Inc., 245 East 10th Street) (CityDocs 2181226) 

SUMMARY 

This report seeks Council approval for a heritage retention and infill development. The 
proposal includes a Heritage Designation Bylaw to protect the existing Heritage "A" 
building on the site in perpetuity. 

BACKGROUND 

Applicant: James Stobie/ Synthesis Design Inc. 
Official Community Residential Level 3 (R3) 
Plan Designation: 

Existing Zoning: RT-1 
Applicable Guidelines: N/A 
Heritage Character Area East 10th St. 

DISCUSSION 

Site Context 

This 649.57-square metre (6,992 square feet) site is 
located on the south side of East 10th Street in the 
middle of the block between St. Georges Ave. and St. 
Andrews Street in the Central Lonsdale neighbourhood. 
The site has a frontage of 15.24 metres (50 feet) along 
East 10th Street and slopes down towards the rear of the 
property. 

Heritage Designation 

Heritage Value of Building 

Located on the site is a heritage building identified on the 
City's heritage register as the Gowan Residence, and in 
the statement of significance (Attachment 3) as the 
Wismer Residence. The building is A-listed and has 
been recognized as having significant heritage value. 
See Figure 1. 

Figure 1: Heritage Register 
entry for Gowan Residence 

GOWAN RESIDENC E 
24 5 Ea st 10 th St re e t 
Circa 1908 
REGISTER RANKING: A 

This early North Vancouver 
residence was buil t tor Eugene 
Gowan, w ho b riefly occupied 

the house before selling it to Well ing ton 
Howard Wism er (1853-1935} in 1909. 
This rapid turnover refl ects the volatile 
condition o f t he real estate m arket a t the 
time, w hen builders were constructing 
homes and sell ing them one after another, 
as quickly as possible. The re fined character 
of this handsome residence represents the 
rational layout of the Fo ursquare Style, 
w hich is embellished wi th patterned 
shing les, a full-width open frof1 t vera ndah 
and a proj ecting second-storey bay. 

Page 2 of 9 



REPORT: Rezoning Application and Heritage Designation - 245 East 10th Street (James Stobie / Synthesis 
Design Inc.) 
Date: June 15, 2022 

Compatibility of Conservation with Area and Propertv 

The site is located in the East 10th Street heritage character area, and there are 10 
heritage buildings on the block. Additionally the area is a transition zone between higher 
and lower-density areas with a mix of detached houses and duplexes to the east and 
some larger multi-residential development to the west. The buildings and uses 
immediately surrounding the subject site are described and shown in Table 1 below. 

Table 1. Surrounding Uses 

Direction Address Description Zoning 

North 244 E 10th Street Detached heritage house RT-1 

South 260-262E 9th 
Duplex RT-1 

Street 

East 
251-253E 10th 

Duplex R1-1 
Street 

West 239-241 E 1 0th 
Duplex RT-1 

Street 

PLANNING ANALYSIS 

Heritage Conservation - Building Condition and Viabilitv 

The applicant's Heritage Conservation Plan (Attachment #2) outlines the proposed 
conservation strategy to ensure the retention and rehabilitation of the foursquare 
architectural style Gowan Residence. 

It is intended that the existing heritage house be retained as a single-family dwelling. 

Apart from the restoration work outlined in the conservation plan and the replacement 
and reduction of the rear deck, no alterations will be made to the heritage home. 

Staff have reviewed and support the minor building work proposed, as it will revitalize 
the building and result in a built form that is more sensitive to the heritage value of the 
house by replacing the existing oversized rear deck with a smaller and appropriately 
designed deck. 

As part of this application, the ongoing protection of the house will be secured through a 
Heritage Designation Bylaw (Attachment #6) . Any future alteration to the house will 
need to be authorized by a Heritage Alteration Permit and done in accordance with the 
Heritage Conservation Plan (Attachment #2) which will be registered on title through a 
Heritage Conservation Covenant (Section 219). 

Page 3 of9 



REPORT: Rezoning Application and Heritage Designation - 245 East 10th Street (James Stobie/ Synthesis 
Design Inc.) 
Date: June 15, 2022 

Infill Duplex 

To help offset the costs associated with the heritage conservation efforts, including 
upgrades and securing a Heritage Designation of the property, the proposal includes a 
new infill duplex building at the rear of the site. 

The infill duplex design is a contemporary building inspired by the Arts and Crafts 
architectural style. A neutral colour palette and modest architectural detailing have been 
applied to the building to ensure it is subordinate to the heritage home while still being 
complementary in nature. Furthermore, additional vegetation will be provided between 
the heritage home and infill building including two trees. The landscaping will provide 
further visual separation between the two buildings and increased privacy for residence 
on the site and adjacent neighbouring properties. 

The two storey infill building is designed to be compatible with the Gowan Residence 
heritage house. The Gowan Residence would remain the focal point of the site as the 
new infill building would have a low profile, be sited close to the rear property line and 
have a building separation of 6.9 metres, with reduced visibility from the street. 

Staff are supportive of the proposed 7% increase in lot coverage above the current RT-
1 zoning and several modifications in setbacks are proposed (Table 2) as these are 
necessary to accommodate the duplex infill. 

• The modified setbacks are required to allow for the infill duplex at the rear of the 
property and ensure adequate building separation to the heritage home. 

• The increase in lot coverage necessary to overcome the inherent inefficiency of 
working with an existing building on site. Moreover, the increase is limited in 
scope and is still less than what is permitted for a single family home and a 
coach house in a RS-1 zone or a duplex in an RT-2 zone. 

Parking 

A parking variance is proposed in order to support a heritage-sensitive infill 
development that approaches the density allowed according to the OCP. Due to the 
proximity of the heritage home to the rear lot line, limited space is available for an infill 
building at the rear of the property. If additional parking were to be required, it would 
need to be incorporated within the infill building, significantly increasing the volume of 
the building. Any increase to the currently proposed building massing would impede on 
the heritage value of the Gowan Residence and would have a greater impact on 
neighbouring properties. 

Due to the value of the Heritage A building , Staff are supportive of the reduction in 
parking by one stall to better accommodate an infill building at the rear of the property 
by reducing the space needed for additional parking. 

The overall impact on parking will be limited as it only pertains to one parking stall in an 
OCP Residential Level 3 area, where parking variances typically are not considered 

Page 4 of 9 



REPORT: Rezoning Application and Heritage Designation - 245 East 10th Street (James Stobie/ Synthesis 
Design Inc.) 
Date: June 15, 2022 

except for heritage conservation or in specific cases where development is significantly 
hindered. 

To compensate for the reduction of one car parking stall, a total of six bicycle parking 
stalls will be provided to facilitate the use of active transportation modes. The site is also 
located within 400 metres of bus service along E Keith Road. 

A summary of minor zoning variances are listed below and supported by staff: 

Table 2. Requested Changes to the Zoning Bylaw 
' Current Proposed Designation/Regulation I 

Designation/Regulation (RT-1) (CD-756) 
Principal Two-Unit Residential Use Three principal dwelling units 
Use 

Principal One per lot Two per lot 
Building 
GFA Combined and in total shall not Combined and in total shall not 

exceed 0.35 times the Lot Area exceed 0.73 FSR 
plus 92 .9 square metres (1,000 
square feet) The basement of the duplex infill 

shall be excluded from GFA 

Lot 35% 42% 
Coverage 
Setbacks 1. 8 metres (26.2 feet) or 0.35 1. 22.1 metres (72.5 feet) from the 
Northern times the Lot depth, whichever Rear Lot Line; with a siting 
Most is greater, from the Rear Lot exception for a deck maximum 
Building Line. of 1.5 metres (5.0 feet) into the 
(Heritage 2. 1.22 metres (4 feet) from the Rear yard setback. 
Building) Interior Side Lot Line. 2. 4.2 metres (13.7 feet) from the 

east Interior Lot Line. 
3. 3.5 metres (11.6 feet) from the 

west Interior Side Lot Line. 

Setbacks 1. 4.6 metres (15 feet) from the 1. 27.0 metres (89 feet) from the 
Southern Front Lot Line. Front Lot Line. 
Most 2. 8 metres (26.2 feet) or 0.35 2. 2.0 metres (6.5 feet) from the 
Building times the Lot depth , whichever Rear Lot Line. 
(Infill is greater, from the Rear Lot 
Dwellings) Line. 

Building A Principal Building shall not Maximum geodetic height of 103.1 
Height exceed a Top of Plate height of 8 meters (338 feet). 
Northern metres (26.2 feet) as measured 
Most by the Height Envelope. 
Building 
(Heritage 
Building) 

Page 5 of 9 



REPORT: Rezoning Application and Heritage Designation - 245 East 10th Street (James Stobie/ Synthesis 
Design Inc.) 
Date: June 15, 2022 

Current Proposed Designation/Regulation 
i Designation/Regulation (RT-1) (CD-756) 

Building 
Height 
Southern 
Most 
Building 
(Infill 
Dwellings) 
Parking 

Bicycle 
parking 
Garbage 
and 
Recycling 

A Principal Building shall not 
exceed a Top of Plate height of 8 
metres (26.2 feet) as measured 
by the Height Envelope. 

1 stall per dwelling unit 

Density Bonus and Community Benefits 

Maximum geodetic height of 99 
meters (324.8 feet). 

2 stalls 

6 Bicycle parking stalls 

Garbage and recycling shall be 
screened on all sides and shall not 
be located in required Emergency 
Access Pathways, driveways, or 
Parking Spaces. 

A density increase of 0.23 FSR is being considered for this site through conservation 
and protection of the Gowan Residence as per the 2018 Density Bonus and Community 
Benefits Policy. The bonus is provided in consideration of the formal protection and 
conservation of the heritage home, secured through: 

• Heritage Designation Bylaw; 
• Heritage covenant (section 219). 

The value of the conservation can be estimated by using the standard cash contribution 
amount for density increases in the Level 3 land use designation of $25 per square foot, 
as outlined in Table 3. 

Table 3. Estimated Value of Communit 

Density Bonus 0.23 FSR (@ $25/Sq.ft.) $39,075.00 

ADVISORY COMMITTEES REVIEW 

Heritage Advisory Commission 
Overall, the Heritage Advisory Commission is supportive of the development 
application. 

At their meeting held on May 10, 2022, the Heritage Advisory Commission unanimously 
approved the following resolution: 

Page 6 of 9 



REPORT: Rezoning Application and Heritage Designation - 245 East 10th Street (James Stobie/ Synthesis 
Design Inc.) 
Date: June 15, 2022 

'THAT the Heritage Advisory Commission, having reviewed the presentation from 
Synthesis Design for a Heritage Designation Bylaw and Heritage Conservation 
Covenant for the Gowan Residence located at 245 East 10th Street, North 
Vancouver, supports the project, subject to the resolution of the following items to 
the satisfaction of City staff: 

• Preparation of a detailed conservation plan by a registered heritage 
professional, expanding upon the recommendations I restoration works 
presented to thoroughly document the heritage resource and provide 
guidance for maintenance and preservation of the building in the future; and 

• Assurance that the alteration to the rear of the property, specifically the rear 
deck, is sympathetic to the heritage fabric and ensure as much as possible 
that the alterations are reversible; 

AND THAT the Commission thanks the owners and applicant for a thorough 
presentation and years of upkeep." 

The Heritage Advisory Commission has requested that a more detailed conservation 
plan prepared by a registered heritage professional should be provided and that the 
alteration to the rear of the property, specifically the rear deck should be sympathetic to 
the heritage fabric and should be revisable at a later point in time. 

With the current submission, staff are satisfied that the applicant has addressed the 
above recommendations by providing a detailed conservation plan by a registered 
heritage professional and by ensuring the proposed deck to replace the current one is 
considered acceptable according to the Heritage Conservation plan (Attachment #2). 

COMMUNITY CONSULTATION 

A Developer Information Session was held on May 31, 2022. 10 people attended. A 
total of 5 letters of support and 3 comment forms were submitted; two in support of the 
development and one with concerns. 

The main reasons for support were: 
• the preservation of the heritage home; 
• contextual density and form of infill development; and, 
• multi-generational living for the family currently living on the property. 

The main concerns were: 
• the size and density of the infill building; 
• potential overlook to neighbouring properties; and, 
• the construction impact on the lane. 

The applicant has provided correspondence to staff with concerned neighbours, 
demonstrating how these concerns were addressed by: 

Page 7 of 9 



REPORT: Rezoning Application and Heritage Designation - 245 East 10111 Street (James Stobie / Synthesis 
Design Inc.) 
Date: June 15, 2022 

• providing information regarding the policy context and the type of development 
allowed according to the OCP. 

• addressing privacy concerns, by changing the east and west elevation windows 
to clerestory windows to prevent overlook towards the neighbours. 

• explaining that the City has regulations to minimize the impact of construction 
and efforts will be made to coordinate construction with the neighbours. 

In addition, some concerns were expressed regarding the overall state of the lane 
pavement. During the DIS session, Staff clarified that according to City standards a 
section directly adjacent to the property would be repaved and the comments will be 
communicated to the City's engineering department. 

As the proposal involves a Heritage Designation Bylaw, the proposed development is 
required to be referred to a Public Hearing under the provisions of the Local 
Government Act. It is also recommended that the Zoning Bylaw amendment also be 
referred to a Public Hearing. 

Staff responses: 

The proposed development has been designed with an appropriate density of 0.73 
FSR, as anticipated by the OCP, and has a modest site coverage of 42%. With the help 
of the proposed parking variance of one stall, the proposed infill has been appropriately 
sited and of a limited size to ensure it will sensitively integrate with the existing heritage 
building and neighbourhood context. 

Mitigating privacy concerns has been an important discussion point between staff and 
the applicant. The proposed development has been designed to mitigate potential 
overlook onto adjoining residents to the east and west, through the following design 
measures: 

• providing clerestory windows on the east and west elevation. 
• provision of two new trees in the rear yard that will provide additional screening 

towards the neighbouring buildings. 
• a relatively compact building form for the duplex at the rear of the property. 

Restoration works are proposed to the Gowan Residence to ensure its continued 
preservation and modern usage. These upgrades will bring the heritage building up to 
current building code standards. Ongoing maintenance and alteration to the house will 
be managed through the Heritage Conservation Covenant. 

LEGAL DOCUMENTS 

Should Council approve the proposal , the following legal documents would be required 
to be completed prior to final adoption of the Bylaw: 

• Development Covenant; 
• Servicing Agreement; 

Page 8 of9 



REPORT: Rezoning Application and Heritage Designation - 245 East 10th Street (James Stobie I Synthesis 
Design Inc.) 
Date: June 15, 2022 

• Good Neighbour Agreement; 
• Flooding Covenant; and 
• Heritage Conservation Covenant (Section 219). 

CONCLUSION 

This application would facilitate the long-term protection of an important heritage asset 
and allow the increase and diversification of residential housing stock within the city. 
The proposal has been designed to be compatible with the neighbourhood context. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Planner 1 

Page 9 of9 



synthesis design inc.
258 east 1st street

north vancouver, bc,
canada V7L 1B3

tel. (604) 980-2087
www.synthesisdesign.ca

05.30.2022

245 EAST 10TH STREET, North Vancouver, BC

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DA-1 CONTEXT PLAN
DA-2 EXISTING AND PROPOSED CONTEXT STREETSCAPE
DA-3 SITE PLAN
DA-4 LANDSCAPE PLAN
DA-5 LANDSCAPE DETAILS
DA-6  DUPLEX MAIN FLOOR PLAN
DA-7 DUPLEX UPPER FLOOR PLAN
DA-8 DUPLEX BASEMENT FLOOR PLAN
DA-9 DUPLEX ROOF PLAN
DA-10 DUPLEX ELEVATIONS
DA-11 DUPLEX ELEVATIONS
DA-12 SITE SECTION / COLOUR ELEVATION
DA-13 DUPLEX REAR RENDERING
DA-14 PRINCIPAL DWELLING FLOOR PLANS
DA-15 PRINCIPAL DWELLING FLOOR PLANS
DA-16 PRINCIPAL DWELLING ELEVATIONS
DA-17 PRELIMINARY STRATA LOT PLAN

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 1�



LANDSCAPE LEGEND

HERITAGE AREA

PARK AREAS

BIKE ROUTE

RESTAURANT / CAFE

EXISTING BUS STOP

Date

Scale

Drawn

Job No.

Sheet

Of Sheets

Drawing Title

Copyright reserved. All 
contents of this drawing 
are the exclusive property 
of Synthesis Design Inc. 
and shall not be used or 
reproduced without the 
consent of the Designer.

All dimensions shall be 
verified on site prior to 
commencement of work.

www.synthesisdesign.ca

canada V7L 1B3
tel. (604) 980-2087

synthesis design inc.

north vancouver, bc,
258 east 1st street

2022-05-30
9:40:09 AM

As indicated

D
IC

KI
E 

D
U

PL
EX

 IN
FI

LL
24

5 
EA

ST
 1

0T
H

 S
TR

EE
T,

CONTEXT PLAN

05.30.2022

JPAS

20082

DA-1

No
rth

 V
an

co
uv

er
, B

C

17

SUBJECT 
PROPERTY

REAR LANE

245 EAST 10TH FRONT FACADE 245 EAST 10TH REAR FACADE 245 EAST 10TH EXISTING GARAGE 245 EAST 10TH EXISTING GARAGE (FROM LANE)

DIRECTION TO 
RIDGEWAY ELEMENTARY 
SCHOOL

RM-1 ZONE RM-1 ZONE

CD-698
CD-112 CD-701 CD-424

CD-457

CD-301CD-613CD-364CD-420CD-043RT-1CD-259

p-2 

EXISTING HOUSE

PROPOSED DUPLEX

REVISIONS # BY

92m

90m

CONTOURS PER 
CITYMAP

GENERAL 
ZONING 
RT-1



Date

Scale

Drawn

Job No.

Sheet

Of Sheets

Drawing Title

Copyright reserved. All 
contents of this drawing 
are the exclusive property 
of Synthesis Design Inc. 
and shall not be used or 
reproduced without the 
consent of the Designer.

All dimensions shall be 
verified on site prior to 
commencement of work.

www.synthesisdesign.ca

canada V7L 1B3
tel. (604) 980-2087

synthesis design inc.

north vancouver, bc,
258 east 1st street

2022-05-30
9:40:44 AM

D
IC

KI
E 

D
U

PL
EX

 IN
FI

LL
24

5 
EA

ST
 1

0T
H

 S
TR

EE
T,

EXISTING AND
PROPOSED
STREETSCAPES

05.30.2022

JPAS

20082

DA-2

No
rth

 V
an

co
uv

er
, B

C

17

245 EAST 10TH STREET
(SUBJECT PROPERTY)

EXISTING EAST 10TH STREETSCAPE

EXISTING EAST 10TH LANE STREETSCAPE (NORTH SIDE)

PROPOSED EAST 10TH LANE STREETSCAPE (NORTH SIDE)

EXISTING EAST 10TH LANE STREETSCAPE (SOUTH SIDE)

REVISIONS # BY



REAR SETBACK 5' (1.52M)

SI
D

E 
SE

TB
A
C

K
 4

' (
1.2

2M
)

SI
D

E 
SE

TB
A
C

K
 4

' (
1.2

2M
)

LO
T 

D
EP

TH
 

13
9.

8'

PRINCIPAL BUILDING REAR 35% 
SETBACK

EXISTING SHED TO 
BE REMOVED

HIGHEST FINISHED 
GROUND LVL
WITHIN 10' OF STRUCTURE

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY PLAN OF:

CIVIC ADDRESS:

P.I.D.

FOR ADDITIONAL SITING INFORMATION REFER TO 
SURVEY PRODUCED BY:

JOB DIRECTORY:

FB.

MUNICIPALITY:

245 EAST 10TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER BC

LOT 6, BLOCK 97, DL 274 AND 549, PLAN 1833

014-265-869

LYON, FLYNN AND COLLINS
BC LAND SURVEYORS
102-1537 WEST 8TH AVENUE, VANCOUVER, BC

3080BTOPO

CNV

LINE OF 
ATTIC FLOOR

LINE OF UPPER 
FLOOR

LINE OF MAIN 
FLOOR

SI
D

E 
SE

TB
A
C

K
 4

' (
1.2

2M
)

SI
D

E 
SE

TB
A
C

K
 4

' (
1.2

2M
)

FRONT SETBACK 
15' (4.6M)

EXISTING HOUSE
ATTIC 327.1
UPPER 317.8
MAIN: 308.2
BASEMENT 300.3
(GFA exempt)

LOWEST FINISHED 
GROUND LVL

LINE OF MAIN 
FLOOR C/W 
UPPER FLOOR 
ABOVE

NEW SUNDECK
NEW SUNDECK

PORTION OF EXISTING ROCK 
RETAINING WALL TO BE REMOVED

LINE OF 
BASEMENT 
FLOOR

NEW 3'4" WIDE CONCRETE PATHWAY

2.
0

 m

6'
-6

"

13
.2

 m

43
'-5

"

6.
9 

m
B

UI
LD

IN
G

 S
EP

A
R

A
TI

O
N

22
'-6

"

8.2' x 18' 
PARKING 
PAD 1
c/w LEVEL 
2 
CHARGING 
OUTLET

8.2' x 18' 
PARKING 
PAD 2
c/w LEVEL 
2 
CHARGING 
OUTLET

APPROXIMATE 
LOCATION OF 
EXISTING 8" STORM 
CONNECTION

4" PLASTIC STORM 
LINE

8" STORM LINE CLEAN 
OUT INV 292.77'

APPROXIMATE LOCATION 
OF EXISTING 19MM COP 
WATERLINE CONNECTION
DEPTH: 0.5M

7.1 m

23'-4"

60 DP ST GASMAIN @ 
5.8M (ABONDONED)

3.1 m

10'-1"

12.2 m

39'-11"

APPROXIMATE LOCATION OF 
EXISTING 100MM VIT SEWER 
SANITARY CONNECTION
DEPTH: UNKNOWN

NEW STEPPED RETAINING WALL 
C/W FENCE ABOVE TO 
COMBINED HEIGHT OF 6' 
MAXIMUM ABOVE GRADE 
FOLLOW BUILDING GRADE

NEW 3.5' CONCRETE RETAINING 
WALL C/W  4' HIGH WOOD FENCE

NEW 
PRIVACY 
SCREEN

NEW 3'4" WIDE CONCRETE 
PATHWAY

NEW STEPPED RETAINING 
WALL C/W FENCE ABOVE TO 
COMBINED HEIGHT OF 6' 
MAXIMUM ABOVE GRADE 
FOLLOW BUILDING GRADE

PORTION OF EXISTING 
ROCK RETAINING WALL TO 
REMAIN

NEW 3'-4" WIDE NEW 
CONCRETE 
PATHWAY

NEW 3'-4" CONCRETE 
PATHWAY

60 DP PE GASMAIN @ 
5.8M
DEPTH: 0.8M

APPROXIMATE LOCATION 
OF EXISTING ABONDONED
21MM ST GAS LINE

APPROXIMATE LOCATION 
OF EXISTING 26MM PE 
GAS LINE

3.5 m

11'-6"

EXISTING POWER POLE 
C/W EXISTING OVERHEAD 
BC HYDRO POWER 
ABOVE

NEW GATE

EXISTING RETAINING WALL TO BE CUT TO 
ENABLE SMOOTH TRANSITION AT NEW 
CONCRETE PATHWAY

NEW DUPLEX
UPPER: 311.5'
MAIN: 300.4'
BASEMENT: 290.3'
(GFA EXEMPT)

HEAT PUMP 
OUTDOOR UNIT 
(UNDER DECK)

existing

NEW REDUCED 
DECK OVER 
BASEMENT

NEW 3.5' CONCRETE 
RETAINING WALL 
C/W  4' HIGH WOOD 
FENCE

EXISTING 
CONCRETE 
WALKWAY

NEW 3'-4" 
CONCRETE 
PATHWAY

BUILDING GRADE

BUILDING GRADE

GRADE EL: 297.0'
GRADE EL: 297.0'

LINE OF 
SPATIAL 
SEPARATION

4.
0

 m

13
'-1

"

6.
2 

m

20
'-4

"

3.5 m

11'-7"

4.2 m

13'-8"

4.
8 

m

15
'-1

0
"

1.2 m

4'-0"

GARBAGE STORAGE 
AREA FOR PRINCIPAL 
DWELLING (BELOW DECK)

EXISTING DECK AND STAIRS TO BE 
RELOCATED

6.
1 

m

20
'-2

"

2.
9 

m

9'
-6

"

3.8 m

12'-6"

7.6 m

25'-0"

3.8 m

12'-6"

0
.3

 m
1'-

0
"0

.3
 m

1'-
0

"
0

.3
 m

1'-
2"

0
.3

 m
1'-

2"

0.3 m

1'-0"

1.2 m

4'-0"

1.2 m

4'-0"

0.6 m
OVERHANG

2'-0" 0.6 m
OVERHANG

2'-0"

6.
8 

m

22
'-4

"

EL. 299.9'
EL. 299.9'

3.9 m

12'-11"
3.9 m

12'-11"

1.0 m

3'-4"

1.0 m

3'-4"

2.
6 

m

8'
-6

"

1.1
 m

O
V

ER
HA

N G

3'
-6

"

22
.1
 m

72
'-5

"

EL. 299.9'

EL. 299.9'
EL. 298.2'

EL. 297.0'

EL. 296.5'

EL. 296.2'

EL. 296.8'

EL. 296.5'

EL. 296.40'
90.34 m

EL. 296.10'
90.25 m

1/
2"

 /
 1

2"

1/2" / 12"

1.
0

 m

3'
-4

"

1.
0

 m

3'
-2

"

2 STALL (6'L X 3'W X 3'H) CUSTOM 
BIKE STORAGE LOCKER C/W PAD 
LOCK HARDWARE

2 STALL (6'L X 3'W X 3'H) CUSTOM 
BIKE STORAGE LOCKER C/W PAD 
LOCK HARDWARE

2 BIKE STALLS (6'L X 3'W X 3'H) IN 
BASEMENT AREA BELOW DECK

NEW PLANTING AREA AND 
NEW TREE, REFER TO 
LANDSCAPE PLAN

NEW PLANTING AREA, REFER 
TO LANDSCAPE PLAN

NEW PERENNIAL PLANTING 
AREA, REFER TO LANDSCAPE 
PLAN

1.0 m

3'-4"

GARAGE ENCLOSURE AREA

NEW PLANTING AREA, REFER TO LANDSCAPE 
PLAN FOR PLANTING DETAILS

NEW HARDWIRED 
ADDRESS SIGN 
(ADDITIONAL 
ADDRESS NUMBERS 
WILL BE LIT ON 
DUPLEX)

0
.4

 m
1'-

3"

APPROXIMATE 
LOCATION OF EXISTING 
FENCE TO BE 
RELOCATED AND 
REPAIRED 
REFER TO LANDSCAPE 
PLAN FOR NEW 
LOCATION

APPROXIMATE 
LOCATION OF 
EXISTING FENCE TO 
BE REPAIRED 

NEW FENCE

EXISTING TREES TO 
BE RETAINED -
PROTECTION 
FENCING TO BE 
PROVIDED ON 245 
PROPERTY

EXISTING POSTS

APPROXIMATE LINE 
OF EXISTING FENCE 
TO BE REPLACED

NEW 2.0M SIDEWALK, 
CURB AND GUTTER AS 
PER CREUS ENGINEERING 
CIVIL DRAWINGS

EXISTING CURB, SIDEWALK 
TO BE REMOVED

NEW 3'4" WIDE 
CONCRETE PATHWAY

NEW TREE (REFER TO LANDSCAPE 
PLAN)

NEW TREE, REFER TO 
LANDSCAPE PLAN FOR 
DETAILS

NEW TREE, REFER TO 
LANDSCAPE PLAN FOR 
DETAILS

LEGEND

LINE OF MAIN FLOOR

LINE OF UPPER FLOOR

LINE OF BASEMENT

EXISTING OVERHEAD POWER

EXISTING STORM CONNECTION

EXISTING WATER CONNECTION

EXISTING SANITARY CONNECTION

EXISTING GAS CONNECTION

COMMON PROPERTY AREA

FIRE FIGHTER ACCES PATH

NEW PLANTING 
AREA

Date

Scale

Drawn

Job No.

Sheet

Of Sheets

Drawing Title

Copyright reserved. All 
contents of this drawing 
are the exclusive property 
of Synthesis Design Inc. 
and shall not be used or 
reproduced without the 
consent of the Designer.

All dimensions shall be 
verified on site prior to 
commencement of work.

www.synthesisdesign.ca

canada V7L 1B3
tel. (604) 980-2087

synthesis design inc.

north vancouver, bc,
258 east 1st street

2022-05-30
9:41:26 AM

1/8" = 1'-0"

D
IC

KI
E 

D
U

PL
EX

 IN
FI

LL
24

5 
EA

ST
 1

0T
H

 S
TR

EE
T,

SITE PLAN

05.30.2022

JPAS

20082

DA-3

No
rth

 V
an

co
uv

er
, B

C

171/8" = 1'-0"

SITE PLAN

UNITS:
PERMITTED: 2 PRINCIPAL DWELLINGS + 2 SECONDARY SUITES
PROPOSED: 1 PRINCIPAL DWELLING + DUPLEX INFILL RESIDENCE

PRINCIAPL DWELLING: 3 BEDROOM UNITS
DUPLEX INFILL:  3 BEDROOM UNITS
NOT PART OF ADAPTABLE DESIGN REQUIREMENTS

BICYCLE PARKING
REQUIRED: 4 STALLS
PROPOSED: 6 STALLS (2 FOR EACH DUPLEX UNIT) 

2 WITHIN BASEMENT OF PRINCIPAL DWELLING

OCP REZONING TO .723 FSR

REZONING TO ALLOW .418 LOT COVERAGE

OCP REZONING FOR PARKING

REZONING TO ALLOW 
DUPLEX BUILDING SETBACKS

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT ONLY 

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

REZONING REQUIRED

REVISIONS # BY







DINE
RELAX

COOK

BEER 'N BBQ

HI

FRESHEN-UP

CLEAN

COOK

HI

FRESHEN-UP

RELAX

CLEAN

DINE

OUTDOOR
ESCAPE

GAS FIREPLACE

PARKPARK

GAS FIREPLACE

SLAT WALL

LANDING TO 
WALKWAY

LANDING TO 
WALKWAY

SUNDECK
21'-0" x 11'-0"/13'-0" 

LIVING AREA 
10'-0" x 15'-3"
• Open to Dining and Kitchen Area
• Gas fireplace C/W millwork
• 9'-0" accordion door
• 10'-0" CEILING HEIGHT

DINING AREA 
8'-6 x 13'-3"
• Open to Kitchen and Living Area
• 10'-0" Ceiling height
• 6'-0"  wwindow

KITCHEN 
9'-0" x 13'-0"
• 8'-0" Island
• Open to Dining Area and Living Area
• 10'-0" Ceiling Height

FOYER
5'-6" x 10'-6"
• 2'-8" Of linear closet space

POWDER ROOM
6'-0" - 5'-0" 

LAUDRY ROOM
Millwork storage cubbies
6'-0" x 8'-0"

COVERED ENTRY
5'-6" x 3'-9""

LIVING AREA 
10'-0" x 15'-3"
• Open to Dining and Kitchen Area
• Gas fireplace C/W millwork
• 9'-0" accordion door
• 10'-0" CEILING HEIGHT

DINING AREA 
8'-6 x 13'-3"
• Open to Kitchen and Living Area
• 10'-0" Ceiling height
• 6'-0"  wwindow

KITCHEN 
9'-0" x 13'-0"
• 8'-0" Island
• Open to Dining Area and 
Living Area
• 10'-0" Ceiling Height

FOYER
5'-6" x 10'-6"
• 2'-8" Of linear closet space

POWDER ROOM
6'-0" - 5'-0" 

LAUDRY ROOM
Millwork storage cubbies
6'-0" x 8'-0"

COVERED ENTRY
5'-6" x 3'-9""

SUNDECK
21'-0" x 11'-0"/13'-0" 

OPEN TO 
ABOVE

HUTCH ALCOVE

FRIDGE

M
IL

LW
O

R
K

CUBBIES

FL
US

H 
B

R
EA

K
FA

ST
 B

A
R

OPEN TO 
ABOVE & 

BELOW

HUTCH ALCOVE

CUBBIES

DRYERWASHER

REAR PROPERTY LINE

SI
D

E 
PR

O
PE

R
TY

 L
IN

E

SI
D

E 
PR

O
PE

R
TY

 
LI

NE

D
W

FL
US

H 
B

R
EA

K
FA

ST
 B

A
R

D
W

C
LO

SE
T

LINE OF ROOF ABOVE LINE OF ROOF ABOVE

B
EN

C
H

DRYER WASHER

B
EN

C
H

M
IL

LW
O

R
K

FRIDGE

C
LO

SE
T

C.H. 10'-0"

C.H. 10'-0"

C.H. 10'-0"

C.H. 10'-0"

C.H. 10'-0"

C.H. 10'-6"

C.H. 10'-0"

LINE OF BEAM ABOVE LINE OF BEAM ABOVE

MAX 4'-0" TALL

GARBAGE ENCLOSURE

0
.9

 m

3'
-0

"

1.8 m

6'-0"

1.8 m

6'-0"

0
.9

 m

3'
-0

"

2 STALL (6'L X 3'W X 3'H) CUSTOM 
BIKE STORAGE LOCKER C/W PAD 
LOCK HARDWARE

2 STALL (6'L X 3'W X 3'H) 
CUSTOM BIKE STORAGE 
LOCKER C/W PAD LOCK 
HARDWARE

8'-6" 5'-9" 6'-9" 6'-9" 5'-9" 8'-6"

21'-0" 21'-0"

2'
-0

"
27

'-9
"

10
'-8

"
3'

-0
"

11
'-3

"
43

'-5
"

2'
-0

"
27

'-9
"

10
'-8

"
3'

-0
"

11
'-3

"
43

'-5
"

8'-11" 12'-1" 12'-1" 8'-11"

21'-0" 21'-0"

42'-0"

LEGEND

NEW WALL

NEW POST

NEW DOOR

NEW WINDOW

Date

Scale

Drawn

Job No.

Sheet

Of Sheets

Drawing Title

Copyright reserved. All 
contents of this drawing 
are the exclusive property 
of Synthesis Design Inc. 
and shall not be used or 
reproduced without the 
consent of the Designer.

All dimensions shall be 
verified on site prior to 
commencement of work.

www.synthesisdesign.ca

canada V7L 1B3
tel. (604) 980-2087

synthesis design inc.

north vancouver, bc,
258 east 1st street

2022-05-30
9:42:21 AM

1/4" = 1'-0"

D
IC

KI
E 

D
U

PL
EX

 IN
FI

LL
24

5 
EA

ST
 1

0T
H

 S
TR

EE
T,

MAIN FLOOR
PLANS

05.30.2022

JPAS

20082

DA-6

No
rth

 V
an

co
uv

er
, B

C

17

1/4" = 1'-0"

MAIN FLOOR

MAIN FLOOR: 762 SQ.FT (70.8M2) X 2 = 1,524 SQ.FT (141.58M2)
100% COUNTABLE

EXCLUDED FROM GFA CALCULATION
COVERED ENTRY: 17 SQ.FT X2 = 34 SQ.FT
DECK: 175 SQ.FT X2 = 350 SQ.FT

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT ONLY 

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

HORIZONTAL PRIVACY FENCE

REVISIONS # BY



SLEEP

SLEEP

WASH

MASTER WASH

DRESS

BIG SLEEP

HALLWAY

VAULT VAULT VAULTVAULT

SLEEP

SLEEP

WASH

MASTER WASH

DRESS

HALLWAY

C.H. 9'-0"

C.H. 8'-0"C.H. 8'-0"

3'-0" HIGH 
PONY WALL

3'-0" HIGH 
PONY WALL

BIG SLEEP

C
LO

SE
T

C
LO

SE
T

CLOSET

CLOSET

LINEN

C
LO

SE
T

CLOSET

CLOSET

LINEN

C
LO

SE
T

BATHROOM 
7'-9" x 5'-0"

BEDROOM 1 
8'-6 x 13'-0"
• 6'-2" Of linear closet space
• 8'-0" Ceiling height

MASTER WALK-THROUGH CLOSET
7'-9" x 5'-0"
• 5'-0" His/Her lineal closet space

MASTER ENSUITE
7'-9" - 6'-6"
• 6'-6" Double vanity
• 4'-0" x 3'-0"  Shower

MASTER BEDROOM
11'-6" x 13'-3"
• 9'-0" vaulted ceiling 

BEDROOM 2 
11'-0" x 9'-0"
• 7'-9" Of linear closet space
• 8'-0" Ceiling height

BATHROOM 
7'-9" x 5'-0"

BEDROOM 1 
8'-6 x 13'-0"
• 6'-2" Of linear closet 
space
• 8'-0" Ceiling height

MASTER WALK-
THROUGH CLOSET
7'-9" x 5'-0"
• 5'-0" His/Her lineal 
closet space

MASTER ENSUITE
7'-9" - 6'-6"
• 6'-6" Double vanity
• 4'-0" x 3'-0"  Shower

MASTER BEDROOM
11'-6" x 13'-3"
• 9'-0" vaulted ceiling 

BEDROOM 2 
11'-0" x 9'-0"
• 7'-9" Of linear closet space
• 8'-0" Ceiling height

LINE OF ROOF ABOVE LINE OF ROOF ABOVE

LINE OF ROOF  BELOW LINE OF ROOF  BELOW

SKYLIGHT 
ABOVE

SKYLIGHT 
ABOVE

OPEN-TO-
BELOW

OPEN-TO-
BELOW

C.H. 9'-0" C.H. 9'-0"

C.H. 8'-0"C.H. 8'-0"

8'-6" 12'-6" 12'-6" 8'-6"

21'-0" 21'-0"

2'
-0

"
27

'-9
"

13
'-8

"

13
'-8

"
27

'-9
"

2'
-0

"

8'-11" 12'-1" 12'-1" 8'-11"

21'-0" 21'-0"

43
'-5

"

43
'-5

"

LEGEND

NEW WALL

NEW POST

NEW DOOR

NEW WINDOW

Date

Scale

Drawn

Job No.

Sheet

Of Sheets

Drawing Title

Copyright reserved. All 
contents of this drawing 
are the exclusive property 
of Synthesis Design Inc. 
and shall not be used or 
reproduced without the 
consent of the Designer.

All dimensions shall be 
verified on site prior to 
commencement of work.

www.synthesisdesign.ca

canada V7L 1B3
tel. (604) 980-2087

synthesis design inc.

north vancouver, bc,
258 east 1st street

2022-05-30
9:42:30 AM

1/4" = 1'-0"

D
IC

KI
E 

D
U

PL
EX

 IN
FI

LL
24

5 
EA

ST
 1

0T
H

 S
TR

EE
T,

UPPER FLOOR
PLAN

05.30.2022

JPAS

20082

DA-7

No
rth

 V
an

co
uv

er
, B

C

17

1/4" = 1'-0"

DUPLEX UPPER FLOOR

779 SQ.FT (72.37M2) X 2 = 1,558 SQ.FT (144.74M2)
100% COUNTABLE DESIGN DEVELOPMENT ONLY 

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

REVISIONS # BY



PLAY
POPCORN

BATHROOM

UTILITY ROOM

STORAGE

SHAKE!

HRV

HWT

UNDER-STAIR 
STORAGE

FR
ID

G
E

M
IL

LW
O

R
K

M
IL

LW
O

R
K

BATHROOM

UTILITY ROOM

SHAKE!

HRV

HWT

FR
ID

G
E

M
IL

LW
O

R
K

M
IL

LW
O

R
K

POPCORN

UNDER-STAIR
STORAGE

SWEAT / YOGA

STORAGE

C.H. 8'-4"

BAR AREA
5'-6" x 11'-0"
• Open to Entertainment Area
• 8'-4" Ceiling Height

STORAGE ROOM
11'-0" x 7'-0" (IRREGULAR)

UTILITY ROOM
5'-3 x 6'-0"

BATHROOM
5'-0" x 8'-0"

ENTERTAINMENT AREA 
19'-6" x 16-9"
• Open to Bar Area
• Entertainment Center
• 8'-4" Ceiling height

BAR AREA
5'-6" x 11'-0"
• Open to Entertainment Area
• 8'-4" Ceiling Height

STORAGE ROOM
11'-0" x 7'-0" (IRREGULAR)

UTILITY ROOM
5'-3 x 6'-0"

BATHROOM
5'-0" x 8'-0"

C.H. 8'-4"

ENTERTAINMENT AREA 
19'-6" x 16-9"
• Open to Bar Area
• Entertainment Center
• 8'-4" Ceiling height

ELECTRICAL PANEL ELECTRICAL PANEL

1'-
0

"
10

'-8
"

27
'-9

"
2'

-0
"

41
'-5

"

8'-6"5'-9"6'-9"6'-9"5'-9"8'-6"

42'-0"

1'-
0

"
10

'-8
"

27
'-9

"
2'

-0
"

41
'-5

"

8'-11" 12'-1" 12'-1" 8'-11"

21'-0" 21'-0"

LEGEND

NEW WALL

NEW POST

NEW DOOR

NEW WINDOW

Date

Scale

Drawn

Job No.

Sheet

Of Sheets

Drawing Title

Copyright reserved. All 
contents of this drawing 
are the exclusive property 
of Synthesis Design Inc. 
and shall not be used or 
reproduced without the 
consent of the Designer.

All dimensions shall be 
verified on site prior to 
commencement of work.

www.synthesisdesign.ca

canada V7L 1B3
tel. (604) 980-2087

synthesis design inc.

north vancouver, bc,
258 east 1st street

2022-05-30
9:42:39 AM

1/4" = 1'-0"

D
IC

KI
E 

D
U

PL
EX

 IN
FI

LL
24

5 
EA

ST
 1

0T
H

 S
TR

EE
T,

BASEMENT
FLOOR PLAN

05.30.2022

JPAS

20082

DA-8

No
rth

 V
an

co
uv

er
, B

C

17

1/4" = 1'-0"

DUPLEX BASEMENT

TOTAL BASEMENT: 748 SQ.FT (69.5M2) X 2 = 1,496 SQ.FT (139.98M2)
BASEMENT IS EXCLUDED FROM COUNTABLE GFA - REFER TO DIAGONAL HATCH

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT ONLY 

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

REVISIONS # BY



REAR SETBACK 5' (1.52M)

SI
D

E 
SE

TB
A
C

K
 4

' (
1.2

2M
)

SI
D

E 
SE

TB
A
C

K
 4

' (
1.2

2M
)

LINE OF MAIN 
FLOOR C/W 
UPPER FLOOR 
ABOVE

LINE OF 
BASEMENT 
FLOOR

PR
O

PE
R

TY
 L

IN
E

PR
O

PE
R

TY
 L

IN
E

PROPERTY LINE

SKYLIGHTS 
ABOVE

SKYLIGHTS 
ABOVE

Date

Scale

Drawn

Job No.

Sheet

Of Sheets

Drawing Title

Copyright reserved. All 
contents of this drawing 
are the exclusive property 
of Synthesis Design Inc. 
and shall not be used or 
reproduced without the 
consent of the Designer.

All dimensions shall be 
verified on site prior to 
commencement of work.

www.synthesisdesign.ca

canada V7L 1B3
tel. (604) 980-2087

synthesis design inc.

north vancouver, bc,
258 east 1st street

2022-05-30
9:43:00 AM

1/4" = 1'-0"

D
IC

KI
E 

D
U

PL
EX

 IN
FI

LL
24

5 
EA

ST
 1

0T
H

 S
TR

EE
T,

ROOF PLAN

05.30.2022

JPAS

20082

DA-9

No
rth

 V
an

co
uv

er
, B

C

17

1/4" = 1'-0"

ROOF PLAN

REVISIONS # BY



PR
O

PE
R

TY
 L

IN
E

PR
O

PE
R

TY
 L

IN
E

HORIZONTAL HARDIE-PLANKT(OR EQUIVALENT) LAP SIDING

HARDIE SHINGLES (OR EQUIVALENT)

THIN-STONE VENEER (LEDGESTONE OR EQUIVALENT)

ASHPHALT SHINES

30 sq.ft

17.5 sq.ft

18 sq.ft

16 sq.ft

10 sq.ft

6 sq.ft

30 sq.ft

17.5 sq.ft

18 sq.ft

16 sq.ft

10 sq.ft

6 sq.ft

PAINTED 8" CEMENT TRIM BOARD (HARDI-
TRIM OR EQUIVALENT)

PAINTED 2X4 CEMENT TRIM BOARD 
(HARDI-TRIM OR EQUIVALENT)

PAINTED CEMENT FASCIA BOARD 
(HARDI-TRIM OR EQUIVALENT) C/W 
ALUMINIUM GUTTER

PAINTED 12" CEMENTIOUS BARGE 
BOARD C/W 1X4 (HARDI-TRIM OR 
EQUIVALENT)

7.5 sq.ft 7.5 sq.ft

LINE OF GRADE BELOW DECK

HORIZONTAL HARDIE-
PLANKT(OR EQUIVALENT) LAP 
SIDING

HARDIE SHINGLES 
(OR EQUIVALENT)

8 sq.ft 8 sq.ft

12 sq.ft

10 sq.ft

7 sq.ft 7 sq.ft 7 sq.ft

8 
sq.ft

12 
sq.ft

THIN STONE VENEER

ALUMINIUM RAILING

PAINTED PAPER-
BACKED PLYWOOD 
COLUMN C/W 6" CAP 
AND BASE

DECORATIVE PAINTED 
PAPER-BACKED 
PLYWOOD BEAM

PAINTED 8" CEMENT TRIM 
BOARD (HARDI-TRIM OR 
EQUIVALENT)

AREA B AREA A AREA B

Date

Scale

Drawn

Job No.

Sheet

Of Sheets

Drawing Title

Copyright reserved. All 
contents of this drawing 
are the exclusive property 
of Synthesis Design Inc. 
and shall not be used or 
reproduced without the 
consent of the Designer.

All dimensions shall be 
verified on site prior to 
commencement of work.

www.synthesisdesign.ca

canada V7L 1B3
tel. (604) 980-2087

synthesis design inc.

north vancouver, bc,
258 east 1st street

2022-05-30
9:43:21 AM

1/4" = 1'-0"

D
IC

KI
E 

D
U

PL
EX

 IN
FI

LL
24

5 
EA

ST
 1

0T
H

 S
TR

EE
T,

DUPLEX
ELEVATIONS

05.30.2022

JPAS

20082

DA-10

No
rth

 V
an

co
uv

er
, B

C

17

1/4" = 1'-0"

DUPLEX FRONT (LANE) ELEVATION

1/4" = 1'-0"

DUPLEX RIGHT ELEVATION

AREA OF FACE

LIMITING DISTANCE

ALLOWABLE OPENINGS

AREA OF OPENING

CONFORMS
YES

980 sq.ft. (91 m2)

30.1 ft.  (9.2 m)

56% x 387.1 = 216.8 sq.ft.

110 sq.ft.

AREA B SPATIAL SEPARATION

AREA OF FACE

LIMITING DISTANCE

ALLOWABLE OPENINGS

AREA OF OPENING

CONFORMS
YES

982 sq.ft. (91.2 m2)

4 ft.  (1.2 m)

7% x 628.8 = 44 sq.ft.

44 sq.ft.

AREA A SPATIAL SEPARATION

AREA OF FACE

LIMITING DISTANCE

ALLOWABLE OPENINGS

AREA OF OPENING

CONFORMS
YES

980 sq.ft. (91 m2)

16.5 ft.  (5 m)

18% x 592.9 = 106.7 sq.ft.

100 sq.ft.

AREA A SPATIAL SEPARATION

AREA OF FACE

LIMITING DISTANCE

ALLOWABLE OPENINGS

AREA OF OPENING

CONFORMS
YES

982 sq.ft. (91.2 m2)

12.5 ft.  (3.8 m)

13.5% x 354.0 = 47.8 sq.ft.

35 sq.ft.

AREA B SPATIAL SEPARATION

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT ONLY 

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

REVISIONS # BY



AREA BAREA AAREA B

LINE OF GRADE BELOW DECK

HARDIE SHINGLES (OR EQUIVALENT)22 sq.ft

36 sq.ft

16 sq.ft

8 sq.ft

72 sq.ft

22 sq.ft

36 sq.ft

16 sq.ft

8 sq.ft

72 sq.ft

REFLECTED WINDOW 
ELEVATIONS OF EXISTING 
PRINCIPAL HOME

APPROXIMATE HEIGHT OF 
EXISTING FENCE LINE

AREA BAREA AAREA B

LINE OF GRADE BELOW DECK

8 sq.ft8 sq.ft

12 sq.ft

10 sq.ft

7 sq.ft7 sq.ft7 sq.ft

8 
sq.ft

6 
sq.ft

HORIZONTAL HARDIE-
PLANKT(OR EQUIVALENT) LAP 

SIDING

HARDIE SHINGLES 
(OR EQUIVALENT)

THIN STONE VENEER

ALUMINIUM RAILING

PAINTED PAPER-
BACKED PLYWOOD 
COLUMN C/W 6" CAP 
AND BASE

DECORATIVE 
PAPER-BACKED 
PLYWOOD BEAM

PAINTED 8" CEMENT TRIM 
BOARD (HARDI-TRIM OR 

EQUIVALENT)

Date

Scale

Drawn

Job No.

Sheet

Of Sheets

Drawing Title

Copyright reserved. All 
contents of this drawing 
are the exclusive property 
of Synthesis Design Inc. 
and shall not be used or 
reproduced without the 
consent of the Designer.

All dimensions shall be 
verified on site prior to 
commencement of work.

www.synthesisdesign.ca

canada V7L 1B3
tel. (604) 980-2087

synthesis design inc.

north vancouver, bc,
258 east 1st street

2022-05-30
9:43:44 AM

1/4" = 1'-0"

D
IC

KI
E 

D
U

PL
EX

 IN
FI

LL
24

5 
EA

ST
 1

0T
H

 S
TR

EE
T,

DUPLEX
ELEVATIONS

05.30.2022

JPAS

20082

DA-11

No
rth

 V
an

co
uv

er
, B

C

17

1/4" = 1'-0"

DUPLEX REAR ELEVATION

1/4" = 1'-0"

DUPLEX LEFT ELEVATION

AREA OF FACE

LIMITING DISTANCE

ALLOWABLE OPENINGS

AREA OF OPENING

CONFORMS
YES

828.1 sq.ft. (76.9 m2)

20.3 ft.  (6.2 m)

40% x 480.8 = 192.3 sq.ft.

192 sq.ft.

AREA A SPATIAL SEPARATION

AREA OF FACE

LIMITING DISTANCE

ALLOWABLE OPENINGS

AREA OF OPENING

CONFORMS
YES

828.1 sq.ft. (76.9 m2)

22.3 ft.  (6.8 m)

40% x 347.3 = 138.9 sq.ft.

116 sq.ft.

AREA B SPATIAL SEPARATION

AREA OF FACE

LIMITING DISTANCE

ALLOWABLE OPENINGS

AREA OF OPENING

CONFORMS
YES

981.8 sq.ft. (91.2 m2)

4 ft.  (1.2 m)

7% x 628.8 = 44 sq.ft.

44 sq.ft.

AREA A SPATIAL SEPARATION

AREA OF FACE

LIMITING DISTANCE

ALLOWABLE OPENINGS

AREA OF OPENING

CONFORMS
YES

981.8 sq.ft. (91.2 m2)

12.5 ft.  (3.8 m)

13.5% x 353.9 = 47.8 sq.ft.

35 sq.ft.

AREA B SPATIAL SEPARATION

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT ONLY 

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

REVISIONS # BY



R
EA

R
 P

R
O

PE
R

TY
 L

IN
E

FR
O

NT
 P

R
O

PE
R

TY
 L

IN
E

6'
-0

" 
M

A
X

OUTLINE OF FENCE BEHIND

EXISTING PRINCIPAL DWELLING

NEW SUNDECK

2.0 m

6'-6" NEW DUPLEX INFILL

PATIO

NEW DUPLEX

1.2
 m

4'
-0

"

OUTLINE OF 
DECK TO BE 
REMOVED

R
EA

R
 P

R
O

PE
R

TY
 L

IN
E

FR
O

NT
 P

R
O

PE
R

TY
 L

IN
E

NEW SUNDECK

EXISTING PRINCIPAL DWELLINGNEW DUPLEX INFILL DUPLEX PATIO

Date

Scale

Drawn

Job No.

Sheet

Of Sheets

Drawing Title

Copyright reserved. All 
contents of this drawing 
are the exclusive property 
of Synthesis Design Inc. 
and shall not be used or 
reproduced without the 
consent of the Designer.

All dimensions shall be 
verified on site prior to 
commencement of work.

www.synthesisdesign.ca

canada V7L 1B3
tel. (604) 980-2087

synthesis design inc.

north vancouver, bc,
258 east 1st street

2022-05-30
9:44:03 AM

1/8" = 1'-0"

D
IC

KI
E 

D
U

PL
EX

 IN
FI

LL
24

5 
EA

ST
 1

0T
H

 S
TR

EE
T,

FULL SITE
ELEVATION &
SECTION

05.30.2022

JPAS

20082

DA-12

No
rth

 V
an

co
uv

er
, B

C

17

1/8" = 1'-0"

FULL SITE ELEVATION

1/8" = 1'-0"

FULL SITE SECTION

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT ONLY 

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

REVISIONS # BY



Date

Scale

Drawn

Job No.

Sheet

Of Sheets

Drawing Title

Copyright reserved. All 
contents of this drawing 
are the exclusive property 
of Synthesis Design Inc. 
and shall not be used or 
reproduced without the 
consent of the Designer.

All dimensions shall be 
verified on site prior to 
commencement of work.

www.synthesisdesign.ca

canada V7L 1B3
tel. (604) 980-2087

synthesis design inc.

north vancouver, bc,
258 east 1st street

2022-05-30
9:44:15 AM

D
IC

KI
E 

D
U

PL
EX

 IN
FI

LL
24

5 
EA

ST
 1

0T
H

 S
TR

EE
T,

DUPLEX REAR
RENDERING

05.30.2022

JPAS

20082

DA-13

No
rth

 V
an

co
uv

er
, B

C

17

REVISIONS # BY



4.
9 

m

16
'-1

"

8.
5 

m

27
'-1

1"

2.
2 

m

7'
-1

"

7.4 m

24'-2"

2.
2 

m

7'
-1

"

8.
5 

m

27
'-1

1"

4.
0

 m

13
'-0

"

1.
0

 m

3'
-3

"

2.4 m

7'-11"

1.2 m

4'-0"

3.7 m

12'-3"

15
.6

 m

51
'-2

"

STORAGE

EXISTING
BEDROOM

REC ROOM

BATHROOM

EXISTING
STORAGE

UNDER-DECK AREA
EXEMPT FOR GFA 
CALCULATION
OVER 40% EXPOSED

LINE OF NEW 
DECK ABOVE

LINE OF DECK 
TO BE 
REMOVED

UP     13RS
RISE= 7 1/2"
RUN= 10"

2 BICYCLE STALLS TO BE 
CONTAINED WITHIN 
STORAGE AREA

NO SECONDARY SUITE IN BASEMENT

EXISTING 32" X 80" DOOR TO 
BE REPAIRED OR REPLACED

7.4 m

24'-4"

2.
2 

m

7'
-2

"

8.
5 

m

27
'-1

1"

1.
6 

m

5'
-4

"

3.
5 

m

11
'-6

"

2.
2 

m

7'
-2

"

10
.1 

m

33
'-3

"

4.
6 

m

15
'-0

"

4.1 m

13'-7"

3.2 m

10'-7"

EXISTING
DINING ROOM

EXISTING
LIVING ROOM

EXISTING
KITCHEN

EXISITNG
MUDROOM /

ENTRY

NEW SUNDECK

DN     13RS
RISE= 7 1/2"
RUN= 10"

4.2 m

13'-8"

3.3 m

10'-8"

7.4 m

24'-4"

NEW 3'-6" TALL RAILINGS PER OWNER

3'
-6

" 
ST

A
IR

S

NEW ASSEMBLY AND DETAILS TO 
BE PROVIDED AT PERMIT PHASE

LEGEND

GFA INCLUDED

GFA EXCLUDED

Date

Scale

Drawn

Job No.

Sheet

Of Sheets

Drawing Title

Copyright reserved. All 
contents of this drawing 
are the exclusive property 
of Synthesis Design Inc. 
and shall not be used or 
reproduced without the 
consent of the Designer.

All dimensions shall be 
verified on site prior to 
commencement of work.

www.synthesisdesign.ca

canada V7L 1B3
tel. (604) 980-2087

synthesis design inc.

north vancouver, bc,
258 east 1st street

2022-05-30
9:44:25 AM

1/4" = 1'-0"

D
IC

KI
E 

D
U

PL
EX

 IN
FI

LL
24

5 
EA

ST
 1

0T
H

 S
TR

EE
T,

PRINCIPAL
DWELLING
BASEMENT AND
MAIN FLOOR
PLANS

05.30.2022

JPAS

20082

DA-14

No
rth

 V
an

co
uv

er
, B

C

17

1/4" = 1'-0"

BASEMENT FLOOR PLAN

BASEMENT TOTAL: 907 SQ.FT (84.26M2) TOTAL
BASEMENT EXCLUDED: 710 SQ.FT (65.96M2) - REFER TO DIAGONAL HATCH
BASEMENT COUNTABLE: 197 SQ.FT (18.3M2)

1/4" = 1'-0"

MAIN FLOOR PLAN

729 SQ.FT  (67.7M2)
100% COUNTABLE

REVISIONS # BY



3.6 m

12'-0"

2.6 m

8'-8"

1.1 m

3'-6"

8.
5 

m

27
'-1

0
"

1.2
 m

3'
-1

1"

8.
5 

m

27
'-1

0
"

1.2
 m

3'
-1

1"

7.4 m

24'-2"

EXISTING
BEDROOM 1

EXISTING
BEDROOM 2

LANDING

EXISTING
BATHROOM

EXISTING
MASTER

BEDROOM

CLOSET

31
'-1

0
"

6.
9 

m

22
'-8

"

0
.6

 m

2'
-0

"

1.7 m

5'-5"

1.7 m

5'-8"

1.7 m

5'-5"

6.
9 

m

22
'-8

"

EXISTING ATTIC

BOV APPROVED NOVEMBER 21, 1990

CLOSET

5.0 m

16'-6"

CH: 4'-0" +/- CH: 4'-0" +/-

CH:7'-4"

INACCESSIBLE ATTIC SPACE BEHIND KNEE WALL

INACCESSIBLE ATTIC 
SPACE

Date

Scale

Drawn

Job No.

Sheet

Of Sheets

Drawing Title

Copyright reserved. All 
contents of this drawing 
are the exclusive property 
of Synthesis Design Inc. 
and shall not be used or 
reproduced without the 
consent of the Designer.

All dimensions shall be 
verified on site prior to 
commencement of work.

www.synthesisdesign.ca

canada V7L 1B3
tel. (604) 980-2087

synthesis design inc.

north vancouver, bc,
258 east 1st street

2022-05-30
9:44:34 AM

1/4" = 1'-0"

D
IC

KI
E 

D
U

PL
EX

 IN
FI

LL
24

5 
EA

ST
 1

0T
H

 S
TR

EE
T,

PRINCIPAL
DWELLING
UPPER AND
ATTIC FLOOR
PLANS

05.30.2022

JPAS

20082

DA-15

No
rth

 V
an

co
uv

er
, B

C

17

1/4" = 1'-0"

UPPER FLOOR PLAN

706 SQ.FT (65.6M2)
100% COUNTABLE

1/4" = 1'-0"

ATTIC FLOOR PLAN

345 SQ.FT (32M2)
100% COUNTABLE
NO ACCESS TO ATTIC SPACE BEHIND KNEE WALLS

REVISIONS # BY



EXISTING STAIRS AND RAILINGS 
TO BE REPAIRED. 
ANY ELEMENTS NEEDING 
REPLACEMENT WILL MATCH 
EXISTING"

EXISTING FRONT PORCH TO BE 
REAPIRED, STRUCTURAL 
CONDITIONS TO BE CONFIRMED, 
NEW PORCH DECKING AS 
REQUIRED

FRONT STAINED GLASS WINDOW 
TO BE REPAIRED

EXISTING CONDITIONS OF 
PERGOLA TO BE REVIEWED ON 
SITE, REPAIR AS NEEDED

EXISTING CONDITIONS 
OF PERGOLA TO BE 
REVIEWED ON SITE, 
REPAIR AS NEEDED REFER TO SITE PLAN 

FOR NEW CONCRETE 
PATHWAYS AROUND 
SUBJECT PROPERTY

4'2"x4'7"
19 sq.ft

2'7"x3'9"
7 sq.ft

2'7"x3'9"
7 sq.ft

5'7"x2'4"
13 sq.ft

4'4"x2'2"
9.5 sq.ft

7'7"x3'7"
27 sq.ft

5'0"x6'8"
19 sq.ft

4'10"x1'4"
6.5 sq.ft

NEW STAIRS AND DECK 
MEMBRANE.
ENSURE NEW DECK CAN BE 
REMOVED AT A LATER TIME 
WITHOUT PERMANENT DAMAGE 
TO HOUSE

NEW RAILING TO 
MATCH EXISTING 
CONDITIONS

NEW SUNDECK

REPAIR EXISTING 
WINDOW

NEW DECK TRIM 
AS REQUIRED, TO 
MATCH EXISTING 

NEW DECK 
RAILING, TO 
MATCH EXISTING 

OUTLINE OF 
EXISTING DECK TO 
BE REMOVED

CONDITIONS TO BE CONFIRMED OF 
EXISTING NARROW LAPPED SIDING
EXISTING SIDING TO BE RE-PAINTED 
BENJAMIN MOORE HC161 TEMPLETON 
GRAY

CONDITIONS TO BE CONFIRMED OF EXISTING NARROW 
LAPPED SIDING
EXISTING SIDING TO BE RE-PAINTED BENJAMIN MOORE 
HC161 TEMPLETON GRAY

REPAIR EXISTING WOOD WINDOW 
SILL, TO MATCH EXISTING 
(TYPICAL)
REPAINT WITH BENJAMIN MOORE 
1016 IONIC COLUMN

AND STAIRS

NEW LANDING NEW SUNDECK EXISTING FRONT PORCH TO BE 
REAPIRED, NEW PORCH 
DECKING AS REQUIRED

EXISTING SUNDECK 
TO BE REMOVED

EXISTING BOARDED UP PORTIONS TO BE REFINISHED WITH NARROW LAPPED WOOD 
SIDING TO MATCH EXISTING AND THEN PAINTED AS PER PAINT SCHEDULE

HOUSE COLOUR / PORCH FLOOR: BENJAMIN MOORE HC161 TEMPLETON GRAY
FRONT DOOR/WINDOW : BENJAMIN MOORE  CLASSIC BURGUNDY
WINDOW SASH / SILL: BENJAMIN MOORE 1016 IONIC COLUMN
PORCH COLUMS / RAILINGS
FRONT PORCH STAIRS
PORCH CEILING
CORNER BOARDS
SOFFITS AND FRIEZES

ROOF: ASHPHALT SHINGLES - CHARCOAL

NEW STAIRS AND DECK 
MEMBRANE,
DETAIL AND ASSEMBLY TO BE 
PROVIDED AT PERMIT PHASE

NEW RAILING TO MATCH 
EXISTING

EXISTING 32" X 80" DOOR TO 
BE REPAIRED OR REPLACED

RE&RE RAILINGS, RETAIN HERITAGE CONDITIONS

NEW SUNDECK

REMOVE EIXSTING CLEMATIS VINE OF 
CHIMNEY AND SIDE ELEVATION

REFER TO SITE PLAN 
FOR NEW CONCRETE 
PATHWAYS AROUND 
SUBJECT PROPERTY

EXISTING CHARCOAL ROOF 
TO REMAIN

Date

Scale

Drawn

Job No.

Sheet

Of Sheets

Drawing Title

Copyright reserved. All 
contents of this drawing 
are the exclusive property 
of Synthesis Design Inc. 
and shall not be used or 
reproduced without the 
consent of the Designer.

All dimensions shall be 
verified on site prior to 
commencement of work.

www.synthesisdesign.ca

canada V7L 1B3
tel. (604) 980-2087

synthesis design inc.

north vancouver, bc,
258 east 1st street

2022-05-30
9:44:58 AM

1/4" = 1'-0"

D
IC

KI
E 

D
U

PL
EX

 IN
FI

LL
24

5 
EA

ST
 1

0T
H

 S
TR

EE
T,

PRINCIPAL
DWELLING
ELEVATIONS

05.30.2022

JPAS

20082

DA-16

No
rth

 V
an

co
uv

er
, B

C

17

1/4" = 1'-0"

PRINCIPAL RESIDENCE FRONT ELEVATION

1/4" = 1'-0"

PRINCIPAL RESIDENCE REAR ELEVATION

AREA OF FACE

LIMITING DISTANCE

ALLOWABLE OPENINGS

AREA OF OPENING

CONFORMS
YES

783.5 sq.ft. (72.8 m2)

13.1 ft.  (4 m)

18% x 783.5 = 141 sq.ft.

108.4 sq.ft.

PRINCIPLE REAR SPATIAL
SEPARATION

1/4" = 1'-0"

PRINCIPAL RESIDENCE LEFT (EAST)
ELEVATION

1/4" = 1'-0"

PRINCIPAL RESIDENCE RIGHT (WEST)
ELEVATION

REVISIONS # BY



LINE OF 
ATTIC FLOOR

LINE OF UPPER 
FLOOR

LINE OF MAIN 
FLOOR

LINE OF MAIN 
FLOOR C/W 
UPPER FLOOR 
ABOVE

NEW SUNDECK
UNIT 2

NEW SUNDECK
UNIT 1

NEW PLANTING AREA, REFER TO LANDSCAPE 
PLAN FOR PLANTING DETAILS

EXISTING HOUSE
ATTIC 327.1
UPPER 317.8
MAIN: 308.2
BASEMENT 300.3
(GFA exempt)

NEW DUPLEX
UNIT 1
UPPER: 311.5'
MAIN: 300.4'
BASEMENT: 290.3'
(GFA EXEMPT)

NEW DUPLEX
UNIT 2
UPPER: 311.5'
MAIN: 300.4'
BASEMENT: 290.3'
(GFA EXEMPT)

NEW SUNDECK
EXISTING 
HOUSE

NEW PLANTING AREA, REFER 
TO LANDSCAPE PLAN

NEW PLANTING AREA, REFER 
TO LANDSCAPE PLAN

NEW PERENNIAL PLANTING 
AREA, REFER TO LANDSCAPE 
PLAN

NEW DUPLEX
UNIT 1
PARKING

NEW DUPLEX
UNIT 2
PARKING

GARBAGE STORAGE 
AREA FOR PRINCIPAL 
DWELLING (BELOW DECK)

GARAGE ENCLOSURE AREA

AREA DESIGNATED 
FOR HERITAGE HOME

AREA DESIGNATED 
FOR LOT 1 -
HERITAGE HOME

AREA DESIGNATED 
FOR UNIT 2 - DUPLEX AREA DESIGNATED 

FOR UNIT 2 - DUPLEX

COMMON AREA

LEGEND

FIRE FIGHTER ACCES PATH

PRIVATE SPACES

AREA DESIGNATED FOR 
INDICATED LOT

COMMON AREA WITH EXCLUSIVE 
USE

Date

Scale

Drawn

Job No.

Sheet

Of Sheets

Drawing Title

Copyright reserved. All 
contents of this drawing 
are the exclusive property 
of Synthesis Design Inc. 
and shall not be used or 
reproduced without the 
consent of the Designer.

All dimensions shall be 
verified on site prior to 
commencement of work.

www.synthesisdesign.ca

canada V7L 1B3
tel. (604) 980-2087

synthesis design inc.

north vancouver, bc,
258 east 1st street

2022-05-30
9:45:38 AM

1/8" = 1'-0"

D
IC

KI
E 

D
U

PL
EX

 IN
FI

LL
24

5 
EA

ST
 1

0T
H

 S
TR

EE
T,

PRELIMINARY
STRATA LOT
LAYOUT

05.30.2022

JPAS

20082

DA-17

No
rth

 V
an

co
uv

er
, B

C

17

REVISIONS # BY

1/8" = 1'-0"

SITE PLAN



Heritage Conservation Plan 
245 E. 10th Street 

City of North Vancouver, BC 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Compiled May 2022 
 
 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 2�



 
 

Contents 
1.0 Introduction ...................................................................................................................................... 2 

2.0 Report Scope ..................................................................................................................................... 2 

3.0 Definitions ......................................................................................................................................... 3 

4.0 Location and Site Context ................................................................................................................. 4 

5.0 Statement of Significance ................................................................................................................. 5 

6.0 Conservation Plan ............................................................................................................................. 7 

6.1 Heritage Conservation Standards ................................................................................................. 7 

6.2  Restoration Work .......................................................................................................................... 7 

6.3 Further Information ...................................................................................................................... 8 

Windows ............................................................................................................................................... 8 

Colour Scheme ...................................................................................................................................... 8 

Chimneys ............................................................................................................................................. 10 

General Comments ............................................................................................................................. 10 

7.0 Maintenance Plan ........................................................................................................................... 11 

8.0  General Standards and Guidelines .................................................................................................. 13 

9.0 Statement of Significance Report by Donald Luxton & Associates Inc. .......................................... 17 

10.0     Other Resource Material ................................................................................................................. 28 

 

 

  



2 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

1.0 Introduction 

The subject building is located at 245 East 10th Street in the City of North Vancouver, British Columbia. 
The proposal is to restore the exterior of the historic house and construct a new infill duplex behind it.  

If supported, the proposal would include formal protection through a Heritage Designation Bylaw and 
a Section 219 Heritage Restoration Covenant. 

2.0 Report Scope 

The intent of this Heritage Conservation Plan is to provide guidance for the exterior restoration of the 
heritage house in a way that responds respectfully to the “Standards and Guidelines for the 
Conservation of Historic Places in Canada” 1 (Standards and Guidelines).  

A Heritage Conservation Plan also includes a Statement of Significance (SOS), which describes why the 
building has heritage significance.  An SOS is a values-based assessment that considers any aesthetic, 
cultural, historic, scientific, social and/or spiritual importance of a place. It also identifies the specific 
elements of the building (called character-defining elements) that should be retained in order for the 
heritage significance to remain.   

This Heritage Conservation Plan is based on the following reports: 

• Code Assessment Report March 2022, by Mark Olsthoorn, Olsthoorn Engineering Ltd.

• “A Plan for the Conservation and Maintenance of 245 East 10th Street, North Vancouver” March
2022/ updated May 2022, compiled by the owners.

• PowerPoint presentation to the City of North Vancouver Heritage Advisory Commission, May 10,
2022, presented by the applicant team

• “Wismer Residence Statement of Significance” June 2021, by Donald Luxton and Associates Inc.

The information in the above reports has been placed directly into this report. All the information 
provided by those reports has been reviewed by the author and found to be clear and reasonable.  

This Heritage Conservation Plan adequately meets the standards expected for a Heritage Conservation 
Plan.  

Any changes made to this Heritage Conservation Plan without the consent of the author will invalidate 
it. 

1 The Standards and Guidelines for the Conservation of Historic Places in Canada is a consistent, pan-Canadian set 
of conservation principles and guidelines that provides sound, practical guidance to achieve good conservation 
practice. The Standards and Guidelines for the Conservation of Historic Places in Canada, Second Edition, 2010 
www.historicplaces.ca 



 3 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

3.0 Definitions 
 
The heritage conservation approach to an historic place first requires an understanding of why that 
place is important.  As part of this understanding, there are some key definitions, taken directly from the 
Standards and Guidelines, , that are helpful to know. 
 
Conservation: all actions or processes that are aimed at safeguarding the character-defining elements of 
an historic place so as to retain its heritage value and extend its physical life. This may involve 
Preservation, Rehabilitation, Restoration, or a combination of these actions or processes.  
 
Preservation: the action or process of protecting, maintaining, and/or stabilizing the existing materials, 
form, and integrity of an historic place, or of an individual component, while protecting its heritage 
value. 
 
Rehabilitation: the action or process of making possible a continuing or compatible contemporary use 
of an historic place, or an individual component, while protecting its heritage value.  
 
Restoration: the action or process of accurately revealing, recovering or representing the state of an 
historic place, or of an individual component, as it appeared at a particular period in its history, while 
protecting its heritage value. 
 
Replication: the action of copying exactly a particular element or building and replacing the original with 
it (this action is not defined in the Standards and Guidelines but is included here as this action may form 
part of the work carried out on this building). 
 
Historic Place: a structure, building, group of buildings, district, landscape, archaeological site or other 
place in Canada that has been formally recognized for its heritage value.  
 
Heritage Conservation Plan:  a document that provides direction in the heritage conservation of a place, 
with guidance on specific elements of the place - often forms part of the legal documentation for a 
Heritage Revitalization Agreement. 
 
Statement of Significance: a statement that describes the historic place and that identifies the heritage 
value and character-defining elements of the historic place.  
 
Character-defining Element: the materials, forms, location, spatial configurations, uses and cultural 
associations or meanings that contribute to the heritage value of an historic place, which must be 
retained to preserve its heritage value. 
 
Heritage Value: the aesthetic, historic, scientific, cultural, social or spiritual2 importance or significance 
for past, present and future generations. The heritage value of an historic place is embodied in its 
character-defining materials, forms, location, spatial configurations, uses and cultural associations or 
meanings.  
 
 

 
2 Specific definitions of each value can be found in Section 12. 



 4 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

4.0 Location and Site Context  
 
The house is located in the Central Lonsdale neighbourhood of the City of North Vancouver, British 
Columbia.  The property is a narrow rectangular-shaped lot in the middle of the block. See map below 
with the subject property identified with a red circle. 
 
The house is situated approximately fifteen feet back from the front property line and is oriented 
towards East 10th Street.  There is a small, detached garage in the rear that is accessed from the lane.   
 
The subject house sits in a residential neighbourhood with a mix of housing types. Across the street, the 
houses appear to be the same general size and historic design as each other.  On either side of the 
subject building, there are large single-family houses, duplexes and multi-family buildings. At the end of 
the street is a church. Many of the houses on both sides of the street appear to have either large 
garages or garages with dwellings.  
 
The property is not currently protected with a Heritage Designation or any other heritage Bylaw. It is 
listed on the City of North Vancouver Heritage Register as an “A” resource, and it is located within a 
‘Heritage Character Area’. 
 

 
  

Image courtesy of Google Maps. 

N 



 5 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

5.0 Statement of Significance 
 
A Statement of Significance was provided by Donald Luxton & Associates Inc., dated June 11, 2021, and 
is copied here. The entire Statement of Significance Report is in Section 9 of this report. 
 
Description of Historic Place 
The Wismer Residence is a two-storey, wood-frame Foursquare style house located amongst similar 
Edwardian-era residences in the City of North Vancouver. Constructed in 1908, the house is 
characterized by its full-width front porch and steeply pitched hipped roof. 
 
Heritage Value of Historic Place 
The Wismer Residence is significant for its association with the Edwardian era development of the 
City of North Vancouver; for its history of ownership; and for its Foursquare architecture. 
 
The Wismer Residence, constructed in 1908, is valued as a good representation of housing built 
during North Vancouver’s early twentieth century residential development boom. After regular ferry 
service was established in 1903 and the city was incorporated in 1907, North Vancouver 
experienced a period of unprecedented growth and prosperity; it was often referred to as ‘The 
Ambitious City’. Lonsdale, the historic commercial core of North Vancouver, grew explosively, as a 
new streetcar and the PGE railway converged at the foot of Lonsdale Avenue. The Wismer 
Residence, located in close proximity to Lonsdale Avenue, was constructed early in this wave of 
residential development in the community, which accelerated until a general financial depression 
in 1913 and the subsequent outbreak of the First World War curtailed the growth. 
 
The Wismer Residence is valued additionally for its history of ownership, beginning with carpenter 
Eugene Gowan in 1908. American-born Gowan likely constructed this house as a speculative 
investment during the Edwardian era construction boom, selling it to the Wismer family in 1910. 
Wellington Howard David Wismer and his wife Catherine moved into the East 10th Street house in 
1910 following their arrival from Ontario. The Wismers were in their fifties and had seven children 
when they made the cross-country move. The Wismer name remains significant in British Columbia 
political circles due to their son, Gordon Sylvester Wismer, who became a prominent lawyer and 
politician. Gordon, who lived in the East 10th Street house when he was attending law school, served 
in the provincial cabinet as Attorney General from 1937 to 1941 and 1946 to 1952, and as Minister 
of Labour from 1947 to 1949. The Wismers remained in the East 10th Street house until 1914, when 
it was rented to BCER employee Matthew Baird. In 1920, the house was purchased by engineer John 
Bowen; the Bowen family would remain in the residence for over three decades. 
 
The Wismer Residence is additionally significant for its Edwardian-era Foursquare design. Typical 
of the Edwardian era, Foursquare houses originated as a reaction to the more elaborate and 
flamboyant Victorian styles, which often included ornate mass-produced elements. The typical 
Edwardian era house was constructed from quality local materials, most often fir and cedar in British 
Columbia, and built by quality craftsmen. The interior layout of such houses ensured the maximum 
amount of interior room space, typically dividing the house into four rooms on both main floors, 
separated by a central staircase. Large windows, along with open verandahs, provided ample light. 



 6 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

The style was inexpensive and expansive, and proved very popular on city lots, especially as the 
Lower Mainland was growing exponentially through the early twentieth century. The Wismer 
Residence is a good example of the Edwardian Foursquare style, as expressed by its steeply pitched 
hipped roof structure with off-centre projecting gable-on-hip second storey bay, featuring patterned 
shingles, and its full-width front verandah. 
 
Character-Defining Elements 
The elements that define the heritage character of the Wismer Residence are its: 
 
- setting on a mid-block lot along East 10th Street in the City of North Vancouver; 
- continuous residential use for more than a century; 
- residential form, scale and massing, as expressed by its wood-frame construction, two-storey 
height, and steeply pitched hipped roof with closed soffits and off-centre projecting gable-on-hip 
second storey bay; 
- wood frame construction as expressed by its narrow lapped wooden siding with wooden corner 
boards and patterned cedar shingle cladding in the gable-end; 
- Edwardian Foursquare architectural details such as: its full-width front verandah with hipped-roof 
and square columns and open balustrade, accessed by an off-centre flight of steps, with wooden 
flooring and closed soffit ceiling; wooden corner boards; fascia boards; and the gable-end of the 
gable-on-hip bay with patterned cedar shingle cladding; 
- pattern of fenestration including: wooden frame double-hung 1-over-1 windows, some with leaded 
glass diamond patterned upper sashes, with moulded lintels and projected sills; fixed wooden frame 
stained glass window with floral motif; 
- wooden exterior doors; and 
- two red brick chimneys, one internal one external. 
 

  



 7 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

6.0 Conservation Plan 
 
6.1 Heritage Conservation Standards 
 
The work on the historic house will follow the “Standards and Guidelines for the Conservation of Historic 
Places in Canada” (Standards and Guidelines), developed by Parks Canada as a pan-Canadian approach 
to heritage conservation.  A copy of this document can be found on-line at: www.historicplaces.ca.   
 
There are three main approaches to heritage conservation which can be applied to the place as a whole 
and to its individual elements.  These are defined in the Standards and Guidelines as follows, and while 
they have been defined above, are worth repeating: 
 
Preservation: the action or process of protecting, maintaining, and/or stabilizing the existing materials, 
form, and integrity of an historic place, or of an individual component, while protecting its heritage 
value. 
 
Restoration: the action or process of accurately revealing, recovering or representing the state of an 
historic place, or of an individual component, as it appeared at a particular period in its history, while 
protecting its heritage value. 
 
Rehabilitation: the action or process of making possible a continuing or compatible contemporary use 
of an historic place, or an individual component, while protecting its heritage value.  
 

6.2  Restoration Work 
 

The following restoration steps were provided to the author by the applicant team. These steps were 
reviewed and supported by the City of North Vancouver Heritage Advisory Commission at their May 10, 
2022 meeting and are reprinted here. 
 

• Front Façade Restoration 
o Repair front porch, railings and stairs 
o Repair front stained glass window 
o Paint façade using period colours 

 
• West Façade Restoration 

o Repair damaged and altered siding using period siding (salvaged from neighbours 
heritage house demolition) 

o Repair basement door on the west side of the house 
o Remove clematis vine on the west side of the house 

 
• East Façade 

o Clean, repair, paint façade using period colours 
  
 
  



 8 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

• Rear Façade 
o Remove existing decks and replace with new smaller deck sympathetic to the character 

of the heritage building, as per Architectural Plans 
o Replace glass in cracked wood windows in the rear dormer 
o Clean, repair, paint façade using period colours 

 
• General 

o Clean, prep and paint exterior of home using period colour scheme  
o New fencing on west side of property 
o Repair pergola structure  
o New sidewalks throughout entire property 
o Repair windowsill below the rear deck 
o Seal cold joints on the foundation of the home 
o Replace electrical receptacle on the rear sundeck with GFCI protection 
o Replace the 3 inch water heater flue with a 4 inch diameter flue 
o Refinish fir plank flooring on main floor 
o Add rail to interior basement stairs 
o Energy upgrades in accordance with a completed Energy Audit (Attachment D). This will 

include a new heating system and air sealing throughout the home 
 New gas furnace and a heat pump as recommended after the Energy Audit 

Report 
 

6.3 Further Information 
 

Windows 
 
The following companies would be suitable for any window repair or restoration work. 

 

Colour Scheme 
 
Description 
The colour scheme of an historic building is a character-defining element. If the original colour scheme 
can be accurately determined, then it is recommended that it be considered as an option.  Other 
reasonable options are colour schemes that were typical for that type and era of building.   
 
The following colours are from the Benjamin Moore Historical Colour and Classic Palettes. When the 
house needs to be repainted and if the owner prefers, a different high quality paint brand may be used 
if the colours below are matched or are very similar.  

Distinctive Woodwork 
Brendan Jones 
706 Copping St 
North Vancouver, BC 
V7M 3G6 
604-657-2060 

M.R. Windows Ltd. 
James Tipton 
#9 27250 58th Crescent 
Langley,B.C. V4W 3W7 
(604) 626-0551 
james@mrwindowsltd.ca 
http://www.mrwindowsltd.ca/ 

Marvin Windows 
Bob Guimond                      
Territory Manager 
bguimond@marvincanada.com 
604.345.2101 | 1.800.263-6161  
marvincanada.com 
 

mailto:james@mrwindowsltd.ca
http://www.mrwindowsltd.ca/
mailto:bguimond@marvincanada.com
http://marvincanada.com/


 9 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

 
The brand of paint is less important than the quality of the paint. The proper preparation of the 
surfaces, and the expertise with which the paint is applied, are critical.  For example, ensure that any 
nicks or other damage to the material being painted have been filled and sanded prior to painting. A 
professional painter with experience painting historic buildings, in particular wood cladding, should 
ideally be retained.  If the painter suggests replacing any material on the building simply because it 
“would be easier” or “look better”, find another painter.  
 
In terms of the finish of the different colours, follow the suggestion of the painter.  For example, an 
eggshell finish is often used for the body of a house.  
 

Element Paint Colour 
Body 
Porch floor 

Templeton Gray HC 161  
Benjamin Moore 

Front door and window trims 
 

Classic Burgundy HC 182 
Benjamin Moore 

Window sashes and sills 
Porch columns and railings 
Front porch stair risers 
Porch ceiling 
Corner boards 
Soffits and friezes 
 

Ionic Column 1016 
Benjamin Moore 

Roof  Asphalt Shingles – dark 
 

 
In future, a different paint scheme might be preferred. This would be reasonable, provided it is based on 
the appropriate historic colours for Edwardian houses. For example, the following (based on Benjamin 
Moore True Colours) would be a suitable alternative: 
 

Element Paint Colour 
Body 
Porch floor 

Edwardian Pewter VC-23 
Benjamin Moore 

Front door and window trims 
 

Strathcona Red VC-27 
Benjamin Moore 

Window sashes and sills 
Porch columns and railings 
Front porch stair risers 
Porch ceiling 
Corner boards 
Soffits and friezes 
 

Oxford Ivory VC-1 
Benjamin Moore 

Roof  
 

Asphalt Shingles - dark 



 10 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

 
Chimneys 
 
The existence of a chimney is an important visual aspect of an historic house and needs to be retained, 
but only the section above the roofline is important from the point of view of passersby.  If the owner 
wishes, it is reasonable to remove the interior brick stack and fireplace in order to create more internal 
space and to allow for a more energy efficient house (by removing the thermal break that chimney 
stacks often create).  If this approach is taken, ensure sufficient structural support is added inside the 
roof for the new “chimney”. 
 

General Comments 
 
Every effort should be made to repair rather than replace any character-defining elements that 
deteriorate over time or that get damaged. If possible, repair in place. If not, then carefully remove the 
damaged element and use it as a template to create a new element. Replicate the element exactly in 
terms of design, size, profile and material.  Return the element to its original position. 
 
In some circumstances, it is not possible to remove a damaged element in isolation from its location and 
an entire section of material must be removed and replaced.  An example would be one cedar shingle or 
one lap siding piece. If an entire section of material must be replaced, follow the standard of replacing it 
exactly in terms of design, size, profile, material and location. Use the existing elements as templates.  
 
  



 11 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

7.0 Maintenance Plan 
 
At least once per year, a complete inspection of the inside and outside of the building should be carried 
out and all deficiencies identified.  All repair work should be carried out promptly and according to the 
Standards and Guidelines.  
 
A good rule of thumb is to ensure that each approach or method will not harm or remove any of the 
character-defining elements identified in the Statement of Significance.  If damage to any of the building 
elements is found, be sure to treat the cause as well as the symptom. For example, if some fascia fell off, 
is it because it was weak from water damage? If so, then determine why the water was able to damage 
it and take steps to correct it.   
 
Following is a basic, annual maintenance checklist. 
 
Site: 
 

• Keep vegetation, especially plants that are invasive or clingy, away from the face of the building 
• Do not plant invasive plant or tree species on the property 
• Choose trees that, when mature, will not negatively impact the building 
• Ensure that the site is well-drained and/or that run-off is directed away from the building 

 
Foundation: 
 

• Watch for signs of unexpected or significant settlement, deformation, cracking 
• Inspect for signs of moisture, efflorescence (white powder on concrete), staining 

 
Wood Shingle and Horizontal Lap Siding Cladding: 
 

• Inspect wood shingles and siding for water damage/ingress, vegetative damage (moss, vines, 
etc.), insect damage, rot, warping, etc. 

• Inspect paint finishes for cracking, peeling, etc. 
 
See “General Comments” in Section 6.3 above for repair steps. 

 
Front Porch: 

• Check for any signs of creatures 
• Look for any signs of damage, including cracks, rot and water damage 

 
 See “General Comments” in Section 6.3 above for repair steps. 
 
Roof and Gutters: 
 

• Inspect for loose, missing or damaged roofing material 
• Inspect shingles for cracks, blisters or curling 
• Remove moss and other vegetative growth 
• Check flashing for cracks, holes or looseness 



 12 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

• Inspect grouting and re-point chimney as necessary 
• Inspect soffits for any openings where creatures could get in 
• Inspect and clean gutters, checking for cracks and other damage 
• Flush downpipes 

 
Windows and Doors: 
 

• Inspect for broken or cracked glass 
• Ensure that windows and doors are operating smoothly and properly 
• Check the alignment of the doors regularly 
• Check all wood casings for dampness, softness and rot 
• Inspect weather stripping and replace as necessary 

 
Cleaning of Windows:  
From: “Rehab It Right! Historic Windows & Doors”, p 17 By the Utah Heritage Foundation, 2011 
www.utahheritagefoundation.com/images/Historic Windows and Doors Property Owners Guide.pdf   
 
To clean stained and leaded glass windows:  
 
• Dust them occasionally with a soft dry cloth.  
• If that seems to be leaving behind some grime, dampen the cloth with distilled water (soft water.) 
Individually clean each piece of glass before moving on to the next.  
• The cloth should be rinsed often or replaced when dirty as potentially abrasive particles may stick to it. 
• Use a cotton swab to clean around the edges of the glass and in the corners.  
• After you finish cleaning a piece of glass dry it with another soft cloth.  
• If you are still seeing a dirty residue, use a pH neutral cleaning solution mixed with distilled water.  
• Never use household detergents, abrasives, scouring powders or steel wool scrubbers.  
• Repeat the process on the outside of the window if it is accessible. 
 
Cleaning must be done carefully and correctly. Seek the advice of an expert if you suspect painted areas 
are unstable. They can give you advice on how to remove surface dirt without harming materials or 
compromising any decoration.   
 
For more detailed information on the maintenance of and repair of stained and leaded glass, please 
refer to “The Preservation and Repair of Historic Stained Glass and Leaded Glass”. Preservation Brief #33 
https://www.nps.gov/tps/how-to-preserve/briefs/33-stained-leaded-glass.htm#protection. 
 
Gentle cleaning examples include diluted TSP, Simple Green, or D/2 Biological Solution. 
  



 13 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

8.0  General Standards and Guidelines 
 
The following standards are taken directly from the Standards and Guidelines, Chapter 3. 
 
1. Conserve the heritage value of an historic place. Do not remove, replace or substantially alter its 
intact or repairable character-defining elements. Do not move a part of an historic place if its current 
location is a character-defining element.  
 
2. Conserve changes to an historic place that, over time, have become character-defining elements in 
their own right.  
 
3. Conserve heritage value by adopting an approach calling for minimal intervention.  
 
4. Recognize each historic place as a physical record of its time, place and use. Do not create a false 
sense of historical development by adding elements from other historic places or other properties, or by 
combining features of the same property that never coexisted.  
 
5. Find a use for an historic place that requires minimal or no change to its character-defining elements.  
 
6. Protect and, if necessary, stabilize an historic place until any subsequent intervention is undertaken. 
Protect and preserve archaeological resources in place. Where there is potential for disturbing 
archaeological resources, take mitigation measures to limit damage and loss of information. (Note that 
the Provincial Archaeology Branch must be notified before any work is undertaken if archaeological 
resources are discovered.) 
 
7. Evaluate the existing condition of character-defining elements to determine the appropriate 
intervention needed. Use the gentlest means possible for any intervention. Respect heritage value when 
undertaking an intervention.  
 
8. Maintain character-defining elements on an ongoing basis. Repair character-defining elements by 
reinforcing their materials using recognized conservation methods. Replace in kind any extensively 
deteriorated or missing parts of character-defining elements, where there are surviving prototypes.  
 
9. Make any intervention needed to preserve character-defining elements physically and visually 
compatible with the historic place and identifiable on close inspection. Document any intervention for 
future reference.  
 
10. Repair rather than replace character-defining elements. Where character-defining elements are too 
severely deteriorated to repair, and where sufficient physical evidence exists, replace them with new 
elements that match the forms, materials and detailing of sound versions of the same elements. Where 
there is insufficient physical evidence, make the form, material and detailing of the new elements 
compatible with the character of the historic place.  
 
11. Conserve the heritage value and character-defining elements when creating any new additions to an 
historic place or any related new construction. Make the new work physically and visually compatible 
with, subordinate to and distinguishable from the historic place.  
 



 14 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

12. Create any new additions or related new construction so that the essential form and integrity of an 
historic place will not be impaired if the new work is removed in the future. 
 
13. Repair rather than replace character-defining elements from the restoration period. Where 
character-defining elements are too severely deteriorated to repair and where sufficient physical 
evidence exists, replace them with new elements that match the forms, materials and detailing of sound 
versions of the same elements.  
 
14. Replace missing features from the restoration period with new features whose forms, materials and 
detailing are based on sufficient physical, documentary and/or oral evidence. 
 
The following guidelines are taken directly from the Standards and Guidelines, Chapter 4, Section 3. 
 
1. Understand the exterior form and how it contributes to the heritage value of the historic building.   
 
2. Understand the design principles used by the original designer or builder, and any changes made to 
the exterior form over time.  
 
3. Document the building’s exterior form before undertaking an intervention, including the form and 
massing, and viewscapes, sunlight and natural ventilation patterns. 
 
4. Assess the condition of the building’s exterior form early in the planning process so that the scope of 
work is based on current conditions.   
 
5. Protect and maintain elements of the building’s exterior form through cyclical or seasonal 
maintenance work.   
 
6. Retain the exterior form by maintaining proportions, colour and massing, and the spatial relationships 
with adjacent buildings.  
 
7. Stabilize deteriorated elements of the exterior form by using structural reinforcement and weather 
protection, or correcting unsafe conditions, as required, until repair work is undertaken. 
 
8. Protect adjacent character-defining elements from accidental damage or exposure to damaging 
materials during maintenance or repair work. 
 
9. Document all interventions that affect the exterior form and ensure that the documentation is 
available to those responsible for future interventions.   
 
10. Reinstate the exterior form by recreating missing or revealing obscured parts to re-establish 
character-defining proportions and massing.  
 
11. Accommodate new functions and services in non-character defining interior spaces as an alternative 
to constructing a new addition. 
 
12. Select a new use that suits the existing building form.  
 



 15 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

13. Select the location for a new addition that ensures that the heritage value of the place is maintained.  
 
14. Design a new addition in a manner that draws a clear distinction between what is historic and what 
is new. 
 
15. Design an addition that is compatible in terms of materials and massing with the exterior form of the 
historic building and its setting. 
 
16. Add new features to meet health, safety or security requirements, such as an exterior stairway or a 
security vestibule in a manner that respects the exterior form and minimizes impact on heritage value. 
 
17. Work with code specialists to determine the most appropriate solution to health, safety and security 
requirements with the least impact on the character-defining elements and overall heritage value of the 
historic building. 

 
18. Find solutions to meet accessibility requirements that are compatible with the exterior form of the 
historic building. For example, introducing a gently sloped walkway instead of a constructed ramp with 
handrails in front of an historic building. 
 
19. Work with accessibility and conservation specialists and users to determine the most appropriate 
solution to accessibility issues with the least impact on the character-defining elements and overall 
heritage value of the historic building.  
 
20. Add new features to meet sustainability requirements, such as solar panels or a green roof, in a 
manner that respects the exterior form and minimizes impact on character-defining elements. 
 
21. Work with sustainability and conservation specialists to determine the most appropriate solution to 
sustainability requirements with the least impact on the character-defining elements and overall 
heritage value of the historic building. 
 
22. Comply with energy efficiency objectives in a manner that minimizes impact on the character-
defining elements and overall heritage value of the historic building. 
 
23. Accommodate functions requiring a controlled environment, such as artefact storage or exhibits in 
an addition, while using the historic building for functions that benefit from existing natural ventilation 
and/or daylight.  
 
24. Reinstate the building’s exterior form from the restoration period, based on documentary and 
physical evidence.  
 
25. Remove a non character-defining feature of the building’s exterior form, such as an addition built 
after the restoration period.   
 
26. Recreate missing features of the exterior form that existed during the restoration period, based on 
physical or documentary evidence; for example, duplicating a dormer or restoring a carport that was 
later enclosed.  
 



 16 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

The following definitions of heritage value are quoted directly from the guide “Canadian Register of 
Historic Places: Writing Statements of Significance”. 3 
 
Aesthetic value refers to the sensory qualities of a historic place (seeing, hearing, touching, smelling and 
tasting) in the context of broader categories of design and tradition. A place may have aesthetic 
significance because it evokes a positive sensory response, or because it epitomizes a defined 
architectural style or landscape concept. Visual aesthetic value is typically expressed through form, 
colour, texture or materials. It is possible for historic places to have other aesthetic values as well, such 
as auditory ones. Historic places with aesthetic significance may reflect a particular style or period of 
construction or craftsmanship, or represent the work of a well-known architect, planner, engineer or 
builder. 
 
Historical and Cultural values are sometimes combined and refer to the associations that a place has 
with past events and historical themes, as well as its capacity to evoke a way of life or a memory of the 
past. Historical or cultural value may lie in the age of a heritage district, its association with important 
events, activities, people or traditions; its role in the development of a community, region, province, 
territory or nation; or its patterns of use. Historical or cultural value can lie in natural or ecological 
features of the place, as well as in built features. 
 
Scientific value refers to the capacity of a historic place to provide evidence that can advance our 
understanding and appreciation of a culture. The evidence is found in the form, materials, design and/or 
experience of the place. Scientific value can derive from various factors, such as age, quality, 
completeness, complexity or rarity. Scientific value may also be present when the place itself 
supplements other types of evidence such as written sources, as in archaeological sites. 
 
Social value considers the meanings attached to a place by a community in the present time. It differs 
from historical or cultural value in that the value may not have an obvious basis in history or tradition 
and relates almost entirely to the present time. Social value may be ascribed to places that perform a 
key role within communities, support community activities or traditions, or contribute to the 
community’s sense of identity. Places with social value include sites that bring the community together 
and create a sense of shared identity and belonging. 
 
Spiritual value is ascribed to places with religious or spiritual meanings for a community or a group of 
people. Sacred and spiritual places could include places of mythological significance, landscape features 
associated with myth and legends, burial sites, rock cairns and alignments, fasting/vision quest sites etc., 
places representing particular belief system(s) or places associated with sacred traditions, ceremonial 
practices or rituals of a community/group of people. 
  

 
3 Historic Places Program Branch, “Canadian Register of Historic Places: Writing Statements of Significance,” Parks 
Canada, November 2006, pp. 12-13.  



 17 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

9.0 Statement of Significance Report by Donald Luxton & Associates Inc. 
 

  



 18 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

  

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: WISMER RESIDENCE, 245 EAST 10th  STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: WISMER RESIDENCE

‘«s&, • 4.kf M
.

a
1,,s,

■ mmM
:■ i—i4^s?!

mmm§o . I245

iistftSS

i;^ :>
25m 4’ r

i I.
1 iZSS

1
Address: 245 East 1 0th Street, Vancouver, British Columbia 
Historic Name: Wismer Residence 
Original Contractor/Owner: Eugene Cowan 
Date of Construction: 1908
Heritage Classification: North Vancouver Heritage Register Category 'A'

Description of Historic Place
The Wismer Residence is a two-storey, wood-frame Foursquare style house located amongst similar 
Edwardian-era residences in the City of North Vancouver. Constructed in 1908, the house is 
characterized by its full-width front porch and steeply pitched hipped roof.

Heritage Value of Historic Place
The Wismer Residence is significant for its association with the Edwardian era development of the 
City of North Vancouver; for its history of ownership; and for its Foursquare architecture.

The Wismer Residence, constructed in 1908, is valued as a good representation of housing built 
during North Vancouver's early twentieth century residential development boom. After regular ferry 
service was established in 1903 and the city was incorporated in 1907, North Vancouver 
experienced a period of unprecedented growth and prosperity; it was often referred to as 'The 
Ambitious City'. Lonsdale, the historic commercial core of North Vancouver, grew explosively, as a 
new streetcar and the PGE railway converged at the foot of Lonsdale Avenue. The Wismer 
Residence, located in close proximity to Lonsdale Avenue, was constructed early in this wave of 
residential development in the community, which accelerated until a general financial depression 
in 1913 and the subsequent outbreak of the First World War curtailed the growth.

DONALD LUXTON & ASSOCIATES INC. JUNE2021

1

Schueck
HERITAGE CONSULTING



 19 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

  

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: WISMER RESIDENCE, 245 EAST 10™ STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER

The Wismer Residence is valued additionally for its history of ownership, beginning with carpenter 
Eugene (Iowan in 1908. American-born Cowan likely constructed this house as a speculative 
investment during the Edwardian era construction boom, selling it to the Wismer family in 1910. 
Wellington Howard David Wismer and his wife Catherine moved into the,East 10'1' Street house In 
1910 following their arrival from Ontario. The Wismers were in their fifties and had seven children 
when they made the cross-country move. The Wismer name remains significant in British Columbia 
political circles due to their son, Cordon Sylvester Wismer, who became a prominent lawyer and 
politician. Gordon, who lived in the East 10lh Street house when he was attending law school, served 
in the provincial Cabinet as Attorney General from 1937 to 1941 and 1 946 to 1952, and as Minister 
of Labour from 1947 to 1949. The Wismers remained in the East 1011' Street house until 1914, when 
it was rented to BCER employee Matthew Baird. In 1920, the house was purchased by engineer John 
Bowen; the Bowen family would remain in the residence for ovef three decades.

The Wismer Residence is additionally significant for its Edwardian-era Foursquare design. Typical 
of the Edwardian era. Foursquare houses originated as a reaction to the more elaborate and 
flamboyant Victorian styles, which often included ornate mass-produced elements. The typical 
Edwardian era house was constructed from quality local materials, most often fir and cedar in British 
Columbia, and built by quality craftsmen. The interior layout of such houses ensured the maximum 
amount of interior room space; typically dividing the house into four rooms on both main floors, 
separated by a central staircase. Large windows, along with open verandahs, provided ample light. 
The style was inexpensive and expansive, qnd proved very popular on city lots, especially as the 
Lower Mainland was growing exponentially through the early twentieth century. The Wismer 
ResidenG.0 is a good example of the Edwardian Foursquare style; as expressed by its steeply pitched 
hipped roof structure with off-centre projecting gable-on-hip second storey bay, featuring patterned 
shingles, and its full-width front verandah.

Character-Defining Elements
The elements that define the heritage character of the Wismer Residence are its;
- setting on a mid-block lot along East 10lh Street in the City of North Vancouver;
- continuous residential use for more than a century;
- residential form, scale and massing, as expressed by its wood-frame construction, two-storey 
height, and Steeply pitched hipped roof with closed Soffits and off-centre projecting gable-on-hip 
second storey bay;
- wood frame construction as expressed by its narrow lapped wooden siding with wooden corner 
boards and patterned cedar shingle cladding in the gable-end;
- Edwardian Foursquare architectural details such as: its full-width front verandah with hipped-roof 
and square columns and Open balustrade, accessed by an off-centre flight of steps, with wooden 
flooring and closed soffit ceiling; wooden cornerboards; fascia boards; and the gable-end of the 
gable-on-hip bay with patterned cedar shingle cladding;
- pattern of fenestration including: wooden frame double-hung 1 -over-1 windows, some With leaded 
glass diamond patterned upper sashes, with moulded lintels and projected sills; fixed wooden frame 
stained glass window with floral motif;
- wooden exterior doors; and
- two red brick chimneys, one internal one external.

DONALD LUXTON & ASSOCIATES INC. JUNE 203T
2

Schueck
HERITAGE CONSULTING



 20 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

  

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: WISMER RESIDENCE, 245 EAST 10™ STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER

RESEARCH SUMMARY

Address: 245 East 10lh Street, Vancouver, British Columbia 
Historic Name: Wismer Residence
Original Contractor/Owner: Eugene Cowan 
Date of Construction: 1908
Heritage Classification: North Vancouver Heritage Register Category 'A'

Building Permits: None located; indicates pre-1911 date.

Assessments:
Tax Assessment Search

City of North Vancouver: 245 East 10th Street

Name of Owner Address Value of:Year

Parcel / Land Improvements / Buildings

1907 Hutton Geo 1330 Howe St 1729

1908 Hutton G 1330 Howe St 300

North Vancouver1909 Gowan HE 260

North Vancouver1910 Wismer WH 300

North Vancouver1911 Wismer WH 580

North Vancouver1912 Wismer W 900

Wismer Wellington H North Vancouver1913 1100

Wismer Wellington H North Vancouver1914 1100

Wismer Wellington H North Vancouver1915 1100 2000

Blackmore, Robert 
(Wismer Wellington 
Howard crossed out)

1916 Armstrong, BC
(North Vancouver crossed
out)

950 2000

1917 N/A

1918 N/A

Blackmore, Robert PO Box 515 Kamloops, BC 
(Armstrong, BC crossed out)

1919 950 2000

Directories:
OccupationYear Occupant(s)

1909 Eugene Gowan Carpenter

Wellington H. Wismer Not Listed1910-1914

Matthew H. Baird1915-1919 Lineman BCER

Bowen (John, Alice, and Frank)1921-1950 Engineer

Vital Events:
• Death Registration: Eugene Gowan; December 11, 1950; Websters Corners; B.C. 

Archives Reg. #1950-09-012037

DONALD LUXTON & ASSOCIATES INC. JUNE 203T
S

Schueck
HERITAGE CONSULTING



 21 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

 

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: WISMER RESIDENCE, 245 EAST 10N STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER

• Death Registration: Marjorie Cowan; November 25, 1957; Vancouver; B.C. Archives 
Reg. #1957-09-013197

• Marriage Registration: Eugene Cowan & Marjorie Lorimer; October 21, 1925; 
Unknown; B.C. Archives: Reg. #1925-09-290594

• Death Registration: Wellington Howard Wismer; October 7, 1935; Vancouver; B.C. 
Archives Reg. #1935-09-506217

SEE SHEET No 22
TEA/T/y20 ■

■4
c-a

:QBO-M a H-idvarara
i I "fl : . i

7
S1

5 0 ■m__J - : 97
• ■ 96' • 'i

id—17 i^~

K.i
Q:
5; [0:i * asa

iH-* i-ffil-1—B-© ^ 5
•s Nja/th

s 5 s
?

98
.1. H[lot  =74] !

J

I!99© :J EZj Ir § TE/V7-H 7 V.
! siGj -s-

•' / .•S' c ,
/ /
/ / 
f f -

f*["El 97 1,
^LOTaS43«£VlJ | _ | I 01\

>\<0S' ? Vf-v
"T

8; 7r-------- j-

4 unjLXv /SS
>o:

/
7107 : 30': s 1BLK K>6aioi to I SSCj

-S'

Scal e 50 Ft -IIJiL 0 0

D
s ~§-

ATE/TH /?£>

1912. North Vancouver [Fire Insurance Plan], Chas, E. Goad, Sheet20 [NVMA 1987-014]

DONALD LUXTON & ASSOCIATES INC. JUNE 2021

4

Schueck
HERITAGE CONSULTING



 22 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

 

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: WISMER RESIDENCE, 245 EAST 10™ STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER

SEE S/V££TAro 202/ I
_ i/o/ty/rte 2l X
^ /t -is  SY7 W/OAPW/ lS/7/yCO(Jt/£&

,/(7r70'<7fy -

25/ _______Si--- --------

T£/VT// ST S/7ST
% I'V.O'1 *=t.

24.6?P5 227 23/ T

2 X\?~k ] | pn<] | p^-xii 
I Z? < X? If D lal'

1//^ > a1^<+Z7. o1 I
I
I
I

!!:; iD./.343
-X:

0.1.274
5'TN D/.Sdi\ ^ IE i PS. 274S. x

a?-j 17X41Mja H) X

^022
i

liZIZ. 92' \ JJ.Zy.S

fer I Lill 1/ Q/ xll\ 0IIP i
lyi a Z7
I /-#x. J

3o III<2
I Z7"X7 I V

L__
^ ^3 <£

7
%

A\___
N 27/2 eee

e/ l./ ■SC’"

/ %>T)

v-7^
/> /v/A/r// sr s/rsrV/ Xo "y // q>vf 7/ // 5P,/ Of#o/</ v-5>/
/ +o # 202'/ y £x/ A// 017,77. <ta 7/ 6“/ v'A %/w ivs7/

v* /%'Sr/07,77. 27070S
7s, s(\

1930. Vol. 20 of Fire Insurance Plan (North Vancouver): (B). BC Insurance Underwriters Association, Sheet 
2022 [MONOVA Archives]

/

DONALD LUXTON & ASSOCIATES INC. JUNE 2021

5

Schueck
HERITAGE CONSULTING



 23 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

 

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: WISMER RESIDENCE, 245 EAST 10N STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER

Mrs. C. H. Wismer 
Dead W. H. D. Wismer, Father 

Of M.L.A., Dies at 81■ Catherine Ravme 
W H D Wnmo 

S Wismer. M L A

Wismer. 81, 
and mother 

riled at
Wellington Howard David Wta- 

mer, father of Gordon Wismer, 
M.L.A.. died this morning in Van-
couver. He was aged fci.

Born in Markham, C»nt., Mr. Wis-
mer came to this city twenty-six 
years ago. He is survived by three 
sons: Gordon and W. J. of V'ancou- 

I ver, and Hamilton of Victoria; ani 
four daughters: Mrs. Charles M. 
Buscombe. Mrs. Reginald Brooks, 
Mrs. Austin Allan and Mrs. George 
Harm well.

Funeral services wil! re held ai 
3 p.m. Wednesday in the chapel | 
of Nunn <Sr Thomson Undertaking | 
Co. anon H. G. King will officiate 
and burial will take place in family 
plot, Masonic Cemetery, Burnaby. I

of Gor
her home, HHl Comox Street, th
mom

Mrs. Wismer, who was born in Pirk- 
Or.tario, resided in VancouverPf nz

f: 28 yean
survived by her husban 
v Hamilton. Victoria, 
id Wilfred of Vancou

ant)
j Gordon
I L.ur daughters. Mrs C. M. Buscombe. 
i \ aneouver; Mrs. G. W. Harmwell, La 
1 Crosse, Wisconsin: Mrs Austin Allen.
Petrolia. Ont.. and Mrs. R, P. Brooke 

' Vancouver.
Two brothers. Jesse Raymer, Van- 
uver. and Ray Raymer, Los Angeles.

Sarah Shirk. To-r. Mone 
•nto, al 
Nunn

m survive. 
fc Thomson ha ■ge of 

re not» hlctp

1935-10-07 Vancouver Daily Province pg.081934-01-29 Vancouver Sun pg.07

’ .r-

-r

-• .
~r, 4 • ►

TvitZ *y >
LaA

im

a .wm*
PKSr f
|l 926 Pacific Airways Ltd. Aerial view up St. Andrews, North Vancouver [MONOVA Archives 5129]

*

•S3ewVW,r+v
JJL

DONALD LUXTON & ASSOCIATES INC. JUNE 2021

6

Schueck
HERITAGE CONSULTING



 24 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

  

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: WISMER RESIDENCE, 245 EAST 10th  STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER

'S

I* ' » V6. 

:■* ■ ..£**•£

s

\

Wi
mT*

vn
fi.vl I R1!■j /

f

ffllBIlillini, S,III! Y,i

•fP|
1"^

- :u
ASi

1 981.245 East 10th Street [MONOVA Archives 5957]

DONALD LUXTON & ASSOCIATES INC. JUNE 2021

7

Schueck
HERITAGE CONSULTING



 25 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

 

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: WISMER RESIDENCE, 245 EAST 10th  STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER

Jm
•(MQ

h
■■ ■

.£

a iBi&A □—fci
:::1.

n ras «
IffijUw1

23*3

* V--
Front elevation

4^

W^}.\M
'l

rc;4
.> -feWSMBS .

i. j^ v;;,&.
A. ^
S'-'w ss-

5ea
:«■

■.;; -,v"5 #-'-3^' m~S":,-V vV• "yf.

i^p^gMi SR' S '

r:^.
Roof structure

DONALD LUXTON & ASSOCIATES INC. JUNE 2021

8

Schueck
HERITAGE CONSULTING



 26 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

  

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: WISMER RESIDENCE, 24S EAST 10th  STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER

H
. av \ ^

!

r _ wmnrr—fe®:. ; .'
5.V.
K'».

V: L, IPrar. :J Jl>• r
. .MB'ijSj!-, I
Stained glass window on front facade

VI

Mr

y
, T i)

•a*
'*

<1* 4
“ Jf

SF’ITflU !i L’k ®U «,
['•■

Rear elevation

DONALD LUXTON & ASSOCIATES INC. JUNE 2021

9

Schueck
HERITAGE CONSULTING



 27 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

  

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: WISMER RESIDENCE, MS EAST 10™ STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER

1

245
"1

I?Ki
i**mams'

fL „-V ■
wv

5

lA p-
i rv-.>

mas>
Front tfaor

DONALD LUXTON & ASSOCIATES INC. JUNE 2021
10

Schueck
HERITAGE CONSULTING



 28 
 
 

julie@schueckconsulting.com 

10.0  Other Resource Material 
 
Google Maps 

google.com/maps 
 
Historic Places Program Branch, “Canadian Register of Historic Places: Writing Statements of 
Significance,” Parks Canada, November 2006. 

www.historicplaces.ca/media/5422/sosguideen.pdf 
 
“Rehab It Right! Historic Windows & Doors”, p 17 By the Utah Heritage Foundation, 2011 

www.utahheritagefoundation.com/images/Historic Windows and Doors Property Owners 
Guide.pdf 

 
“Standards and Guidelines for the Conservation of Historic Places in Canada”, Second Edition, 2010 

www.historicplaces.ca 
 
“The Preservation and Repair of Historic Stained Glass and Leaded Glass”. Preservation Brief #33 
https://www.nps.gov/tps/how-to-preserve/briefs/33-stained-leaded-glass.htm#protection 
 
 
 
 
 
 



JUNE 2021

WISMER RESIDENCE STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 3�



STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: WISMER RESIDENCE, 245 EAST 10TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER 

DONALD LUXTON & ASSOCIATES INC. JUNE 2021 

1 

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: WISMER RESIDENCE 

 
Address: 245 East 10th Street, Vancouver, British Columbia 
Historic Name: Wismer Residence 
Original Contractor/Owner: Eugene Gowan 
Date of Construction: 1908 
Heritage Classification: North Vancouver Heritage Register Category ‘A’ 
 
Description of Historic Place 
The Wismer Residence is a two-storey, wood-frame Foursquare style house located amongst similar 
Edwardian-era residences in the City of North Vancouver. Constructed in 1908, the house is 
characterized by its full-width front porch and steeply pitched hipped roof.  
 
Heritage Value of Historic Place 
The Wismer Residence is significant for its association with the Edwardian era development of the 
City of North Vancouver; for its history of ownership; and for its Foursquare architecture. 
 
The Wismer Residence, constructed in 1908, is valued as a good representation of housing built 
during North Vancouver’s early twentieth century residential development boom. After regular ferry 
service was established in 1903 and the city was incorporated in 1907, North Vancouver 
experienced a period of unprecedented growth and prosperity; it was often referred to as ‘The 
Ambitious City’. Lonsdale, the historic commercial core of North Vancouver, grew explosively, as a 
new streetcar and the PGE railway converged at the foot of Lonsdale Avenue. The Wismer 
Residence, located in close proximity to Lonsdale Avenue, was constructed early in this wave of 
residential development in the community, which accelerated until a general financial depression 
in 1913 and the subsequent outbreak of the First World War curtailed the growth. 



STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: WISMER RESIDENCE, 245 EAST 10TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER 

DONALD LUXTON & ASSOCIATES INC. JUNE 2021 

2 

The Wismer Residence is valued additionally for its history of ownership, beginning with carpenter 
Eugene Gowan in 1908. American-born Gowan likely constructed this house as a speculative 
investment during the Edwardian era construction boom, selling it to the Wismer family in 1910.  
Wellington Howard David Wismer and his wife Catherine moved into the East 10th Street house in 
1910 following their arrival from Ontario. The Wismers were in their fifties and had seven children 
when they made the cross-country move. The Wismer name remains significant in British Columbia 
political circles due to their son, Gordon Sylvester Wismer, who became a prominent lawyer and 
politician. Gordon, who lived in the East 10th Street house when he was attending law school, served 
in the provincial cabinet as Attorney General from 1937 to 1941 and 1946 to 1952, and as Minister 
of Labour from 1947 to 1949. The Wismers remained in the East 10th Street house until 1914, when 
it was rented to BCER employee Matthew Baird. In 1920, the house was purchased by engineer John 
Bowen; the Bowen family would remain in the residence for over three decades.  
 
The Wismer Residence is additionally significant for its Edwardian-era Foursquare design. Typical 
of the Edwardian era, Foursquare houses originated as a reaction to the more elaborate and 
flamboyant Victorian styles, which often included ornate mass-produced elements. The typical 
Edwardian era house was constructed from quality local materials, most often fir and cedar in British 
Columbia, and built by quality craftsmen. The interior layout of such houses ensured the maximum 
amount of interior room space, typically dividing the house into four rooms on both main floors, 
separated by a central staircase. Large windows, along with open verandahs, provided ample light. 
The style was inexpensive and expansive, and proved very popular on city lots, especially as the 
Lower Mainland was growing exponentially through the early twentieth century. The Wismer 
Residence is a good example of the Edwardian Foursquare style, as expressed by its steeply pitched 
hipped roof structure with off-centre projecting gable-on-hip second storey bay, featuring patterned 
shingles, and its full-width front verandah.  
 
Character-Defining Elements 
The elements that define the heritage character of the Wismer Residence are its: 
- setting on a mid-block lot along East 10th Street in the City of North Vancouver; 
- continuous residential use for more than a century; 
- residential form, scale and massing, as expressed by its wood-frame construction, two-storey 
height, and steeply pitched hipped roof with closed soffits and off-centre projecting gable-on-hip 
second storey bay; 
- wood frame construction as expressed by its narrow lapped wooden siding with wooden corner 
boards and patterned cedar shingle cladding in the gable-end; 
- Edwardian Foursquare architectural details such as: its full-width front verandah with hipped-roof 
and square columns and open balustrade, accessed by an off-centre flight of steps, with wooden 
flooring and closed soffit ceiling; wooden cornerboards; fascia boards; and the gable-end of the 
gable-on-hip bay with patterned cedar shingle cladding; 
- pattern of fenestration including: wooden frame double-hung 1-over-1 windows, some with leaded 
glass diamond patterned upper sashes, with moulded lintels and projected sills; fixed wooden frame 
stained glass window with floral motif;  
- wooden exterior doors; and  
- two red brick chimneys, one internal one external.  



STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: WISMER RESIDENCE, 245 EAST 10TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER 

DONALD LUXTON & ASSOCIATES INC. JUNE 2021 

3 

RESEARCH SUMMARY 
 
Address: 245 East 10th Street, Vancouver, British Columbia 
Historic Name: Wismer Residence 
Original Contractor/Owner: Eugene Gowan 
Date of Construction: 1908 
Heritage Classification: North Vancouver Heritage Register Category ‘A’ 
  
Building Permits: None located; indicates pre-1911 date. 
 
Assessments: 

Tax Assessment Search 

City of North Vancouver: 245 East 10th Street 

Year Name of Owner Address Value of: 

Parcel / Land  Improvements / Buildings 

1907 Hutton Geo 1330 Howe St.  1729   

1908 Hutton G 1330 Howe St.  300   

1909 Gowan HE North Vancouver 260   

1910 Wismer WH North Vancouver 300   

1911 Wismer WH North Vancouver 580   

1912 Wismer W North Vancouver 900   

1913 Wismer Wellington H North Vancouver 1100   

1914 Wismer Wellington H North Vancouver 1100   

1915 Wismer Wellington H North Vancouver 1100 2000 

1916 Blackmore, Robert 
(Wismer Wellington 
Howard crossed out) 

Armstrong, BC 
(North Vancouver crossed 
out) 

950 2000 

1917 N/A         

1918 N/A         

1919 Blackmore, Robert PO Box 515 Kamloops, BC 
(Armstrong, BC crossed out) 

950 2000 

 
Directories: 

Year Occupant(s) Occupation 

1909 Eugene Gowan Carpenter 

1910 - 1914 Wellington H. Wismer Not Listed 

1915-1919 Matthew H. Baird Lineman BCER 

1921-1950 Bowen (John, Alice, and Frank) Engineer 
 
Vital Events: 

• Death Registration: Eugene Gowan; December 11, 1950; Websters Corners; B.C. 
Archives Reg. #1950-09-012037 



STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: WISMER RESIDENCE, 245 EAST 10TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER 

DONALD LUXTON & ASSOCIATES INC. JUNE 2021 

4 

• Death Registration: Marjorie Gowan; November 25, 1957; Vancouver; B.C. Archives 
Reg. #1957-09-013197 

• Marriage Registration: Eugene Gowan & Marjorie Lorimer; October 21, 1925; 
Unknown; B.C. Archives Reg. #1925-09-290594 

• Death Registration: Wellington Howard Wismer; October 7, 1935; Vancouver; B.C. 
Archives Reg. #1935-09-506217 

 

 
1912. North Vancouver [Fire Insurance Plan]. Chas. E. Goad, Sheet 20 [NVMA 1987-014] 



STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: WISMER RESIDENCE, 245 EAST 10TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER 

DONALD LUXTON & ASSOCIATES INC. JUNE 2021 

5 

 
1930. Vol. 20 of Fire Insurance Plan (North Vancouver) (B). BC Insurance Underwriters Association, Sheet 
2022 [MONOVA Archives] 



STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: WISMER RESIDENCE, 245 EAST 10TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER 

DONALD LUXTON & ASSOCIATES INC. JUNE 2021 

6 

   
1934-01-29 Vancouver Sun pg.07                              1935-10-07 Vancouver Daily Province pg.08 
 

 
1926 Pacific Airways Ltd. Aerial view up St. Andrews, North Vancouver [MONOVA Archives 5129] 



STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: WISMER RESIDENCE, 245 EAST 10TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER 

DONALD LUXTON & ASSOCIATES INC. JUNE 2021 

7 

 
1981. 245 East 10th Street [MONOVA Archives 5957] 
 



STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: WISMER RESIDENCE, 245 EAST 10TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER 

DONALD LUXTON & ASSOCIATES INC. JUNE 2021 

8 

 
Front elevation 
 

 
Roof structure 
 



STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: WISMER RESIDENCE, 245 EAST 10TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER 

DONALD LUXTON & ASSOCIATES INC. JUNE 2021 

9 

 
Stained glass window on front façade  
 

 
Rear elevation 



STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: WISMER RESIDENCE, 245 EAST 10TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER 

DONALD LUXTON & ASSOCIATES INC. JUNE 2021 

10 

 
Front door 



DIS Report 
PROJECT: 245 East 10th Street, North Vancouver 
 
 
Public input for this rezoning application has been sought through several means. Prior to applying, the Dickie 
family contacted the immediate neighbours. Upon the application, immediate neighbours were then provided with 
a DIS Notice and directed to the website for the proposal information. All neighbours were provided with direct 
contact information for the applicant. 
The formal process included the installation of 1 sign at the front of the property, two ads were placed in the North 
Shore Newspaper and handouts were distributed to nearby properties in accordance with City requirements. A 
Developer Information Session (DIS) was held on May 31st, 2022. 
Prior to the DIS meeting, Sue Dickie made contact and delivered 11x17 copies of the plans to the surrounding 
neighbours. She received several signatures from surrounding neighbours who are in support of the project. See 
attached Letter(s) of Support. 
The DIS was held virtually via zoom on May 31st 2022 from 6:00pm to 8:00 pm. Bram van der 
Heijden attended from the City of North Vancouver. Curtis Krahn, Elizabeth Cain, and James Stobie attended from 
Synthesis Design. John, Jess, Natalie, and Sue attended from the Dickie household. 
At the event a power-point was provided to the audience c/w a client presentation. This was followed up by a Q&A 
period. 
The DIS was attended by 10 people. 
Further comments on the project include 5 support letters for the design / application, 2 phone conversations with 
neighbours and 3 DIS comment sheets, 2 in support of the project and 1 with concerns. 
Contact with neighbours is continuing to confirm their support, comments, or concerns. 
 
The main reasons for support were: 

• The retention of the heritage home 
• The contextual build form of the infill duplex 
• The inter-generational living for the Dickies Family currently lignin on site. 

 
The main concerns raised were. 

• The impact of construction for neighbours along the lane 
• Privacy concerns for Neighbouring properties 
• The density of the infill duplex  

 
James Stobie and the Dickies family have engaged with the neighbours to address these concerns by. 
 
 

• providing information regarding the policy context and the type of development allowed according to the 
OCP. 

• Addressing privacy concerns, by changing the east and west elevation windows to clerestory windows to 
prevent overlook towards the neighbours. 

• Explaining that the City has regulations to minimize the impact of construction and efforts will be made to 
coordinate construction with the neighbours. 

 
 
Susan Dickie 
 
  

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 4�



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8936 Document: 2181153-v3 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8936 

A Bylaw to amend “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, 

Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8936” (James Stobie / Synthesis Design, 245 East 10th 
Street, CD-757). 

 
2. Division VI: Zoning Map of Document “A” of “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby 

amended by reclassifying the following lots as henceforth being transferred, added to and 
forming part of CD-757 (Comprehensive Development 757 Zone): 

 
 Lots Block D.L. Plan 
 
 6 97 274 and 549 1833 from RT-1 
 
3. Part 11 of Division V:  Comprehensive Development Regulations of Document “A” of “Zoning 

Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby amended by: 
 

A. Adding the following section to Section 1100, thereof, after the designation “CD-756 
Comprehensive Development 756 Zone”: 

 
“CD-757 Comprehensive Development 757 Zone” 

 
B. Adding the following to Section 1101, thereof, after the “CD-756 Comprehensive 

Development 756 Zone”: 
 

“CD-757 Comprehensive Development 757 Zone” 
 

In the CD-757 Zone, permitted Uses, regulations for permitted Uses, regulations for 
the size, shape and siting of Buildings and Structures and required Off-Street Parking 
shall be as in the RT-2 Zone, except that: 

 
(1) Two Principal Buildings shall be permitted on one Lot; 

 
(2) The permitted Principal Use on the Lot shall be limited to: 

 
(a) One Dwelling Unit in the Northernmost Building (heritage house); 
(b) Two Dwelling Units in the Southernmost Building (infill dwellings); 

 
(3) The Principal Buildings shall not exceed a combined Lot Coverage of 42 percent; 

 
(4) The Principal Buildings shall not exceed a combined Gross Floor Area of 0.73 

times the Lot Area. For purposes of CD-757 the following area shall be excluded 
from Gross Floor Area calculations: 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8936 Document: 2181153-v3 

(a) Basement to a maximum 139.98 sq. m (1,496 sq. ft) of the Southernmost 
Building; 

 
(5) Section 507(2) Open Site Space shall be waived; 
 
(6) The Principal Buildings shall be sited as follows: 

 
(a) The Northernmost Building (heritage house) shall be not less than: 

 
i. 4.6 metres (15 feet) from the Front Lot Line; 
ii. 22.1 metres (72.5 feet) from the Rear Lot Line; with a siting exception 

for a deck maximum of 1.5 metres (5.0 feet) into the Rear yard 
setback; 

iii. 4.2 metres ( 13.7 feet) from the east Interior Lot Line; 
iv. 3.5 metres (11.6 feet) from the west Interior Side Lot Line; 

 
(b) The Southernmost Building (infill dwellings) shall be not less than: 

 
i. 27.0 metres (89 feet) from the Front Lot Line; 
ii. 2.0 metres (6.5 feet) from the Rear Lot Line; 
iii. 1.22 metres (4.00 feet) from the west Interior Side Lot Line; 
iv. 1.22 metres (4.00 feet) from the east Interior Side Lot Line; 

 
(7) The Northernmost Building (heritage house) shall not exceed a maximum 

geodetic height of 103.1 meters (338 ft.); 
 

(8) The Southernmost Building (infill dwellings) shall not exceed a maximum 
geodetic height of 99.0 meters (324.8 ft.); 

 
(9) The minimum number of accessory off-street Parking Spaces provided shall be 

2 parking stalls; 
 

(10) Every unit shall have access to 2 Bicycle Parking Spaces and a total of 6 Bicycle 
Parking Spaces shall be provided; 

 
(11) Garbage and Recycling shall be screened on all sides and shall not be located 

in required Emergency Access Pathways, driveways, or Parking Spaces; 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8936 Document: 2181153-v3 

(12) All exterior finishes, design and landscaping shall be approved by the Heritage 
Advisory Commission. 

 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8937 Document: 2181226-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8937 

A Bylaw to Designate a Municipal Heritage Site 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Heritage Designation Bylaw, 

2022, No. 8937” (James Stobie / Synthesis Design Inc., 245 East 10th Street). 
 
2. Pursuant to the Local Government Act, the following lands, buildings and structures are, in 

their entirety, designated as a Municipal Heritage Site: 
 

Street Address: 245 East 10th Street 
 

Common Name / Description: Gowan Residence 
 

Legal Description: Lot 6 Block 97 D.L 274 and 549 Plan 1833 
 
3. Pursuant to the Local Government Act, this bylaw requires adherence to the City of North 

Vancouver’s “Heritage Conservation Procedures Bylaw, 2013, No. 8292”. 
 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

  
MAYOR 

  
CORPORATE OFFICER 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



To: 

Department Director CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 

REPORT 

From: 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Michael Epp, Director, Planning & Development 

Subject: DEVELOPMENT PROCEDURES BYLAW AMENDMENT - STREAMLINING 
OF DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT REQUESTS 

Date: June 15, 2022 File No: 01-0125-01-0001/2022 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Director, Planning & Development, dated June 15, 
2022, entitled "Development Procedures Bylaw Amendment - Streamlining of 
Development Variance Permit Requests": 

THAT "Development Procedures Bylaw, 2001, No. 7343, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, 
No. 8916" (Bill 26 Update for Minor Development Variance Permits) be considered. 

ATTACHMENT 

1. Staff report, "Update to Development Procedures Bylaw to Implement BC
Government's Bill 26", March 16, 2022 (Citydocs #2180285)

2. "Development Procedures Bylaw, 2001, No. 7343, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No.
8916" (TRACKED CHANGES) (Citydocs #2191081)

3. "Development Procedures Bylaw, 2001, No. 7343, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No.
8916" (Citydocs #2150243)

PURPOSE 

To present a bylaw for Council consideration to amend the Development Procedures 
Bylaw in response to the adoption of new Provincial legislation (Bill 26). The amendment 

Document Number: 2187501 V2 



REPORT: Development Procedures Bylaw Amendment - Streamlining of Development Variance Permit Requests 
Date: June 15, 2022 

will enable delegation of authority to issue Development Variance Permits (DVPs) for 
minor variances to the Director of Planning & Development. 

BACKGROUND 

On November 25, 2021, the Province gave Royal Assent to Bill 26 - Municipal Affairs 
Statutes Amendment Act (No. 2), (2021) ("Bill 26"). This legislation was a result of the 
Development Approvals Process Review, which aimed to improve the municipal and 
provincial approval processes required for land development. 

One of the key implications of Bill 26 for development planning was introduction of a new 
authority enabling Councils to delegate decision-making on DVPs for minor variances. 

On April 25, 2022, Council directed staff to bring forward a bylaw to amend the 
Development Procedures Bylaw to delegate authority for issuance of DVPs for minor 
variances. This amendment is the subject of this report. 

DISCUSSION 

Development in the City currently occurs primarily through site specific, case by case 
rezoning applications, which result in individual Comprehensive Development Zones 
tailored to each application received . With this system, DVP requests are relatively 
uncommon. However, the City, on occasion, receives requests for minor variances to 
established zoning parameters. These requests can arise as a result of unforeseen 
conditions on-site where complying with the zoning would present a challenge or a 
"hardship" for a property owner or where an alternative on-site development configuration 
allows for a preferred outcome when compared with what is permitted as-of-right on a site . 

Bill 26 allows a municipality to consider delegating the authority for issuing DVPs for minor 
variance requests to staff. This includes variances to the siting, size and dimension of 
buildings and structures, the regulation of signs, and off-street and loading space 
requirements. Changes to use and density are not permitted by way of a DVP and can 
only be conferred through an amendment of the Zoning Bylaw, which is within Council's 
sole authority. The legislation requires, should Council wish to delegate the authority to 
issue minor DVPs that Council establish, by bylaw: 

(a) criteria for determining whether a proposed variance is minor; and, 

(b) guidelines the delegate must consider in deciding whether to issue a DVP. 

Delegating authority for issuance of minor DVPs to the Director of Planning & 
Development would substantially reduce application processing time and cost. Under the 
new regulations, a delegate considering a minor DVP application would not require 
statutory notice to be published . Staff therefore recommend that Council consider 
delegating the issuance of the following types of minor DVPs to the Director of Planning & 
Development: 

1. Sign Bylaw: 
• All variance requests regarding size, number and placement of signs. 

Page 2 of 4 



REPORT: Development Procedures Bylaw Amendment - Streamlining of Development Variance Permit Requests 
Date: June 15, 2022 

2. Parking Variances: 
• Variances of 10% or less of the Zoning Bylaw required minimum number of 

spaces (vehicles, bicycles), 
• Variances of up to 25% where such a request is required for the preservation of 

mature on-site trees, 
• Variances related to loading requirements including number of required loading 

spaces, design and technical provisions such as dimensions and access, 
• Variances of technical and design requirements pertaining to design, location of 

parking, 
• All parking variance requests up to one space in Residential Level 1 and 

Residential Level 2 designated areas. 

3. Garbage and Recycling Storage Facility: 
• Any variance to the requirements. 

4 . Building Siting: 
• Variances of 25% or less of Zoning Bylaw minimum requirements regarding 

setbacks, building separations, lot coverage, open site space, permeable 
surfaces and general building siting dimensions. 

5. Patios and Decks: 
• Variances to patios and decks of all configurations and sizes. 

6. Building Envelope: 
• Variances of less than 10% or less than one storey, whichever is the lesser, to 

building height and variances of less than 10% to other building envelope 
dimensions such as building width and length, upper storey step-backs and 
angular planes, as applicable. 

In addition, the following guidelines would also be adopted , which would be used to 
establish consistency and fairness in the evaluation of all minor DVP applications: 

1. The request should be consistent with the goals, objectives and policies within the 
Official Community Plan (OCP) and any other relevant policy documents including, 
but not limited to , the City's housing policies, Mobility Strategy, Well-Being Strategy, 
Climate and Environment Strategy and Economic Strategy. 

2 . The request should be supported by a sound justification based on one or more of 
the following : 

a. An inability to reasonably develop a site in an efficient and effective manner 
while complying with bylaw requirements; 

b. A benefit to the community or surrounding properties as a result of a 
preferable form of development or outcome that is enabled through the 
requested variance. 

Page 3 of 4 



REPORT: Development Procedures Bylaw Amendment - Streamlining of Development Variance Permit Requests 
Date: June 15, 2022 

3. The request should not result in an unacceptable negative impact on neighbouring 
properties and should fully consider mitigation measures to reduce any identified 
negative impacts. 

4. The request should not impose any costs on the City. 

5. The variance should not defeat the explicit or implicit intent of the bylaw 
requirement being varied. 

As with other development matters currently delegated to the Director of Planning & 
Development, such as Development Permits, staff would exercise professional judgment 
and retain the ability to rely on input from the City's advisory bodies or to elevate a request 
to Council. Under the provisions of the Act, should Council opt to delegate issuance of 
minor DVPs to the Director of Planning & Development, the applicant would still be entitled 
to have Council reconsider their application. 

Should Council proceed with a delegation, staff do not anticipate a significant volume of 
requests, with the vast majority of land use approvals proceeding through Development 
Permit (staff-approval) or rezoning (Council approval). 

It should be noted that the City's appointed Board of Variance would continue to consider 
applications based on hardship circumstances. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

The measures outlined in this report have limited financial implications, though are 
expected to result in reductions in staff time allocated to processing minor DVP 
applications and minor reductions in City costs for statutory notices. 

STRATEGIC PLAN, OCP OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

The recommendations of this report will help the efficient implementation of the OCP, as 
well as Council Strategic Plan . 

CONCLUSION 

The provisions outlined in the report for administering minor DVP applications by staff 
represent a potential measure to further the City's streamlining initiatives. The measures 
will significantly reduce processing time for minor DVP applications. Staff's 
recommendations are guided by the City's corporate values of efficient, high-quality 
customer services and continued innovation in engaging with our citizens. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Michael Epp 
Director, Planning & Development 

Page 4 of 4 



To: 

From: 

� � 
[/11 

Department Director CAO 

Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Michael Epp, Director, Planning & Development 

REPORT 

Subject: STREAMLINING OF DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT REQUESTS 

Date: April 13, 2022 · File No: 01-0125-01-0001/2022 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Director, Planning & Development, dated April 13, 
2022, entitled "Streamlining Development Variance Permit Requests": 

THAT staff be directed to bring forward a bylaw to amend the Development 
Procedures Bylaw, with proposed provisions to delegate authority for issuance of 
Development Variance Permits for minor variances. 

ATTACHMENT 

1. Delegation and Assessment Criteria for Development Variance Permits (Citydocs
#2158234)

PURPOSE 

In response to the adoption of new Provincial legislation (Bill 26) amending the Community 
Charter and Local Government Act, the purpose of this report is to outline a draft set of 
provisions regarding Council delegation to staff for the consideration of some 
Development Variance Permit (DVP) applications. Should Council approve the DVP 
provisions outlined in the report, staff will bring forward a bylaw to amend the 
Development Procedures Bylaw reflecting the changes, for Council consideration. 

BACKGROUND 

In 2018, the Ministry of Municipal Affairs initiated the Development Approvals Process 
Review (DAPR), aimed at identifying improvements to the municipal and provincial 

Document Number: 2158192 V3 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 1�



REPORT: Streamlining Development Variance Permit Requests 
Date: April 13, 2022 

approval processes required for land development. The review issued recommendations 
in 2019, and on November 25, 2021, the Province gave Royal Assent to Bill 26 -
Municipal Affairs Statutes Amendment Act (No. 2) , (2021) ("Bill 26"); the first legislative 
changes arising from the review. Some of the legislative amendments in Bill 26 will come 
by a future regulation, but some came into force on Royal Assent. 

Amongst those changes, the legislation has two key implications to development planning 
at the local government level : 

• it altered the procedures for notification and public hearings with respect to 
rezoning applications that are compliant with the Official Community Plan (OCP); 
and 

• it introduced a new authority enabling Councils to delegate decision-making on 
DVPs for minor zoning variances. 

This report responds to the second item and discusses the implications for development 
planning . 

In 2021, the City was successful in a grant application for a comprehensive development 
approval review, which includes exploring opportunities to reduce the complexity of 
approval processes and other changes to allow the City to effectively manage permit 
volumes. This review includes both a third party process evaluation, as well as staff's 
effort in identifying ongoing process improvement and regulatory streamlining. The recent 
legislative changes present an opportunity to advance this work and explore further 
options to enhance our process, which are discussed in this report. 

DISCUSSION 

Bill 26 introduced changes to the Local Government Act that required the City to change 
its procedures in respect to development applications and public notifications. These 
changes were discussed with Council in rezoning reports that were introduced in 
December 2021 and are discussed in more detail in this report. In addition, the changes 
also allow consideration of how or whether to apply new authority introduced by the 
legislation with respect to DVPs for minor variances. These changes, their implications 
and recommendations are set out below. 

Delegation of Minor Development Variance Permits 

Bill 26 allows a municipality to consider delegating the authority for issuing DVPs for minor 
variance requests to staff. This includes variances to the siting, size and dimension of 
buildings and structures, the regulation of signs, and off-street and loading space 
requirements. Changes to use and density are not permitted by way of a variance and can 
only be conferred through the Zoning Bylaw, which is within Council 's sole authority. The 
legislation requires, should Council wish to delegate minor variance DVPs, that Council 
establish, by bylaw: 

(a) criteria for determining whether a proposed variance is minor; and, 

(b) guidelines the delegate must consider in deciding whether to issue a DVP. 

Page 2 of 7 



REPORT: Streamlining Development Variance Permit Requests 
Date: April 13, 2022 

Development in the City currently occurs primarily through site specific, case by case 
rezoning applications, which result in individual Comprehensive Development Zones 
tailored to each application received . With this system, development variance requests are 
relatively uncommon, as shown in Table 1 below. However, the City, on occasion, 
receives requests for minor changes to established zoning parameters. These requests 
can arise as a result of unforeseen conditions on-site where complying with the zoning 
would present a challenge or a "hardship" for a property owner or where an alternative on
site development configuration allows for a preferred outcome when compared with what 
is permitted as-of-right on a site. An example would be preserving an on-site tree by 
repositioning a development away from the tree and into an established zoning bylaw 
setback. Another example would be a desire to reallocate a required vehicle parking 
space to better accommodate e-bike parking or storage or the variance of setbacks to 
allow for the preservation of a heritage building. 

Table 1. Development Variance Permit Requests, 2018- 2021 

Year # of Variance Types 
Requests 

2021 1 Lot coverage 

2020 1 Antenna configuration 

2019 5 Parking requirement, setbacks, lot coverage, heritage 

2018 3 Height, parking 

The trade-offs suggested by these requests are currently evaluated through a staff review 
process, public consultation (through notification and, in some instances, an information 
session), and, ultimately, a Council decision. This process currently requires between four 
and seven months to complete. As some variance requests result from unforeseen 
difficulties in complying with the established zoning, timeliness is very important to 
applicants for a variance. 

Delegating authority for minor variances to staff would substantially reduce the time and 
cost required to process variance requests. Under the new regulations, a delegated 
variance does not require a statutory notice to be published. Staff therefore recommend 
that Council consider delegating the following types of minor variance requests to staff. 
Details of rationale and assessment criteria are outlined in Attachment 1. 

1. Sign Bylaw: 
• All variance requests regarding size, number and placement of signs. 

2. Parking Variances: 
• Variances of 10% or less of the Zoning Bylaw required minimum number of 

spaces (vehicles, bicycles), 
• Variances of up to 25% where such a request is required for the preservation of 

mature on-site trees, 
• Variances related to loading requirements including number of required loading 

spaces, design and technical provisions such as dimensions and access, 

Page 3 of 7 



REPORT: Streamlining Development Variance Permit Requests 
Date: April 13, 2022 

• Variances of technical and design requirements pertaining to design, location of 
parking, 

• All parking variance requests up to one space in R1 and R2 designated areas. 

3. Garbage and Recycling Storage Facility: 
• Any variance to the requirements can be considered by staff. 

4. Building Siting: 
• Variances of 25% or less of Zoning Bylaw minimum requirements regarding 

setbacks, building separations, lot coverage, open site space, permeable 
surfaces and general building siting dimensions. 

5. Patios and Decks: 
• Variances to patios and decks of all configurations and sizes. 

6. Building Envelope: 
• Variances of less than 10% or less than one storey, whichever is the lesser, to 

building height and variances of less than 10% to other building envelope 
dimensions such as building width and length, upper storey step-backs and 
angular planes, as applicable. 

In addition to specific criteria outlined in the draft provisions, general criteria would also be 
adopted, which would be used to establish consistent guidance and fairness in the 
evaluation of all Development Variance requests: 

1. The request should be consistent with the goals, objectives and policies within the 
OCP and any other relevant policy documents including, but not limited to, the 
City's housing policies, Mobility Strategy, Well-Being Strategy, Climate and 
Environment Strategy and Economic Strategy. 

2. The request should be supported by a sound justification based on one or more of 
the following: 

a. An inability to reasonably develop a site in an efficient and effective manner 
while complying with bylaw requirements; 

b. A benefit to the community or surrounding properties as a result of a 
preferable form of development or outcome that is enabled through the 
requested variance. 

3. The request should not result in an unacceptable negative impact on neighbouring 
properties and should fully consider mitigation measures to reduce any identified 
negative impacts. 

4 . The request should not impose any costs on the municipality. 

5. The variance should not defeat the explicit or implicit intent of the bylaw 
requirement being varied. 

Page 4 of 7 



REPORT: Streamlining Development Variance Permit Requests 
Date: April 13, 2022 

As with other development matters currently delegated to staff, such as Development 
Permits, staff would exercise professional judgment and retain the ability to rely on input 
from the City's advisory bodies or to elevate a request to Council. Under the provisions of 
the Act, should Council opt to delegate approval of minor variances to staff, the applicant 
who is subject to a staff decision would remain entitled to have Council reconsider a 
decision of staff. 

Should Council proceed with a delegation, for reasons outlined above, staff do not 
anticipate a significant volume of requests, with the vast majority of development 
applications proceeding through Development Permit (staff-approval) or rez\>ning (Council 
approval). 

It should be noted that the City's appointed Board of Variance would continue to consider 
applications based on hardship circumstances. 

Options for DVP Delegation 

In considering delegation of DVP authorities, the following options are presented for 
Council consideration: 

Option 1 (Recommended) - Endorse the delegation and criteria for minor variances as 
outlined in Attachment #1 and instruct staff to bring back a bylaw to amend the 
Development Procedures Bylaw to reflect these provisions. This is the staff recommended 
option. 

Option 2 - Approve a revised version of the delegation provisions as outlined in the 
Attachment #1 and instruct staff to bring back a bylaw to amend the Development 
Procedures Bylaw to reflect Council directions. In this case, the active clause of the 
recommendation should read: 

"THAT staff be directed to bring back a revised Development Procedures Bylaw, for 
Council consideration, with draft provisions relating to Development Variance 
Permits (DVPs), as modified and directed by Council as follows __ ·" 

Option 3 - Maintain the current practice of Council reviewing and approving all DVPs (the 
status quo option). Should Council wish to maintain present practice, no resolution or 
further action is required . 

Alternative Public Input Prototype Update 

Changes to section 464 of the Local Government Act (the "Act") remove the default 
requirement for local governments to hold public hearings for zoning bylaw amendments 
that are consistent with the Official Community Plan (OCP). Instead, the Provincial 
legislation contemplates that approval of zoning bylaws would proceed by default without 
public hearings, thereby removing the need for local governments to go through the 
process of waiving these hearings (as was previously required). The Act allows for public 
hearings to be held as an option, if desired by Council, on a case-by-case basis. At 

Page 5 of 7 



REPORT: Streamlining Development Variance Permit Requests 
Date: April 13, 2022 

present, a Council motion to hold or not hold a public hearing is required with each 
rezoning application. 

While the intent of the changes to the Act were to simplify this aspect of the approval 
process, in practice, the current process requires similar steps to the previous approval 
process, as outlined below. 

Table 1. Previous and New Zoning Bylaw Consideration and Approval Process 

Previous Process New Process 

1. Staff Report and first and second 1. Staff Report and recommendation of 
readings of bylaw, including decision whether a public hearing will be held 
to hold or waive public hearing or no public hearing 

2. Publish public hearing notices 2. If referred to public hearing, first and 
second readings of bylaw at same 
meeting as introduction and then 
notice of public hearing published. 

3. Public hearing, followed by third 3. If no public hearing held, then notice 
reading of bylaw of first reading published after 

introduction 
4. Finalize legal agreements 4. Public hearing (if held), followed by 

third reading of bylaw OR, if no publ ic 
hearing, first, second and third 
reading at Regular meeting 

5. Final adoption of bylaw 5. Finalize legal agreements 

6. Final adoption of bylaw 

As done previously, Council makes a case-by-case determination whether or not to refer a 
zoning amendment bylaw to a public hearing . Council will either make a motion to hold a 
public hearing or not hold a public hearing when an application is introduced, and there is 
no longer a requirement to waive a public hearing . 

The City has long placed importance on public engagement in municipal affairs , 
emphasizing principles of access and equity and has been proactive in exploring 
alternative means of gathering public input on development applications. In 2019, under 
the City-initiated Balanced Housing Lab, staff had started to revisit the standard approach 
to community consultation through rezoning to encourage earlier consultation and include 
a wider array of participants in the development review process. A pilot project (for a 
rezoning proposal at 115 East Keith Road) is currently underway, exploring alternative 
approaches for early community consultation and engagement, and staff will be reporting 
back to Council with lessons learned and recommendations . 

Following the evaluation of this pilot, staff will report back on findings and potential 
changes to improve the level of representation of the community and responsiveness of 
the consultation process. 

Page 6 of7 



REPORT: Streamlining Development Variance Permit Requests 
Date: April 13, 2022 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

The measures outlined in this report have limited financial implications, though are 
expected to result in reductions in staff time allocated to processing variance requests and 
minor reductions in City costs for statutory notices. 

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

This report has been reviewed by the Policy and Project Team, the Organizational Policy 
Review Committee and was prepared in coordination with the Corporate Officer and the 
City Solicitor. 

STRATEGIC PLAN, OCP OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

The recommendations of this report will help the efficient implementation of the OCP, as 
well as Council Strategic Plan . 

CONCLUSION 

The provisions outlined in the report for administering minor DVP applications by staff 
represent a potential measure to further the City's streamlining initiatives. The measures 
will significantly reduce processing time for minor Development Variance Permit requests. 
Staff's recommendations are guided by the City's corporate values of efficient, high-quality 
customer services and continued innovation in engaging with our citizens. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

M~ 
Director, Planning & Development 

Page 7 of? 



Document Number: 2158234 

 
 
 
 

These draft provisions or any modifications of these draft provisions, as directed 
by Council, will be incorporated into the City’s Development Procedures Bylaw.  
 
PURPOSE 

 
These provisions set out assessment criteria to be applied in the consideration of 
requests to vary the provisions of a bylaw through a Development Variance Permit 
(DVP). The provisions also determine when a request is considered ‘minor’ and 
delegated to staff. The intent is to ensure fair and consistent processing of DVP 
applications, while providing applicants and the public with clarity on the factors that are 
considered during the evaluation.  
 
Provisions apply to all requests for DVPs to vary requirements of the Zoning Bylaw, 
Sign Bylaw, Subdivision and Development Control Bylaw or other bylaw provisions for 
which a Development Variance Permit can be considered, in accordance with the Local 
Government Act.  
 
Types of Development Variances 
 
These provisions outline assessment criteria for two types of variance requests:  
 

1. Standard Variance Requests – Council Authority 
 
Variances to bylaw provisions that may be considered in conjunction with a 
rezoning application or outside of a rezoning application through a DVP. DVP 
requests are evaluated in accordance with the General Assessment Criteria 
below, with the results of the evaluation presented to Council for consideration.  
 

2. Minor Variance Requests – Staff Delegated Authority 
 

Variances to be considered by Council’s delegate in accordance with the 
evaluation framework outlined in this policy. These requests must be within the 
thresholds to be determined as minor (by these provisions) and are evaluated in 
accordance with both the General Assessment Criteria and Minor Variances – 
Assessment by Categories as outlined below. The results of this evaluation are to 
be compiled in a decision memorandum, recording the evaluation’s findings and 
decision to authorize or reject the variance request. Applications which do not 
meet the criteria would be referred to Council for consideration.  

 
DVPs may be in association with a development proposal (ie rezoning) or may be 
stand-alone DVP applications which do not accompany a development proposal. All 
DVP requests in association with rezoning would be considered by Council.  

DRAFT  
DELEGATION AND ASSESSMENT CRITERIA FOR 
DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMITS (DVPs) 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 1�



Page 2 of 5 

 
General Assessment Criteria 

 
The following criteria shall be applied to the evaluation of all DVP applications: 
 

1. The request should be consistent with the goals, objectives and policies within 
the Official Community Plan and any other relevant policy documents including, 
but not limited to, the City’s housing policies, Mobility Strategy, Well-being 
Strategy, Climate and Environment Strategy, and Economic Strategy. 
 

2. The request should be supported by a sound justification based on one or more 
of the following: 
 

a. an inability to reasonably develop a site in an efficient and effective 
manner while complying with a bylaw requirements; 
 

b. a benefit to the community or surrounding properties as a result of a 
preferable form of development or outcome that is enabled through the 
requested variance.  

 
3. The request should not result in an unacceptable negative impact on 

neighbouring properties and should fully consider mitigation measures to reduce 
any identified negative impacts. 

 
4. The request should not impose any costs on the municipality.  

 
5. The variance should not defeat the explicit or implicit intent of the bylaw 

requirement being varied. 
 
Minor Variances – Assessment by Categories 
 

1. Sign Bylaw: All variance requests respecting size, number and placement of 
signs. 
 
Rationale – The City’s Sign Bylaw was last comprehensively reviewed in 1992 
and does not adequately reflect all signage scenarios or types. Staff routinely 
negotiate alternative signage configurations through on-site Signage Plans.  
 
Staff Assessment Criteria – Director of Planning & Development shall consider: 
 

 the variance request respecting size, number and placement of signs 
does not result in a significant increase in the total number or size of on-
site signage and is in keeping with the aesthetic and character of the 
buildings and surrounding area; and 
 



Page 3 of 5 

 the effect of the variance does not result in safety concerns or adverse 
impact to neighbouring properties, such as light pollution. 

 
2. Parking Variances:  

a. variances of 10% or less of the Zoning Bylaw required minimum number 
of spaces (vehicles, bicycles); 

b. variances of up to 25% where such a request is required for the 
preservation of mature on-site trees;  

c. variances related to loading requirements including number of required 
loading spaces and design and technical provisions such as dimensions 
and access;  

d. variances of technical and design requirements pertaining to design, 
location of parking; and 

e. all parking variance requests up to one space, in areas designed ‘R1’ and 
‘R2’ in the Official Community Plan.  

 
Rationale – This would allow expedited consideration of requests resulting from 
unique on-site considerations or where an alternative is demonstrated to result in 
a preferable outcome.  
 
Staff Assessment Criteria – Director of Planning & Development shall consider: 
 

 the reduction is not expected to have undue impact on the on-street 
parking in the area; 
 

 if there is a reasonable alternative to the minimum parking standard, 
particularly taking the intended uses of the building into consideration. 
These alternatives may include bicycle parking, personalized mobility aids 
parking, public transit passes or other measures as the Director of 
Planning & Development may deem appropriate; 
 

 in the case of a parking variance for the protection of mature on-site trees, 
the parking variance is a direct result of the reduction of parking stalls to 
ensure adequate soil volume for the long term health of said trees; and 

 
 any variance to the parking design, location would not result in any safety 

concerns or operational issues. 
 

3. Garbage and Recycling Storage Facility: Any variance to the requirements can 
be considered by the Director of Planning & Development. Consultation with the 
facility operator, as well as consultation with City Engineer, is required. 

 
4. Building Siting: Variances of 25% or less of Zoning Bylaw minimum requirements 

regarding setbacks, building separations, lot coverage, open site space, 
permeable surfaces and general building siting dimensions.  
 



Page 4 of 5 

Rationale - While the majority of development in the City occurs through 
rezoning, during which a review of setbacks is conducted, unique conditions on 
as-of-right sites occasionally curtail the ability to proceed with an effective 
development. Slope, tree preservation, adjacency to a stream or ravine, etc. are 
examples of site constraints where variances are occasionally warranted.  
 
Staff Assessment Criteria – Director of Planning & Development shall consider: 
 

 that the variance to building siting requirements does not decrease the 
liveability of residential units and that there is a demonstration that the 
variance request does not result in undue impact on access to light and 
privacy.  

 
5. Patios and Decks: Variances to patios and decks of all configurations and sizes. 

 
Rationale – Patios and decks are extensions to buildings that, due to the diverse 
existing conditions of the buildings, often do not conform to zoning regulations. 
However, they are important for liveability reasons and are of relatively low 
impact when it comes to neighbourliness.  
 
Staff Assessment Criteria – Director of Planning & Development shall consider: 
 

 variance not to create undue privacy impact on adjoining neighbours; and 
 variance does not result in a significant increase of site coverage or 

impermeable surface on the lot; 
 

6. Building Envelope: Variances of less than 10% or less than one storey, 
whichever is the lesser, to building height and variances of less than 10% to 
other building envelope dimensions, such as building width and length, upper 
storey step-backs and angular planes, as applicable.  
 
Rationale – On occasion, rooftop features, such as access hatches, elevator 
overruns and architectural elements, are proposed to extend moderately beyond 
maximum bylaw heights. A desire for greater floor to ceiling height on 
commercial levels can contribute to the desire for minor height variances as can 
changing building technologies to support decarbonization.  
 
Staff Assessment Criteria – Director of Planning & Development shall consider: 
 

 variance to the building envelope or height be accompanied by 
supporting information clearly illustrating shadow and view impacts in a 
format acceptable to the Director of Planning & Development; 
 

 variance to building envelope and height be assessed for compatibility 
with adjacent land uses (both existing and as proposed in the OCP); 
 



Page 5 of 5 

 variance does not result in significant incremental shadow impacts, 
particularly where such an impact is to a sensitive public site, such as a 
park or greenspace; and 
 

 variance does not result in significant public view impacts as seen from 
the street or public spaces. 

 
 

 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw No. 7343 CONSOLIDATED 

 
CONSOLIDATED FOR CONVENIENCE – JANUARY 31, 2022 

 
 

Amendment Bylaw, 2006, No. 7760 Development Permit Areas for Streamside Protection 
and Enhancement 

Amendment Bylaw, 2010, No. 8066 Accessory Coach House Development 
Amendment Bylaw, 2010, No. 8136 Streamside Protection and Enhancement Development 

Permit Guidelines 
Amendment Bylaw, 2012, No. 8240 Sections 3 and 5 
Amendment Bylaw, 2014, No. 8348 Sections 2, 3, 4, 9, 13 and Schedule A 
Amendment Bylaw, 2015, No. 8424 Approval of Strata Conversions Less Than Three 

Dwelling Units 
Amendment Bylaw, 2015, No. 8408 Schedule A / Level-B Accessory Coach House 
Amendment Bylaw, 2015, No. 8454 Clarification of Public Meeting Requirement 
Amendment Bylaw, 2017, No. 8538 Schedule A Fees 
Amendment Bylaw, 2017, No. 8485 Schedule A Fees 
Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8906 Schedule A Fees (effective March 1, 2022) 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 
“DEVELOPMENT PROCEDURES BYLAW, 2001, NO. 7343” 

 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 2�



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw No. 7343 CONSOLIDATED 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 

BYLAW NO. 7343 
 

A Bylaw to Establish Procedures to Amend the Official Community Plan, 
the Zoning Bylaw, Adopt a Heritage Revitalization Agreement Bylaw, or to 

Issue Permits Under Part 26 of the Local Government Act 
 
The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting 
assembled, enacts as follows: 
 
1. TITLE 
 

This bylaw shall be cited as the City of North Vancouver "Development 
Procedures Bylaw, 2001, No. 7343." 

 
2. DEFINITIONS [Bylaw 8348, June 9, 2014] 
 

“Applicant” means a person who is an owner of the property which is the subject 
of an application, or a person acting with the written consent of the owner; 

 
“City” means the City of North Vancouver; 
 
“Minor Development Variance Permit” means a Development Variance Permit 
for a variance to the “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” that meets the following 
criteria: 

 
a) 10% for minimum parking space provision for vehicles and bicycles, and 

this reduction may be increased to 25% if the variance is required for the 
preservation of mature on-site trees; 

b) Any variance related to parking design standards, such as dimensions, 
siting and access; 

c) Any variance related to loading requirements, including number of required 
loading spaces and design standards, such as dimensions, siting and 
access; 

d) One parking space in areas designated ‘R1’ and ‘R2’ in the “Official 
Community Plan Bylaw, 2014, No. 8400”; 

e) Any variance related to garbage and recycling storage facilities; 
f) 25% for building setbacks and separations, lot coverage, open site space, 

and permeable surfaces; 
g) Any variance related to patios and decks; 
h) The lesser of 10% or one storey for building height; and 
i) Less than 10% for building envelope dimensions, such as building width 

and length, upper storey step-backs and angular planes; 
 

and any variance related to the “Sign Bylaw, 1992, No. 6363”. 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw No. 7343 CONSOLIDATED 

. 
 
3. SCOPE 
 

This bylaw shall apply to: 
 

(a) An amendment to: 
 

(i) The Official Community Plan 
(ii) The Zoning Bylaw 
(iii) A Land Use Contract 

 
(b) Issuance of:  

 
(i) Development Permits; 
(ii) Development Variance Permits; 
(iii) Temporary Use Permits. 
[Bylaw 8348, June 9, 2014] 

 
(c) The adoption of a Heritage Revitalization Agreement Bylaw. 

 
4. APPLICANT, FEES, LEGAL FEES, AND REFUND POLICY 

[Bylaw 8348, June 9, 2014] 
 

(a) Applications for bylaw amendments, permits, and permit extensions shall be 
submitted in writing to the City by the Applicant, and shall be accompanied by 
all information relevant to the proposed development required by the City to 
conduct a thorough review and analysis of the proposed development. The 
Applicant must apply in the form prescribed by the City and must provide the 
information required by the form. 

 
(i) If the Director of Community DevelopmentDirector of Planning and 

Development is not satisfied that the information is sufficient either in 
scope, level of detail, accuracy or in any other respect, the Director of 
Community DevelopmentDirector of Planning and Development may, 
within 30 business days of receipt of the information submitted by the 
applicant, require the applicant to provide, at the applicant’s expense, 
further information reasonably required to comply with this section; 

 
(ii) Every report or other document provided to the municipality must contain 

an express grant of permission to the municipality to use and reproduce 
the information contained in the report or other document for non-
commercial purposes. 

 
(b) All legal fees directly associated with amendments or permits covered by this 

bylaw shall be borne by the applicant. [Bylaw 8454, December 9, 2015] 
 

(c) Refunds of application fees shall be made on the following basis:  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0"



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw No. 7343 CONSOLIDATED 

 
(i) If the application is rejected by the Council of the Corporation of the City 

of North Vancouver (Council) prior to any Public Hearing or Public 
Meeting process being authorized by Council, 50 percent of the 
application fee shall be refunded to the applicant;  

 
(ii) If prior to any Public Hearing or Public Meeting process being authorized 

by Council the applicant withdraws the application within six months of 
submission, 50 percent of the application fee shall be refunded;  

 
(iii) If an application is withdrawn prior to any significant work being 

commenced by the City, an amount up to the full application fee may be 
refunded to the applicant at the discretion of the Director of Community 
DevelopmentDirector of Planning and Development;  

 
(iv) If the applicant fails within one year to respond to requests for further 

information in support of the application, the application shall be deemed 
void and in which case no refund of fee will be granted. 

 
5. PROCESS 
 

(a) An application under Section 2 shall be processed by the Director of 
Community DevelopmentDirector of Planning and Development, or his 
designate, who shall submit a report to Council for consideration other than 
applications which may be approved by the Director of Community 
DevelopmentDirector of Planning and Development. 

 
(b) The review of applications by the Council or the Director of Community 

DevelopmentDirector of Planning and Development may include referrals to 
persons or groups for such reports or advice as is deemed necessary to 
evaluate the application. 

 
(c) In the event the Director of Community DevelopmentDirector of Planning and 

Development rejects a Development Permit, the applicant may apply to the 
Council for reconsideration of the application. [Bylaw 8454, December 9, 2015] 

 
6. DELEGATION OF COUNCIL POWERS 

(a) The Council delegates to the Director of Community DevelopmentDirector of 
Planning and Development the powers of the Council under s.920(2)490 of 
the Local Government Act to issue Development Permits in respect of 
Development Permit Areas established by the Official Community Plan, 2014, 
No. 8400, provided that they do not involve a variance to the Zoning Bylaw, 
1995, No.6700, including the powers of the Council to require that the 
applicant provide security for the purposes of s.925 502 of the Local 
Government Act, however: 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 5 
Bylaw No. 7343 CONSOLIDATED 

(i) The Director of Community DevelopmentDirector of Planning and 
Development reserves the ability to refer the Development Permit 
Application to Council for consideration. 

 
(b) The Council delegates to the Director of Planning and Development the 

powers of the Council, pursuant to s.498.1 of the Local Government Act, to 
issue a Minor Development Variance Permit, subject to guidelines set out in 
Schedule “B”. 

 
(c) In imposing security requirements under s.925502 of the Local Government 

Act, the Director of Community DevelopmentDirector of Planning and 
Development may require the applicant to provide as security: 

 
(i) undertaking works, construction or other activities to satisfy a condition 

in the permit respecting landscaping; plus 
 

(ii) provide a letter of credit in the amount of 1% of the estimated value of all 
construction occurring within the scope of the permit as calculated by a 
quantity surveyor, to be cashed if conditions of the permit with respect to 
development energy usage are not met and certified as such by a 
recognized professional within a period of 24 months following the 
issuance of a certificate of occupancy and/or at the discretion of the 
Director of Community DevelopmentDirector of Planning and 
Development. 

 
(dc) In imposing the security requirements set out in section 6(d), the Director of 

Community DevelopmentDirector of Planning and Development may require 
security to be maintained for so long as there is a reasonable possibility of 
contravention of a landscaping condition, the creation of an unsafe condition, 
and the causing of harm to the environment in connection with the 
development authorized by the permit. 

 
(d) An owner of land whose Development Permit application is subject to this 

section may, within 10 business days of being notified in writing of the 
Director of Community Development’s decision on their Development Permit 
application, request the Council to reconsider the Director of Community 
Development’s decision, by giving notice in writing to the City Clerk setting 
out the grounds on which the applicant considers the decision is inappropriate 
and what decision, including what Development Permit conditions and what 
amounts of security the Council ought to substitute, and paying the applicable 
amendments thereto. 

 
(e) An owner of land whose Development Permit application or Minor 

Development Variance Permit application is subject to this section may, at 
any time following application submission or withinAt any time following the 
submission of a Development Permit application or up to 10 business days 
following being notified in writing of the Director of Community 
DevelopmentDirector of Planning and Development’s decision on their 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 6 
Bylaw No. 7343 CONSOLIDATED 

Development Permit application, the owner of the land may request Council 
reconsideration of their Development Permit application by giving notice in 
writing to the City Clerk setting out the grounds for Council consideration, 
including what Development Permit conditions and what amounts of security 
the Council ought to substitute, provided the owner has paid the applicable 
fee set out in Schedule “A”. [Bylaw 8454, December 9, 2015] 

 
(f) The City Clerk must notify the applicant of the date of the meeting at which 

the reconsideration will occur. 
 

(g) The Council may either confirm the decision of the Director of Community 
DevelopmentDirector of Planning and Development; or substitute its own 
decision, including the Development Permit or Minor Development Variance 
Permit conditions and amounts of security. 

 
(h) The Council delegates to the Director of Community DevelopmentDirector of 

Planning and Development the powers of the Council under s.242 of the 
Strata Property Act to act as the approving authority for applications to 
convert previously occupied buildings with fewer than three units to strata 
title. [Bylaw 8424, June 22, 2015] 

 
7. AMENDMENTS TO OFFICIAL COMMUNITY PLAN, ZONING BYLAW OR LAND 

USE CONTRACTS AND ADOPTION OF HERITAGE REVITALIZATION 
AGREEMENT BYLAWS 

 
Council shall, following receipt of a staff report with respect to an application to 
amend the Official Community Plan, the Zoning Bylaw, or a Land Use Contract, or 
adopt a Heritage Revitalization Agreement Bylaw: [Bylaw 8454, December 9, 2015] 

 
(a) Proceed with the consideration of the bylaw or bylaws as set forth in Part 26 

or 27 of the Local Government Act; 
 

(b) Withhold consideration of the bylaw or bylaws pending further input from the 
applicant or City staff; 

 
(c) Reject the application. 

 
8. DEVELOPMENT PERMITS AND DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMITS 

[Bylaw 8454, December 9, 2015] 
 

Following receipt of a staff report with respect to a Development Permit or a 
Development Variance Permit application, Council may, at its discretion, hold a 
Public Meeting to provide an enhanced opportunity for public input.  In the event 
that a development application involves a zoning amendment and a Development 
Permit / Development Variance Permit, the requirement for a Public Meeting shall 
be waived in lieu of the Public Hearing for the Zoning Amendment Bylaw. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 7 
Bylaw No. 7343 CONSOLIDATED 

Upon receipt of a staff report with respect to the Development Permit or a 
Development Variance Permit, Council shall: 

 
(a) Issue the permit; or 

 
(b) Withhold the permit pending resolution of issues raised by Council, staff or 

the public; or 
 

(c) Reject the permit application. 
 
9. TEMPORARY USE PERMITS [Bylaw 8348 June 9, 2014] 
 

Council may, following receipt of a staff report with respect to a Temporary Use 
Permit Application, hold a Public Meeting, and shall: [Bylaw 8454, December 9, 2015] 

 
(a) Upon compliance with the requirements of the Local Government Act, issue 

the permit with or without conditions and undertakings; or  
 

(b) Withhold the permit pending resolution of issues raised by Council, staff, or 
the public; or  

 
(c) Reject the permit application. 

 
10. POSTING OF A SIGN 
 

A sign may be required to be posted at the development site for public information 
prior to a Public Hearing, Public Meeting or public information meeting.  Failure to 
post the sign may result in a delay in the process. [Bylaw 8454, December 9, 2015] 

 
11. REFUSAL 
 

Where an application under Section 2 has been rejected by Council, the City Clerk 
shall notify the applicant in writing within fifteen (15) days of the date of Council's 
rejection. 

 
12. RE-APPLICATION 
 

Where an application under Section 2 has been rejected by Council, no 
re-application for the same amendment shall be considered within one year from 
the date of Council's rejection. 

 
13. EFFECT OF THIS BYLAW 
 

Nothing in this bylaw shall be construed as: 
 

(a) Preventing Council from initiating an application to amend any plan, bylaw or 
land use contract or issuing to itself any permit; 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 8 
Bylaw No. 7343 CONSOLIDATED 

(b) Affecting the referral of any plan, bylaw, amendment or permit to any Council 
Committee, Commission or Panel; [Bylaw 8348, June 9, 2014] 

 
(c) Preventing the Council from tabling or otherwise dealing with any application 

in the manner it deems appropriate; 
 

(d) Compelling the Council to consider an application provided for in this bylaw. 
 
14. SEVERABILITY 
 

If any portion of this bylaw is for any reason held to be invalid by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, the invalid portion shall be severed and the portion that is 
invalid shall not affect the validity of the remainder of this bylaw. 

 
15. REPEAL 
 

"Development Procedures Bylaw, 1998, No. 7000" is hereby repealed. 
 
 

READ a first time by the Council on the 23rd 
day of July, 2001. 
 
READ a second time by the Council on the 
23rd day of July, 2001. 
 
READ a third time and passed by the 
Council on the 23rd day of July, 2001. 
 
RECONSIDERED and finally adopted by 
the Council, signed by the Mayor and City 
Clerk and sealed with the Corporate Seal 
on the 30th day of July, 2001. 
 
 
 

“Barbara A. Sharp” 
MAYOR 

 
 
 

“Bruce A. Hawkshaw” 
CITY CLERK 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 9 
Bylaw No. 7343 CONSOLIDATED 

SCHEDULE “A” 
FEES  

 
 INFORMATION  

Minor vs. Major Applications   
For the purpose of this Bylaw, the following definitions differentiate between the scale of 
minor and major proposals:  

Minor – 1-5 principal residential units, primary child care use, or non-profit applicants 
(where a minimum of 80% of proposed residential units are secured at a minimum of 
10% below market rental rates). 
Major – 6 or more principal residential units, mixed-use, commercial, industrial, or 
institutional uses. 

 
Waived Fees  

Fees for City-led projects will be waived. 
 
 
TYPE OF APPLICATION FEES 

1. Official Community Plan (OCP) 
OCP Amendment 
 
The following additional fee applies to any site area exceeding 8,000 m2 
or to policy development within any Special Study Area 

 
$10,000 

 
($1 per m2 site 
area x FSR)/2 

 
2. Zoning Bylaw Amendment 

Text Amendment or Rezoning to an Existing Zone  
Rezoning to a New Comprehensive Development (CD) Zone   
 
The following additional fees apply to major proposals, to a maximum 
total rezoning fee of $25,000 
Per proposed principal residential unit 
Per m2 of proposed commercial space  
Per m2 of proposed industrial or institutional space  

 

 
$4,000 
$6,000 

 
 
 

$50 per unit 
$1 per m2 

$1 per 2m2 

3. Development Permit 
Amendment to Development Permit  
Council Consideration of Development Permit (additional fee)  
Coach House Development Permit  
Rooftop Antenna Development Permit 
Other Form and Character Development Permit  
 
The following additional fees apply to major proposals, to a maximum 
total development permit fee of $15,000 
Per principal residential unit  
Per m2 of proposed commercial space  

 

 
$1,000 
$1,500 
$1,250 
$2,500 
$4,000 

 
 
 

$75 per unit 
$1 per m2 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 10 
Bylaw No. 7343 CONSOLIDATED 

TYPE OF APPLICATION FEES 

4. Development Variance Permit 
Variance with staff consideration or variance concurrent with rezoning  
Variance with Council Consideration 
 

 
$1,500 
$3,000 

5. Temporary Use Permit (TUP) 
Obtain, amend, or renew a TUP  

 

 
$2,500 

 
6. Heritage Revitalization Agreement (HRA) 

Minor HRA (including amendment to existing HRA)  
Major HRA 

 
$4,000 
$6,000 

 
 

ADDITIONAL ITEMS   FEES 

1. Pre-Consultation Application (PCA) 
Minor PCA  
Major PCA  
Early direction from Council (additional fee) 

 

 
$500 

$1,500 
$1,500 

2. Public Meeting or Public Hearing 
For any application requiring a public meeting or public hearing (to be 
charged per instance) 

 

 
$1,750 

3. Environmental Site Disclosure 
For any application requiring a Site Disclosure Statement (otherwise 
waived) 

 
$105 

 
[Bylaw 8906, January 31, 2022] 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 11 
Bylaw No. 7343 CONSOLIDATED 

SCHEDULE “B” 
 

MINOR DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT CONSIDERATION GUIDELINES 
 

The following criteria shall be applied to the evaluation of Minor Development Variance 
Permit applications: 
 

1. The proposed variance should be consistent with the goals, objectives and 
policies within the Official Community Plan and any other relevant policy 
documents including, but not limited to, the City’s housing policies, Mobility 
Strategy, Well-being Strategy, Climate and Environment Strategy, and 
Economic Strategy. 

 
2. The proposed variance should be supported by a sound justification based 

on one or more of the following: 
 
a. an inability to reasonably develop a site in an efficient and effective 

manner while complying with bylaw requirements; 
 
b. a benefit to the community or surrounding properties as a result of a 

preferable form of development or outcome that is enabled through the 
proposed variance.  

 
3. The proposed variance should not result in an unacceptable negative impact 

on neighbouring properties and should fully consider mitigation measures to 
reduce any identified negative impacts. 

 
4. The proposed variance should not impose any costs on the municipality.  
 
5. The proposed variance should not defeat the explicit or implicit intent of the 

bylaw requirement being varied. 
 

6. The proposed variance should not result in any safety issues. 
 

Assessment by Categories 
 
In addition to the general criteria above, the Director of Planning and Development shall 
consider the following specific criteria for each type of variance outlined below:  
 
1. Sign Bylaw Variances 
 

• the variance request respecting size, number and placement of signs does 
not result in a significant increase in the total number or size of on-site 
signage and is in keeping with the aesthetic and character of the buildings 
and surrounding area; and 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 12 
Bylaw No. 7343 CONSOLIDATED 

• the effect of the variance does not result in safety concerns or adverse 
impact to neighbouring properties, such as light pollution. 

 
2. Parking Variances:  

 
 

• the reduction is not expected to have undue impact on the on-street parking 
in the area; 

 
• if there is a reasonable alternative to the minimum parking standard, 

particularly taking the intended uses of the building into consideration. 
These alternatives may include bicycle parking, personalized mobility aids 
parking, public transit passes or other measures as the Director of Planning 
& Development may deem appropriate; 

 
• in the case of a parking variance for the protection of mature on-site trees, 

the parking variance is a direct result of the reduction of parking stalls to 
ensure adequate soil volume for the long term health of said trees; and 

 
• any variance to the parking design, location would not result in any safety 

concerns or operational issues. 
 
3. Garbage and Recycling Storage Facility Variances 

 
 consultation with the facility operator, as well as consultation with City 

Engineer, is required to ensure changes are operationally feasible; 
 

 noise impacts should be considered and the variance should not result in an 
increase in disruptive intermittent noise.  

 
4. Building Siting Variances  
 

• that the variance to building siting requirements does not decrease the 
liveability of residential units and that there is a demonstration that the 
variance request does not result in undue impact on access to light and 
privacy.  

 
5. Patio and Deck Variances 

• variance not to create undue privacy impact on adjoining neighbours; and 

• variance does not result in a significant increase of site coverage or 
impermeable surface on the lot; 

 
6. Building Envelope Variances.  

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 13 
Bylaw No. 7343 CONSOLIDATED 

• variance to the building envelope or height be accompanied by supporting 
information clearly illustrating shadow and view impacts in a format 
acceptable to the Director of Planning & Development; 

 
• variance to building envelope and height be assessed for compatibility with 

adjacent land uses (both existing and as proposed in the OCP); 
 
• variance does not result in significant incremental shadow impacts, 

particularly where such an impact is to a sensitive public site, such as a 
park or greenspace; and 

 
• variance does not result in significant public view impacts as seen from the 

street or public spaces. 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8916 Document: 2150243-v4 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8916 

A Bylaw to amend “Development Procedures Bylaw, 2001, No. 7343” 
 

The Council of the Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Development Procedures Bylaw, 

2001, No. 7343, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8916” (Bill 26 Update for Minor 
Development Variance Permits). 

 
2. “Development Procedures Bylaw, 2001, No. 7343” is amended by: 
 

A. Adding the following definition to Section 2: 
 
“Minor Development Variance Permit” means a Development Variance Permit for a 
variance to the “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” that meets the following criteria: 
 
(a) 10% for minimum parking space provision for vehicles and bicycles, and this 

reduction may be increased to 25% if the variance is required for the preservation 
of mature on-site trees; 

 
(b) Any variance related to parking design standards, such as dimensions, siting and 

access; 
 
(c) Any variance related to loading requirements, including number of required 

loading spaces and design standards, such as dimensions, siting and access; 
 
(d) One parking space in areas designated ‘R1’ and ‘R2’ in the “Official Community 

Plan Bylaw, 2014, No. 8400”; 
 
(e) Any variance related to garbage and recycling storage facilities; 
 
(f) 25% for building setbacks and separations, lot coverage, open site space, and 

permeable surfaces; 
 
(g) Any variance related to patios and decks; 
 
(h) The lesser of 10% or one storey for building height; and 
 
(i) Less than 10% for building envelope dimensions, such as building width and 

length, upper storey step-backs and angular planes; 
 

and any variance related to the “Sign Bylaw, 1992, No. 6363”. 
 

B. Replacing all instances of “Director of Community Development” with “Director of 
Planning and Development”. 
 

  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8916 Document: 2150243-v4 

C. Deleting Section 6 in its entirety and replacing it with the following: 
 
“6. DELEGATION OF COUNCIL POWERS 
 
(a) The Council delegates to the Director of Planning and Development the powers 

of the Council under s.490 of the Local Government Act to issue Development 
Permits in respect of Development Permit Areas established by the Official 
Community Plan, 2014, No. 8400, provided that they do not involve a variance 
to the Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No.6700, including the powers of the Council to 
require that the applicant provide security for the purposes of s.502 of the Local 
Government Act, however: 

 
(i) The Director of Planning and Development reserves the ability to refer the 

Development Permit application to Council for consideration. 
 

(b) The Council delegates to the Director of Planning and Development the powers 
of the Council, pursuant to s.498.1 of the Local Government Act, to issue a Minor 
Development Variance Permit, subject to guidelines set out in Schedule “B”. 

 
(c) In imposing security requirements under s.502 of the Local Government Act, the 

Director of Planning and Development may require the applicant to provide as 
security: 

 
(i) undertaking works, construction or other activities to satisfy a condition in 

the permit respecting landscaping; plus 
 

(ii) provide a letter of credit in the amount of 1% of the estimated value of all 
construction occurring within the scope of the permit as calculated by a 
quantity surveyor, to be cashed if conditions of the permit with respect to 
development energy usage are not met and certified as such by a 
recognized professional within a period of 24 months following the issuance 
of a certificate of occupancy and/or at the discretion of the Director of 
Planning and Development. 

 
(d) In imposing the security requirements set out in section 6(d), the Director of 

Planning and Development may require security to be maintained for so long as 
there is a reasonable possibility of contravention of a landscaping condition, the 
creation of an unsafe condition, and the causing of harm to the environment in 
connection with the development authorized by the permit. 

 
(e) An owner of land whose Development Permit application or Minor Development 

Variance Permit application is subject to this section may, at any time following 
application submission or within 10 business days following being notified in 
writing of the Director of Planning and Development’s decision on their 
application, request Council reconsideration of their application by giving notice 
in writing to the Corporate Officer setting out the grounds for Council 
consideration, provided the owner has paid the applicable fee set out in Schedule 
“A”. 

 
(f) The Corporate Officer must notify the applicant of the date of the meeting at 

which the reconsideration will occur. 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8916 Document: 2150243-v4 

(g) The Council may either confirm the decision of the Director of Planning and 
Development; or substitute its own decision, including the Development Permit 
or Minor Development Variance Permit conditions and amounts of security. 

 
(h) The Council delegates to the Director of Planning and Development the powers 

of the Council under s.242 of the Strata Property Act to act as the approving 
authority for applications to convert previously occupied buildings with fewer than 
three units to strata title.” 

 
D. Adding Schedule “B” as attached to this Bylaw. 

 
  

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 

  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8916 Document: 2150243-v4 

SCHEDULE “B” 
 

MINOR DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT CONSIDERATION GUIDELINES 
 

The following guidelines must be considered in the evaluation of Minor Development Variance 
Permit applications: 
 
1. The proposed variance should be consistent with the goals, objectives and policies within 

the Official Community Plan and any other relevant policy documents including, but not 
limited to, the City’s housing policies, Mobility Strategy, Well-being Strategy, Climate and 
Environment Strategy, and Economic Strategy. 
 

2. The proposed variance should be supported by a sound justification based on one or more 
of the following: 

 
(a) an inability to reasonably develop a site in an efficient and effective manner while 

complying with bylaw requirements; 
 

(b) a benefit to the community or surrounding properties as a result of a preferable form 
of development or outcome that is enabled through the proposed variance.  

 
3. The proposed variance should not result in an unacceptable negative impact on 

neighbouring properties and should fully consider mitigation measures to reduce any 
identified negative impacts. 
 

4. The proposed variance should not impose any costs on the municipality.  
 

5. The proposed variance should not defeat the explicit or implicit intent of the bylaw 
requirement being varied. 

 
6. The proposed variance should not result in any safety issues. 
 
Assessment by Categories 
 
In addition to the general guidelines above, the Director of Planning and Development shall 
consider the following specific guidelines for each type of variance outlined below:  
 
1. Sign Bylaw Variances: 
 

 the variance request respecting size, number and placement of signs does not result 
in a significant increase in the total number or size of on-site signage and is in keeping 
with the aesthetic and character of the buildings and surrounding area; and 

 
 the effect of the variance does not result in safety concerns or adverse impact to 

neighbouring properties, such as light pollution. 
 
2. Parking Variances:  

 
 the reduction is not expected to have undue impact on the on-street parking in the 

area; 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 5 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8916 Document: 2150243-v4 

 if there is a reasonable alternative to the minimum parking standard, particularly taking 
the intended uses of the building into consideration. These alternatives may include 
bicycle parking, personalized mobility aids parking, public transit passes or other 
measures as the Director of Planning & Development may deem appropriate; 

 
 in the case of a parking variance for the protection of mature on-site trees, the parking 

variance is a direct result of the reduction of parking stalls to ensure adequate soil 
volume for the long term health of said trees; and 

 
 any variance to the parking design, location would not result in any safety concerns or 

operational issues. 
 
3. Garbage and Recycling Storage Facility Variances: 

 
 consultation with the facility operator, as well as consultation with City Engineer, is 

required to ensure changes are operationally feasible; 
 

 noise impacts should be considered and the variance should not result in an increase 
in disruptive intermittent noise.  

 
4. Building Siting Variances: 
 

 that the variance to building siting requirements does not decrease the liveability of 
residential units and that there is a demonstration that the variance request does not 
result in undue impact on access to light and privacy.  

 
5. Patio and Deck Variances: 
 

 variance not to create undue privacy impact on adjoining neighbours; and 
 

 variance does not result in a significant increase of site coverage or impermeable 
surface on the lot; 

 
6. Building Envelope Variances: 

 
 variance to the building envelope or height be accompanied by supporting information 

clearly illustrating shadow and view impacts in a format acceptable to the Director of 
Planning & Development; 

 
 variance to building envelope and height be assessed for compatibility with adjacent 

land uses (both existing and as proposed in the OCP); 
 

 variance does not result in significant incremental shadow impacts, particularly where 
such an impact is to a sensitive public site, such as a park or greenspace; and 

 
 variance does not result in significant public view impacts as seen from the street or 

public spaces. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



NOTICE OF MOTION 
 
28. Homes that Meet Today’s Climate Context – File: 08-3400-01-0001/2022 
 
 Submitted by Mayor Buchanan 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver Council vision is to be the healthiest 
small city with five key priorities, including a City for People; 
 
WHEREAS a Liveable City leads the way in climate action and acts as a 
steward of the environment for future generations; 
 
WHEREAS we all have the right to be safe and healthy in our own home, and 
extreme heat threatens that right; 
 
WHEREAS climate change is a reality we cannot ignore and more extreme 
weather events are predicted to impact communities everywhere; 
 
WHEREAS approximately 80% of City residents live in multi-family buildings, 
many built long before today’s climate context; 
 
WHEREAS in June 2022, the BC Coroners Service’s Review of Heat-Related 
Deaths in BC in Summer 2021 report found that 619 lives were lost during the 
2021 heat dome and that greater support for at-risk populations is needed 
during extreme heat emergencies; 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT staff be directed to report to Council on 
the tools available to work with applicants early in the redevelopment process to 
ensure the homes being delivered will meet today’s climate context, including 
enhanced cooling systems that respond to extreme heat; 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT staff be directed to report back on paths of 
advocacy and action to ensure multi-family homes are properly retrofitted to 
keep cool; 
 
AND BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED THAT Mayor Buchanan, on behalf of Council, 
write to the federal and provincial Ministers responsible for housing, public 
safety, and the environment, stressing the threat extreme heat is to our 
individual health and the need for further investments in retrofitting BC. 

 
 


	1 Agenda
	2 Minutes�
	*3 Bylaw 8920
	*4 Bylaw 8941
	*5 Bylaw 8942
	*6 Bylaw 8943
	*7 Bylaw 8944
	*8 Bylaw 8946
	*9 2021 Statement of Financial Information
	*9-1 2021 SOFI

	*10 Report Required Under Local Govt (Green Communities) Statutes Amd Act
	*11 2022 Appropriations 2 - Amendment
	*11-1 Report June 10 2022
	*11-2 Project Descriptions

	*12 Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement
	*12-1 Regional Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement 2022
	*12-2 GVRD Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement 2000
	*12-3 Public Works Mutual Aid Agreement for Emergencies 1988

	*13 Appointment to FCM Committees and Forums
	PH - 124 West 20th St
	Report - 124 West 20th St
	1-Map
	2-Summary
	3-Plans
	4-Policy Objectives
	5-Consultation

	Staff Presentation
	Applicant Presentation
	Submissions
	Notice

	14 Bylaw 8898�
	15 Bylaw 8899�
	No PH - 646 East 4th St
	Report - 646 East 4th St
	1-Map
	2-Consultation

	Submissions
	Notice

	16 Bylaw 8934�
	No PH - 800 Marine Dr
	Report - 800 Marine Dr
	1-Map
	2-Architectural Plans
	3-Landscape Plans
	4-Consultation
	5-Sustainability Checklist

	Submissions
	Notice

	IR 800 Marine Dr
	17 Bylaw 8905�
	Presentation - Living City Awards
	IR 2022 Living City Awards�
	Presentation - Cool It! Recipients
	IR 2022 Cool It! Challenge
	Presentation - NSEM Update to Council
	18 NSEM Annual Report and Extreme Heat Strategy�
	18-1 2021 Annual Report�
	18-2 Extreme Heat Strategy�
	18-3 2021 Extreme Weather After Action Review�
	18-4 Extreme Heat Recommendations and Implementation Work Plan�
	18-5 Extreme Heat Response Plan�
	18-6 Extreme Heat Communications Plan�

	19 2022 Living City Grants�
	19-1 Living City Grant Terms of Reference�
	19-2 Living City Grants Summary for APC�

	20 2023 Permissive Tax Exemptions�
	20-1 Bylaw 8938�
	20-2 Community Charter Div 7 Excerpt�
	20-3 PTEs Requested for 2023 Tax Year�
	20-4 Estimated PTEs by Category�
	20-5 PTE Policy�

	21 Bylaw 8938�
	22 253 East 28th St�
	22-1 Map�
	22-2 Plans - West Lot
	22-3 Plans - East Lot
	22-4 Consultation�
	22-5 Streamside Protection Guidelines�
	22-6 DVP PLN2022-00011�
	22-7 DVP PLN2022-00017�

	23 245 East 10th St�
	23-1 Plans
	23-2 Heritage Conservation Plan�
	23-3 Statement of Significance�
	23-4 Consultation�

	24 Bylaw 8936�
	25 Bylaw 8937�
	26 Development Procedures Bylaw Amendment�
	26-1 Report Apr 13 2022�
	26-2 Bylaw 8916 with Revisions�

	27 Bylaw 8916�
	28 Homes that Meet Today's Climate Context

	APPLICANT NAME: Maryam Lotfi
	CIVIC ADDRESS: 800 Marine Drive - North Vancouver, BC, V7P1R8 
	Case Number: 
	Other Sustainability Achievements_2: 
	Other Sustainability Achievements: 
	undefined_44: 
	undefined_43: 
	undefined_42: N
	undefined_41: 
	undefined_40: 
	undefined_39: 
	undefined_38: N
	undefined_37: 
	undefined_36: 
	undefined_35: 
	undefined_34: N
	undefined_33: 
	undefined_32: 
	undefined_31: 
	undefined_30: N
	undefined_29: 
	undefined_28: A high-efficiency drip irrigation system is proposed for all on-site planting areas.
	undefined_27: 
	undefined_26: 
	undefined_25: Y
	undefined_24: 
	undefined_23: 
	undefined_22: N
	undefined_21: 
	undefined_20: 
	undefined_19: 
	undefined_18: N
	undefined_17: 
	undefined_16: 
	undefined_15: 
	undefined_14: N
	undefined_13: 
	undefined_12: A mix of native and adaptive plant species is proposed.
	undefined_11: 
	undefined_10: 
	undefined_9: On
	undefined_8: 
	undefined_7: 
	undefined_6: N
	undefined_5: 
	undefined_4: New street trees are proposed along Marine Avenue and Fell Avenue.
	undefined_3: 
	undefined_2: 
	undefined: Y
	undefined_104: 
	undefined_103: 
	undefined_102: N
	undefined_101: 
	undefined_100: Domestic hot water fixtures are premium efficiency proving DHW savings.
	undefined_99: 
	undefined_98: 
	undefined_97: Y
	undefined_96: 
	undefined_95: 
	undefined_94: N
	undefined_93: 
	undefined_92: 
	undefined_91: 
	undefined_90: 
	undefined_89: Y
	undefined_88: 
	undefined_87: 
	undefined_86: 
	undefined_85: Y
	undefined_84: Residential units ventilation is via heat recovery ventilators.
	undefined_83: 
	undefined_82: 
	undefined_81: Y
	undefined_79: 
	undefined_78: 
	undefined_77: Y
	undefined_80: 
	undefined_76: 
	undefined_75: 
	undefined_74: 
	undefined_73: Y
	undefined_71: 
	undefined_70: N
	undefined_69: 
	undefined_72: 
	undefined_68: 
	undefined_67: 
	undefined_66: 
	undefined_65: 
	undefined_64: 
	undefined_63: 
	undefined_62: 
	undefined_61: Y
	if so specify Step: The building is mixed used. Level 1 includes commercial retail units complying with Step 2. Level 2-4 includes residential units meeting Step code 3.
	Exceeding: 
	Min: Y
	undefined_60: 
	undefined_59: 
	undefined_58: N
	undefined_57: 
	undefined_56: Proposed building will be combination of concrete and wood frame structure.
	undefined_55: 
	undefined_54: 
	undefined_53: Y
	undefined_52: 
	undefined_51: 
	undefined_50: N
	undefined_49: Off
	undefined_48: 
	undefined_47: 
	undefined_46: N
	undefined_45: 
	Other Sustainability Achievements_6: 
	Other Sustainability Achievements_5: 
	Please Provide Comments_5: 
	undefined_135: 
	undefined_134: 
	undefined_133: 
	Please Provide Comments_4: 
	undefined_132: 
	undefined_131: N
	undefined_130: 
	Please Provide Comments_3: Proposed unit frontages are subject to change depending on neighbourhood's needs.
	undefined_129: 
	undefined_128: 
	undefined_127: Y
	Please Provide Comments_2: 21,388.2(Proposed commercial area ) - 5,165.25 (Estimated existing commercial area) = 16,222.95
	undefined_126: 
	undefined_125: 
	undefined_124: Y
	Please Provide Comments: It can be estimated that the office area of 9,147.6 sqft and residential can potentially generate 99 new jobs.
	undefined_123: 
	undefined_122: 
	undefined_121: Y
	Other Sustainability Achievements_4: 
	Other Sustainability Achievements_3: 
	undefined_119: 
	undefined_118: 
	undefined_117: On
	undefined_120: 
	undefined_115: 
	undefined_114: N
	undefined_113: Off
	undefined_116: 
	undefined_112: 
	undefined_111: 
	undefined_110: N
	undefined_109: 
	undefined_108: 
	undefined_107: 
	undefined_106: N
	undefined_105: 
	Other Sustainability Achievements_10: 
	Other Sustainability Achievements_9: 
	Please provide comments_16: Has been considered in design strategies.
	undefined_183: 
	undefined_182: 
	undefined_181: Y
	Please provide comments_15: 
	undefined_180: 
	undefined_179: N
	undefined_178: 
	Please provide comments_14: On the Fourth level there is an open amenity area.
	undefined_177: 
	undefined_176: 
	undefined_175: Y
	Please provide comments_13: 
	undefined_174: 
	undefined_173: N
	undefined_172: 
	Please provide comments_12: 
	undefined_171: 
	undefined_170: N
	undefined_169: 
	undefined_168: 
	undefined_167: N
	undefined_166: 
	Please provide comments_11: 
	Other Sustainability Achievements_8: 
	Other Sustainability Achievements_7: 
	undefined_165: 
	undefined_164: N
	undefined_163: 
	Please provide comments_10: 
	Please provide comments_9: 
	undefined_162: 
	undefined_161: 
	undefined_160: Y
	Please provide comments_8: 
	undefined_159: 
	undefined_158: 
	undefined_157: On
	Please provide comments_7: 
	undefined_156: 
	undefined_155: N
	undefined_154: 
	Please provide comments_6: 
	undefined_153: 
	undefined_152: N
	undefined_151: 
	Please provide comments_5: 
	undefined_150: 
	undefined_149: N
	undefined_148: 
	Please provide comments_4: 
	undefined_147: 
	undefined_146: N
	undefined_145: 
	Please provide comments_3: In total there are 21 residential units proposed in this application. 10% of the units (2) are three bedrooms units. 
	undefined_144: 
	undefined_143: 
	undefined_142: Y
	Please provide comments_2: 
	undefined_141: 
	undefined_140: N
	undefined_139: 
	Please provide comments: 
	undefined_138: 
	undefined_137: N
	undefined_136: 
	Other Sustainability AchievementsRow1_2: 
	Please provide comments_20: Application is proposing planters on Third and Fourth levels. Also, adding trees to CNV standard along Fell Ave. Also, adding lawn boulevard to CNV stnadard along Fell Ave. adding  
	undefined_195: 
	undefined_194: 
	undefined_193: Y
	Please provide comments_19: This application will be proposing a public art in the next stage.
	undefined_192: 
	undefined_191: 
	undefined_190: Y
	Please provide comments_18: 
	undefined_189: 
	undefined_188: N
	undefined_187: 
	Please provide comments_17: On the Fourth level there is an open gathering area.
	undefined_186: 
	undefined_185: 
	undefined_184: On


